CULTURAL PERSPECTIVES IN SCIENCE EDUCATION

Science Education Research and Practice in Europe

**Retrospective and Prospective** 

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.)



# SensePublishers

Science Education Research and Practice in Europe

## **CULTURAL PERPECTIVES IN SCIENCE EDUCATION** Volume 5

# DISTINGUISHED CONTRIBUTORS

Series Editors

#### Kenneth Tobin

The Graduate Center, City University of New York

## **Catherine Milne**

New York University

*Cultural Perspectives in Science Education* consists of handbooks and books that employ sociocultural theory and related methods to explicate key issues in science education. The series embraces diverse perspectives, endeavoring to learn from difference, polysemia and polyphonia, and resisting a tendency to emphasize one preferred form of scholarship. The series presents cutting edge theory and research, historical perspectives, biographies and syntheses of research that are germane to different geographical regions. The strength deriving from differences in science education is evident in the works of scholars from the expanding international community in which science education is practiced. Through research in science education, each volume in the series seeks to make a difference to critical issues that face humanity, examining scientific literacies and their role in sustaining life in a diverse, dynamic ecosystem.

# Science Education Research and Practice in Europe

Retrospective and Prospective

Edited by

**Doris Jorde** University of Oslo, Norway

Justin Dillon King's College London, UK



SENSE PUBLISHERS ROTTERDAM/BOSTON/TAIPEI A C.I.P. record for this book is available from the Library of Congress.

ISBN: 978-94-6091-898-8 (paperback) ISBN: 978-94-6091-899-5 (hardback) ISBN: 978-94-6091-900-8 (e-book)

Published by: Sense Publishers, P.O. Box 21858, 3001 AW Rotterdam, The Netherlands https://www.sensepublishers.com/

Printed on acid-free paper

All Rights Reserved © 2012 Sense Publishers

No part of this work may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, microfilming, recording or otherwise, without written permission from the Publisher, with the exception of any material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank colleagues at Sense Publishers, in particular Michel Lokhorst, for their support throughout the production of this volume. We are also grateful to our series editors, Ken Tobin and Catherine Milne who provided the necessary stimulus, patience and motivation throughout what turned out to be a long process.

We would especially like to thank all the authors who so generously gave of their time in contributing their chapters in a spirit of collegiality and scholarly excellence. Our friend and colleague, Phil Scott from the University of Leeds, who together with Asma Almahrouqi, contributed Chapter 12 on classroom discourse and science learning, sadly and suddenly passed away in July 2011. His contribution to science education in Europe and beyond is immeasurable as is our sense of loss.

# CONTENTS

1. Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon	1
<ol> <li>The Model of Educational Reconstruction – A Framework for Improving Teaching and Learning Science Reinders Duit, Harald Gropengießer, Ulrich Kattmann, Michael Komorek and Ilka Parchmann</li> </ol>	13
3. Transcending Science: Scientific Literacy and Bildung for the 21st Century <i>Per-Olof Wickman, Caroline Liberg and Leif Östman</i>	39
4. How Research on Students' Processes of Concept Formation can Inform Curriculum Development <i>Claudia v. Aufschnaiter and Christian Rogge</i>	63
5. Studies of the Development of Students' Understandings of Ecological Phenomena <i>Gustav Helldén</i>	91
6. Video Analysis as a tool for Understanding Science Instruction Hans E. Fischer and Knut Neumann	115
7. The Nature of Video Studies in Science Education Andrée Tiberghien and Gérard Sensevy	141
8. Teaching Activities and Language use in Science Classrooms Marianne Ødegaard and Kirsti Klette	181
9. Results and Perspectives from the ROSE Project Svein Sjøberg and Camilla Schreiner	203
10. The Cultural Context of Science Education Cathrine Hasse and Anne B. Sinding	237
<ol> <li>Argumentation in Science Education Research: Perspectives from Europe Sibel Erduran and Maria Pilar Jiménez-Aleixandre</li> </ol>	253
12. Classroom Discourse and Science Learning: Issues of Engagement, Quality and Outcome Asma Almahrouqi and Phil Scott	291
13. School Health Education Nowadays: Challenges and Trends <i>Graça S. Carvalho and Dominique Berger</i>	309

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

14. Science Education Research in Turkey: A Content Analysis of	
Selected Features of Published Papers	341
Mustafa Sozbilir, Hulya Kutu and M. Diyaddin Yasar	
15. Improving Science Education Through European Models of	
Sustainable Teacher Professional Development	375
Matthias Stadler and Doris Jorde	

# DORIS JORDE AND JUSTIN DILLON

# **1. SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH AND PRACTICE IN EUROPE: RETROSPECTIVE AND PROSPECTIVE**

#### INTRODUCTION

In editing this volume of **The World of Science Education** devoted to Europe, we have invited a range of authors to describe their research in the context of developments in the continent and further afield. In this chapter, we begin by considering what we mean by Europe and then look at the historical, social and political contexts that have driven developments in science education research over the years. We finish with a look forward to where science education in Europe might be going in the years to come.

# WHAT COUNTS AS EUROPE?

Europe is generally defined as one of the seven continents bordered by the Atlantic Ocean to the west, the Arctic Ocean to the north, the Mediterranean Sea to the south and the Black Sea to the south east. The border to Asia is usually considered as being the Urals and the Caspian Sea. There are 50 countries within Europe with at least as many languages and cultures.

The creation of the European Union has given us an additional way to think of Europe. At the end of 1945 much of the continent lay in disarray and yet by 1950 a group of six countries (Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and the Netherlands) had united to form a European coal and steel community so that a peaceful future might be secured. Subsequent unifying events included the signing of the Treaty of Rome in 1957 and the establishment of the European Economic Community (EEC).

Denmark, Ireland and the United Kingdom joined the European Union (EU) in 1973, raising the number of member states to nine. Greece joined in 1981 followed by Spain and Portugal in 1986 making a total of 12 member states. Communism collapsed across Europe in the 1990's and in 1993 the EU introduced the idea of four basic 'freedoms': movement of goods, services, people and money. Three more countries joined the EU in 1995: Austria, Finland and Sweden. Borders between countries were opened and students were encouraged to study in other EU countries. Eight new countries were added in 2004: the Czech Republic, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Hungary, Poland, Slovenia and Slovakia. Cyprus and Malta were added soon afterwards. Bulgaria and Romania became members in 2007

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 1–11. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

#### D. JORDE AND J. DILLON

taking the total to 27 member states. There are three candidate countries: Croatia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Turkey.

Today there are nearly half a billion people living within the European Union – the world's third largest population after China and India. The EU is less than half the size of the United States, but its population is over 50% larger. Norway, Iceland and Switzerland are outside the official EU but they have a special agreement allowing many of the same opportunities that exist between member countries.

It is no secret that the EU has ambitions of becoming the world's most dynamic knowledge-based economy, a status which will require substantial investments in research and education. The Bologna Declaration of 1999 (www.ehea.info) established compatibility and comparability between institutions in Europe on the way towards international competitiveness. The declaration has objectives to establish the European area of higher education and to promote the European system of higher education world-wide through the following measures:

- 1. The adoption of a system of easily readable and comparable degrees
- 2. The adoption of a system based on two main cycles, the undergraduate (3 year BA) and graduate (2 year MA followed by a 3 year Ph.D.)
- 3. The establishment of a system of credits (European Credit Transfer and accumulation System)
- 4. The promotion of mobility for students, teachers, researchers and administrative staff
- 5. The promotion of European co-operation in quality assurance
- 6. The promotion of the necessary European dimensions in higher education (curricular development, inter-institutional co-operation, mobility schemes and integrated programmes of study, training and research.

Today over 47 countries (from within and outside of the EU) have signed the Bologna Declaration, committing to the goals of the European Higher Education Area. Comparability and compatibility are important for European countries as higher education and research are transcending country boundaries on the way to common goals of excellence in the knowledge society.

The impact of the EU on education in Europe is seen most within higher education as most educational systems have comparable structures for degree programmes (3 year BA + 2 year MA + 3 year Ph.D.), common grading systems (A-F), and financial schemes to encourage student exchange. Degrees are more easily accepted across country borders, also encouraging movement of academics within Europe. And, finally, financial schemes for research are in place for the advancement of international comparisons in education.

Becoming a more integrated Europe in search of a common identity also brings with it the challenges of cultural diversity. As science educators we want to think that the content of science is and should be broadly the same regardless of where it is taught in the world. However, cultural diversity means that the delivery of the science curriculum happens in many different ways, thus producing very different learning outcomes. Some countries differentiate early, others not at all. Some countries include science in a core curriculum while others only include language and mathematics. Some countries follow what we could call a "student-centered" ideology for teaching whereas others continue to be "teacher-centered". Some countries have resources to include Information and Communications Technology (ICT) throughout the curriculum whereas others have little to no funding for such resources. Some countries are able to provide teacher professional development courses for teachers, thus encouraging life-long learning; others have almost no opportunities for teachers.

The issues of language diversity are also overwhelming in Europe. In the EU alone there are 23 official languages into which documents are translated. Many European countries have multiple languages into which all documents, including school textbooks, are translated. Switzerland has three official languages: German, French and Italian; Spain has Spanish as its official language yet includes Catalan, Basque, Galician and Aranese as Co-official languages; Belgium has three official languages: Dutch, French and German, and so on. Now add to this the challenges of immigration from other regions of the world and consider the impact of language on a school system.

An interesting language issue within the science education community in Europe arose over the translation of the German tradition of "bildung" and "didaktik". It has been argued that an appropriate English translation was difficult to achieve (See Duit, Gropengießer, Kattmann, Komorek and Parchmann as well as Wickman, Liberg and Östman in this volume). (The term didaktik in German is not to be confused with the English word didactic since they have very different meanings.) Today it is not uncommon to use the German words within an English text since a broader understanding of their meaning has been accepted by the English-speaking community.

### A RETROSPECTIVE LOOK AT SCIENCE EDUCATION IN EUROPE

The history of science education in parts of Europe has many similarities to the development of the field across the Atlantic. As the United States was reacting to the post-Sputnik shock in the 1960's and developing new types of curriculum for science, similar types of developments were going on in Europe. For example, Jean Piaget's Centre d'Épistémologie Génétique, established in 1955 in Geneva, had tremendous impacts on educational thinking in Europe. In the following section, we use England as an example of European development in science education.

# England: An Example of the Development of Science Education in Europe

Since the 1960s, science education in European schools has been through a process of almost continual change. In England, for example, the most significant changes include the introduction of Nuffield Science; the move towards 'balanced science' (that is, the teaching of biology, chemistry and physics for all students); the rise of 'process science' (as opposed to focusing on 'the facts') and, more recently, the

#### D. JORDE AND J. DILLON

introduction of a National Curriculum and the associated assessment procedures. Each innovation has challenged existing science teacher pedagogy in some way or another and, in turn, has had consequences for teacher development. The complexity of the relationship between pedagogic change and changes in the representation of science in the curriculum is indicated by this comment from Monk and Dillon:

Shifting pedagogic perspectives have been the major surface feature of the changes in discourse of science education in the metropolitan countries of the old imperial powers. Generally we have moved from transmission views to more constructivist views. Older views of science as an empirical, inductivist enterprise with access to a knowledge base of an independent reality have been gradually eroded and replaced by newer constructivist views. These are not unitary (Solomon 1994), but multiple. However they all share a concern for the student's knowledge base as being idiosyncratic and biographical. (Monk and Dillon, 1995: 317).

This gradual erosion of older views of science have come about through curriculum change, the introduction of new courses and through changes to the nature of pre-service and in-service courses for science teachers. The process of change in science education, since the 1960s, though gradual, has not been one of seamless transition, rather it has involved reconstruction, reversal and high levels of political engagement (Donnelly and Jenkins, 2001).

Dissatisfaction with school science education was evident in the USA and in the UK before the launch of the Sputnik satellite in 1957 (Klainin, 1988: 172). The Nuffield Science projects, mentioned above, owe at least some of their success to what is sometimes termed the post-Sputnik angst (Waring, 1979). However, despite the innovations of the Nuffield era in science education, successive government reports and political commentary have continued to focus on the inadequacy of science education in both primary and secondary schools. The criticisms, which, in part, continue today, were partially responsible for the changes in the science curriculum.

In *Beyond 2000*, a critique of science education at the turn of the 21st century, Millar and Osborne (1998) picked out what they considered to be the major developments in education, and particularly in science education in England since 1960. First, they identified 'the major curriculum innovation, undertaken by the Nuffield Foundation which ... gave greater emphasis to the role and use of experimental work' (p. 2002–3). Nuffield Science involved a more experimental, investigative approach to science education pedagogy than had previously been the case (Jenkins, 2004).

The Nuffield approach involved an emphasis on practical activities, supported by worksheets, teachers' guides, a network of teachers, examiners, academics and publishers. *Nuffield Combined Science*, first published in 1970, was probably the most influential course and was common in schools in the late 1970s. Indeed, Keohane (1986: vi) remarked: 'by 1979 (as the survey by her Majesty's Science Inspectorate showed) over half the schools in England were using the course wholly or in part'.

The 1986 revision of the *Nuffield Combined Science* materials, published as *Nuffield 11 to 13*, took into account various changes that had taken place since the first version was published in 1970:

... in that period, school children, schools, science, technology, and society at large have undergone great change. And that is not to mention the great changes in children's expectations of schools and science lessons, in teachers' expectations of children and resources for learning, and in society's expectations of teachers. (Nuffield Science 11 to 13, 1986: 2)

Second, Millar and Osborne noted another significant development in science education as the introduction of the comprehensive school system in the mid-1960s which led, inter alia, to the development of courses 'for the less academic pupil' (1998: 2003). This change had enormous implications for science pedagogy. Third, they noted that courses developed during the 1980s aimed to increase the emphasis placed on the processes of science (that is, the skills necessary to undertake science experiments) (Jenkins, 2004). Fourth, they noted the influence of the Department of Education and Science policy statement, Science 5-16 (DES, 1985) which argued that all young people should have a 'broad and balanced' science education (that is, a curriculum containing biology, chemistry and physics throughout the school system) and occupying (for most pupils) 20% of curriculum time from age 14 to 16 (Jenkins, 2004). Fifth, Millar and Osborne noted the impact of the introduction, in 1986, of the General Certificate of Secondary Education (GCSE) which resulted in a variety of science courses that included all three main sciences intended for all students. Sixth, they highlighted the introduction of the National Curriculum in 1989, which made science a 'core' subject in the curriculum for students aged 5 to 16 (Millar and Osborne, 1998: 2002-3).

Millar and Osborne (1998: 2003) also argued that since science had become one of the three core subjects of the National Curriculum in England, the nature of science education had changed and that 'there has been a general acceptance that learning science involves more than simply knowing some facts and ideas about the natural world' and that 'a significant component of science curriculum time should be devoted to providing opportunities for personal inquiry [that is, doing experiments]' (for a counter view, see Hodson, 1990, 1992).

Since *Beyond 2000* was published, science education in England has continued to evolve. A growing number of schools offer students the possibility of studying biology, chemistry and physics as separate subjects (Triple Science). A national network of science learning centres has been set up and continues to attract interest from policy makers from other countries. A growing number of science centres and museums offer educational events and activities aimed at school students and provide opportunities to meet real scientists.

Debate about the quantity and quality of practical work continues to be an issue, just as it was in the 1960s and 1970s. Support for teaching science outside the

#### D. JORDE AND J. DILLON

classroom has grown over the years although its provision is very variable across the country with some teachers still reluctant to take their students outside.

In general, science education in English schools has made some progress since the 1960s. There is more gender equity and more focus on teaching about the nature of science. Students can experience a range of scientific ideas inside and outside the classroom. The overall quality of science teaching is probably better now that it was some years ago. However, many of the curriculum, assessment and pedagogical issues that challenged teachers in the post-war era can still be found in today's schools.

#### RESEARCH IN SCIENCE EDUCATION IN EUROPE

As science education in Europe has developed through policy reform and through curriculum development, so too has the quality and quantity of research. Many countries have their own associations promoting research in science education generally or in the separate sciences. Increasing collaboration between countries led to the setting up of pan European organisations such as ERIDOB – European Researchers in the Didactics of Biology - which meets every two years.

Early collaborations between European science educators led to summer schools for Ph.D. students in Zeist in the Netherlands in 1993 and Thessaloniki, Greece, in 1994. As more European researchers attended conferences in the US organised by the National Association for Research in Science Teaching (NARST) and Australasia (Australasian Science Education Research Association (ASERA) so the desire to create a European equivalent grew. In 1995, a group of science educators including Rosalind Driver, organised a science education conference in Leeds. One key purpose of the conference was to create a European association of science educators. It is to the credit of a large number of European science educators, assisted by colleagues from Australia and the USA, that the association was born. Few people who were present at the final plenary discussion, orchestrated by John Gilbert from Reading University, will ever forget the challenges of language, culture and regional loyalties that helped to create the organisation that ESERA (www.esera.org) is now.

ESERA's first President was Dimitris Psillos from Greece and the Secretary was Philip Adey from the UK. Piet Lijnse (Netherlands), Reinders Duit (Germany); Maria Pilar Jiménez Aleixandre (Spain); Martine Méheut (France) and Helene Sørensen (Denmark) made up the rest of the Executive. Subsequent ESERA Presidents have included Robin Millar and the two editors of this volume. ESERA has grown from strength to strength and has held biennial conferences in Rome, Kiel (Germany), Thessaloniki, Noordwijkerhout (Netherlands), Barcelona, Malmö, Istanbul and Lyon. In the intervening years it has organised Ph.D. summer schools in Barcelona (Spain), Marly-le-Roi (France), Gilleleje (Denmark), Radovljica (Slovenia), Mülheim (Germany), Braga (Portugal), York (UK), Udine (Italy) and Bad Honnef (Germany).

### POLICY TEXTS AND THE NATURE OF SCIENCE EDUCATION

In recent years, several documents have been published in Europe that more or less described a crisis situation for the recruitment of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) students to higher education and eventually the workforce. The first was the report published in 2004: *Europe Needs More Scientists* (EC, 2004) chaired by the former Portuguese Science and Technology Minister Professor José Mariano Gago. The focus of this report was not only that Europe needed to promote more students to careers in STEM areas, but also that the focus needed to be on educational systems for improving school science. The importance of stressing hands-on science based on experiences was suggested to increase motivation. The focus shifted from science for future scientists to a science education that promoted science for all and scientific literacy.

In 2006, the Nuffield Foundation convened two seminars involving science educators from nine European countries. The seminars investigated the extent to which the issue of poor attitudes towards science was common across Europe, the similarities and differences between countries, and some attempted solutions and remedies. The idea behind these two Nuffield-funded London seminars was to draw together a group of leading science educators, from across the continent, to consider the state of science education in the EU. Invitations were extended to those engaged in science education, albeit principally academic science educators, from a range of European countries that were felt to represent the diversity of countries within the EU. The first seminar was held at the Nuffield Foundation headquarters, on June 1-2, 2006 and the second was held, in the same year, on December 7–8. In addition, an initial draft of the main findings was presented and discussed at ESERA's biennial conference in Malmö. Sweden in August 2007. The focus of the first seminar was very much on exploring the current state of science education across Europe, the issues that are confronting it, and the evidence for those views. The seminars sought to explore what were felt to be the four key issues that are central to the nature of the teaching and learning experience offered by school science. That is: curriculum; pedagogy; assessment and teacher supply, professional development and retention. Introducing the subsequent report, Science Education in Europe: Critical Reflections (Osborne and Dillon, 2008), the Director of the Nuffield Foundation, Dr Anthony Tomei wrote:

Its message is clear. There are shortcomings in curriculum, pedagogy and assessment, but the deeper problem is one of fundamental purpose. School science education, the authors argue, has never provided a satisfactory education for the majority. Now the evidence is that it is failing in its original purpose, to provide a route into science for future scientists. The challenge therefore, is to re-imagine science education: to consider how it can be made fit for the modern world and how it can meet the needs of all students; those who will go on to work in scientific and technical subjects, and those who will not. The report suggests how this re-imagining might be achieved.

#### D. JORDE AND J. DILLON

The authors of *Science Education in Europe* examined the concern about science education, expressed in reports such as *Europe Needs More Scientists* which, they argued 'concentrates solely on the supply of future scientists and engineers and rarely examines the demand.' Their critique noted that:

There is, for instance, a failure to recognise that science is a global activity where the evidence would suggest that there is no overall shortage at the doctoral level [2] although there may be local shortages of particular types of scientists and engineers, for example, pharmacologists in the UK. There may also be shortages at the technician and intermediate levels of scientific and technological work but better data is needed before making major policy decisions on science education. In such a context, encouraging or persuading young people to pursue careers in science without the evidence of demand would be morally questionable. (p. 7)

Osborne and Dillon argued that framing the discussion about school science in terms of the supply of the next generation of scientists is problematic because it defines the primary goal of science education as a pipeline, albeit leaky.

In so doing, it places a responsibility on school science education that no other curriculum subject shares. Our view is that a science education *for all* can only be justified if it offers something of universal value for *all* rather than the *minority* who will become future scientists. For these reasons, the goal of science education must be, first and foremost, to offer an education that develops students' understanding both of the canon of scientific knowledge and of how science functions. In short that school science offers an *education in science* and not a form of pre-professional training. (p. 7)

The report, which has been cited almost 200 times, according to Google Scholar, makes a series of seven recommendations including:

More attempts at innovative curricula and ways of organising the teaching of science that address the issue of low student motivation are required. These innovations need to be evaluated. In particular, a physical science curriculum that specifically focuses on developing an understanding of science in contexts that are known to interest girls should be developed and trialled within the EU. (p. 8)

and

EU governments should invest significantly in research and development in assessment in science education. The aim should be to develop items and methods that assess the skills, knowledge and competencies expected of a scientifically literate citizen. (p. 8)

A report published by the OECD titled: *Encouraging Student Interest in Science and Technology Studies* (OECD, 2008) looked at the overall trends in higher education compared with other disciplines. The report suggested that whereas absolute numbers of science and technology students have been rising in

accordance with increased access to higher education in OECD countries, the relative share of science and technology students in the overall population has been falling. Of particular importance is that female students also continue to lag behind. Recommendations from this report are similar to others which call for curriculum reforms, improved science teacher education and in-service and particular attention to ideas to increase the number of females studying science and technology subjects.

#### SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE EU

In response to the situation found in Europe for recruitment into the STEM areas, the European Commission established a research programme in Science in Society (SIS) with a broad perspective on marking the importance of Science in Europe (http://cordis.europa.eu/fp7/sis). The SIS programme in the Seventh Framework Programme (FP7) has a budget of EUR 330 million, reflecting a strong commitment to the significance of science in Europe. The SIS Program has been charged with the responsibility of supporting the following specific research activities: the connection between science, democracy and law; ethics in science and technology; the reciprocal influence of science and culture; the role and image of scientists; gender aspects; science education methods; and science communication. Science educators and researchers have been particularly active in research calls dealing with science education methods, science communication, gender aspects and the role and image of scientists.

In 2006 an expert group under the leadership of Michel Rocard, former prime minister of France and member of the European Parliament, was established to look more closely at on-going initiatives funded by SiS in Europe to identify the necessary conditions for bringing about change in young people's interest in science. The timing of the report, published in 2007, was important for France, since they were to assume the EU Presidency in 2008. The expert group looked particularly at successful projects that worked with the way science is taught in schools, concluding with an appeal to promote inquiry based science teaching and learning as a basis for improving the way science is taught in schools. The report, *Science Education NOW: A Renewed Pedagogy for the Future of Europe* (EC, 2007) came with recommendations for politicians in member states for how to go about making changes in how science is taught. The most important impact of the report was the release of additional research funding in this area.

Two initiatives were described in the *Science Education NOW* report, serving as examples of successful projects having had an impact on science teaching through inquiry in Europe. The first was the Pollen project (www.pollen-europa.net), launched in 2006, in which inquiry based science education (IBSE) at the primary level was implemented within 12 seed cities throughout Europe. The major goal of Pollen was "to provide an empirical illustration of how science teaching can be reformed on a local level within schools whilst involving the whole community, in order to demonstrate the sustainability and efficiency of the Seed City approach to stakeholders and national education authorities, and to seek leverage effects"

#### D. JORDE AND J. DILLON

(www.pollen-europa.net). It should be noted that the Pollen project was supported by the French Academy of Sciences, also responsible for the *La main à la pâte* programme, launched in 1996. The more recent EU supported Fibonacci Project (www.fibonacci-project.eu) continued from this line of prestigious predecessors by increasing the number of participating countries and also including mathematics. The project is based on the idea that local and regional initiatives are appropriate for the reform of science education in Europe.

The second project described by the *Science Education NOW* report was the German SINUS-Transfer project (http://sinus-transfer.eu) based on years of experience working with discussion between teachers on their pedagogical practices in teaching science and mathematics in German schools. The Mind the Gap and the S-TEAM (www.s-teamproject.eu) projects described by Stadler and Jorde (in this volume) are supported through EU funding under the SiS funding scheme for science education methods in inquiry based science education. It is an important point to make that the individual countries in the EU have responsibility for their own curriculum (what is to be taught). However, it is possible to establish norms about matters concerning the pedagogy of teaching and thus create international networks of researchers concerned with teaching.

Coordinating the many projects supported within the 7th Framework Programme is a task taken on by the newly established SCIENTIX (The community for science education in Europe) project and website (www.scientix.eu). Even a quick look at this site shows the tremendous amount of supported activity in Europe in STEM areas. The searchable website is in itself a challenge for Europe, as language and culture need to be considered in all types of search engines.

Europe is definitely talking about STEM issues. The question remains, are we able to coordinate our efforts to make the impact desired for general scientific literacy as well as for Europe's need to compete within the worldwide knowledge society? The many STEM projects launched in the past few years are based on solid science education research, going on in Europe since the 1960's. Much of this research has been done locally – within national boundaries. The trend towards large-scale inquiry based science projects in Europe is influenced by European funding within the 7th framework for SIS. Whereas this is a very positive movement for bringing ideas, researchers and teachers together throughout Europe, it is not the type of funding that allows basic types of research. What is drastically needed now and in the future is funding to work comparatively with educational research in science education so that we can begin to develop a better understanding of what actually works and whether ideas are transferable to other cultures and contexts.

#### REFERENCES

Association for Science Education (ASE) (1979). Alternatives for Science Education: a Consultative Document. Hatfield: ASE.

Association for Science Education (ASE) (1981). Education through Science. Hatfield: ASE.

Department of Education and Science (DES) (1985). Science 5–16: a Statement of Policy. London: HMSO.

- Donnelly, J. F. and Jenkins, E. W. (2001). Science Education, Policy, Professionalism and Change. London: Paul Chapman.
- European Commission (2004). Europe needs more Scientists. Report by the High Level Group on Increasing Human Resources for Science and Technology in Europe. Science and Society. (ec.europa.eu/research/conferences/2004/sciprof/pdf/final\_en.pdf)
- European Commission (2007). Science Education Now: A renewed pedagogy for the future of Europe. High Level Group on Science Education. (http://ec.europa.eu/research/science-society/document\_ library/pdf 06/report-rocard-on-science-education en.pdf)
- Hodson, D. (1990). A critical look at practical work in school science, School Science Review, 71(256), 33–40.
- Hodson, D. (1992). Redefining and reorienting practical work in school science, *School Science Review*, 73(264), 65–78.
- Jenkins, E. W. (1992). School science education: towards a reconstruction, Journal of Curriculum Studies, 24(3), 229–246.
- Jenkins, E. W. (2004). From option to compulsion: school science teaching, 1954–2004, School Science Review, 85(313), 33–40.
- Keohane, K. W. (1986). Foreword, in M. Lyth (ed.), Nuffield Science 11 to 13. Teachers' Guide 1. How Scientists Work. Harlow: Longman.
- Klainin, S. (1988). Practical work and science education, in P. J. Fensham (ed.), Development and Dilemmas in Science Education. Lewes: Falmer Press, pp. 174–182.
- Millar, R. and Osborne, J. (1998). Beyond 2000. Science Education for the Future. London: King's College.
- Monk, M. and Dillon, J. (1995). From telling to selling: one historical perspective on consultancy in science education, *Journal of Education Policy*, 10(3), 317–323.
- Monk, M. and Dillon, J. (2000). The nature of scientific knowledge, in M. Monk and J. Osborne (eds.), Good Practice in Science Teaching: What Research Has to Say. Milton Keynes: Open University Press, pp. 72–87.
- Nuffield Science 11 to 13 (1986). Teachers' Guide 1. How Scientists Work. Harlow: Longman.
- OECD (2008). Encouraging Student Interest in Science and Technology Studies. Global Science Forum.
- Osborne, J. and Dillon, J. (2008). Science Education in Europe: Critical Reflections. London: The Nuffield Foundation.

Royal Society (1982). Science Education in England and Wales. London: The Royal Society.

- Solomon, J. (1994). The rise and fall of constructivism, Studies in Science Education, 23, 1–19.
- Waring, M. R. H. (1979). Social Pressures and Curriculum Innovation. London: Routledge.
- Waring, M. (1985). To make the mind strong, rather than to make it full: Elementary school science teaching in London 1870–1904, in I. F. Goodson (ed.), Social Histories of the Secondary Curriculum: Subjects for Study. Lewes: Falmer Press, pp. 121–143.

#### AFFILIATIONS

Doris Jorde Department of Teacher Education and School Research University of Oslo

Justin Dillon Centre for Research in Education in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics King's College London

# REINDERS DUIT, HARALD GROPENGIEßER, ULRICH KATTMANN, MICHAEL KOMOREK AND ILKA PARCHMANN

# 2. THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION – A FRAMEWORK FOR IMPROVING TEACHING AND LEARNING SCIENCE<sup>1</sup>

# OVERVIEW

To improve instructional practices – in schools, universities and in out of school settings has been a major concern of science education research and development. The intensive international debate on *scientific literacy* in the 1990s and the series of international monitoring studies like TIMSS and PISA in the 1990s and in the 2000s have fuelled this debate substantially. Various strands of science education research contribute to the stock of knowledge on more efficient means of teaching and learning science. The Model of Educational Reconstruction (MER) presented in this chapter provides a conception of science education research that is relevant for improving instructional practice and teacher professional development programs. The model is based on European Didaktik and Bildung (formation) traditions – with a particular emphasis on the German tradition. A key concern of the model is that science subject matter issues as well as student learning needs and capabilities have to be given equal attention in attempts to improve the quality of teaching and learning. There are three major emphases that are intimately connected:

- (1) The clarification and analysis of science subject matter (including key science concepts and principles like evolution, energy, particles, or combustion, and science processes and views of the nature of science, as well as the significance of science in various out of school contexts).
- (2) The investigation into student and teacher perspectives regarding the chosen subject (including pre-instructional conceptions, affective variables like interests, self-concepts, attitudes, and skills).
- (3) The design and evaluation of learning environments (e.g. instructional materials, learning activities, teaching and learning sequences).

The first emphasis comprises analyses of subject matter from science *and* educational perspectives. Research and development activities are closely linked.

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 13–37. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.



ON THE INTERDISCIPLINARY NATURE OF SCIENCE EDUCATION

Figure 1. Reference disciplines for Science Education (Duit, 2007).

There are several *reference disciplines* that are needed to meet the challenges of investigating and analysing key issues of teaching and learning science. Philosophy and history of science provide thinking patterns to critically analyze the *nature of science* (McComas, 1998; Lederman, 2008), and the particular contribution of science to understand the "world", i.e. nature and technology (Bybee, 1997; de Boer, 2000). Accordingly, these disciplines allow us to discuss what is special in science (as compared to other disciplines) and therefore what is special in teaching and learning science. Pedagogy and psychology provide competencies to consider whether a certain topic is worth teaching and to carry out empirical studies whether this topic may be understood by the students. There are further reference disciplines that also come into play, such as linguistics which may provide frameworks for analysing classroom discourse or conceptualizing learning science as an introduction into a new language or ethics for framing instruction on moral issues.

The interdisciplinary nature of science education is responsible for particular challenges for carrying out science education research and development. Not only sound competencies in science are necessary but also substantial competencies in various additional disciplines. In principle the same set of competencies – though with different emphases – has also to be expected from teachers. To know science well is not sufficient for them. At least some basic insight into the nature of science provided by the philosophy and history of science and familiarity with recent views of teaching and learning science provided by pedagogy and psychology are needed.

Shulman (1987) introduced the idea of *content specific pedagogical knowledge* (briefly: PCK – Pedagogical Content Knowledge). It has been widely adopted in science education (Gess-Newsome & Lederman, 1999; van Dijk & Kattmann, 2007). The key idea is the following. There is a close link between content knowledge and pedagogical knowledge which in traditional approaches is often disregarded. Shulman (1987) holds that the PCK linking the two kinds of

knowledge is the major key to successful teaching. The conception of science education outlined in Figure 1 includes Shulman's idea of PCK (for an elaborate analysis, see van Dijk & Kattmann, 2007).

# TRADITIONS OF SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH<sup>2</sup>

Dahnke et al. (2001) argued that there is a split in the science education community. On the one side the major focus is on science. Research work in this group is usually restricted to issues of subject matter knowledge or presentation techniques – neglecting the way in which the ideas discussed may be learned by the students. On the other hand, there are science educators who try to find a balance between the mother discipline and educational issues. This is the position depicted in Figure 1. Jenkins (2001) provided another distinction. His *pedagogical* tradition aims at improving practice. He claims that the followers of this tradition remain close to the academic science disciplines. The major concern of his *empirical* tradition is acquiring "objective data" that are needed to understand and influence educational practice.

Clearly, there is a substantial degree of commonality of Jenkins' (2001) distinction and the previous view of Dahnke et al. (2001). This distinction may be seen in terms of differentiating *applied* and *basic* research. It was argued in science education (Wright, 1993) and in research on teaching and learning in general (Kaestle, 1993) that basic research in education is viewed as irrelevant by practitioners. Still there is an intensive debate on overcoming the gap between theory and practice (Luft, 2009). Hence, a fine-tuned balance between the two positions is needed in research that aims at improving practice (Gibbons et al., 1994; Vosniadou, 1996). The most prominent positions merging the above applied and basic research positions seem to be variants of *Design Based Research* (Cobb, Confrey, diSessa, Lehrer, & Schauble, 2003; Sandoval & Bell, 2004; Tibergien, Vince, & Gaidioz, 2009). As will be outlined more fully below the model of educational reconstruction presented here is also based on merging the applied and basic research side.

The two traditions briefly outlined above may be characterised in the following way. On the one side, there is a group of science education researchers who are close to the particular science domain. Their attention is not only near to teaching practice but they also put the main emphasis on science content in designing new teaching and learning sequences. Frequently, a balance between science orientation and orientation on student needs, interests, ideas and learning processes is missing. On the other side, the group focussing on empirical research on teaching and learning often orients itself on general education and the psychology of learning barely considering the domain and context specific perspectives of the science topic. A significant number of conceptual change approaches (Vosniadou, 2008; Treagust & Duit, 2008) seem to fall into this category. The two positions may be characterized by calling them *science-oriented* and *student-oriented*. Clearly analytical research on a particular science content (like evolution or energy), which is often carried out by science-oriented science educators provides an essential

basis for teaching and learning the content. However, it seems that progress in student understanding and learning may only be achieved if there is a balance between the two perspectives. Successful design of science teaching and learning sequences needs to merge the two positions.

Fensham (2001) points to the necessity of research on teaching and learning to rethink science content, to view it also as problematic (see also Fensham, Gunstone, & White, 1994), and to reconstruct it from educational perspectives. These considerations may also be discussed by contrasting the European Didaktik tradition and the Curriculum tradition (Hopmann & Riquarts, 1995). Whereas the Curriculum tradition is very much in line with the above Jenkin's (2001) *empirical* side, the Didaktik tradition aims at a balance of key features of the *scienceoriented* and *student-oriented* science education research. This is the above position of the interdisciplinary nature of science education research as outlined in Figure 1 which is also a key concern of the Model of Educational Reconstruction discussed below.

# THE GERMAN TRADITION OF BILDUNG AND DIDAKTIK

It is essential to point out first that traditional German pedagogy was strongly embedded in hermeneutical epistemological views as established by Wilhelm Dilthey (1833–1911). It appears that this tradition is a major reason that behaviourist ideas had a much smaller impact on the educational system in Germany as compared to the predominance of the view in the USA.

The German terms *Bildung* and *Didaktik* are difficult to translate into English. A literal translation is *formation*. In fact *Bildung* is viewed as a process. Bildung denotes the formation of the learner as a whole person, that is, for the development of the personality of the learner. The meaning of *Didaktik* is based on the notion of *Bildung*. It concerns the analytical process of transposing (or transforming) human knowledge (the cultural heritage) like domain specific knowledge into knowledge for schooling that contributes to the above formation (Bildung) of young people. Didaktik should not be interpreted from the perspective of the English expression *didactical* which denotes a rather restricted instructional method (Hopmann & Riquarts, 1995; Fensham, 2001).

Two major conceptions of German Didaktik are presented in the following. The first conception is Klafki's *Didaktische Analyse* (Educational Analysis) published in 1969. His ideas rest upon the principle of primacy of the aims and intentions of instruction. They frame the educational analysis, at the heart of which are the five questions in Table 1.

#### THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION

Table 1. Key questions of Klafki's (1969) Educational Analysis (Didaktische Analyse)

- (1) What is the more general idea that is represented by the content of interest? What basic phenomena or basic principles, what general laws, criteria, methods, techniques or attitudes may be addressed in an exemplary way by dealing with the content?
- (2) What is the significance of the referring content or the experiences, knowledge, abilities, and skills to be achieved by dealing with the content in students' actual intellectual life? What is the significance the content should have from a pedagogical point of view?
- (3) What is the significance of the content for students' future life?
- (4) What is the structure of the content if viewed from the pedagogical perspectives outlined in questions 1 to 3?
- (5) What are particular cases, phenomena, situations, experiments that allow making the structure of the referring content interesting, worth questioning, accessible, and understandable for the students?

The other significant figure of thought within the German *Didaktik* tradition is the fundamental interplay of all variables determining instruction proposed by Heimann, Otto, and Schulz also in 1969 (Figure 2). In this model students' learning processes are of key interest and not the contribution to *Bildung* as is the case in Klafki's *Educational Analysis* approach. The aims and intentions of instruction form the most significant frame for the process of designing instruction; however, they are given the role of primus inter pares (the first among equal partners). The *interaction* of intentions and the other variables shown in the first line of figure 2 is given particular attention. Students' intellectual and attitudinal as well as socio-cultural preconditions significantly influence the interplay of these components. They allow asking the four key questions that shape the process of instructional planning: Why – What – How – By What.

Intentions (aims and objectives)	Topic of instruction (content)	Methods of instruction	Media used in instruction		
Why	What	How	By What		
Students' intellectual and attitudinal preconditions (e.g., pre-instructional conceptions, state of general thinking processes, interests and attitudes) Students' socio-cultural preconditions (e.g.,norms of society, influence of society and life on the student)					

Figure 2. On the fundamental interplay of instructional variables.

The most important issues of the German Didaktik tradition as outlined are the following. In planning instruction (by the teacher or curriculum developers) the science content to be learned and students' cognitive and affective variables linked

to learning the content have to be given equal attention. The science content is not viewed as "given" but has to undergo certain reconstruction processes. The science content structure (e.g. for the force concept) has to be transformed into a content structure *for* instruction. The two structures are fundamentally different. In the first step the *elementary ideas* with regard to the aims of instruction have to be *detected* by seriously taking into account student perspectives (e.g. their pre-instructional conceptions). Hence, it becomes, obvious that key ideas of the later constructivist perspectives of teaching and learning science were already part of the German *Didaktik* tradition.

An additional key figure of thought within the German Didaktik tradition is called "Elementarisierung" (see Nipkow, 1986, for the use of this term in German pedagogy). The literal English translation *elementarization* is not commonly used in pedagogy and science education literature. It includes three major facets (Bleichroth, 1991; Reinhold, 2006). Educational analysis according to Klafki's (1969) first question in Table 1 aims at identifying the *elements*, i.e. the elementary lfeatures (basic phenomena, basic principles, general laws), of a certain content to be taught. The search for the elements has to be guided by the aims and objectives of instruction in such a way that students may understand them. The term *element* as used in considerations on *elementarization* clearly has a metaphorical meaning. It is a search for the entities of a complex content domain (e.g., a complex science theory) that may be viewed as *elements* in a similar way as the elements that allow explaining the composition of all substances. For the science concept of *energy* the following elementary features have proven fruitful: Energy transformation, conservation, degradation, and transfer (Duit & Häußler, 1994). Energy degradation is among the elementary features as understanding this feature is essential for allowing students to understand energy conservation. All processes in the real world display primarily energy degradation. Energy conservation usually may be "observed" (illustrated) only in particularly designed experiments not in daily life processes.

The second facet included in the use of the term *elementarization* is the process of reducing the complexity of a particular science content in such a way that it becomes accessible to the learners. This facet should not be interpreted in terms of merely "simplifying" science content because the purpose is not necessarily to make science simpler but to find a way to introduce students to the elementary features of a content that have been constructed in the search for the elements as outlined above. The process of elementarization often is a delicate task of finding a balance between correctness from the science point of view and accessibility for students. Frequently, it turns out to be a course between Scylla and Charybdis.

There is an additional facet included in the term elementarization, namely to plan student learning processes as a series of elements of instructional methods that allow to guide students from their pre-instructional conceptions towards the science concepts (Bleichroth, 1981).

#### THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION

The Model of Educational Reconstruction (MER) draws on the German Didaktik tradition outlined above. In particular, it addresses the need to bring science related issues and educationally oriented issues into balance when teaching and learning sequences are designed that deliberately support understanding and learning science. It also addresses the above gap between science education research and science instruction practice by explicitly linking research and development – in much the same way as, for instance, Design Based Research (Cobb, Confrey, diSessa, Lehrer, & Schauble, 2003).

#### Introductory Remarks

The model has been developed as a theoretical framework for studies as to whether it is worthwhile and possible to teach particular content areas of science. Clarification of science subject matter is a key issue if instruction of particular science contents (such as evolution, photosynthesis, or energy) is to be developed. Often issues coming from the structure of the referring science content primarily or solely inform this clarification process. Educational issues then are regarded only after the science subject matter structure has been clarified. Initially, the focus was on studies on educational reconstruction of *science content*. More recently, it became clear that also *science processes* and *views of the nature of science* need to undergo this process in order to allow efficient learning and teaching of issues *about* science.

The MER closely links research on the science content structure<sup>3</sup> and the educational significance of parts of it, and also includes empirical studies on students' understanding as well as preliminary trials of pilot instructional modules in classroom practice. It is, for instance, a key assumption of the model that the curriculum developers' awareness of the students' point of view may substantially influence the reconstruction of the particular science content. The results of the research already conducted within the framework of Educational Reconstruction clearly show that intimate knowledge of students' conceptions may provide a more adequate understanding of the referring science content by the curriculum developers. The MER has been designed primarily as a frame for science education research and development. However, it also provides significant guidance for planning science instruction in school practice.

The model has been developed in close cooperation of members of research groups on biology education in Oldenburg and physics education at the IPN in Kiel (Kattmann, Duit, Gropengießer, & Komorek, 1995, 1997). The model provided the framework for a project on the "*Educational Reconstruction of key features of non-linear systems*" (Duit, Komorek, & Wilbers, 1997; Komorek & Duit, 2004; Stavrou, Duit, & Komorek, 2008). It was also used as a key facet of the theoretical framework for instructional planning within the quality development projects "*Physics in Context*" (Duit & Mikelskis-Seifert, 2010) and "*Chemistry in Context*" (Parchmann & Schmidt, 2003; Schmidt, Rebentisch & Parchmann, 2003).

Colleagues at the University of Oldenburg initiated a large series of studies on educational reconstruction of key biology concepts like evolution, vision, cell and the like in German biology education in general (Frerichs, 1999; Gropengießer, 1998; Kattmann, 2001; Hilge, 2001; Brinschwitz & Gropengießer, 2003; Baalmann, Frerichs, Weizel, Gropengießer, & Kattmann, 2004; Lewis & Kattmann, 2004). They also started a "*Graduate School Educational Reconstruction*" that allowed investigating the power of MER not only in science but also in various additional school topics.<sup>4</sup> More recently, in a subsequent project teacher professional development based on the MER is given particular attention.<sup>5</sup> In general the model became a key figure of thought in German science education. It has also been adopted by science educators elsewhere – especially in Europe, i.e. in countries with a deliberate Didaktik-tradition.

# Epistemological Orientation

The model is based on a constructivist epistemological position (Phillips, 2000). This epistemological orientation concerns the understanding of students' perspectives as well as the interpretation of the scientific content (Gerstenmaier & Mandl, 1996). We stress the point of view that the conceptions the learners develop are not regarded as obstacles for learning but as points to start from and mental instruments to work with in further learning (Driver & Easley, 1978; Duit & Treagust, 2003; Treagust & Duit, 2008). We further assume that there is no such thing as the "true" content structure of a particular content area (Abd-El-Khalik & Lederman, 2000). What is commonly called the science content structure is seen as the consensus of a particular science community. Every presentation of this consensus, including the presentations in the leading textbooks, is viewed as an idiosyncratic reconstruction of the authors informed by the specific aims they explicitly or implicitly hold. Thus academic textbooks are regarded as descriptions of concepts, principles and theories and not as accounts of reality itself. Certainly in most cases the scientific knowledge is of higher inter-subjective validity than everyday knowledge but - like the latter - it is still a system of mental constructs. Clearly, these considerations also hold for issues of science processes and the nature of science (i.e. issue about science). However, it has to be taken into account that the consensus about the particular features of science processes and the nature of science is far less well established as with regard to science content (Lederman, 2008).

# Overview of the Model

Figure 3 illustrates that the MER consists of three closely interrelated components; figure 4 provides details of the process of educational reconstruction.

#### THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION



Figure 3. The three components of the Model of Educational Reconstruction.



Figure 4. Steps towards a content structure for instruction.

The model concerns the analytical process of transposing<sup>6</sup> (or transforming) human knowledge (the cultural heritage) like domain specific knowledge into knowledge for schooling that contributes to student scientific literacy. Briefly put, the content structure of a certain domain has to be transformed into a content structure *for* instruction (see figure 4). The two structures are substantially different. The science content structure for a certain topic may not be directly transferred into a content structure for instruction. It has to be *elementarized* to make it accessible for students but also enriched by putting it into contexts that make sense for the learners.

Many teachers and also science educators think that the content structure for instruction has to be "simpler" than the science content structure in order to meet students' understanding. Accordingly, they call the process of designing the content structure for instruction *reduction*. However, this view misses the point. In a way the content structure for instruction has to be much more complex than the science content structure in order to meet the needs of the learners. It is, therefore, necessary to embed the abstract science knowledge into various contexts in order to address learning potentialities and difficulties of the learners.

#### Component (1): Clarification and Analysis of Science Content

The aim of this component is to clarify the specific science conceptions and the content structure from an educational point of view. Two processes closely linked are included, clarification of subject matter and analysis of educational significance. Clarification of subject matter draws on qualitative content analysis of leading textbooks and key publications on the topic under inspection but also may take into account its historical development. A critical analysis of a particular science content from the standpoint of science education is necessary, because academic textbooks address experts (e.g. scientist and students to become scientists). Scientific knowledge is often presented in an abstract and condensed manner. Usually, neither preconceptions nor circumstances of the research process, the research questions and the methods employed are given. We even find linguistic expressions of old and outdated thought in academic textbooks. In a scientific community this may not hamper understanding too much. To learners at schools and informal learning sites this kind of science content is not accessible and sometimes misleading. We also attend to science terms that might be misleading to learners, especially words of different meaning in science and evervdav-life.

Interestingly, taking students' pre-instructional conceptions into account that have often proven not to be in accordance with the science concepts to be learned (Driver & Erickson, 1983) also contributes to more adequately understanding the science content in the process of subject matter clarification. Experiences show that surprising and seemingly "strange" conceptions students own may provide a new view of science content and hence allows another, deeper, understanding of the content clarified (Kattmann, 2001; Duit, Komorek, & Wilbers, 1997; Scheffel, Brockmeier, & Parchmann, 2009).

As mentioned previously, the key idea of educational reconstruction includes the idea that a certain *science content structure* has to be transformed into the *content structure for instruction*. According to Figure 4 two processes are included: *elementarization* which lead to the elementary ideas of the content under inspection (see additional remarks on this process above) and *construction of content structure for instruction*. In both processes science content issues and issues of students' perspectives (their conceptions and views about the content as well as affective variables like their interests and science learning self-concepts) have to be taken into account. Figure 4 provides a somewhat simplified impression of these processes. Usually, the procedure is not as linear as depicted but a somewhat complicated recursive procedure is needed to re-construct an appropriate content structure for instruction (see Figure 5 below).

As mentioned already, traditionally, science content primarily denotes science concepts and principles. However, recent views of science processes (science inquiry), the nature of science and also the relevance of science in daily life and society should be given substantial attention in science instruction (Osborne, Ratcliffe, Millar, & Duschl, 2003; McComas, 1998; Lederman, 2008). All these additional issues need to be included in the process of educational reconstruction, i.e. also they need to be educationally reconstructed.

# Component (2): Research on Teaching and Learning

Figure 3 indicates that the process of clarification and analysis of science content on the one hand and the process of construction of content structure for instruction on the other need to be based on empirical research on teaching and learning. Empirical studies on various features of the particular learning setting need to be regarded. Research on students' perspectives investigates their pre-instructional conceptions and affective variables like interests, self-concepts, and attitudes. But many more studies on teaching and learning processes and the particular role of instructional methods, experiments and other instructional tools need to be taken into account. Furthermore, research on teachers' views and beliefs of the science concepts, students' learning and their role in initiating and supporting learning processes are essential.

The research literature on teaching and learning science is extensive (Abell & Lederman, 2008; Duit, 2009). This is by far the largest research domain in science education. A wide spectrum of methods is employed ranging from qualitative to quantitative nature, including questionnaires, interviews and learning process studies in natural settings.

However, for a number of new and also traditional topics little to no research at all is available. In these cases, research on teaching and learning and the process of educational reconstruction are closely interrelated (Baalmann et al., 2004; Duit, Komorek, & Wilbers, 1997). Here qualitative methods like interviews or small scale learning process studies prevail (Komorek & Duit, 2004).

#### Component (3): Design and Evaluation of Teaching and Learning Environments

The third component comprises the design of instructional materials, learning activities, and teaching and learning sequences. The design of learning supporting environments is at the heart of this component. Hence, the design is, first of all, structured by the specific needs and learning capabilities of the students to achieve the goals set. Key resources of the design activities are research findings on students' perspectives (e.g., their potentialities, learning difficulties as well as their interests, self-concepts and attitudes) on the one hand and the (preliminary) results

of subject matter clarification on the other hand. Both resources are regarded as equally important for designing instruction.

Various empirical methods are used to evaluate the materials and activities designed, such as interviews with students and teachers, e.g. on their views of the value of the desired items, questionnaires on the development of students' cognitive and affective variables, and also analyses of video-documented instructional practice. Development of instructional material and activities as well as research on various issues of teaching and learning science is intimately linked.

Interview studies primarily provide guidelines for the rearrangement of learning sequences and design of learning environments (Baalmann, Frerichs, & Kattmann, 1999; Frerichs, 1999; Gropengießer, 1998, 2001; Hilge, 2001; Komorek, Vogt, & Duit, 2003; Osewold, 2003; Baalmann et al., 2004; Schwanewedel, Hößle, & Kattmann, 2007; Fach & Parchmann, 2007). In teaching experiments (Steffe & D'Ambrosio, 1996; Komorek & Duit, 2004; Scheffel, Brockmann, & Parchmann, 2009) carried out with a few students each, learning processes are investigated. The learners' "pathways of thinking" are inferred and linked to the learning activities. The effect of carefully designed learning environments on the students' conceptions is investigated (Komorek, Stavrou, & Duit, 2003; Komorek & Duit, 2004; Schmidt, 2011). In the studies by Brinschwitz and Gropengießer (2003), Weitzel and Gropengießer (2003), Groß and Gropengießer (2003), Riemeier (2005) as well as Niebert and Gropengießer and Riemeier and Gropengießer (2008) the interpretation was framed by experiential realism and a cognitive linguistic theory of understanding (Lakoff, 1990). Further studies in natural settings of science classrooms are conducted (Duit, Roth, Komorek, & Wilbers, 1998). Limitations and the particular shaping of learning processes within the conditions of real classroom settings are to be taken into account in theses studies (compare Brown's, 1992, approach of design experiments; for a similar approach: Knippels, 2003; Verhoeff, 2004).

# The Recursive Process of Educational Reconstruction

Figure 3 points out that there is a fundamental interaction between the three components of the Model of Educational Reconstruction. However, the three components do not follow strictly upon one another but influence each other mutually. Consequently the procedure must be conducted step by step recursively. In practice, a complex step by step process occurs. Figure 5 presents this process in a project on educational reconstruction of limited predictability of chaotic systems (Duit, Komorek, & Wilbers, 1997).

#### THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION



Figure 5. An example for the recursive process of Educational Reconstruction (Kattmann et al., 1995).

# The Model of Educational Reconstruction and Other Models of Instructional Design

The MER presented here shares major features with other models of instructional design that aim at improving practice. First of all, the model is explicitly based on constructivist oriented views of efficient teaching and learning environments. In this regard, the model meets the mainstream of the wide spectrum of contemporary attempts towards constructivist oriented instructional design (Vosniadou, 2008; Tytler, 2007; Widodo, 2004). However, the model does not favour a particular variant of this kind of design. Actually, in the many studies explicitly based on the model partly substantially different epistemological variants are used and varying constructivist oriented instructional methods employed depending on the aims of the particular learning settings.

The cyclical (recursive) process of educational reconstruction i.e. the process of theoretical reflection, conceptual analysis, small scale curriculum development, and classroom research on the interaction of teaching and learning processes is also a key concern of the conception of *developmental research*<sup>7</sup> presented by Lijnse (1995).

As mentioned, in the field of educational psychology there has been an intensive discussion on whether results of research on teaching and learning are suited to improve instructional practice, i.e., to bridge the deep gap between research and practice (see above). *Design Experiments* (Cobb et al., 2003) and other design based research approaches have been developed as a means to address this problem. They intimately link research and development, and also take

instructional practice explicitly into account. Further, they may lead to the development of content-oriented theories (Andersson & Wallin, 2006) – in much the same way as the MER.

It seems that this model also shares some major features with the approach of *Learning Progressions* that has been developed the past decade, primarily in the USA (Duncan & Hmelo-Silver, 2009). Learning progressions describe *"successively more sophisticated ways of reasoning within a content domain that follow one another as students learn"* (Smith, Wiser, Anderson, & Krajcik, 2006). The major shared issues of the approaches concern that science content structure features and students learning pathways in a long term perspective both are given significant attention.

Clearly, the MER shares a significant number of features with other frameworks for science education research and development, e.g. constructivist orientation, development of content-oriented theories, recursive process of research and development, and aiming at improving instructional practice. The particular contribution to the international state of discussion seems to be the idea that science content structure has to be reconstructed on the grounds of educational issues, namely the aims of instruction and student perspectives. The processes depicted in Figure 4, namely the *elementarization* leading to the key basic ideas of a certain content domain and the adjacent *construction of the content structure for instruction* indicate the special contribution of the model. The more general contribution of the MER can be seen in providing a framework of relevant components for science education research and development and thereby shaping its trilateral relations. The three components are mutually related to each other in a systematic way.

# CONCLUSIONS – ON THE ROLE OF THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The MER presented above initially was developed as a model for instructional planning - in school practice and in curriculum development groups. In the following we attempt to illustrate that the model has been also proven fruitful beyond the initial focus.

# The Model of Educational Reconstruction as a Framework for Science Education Research

The model integrates three significant lines of science education research: (1) The clarification and analysis of science content, (2) research on teaching and learning with a particular emphasis on the role of student pre-instructional conceptions in the learning process, and (3) the design and evaluation of learning environments (Figure 3). Briefly summarized (for more details see Duit, 2007) there are the following characteristics of these three lines:

#### THE MODEL OF EDUCATIONAL RECONSTRUCTION

- (1) Clarification and analysis of science content. As outlined more fully above there are two processes closely linked, subject matter clarification and analysis of educational significance. Not only science content but also science processes and views of the nature of science are included. Research methods for subject matter clarification are analytical (hermeneutical) in nature, and methods of content and text analysis prevail. History and philosophy of science issues are also taken into account. Analysis of educational significance is analytical in nature as well, drawing on pedagogical norms and goals. However, in a number of projects also empirical studies on the educational significance were included, e.g. by employing questionnaires to investigate the views of experts (Komorek, Wendorf, & Duit, 2003).
- (2) Research on teaching and learning. This is by far the largest research domain in science education (Duit, 2009). The major sub-domains comprise: Student learning (cognitive and affective variables); teaching; teacher professional development; instructional media and methods; student assessment. A large spectrum of methods on empirical research has been employed ranging from qualitative to quantitative and including studies in natural settings. Various epistemological perspectives have been used with variants of constructivist views predominating (see above).
- (3) Design and evaluation of learning environments. There is no doubt that much development work (e.g., regarding new experiments, new multi-media tools) still is not linked with research but draws on beliefs and "experiences" of the developers. The position underlying the MER points to three significant issues: First, development needs to be fundamentally research based and needs serious evaluation employing empirical research methods. Second, development should be viewed also as an opportunity for carrying out research studies. Third, improving practice is likely only if development and research are closely linked.

The MER provides a model in which primarily features of the particular teaching and learning situation are addressed. The wider context of the learning environment, comprising features of the educational system however, are not taken explicitly into account. *Research on curricular issues and science education policies* which is an additional major science education research field therefore is given only rather limited attention.

As argued above (Figure 1) science education should be seen as a fundamentally interdisciplinary scholarly discipline. The MER is based on this position and paradigmatically takes into account that science education research integrates research traditions from various disciplines, namely the sciences, philosophy and history of science, pedagogy, psychology, and additional disciplines like linguistics, ethics, and sociology.

#### Conceptual Reconstruction

Student learning processes are taken carefully in account in the MER. The major term to theoretically frame learning processes within constructivist oriented approaches has been conceptual change (Duit, Treagust, & Widodo, 2008). Unfortunately, the term invites several misunderstandings as the daily life meaning of change also includes exchange. However, research has clearly shown that a simple exchange of the new science conception for the old student conception usually does not happen in actual learning processes. In order to avoid misunderstandings of the term conceptual change several terms like *conceptual* growth or conceptual enrichment have been proposed (e.g., Strike & Posner, 1992; Vosniadou, 1996). Kattmann (2007) argued for using the term conceptual reconstruction in analogy to the processes of educational reconstruction (Figure 4). This term indicates that students need to reconstruct their pre-instructional conceptions. Mental processes are included that may be described as revolutionary (discontinuous) if conceptions are fundamentally re-organized, or as developmental (continuous) if conceptions are modified or linked in a new way. Furthermore, conceptual reconstruction also theoretically frames learning processes in which learners develop their mental structures by forming new conceptions on the grounds of their own imagination and experience. Conceptual reconstruction shares major features with the term "reconstruction of model knowledge" as introduced by Dole and Sinatra (1998).

# The Model of Educational Reconstruction as a Model for Teacher Professional Development

The MER presented in Figure 3 provides a theoretical frame for instructional planning. A significant number of competencies of the science educators using the model to develop instruction are essential. In principle the same set of competencies is needed if a teacher uses the model for instructional planning or intends to enact an instructional unit designed, e.g., by a curriculum development group. Hence, the MER also provides a theoretical frame for teacher education (van Dijk & Kattmann, 2007; Komorek & Kattmann, 2009) as will be briefly outlined in the following.

The way teachers think about key characteristics of instruction has proven an essential part of their PCK – their Pedagogical Content Knowledge (Shulman, 1987). As van Dijk and Kattmann (2007) thoroughly argue, the Model of Educational Reconstruction allows identifying these characteristics. PCK is seen as a unique knowledge domain denoting the blending of content and pedagogy into an understanding of how particular topics, problems, or issues may be organised, represented, and adjusted to the diverse interests and abilities of learners. Teacher thinking in terms of the PCK in this sense seems to be basically in accordance with teacher thinking in terms of the German Didaktik tradition as outlined above and therefore also with the key features of teacher thinking in terms of the MER.
Duit, Komorek and Müller (2004), drawing on the MER, developed a set of key features of teacher thinking on planning and analysing instruction. They distinguish three key domains of teacher thinking:

- (A) Constructivist views of teaching and learning. Teacher thinking about science teaching and learning is based on constructivist views. Teachers are aware that students interpret everything presented to them from their private perspective. They also take into account that knowledge may not be simply passed to students but that their role is to sustainably support students in constructing their knowledge themselves. Further, teachers should embed science topics in contexts that make sense to students.
- (B) Fundamental interplay of instructional variables. Teachers should be aware of the interplay of the variables composing instruction, namely Aims & Objectives, Content, Methods, and Media (Figure 2), i.e. take into account that for instance the choice of a particular method is also a choice for emphasising certain aims. They should further be aware that a rich spectrum of aims, contents, methods, and media needs to be applied in instruction. With regard to Content they should consider not to restrict themselves to science concepts and principles but to take into account also science processes, views of the nature of science and issues of the significance of science in technology and society. Finally, they should provide learning opportunities that allow students to construct the knowledge intended themselves.
- (C) Thinking in terms of the processes of educational reconstruction. This kind of thinking concerns the features provided by the MER (Figure 3). Significant features included in the model are already taken into account in the above two domains. Here the process of clarification science content as outlined in Figure 4 is in the foreground. Teachers need to be aware that science content knowledge may not be taught in a somewhat simplified version of the content structure of science. The content structure for instruction has to be adjusted to student pre-instructional conceptions and needs to be embedded into contexts that make sense for students.

Komorek and Kattmann (2009, 179) provide the following set of questions based on the MER that allow reflection on teaching and learning in school lessons:

- (1) What were the most important student conceptions occurring during the lesson?
- (2) Did the science conceptions provided support understanding of the subject?
- (3)Did the students have opportunities to acknowledge and reflect about their conceptions as well as their learning progress?
- (4) Were the teaching methods and student activities suitable for learning and understanding the subject?
- (5) What conceptions (concepts, notions and principles) were used by the students in the scientific context offered?
- (6) What correspondence between student alternative conceptions and the offered science conceptions can be identified?

- (7) Were the students aware of inherent scientific and epistemological positions concerning the subject?
- (8) Did the students apply the acquired knowledge in other fields and did they reflect on it critically?

### The Model of Educational Reconstruction for Teacher Education

In analogy to the MER (Figure 3) a model for designing teacher education settings may be constructed as shown in Figure 6 (Komorek & Kattmann, 2009).



Figure 6. Educational Reconstruction for Teacher Education (ERTE).

Van Dijk and Kattmann (2007) developed this model. Figure 6 shows a slightly modified version. The basic idea of the ERTE Model is that teachers usually (Borko, 2004; Abell, 2008) hold idiosyncratic views about teaching and learning that are only partly in accordance with the position included in the MER. Component (1) in Figure 6 comprises the major ideas of the MER. In order to design efficient settings for teacher education addressing the kind of thinking in terms of the model it is necessary to investigate teachers' views (their PCK). Further, it is essential to critically clarify and analyse the conceptions of teacher education in the literature. As is also the case for the MER, the process of developing the guidelines (component 3) is recursive. The following set of questions may guide this process (Komorek & Kattmann, 2009, 181f):

- (1) What subject matter knowledge for teaching do teachers have at their disposal?
- (2) What do teachers know about students' pre-instructional conceptions on the subject matter and about their learning processes?
- (3) What conceptions do teachers have of educational structuring (design of instruction, subject matter representation)?

(4) What conceptions do teachers have about the interrelation of subject matter knowledge for teaching, students' pre-instructional conceptions, and the influence of this interrelation on the process of educational structuring?

## CODA

The Model of Educational Reconstruction is a theoretical frame for research and development in science education. It draws on the German Didaktik tradition. The key message of the model is that science subject matter content (including concepts and principles as well as conceptions about science and the scientific inquiry processes) may not be presented in a somewhat reduced or simplified manner in science instruction. The science content structure for instruction is somewhat more elementary (from the science point of view) on the one hand but richer, on the other hand, as the elements of science content of a certain topic need to be put into contexts that make sense to the students and may be understood by them. The tendency of many approaches towards more efficient science instruction to put the major emphasis on efficient instructional methods falls short. It is also necessary to change the traditional content structure for science instruction. Also science content and not only instructional methods should be seen as problematic (Fensham, 2001).

A model like the MER may not be tested empirically in a strong sense. Such a model needs to be based on sound theoretical foundations. In addition the consequences drawn on the grounds of these foundations need to be sound. We think (or at least hope) that this is the case for the arguments we presented above. Experiences gained in the many studies carried out within the framework of educational reconstruction have shown the usefulness of the model and appear convincing to us. The MER has become the major theoretical perspective in science education research in the German speaking area. It has also been adopted in various science education groups in Europe. This seems to be due to a certain general agreement on key issues of the Didaktik tradition which is a common way of thinking about instruction in – at least – continental Europe. It is, however, still a challenge to convince science educators from different traditions in thinking about science instruction that the model has much to offer. Further, the application of the model for theoretically framing and designing teacher professional development settings still needs serious additional work.

Clearly, the model and surely also the kind of consequences we draw need to be critically analyzed in order to further develop our perspective. This holds, especially, for the application of the model in designing learning settings explicitly addressing issues of science processes and views of the nature of science and in teacher education. To incite a discussion on the significance of the model is what this chapter intends.

### NOTES

<sup>1</sup> This chapter draws on previous overviews of key features of the Model of Educational Reconstruction, especially on the following publications: Kattmann, Duit, Gropengießer, & Komorek (1995), Duit, Gropengießer, & Kattmann (2005), Duit (2007), Parchmann & Komorek (2008), and Komorek & Kattmann (2009).

- <sup>3</sup> The term "science content structure" may need clarification. *Structure* points to the fact that the content elements of a certain content domain (like energy) are intimately linked and that this structure is essential in the process of educational reconstruction.
- <sup>4</sup> http://www.diz.uni-oldenburg.de/20512.html (June 2012)
- <sup>5</sup> http://www.diz.uni-oldenburg.de/44743.html (June 2012)
- <sup>6</sup> In French science and mathematics education the concept of *transposition didactique* (Chevallard, 1994; Perrenoud, 1998) is used. It seems that major ideas of the MER are included in this concept.
- <sup>7</sup> The term, developmental research" as used in Lijnse's (1995) approach concerns the intimate link between instructional development and research in basically the same way as in "design experiments" (Cobb et al., 2003). It should be taken into account that in the field of educational design the term "developmental research" may also denote research in a developmental perspective, i.e. research investigating long term progression of instructional interventions (Richey, Klein, & Nelson, 2004).

#### REFERENCES

- Abell, S. (2008). Research on science teacher knowledge. In S.K. Abell & N.G. Lederman, Eds., Handbook of research on science education (pp. 1105–1149). Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Abell, S.K., & Lederman, N.G., Eds., *Handbook of research on science education*. Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Abd-El-Khalick, F., & Lederman, N. G. (2000). Improving science teachers' conceptions of nature of science: A critical review of the literature. *International Journal of Science Education*, 22, 665–702.
- Andersson, B., & Wallin, A. (2006). On developing content-oriented theories taking biological evolution as an example. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28, 673–695.
- Baalmann, W., Frerichs, V., Weitzel, H., Gropengießer, H., & Kattmann, U. (2004). Schülervorstellungen zu Prozessen der Anpassung – Ergebnisse einer Interviewstudie im Rahmen der Didaktischen Rekonstruktion [Students' conceptions on processes of adaptation – results of an interview study within the framework of educational reconstruction]. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 10, 7–28.
- Bleichroth, W. (1991). Elementarisierung, das Kernstück der Unterrichtsvorbereitung [Elementarization, the key of instructional planning]. Naturwissenschaften im Unterricht - Physik, March 1991, 4–11.
- Borko, H. (2004). Professional development and teacher learning: Mapping the terrain. Educational Researcher, 33, 3–15.
- Brinschwitz, T., & Gropengießer, H. (2003). Auf dem Prüfstand: Didaktisch rekonstruierte Lernangebote zur Zelle [Under inspection: Educationally reconstructed learning approaches on the cell concept]. In A. Bauer et al., Eds., *Entwicklung von Wissen und Kompetenzen im Biologieunterricht* (pp. 217–220). Kiel, Germany: IPN – Leibniz-Institute for Science and Mathematics Education.
- Brown, A.L. (1992). Design experiments: Theoretical and methodological challenges in creating complex interventions in classroom settings. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 2, 141–178.
- Bybee, R. (1997). Achieving Scientific Literacy: from purposes to practices. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann Publishing.
- Chevallard, Y. (1994). Nouveaux objets, nouveaux problèmes en didactique des mathématiques. In M. Artigue, R. Gras, C. Laborde, & P. Tavignot, Eds., *Vingt ans de didactique des mathématiquesen France* (pp. 313–320). Grenoble: La Pensée Sauvage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> s. Duit (2007) for a more elaborate overview.

- Cobb, P., Confrey, J., diSessa, A., Lehrer, R., & Schauble, L. (2003). Design experiments in educational research. *Educational Researcher*, 32, 1, 9–13.
- Dahncke, H. Duit, R., Gilbert, J., Östman, L., Psillos, D., & Pushkin, D. (2001). Science education versus science in the academy: Questions-discussions-perspectives. In H. Behrendt, H. Dahncke, R. Duit, W. Gräber, M. Komorek, A. Kross & P. Reiska, Eds., *Research in science education - Past, present, and future* (pp. 43–48). Dordrecht, The Netherland: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- De Boer, G. (2000). Scientific literacy: Another look at its historical and contemporary meanings and its relationships to science education reform. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 57, 582–601.
- Dijk, E. Van, & Kattmann, U. (2007). A research model for the study of science teachers' PCK and improving teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23, 885–897.
- Dole, J.A., & Sinatra, G.M. (1998). Reconceptualizing change in the cognitive construction of knowledge. *Educational Psychology*, 33, 109–128.
- Driver, R., & Erickson, G. L. (1983). Theories-in-action: Some theoretical and empirical issues in the study of students' conceptual frameworks in science. *Studies in Science Education*, 10, 37–60.
- Driver, R., & Easley, J. A. (1978). Pupils and paradigms: A review of literature related to concept development in adolescent science students. *Studies in Science Education*, 5, 61–84.
- Duit, R. (2006). Bibliography STCSE Teachers' and Students' Conceptions and Science Education. Kiel, Germany: IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education (http://www .ipn.uni-kiel.de/aktuell/stcse/stcse.html May 2011).
- Duit, R. (2007). Science education research internationally: Conceptions, research methods, domains of research. Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education, 3(1), 3–15.
- Duit, R., Gropengießer, H., & Kattmann, U. (2005). Towards science education research that is relevant for improving practice: The model of educational reconstruction. In H.E. Fischer, Ed., *Developing* standards in research on science education (pp. 1–9). London: Taylor & Francis.
- Duit, R., & Häußler, P. (1994). Learning and teaching energy. In P. Fensham, R. Gunstone, & R., White, Eds., *The content of science* (pp. 185–200). London: The Falmer Press.
- Duit, R., Komorek, M., & Müller, C.T. (2004). Fachdidaktisches Denken [Thinking in terms of science education]. Occasional Paper. Kiel, Germany: IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education.
- Duit, R., Komorek, M., & Wilbers, J. (1997). Studies on educational reconstruction of chaos theory. *Research in Science Education*, 27, 339–357.
- Duit, R., & Mikelskis-Seifert, S., Eds. (2010). Physik im Kontext Konzepte, Ideen, Materialien für effizienten Physikunterricht [Physics in Context – Conceptions, ideas, materials for efficient physics instruction]. Seelze, Germany: Friedrich Verlag.
- Duit, R., Roth, W.M., Komorek, M., & Wilbers, J. (1998). Conceptual change cum discourse analysis to understand cognition in a unit on chaotic systems: towards an integrative perspective on learning in science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 20, 1059–1073.
- Duit, R., & Treagust, D. (2003). Conceptual change A powerful framework for improving science teaching and learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25, 671–688.
- Duit, R., Treagust, D., & Widodo, A. (2008). Teaching science for conceptual change: Theory and practice. In S. Vosniadou, Ed., *International handbook of research on conceptual change* (pp. 629–646). New York, London: Routledge.
- Duncan, R.G., & Hmelo-Silver, C.E. (2009). Editorial: Learning progression: Alingning curriculum, instruction, and assessment. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46, 606–609.
- Fach, M., & Parchmann, I. (2007). Results of an interview study as basis for the development of stepped supporting tools for stoichiometric problems. *Chemistry Education: Research and Practice (CERP)*, 8(1), 13–31.
- Fensham, P. (2001). Science content as problematic issues for research. In H. Behrendt, H. Dahncke, R. Duit, W. Gräber, M. Komorek, A. Kross & P. Reiska, Eds., *Research in Science Education - past, present, and future* (pp. 27–41). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Fensham, P., Gunstone, R., & White R., Eds. (1994). The content of science: A constructivist approach to its teaching and learning. London, UK: Falmer.

- Frerichs, V. (1999). Schülervorstellungen und wissenschaftliche Vorstellungen zu den Strukturen und Prozessen der Vererbung – ein Beitrag zur Didaktischen Rekonstruktion [Students' conceptions and scientific conceptions of processes of inheritance – a contribution to Educational Reconstruction]. Oldenburg, Germany: Didaktisches Zentrum, University of Oldenburg.
- Gerstenmair, J., & Mandl, H. (1995). Wissenserwerb unter konstruktivistischer Perspektive [Knowledge aquisition in constructivist perspective]. Zeitschrift für Pädagogik, 41, 867–888.
- Gess-Newsome, J., & Lederman, N., Eds. (1999). *Examining pedagogical content knowledge*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Gibbons, M., Limoges, C., Nowotny, H., Schwartzman, S., Scott, P., & Trow, M. (1994). The new production of knowledge. The dynamics of science and research in contemporary societies. London, UK: Sage.
- Gropengießer, H. (1998). Educational reconstruction of vision. In H. Bayrhuber & F. Brinkman, Eds., What-Why-How? Research in Didaktik of Biology. Proceedings of the First Conference of European Researchers in Didaktik of Biology (ERIDOB) (pp. 263–272). Kiel, Germany: IPN – Leibniz-Institute for Science and Mathematics Education.
- Gropengießer, H. (2001). Didaktische Rekonstruktion des Sehens [Educational reconstruction of the processes of seeing]. Beiträge zur Didaktischen Rekonstruktion 1. Oldenburg, Germany: Didaktisches Zentrum, University of Oldenburg.
- Groß, J., & Gropengießer, H. (2003). Kommunikation von Natur: Lernangebote und ihre Nutzung für die qualitative Veränderung des Verstehens [Communication of nature: Learning approaches and their use for improving the quality of understanding]. In A. Bauer, et al., Eds., *Entwicklung von Wissen und Kompetenzen im Biologieunterricht* (pp. 171–174). Kiel, Germany: IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education.
- Heimann, P., Otto, G., & Schulz, W. (1969). Unterricht, Analyse und Planung [Instruction analysis and planning] (4th edition). Hannover, Germany: Schroedel.
- Helldén, G. (2003). Longitudinal studies providing insight into individual themes in science learning and students' views of their own learning. In D. Psillos, P., Ed., *Science Education Research in the Knowledge Based Society* (pp. 61–68). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers
- Hilge, C. (2001). Using everyday and scientific conceptions for developing guidelines of teaching microbiology. In H. Behrendt et al., Eds., *Research in science education – past, present, and future* (pp. 253–258). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- Hopman, S., & Riquarts, K., Eds. (1995). Didaktik and/or Curriculum. Kiel, Germany: IPN Leibniz-Institute for Science Education.
- Jenkins, E. (2001). Research in science education in Europe: Retrospect and prospect. In H. Behrendt, H. Dahncke, R. Duit, W. Gräber, M. Komorek, A. Kross & P. Reiska, Eds., *Research in science education - Past, present, and future* (pp. 17–26). Dordrecht, The Netherland: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Kaestle, C.F. (1993). The awful reputation of educational research. Educational Researcher, 22(1), 23–31.
- Kattmann, U. (2001). Aquatics, flyers, creepers and terrestrials Students' conceptions of animal classification. *Journal of Biological Education*, 35(3), 141–147.
- Kattmann, U. (2007). Learning biology by means of anthropomorphic conceptions? In M. Hamman et al., Eds., *Biology in context: Learning and teaching for 21st century* (pp. 21–26). London, UK: Institute of Education, University of London.
- Kattmann, U., Duit, R., Gropengießer, H., & Komorek, M. (1995, April). A model of educational reconstruction. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching (NARST), San Francisco, CA.
- Kattmann, U., Duit, R., Gropengießer, H., & Komorek, M. (1997). Das Modell der didaktischen Rekonstruktion – Ein Rahmen für naturwissenschaftsdidaktische Forschung und Entwicklung [The model of educational reconstruction – a framework for science education research and development]. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 3(3), 3–18.

- Klafki, W. (1969). Didaktische Analyse als Kern der Unterrichtsvorbereitung [Educational analysis as the kernel of planning instruction]. In H. Roth & A. Blumental, Eds., *Auswahl, Didaktische Analyse* (10th edition). Hannover, Germany: Schroedel.
- Knippels, M.C.P.J. (2002). Coping with the abstract and complex nature of genetics in biology education. Utrecht, The Netherlands: CD-β Press.
- Komorek, M., & Kattmann, U. (2009). The model of educational reconstruction. In Mikelskis-Seifert, S., Ringelband, U., & Brückmann, M., Eds., Four decades of research in science education – From curriculum development to quality improvement (pp. 171–188). Münster, Germany: Waxmann.
- Komorek, M., & Duit, R. (2004). The teaching experiment as a powerful method to develop and evaluate teaching and learning sequences in the domain of non-linear systems. *International Journal* of Science Education, 26, 619–633.
- Komorek, M., Wendorff, & Duit, R. (2002). Expertenbefragung zum Bildungswert der nichtlinearen Physik [Experts' views of the educational significance of non-linear physics]. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 8, 33–51.
- Komorek, M., Stavrou, D., & Duit, R. (2003). Nonlinear physics in upper physics classes: Educational reconstruction as a frame for development and research in a study of teaching and learning basic ideas of nonlinearity. In D. Psillos, P. Kariotoglou, V. Tselfes, E. Hatzikraniotis, G. Fassoulopoulos, & M. Kallery, Eds., *Science Education research in the knowledge based society* (pp. 269–276). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- Komorek, M., Vogt, H., & Duit, R. (2003). Moderne Konzepte von Ordnung verstehen [Understanding modern concepts of order]. In Pitton, A., Ed., Außerschulisches Lernen in Physik und Chemie. Gesellschaft für Didaktik der Chemie und Physik Band 23 (pp. 296–298). Münster, Germany: LIT Verlag.
- Lakoff, G. (1990). Women, fire and dangerous things. What categories reveal about the mind. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Lederman, N.G. (2008). Nature of science: Past, present, and future. In S.K. Abell & N.G. Lederman, Eds., Handbook of research on science education (pp. 831–879). Mahwah, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Lewis, J., & Kattmann, U. (2004). Traits, genes, particles and information: Re-visiting students' understanding of genetics. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26, 195–206.
- Lijnse, P. (1995). "Developmental research" as a way to an empirically based "didactical structure" of science. *Science Education*, 79, 189–199.
- Luft, J. (2009). Minding the gap: Needed research on beginning/newly qualified science teachers. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 44, 532–537.
- McComas, W. F., Ed. (1998). The nature of science in science education: Rationales and strategies. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Nawrath, D. (2010). Kontextorientierung Rekonstruktion einer fachdidaktischen Konzeption f
  ür den Physikunterricht [Context based instruction – Reconstruction of an educational conception for physics education]. Ph. D. Thesis. Oldenburg, Germany: Didaktisches Zentrum, University of Oldenburg.
- Niebert, K., & Gropengießer, H. (2009). 'The earth is warming because there is a hole in the atmosphere'. Students' and scientists' conceptions of global warming. In M. Hammann, K. T., Boersma, & A. J. Waarlo, Eds., The Nature of Research in Biological Education. A selection of papers presented at the VIIth Conference of European Researchers in Didactics of Biology (ERIDOB). Utrecht, The Netherlands: Utrecht University.
- Osborne, J. C., S., Ratcliffe, M., Millar, R., & Duschl, R. (2003). What "ideas-about-science" should be taught in school science? A Delphi study of the expert community. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 40(7), 692–720.
- Osewold, D. (2003). Students' conceptions about mechanical waves. In D. Metz, Ed., *Proceedings* of the 7th International History and Philosophy of Science and Science Teaching Conference (pp. 674–682). Winnipeg, Canada.
- Parchmann, I., & Komorek, M. (2008). The Model of Educational Reconstruction A research model for the investigation of students' and teachers' conceptual ideas. In B. Ralle & I. Eilks, Eds.,

Promoting successful science education – the worth of science education research (pp. 169–181). Aachen, Germany: Shaker Verlag.

- Parchmann, I., & Schmidt, S. (2003). Von erwünschten Verbrennungen und unerwünschten Folgen zum Konzept der Atome. [From wanted burnings and unwanted products to the development of the concepts of atoms.] MNU, 56(4), 214–221.
- Perrenoud, P. (1998). La transposition didactique à partir de pratiques : des savoirs aux compétences. Revue des sciences de l'éducation, 24, 487–514.
- Phillips, D.C., Ed. (2000). Constructivism in education: Opinions and second opinions on controversial issues. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Reinhold, P. (2006). Elementarisierung und Didaktische Rekonstruktion [Elementarization and Educational Reconstruction]. In H. Mikelskis, Ed., *Physik Didaktik* (pp. 86–100). Berlin, Germany: Cornelsen/Scriptor.
- Richey, R., Klein, J., & Nelson, W. (2004). Developmental research: Studies of instructional design and development. In AECT, Ed., *Handbook on Research on educational research: Studies on instructional design and development* (pp. 1099–1130). Bloomington, IN: Association for Educational Communications and Technology (AECT).
- Riemeier, T. (2005). Wie Lerner die Zelltheorie besser verstehen lernen: [How learners improve their understanding of the theory of cells]. Beiträge zur Didaktischen Rekonstruktion 7. Oldenburg, Germany: Didaktisches Zentrum, University of Oldenburg.
- Riemeier, T., & Gropengießer (2008). On the roots of difficulties in learning about cell division: Process-based analysis of students' conceptual development in teaching experiments. *International Journal of Science Education*, 30, 923–939.
- Sandoval, W. A., & Bell, P. L. (2004). Design-Based research methods or studying learning in context: Introduction. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(4), 199–201.
- Schwanewedel, J., Hößle, C., & Kattmann, U. (2007). Students' understanding of socio-scientific issues - Conceptions of health and genetic disease. In ESERA (European Science Education Research Association), Ed., ESERA 2007 International Conference 2007. Malmö, Sweden: Malmö University (CD-ROM).
- Scheffel, L. (2010). Didaktische Rekonstruktion des Basiskonzepts Struktur-Eigenschaftsbeziehungen. [Educational Reconstruction of the basic concept structure-property-relations.] Oldenburg, Germany: bis-Verlag.
- Scheffel, L., Brockmeier, W., & Parchmann, I. (2009). Historical material in micro-macro-thinking. Conceptual change in chemistry education and in the history of chemistry. In J. Gilbert, & D. Treagust, Eds., *Multiple representations in chemical education* (pp. 215–250). Springer.
- Schmidt, S. (2011). Didaktische Rekonstruktion des Basiskonzepts 'Stoff-Teilchen' für den Anfangsunterricht nach Chemie im Kontext. [Educational Reconstruction of the basic concepts matter and particle for introductory chemistry classes following the Chemie im Kontext approach] Oldenburg, Germany: bis-Verlag.
- Schmidt, S., Rebentisch, D., & Parchmann, I. (2003). Chemie im Kontext auch f
  ür die Sekundarstufe I Cola und Ketchup im Anfangsunterricht. [Chemistry in Context for introductory chemistry classes.] Chemkom, 10(1), 6–17.
- Shulman, L.S. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, 57(1), 1–21.
- Smith, C., Wiser, M., Anderson, C.W., & Krajzik, J. (2006). Implications for children's learning for assessment: A proposed learning progression for matter and atomic molecular theory. *Measurement*, 14(1&2), 1–98.
- Stavrou, D., Duit, R., & Komorek, M. (2008). A teaching and learning sequence about the interplay of chance and determinism in nonlinear systems. *Physics Education*, 43, 417–422.
- Steffe, L., & D'Ambrosio, B. (1996). Using teaching experiments to understand students' mathematics. In D. Treagust, R. Duit, & B. Fraser, Eds., *Improving teaching and learning in science and mathematics* (pp. 65–76). New York: Teacher College Press.

- Tiberghien, A, Vince, J., & Gaidioz, P. (2009). Design-based Research: Case of a teaching sequence on mechanics. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31, 2275–2314.
- Treagust, D.F. & Duit, R. (2008). Conceptual change: a discussion of theoretical,methodological and practical challenges for science education. *Cultural Studies in Science Education*, *3*, 297–328.
- Strike, K.A., & Posner, G.J. (1992). A revisionist theory of conceptual change. In R.A. Duschl & R.J Hamilton, Eds., *Philosophy of science, cognitive psychology, and educational theory and practice* (pp. 171–176). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Tytler, R. (2007). *Re-imaging science education*. Camberville, Victoria: Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER).
- Van Dijk, E., & Kattmann, U. (2007). A research model for the study of science teachers' PCK and improving teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23, 885–897.
- Verhoeff, R.P. (2003). *Towards systems thinking in cell biology education*. Utrecht, The Netherlands: CD-ß Press.
- Vosniadou, S. (1996). Towards a revised cognitive psychology for new advances in learning and instruction. *Learning and Instruction*, 6, 95–109.
- Vosniadou, S., Ed. (2008). International handbook of research on conceptual change. New York, London: Routledge.
- Weitzel, H., & Gropengießer, H. (2003). Anpassung verstehen lernen heißt Evolution verstehen lernen. Didaktisch rekonstruierte Lernangebote zur Anpassung [Understanding adaptation means to understand evolution – educationally reconstructed learning materials on adaptation]. In A. Bauer et al., Eds., *Entwicklung von Wissen und Kompetenzen im Biologieunterricht* (pp. 221–224). Kiel, Germany: Leibniz-Institute for Science and Mathematics Education (IPN).

Widodo, A. (2004). Constructivist oriented lessons. Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Peter Lang.

Wright, E. (1993). *The irrelevancy of science education research: perception or reality?* NARST News, 35(1), 1–2.

### AFFILIATIONS

Reinders Duit

*IPN* – *Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education, Kiel, Germany duit@ipn.uni-kiel.de* 

Harald Gropengießer University of Hannover, Germany gropengiesser@erz.uni-hannover.de

Ulrich Kattmann University of Oldenburg, Germany ulrich.kattmann@uni-oldenburg.de

Michael Komorek University of Oldenburg, Germany michael.komorek@uni-oldenburg.de

Ilka Parchmann IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education, Kiel, Germany parchmann@ipn.uni-kiel.de

## PER-OLOF WICKMAN, CAROLINE LIBERG AND LEIF ÖSTMAN

# 3. TRANSCENDING SCIENCE: SCIENTIFIC LITERACY AND BILDUNG FOR THE 21ST CENTURY

### **OVERVIEW**

This chapter starts with an overview of the formation of scientific literacy historically and its relation to the concept of *Bildung*. A critical background is given of the main arguments and definitions of scientific literacy over the years. The review covers three main themes that have emerged more recently in Europe and internationally in discussions of a scientific literacy that transcends the learning merely of scientific concepts and scientific inquiry methods. These themes are 1) the dimension of normativity in human lives and the significance of values in learning science, (2) approaching science content primarily through various activities and learning science as the transformation of actions and habits, and 3) the significance of language use and communication in learning for a transcending science subject.

## INTRODUCTION

Reviewing the literature on scientific literacy for the European community is an insurmountable task, considering that more than 25 national languages are spoken and that most texts on education are published in these tongues. As Swedish authors we have only access to a limited part of these publications and our nation traditionally is mainly part of the Scandinavian, German and English-speaking contexts of education with France also playing some role. This delimitation should be held in mind when reading this chapter.

The term Scientific Literacy originates from the U.S.A. In a recent review of education for scientific literacy (or sometimes science literacy) in Western Anglophone countries Douglas Roberts (2007a) traced the term back to the 1950s and 60s when it first appeared. According to Roberts scientific literacy was first introduced as a slogan due to worries about recruiting new scientists and the low level of scientific knowledge among citizens and public officials. The remedy for this condition, was to develop the scientific literacy of the general public, and such calls soon became part of curriculum reform efforts (Roberts, 2007b) and eventually also in the EU (e.g. European Commission, 2002; 2007).

With these reforms followed what Roberts (2007b) referred to as a deluge of definitions for the concept in the English speaking literature. A number of related concepts also appeared, as for example Public Understanding of Science, which

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 39–61. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

came to be a catch word in Britain (Solomon & Thomas, 1999). An important thread of the discussion concerned to what degree school science education should be for producing a future work force of scientists or for science literacy among the general public. Fensham (1988) called theses two foci of science education for "induction into science" and "learning from science". Here we will reserve the term scientific literacy to mean that the objective of science education is "learning from science", i.e. how science can be of use to students in their private life as well as citizens, regardless of whether they are going to pursue careers in science or not.

## Bildung

In Europe generally the concept of scientific literacy is quite new. In Sweden there is no direct translation. Instead there is a related concept known as *bildning*, which stems from the German concept Bildung. Today it is often referred to as allgemeine Bildung (general Bildung), which is the kind of education that is assumed to be needed by every citizen. Through German philosophers, the concept of Bildung has spread to many Western languages. Many of John Dewey's thoughts on education and the idea of liberal education have been traced to this origin (Lövlie & Standish, 2002). The idea of *Bildung* stems back to a word that means "formation" and has a medieval theological origin. Its modern usage to a large extent was influenced by the education reformer Wilhelm von Humboldt (1767-1835) and the philosopher Georg Wilhelm Friedrich Hegel (1770-1831) (Biesta, 2002; Smith, 1988). Bildung means both a process of formation and a state of being. Bildung in this sense entails becoming human by realizing ones dispositions in interaction with the world and, at the same time, positively contributing to the development of society. During the 1800s Bildung came to have strong aesthetic and moral connotations, and does not merely entail being a wellinformed citizen, but also one of taste and good manners. However, Bildung was eventually associated with the humanities rather than with the natural sciences and with the education of certain social classes and Latin schools. Hence, science as a subject traditionally does not belong to the sphere of Bildung, but was part of vocational and practical education and the so-called *Realschule*. *Bildung* to a large degree was restricted to the upper classes and linked to conservative political ideals. Hence, traditionally the emphasis for science education in Europe is induction into science rather than learning from science.

### Vision 1 and Vision 2

With the democratisation of Europe after the Second World War and the growth of the knowledge intensive sphere of production, a general renaissance of *Bildung* as *allgemeine Bildung* or literacy is evident. Science to an increasing degree has become a subject that every citizen needs to be able to cope with, in decision making and in becoming more environmentally aware (Osborne & Dillon, 2008). Science simultaneously has come to be formational in a more general sense of the word. Paradoxically this has often meant that science education has become less

#### TRANSCENDING SCIENCE

practical and separated from the engineering sciences. It has been divorced from practical concerns and primarily oriented towards learning scientific concepts and explanations as known by scientists. When practicals and lab-work are used, it is mainly to produce the correct explanations, theories or facts (Welzel, 1998). After the last World-War modern science education has come to look inward to science itself as a model for what students should learn in compulsory school. There is a strong belief that science itself is formational of character and that Bildung mainly means knowing scientific concepts properly and how to do a controlled experiment with the purpose of producing the right explanations. Roberts (2007a) has referred to this vision of Scientific Literacy as Vision 1. To use Lyotard's (1984) language, such a science subject could be said to mainly answer the question "Is it true?" Proponents of this vision generally suppose that if such scientific conceptual knowledge is modelled on that of the scientist, the capacity of applying this knowledge to various private and societal problems can be practiced later (see Claxton, 1991; Solomon, 1992 and Layton, Jenkins, Macgill & Davey, 1993 for early discussions about the problems of such an approach).

During the late 1900's Vision 1 as the route to scientific literacy has come under attack. Roberts (2007a) refers to the alternative as Vision 2, which maintains that science should be learnt as part of the various contexts in which students in their daily life encounter problems involving science. Such a science education could with Lyotard's (1984) rendering be said to be more than that of the post-modern condition in that it primarily aims to answer the question "Is it useful?" regarding knowledge. These two visions that Roberts describes are reminiscent of the two ways of knowledge production suggested by Gibbons et al. (1994), viz. Mode 1 and Mode 2. Mode 1 is academic, scientist-initiated and discipline-based production of knowledge, whereas Mode 2 is context-driven research in the sense that it is more focused on solving specific problems, and invokes interdisciplinary knowledge as needed. A similar distinction between academic and post-academic science has been made by Ziman (2000).

## Transcending Science

Vision 2 can be said to transcend science and to start from questions that are already around in society and which need to be solved by invoking science as one among other resources. Vision 2 springs from recent research on the situated nature of learning, i.e. the finding that transfer of knowledge can never be understood on simple rational terms, but rather that content has to be learnt as part of different situations (Marton, 2006) and that science education also needs to deal with values (Corrigan, Dillon & Gunstone, 2007; Östman, 1994; Wickman, 2006) This review starts from a Vision 2 stance and asks what a *transcending science subject* for the 21st century would look like. Doing this, it looks at the situated nature of learning. However, at the same time it has to ask what a more generally formative science education looks like. In a learning society there are increasing demands for school education generally to transcend not only the academic subjects, but students need to transcend also their idiosyncratic backgrounds and look beyond specific

situations to be able to communicate with people with different backgrounds and aspirations, and to be positively critical, creative and innovative in the multiplicity of circumstances and contingent constellations of a shrinking world (Biesta, 2002; Fensham, 2007; Peukert, 2002). Scientific literacy in the European sense could be seen as contributing to an understanding of what *Scientific Bildung* beyond self-realization means in a global and pluralistic post-modern society without degenerating into an either-or relativism (Zembylas, 2000; Schultz, 2007).

In this review we will deal specifically with three themes that have been highlighted by recent research with a focus on a transcending science education. These deal with the normative dimension of human lives and understanding, the situated nature of learning as action, and the role of language in science education for scientific literacy.

#### THE DIMENSION OF NORMATIVITY

There is one central difference between Vision 1 and 2, namely in the way the normative dimension (world views, values, interests, power) of human lives is approached. Vision 1 represents a perspective where the normative is seen as irrational or possible to rationalise – to become objective – with the help of scientific knowledge and reasoning. Vision 2 represents a view where the normative is seen as something natural, unavoidable and non-reducible in human lives and something that can and should become an acknowledged part of science education.

Within Vision 1 one can thus find two different positions regarding the relationship between what Hume referred to as "is" and "ought" judgements (see Putnam, 2002, pp. 7-64). According to the first position "is" and "ought" are perceived as a dichotomy. "Ought" judgements are irrational (subjective, noncognitive), devoid of meaning and therefore not suitable to become an educational content: they are not possible to systematically reflect upon. We need to stay away from the non-cognitive and it is the role of education to give the students knowledge and a way of reasoning that can substitute a value-based/irrational decision-making. Scientific knowledge and scientific reasoning are the cures for the irrational. This way of approaching the normative dimension in human lives has a long history, but it is explicated very clearly in the idea of the science subject in liberal education: by appropriate training in the scientific method the students automatically will be imparted with the skills to objectively take a stance in controversial issues (Waring, 1979, p. 41). One can with the words of Fensham (1988) say that induction into science becomes not only something that is suitable for a science elite education but also for empowering the mass.

This approach towards values is sometimes used when environmental issues are dealt with in science education and the media. It was for example very common in Sweden during the 60s and 70s. Environmental problems are seen as caused by lack of knowledge or as unforeseen consequences of human actions in the environment. In accordance with this view it will be natural scientists that are interviewed in radio and TV and it will be knowledge and skills from natural

sciences that form the content of teaching. The idea is thus that if people get informed and learn the knowledge from natural sciences they will automatically behave environmentally friendly. Questions of values are omitted here: facts are enough. This manner of teaching can be called *Fact-Based Environmental Education* (see further Öhman, 2008).

The second position within Vision 1 is the belief that it is possible to come to rational decisions regarding normative issues, i.e. it is possible to "objectify" values through true knowledge. This view is contrary to Hume's classical doctrine that one cannot infer an "ought" judgement from an "is" judgement.

Thus, within this second position it is possible to include science-technologysociety (STS) content in science education, since the normative dimension is approached as an outcome – as a decision about what one ought to do. This outcome can either be irrational or rational: it is rational if it is built upon true knowledge; it becomes subjective if it is not founded on proven knowledge.

This way of dealing with values is at the core of the most common way of approaching environmental issues within science education in Sweden, and it is probably also common in other parts of the world (Jickling, 1992). This manner of teaching, which can be called *Normative Environmental Education*, started at the end of the 70s as a reaction towards the fact-based approach and became institutionalised in the national curricula of 1980 in Sweden. In this teaching tradition the idea is that students should not only learn knowledge but also how this knowledge leads to a certain "oughts" as certain ways of approaching nature in thought and action, i.e. the ways that are ecologically friendly as established by science (see further Öhman, 2008).

Hence, on a philosophical benchmark Vision 1 seems to include two opposite views on the relation between facts and values, although Rorty (1982) shows that both hold within a positivistic culture:

The culture of positivism thus produced endless swings of the pendulum between the view that "values are merely 'relative' (or 'emotive' or 'subjective')" and the view that bringing the "scientific method" to bear on questions of political and moral choice was the solution to all our problems. (p. xliii)

While researchers clinging to Vision 1 are not particularly interested in researching the normative dimension – except as something we need to keep away from or make rational – other researchers have this dimension as their main focus, since they believe that science education and choices (individual and collective) are discursive in their character. This interest can be channelled towards different aspects:

- Moral/ethical
- Political
- Norms
- Aesthetics
- Transformation

## Moral/ethical

When it comes to the moral dimension one central focus is on judgements connected to responsibility and students' ethical reflection. In dealing with for example environmental issues in science education ethical theories are sometimes used as tools. An example is the exercise called "The hot seat", which is designed with the purpose that students should learn and practice an ethical form of reasoning. The teacher introduces ethical rules - for example "It is always wrong to kill animals. Animals and humans have the same value" and the students are supposed to take a stance and argue, with the help of knowledge in science and ethics, for their opinion. The reasons to bring in ethical reasoning into science education are that it is perceived as an important aspect of human life (for example in relation to controversial issues) and that this form of reasoning cannot be reduced to a scientific argumentation. This is one of the reasons why for example Zeidler (2003) does not perceive all forms of STS-teaching (i.e. within Vision 1) as equal to what he and his colleagues call socio-scientific reasoning, which apart from evidence-based argumentation contains ethical reflection as well. In Öhman and Östman (2007) an approach for analyses of moral meaning making is presented and illustrated that takes into consideration students earlier experiences as well as the educational situation at hand.

## Political

Research into the political dimension involves a diversity of questions. One question concerns distribution of power and authority, i.e. who will be given the voice and who will be given the role of listener in for example issues concerning the environment, health and sustainable development in science classrooms and in society. In Munby & Roberts (1998) and Östman (1996) the distribution of authority within the classroom discourse and within different teaching traditions is analysed. Geddis (1998) studies students' ability to learn to identify interests in controversial issues in society.

Many researchers looking into the political aspects raise questions regarding whose knowledge, perspectives, values and so forth are included and excluded. Here questions of gender (Sörensen, 2007), race (Willinsky, 1998), indigenous knowledge (Aikenhead, 2006), etc. become crucial. Issues of social justice and citizenship are other important aspects in relation to the process of inclusion and exclusion (see further Reiss, 2007 and Roth & Désautels, 2002). With inspiration from Chevallard's (1991) work Tiberghien (2007) shows how it is possible to research into the transformation processes when educational content is formed and how questions of legitimacy arise in the processes. Another set of questions concerns decision making and argumentation in relation to socio-scientific issues (Kolstø et al., 2006) and evaluation of these skills (Ratcliff, 2007).

## Norms

A whole body of research perspectives – all unified by viewing language use as discursive – is approaching scientific literacy as learning a secondary discoursepractice which includes the idea that learning to participate in a specific practice includes learning certain values, norms and ways of being in the world. Some of these values and norms are explicitly talked about some of them are taken for granted and learned as ways of acting in the specific practice at hand, a phenomenon that Dewey named collateral learning and Schwab for meta-lessons. The Santa Barbara Classroom Discourse Group (Kelly, 2007) and the research approach of Companion Meaning Analyses covers investigations of norms in text (Roberts & Östman, 1998; Östman, 1995; Östman & Roberts 1994; see also Knain, 2001) and the teaching and learning of norms (Lundqvist, Almqvist & Östman, 2009).

## Aesthetics

To both John Dewey (1934/1980) and Pierre Bourdieu (1984) it was clear that education also involves learning aesthetic values and a transformation of taste. There is a strong continuity between learning a specific taste and discursive, normative aspects about what to include and exclude in an activity, and hence for students possibilities of participating in science related activities. Bourdieu (1984) pointed out that education and up-bringing do not only mean acquiring a certain taste, but also learning to see your own taste as superior. People who have learnt to appreciate classical music tend to see people that like popular music as less clever. The importance of such social aesthetic norms for learning science has only recently begun to be examined (Szybek, 1999; Wickman, 2006; Jakobson & Wickman, 2008). These studies suggest an alternative route to study interest in science as a discursive taste rather than as an internal motivational state.

## **Transformation**

One central aspect to Visions 2 is the transformational dimension that is included when using knowledge learned in one context in another activity, governed by other purposes and norms. Jenkins (2002) and Layton, Jenkins, Macgill and Davey (1993) illustrate and argue that in making scientific knowledge useful in everyday actions (including to be citizen) the canonical scientific knowledge must be put into interaction with economical, social and other value positions. If we want to take this interaction seriously in science education we will also need to include a new epistemology, according to Jenkins, an epistemology that is both objective and participatory: "This will allow "truth within situation" (Jenkins 2002, p. 31). Such an epistemology needs to deal directly with transaction in action not only with learning as an inner conceptual process.

## TEACHING AND LEARNING SCIENCE AS ACTION

So how do students learn a transcending science and how can it be taught in a fruitful way? Constructivism and its partisan conceptual change studies have a strong legacy in European science education (e.g. Jenkins, 2001). Although the field has adopted some ideas about using concepts in different domains as an adaptation to socio-cultural critique, concepts are still understood as the structural basis for action (Duit & Treagust, 2003; Vosniadou, Baltas & Vamvakoussi, 2007). To understand people's actions one has to ask what conceptions about the world they hold and try to change or replace them. Conceptual change thus is the prerequisite for change in action. This research tradition typically asks first what concepts the student already possesses to see to what degree they need to be changed or replaced to fit the understanding of a certain domain, as for instance science. The emphasis is either on learning the scientific explanations or letting students have their own alternative conceptions. Only secondarily the question is asked about how these concepts build efficient (in their terminology) action.

Our intention here is not to review this line of research, but rather some recent developments within science education in Europe that have tended to see action and practice as primary or on equal footing with language use in learning science and scientific literacy. Such efforts are based on socio-cultural or pragmatist theories of learning. Typically these schools study conceptual learning as embedded in the activities of certain practices, where purposes and values play an important role.

## Situating Science in an Activity

In relation to the question of the significance of the activity for what students learn, Astrid Bulte and her colleagues Hanna Westbroek, Onno de Jong and Albert Pilot (2006) make an interesting case for science education by relating to a curriculum reform program in chemistry education at the secondary level in the Netherlands. They set out from the idea that chemistry is more than its concepts, and they examine the ways in which the verbs and activities associated with scientific practice can help students to make sense of the scientific concepts. Their primary aim is still that of changing the students' conceptual understanding, but their starting point is not one of replacing students' prior concepts, but to give meaning to the new ones through practice. Could chemical understanding for example start from the human practice of synthesizing chemicals of use and ask how scientific concepts are needed to solve such problems? The idea of such context-based science education is not new and the work of Bulte and colleagues (2006) builds on inventions in Germany, Chemie im Kontext (Parchmann et al., 2006) and it has a longer tradition in the Netherlands (Kortland, 2005). In Britain the Salters approach goes back to the 1980s and has been adapted to the curricula of numerous countries (Bennett & Lubben, 2006). In France inter-disciplinary themes called "Travaux Personnels Encadrés" (Tutored Individual Projects) have been developed for upper secondary school, based on the idea that learning needs to be situated in

an activity (Chevallard, 2001, 2007). In Norway the web-based concept *Viten* has been developed on the basis of an American counterpart (Jorde & Mork, 2007). What is interesting with Bulte and her colleagues' article is their story about the continued quest to find contexts where it makes sense to students to invoke scientific knowledge.

What may first seem as a scientific problem to a scientist or a science education researcher may be situated in a completely different way by students, or teachers for that matter. Schoultz (1999) for instance gives an instance of a task for students to solve from the National Evaluation in Science in Sweden (NUNA, 9th grade, students 15-16 years old). The question has an illustration of a syringe with the piston half-way down the cylinder. The question reads how much it would be possible to push the piston into the cylinder of the syringe if the opening was sealed with a rubber plug. The question was meant to test whether students knew that gases are material substances that fill up spaces and that their particles can be compressed to a certain degree. In the student interviews by Schoultz (1999) it became evident that students could easily solve this problem by recalling their experience of holding their finger on a bicycle pump and pushing the piston, without drawing on any scientific knowledge about the nature of gases. Hence, to many students this question was not conceptual at all, but could be solved by recalling whole experiences involving bicycle pumps, and seeing the analogy. Hence, any context of activity does not as a matter of course produce a need for students to use scientific concepts to solve a problem.

## The Quest for Relevant Activities

Bulte et al. (2006) and Bulte (2007) refer to three consecutive frameworks they used in their quest for activities of scientific relevance. In the first framework students were presented with a problem (e.g.: Is this water good enough for drinking?), then with the theoretical knowledge the science education team thought necessary to solve it, and finally students had to perform the actual inquiry to solve the problem using their acquired conceptual knowledge. The outcome of this framework showed that students dealt enthusiastically with the two first parts. However, they could not apply the theoretical knowledge learnt in the second part to the real inquiry. Bulte and co-workers (2006) argue that the students were not able to judge the usefulness of the theoretical knowledge taught, because it was based on the expert's point of view and not on the students' perspective of relevance and need-to-know (i.e. values).

The second framework introduced the inquiry as interwoven with studying the theoretical concepts, and students had to repeatedly return to the concepts until finding a solution to the problem of the inquiry. Also the question for inquiry was made more motivating and exciting to the students. They now were asked to bring water samples and then ask "Will you drink this water?" This was expected to create a strong need-to-know. The students subsequently had to solve another related problem (e.g.: Is this water good enough for aquarium fishes?) and have to consider what they now needed to know to solve this additional problem. The unit

ended by explicitly summing up all the concepts that students had used to solve the problems. However, in this case the activity of finding a way to purify the water disrupted learning about water quality; the teachers and students became involved in distillation and filtration. This reorientation is reminiscent to the one described by Schoultz (1999), and again demonstrates that a certain task, that potentially could be solved by using certain scientific concepts, is not necessarily solved in this way. Why choose a complicated path, when the solution is more easily at hand?

To resolve the problems of the two earlier frameworks, a third framework building on activity theory was adopted (Van Aalsvoort, 2004). This method builds on finding a so called authentic social practice. An authentic practice involves an activity that is needed to reach a specific purpose. In chemistry practices certain procedures are typically used, which are based on certain conceptual distinctions. Hence, such an authentic practice is defined as a group of people or a community connected by three characteristics: 1) common motives and purposes, 2) working according to a similar type of characteristic procedure leading to an outcome, and 3) with apparent necessary concepts about the issue they work on (Bulte, 2007; Bulte et al., 2006). This third alternative awaits to be tested in practice.

### A Pragmatist Interpretation

The quest of Bulte and co-workers is interesting in that it shows that in scientific activities that transcend that of explaining scientific concepts correctly, as for example that of judging water quality for different purposes, the concepts need to be transacted. They cannot be used as a ready made set directly from science as argued also by for example Layton et al. (1993) and Jenkins (2002). Bruno Latour (1987) has shown how this occurs in society when scientific results need years of transformation to become useful technology in society. Hence, in transacting knowledge into action, something more than concepts as representations are needed.

From a pragmatist perspective knowing is not merely a correct representation of reality, but rather the development of habits for coping with reality (Rorty, 1991). Such coping always involves a selection of what is relevant and irrelevant for the purpose at hand, and such distinctions also involve dealing with aesthetic and moral values (Östman, 1994; Wickman, 2006). There is no such thing as the absolute quality of water, which could be decided on purely scientific conceptual grounds, but we have to use our values to decide what we mean by "good enough to drink" as opposed to "good enough for aquarium fishes" and to what details and efforts we want to go in finding out the quality. Students also need to do all the actions in a certain order, and the order in which each step is made has consequences for further action (Wickman, 2004; Hamza & Wickman, 2008, 2009). This applies to any sequence of action involving science, be it dealing with socio-scientific issues regarding sustainable development, learning the morphology of insects or about chemical reaction theory (Jakobson & Wickman, 2008; Lundegård 2008; Sund & Wickman, 2008; Wickman, 2008).

Hence, we need to ask not only how students can develop appropriate scientific concepts through action, but also habits that help them to cope with situations of which science is a part. An important part is to better understand how we can help students in using science to generalize across situations. Sensevy, Tiberghien, Santini, Laubé, & Griggs (2008) suggest one interesting theoretical framework based on Nancy Cartwright, Ludwig Wittgenstein and others to discuss how situations could be constructed that support such generalizations in physics.

## **Developing Science Activities**

Wickman and Ligozat (2011) argue from a pragmatist and Wittgensteinian perspective that the meaning of a concept is to be found in how it furthers certain activities. Learning hence needs to start in such activities in which science is necessary to proceed with them. In using an example from chemistry in middle school they show how learning starts from competent action rather than from correct conceptual understanding. They warn that a science education that starts by teaching the concepts risks rendering science as not relevant in life generally. Conceptual refinement should grow out of reflection about how scientific concepts could be used to better reach purposes that students can see the point with, as advocated also by Bulte et al. (2006). When relevance is lacking, students often turn to their habit: to finish the assignement at hand as quickly as possible without any deeper personal or cognitive engagement (Almqvist & Östman, 2006). Wickman and Ligozat (2011) conclude that to build a progression in science that makes sense not only to students but also to stakeholders in society, we need to develop activities

- where scientific literacy is needed,
- that start from questions,
- that already at the start give competencies to all students in achieving an end in view that they value,
- that introduce new problems along the way that make it relevant to improve concepts and skills in such a way that ends can be achieved even better considering our values, and
- that are identified not because they teach students the correct explanation or correct scientific concepts, but because they help them to deal with nature and the material world in ways that they and society value.

As pointed out by several scholars, developing relevant science activities is not trivial. Apart from developing units that work with both teachers and students in classrooms (Pilot & Bulte, 2006), they also need legitimacy from the relevant stakeholders in society (Tiberghien, 2007) as well as a changed practice of assessing what students learn (Orpwood, 2001). It is also complicated by the central tenet from research on artificial intelligence illustrated here, viz. that there are innumerable processes that may produce the same output (Lycan, 1996). Both mechanical and digital devices may for example be constructed that according to different procedures deliver the correct answers to mathematical problems. And

any numerical answer could be generated by countless arithmetic procedures. Shoultz's (1999) study and the findings of Bulte et al. (2006) demonstrate that this is also true of humans. Studies of the development of such units therefore cannot depend simply on output, but we need also to study more closely the communication and material transactions in classrooms through language and action. There are now many such possible methods that can be combined in fruitful ways (Kelly, McDonald & Wickman., 2012; Lidar, Lundqvist & Östman, 2006; Sensevy et al., 2005; Wickman, 2004; Wickman & Östman, 2002). Such an epistemology of learning, paraphrasing Rorty (1991), should not only deal with how people get reality right and establish what is true, but also how people transact values more generally as part of transforming their habits for coping with reality. Such an epistemology has been named a *practical epistemology* and the method to track such epistemologies in classrooms for a practical epistemology analysis (Wickman & Östman, 2001, 2002; Wickman, 2004). It should not be confused with the later, restricted conceptual approach by Sandoval (2005), who without reference used the term from Wickman & Östman (2001).

## LANGUAGE AND SCIENCE EDUCATION

Apart from values and action, research on the significance of language is a crucial advancement in developing a transcending science subject. The idea of language use could be said to be inherent already in the term literacy. There has been a long tradition in Europe to study language in use and the functions of language use. One important source of inspiration within educational sciences has been the work by Bakhtin and his fellow scholars. The concept of polyphony of the word and the perspective on language as a medium for meaning making have been of vital significance. Another important source is the later work of Wittgenstein and his concept of language games we live by. A third perspective stems from Halliday's and his disciples' work within a social semiotic perspective. Halliday (1978, p. 9) states that "Language is the main channel through which the patterns of living are transmitted to him [the child], through which he learns to act as a member of a 'society' [...]". The semiotic systems which we live by constitute a meaning resource from which we choose when we articulate and structure meaning. Certain aspects are consequently foregrounded, while other aspects are put in the background or completely excluded. In that respect, the selected language forms are highly significant and coloured with ideology.

## Modes of Communication

During the last decade there has been a growing interest in studies of how meanings are developed through language and other modes of communication in science classrooms (Buty & Mortimer, 2008). According to Veel (1997), it is possible to distinguish between twelve different communicative genres typical of science. These genres are organised by Veel in four domains of meaning making: "Doing science", "Explaining events scientifically", "Organizing scientific information"

#### TRANSCENDING SCIENCE

and "Challenging science". Other modalities than the verbal are also involved in science educational texts and they are becoming more and more prominent (Bezemer & Kress, 2008). Habraken (2004) identifies for example a long term shift in chemistry and biochemistry during the last 125 years from a "logicalmathematical" to a "logical-visuospatial" thinking. The main semiotic resources in science classes are natural language, mathematical symbolism, graphs, and diagrams. These different forms of meaning making are discussed by Buty and Mortimer (2008) in terms of Bakthin's distinction between primary and secondary speech genres. Primary genres are linked to the language of everyday life. The development of secondary genres is a consequence of the "translations" between the semiotic register of natural language and other more specialized semiotic registers such as diagrams, graphics and equations. Switches between these and other kinds of modes in the science class are considered by Knain (2006) in terms of transformations. With regard to scientific literacy, any such transformations must involve also other non-scientific specialised secondary genres of which socioscientific issues are part of in society, such as those of politics, technology, economics, media etc.

## Language Dimensions

On a macro level the meaning making in a classroom is studied as sequences of communicative acts, which are linked to each other in a dialogical relation. The tradition to study science classrooms in terms of teaching-learning sequences (TLS) is discussed by Méheut and Psillos (2004). This term points to the close linkage between proposed teaching and expected student learning. A teachinglearning sequence is in this tradition used as an interventional research activity. The designing of such a teaching sequence is an intricate matter. This is discussed by Buty, Tiberghien and Le Maréchal (2004) by using examples from teaching about optics and conductivity in grade 11. The validation of the teaching-learning sequence is carried out in their work from the educational system and from didactical hypotheses on knowledge and learning. Another type of intervention studies is presented by Mason (2001). An experienced teacher in grade 4 is introduced to a systematically sequencing of collaborative discourse-reasoning and writing. Mason shows how reasoning and arguing collaboratively on different beliefs and ideas, as well as individual writing to express, clarify, reflect and reason on, and communicate own conceptions and explanations are fruitful tools in the knowledge revision process for students. In another experimental teaching programme in primary schools some similar results are shown concerning children's reasoning (Mercer, Dawes, Wegerif & Sams, 2004). Children use talk more effectively as a tool for reasoning and talk based activities can have a useful function in scaffolding the development of reasoning and scientific understanding.

The concept of polyphony of the word developed by Bakhtin (1981) and his fellow scholars plays a central role in many studies of classroom interaction. Buty and Mortimer (2008) discuss for example how a teacher works with students in order to develop ideas and understanding. The teacher's approach can then be

characterized along a dimension with two extreme positions: "either the teacher hears what the student has to say from the student's point of view, or the teacher hears what the student has to say only from the school science point of view" (Buty & Mortimer, 2008, p. 1638). Referring to the work of Mortimer and Scott (2003) the first position is called a dialogic communicative approach, where more than one voice is heard. The opposite position is referred to as an authoritative communicative approach, where only one voice is heard and there is no exploration of different ideas. It is important to note that a sequence of talk can be dialogic or authoritative in nature, independent of whether it is articulated individually or collectively. The results of an analysis of a class on optics in grade 11 confirm earlier results that it is difficult to reach a suitable balance between dialogic and authoritative discourse in a science classroom. Furthermore it is pointed out that it is particularly important to deal dialogically with words or expressions that science inherits from everyday language. "That teachers explicitly refer to both everyday and scientific points of view in these matters seems, in a dialogic communicative approach, to be crucial for allowing students to differentiate between the two points of view and to recognize that these words can be expressed and thought about in more than one semiotic register" (Buty & Mortimer, 2008, p. 1657). How to encourage more dialogic classrooms need to be studied further as classrooms still often are authorative. In a study of reading textbooks and student writing in science classrooms in grade 5, 8 and 11 it is concluded that these activities aim at reproducing knowledge in a monological way rather than at producing knowledge in a dialogical way (Edling, 2006; af Geijerstam, 2006).

Another topic of research is practical epistemology analysis of the content constituted through the communicative acts and teaching sequences used in science classrooms (Wickman & Östman, 2002; Wickman, 2004). In a study by Lidar, Lundqvist and Östman (2005) the focus is on acts the teacher uses in order to give the students directions that expose what counts as knowledge and appropriate ways of getting knowledge in this specific social practice. These acts are discussed in terms of epistemological moves. In a chemistry course in grade 7 the research team has identified five different moves: confirming, re-constructing, instructional, generative and re-orienting. Furthermore Wickman (2006) and Jakobson and Wickman (2008) have studied communicative acts derived from the aesthetic language resources such as "cool", "funny", "hell". They show how these expressions are used by teachers as well as students in establishing norms of action, and in talking about what objects, events and actions are to be included and excluded. They also state that aesthetic experiences are intimately linked to the ability of students to participate.

Hägerfelth (2004) has moreover studied how students in secondary high school collectively construct the content in the subject area of science in group conversations. She finds three main patterns of textual constructions. The student groups with so called "skimmers" construct content rapidly and mechanically by means of short recited questions and replies. The "waders" creates a superficial content using a colloquial language. The third group, the "weavers", constructs

content in a methodical way moving effortlessly within the subject using scientific language. From the perspective of scientific literacy it would be of interest to further examine how students could move beyond weaving and transcend the canonical science content.

The language dimensions of written texts produced and used in science is yet another area of research. In the earlier mentioned study on students' writing in science classrooms by af Geijerstam (2006), the text analysis indicates a development on the domain levels as described by Veel (1997). But the genre steps in texts written in grade 8 are not more elaborated than in grade 5. The texts in grade 8 are instead characterized by the use of more abstract language and more technical expressions and they show a higher degree of information load than in grade 5. Mason (2001) has in her study in grade 4 investigated one particular type of writing situation which is writing in the service of learning. In these situations the students use writing to express personal ideas on a topic, to communicate what has been temporarily understood or what puzzles, to record any changes of ideas, and to give a final explanation of a phenomenon. In a close study of two students' writing of experimental reports, Knain (2005) discusses students' abilities to master the genres of science. He means that apart from mastering factual knowledge students also have to negotiate what they want to achieve with their texts and their ideas about writing and themselves as writers and science students. Such results support the notion that students need values and a context with a purpose to make sense of science.

In their study of writing in a junior high school Lykknes and Smidt (2008) have focused one teacher's comments on his students' writing of a procedural report. The teacher means that the language should be concise and precise. The text must be coherent, just describing what actually takes place and be independent in relation to the textbook. The writing should also imply a non-specified reader. Mason (2001) as well as Lykknes and Smidt (2008) have interviewed the students who in both studies confirm the important function of writing in the learning process. Crawford, Chen and Kelly (1997) studied two bilingual high school students and how they presented a science project across different audiences such as teachers, classmates and fifth grade students. The presentations and what counted as knowledge depended on the communicative setting. Again the selection of subject content is not simply deducible from science, but the communicative contexts afford students with ways of judging the relevance of various parts of what may first seem to be the same, coherent subject matter content.

The development of students' writing in terms of use of more abstract and technical language is a parallel process to the development of the language used in textbooks. Edling (2006) has studied the use of three types of referents in textbooks: specific, general and abstract referents. When focusing the shifts between the usages of these three types in the texts, she finds that the natural science texts have relatively few such shifts with rather few different functions in comparison with texts in social science. The shifts are foremost used to generalize or to express evaluations and classifications through common or technical abstract referents. Dimopoulos, Koulaidis and Sklaveniti (2005) mean furthermore that

parallel to a rise of more subject specialised language there is an increase in the students' autonomy in accessing the textbook material. Dimopoulos, Koulaidis and Sklaveniti (2003) also compare the use of visual images in school science textbooks and in the press. It is showed that science textbooks use ten times more images. They also use more images to familiarise their readers with the specialised techno-scientific content and codes. Moreover they tend to create a sense of higher empowerment for their readers by using the visual mode. In a comparison between Greek school science textbooks and science test items used in the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) Hatzinikita, Dimopoulos and Christidou (2008) show that the two types of textual materials are oppositional in nature with regard to both the verbal and the visual mode. They discuss if this discrepancy could be one of the factors explaining the low level of Greek students' achievement in PISA.

If a text or a text assignment is to function as a tool for further learning and development it is essential for the student to have a thorough understanding of the text at hand. This includes being able to express and understand the scientific content as well as the language resources that are used to make scientific meaning. This has been studied by Liberg, af Geijerstam and Folkeryd (2011) in terms of text movability. In this investigation of students in grade 5, 8 and 11 it becomes clear that they show a much lower degree of text movability in science compared to other school subjects. The competence of text movability should be an important asset for scientific literacy and hence to study in further research.

### CONCLUDING REMARKS

In order to create a *transcending science subject* for the 21st century we need to start with questions that already have meaning for people outside science, questions that society and students value as important. This means that practices and activities beyond science have to be treated explicitly and that issues of values need to be included in the curriculum. We also need to pay attention to the social aspects of language, spoken or written, as part of genres and that language use also in science depends on who you are communicating with and what the purpose is. These dimensions should characterize an education for scientific literacy and this is also what has been reviewed in this chapter.

Arguments for scientific literacy have been around for a long time, and they were very much on the agenda in Sweden and other European countries after the Second World War. It was clear that all subjects needed to contribute to the building of a democratic Europe, and giving the upcoming generation a chance to appropriate *Scientific Bildung* was seen as one way. However, the vision concerning the best way to achieve this literacy has changed from one seeing the learning of an objective corpus of science and its methods as critical, to one that takes a more holistic although situated stance to learning science. Today we are living in a post-modern and pluralistic society with specific possibilities and restraints, which we must take into account in planning a transcending science education. Central to Vision 2 is the need to take departure in the circumstances

#### TRANSCENDING SCIENCE

and ambitions the students with all their various backgrounds live in and through, which means that there is no general formula for all European countries regarding the content and context that should be included in the science curriculum. At the same time communication and joint action are dependent on shared habits and customs that give meaning to action. Understanding the rationales for finding the most fruitful balance between the shared and locally adapted subject matter content is an important future research area that has to consider both values and empirical results.

Vision 2 is a context sensitive concept, in that it acknowledges that research needs to take this situated nature of learning, people's values and the diverse lingual backgrounds of students seriously in examining the content and procedures of science education. It has been shown that transfer of knowledge never can be understood on simple rational terms, where science is perceived as a ready made set. Concepts need to be transacted as part of activities and different communicative genres; they are so much more than representations. And again, when knowledge and concepts are approached as part of contexts we need to pay attention to the values that are inherent, i.e. the companion meanings that have to be in place in order to make purposeful and fruitful actions possible. It is crucial not to confuse this position with naïve relativism; it builds upon the empirical observation that in order to make meaningful actions possible, both knowledge and values are necessary.

In order to develop a transcending science subject it is necessary to develop knowledge on several issues. We would like to highlight some of these. First of all we would like to underscore the importance of studying learning processes and how content learning is formed through transactions between intrapersonal, interpersonal and institutional dimensions. And when studying learning processes it is crucial that not only cognitive dimensions but also values more generally are included, as for instance morale and aesthetics. This is particularly important when dealing with the transformation process and how meaningful learning is constituted in that process.

According to Brickhouse (2007) the development of critical skills – the skills to handle the political dimension – is very rarely examined by educational research and included in the term scientific literacy. Here much work needs to be done. It is also very seldom examined what conceptions of citizenship and democracy that are envisioned when policy makers and other stakeholders are talking about the goals of science education. The political dimension is of course something that we also need to include in critical reflections about our own research. We should be aware that promoting scientific literacy also means to subscribe to certain norms about who is valued (e.g. the person that is scientific literate) and who is not (e.g. the scientific illiterate person).

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Per-Olof Wickman was funded by a grant from The Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation, The Bank of Sweden Tercentenary Foundation and The Swedish Research Council during the writing of this chapter. Leif Östman was funded by a grant from The Swedish Research Council during the writing of this chapter.

#### REFERENCES

- af Geijerstam, Å. (2006). *Att skriva i naturorienterande ämnen i skolan* [Writing in natural sciences in school]. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis, Studia Linguistica Upsaliensia 3.
- Aikenhead, G. S. (2006). Science education for everyday life. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Bakhtin, M. (1981). The dialogic imagination. Michael Holquist (Ed.) Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Almqvist, J. & Östman, L. (2006). Privileging and artifacts: On the use of information technology in science education. *Interchange*, 37(3), 225–250.
- Bezemer, J. & Kress, G. (2008). Writing in multimodal texts: A social semiotic account of designs for learning. Written Communication, 25(2), 166–195.
- Bennett, J., & Lubben, F. (2006). Context-based chemistry: The Salters approach. International Journal of Science Education, 28(9), 999–1015.
- Biesta, G. (2002). How general can *Bildung* be? Reflections on the future of a modern educational ideal. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 36(3), 377–390.

Bourdieu, P. (1984). Distinction: a social critique of the judgement of taste. London: Routledge.

- Brickhouse, N. (2007). Scientific literates: What do they do? Who are they? In C. Linder, L. Östman & P.-O. Wickman (Eds.), Promoting Scientific Literacy: Science Education Research in Transaction. Proceedings of the Linnaeus Tercentenary Symposium (pp. 90–94). Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Bulte, A. M. W. (2007). How to connect concepts of science and technology when designing contextbased science education. In C. Linder, L. Östman & P.-O. Wickman (Eds.), Promoting Scientific Literacy: Science Education Research in Transaction. Proceedings of the Linnaeus Tercentenary Symposium (pp. 140–147). Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Bulte, A. M. W., Westbroek, H. B., De Jong, O., & Pilot, A. (2006). A research approach to designing chemistry education using authentic practices as contexts. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(9), 1063–1086.
- Buty, C & Mortimer, E. F. (2008). Dialogic/authoritative discourse and modelling in a high school teaching sequence on optics. *International Journal of Science Education*, 30(12), 1635–1660.
- Buty, C., Tiberghien, A. & Le Maréchal, J-F. (2004). Learning hypotheses and an associated tool to design and to analyse teaching-learning sequences. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26(5), 579–604.
- Chevallard, Y. (1991). La transposition didactique. Grenoble: La Pensée Sauvage.
- Chevallard, Y. (2001). Les TPE comme problème didactique. Paper at the Séminaire National de Didactique de Mathématiques, 25 mars. Paris.
- Chevallard, Y. (2007). Readjusting didactics to a changing epistemology. *European Educational Research Journal*, 6(2), 131–134.
- Claxton, G. (1991). Educating the inquiring mind: The challenge for school science. London: Harvester, Wheatsheaf.
- Corrigan, D., Dillon, J. & Gunstone, R. (2007). The re-emergence of values in science education. Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Crawford, T., Chen, C., & Kelly, G. J. (1997). Creating authentic opportunities for presenting science: The influence of audience on student talk. *Journal of Classroom Interaction*, *32*, 1–13.
- Dewey, J. (1934/1980). Art as experience. New York: Perigee Books.
- Dimopoulos, K., Koulaidis, V. & Sklaveniti, S. (2003). Towards an analysis of visual images in school science textbooks and press articles about science and technology. *Research in Science Education*, 33(2), 189–216.
- Dimopoulos, K., Koulaidis, V. & Sklaveniti, S. (2005). Towards a framework of socio-linguistic analysis of science textbooks: The Greek case. *Research in Science Education*, 35(2–3), 173–195.

- Duit, R., & Treagust, D. (2003). Conceptual change: a powerful framework for improving science teaching and learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25(6), 671–688.
- Edling, A. (2006). Abstraction and authority in textbooks: The textual paths towards specialized language. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis, Studia Linguistica Upsaliensia 2.
- European Commission. (2002). *Science and society: Action plan.* Luxembourg: Luxembourg Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- European Commission. (2007). *Science education NOW: A renewed pedagogy for the future of Europe* (Vol. EUR22845). Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Fensham, P. (1988). Familiar but different: some dilemmas and new directions in science education. In P. Fensham (Ed.), *Development and dilemmas in science education* (pp. 1–26). London: Falmer Press.
- Fensham, P. J. (2007). Competences, from within and without: new challenges and possibilities for scientific literacy. In C. Linder, L. Östman & P.-O. Wickman (Eds.), *Promoting scientific literacy: Science education research in transaction. Proceedings of the Linnaeus Tercentenary Symposium* (pp. 113–119). Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Geddis, A. (1998). Analyzing discourse about controversial issues in the science classroom. In D. Roberts & L. Östman (Eds.), *Problems of meaning in science curriculum* (pp. 115–129). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gibbons, M., Lomoges, C., Nowotny, H., Schwartzman, S., Scott, P., & Trow, M. (1994). *The new production of knowledge*. London: Sage.
- Habraken, C. L. (2004). Integrating into chemistry teaching today's student's visuospatial talents and skills, and the teaching of today's chemistry's graphical language. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 13(1), 89–94.
- Hägerfelth, G. (2004). Språkpraktiker i naturkunskap i två mångkulturella gymnasieklassrum. En studie av läroprocesser bland elever med olika förstaspråk. [Language practices in natural science in two multicultural classrooms in secondary high school]. Malmö Studies in Education No 11. Malmö Högskola.
- Halliday, M.A.K. (1978). Language as social semiotic. The social interpretation of language and meaning. London: Edward Arnold.
- Hamza, K. M., & Wickman, P.-O. (2008). Describing and analyzing learning in action: An empirical study of the importance of misconceptions in learning science. *Science Education*, 92(1), 141–164.
- Hamza, K. M., & Wickman, P.-O. (2009) Beyond Explanations: What Else Do Students Need to Understand Science? *Science Education* 93(6), 1026–1049.
- Hatzinikita, V., Dimopoulos, K. & Christidou, V. (2008). PISA test items and school textbooks related to science: A textual comparison. *Science Education* 92(4), 664–687.
- Jakobson, B., & Wickman, P.-O. (2008). The roles of aesthetic experience in elementary school science. *Research in Science Education*, 38(1), 45–65.
- Jenkins, E. W. (2001). Research in science education in Europe: retrospect and prospect. In H. Behrendt, H. Dahncke, R. Duit, W. Gräber, M. Komorek, A. Kross & P. Reiska (Eds.), *Research in science education - past, present, and future* (pp. 17–26). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Jenkins, E. (2002). Linking school science education with action. In W-M. Roth & J. Désautels (Eds.), Science education as/for sociopolitcal action (pp. 17–34). Oxford: Peter Lang.
- Jickling, B. (1992). Why I don't want my children educated for sustainable development. Journal of Environmental Education, 23(4), 5–8.
- Jorde, D., & Mork, S. (2007). The contribution of information technology for inclusion of socioscientific issues in science. In D. Corrigan, J. Dillon & R. Gunstone (Eds.), *The re-emergence of* values in science education (pp. 179–196). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Kelly, G. J., McDonald, S., & Wickman, P.-O. (2012). Science learning and epistemology. In B. J. Fraser, K.G. Tobin & C.J. McRobbie (Eds.), *Second international handbook of science education* (pp. 281–291). Dordrecht: Springer.

- Kelly, G. (2007). Scientific literacy, discourse, and knowledge. In C. Linder, L. Östman & P.-O. Wickman (Eds.), Promoting scientific literacy: Science education research in transaction. Proceedings of the Linnaeus Tercentenary Symposium (pp. 47–55). Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Knain, E, (2001). Ideologies in school science textbooks. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23, 319–329.
- Knain, E. (2005). Identity and genre literacy in high-school students' experimental reports. International Journal of Science Education, 27(5), 607–624.
- Knain, E. (2006). Achieving science literacy through transformation of multimodal textual resources. Science Education, 90(4), 656–659.
- Kolstø, S. D., Bungum, B., Arnesen, E., Isnes, A., Kristensen, T., Mathiassen, et al. (2006). Science students' critical examination of scientific information related to socioscientific issues. *Science Education*, 90(4), 632–655.
- Kortland, J. (2005). Physics in personal, social and scientific contexts. A retrospective view on the Dutch Physics Curriculum Development Project PLON. In P. Nentwig & D. Waddington (Eds.), Making it relevant. Context based learning of science. Münster: Waxmann.
- Latour, B. (1987). Science in action: how to follow scientists and engineers through society. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Layton, D., Jenkins, E., Macgill, S. & Davey, A. (1993). Inarticulate science? Perspectives on the public understanding of science and some implications for science education. Driffield, U.K.: Studies in Education.
- Liberg, C., af Geijerstam, Å. & Folkeryd, J. W. (2011) Scientific literacy and students' movability in science texts. In: Linder, C., Östman, L., Roberts, D.A., Wickman, P.-O., Erickson, G. & MacKinnon, A. *Exploring the Landscape of Scientific Literacy* (pp. 74–89). New York: Routledge.
- Lidar, M., Lundqvist, E. & Östman, L. (2006). Teaching and learning in the science classroom. The interplay between teachers' epistemological moves and students' practical epistemology. *Science Education*, 90(3), 148–163.
- Lövlie, L., & Standish, P. (2002). Introduction: Bildung and the idea of a liberal education. Journal of Philosophy of Education, 36(3), 317–340.
- Lundegård, I. (2008). Self, values, world young people in dialogue on sustainable development. In J. Öhman (Ed.), Values and democracy in education for sustainable development - contributions from Swedish research (pp. 123–144). Stockholm: Liber.
- Lundqvist, E., Almqvist, J. & Östman, L. (2009). Epistemological norms and companion meanings in science classroom communication. *Science education* 93(5), 859–874.
- Lycan, W. G. (1996). Philosophy of mind. In N. Bunnin & E. P. Tsui-James (Eds.), *The Blackwell companion to philosophy* (pp. 167–197). Oxford: Blackwell.
- Lykknes, A. & Smidt, J. (2008). "Strukturert og ordentlig" om å skrive forsöksrapport i naturfag på ungdomstrinnet. ["Structured and orderly" – about writing procedural reports in science in junior high school] (pp 204–214). In R. T. Lorentzen & J. Smidt (Eds.) Å skrive i alle fag. [To write in all subject areas]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Lyotard, J.-F. (1984). *The postmodern condition: a report on knowledge*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Marton, F. (2006). Sameness and difference in transfer. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 15(4), 499–435.
- Mason, L. (2001). Introducing talk and writing for conceptual change: a classroom study. *Learning and Instruction*, 11(6), 305–329.
- Méheut, M & Psillos, D. (2004). Teaching-learning sequences: aims and tools for science education research. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26(5), 515–535.
- Mercer, N., Dawes, L., Wegerif, R. & Sams, C. (2004). Reasoning as a scientist: Ways of helping children to use language to learn science. In: *British Educational Research Journal*, 30(3), 359–377.
- Mortimer, E. F., & Scott, P. H. (2003). Meaning making in secondary science classrooms. Philadelphia: Open University Press.

- Munby, H. & Roberts, D. (1998). Intellectual independence: A potential link between science teaching and responsible citizenship. In D. Roberts & L. Östman (Eds.) *Problems of meaning in science curriculum* (pp. 101–114). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Öhman, J. (2008). Environmental ethics and democratic responsibility: A pluralistic approach to ESD. In J. Öhman (Ed.) Values and democracy in education for sustainable development: Contributions from Swedish research (pp. 17–32). Malmö: Liber.
- Öhman, J. & Östman, L. (2007). Continuity and change in moral meaning-making a transactional approach. Journal of moral education, 36(2), 151–168.
- Orpwood, G. (2001). The role of assessment in science curriculum reform. Assessment in Education, 8(2), 135–151.
- Osborne, J., & Dillon, J. (2008). Science education in Europe: Critical reflections. Paper presented at the Nuffield Foundation.
- Östman, L. (1994). Rethinking science teaching as a moral act. Journal of Nordic Educational Research, 14(3), 141–150.
- Östman, L. (1995). Socialisation och mening: No-utbildning som politiskt och miljömoraliska problem (Socialisation and meaning: Science education as a political and environmental-ethical problem). Uppsala Studies in Education, 61. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell.
- Östman, L. (1996). Discourses, discursive meanings and socialization in chemistry education. *Journal* of Curriculum Studies, 28(1), 37–55.
- Östman, L. & Roberts, D. (1994). Towards understanding the production of meaning in science education. *Journal of Nordic Educational Research*, 14(1), 2–9.
- Parchmann, I., Gräsel, C., Bear, A., Nentwig, P., Demuth, R., Ralle, B., et al. (2006). "Chemie im Kontext": A symbiotic implementation of a context-based teaching and learning approach. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(9), 1041–1062.
- Peukert, H. (2002). Beyond the present state of affairs: *Bildung* and the search for orientation in rapidly transforming societies. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 36(3), 421–435.
- Pilot, A., & Bulte, A. M. W. (2006). The use of "contexts" as a challenge for the chemistry curriculum: Its successes and the need for further development and understanding. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(9), 1087–1112.
- Putnam, H. (2002). The collapse of the fact/value dichotomy and other essays. London: Harvard University Press.
- Ratcliff, M. (2007). Values in the science classroom the enacted curriculum. In D. Corrigan, J. Dillon & R. Gunstone (Eds.). *The re-emergence of values in science education* (pp. 119–132). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Reiss, M. (2007). What should be the aim(s) of school science education. In D. Corrigan, J. Dillon & R. Gunstone (Eds.). *The re-emergence of values in science education* (pp. 13–27). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Roberts, D. A. (2007). Linné scientific literacy symposium: Opening remarks. In C. Linder, L. Östman & P.-O. Wickman (Eds.), Promoting scientific literacy: Science education research in transaction. Proceedings from the Linnaeus Tercentenary Symposium (pp. 9–17). Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Roberts, D. A. (2007). Scientific literacy/science literacy. In S. K. Abell & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), Handbook of research on science education (pp. 729–780). Mahwah, New Jersey, USA: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Roberts, D. & Östman, L. (Eds.). (1998). Problems of meaning in science curriculum. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Rorty, R. (1982). Consequences of pragmatism (essays 1972–1980). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Rorty, R. (1991). Objectivity, relativism, and truth. Philosophical papers volume I. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Roth, W-M. & Désautels J. (Eds.), (2002). Science education as/for sociopolitcal action. Oxford: Peter Lang.

- Sandoval, W. (2005). Understanding students' practical epistemologies and their influence on learning through inquiry. Science Education, 89(4), 634–656.
- Schoultz, J. (1999). Naturvetenskaplig kunskap i samtal och papper- och penna-test: Elevers förståelse av luftens egenskaper. In I. Carlgren (Ed.), *Miljöer för lärande* (pp. 129–154). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Schulz, R. M. (2007). Lyotard, postmodernism and science education: a rejoinder to Zembylas. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 39(6), 633–656.
- Sensevy, G., Mercier, A., Schubauer-Leoni, M-L., Ligozat, F. & Perrot, G (2005). An attempt to model the teacher's action in mathematics, *Educational Studies in mathematics*, 59(1), 153–181.
- Sensevy, G., Tiberghien, A., Santini, J., Laubé, S., & Griggs, P. (2008). An epistemological approach to modeling: cases studies and implications for science teaching. *Science Education*, 92(3), 424–446. Solomon, J. (1992). *Getting to know about energy*. London: Falmer Press.
- Solomon, J., & Thomas, J. (1999). Science education for the public understanding of science. Studies in Science Education, 33, 61–90.
- Sörensen, H. (2007). Gender inclusive science education? In D. Corrigan, J. Dillon & R. Gunstone (Eds.). The re-emergence of values in science education (pp. 249–267). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Sund, P., & Wickman, P.-O. (2008). Teachers' objects of responsibility something to care about in education for sustainable development? *Environmental Education Research*, 14(1), 145–163.
- Szybek, P. (1999). Touched by a disgusting fish. Dissecting squid in biology lessons in a comprehensive school. In J. Leach & A. C. Paulsen (Eds.), *Practical work in science educationrecent research studies* (pp. 96–112). Fredriksberg: Roskilde University Press.
- Tiberghien, A. (2007). Legitmacy and references for scientific literacy. In C. Linder, L. Östman & P.-O. Wickman (Eds.), Promoting scientific literacy: Science education research in transaction. Proceedings of the Linnaeus Tercentenary Symposium (pp. 130–133). Uppsala: Uppsala University.
- Van Aalsvoort, J. (2004). Activity theory as a tool to address the problem of chemistry's lack of relevance in secondary school chemical education. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26(13), 1635–1651.
- Veel, R. (1997). Learning how to mean scientifically speaking: apprenticeship into scientific discourse in the secondary school. In: Frances Christie & Jim R. Martin (Eds.) Genre and institutions. Social processes in the workplace and school (pp. 161–195). London: Cassell.
- Vosniadou, S., Baltas, A., & Vamvakoussi, X. (Eds.). (2007). Reframing the conceptual change approach in learning and instruction. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Waring, M. (1979): Social pressures and curriculum innovation. A study of the Nuffield Foundation science teaching project. London: Methuen.
- Welzel, M., Haller, K., Bandiera, M., Hammelev, D., Koumaras, P., Niedderer, H., et al. (1998). Ziele, die Lehrende mit dem Experimentieren in der naturwissenschaftlichen Ausbildung verbinden – Ergebnisse einer europäischen Umfrage. Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Naturwissenschaften, 4, 29–44.
- Wickman, P.-O. (2004). The practical epistemologies of the classroom: a study of laboratory work. Science Education, 88(3), 325–344.
- Wickman, P.-O. (2006). Aesthetic experience in science education: learning and meaning-making as situated talk and action. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Wickman, P.-O., & Ligozat, F. (2011). Scientific literacy as action: consequences for content progression. In: Linder, C., Östman, L., Roberts, D.A., Wickman, P.-O., Erickson, G. & MacKinnon, A. *Exploring the Landscape of Scientific Literacy* (pp. 145–159). New York: Routledge.
- Wickman, P.-O., & Östman, L. (2001). Students' practical epistemologies during laboratory work. Paper presented at the session Supporting metacognition and epistemic cognition in science learning (chair: Sandovall, W.A.), American Educational Research Association, Seattle, WA.
- Wickman, P.-O., & Östman, L. (2002). Learning as discourse change: a sociocultural mechanism. Science Education, 86(5), 601–623.

#### TRANSCENDING SCIENCE

Willinsky, J. (1998). The obscured and present meaning of race in science education. In D. Roberts & L. Östman (Eds.). *Problems of meaning in science curriculum* (pp. 73–86). New York: Teachers College Press.

Zeidler, D. (Eds). (2003). The role of moral reasoning on socioscientific issues and discourse in science education. London: Kluwer Academic Publischers.

Zembylas, M. (2000). Something 'Paralogical' under the sun: Lyotard's *Postmodern Condition* and science education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *32*(2), 159–184.

Ziman, J. (2000). Real Science: What it is and what it means. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

## Per-Olof Wickman

Department of Mathematics and Science Education, Stockholm University, Sweden per-olof.wickman@mnd.su.se

Caroline Liberg Department of Education Uppsala University, Sweden caroline.liberg@edu.uu.se

Leif Östman Department of Education Uppsala University, Sweden leif.ostman@edu.uu.se

## CLAUDIA V. AUFSCHNAITER AND CHRISTIAN ROGGE

# 4. HOW RESEARCH ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION CAN INFORM CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT

### ABSTRACT

Research about students' learning of science is often based on conceptual change theory. Typically, student conceptual ecology is theorized, (mis-)conceptions prior to instruction are investigated and how these conceptions change as a result of instruction are analyzed. However, little research has focused on the processes by which students develop conceptual understanding during instruction: Under which conditions will students employ their (mis-)conceptions? How do students' (mis-)conceptions evolve during learning (or while acting in everyday situations)? Which kinds of teacher explanations are understood by students and when in the process of concept formation? Why is specific instruction effective for some students but not for all? Research reported in this chapter aims to explore how students arrive at a particular conceptual understanding, how students employ their conceptions while grappling with physics instruction and experiments and what kind of instruction promotes or hinders students' processes of concept formation. The chapter draws upon theoretical arguments for this type of investigation, empirical procedures and outcomes as well as upon implications for science teaching.

## INTRODUCTION

Researching and theorizing students' learning in science is typically associated with conceptual change theories and empirical approaches towards identifying students' conceptions. Compared with other studies of conceptual research, our research program focuses on detailed descriptions of how students develop and utilize physics concepts – both, "correct" and "incorrect" – while working on physics instruction. In order to motivate our approach in assessing students' *processes of concept formation* we briefly outline why we consider current theoretical accounts of students' conceptual ecology and empirical procedures as being limited, especially in terms of their explanatory power of concept formation processes of concept formation and concept use while working on physics tasks and the kind of descriptive categories such investigations reveal. We then outline

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 63–90. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

#### C. V. AUFSCHNAITER AND C. ROGGE

how the categories identified in students' conceptual development can help to understand how students establish misconceptions and why some science conceptions are more difficult for students. Furthermore, an approach towards the construction of instruction based on our findings is presented.

## A BRIEF CRITICAL DISCUSSION OF RESEARCH ON CONCEPTUAL CHANGE

## Theoretical Descriptions of Concepts and Conceptual Change

Research on science teaching and learning has focused on students' conceptions and on teaching strategies that promote conceptual change (e.g., Duit, 1999; Duit & Treagust, 2003; Limón & Mason, 2002; Tyson, Venville, Harrison, & Treagust, 1997; Tytler & Prain, 2009). Within such research, tests and interviews are widely used in order to assess students' conceptions prior to and/or after instruction (e.g., Hake, 1999; Hestenes, Wells, & Swackhamer, 1992). Even though the theoretical frameworks differ in some details, most of them share a common body of general assumptions which ahre:

- Most of students' activities and utterances have a theoretical foundation (e.g., knowledge is organized in concepts or in framework theories).
- Students entering a physics classroom will have prior conceptions (framework theories).
- Students' conceptual knowledge will not necessarily match that of scientists, that is, students may hold misconceptions (naïve frameworks).
- Students' conceptual knowledge can change when they are shown contrasting "correct" concepts.

### Concepts

Although the notion of "concept" is at the core of the assumptions presented above, the usage and theoretical account of "concepts" has been debated in the literature (e.g., diSessa & Sherin, 1998; diSessa, 2002). Is all knowledge that students can have (and show) conceptual? If not, what distinguishes "simple" knowledge from concepts? It is sometimes argued that conceptual (declarative) knowledge refers to an "implicit or explicit understanding of the principles that govern a domain" whereas procedural knowledge refers to "action sequences for solving problems." (Rittle-Johnson & Alibali, 1999, p. 175). However, even if only knowledge is taken into account that can be expressed verbally, one may still ask whether or not all such knowledge is conceptual in a sense that it considers the principles that govern a domain or a topic (see also diSessa & Sherin, 1998). It probably makes a difference whether a child just repeats that this *particular* object is her/his baby chair (being told by her/his mum) or whether s/he can explain that all chairs have an area to sit on and (typically) four legs. Also in physics we can distinguish between knowledge that is tied to particular objects and situations (descriptions, labels) and knowledge which refers to the commonalities of several objects and situations and can, therefore, be considered as conceptual.

## HOW RESEARCH ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION

From a psychological point of view one may argue that even though students' knowledge does not directly indicate a conceptual understanding, (unconscious) mental activities "behind" the expressed knowledge refer to concepts. At the moment it is impossible to evaluate empirically whether or not this is a valid assumption, however, there are some arguments indicating that such a description is not very helpful to understand (mental) activity and learning. From the acting individual's point of view several activities can take place without knowing about the conceptual grounds. In addition to that stated by Vosniadou and her colleagues (e.g. 2008), we would stress that in order to function in the world, students (all humans) do not necessarily need a coherent explanatory framework. There is no need to explain the function of a switch in an electric circuit or how pictures emerge on a screen in order to switch on the light or use a computer. To do the washing up, we do not need to know about surface tension, nor about the role a dishwashing liquid plays in reducing the surface tension which enables fat to dissolve more easily. Furthermore, from an observer's point of view one might argue that even though an individual's verbal activities can be described as if these activities follow a certain concept this does not say anything about the mental reality of these concepts (e.g., Neuweg, 2002). Seeing a concept or a theory in almost every activity or utterance an individual develops reduces the number of interpretations that are possible: "Sentences are taken to represent theories, and words are taken to represent concepts, ignoring the diversity in types of concepts or theories that we would expect." (diSessa, 2002, p. 37).

## Conceptual Change

It is typically assumed that students enter science instruction holding specific theories, conceptions, or ontological categories. During formal and systematic instruction students either enrich or change their existing knowledge. In the early years of conceptual change research, "change" was considered as a sudden shift in which students replaced their prior concepts with a new scientific concept (e.g., Duit & Treagust, 2003). During the last years an increasing number of researchers have stressed that conceptual change is a rather gradual and slow process. However, it remains unclear to what scales "gradual" and "slow" refer: changes within minutes, hours, weeks, months, years?

In order to describe students' conceptual change, established scientific concepts usually serve as a "measure" for developing quality. Thus, students' conceptual understanding is compared to that of scientists (or, to be more precise, a researcher's understanding of science concepts). Students can hold misconceptions, everyday conceptions, naïve frameworks, synthetic models, or inappropriate ontological categories (e.g., Chi, 1992, 2008; Vosniadou, 1994; Vosniadou, Vamvakoussi, & Skopeliti, 2008) which need to be reorganized or changed towards a scientific understanding (Vosniadou, 2008). The "nearer" students' conceptions are to those of scientists, the more scientific elements are included, or the more appropriate a categorization is, the "better" is the conception. However, this seems to be a limited understanding of quality, which also limits the way in which conceptual change is investigated. One additional measure of quality would be offered with the

#### C. V. AUFSCHNAITER AND C. ROGGE

distinction presented above between "non-conceptual" and conceptual knowledge focusing on students' increasing ability to describe and utilize explicitly the principles underpinning a specific phenomenon or event. Even if these principles constructed by a student were incorrect compared to scientists' descriptions a student focusing for instance on patterns rather than on "simple" observations could be considered as more knowledgeable. Also, students' understanding of science concepts can differ in terms of the kind of interrelations which are constructed between different concepts. Comparing, for instance, "Simple electric circuits can be described with the Ohm's law." with "An increase of amperage results in an increase of resistor's temperature and, therefore, voltage does not increase proportional to amperage." demonstrates that both descriptions are conceptual and are in accordance with current scientific ideas, but the latter offers a more precise and expanded idea of Ohm's law. Progress is then not just moving towards a more scientific view but also expanding scientific understanding by cross-connecting concepts (e.g., v. Aufschnaiter, 2006; v. Aufschnaiter & v. Aufschnaiter, 2003).

## Empirical Approaches towards Investigating Conceptual Change

Typically, students' conceptual change is either addressed with tests (e.g., Hestenes et al., 1992; Liu & McKeough, 2005; Shipstone et al., 1988) or with more process oriented assessment, for instance, interviews (e.g., diSessa, Elby, & Hammer, 2002; Vosniadou & Brewer, 1992; Tytler & Peterson, 2005). During the last roughly 30 years these approaches have led to a large number of documented student misconceptions (e.g. Duit, 2009). Also, using interviews has offered insights into how students apply their conceptions within varying circumstances. Results of student interviews seem to demonstrate that at least for specific physics topics students seem to reason differently in situations that require identical explanations (e.g., diSessa, Gillespie, & Esterly, 2004) and also that students approach phenomena very individually even if there seems to be a similar conceptual ground (e.g., Tytler & Prain, 2009).

Approaches towards identifying students' learning are often restricted to a series of interviews (or tests) at different points in students' learning trajectories, for instance, once a year (e.g., Liu & Lesniak, 2006; Löfgren & Helldén, 2009; Tytler & Prain, 2009). Other studies also focus on differences in achievement for the same topic but different grades (e.g., Vosniadou & Brewer, 1992; Ioannides & Vosniadou, 2002; Slotta, Chi, & Joram, 1995). Such approaches can be part of research on learning progression (e.g., Duncan & Hmelo-Silver, 2009).

Current studies assess students' progress at least globally but usually do not provide valid hints on what in detail has caused the development identified. Thus, so far a large number of studies addressing students' learning outcomes, the way students approach specific tasks, and *changes* in both have been conducted but very rarely does research focus on how students *develop* new or revised conceptual understanding while working on instruction (over a longer period) (some examples of more learning oriented studies are offered in e.g., Petri & Niedderer, 1998; Riemeier & Gropengießer, 2008). As a consequence, "conceptual change theory has struggled to
develop a generally accepted view of how shifts occur" (Tytler & Prain, 2009, p. 4) and also which instruction promotes such shift (or hinders desired progress).

#### CONCLUSIONS

Within the last two sections, some critical issues on conceptual change where raised which we try to address in our investigations. In summary, these are:

- Focusing on students' conceptual knowledge leaves out any (declarative) knowledge which is not (yet) conceptual. Therefore, the description of progress is limited to changes in these concepts and does not include that and how concepts are *established* (either scientific concepts or misconceptions).
- Using interviews or tests to assess students' conceptual understanding limits our knowledge about how concepts evolve while learning and how these concepts are employed into (learning) activity. Therefore, the opportunities to describe criteria of appropriate instruction are also limited.
- Using science concepts as a (the) measure of students' progress in conceptual understanding does not offer enough categories to describe variances in different student activity and an increase in their understanding of science phenomena and events. Furthermore, these descriptions are limited to the science topic for which they are constructed and cannot be used to infer possible learning steps in other topics or domains.<sup>1</sup>

The aim of our research is to understand how students' (mis-)conceptions evolve, with which criteria improving conceptual understanding can be described and what the implications for instruction are.

# SAMPLE, PROCEDURES, AND METHODS

#### **Procedures and Samples**

Like many researchers we use video documentation to assess students' learning processes. In order to gain detailed information about students' concept formation and concept use we use cameras and microphones which focus on student groups (typically two per classroom). Microphones hang from the ceiling above students' desks. Screenshots from our videos in classroom settings and during teaching experiments are presented in Figures 1a to 1c. We are well aware that a group focus is usually limited to a small number of groups and, thus, to a small number of students per class. Therefore, we do not gain information on all students of one class. However, we asses about 20% of the students in great detail and receive our information about learning processes from the large number of students incorporated in our different studies (see below). In addition group and individual activity we can usually also assess all teacher and student statements in teacher centered phases. Our cameras remain fixed without any camera person, but in classroom settings we usually have an observer sitting in the back of the room who takes notes on what is written on the blackboard and happening at the teacher's desk.



Figure 1. (a) Teaching experiment with students aged roughly 13 (topic: light and shadow).
(b) Classroom-setting with students aged roughly 15 (topic: electrostatics). (c) Position of cameras for Figure 1c (VC: video camera; drawing: J. Hirsch).

During the last 12 years we have investigated more than 150 students from lower and upper secondary (11–18 years old) (e.g., v. Aufschnaiter 2006; v. Aufschnaiter & v. Aufschnaiter, 2003) and from university level (typically about 21 years old) (e.g., v. Aufschnaiter, 2003; v. Aufschnaiter & v. Aufschnaiter, 2007). Even though we have done some classroom studies, our main emphasis within the last years has been placed on laboratory studies similar to teaching experiments. These investigations have the advantage that parameters can be controlled better than in classroom settings which helps to identify relevant criteria. Currently, we turn our focus back to classroom settings in order to investigate whether processes are similar to those in our teaching experiments.

Topics of our investigations cover mainly electrodynamics but also thermodynamics and optics. Students are followed in small groups of two to four students with video typically over several successive lessons or sessions. In addition to video we sometimes assess students' interests and their situated experiences with questionnaires (e.g., v. Aufschnaiter, Schoster, & v. Aufschnaiter, 1999) and document their processes of concept-mapping.

#### Methods

Video-data are analyzed with a multilevel approach. In order to get an overview about the data and to generate quantitative results, videos are coded in 10 second intervals. These coding procedures focus on general dynamics and distinguish, for instance, between organizational and content-specific student activities or assess different types of discourse or student argumentation. Also, coding of video is used to identify sequences which are interesting for a specific research question. These sequences are then transcribed and investigated in more detail. Coding of the videos and transcription is performed with the software "Videograph" (Rimmele, 2008).

The second step of our analyses are in-depth investigations of the transcript (together with the video data) in order to assess details of individual meaning making processes (e.g., how a student understands tasks or contributions from

# HOW RESEARCH ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION

other students). The notion of "processes" refers to the time scales on which we assume cognitions to change. Humans typically change their clothes on a daily basis, so "processes" here would refer to 24 hour-intervals. Moods in contrast might change very quickly, so that intervals need to be much shorter (maybe on a minute-basis). Research on human cognition indicates that immediate behavior is "always new; always a sensorimotor circuit." (Clancey, 1993, p. 111). From this and other work (e.g., Pöppel, 1994) we assume that a mental image (one cognition) takes up to 3 seconds and a line of thought takes up to 30 seconds (S. v. Aufschnaiter & C. v. Aufschnaiter, 2003). Thus, "in-depth" analyses not only refer to close investigation but also to rather short time scales (utterance by utterance, activity by activity).

In our research, step 1 (coding of videos) and step 2 (in-depth analyses of transcripts) are interrelated. In both steps criteria are used to describe processes or criteria are generated. Thus, the approach is explorative but also tests hypotheses. Which codes are applied or developed depends on our specific research question. We want to stress that this criteria-based approach differentiates between "case stories" and "case studies". For case stories, individual learning (and teaching) processes are described in great detail such as what students do and how they do it. Even though these often result in vivid and interesting descriptions, the implications of these descriptions often remain unclear. However, they often cannot reveal commonalities and differences between different individuals. Here, clear criteria are needed as well as a coding schema (an example is given in Appendix 1) that helps to set-up valid coding procedures (including the calculation of the intercoder reliability). With thorough coding procedures, individual processes can be compared and hypotheses can be formulated (see also Jacobs, Kawanaka, & Stigler, 1999).

#### EMPIRICAL RESULTS ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION

# **Conceptual Qualities**

In our earlier work on students' learning processes in physics we have noticed that students fairly often talk about particular situations, phenomena, or objects (e.g., v. Aufschnaiter, 2006). This happens even if students are explicitly asked to generate a rule, such as with the example presented in Transcript 1. Before the question is presented to the students they already realized that the temperature of an object adapts to room temperature if the object remains in that particular room for some time. With the question offered in Transcript 1 we expected students to generate an answer such as "The object will become the same temperature as the warm environment." Rather than presenting an answer like this, the students discuss two different phenomena. First an experience with a snowball is reported and then the student S2 tries to create a specific situation when considering what happens to the temperature of a metal cube.

"Imagi	ne a cold object is brought into a warm environment. Explain without measuring:
What h	appens to the temperature of the object?"
<i>S3:</i>	For instance, during summer a friend had a snowball which he took out of the
	freezer.
<i>S1</i> :	If you take it from the cold to the warm environment it either melts or
S2:	Did it melt? How quickly?
S3:	That was during summer. It melted within 20 seconds, maybe even quicker.
S2:	Ok, if I take this metal cube in a real warm environment. Right now, this cube has
	about 22.5 degrees Celsius. It would then have about 25, I reckon.
S3:	Not more than two degrees warmer, the most.

Transcript 1. 13 year old male students discuss a question (unit on heat transfer, sequence shortened, duration about 1:30 minutes).

Similar to this example students often report descriptions of particular events or ask for them. They describe their observations or remembered phenomena, for instance: "Look, the metal cube feels cold but it measures 22°C.", "Does this lamp still shine so brightly if you add a second one in this circuit?", or "Last time in the cinema, I could see how the light travelled to the screen." On the other hand, students sometimes explicitly state a rule, for instance: "Even if two objects feel differently, they can have the same temperature.", "If you add a lamp in a series circuit, all lamps will shine less brightly.", or "Light always travels in straight lines." This distinction between concrete events and rules found in our data concurs with the above arguments claiming that conceptual knowledge refers to an "implicit or explicit understanding of the principles that govern a domain" (Rittle-Johnson & Alibali, 1999, p. 175; see also diSessa & Sherin, 1998).

In our data, students only explicitly express conceptual knowledge in less than 20% of the time spent with the instruction. That is, dealing with specific objects or phenomena makes up the majority of students' activities. However, we identified in these activities another distinction which is also present in Rittle-Johnson's and Aibali's quote indicating that an "implicit [...] understanding of the principles" can exist (1999, p. 175). For instance, when being confronted with a task referring to a conceptual explanation about the adaption of temperatures between an object and its environment, a group of students do not explicitly express this concept but, rather, focus on the water indicating that they have an idea of the underlying principle (Transcript 2).

<i>S1:</i>	(looks at task 2.1). We have to explain why these gel-packs all have the same
	temperature [gel-packs were taken out of a water quench with hot water]
S2:	Couldn't we just measure the temperatures? Well, these all have the same
	temperature because they
<i>S1:</i>	They were taken out of the same water quench.
S2:	They were taken out of the same water quench, yes.

Transcript 2. 15 year old female students discuss a task about thermal equilibrium (unit on heat transfer, duration about 20 seconds).

# HOW RESEARCH ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION

In addition to distinguishing between activity which does not explicitly refer to conceptual understanding and statements in which conceptual knowledge is explicitly expressed, we, therefore, identify an intermediate level. At this level, students predict specific events or phenomena, they attribute expressions (for instance, physics terms) to events, phenomena and objects or they describe how different aspects relate to each other. However, even though at this level students seem to have an intuitive understanding of the underpinning concepts, their explicit verbalizations refer to particular events. When students use physics expressions these serve as labels rather than as generalizations (concepts). Examples for this intermediate level of conceptual understanding are: "I reckon, you'll measure again something like 22°C", "This is the same electric circuit that we had yesterday.", "The shadow is there, because the light cannot pass this box.", or "Last week, our teacher told us to say 'energy' when talking about this situation." Expressing an intuitive understanding can also occur when students are assumed to "hold" the corresponding explicit concept as well. For instance, before the episodes of Transcript 2 students have expressed the conceptual idea of the adaption of temperatures (thermal equilibrium) but do not show this understanding while working on that particular task. Here, we cannot say whether the students simply do not express the concept, e.g. by saying that the gel-packs have the same temperature as the water quench because the temperature of any object adapts to the temperature of its environment, or that they cannot transfer that concept to the new situation (or that they have forgotten the concept). Focusing on how students express their science understanding in varying circumstances helps us to identify how students develop an explicit conceptual understanding and how they utilize this understanding.

Students who are more experienced in a particular topic will more likely act on the basis of an intuitive understanding. In a comparison between students from grade 8 (about 13 years old) and grade 11 (about 16 years old) who were working on an identical unit on heat transfer (see v. Aufschnaiter & Rogge, 2010) the 11th graders developed significantly more ideas which are based on an intuitive understanding (Rogge, 2009; Rogge, 2010). However, we have not yet identified significantly more explicit conceptions with the older students. This result seems to be disappointing because differences between novices in physics and students who have had physics for at least 4 years in school appear to be rather small. It has to be noticed that distinguishing between concrete, intuitive, and explicit conceptual understanding is only one way to characterize the quality of students' understanding. In addition, descriptions can focus on scientific appropriateness, complexity of ideas, or time needed to construct these ideas (e.g., v. Aufschnaiter & v. Aufschnaiter, 2003). Differences between less and more experienced students' knowledge of physics might, therefore, not include more explicit conceptions and/or these being scientifically (much) more appropriate. Rather, differences might refer, for instance, to the amount of different elements of the content integrated and/or the speed with which these are developed (see also v. Aufschnaiter, 2006; v. Aufschnaiter & v. Aufschnaiter, 2003).

# From Conceptual Qualities to the Learning of Concepts

In the previous section, three different conceptual qualities were established from the discussion of examples (for a more detailed description of these main categories and related subcategories refer to Appendix 1):

- Students argue and behave in a way that seems to have no conceptual ground, for instance, while "simply" describing what they observe or exploring what happens when they change something in an experimental set-up. In our research we would label this an explorative approach.
- II) Students argue and behave in a way which indicates that they have already grasped some idea about underpinning rules but do not yet explicitly refer to these rules. For instance, they predict purposefully (but not based on explicit generalizations) what will happen next or they have grasped how to describe a particular event with physics expressions. These activities are labeled as intuitive rule-based approach.<sup>2</sup>
- III)On the third level students explicitly express conceptual knowledge by generalizing over several events, objects, or phenomena. This is what we label as explicit rule-based approach.

Whereas levels 1 and 2 imply that students deal with particular events, level 3 refers to a conceptual level. Thus, levels 1 and 2 indicate that students either lack any conceptual understanding of that particular topic or are currently not explicitly expressing their understanding. Rather than having "misconceptions", students at levels 1 and 2 may be characterized as having "missing conceptions".

Distinguishing different conceptual qualities is useful to identify at which level students currently behave (see also coding scheme in Appendix 1). However, it does not provide any hints on how students move between levels, whether there is a definite level at which they start their movement, and which learning material promotes or hinders such movement. Our results on students' learning processes indicate that for any new aspect of a topic (new for the students) students start by exploring related phenomena, opportunities to solve tasks, to treat experiments and to verbalize aspects (level I). If instruction offers explicit concepts at this level students either seem to "ignore" the information, express that they are puzzled or develop a concrete understanding of the information (for instance, by describing a specific experience). At this level I, students' activities often seem to follow a trial-and-error-like behavior, especially for open instructions. Teachers then often realize that students seem to not follow the instruction and do not control parameters.

From their explorations students develop an intuitive idea about what will happen next or how they have to work on an experiment or a problem in order to get a specific result. In a similar way, students explore how to express things, which is demonstrated by the following example taken from Rincke (2007, pp. 131f.). Here, a student explores how to use the word "exert":

A person exerts a force on a ball and throws it to another person. The other person catches the exerted ball. The other person exerts also a force and

# *throws it back. The exerted balls are thrown back and forth between the two persons.* [Translation by CvA]

Students who have some experiences on a particular aspect of the topic almost directly start at an intuitive rule-based level when dealing with that aspect. Intuitive rules stabilize while students work on similar phenomena and problems. In these phases, students often explore the learning material again even though they already have an intuitive idea about what will happen. Within this circular movement between levels and also within the same level students are also more and more able to integrate different content elements into their considerations.

Surprisingly, students rarely move to the next level III. Explicit conceptualizations often occur in single sentences but not in long and extensive discussions. Moreover, students typically express a rule after they have already developed an intuitive understanding of this particular rule. However, conceptual understanding is usually expressed only after students' explorations of specific phenomena and problems. That is, students very rarely construct a hypothesis which is explicitly based on a conception before they work on the relating problem. While moving from level II to III and at level III explicit (short) information on underpinning concepts seems to be useful. Other than at an early stage of their learning, conceptual explanations offered help students to realize that they are "on the correct way" or have not fully grasped the idea. That is, if instruction wants students to understand a particular concept, these students need to discover this concept at least intuitively before they are likely to grasp the related conceptual information. Or, conversely, students are likely to understand any concept that they already "know" at least intuitively. However, it should be noted that establishing a concept once is not enough for a robust understanding. Even though we do see a general movement (for a specific aspect of a topic) from level I to level III, a "robust" understanding at level III requires the opportunity for students to (re-)explore related phenomena and problems, to stabilize their intuitive rules and to re-discover conceptual knowledge after dealing with a specific phenomenon or problem. Students will not (immediately) remember a poorly established concept when being presented with a slightly changed situation. More experienced students will need fewer hints and will also be quicker in reconstructing conceptual knowledge. Establishing conceptual understanding at level III also includes integrating more and more events within one conception and to relate different concepts together.

So far, we have described that our students mainly act and verbalize at levels I and II, that is, they deal with particular events no matter of age or prior experiences. We have also described that in comparison to younger students, students in higher grades with more experiences in physics significantly more often construct an intuitive rule-based understanding (level II). The processes by which students develop from a concrete to a conceptual understanding seems to be circular (see also for example Fischer, 2008), often very slow and requiring several repetitions, much more than are usually offered by instruction. Table 1 shows such

a circular pattern for the learning unit on heat transfer where students are supposed to establish an explicit rule-based understanding of thermal equilibrium.

Table 1. Part of a grade 8 (aged 13) student groups' development of the concept of thermal<br/>equilibrium (Rogge, 2010) (S: students)

Time	Context and main student activities (shortened)	Level
0:00:00	Task 1: How warm do the scissors feel?	
	S describe that the blades feel cold and the handle feels warm.	I explorative
	"This [reference unclear] is what we're discussion in geo science!"	II intuitive rule-based
0:02:10	Task 2: Describe for different objects whether these feel warm, intermediate or cold.	
	S sort objects depending on how warm/normal/cold they feel.	I explorative
	While searching for a "warm" object: "No [it can't be warm], that is made of metal."	II intuitive rule-based
0:12:20	Task 3: What are the temperatures of warm, intermediate and cold objects?	
	S estimate: warm 15 Degrees, cold 0 Degrees, normal 8–10 Degrees.	II intuitive rule-based
0:15:10	Task 4: Measure the temperatures of all objects classified.	
	S measure always about 24°C	I explorative
	"That can't be!" – "Maybe, because we've touched them!"	II intuitive rule-based
0:30:50	Task 5: Compare measured with estimated (felt) temperatures.	
	"Our estimations were completely wrong!"	II intuitive rule- based <sup>3</sup>
0:33:00	Task 7: Measure the room temperature and compare it with the temperatures of the objects.	
	S measure a room temperature of 23.5°C.	I explorative
	"They [the temperatures of the objects] adapt to room temperature."	II intuitive rule-based
0:37:00	Task 8: What are the temperatures of different cubes made from different material in a cooler?	
	S estimate: aluminum, iron, and granite cube: 5°C; wooden cube: 10°C	II intuitive rule-based
0:38:20	Task 9: Measure the cooler's temperature and the cubes' temperatures.	
	S measure for all roughly $\sim$ 4–5°C – S are astonished	I explorative
	"The [cubes] always adapt to room temperature"	III explicit rule-based

0:40:50	<b>Info 1:</b> Objects which stay together for long have the same temperature: [] Task: Which temperatures would the objects have if the room were at 30°C?	
	"Well, roughly 30°C" – "A little lower or a little higher."	II intuitive rule-based
0:41:30	Task 10/11: Progression of the temperatures of cold and warm water.	
	S measure temperatures and observe heating and cooling down.	I explorative
	"I know why." – "Yes, because it [the water] adapts to the air."	II intuitive rule-based
0:49:20	Task 12: How does the temperature of a plastic knife changes when taken out of the cooler?	
	S measure the temperature of the knife: " <i>It increases more and more</i> "	I explorative
	"Indeed, it is going to adapt."	II intuitive rule-based
0:52:00	<b>Task 13:</b> To which temperature will the temperature of the cold water, the warm water and the knife develop?	
	"It always adapts to the temperature of the air."	III explicit rule-based
0:52:40	<b>Task 14:</b> Temperature of cookies which have stayed in the oven for 30 minutes?	
	"When taken out they'll have 200°C. And when sitting there [at the kitchen table], then they'll have air temperature."	II intuitive rule-based
0:53:30	<b>Task 15:</b> Temperature of a cold object which is brought into a warm environment?	
	"Well, it [the object] will be like the environment."	II intuitive rule-based
0:54:00	<b>Info 2:</b> Objects always adapt to the environment's temperature: [] Task: Evaluate, whether the temperatures of the cold/hot water have converged the room temperature.	
	S holds thermometer into hot water and observes increase of scale.	I explorative
	"Does it increase? Say how much you have!"	II intuitive rule-based
	"33.4 [Degrees]."	I explorative
	"33, look, it has decreased much! Before, it had been 50 degrees, last time we measured [tasks 10/11]."	II intuitive rule-based
0:55:50	<b>Task 16:</b> Spoon put shortly into warm water: From where does the heat come? [Experiment to introduce the notion of heat receiver and heat source later on]	
	S heat spoon and touch it.	I explorative
	"Well, also the water. If an object is put into water, it adapts to the water, that is, if you go into hot water you'll get warmer."	III intuitive rule- based

Results presented so far might be seen as artificial because of our somewhat strange distinction between conceptual and "non-conceptual" knowledge. We would, therefore, like to stress that other researchers seem to arrive at similar descriptions of learning. The following three examples give an idea of how our system of categories can be related to empirical outcomes and theoretical descriptions of other researchers' work.

*Example 1.* In their work on young children's conceptual development over several years, Tytler and Peterson trace children' understanding and reasoning of scientific phenomena using one interview per year and child (e.g., Tytler & Peterson, 2003, 2005). For Jeremy, grade prep (about 5 years old), the following dialogue on how whirlybirds fly is given (coding for Jeremy added in [ ]):

Jeremy:	I have an idea Why don't we try it with this one? [I explorative]
SP:	What small and big?
Jeremy:	Yeah, small and big (he predicts the big one will be slower, and tries) [I
	explorative or II intuitive]
SP:	<i>Oh yes, you were right. Can you come and tell me how this works? How does one of these work?</i>
Jeremy:	<i>Um, because it's got longer fins and then it's got longer air and it can catch lots of air, and this one's only got little fins and it can't catch much air, and this can catch lots and lots and lots and lots and lots of air. [II intuitive]</i> (Tytler & Peterson, 2005, p. 82)

In their description of Jeremy's approach, the authors ascribe a level 3 which indicates that "Children carry out focused observations or interventions which involve trying out an idea, or following up a prediction with some conceptual basis. Explorations have a recognizable hypothesis driving them." (Tytler & Peterson, 2005, p. 72 and p. 82). Even though the authors describe Jeremy's approach having at least some theoretical basis, the theory is not given explicitly in the excerpt but an intuitive understanding of the rules that make different whirlybirds fly is recognizable. (From the introducing description of the excerpt it can be concluded that Jeremy has already had some experiences with whirlybirds before the excerpt episode.) From an observer's point of view the theory that could be used to derive Jeremy's arguments might be inferred. However, there is no indication that Jeremy arrived at his idea from an explicit theoretical understanding of air resistance or similar aspects.

*Example 2.* The SEPIA (Science Education through Portfolio) project aimed to integrate curriculum, instruction, and assessment practices at the classroom level (Erduran, 2003). Within the project, a curriculum about acids and bases was developed and evaluated through audio recording of grade 7 students (about 13 years old). The verbal data were transcribed and then the teacher-student interaction was studied in detail.

- *T:* Ok. Say bromothymol blue. Now you've got to give me some reasons why you choose that. Bromothymol blue. Why did you like that?
- *P:* Because it's like, I like when you put two drops of it, it like changes to a different colour. [I explorative]
- *T*: Different colour change. And what I heard you say? I heard you say different colours. You mean different whether it was an acid or whether it was a base. [III explicit]

For this excerpt, Erduran concludes that the mismatch between the pupil's and the teacher's understanding is a result of a student reporting a particular observation which is then interpreted by the teacher as "referring to a generality or rule about colour change and acidity-alkalinity" (Erduran, 2003, p. 82). Rather than arguing with a conceptual basis, the pupil describes an observation whereas the teacher focuses on a conceptual-based explanation.

*Example 3.* Steinle's (2002) research about the historical development of physics concepts results in a very similar description of how scientists make use of experiments to generate theories about the physical world. In one of his recent articles, Steinle introduces the notion of "exploratory experiment" tracing back how scientists used their prior experiences and ideas to explore phenomena and construct physics concepts (Steinle, 2002). Other than presented with our data, their prior experiences enabled scientists to produce a systematic variation of experimental parameters in order to explore which parameters have an effect and which have not. Typically, students of lower and upper secondary lack content specific (and/or relevant) experiences so that their exploration often starts in an unsystematic manner. Or – conversely – the systematic variation, that is, the control of parameters, must be introduced and promoted by the instruction.

#### Phenomenon-Based and Model-Based Concepts

Even though the amount of explicit conceptions is small in our data, we found a noticeable difference between students' conceptions which also applies to physics concepts. Table 2 indicates two different groups of concepts. The left column refers to concepts that can be derived from experiences (observations on what can be heart or felt, how people express things, how to work on problems). We label these concepts as "phenomenon-based concepts". The right column, in contrast, includes concepts which cannot be inferred directly from experiences. Rather, one has to construct a theoretical understanding of the principles that explain phenomena and phenomenon-based concepts ("why..."). We label this group "model-based concepts" even though this notion may cause some misunderstandings. If students, for instance, observe atomic models which are presented in a picture, on a computer screen or as a real model (e.g., illustrating atomic bonding), and then generalize that atoms are always round and have a color (which is incorrect but conceptual) we would assign this to a phenomenon-based concept as students have experienced (observed) the features over which they generalize.

Table 2. Examples of phenomenon- and model-based concepts

Phenomenon-based concepts	Model-based concepts	
Whenever my teacher says "Ohm's Law" he	Internal energy is the total amount of	
wants to hear $V=R^{x}I$ .	energy in an object.	
If you add a lamp in a series circuit, all	In order to see an object light has to be	
lamps will shine less brightly.	scattered from the object into our eyes.	
Even if two objects feel differently, they can	Sound is transferred by pressure variation.	
have the same temperature.		
All force meters include a spring.	Whenever an object changes its movement	
	a force is exerted on the object.	

Our data indicate that phenomenon-based conceptions occur slightly more often than model-based conceptions and seem to be less demanding for students (compared to model-based conceptions). However, due to the small number of explicit conceptualizations we still lack clear criteria to distinguish these two types of concepts in students' verbalizations. For such distinction it is also very important to hold a 2nd order perspective to reveal how a student conceptualizes a particular aspect. Especially, if students know and conceptually apply specific phrases such as "Batteries need to supply enough energy for any electrical device." we have difficulties identifying whether these phrases refer to a phenomenonbased understanding (a conceptual understanding of how to phrase things) or to a model-based understanding of the concepts involved into that phrase (e.g., the meaning of energy). Our impression from observations in schools is that students fairly quickly grasp explicitly or intuitively how to "say things correctly" without having (fully) grasped the model-based concept that they communicate. Teachers, in contrast, tend to assume that students who express model-based conceptions correctly have also understood their meaning.

Again, cross-reverence to the work of Steinle (2002) is possible: In the early stages of concept formation, scientists were typically not interested in, sometimes even not aware of, model-based reasoning. "Dufay was definitely not interested in microscopic theories about the 'hidden nature' of electricity (though he was well aware of the long history of speculations on that question), but rather intended to establish regularities on the level of phenomena and experiments, in a field that he found in an incoherent and unstable state." (Steinle, 2002, p. 418). Further on, Steinle argues "Closely connected, there is the central goal of formulating empirical regularities about [...] dependencies and correlations. Typically they have the form of 'if-then' propositions, where both the if- and the then-clauses refer to an empirical level." (Steinle, 2002, p. 419). Also for students in physics, we found that they intuitively develop and then explicitly establish those concepts and conceptual connections that they can infer from their experiences.

diSessa's p-prims can be considered similar to phenomenon-based concepts as most p-prims refer to rules or principles but seem to have a strong empirical basis (e.g., diSessa, 1993, 2002). However, it should be noted that, from a physicist's point of view, phenomenon-based concepts provide systematic descriptions rather than physics explanations. So, teachers and researchers may argue that there is

# HOW RESEARCH ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION

almost no value in phenomenon-based concepts as they are not at the "core" of physics as a discipline. In contrast, issues raised here provide strong arguments about the importance of such phenomenon-based concepts for both the progress of the discipline and the progress in students' understanding. It is then well established phenomenon-based knowledge, reassured and revised via repeated and varying explorations that provides the basis for the need of, the search for, and the understanding of model-based concepts and their interrelationships. It is the modelbased concepts that contain explanations of physics phenomena. Model-based concepts cannot be inferred from experiences directly and are, therefore, "discovered" relatively late in both scientific development and individual learning. These assumption concur with Lawson's framework which comprises a five level description of students' increasing competencies using if-then-patterns to reason about content (Lawson, 2003). In his model, it is only stage 5 ("theoretical stage") which relates to model-based reasoning. For that stage, Lawson argues that it is reached in late adolescence and early adulthood. From our empirical results and from Steinle's (2002) description we would rather point out that it is not the age but the familiarity with content that enables learners to reach a model-based understanding. Thus, it is not only in physics research but also in students' learning that model-based concepts require many experiences and are, therefore, established relatively late in the process.

#### PHYSICS INSTRUCTION

# Misconceptions and Demanding Science Concepts

So far, distinctions have been made between different qualities of conceptual understanding and between phenomenon-based and model-based conceptualizations. Furthermore, it has been described how students develop explicit concepts from explorations to an intuitive rule-based and later on to an explicit rule-based understanding. It can be assumed that this process is not only happening while working on physics tasks but also occurs in everyday learning sometimes leading to misconceptions. Thus, the framework presented above can help to understand students' misconceptions and to describe why some science concepts are demanding for students.

# Misconceptions as a Result of Generalization Over Classes of (Everyday) Phenomena

Some typical misconceptions are

- In order to cycle, drive, walk, ... at steady speed, a force is needed.
- Current is consumed in a resistor.
- In order to see an object, one has to look at it.
- Metals are (always) colder than, for instance, wood.

From a physics point of view, these concepts are either incorrect or at least incomplete. However, focusing on students' everyday experiences, it is obvious that these concepts are a generalization over classes of similar experiences. For instance, in order to cycle at steady speed one has to exert a constant force; it is often said that we pay for the current consumed; no object can be seen if we do not look at and, indeed, metals usually feel colder than wood. None of these experiences is wrong and, therefore, conceptions should not be considered as being incorrect. Conceptions such as the ones presented above also indicate which experiences are not yet (fully) present to a learner. Students have not (explicitly) experienced that there is a force which hinders movement (friction) and which they have to compensate for any object to move at steady speed. There is almost no opportunity to experience that the wording "current is consumed" is wrong or that almost all objects give off light which travels to the eye. Also, students have typically not measured the temperatures of different objects and have compared these to their experience of these objects feeling differently (see also Table 1). Thus, for teaching, several misconceptions provide a very useful resource as these give hints on misleading or missing experiences which have to be established during instruction.

# Misconceptions as a result of missing conceptions

Some concepts may simply not be present to learners when they are prompted to construct these concepts. These missing conceptions can either be phenomenonbased or model based. Examples are the concept that shadows not necessarily have the shape of the object, the concept that temperatures adapt to each other, the concept that whether an object floats or sinks requires a focus on mass and volume, or the concepts of electrostatic induction and polarization. Such concepts are not (yet) constructed because students lack prior experiences (or have not focused on these experiences) that enable them to develop at least a phenomenon-based conceptualization about that particular issue. However, in conceptual change research students are intensively prompted to construct concepts about topics with which they are not familiar, which is demonstrated nicely by the following example:

*I:* What happens when you see this book?

S: I see it with my eyes!

*I:* The book sits here on the table and your eyes are there. How can you see it?

S: I don't know. I just see it. Now I can't see it any more (I holds a sheet of paper between the pupil's eyes and the book). Now I can only see the sheet of paper.

I: Why can't you see the book anymore if the paper is there?

S: It covers the book, so I can't see it anymore.

*I:* Now there is no sheet. You can see the book. Is there something between your eyes and the book?

S: Yes, there is air, isn't it, and lots of other stuff. But because it is transparent I can see through it.

I: Seeing, how do you think it works?

S: I don't know how it works.

*I: Have you never thought about how we see?* 

#### HOW RESEARCH ON STUDENTS' PROCESSES OF CONCEPT FORMATION

S: No, that is nothing one thinks about often.
Later:
I: How is it possible for you to see the book?
S: Well, I really don't know, I can do it, that's all.

(Wiesner, 1986, translation by CvA)

For these kinds of questions, students are "forced" to make a "guess" which, in turn, may not say a lot about students' understanding as they may not yet have arrived at a conceptual level, let alone a model-based understanding. In order to give an answer that satisfies the interviewer, students try to transfer their daily experiences to the unfamiliar topic. The effort to utilize everyday experiences then creates misconceptions, such as the idea that atoms have similar properties as macroscopic objects.

## Why some science concepts are demanding

We conclude from our results that especially only model-based concepts are difficult for students. These are, for instance, force and energy and their distinction as well as the distinction between energy, voltage, and current. None of these concepts can be established solely from experiences except from experiences with specific wording, such as "Never say current consumption, it is the energy that is transformed." So, students can develop a phenomenon-based concept from what they hear but with this alone, no conceptual understanding of, for instance, energy is established. Unfortunately there seems to be no direct way to address modelbased concepts. Either students lack any conceptual understanding or they refer to phenomenon-based ideas (such as particles as little balls that have the same color as the macroscopic object). Rather than approaching model-based concepts directly (for example, by contrasting these to students' ideas) we assume that a thorough analysis is needed which phenomenon-based concepts have to be established in advance of corresponding model-based concepts. In order to, for instance, establish some conceptual understanding of the model-based concepts of electric current and voltage students should be exposed to extensive and systematic measurements of something being labeled as current and voltage so that they can discover that there are two different parameters in electric circuits that behave in specific ways. When having grasped phenomenon-based concepts about measures of current and voltage in different circuits and under different conditions it is more likely that students can and will understand (slightly) what these two concepts "mean" and why measures behave in specific ways.

# **Designing Instruction**

For formal instruction, it is assumed that students' conceptual knowledge needs to be taken into account: "Teachers need to be informed about how students see the physical world and learn to take their points of view into consideration when they design instruction." (Vosniadou et al., 2001, p. 392). Nowadays, teachers can access well documented descriptions of students' understanding in specific

domains (e.g., Driver, Squires, Rushworth, & Wood-Robinson, 1994). Although these documents give valuable insights into students' ideas, they are also problematic because they turn the readers' (teachers') focus towards concepts instead of experiences. Research reported in this paper indicates that students rarely construct explicit concepts and if they do so, the concepts are often phenomenon-based. It was also stressed that extensive experiences are the starting point of any learning process whereas lacking experiences and some experiences made in everyday life can hinder learning progress. Therefore, as discussed above, concepts documented should be used to infer students' underlying and missing experiences which are one key to effective instruction.

Another reason why solely focusing on students' conceptions is problematic is that these (mis-)conceptions do not say anything about appropriate instruction. Measuring a "gap" between what students know and what they are ought to know gives almost no hints about how to "close" the gap. Research seems to agree about the need to define an appropriate level of demand (e.g., Leach & Scott, 2002), so that students can restructure their knowledge and will not just try to learn the new information by heart or "ignore" what is presented to them. If it is students' missing and existing experiences that are important for their conceptual understanding, instruction systematically needs to focus on experiences with specific phenomena and events (including experiments). Although experiments certainly play an important role in formal instruction, they are often considered and used to *demonstrate* a specific concept (that is, using single experiments that show best what is needed to be seen). Experiments are assumed to generate cognitive conflict or at least dissatisfaction with existing concepts (e.g., Posner, Strike, Hewson, & Gertzog, 1982; Strike & Posner, 1992). However, if students do not yet have a (model-based) concept dealing with the presented content, they are not very likely to "understand" what is to be conflicted and what kind of concept the experiment is about to demonstrate. For instance, an experiment in which tea from a teabag dissolves into water is typically meant to demonstrate molecular movement. However, observable is only that the water slowly turns brown (and gets a specific taste). Thus, if students do not know anything about the particle model and about these particles moving around, the experiment will only "demonstrate" how you can change the color of water (and make it tasty). Overall, the way experiments are often utilized in physics instruction is not very effective because it is assumed that they are important for connecting theory to praxis but not really as a means by which students can develop new knowledge. This kind of "ineffectiveness" of demonstrating experiments can be seen even if these experiments are embedded in very different kinds of instruction. In his project on inquiry settings, Lederman and colleagues trialed, for instance, direct instruction, inquiry-oriented instruction and a mixture of both, revealing that none of the three settings leaded to significantly different effects (Lederman, Lederman, & Wickman, 2008). With respect to our work we would argue that even though at a surface level these settings differed largely (teacher centered vs. student oriented. different ideas of "inquiry"), the experiments in both settings were of the same

nature aiming to demonstrate concepts rather than establishing these. Therefore, outcomes of these different settings are almost identical.

It should be noted that teachers sometimes do not realize that their students have not grasped the concept which was demonstrated in an experiment. The reason is that students are able to figure out rules from their teacher's behavior and, therefore, learn what they have to say and when (phenomenon-based concepts). As long as the teacher offers appropriate hints students will respond with the expected conceptual knowledge even if they neither understand the experiment nor the concept. Such behavior, in turn, often results in knowledge that appears to an observer incomplete, as a synthetic model, or a misconception.

We have emphasized so far that for conceptual development it is the experiences that enable and limit students' understanding at the same time. Instead of focusing on concepts, the focus on experiences would enable a teacher to understand better which experiences need to be differentiated further and where it is appropriate to introduce new experiences. However, only if one is well aware about the concepts which are supposed to be established (phenomenon-based and model-based) one can reflect upon students' existing and missing experiences with respect to these concepts. Such a reflection needs to be included in any design. We have further argued that the differentiation between phenomenon-based and modelbased concepts is useful as it offers a distinction between concepts that are more likely to be understood by students from those that require extensive effort in instruction (or are simply told so that students can say them but do not (fully) understand them). Therefore, the starting point for the design of instruction is some sort of list of the concepts that are supposed to be established with a special focus on phenomenon-based concepts. Furthermore, a thorough analysis of students' misconceptions and experiences they have already probably made can offer ideas on which experiences need to be created with experiments (or mental exploration).

In order to establish conceptual understanding, students need to have the opportunity to explore phenomena often so that they can develop an intuitive understanding of commonalities and differences before they are able to construct and understand phenomenon-based concepts explicitly. The typical learning trajectory presented above also shows that instruction should allow exploration at any further stage of students' conceptual development so that students can rediscover, re-assure, and revise their intuitive and explicit rules. In more detail, it is the series of coherent (mental) exploration of phenomena with respect to varying parameters that will support students to develop an intuitive and, later on, explicit phenomenon-based understanding. In that, students' prior experiences need to be differentiated further (see also Table 1). For instance, for the concept of buoyancy, students need to explore systematically the effects that (bulk) objects of different volume but the same material, of different masses each with the same volume, or of different shapes but made of the same material have on floating and sinking. Further, students need to be supported to investigate systematically what happens to the water level when objects of different volumes, masses, and material are inserted, and how the water pressure differs depending on the volume that is inserted. Here, new experiences are created which have not yet been in the focus of

students' activities. Finally, the mass of the object and the mass of the displaced water can be compared (for such an approach see Möller, Jonen, Hardy, & Stern, 2002). Even though students cannot discover the model-based concept of buoyancy, they will develop an intuitive understanding of which objects float and which will not (most adults have such an understanding developed through their experiences) and may also be able to create a phenomenon-based concept about floating and sinking referring to the interrelationship of the mass of the displaced water and the mass of the object. Focusing on (bulk) objects of the same size but different masses or objects of the same mass but different sizes as well as the behavior of these objects when being displaced in water can help that students develop at least an intuitive understanding of density in a sense that it is the relationship between mass and volume that matters. The concept of buoyancy is nothing students can discover directly from experiments but these prior experiences will help them to understand that buoyancy has not a fixed value but increases with the volume that is displaced into water sometimes leading to a balanced state between the object's gravitational force and the "water-force" (floating) or being lower than the gravitational force leading to sinking.

The instructional approach, very briefly outlined, does not focus (at the beginning of a new content) on scientific concepts explicitly. Instead, it improves, develops, and introduces experiences to students systematically as these are a prerequisite for students to ask for and be able to understand a model-based concept. Such an instruction does not focus (at an early stage) on "good" conceptual explanations but on "good" (systematic) discoveries. From our and other data we would conclude that expanded and differentiated phenomenon-based concepts are a realistic goal for lower secondary physics education. Aiming to improve students' scientific understanding rather than their understanding of what words are most convincing to the teacher, concrete (mental) activities instead of concepts should make up about 80% of classroom activities (including students' debates about what they observe, how their observation relates to other phenomena, completion of worksheets and so on) in secondary schools.

# SUMMARY

"Researchers in science education and cognitive science seem to agree that naïve physics exerts a great deal of influence on the way new information is understood and science concepts are acquired, but disagree on how to characterize the exact nature of naïve physics." (Vosniadou, 2002, p. 61). In this chapter, an attempt was made to classify students' knowledge with respect to its conceptual structure. Whenever students describe a phenomenon they have encountered or label a specific situation (maybe by using physics expressions) it was assumed that such kind of knowledge cannot be considered "automatically" as conceptual (even though students may be able to demonstrate an explicit conceptual understanding when being asked). Only knowledge which explicitly comprises (physics) principles, laws, rules, or theory should be considered conceptual. Furthermore, it was argued that explicit concepts can be based upon own (mental) experiences (phenomenon-based concepts) or are a result of theorizing (model-based concepts).

From our process data we have strong evidence that, indeed, conceptual change is a gradual and slow process, occurring in circular rather than in linear modes. Two different types of changes were described:

- (A) A development from a non-conceptual (explorative) approach to a conceptual approach requiring an intuitive understanding in-between. Within such a change, students develop from grappling (a high number of) similar situations or objects to an integrated perspective in which they can explicitly abstract from particular features of these situations or objects. This result concurs with results of research on differences between novices and experts. Whereas experts are able to solve problems on the basis of physics laws and theories novices tend to focus on surface characteristics without an understanding of the conceptual basis (e.g., Chi, Glaser, & Farr, 1988).
- (B) A development from phenomenon-based concepts to model-based concepts. Students (and researchers) seem to discover those concepts first that can be inferred directly from distinctions and classifications of their experiences (everyday, in school, in a laboratory). Such concepts have the status of generalizations and do not provide explanations of the phenomena they comprise. Concepts such as "objects fall down when not supported" can be grasped easily (in early childhood) whereas concepts such as "gravity is a force between two objects" require an abstraction from several (and varying) concrete (mental) experiences with different objects and their attraction. Thus, one model-based concept can comprise several phenomenon-based concepts. Or, conversely, students need to develop several phenomenon-based concepts before they are able to construct the associated model-based concept.

Obviously, such a description of conceptual change seems to disregard the contents of the concepts themselves. It should be stressed that no decision of the conceptual quality can be made without an explicit focus on the content of the knowledge which is presented by students. Other than with descriptions focusing on the content solely (A) and (B) aim to provide a generalized framework on concepts and conceptual change which can be applied to different topics. As such, the framework is phenomenon-based and not model-based!

When transferring our results to the design of instruction we have argued that the idea that students can be introduced to a new topic by asking them to discuss differences between their (mis-)conceptions and the scientific view does not match the learning trajectories we observe in our data. Students are not likely to understand any conceptual knowledge which is not based on a large number of familiar experiences. Instruction which uses systematically arranged phenomena in order to help students to establish at least an intuitive understanding of relevant rules before concepts are introduced is much more promising. We have also stressed that current instruction does not lack efforts to include inquiry-based approaches and/or hands-on experiments but it is the way that these experiments are used to demonstrate concepts rather than to help students to discover concepts are problematic for effective

learning. However, our approach to instruction presented can be criticized as it does claim to reduce the large number of model-based concepts for schooling. Certainly, seeing students mainly arriving at an intuitive rule-based understanding or an explicit understanding of phenomenon-based concepts may sound trivial and not enough for schooling (at secondary level). However, as Steinle points out, the scientific development of model-based concepts is a very complex and difficult process which required several decades in history. "Most prominently, Ampère himself considered, in all his later reasoning on microscopic circular currents, the concept of a current circuit as an unproblematic foundation. Similar observations hold, finally, for Faraday's 'magnetic curves,' though it took, in that case, several decades until the concept appeared acceptable [...]. Nowadays, however, we take it up in school. Since those notions now appear as somewhat natural, the very fact that they have been created out of hard labour easily slips out of view." (Steinle, 2002, p. 424).

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research reported in this chapter was supported by the German Research Foundation (AU 155/3–2 and AU 155/5–3).

# NOTES

- <sup>1</sup> Not as a surprise, it has to be noted, that this limitation only refers to the learning of science. For the learning about science, progress is usually assessed with categories that can be applied to different topics (for instance, Table 1 in Songer, Kelcey, & Gotwals, 2009, p. 614).
- <sup>2</sup> The reason why we are not stating that this is an *implicit* understanding (according to Rittle-Johnson & Alibali, 1999) is our idea of the meaning of the term "implicit". In our understanding "implicit" refers to something that is already "there" and is obvious to an observer. "Intuitive" in our understanding stresses a little more how the understanding is created rather than that it is already located somewhere. However, we are well aware that in some research projects "intuitive" is used for knowledge developed outside school contexts (e.g., Sherin, 2006), which does not match our meaning.
- <sup>3</sup> Here, no definite coding is possible as this activity can also refer to reporting an observation (I explorative). We have agreed to code the higher level whenever we cannot decide between two levels.

#### REFERENCES

- Chi, M. T. H. (2008). Three types of conceptual change: Belief revision, mental model transformation, and categorical shift. In S. Vosniadou (Ed.), *International Handbook of Research on Conceptual Change* (pp. 61–82). New York: Routledge.
- Chi, M. T. H. (1992). Conceptual change within and across ontological categories: Examples from learning and discovery science. In N. R. Giere (Ed.), *Cognitive models of science* (pp. 129–186). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Chi, M. T. H., Glaser, R., & Farr, M. J. (1988). The nature of expertise. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Clancey, W. J. (1993). Situated action: A neuropsychological interpretation response to Vera and Simon. Cognitive Science, 17(1), 87–116.
- diSessa, A. A. (1993). Toward an epistemology of physics. Cognition and Instruction, 10, 105-225.
- diSessa, A. A. (2002). Why "conceptual ecology" is a good idea. In M. Limón & L. Mason (Eds.), *Reconsidering conceptual change: Issues in theory and practice* (pp. 29–60). Dordrecht, Boston, London: Kluwer.

- diSessa, A. A., Elby, A., & Hammer, D. (2002). J's epistemological stance and strategies. In G. Sinatra & P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), *Intentional conceptual change*. Mawah (NJ): Lawrence Erlbaum.
- diSessa, A. A., Gillespie, N. M., & Esterly, J. B. (2004). Coherence versus fragmentation in the development of the concept of force. *Cognitive Science*, 28(6), 843–900.
- diSessa, A. A., & Sherin, B. L. (1998). What changes in conceptual change? International Journal of Science Education, 20(10), 1155–1191.
- Driver, R., Squires, A., Rushworth, P., & Wood-Robinson, V. (1994). *Making sense of secondary science*. London, New York: Routledge.
- Duit, R. (1999). Conceptual change approaches in science education. In W. Schnotz, S. Vosniadou & M. Carretero (Eds.), *New perspectives on conceptual change* (pp. 263–282). Oxford, UK: Pergamon.
- Duit, R. (2009). Bibliography STCSE: Students' and teachers' conceptions and science education. Online available at: http://www.ipn.uni-kiel.de/aktuell/stcse/stcse.html [12.01.2009].
- Duit, R., Gropengießer, H., & Kattmann, U. (2004). Towards science education research that is relevant for improving practice: The model of educational reconstruction. In H. E. Fischer (Ed.), *Developing* standards in research on science education. The ESERA summer school 2004. Leiden / London / New York / Philadelphia / Singapore: Taylor and Friends.
- Duit, R., & Treagust, D. F. (2003). Conceptual change: A powerful framework for improving science teaching and learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25(6), 671–688.
- Duncan, R. G., & Hmelo-Silver, C. E. (2009). Editorial Learning progressions: Aligning curriculum, instruction, and assessment. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(6), 606–609.
- Fischer, K. W. (2008). Dynamic cycles of cognitive and brain development: Measuring growth in mind, brain, and education. In A. W. Battro, K. W. Fischer & P. J. Léna (Eds.), *The educated brain* (pp. 127–150). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Erduran, S. (2003). Examining the mismatch between pupil and teacher knowledge in acid-base chemistry. School Science Review, 84, 81–87.
- Hake, R. R. (1999). Interactive-engagement vs traditional methods: A six-thousand-student survey of mechanics test data for introductory physics courses. *American Journal of Physics*, 66(1), 64–74.
- Hestenes, D., Wells, M., & Swackhamer, G. (1992). Force concept inventory. *The Physics Teacher*, 30(3), 141–166.
- Ioannides, C., & Vosniadou, S. (2002). The changing meanings of force. Cognitive Science Quarterly, 2(1), 5–62.
- Jacobs, J. K., Kawanaka, T., & Stigler, J. W. (1999). Integrating qualitative and quantitative approaches to the analysis of video data on classroom teaching. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 31, 717–724.
- Lawson, A. E. (2003). The nature and development of hypothetico-predictive argumentation with implications for science teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25(11), 1387–1408.
- Leach, J., & Scott, P. (2002). Designing and evaluation science teaching sequences: An approach drawing upon the concept of learning demand and a social constructivist perspective on learning. *Studies in Science Education*, 38, 115–142.
- Lederman, N., Lederman, J., & Wickman, P.-O. (2008). An international, systematic investigation of the relative effects of inquiry and direct instruction: A replication study. Paper presented at the annual conference of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching, Baltimore, MA.
- Limón, M., & Mason, S. (Eds.). (2002). Reconsidering conceptual change: Issues in theory and practice. Dordrecht, Boston, London: Kluwer.
- Liu, X., & Lesniak (2006). Progression in children's understanding of the matter concept from elementary to high school. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 43(3), 320–347.
- Liu, X., & McKeough, A. (2005). Developmental growth in students' concept of energy: Analysis from selected items from the TIMSS database. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45(5), 493–517
- Löfgren, L., & Helldén, G. (2009). A longitudinal study showing how students use a molecule concept when explaining everyday situations. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(12), 1631–1655.

- Möller, K., Jonen, A., Hardy, I., & Stern, E. (2002). Die Förderung von naturwissenschaftlichem Verständnis bei Grundschulkindern durch Strukturierung der Lernumgebung. [Promoting primary students' scientific understanding through structured learning environments.] Zeitschrift für Pädagogik, 45. Beiheft, 176–191.
- Neuweg, G. H. (2002). Lehrerhandeln und Lehrerbildung im Lichte des Konzepts des impliziten Wissens. [Teacher activity and teacher education in the light of the concept of implicit knowledge.] Zeitschrift für Pädagogik, 48(1), 10–29.
- Petri, J., & Niedderer, H. (1998). A learning pathway in high-school level quantum atomic physics. International *Journal of Science Education*, 20(9), 1075–1088.

Pöppel, E. (1994). Temporal mechanisms in perception. International Review of Neurobiology, 37, 185-202.

- Posner, G. J., Strike, K. A., Hewson, P. W., & Gertzog, W. A. (1982). Accommodation of a scientific conception: Toward a theory of conceptual change. *Science Education*, 66, 211–227.
- Riemeier, T., & Gropengießer, H. (2008). On the roots of difficulties in learning about cell division: Process-based analysis of students' conceptual development in teaching experiments. *International Journal of Science Education*, 30(7), 923–939.
- Rimmele, R. (2008). Videograph. Multimedia-Player zur Kodierung von Videos. Kiel: IPN.
- Rittle-Johnson, B., & Alibali, M. W. (1999). Conceptual and procedural knowledge of mathematics: Does one lead to the other? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(1), 175–189.
- Rogge, C. (2009). Students' development of conceptual knowledge within the topics thermal equilibrium and heat transfer. *Paper presented at the conference of ESERA*. Istanbul, September 2009.
- Rogge, C. (2010). Entwicklung physikalischer Konzepte in aufgabenbasierten Lernungebungen. [Development of physics concepts in task-based learning environments.] Berlin: Logos.
- Sherin, B. (2006). Common sense clarified: The role of intuitive knowledge in physics problem solving. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 43(6), 535–555.
- Shipstone, D. M., Rhöneck, C. v., Jung, W., Kärrqvist, C., Dupin, J.-J., Johsua, S., et al. (1988). A study of students' understanding of electricity in five European countries. *International Journal of Science Education*, 10(3), 303–316.
- Slotta, J. D., Chi, M. T. H., & Joram, E. (1995). Assessing students' misclassifications of physics concepts: An ontological basis for conceptual change. *Cognition and Instruction*, 13(3), 373–400.
- Steinle, F. (2002). Experiments in history and philosophy of science. Perspectives on Science, 10(4), 408–432.
- Strike, K. A., & Posner, G. J. (1992). A revisionist theory of conceptual change. In R. A. Duschl & R. J. Hamilton (Eds.), *Philosophy of science, cognitive psychology, and educational theory and practice* (pp. 147–176). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Tyson, L., Venville, G., Harrison, A., & Treagust, D. (1997). A multidimensional framework for interpreting conceptual change events in the classroom. *Science Education*, 81(4), 387–404.
- Tytler, R., & Peterson, S. (2003). Tracing young children's scientific reasoning. *Research in Science Education*, 33, 433–465.
- Tytler, R., & Peterson, S. (2005). A longitudinal study of children's developing knowledge and reasoning in science. *Research in Science Education*, 35(1), 63–98.
- Tytler, R., & Prain, V. (2009). A framework for re-thinking learning in science from recent cognitive science perspectives. *International Journal of Science Education*. Online first DOI: 10.1080/09500690903334849.
- von Aufschnaiter, C. (2003). Interactive processes between university students: Structures of interactions and related cognitive development. *Research in Science Education*, 33, 341–374.
- von Aufschnaiter, C. (2006). Process based investigations of conceptual development: An explorative study. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 4(4), 689–725.
- von Aufschnaiter, C., Erduran, S., Osborne, J., & Simon, S. (2008). Arguing to learn and learning to argue: Case studies of how students' argumentation relates to their scientific knowledge. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45(1), 101–131.
- von Aufschnaiter, C., & Rogge, C. (2010). Misconceptions or missing conceptions? EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 6(1), 3–18.

- von Aufschnaiter, C., Schoster, A., & von Aufschnaiter, S. (1999). The influence of students' individual experiences of physics learning environments on cognitive processes. In J. Leach & A. C. Paulsen (Eds.), *Practical work in science education - Recent research studies* (pp. 281–296). Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- von Aufschnaiter, C., & von Aufschnaiter, S. (2003). Theoretical framework and empirical evidence on students' cognitive processes in three dimensions of content, complexity, and time. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 40(7), 616–648.
- von Aufschnaiter, S., & von Aufschnaiter, C. (2003). Time structures of teaching and learning processes. Paper presented at the conference of ESERA, Utrecht, The Netherlands, August 2003. (CD-Rom)
- von Aufschnaiter, C., & von Aufschnaiter, S. (2007). University students' activities, thinking and learning during laboratory work. *European Journal of Physics*, 28, S51–S60.
- Vosniadou, S. (1994). Capturing and modelling the process of conceptual change. *Learning and Instruction*, 4(1), 45–69.
- Vosniadou, S. (2002). On the nature of naive physics. In M. Limón & S. Mason (Eds.), Reconsidering conceptual change: Issues in theory and practice. (pp. 61–76). Dordrecht, Boston, London: Kluwer.
- Vosniadou, S. (Ed.). (2008). International handbook of research on conceptual change. New York: Routledge.
- Vosniadou, S., & Brewer, W. F. (1992). Mental models of the earth: A study of conceptual change in childhood. *Cognitive Psychology*, 24(4), 535–585.
- Vosniadou, S., & Ioannides, C. (1998). From conceptual development to science education: A psychological point of view. *International Journal of Science Education*, 20(10), 1213–1230.
- Vosniadou, S., Ioannides, C., Dimitrakopoulou, A., & Papademetriou, E. (2001). Designing learning environments to promote conceptual change in science. *Learning and Instruction*, 11(4–5), 381–419.
- Vosniadou, S., Vamvakoussi, X., & Skopeliti, I. (2008). The framework theory approach to the problem of conceptual change. In S. Vosniadou (Ed.), *International handbook of research on conceptual change* (pp. 3–34). New York: Routledge.
- Wiesner, H. (1986). Schülervorstellungen und Lernschwierigkeiten in der Optik. [Students' conceptions and learning difficulties in Optics.] Naturwissenschaften im Unterricht – Physik/Chemie, 34(13), 25–29.

Claudia von Aufschnaiter

Institute of Physics Education Justus Liebig University Giessen GERMANY

# APPENDIX 1

# Brief coding schema on students' (conceptual) understanding

Main	Subcategories	Description	Example (heat
categories	Students		transfer)
explorative	act/	Students explore phenomena, e.g.	(student touches an
approach	experiment	carry out an experiment or measure	iron cube) "Touch
		a value. In addition, students can	this iron cube. It's
		simultaneously describe their	cold."
		activity. [Just watching, reading or	
		writing is not coded.]	
	describe with	Students observe objects, events	(student looks at the
	visual aid	or situations and describe them.	thermometer) "The
			temperature is
			increasing."
	describe	Students describe objects,	[student remembers:]
	without visual	activities or situations without	"The water got
	aid	observing them. Also: Students	colder."
		make a guess what will happen.	
intuitive	assume	Students make an assumption	"The cold water in
rule-based		about what will happen. Students	the petri dish will
approach		emphasize an aspect that is	certainly reach 22
		important from their point of	degree."
		view.	
	attribute	Students make use of specific	"This hot gel pack is
		linguistic elements (particularly	a heat source."
		Physics terms) to label and	
	ovulain	Students explain how different	"This gol pools didn't
	explain	students explain now different	This get pack that t
		situations relate to each other	it's wrapped in a
		situations relate to each other.	n s wiappeu ili a
evolicit	ganaraliza	Students express a generalization	"Objects adapt to the
rule-based	generalize	explicitly. They formulate a rule-	temperature of the
approach		based relationship	environment "
(concentual)	explain rule-	Students use generalizations or	"This rod is at room
(conceptual)	based	rule-based relationships in order	temperature because
		to explain a particular or general	objects adapt to the
		situation.	temperature of the
		-	environment."
	predict rule-	Students explicitly refer to	"The white sheet of
	based	generalizations or rule-based	paper won't get that
		connections when predicting the	warm because light
		progress of a particular or	and bright surfaces
		general situation (e.g., the result	reflect thermal
		of an experiment).	radiation."

*Note.* This schema is a shortened version of the German coding manual (Rogge, 2010). This manual and the schema are still under revision.

# **GUSTAV HELLDÉN**

# 5. STUDIES OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF STUDENTS' UNDERSTANDINGS OF ECOLOGICAL PHENOMENA

# BACKGROUND

Following an intensive debate on the advisability of building a refuse disposal unit in the town of Kristianstad, Sweden, local people started to discuss what would happen to the residue from refuse incineration. From the debate it was evident that there was limited knowledge of what actually happens to refuse in general. Many thought that the matter would disappear, except for a small residue of ash. There was, in many cases, no recognition of the existence of waste gas. Most people found it difficult to realize that all matter still existed after combustion. This became a challenge for us as teachers and teacher educators. Is not this a kind of knowledge that citizens should acquire at school?

Several studies have shown that students initially take for granted that things they cannot observe do not exist and construct their own explanations in order to understand and describe the phenomena (Driver et al., 1994). As a part of the growing process, organisms exchange gases with the environment. When biomass is decomposed, carbon dioxide and water are delivered to the environment as gases. Students at the secondary level have difficulties to give an accurate interpretation, at their own educational level and using their own words, of the process by which biomass builds up and breaks down or where matter comes from and where it goes. The water cycle is another process that contains transformations with gases involved. An appreciation of these processes is fundamental in order to understand important environmental issues (Helldén, 1995).

Some interesting details emerged in the explanations of these processes at different ages among the students. This pattern made the development of students' ideas still more interesting. The following question was formulated: From where do these ideas come and how do they develop? In order to create teaching situations during which students' ideas could be challenged, we need to know more about individual students' conceptual development. If you identify a student's conception at one point in time, it might be helpful to know more about the roots of such conceptions in order to improve teaching at an early age. It might also be interesting to know how the student could develop her/his understanding when she/he gets older. Short time studies cannot capture the whole picture. It is necessary to stretch the duration of a research project and study the same subjects over time. A longitudinal research design makes it possible to follow the

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 91–113. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

#### G. HELLDÉN

development of an individual student's understanding year by year. Such insights can then be used to develop teaching strategies in order more effectively support the development of students' understanding.

It was also realized that insights from such studies can be used in teacher education. Student teachers can identify children's explanations of scientific phenomena during their practice in schools. They came back with children's descriptions of scientific phenomena. With examples from research, it might be possible to provide the student teachers with insights into the roots of children's explanations and of how such explanations develop over time.

Despite these arguments for longitudinal studies, there are very few articles published on longitudinal studies of students' science learning (Arzi & White, 2005). This became a challenge to researchers to start such investigations.

In order to learn how to help students to develop deeper understandings and more scientifically accurate explanations of some ecological processes, a longitudinal study of students' conceptualization of such processes between 9 and 15 years of age was started. The ecological processes comprised (1) conditions for life, (2) decomposition and (c) the role of the flower in plant reproduction (Helldén, 2004; 2005).

Conditions for life and decomposition have to do with how biomass builds up and breaks down. Also the role of flowers was included as teachers and student teachers had found that students at different ages expressed interesting ideas about flowers with a rich variety of anthropomorphic formulations.

Interviews were used extensively throughout the study, beginning at age 9. During the analysis of the interviews, personal themes were identified that appeared year after year in the students' descriptions (Helldén, 2001). These themes seemed to result from personal experiences that were hidden from the researcher. The longitudinal design made it possible to interview the students again at 15 and 19 years of age about their earlier descriptions of the phenomena after they had listened to the earlier interviews with them.

The following three research goals guided the study:

- to describe students' ideas about conditions for growth and decomposition in nature, and about the role of the flower in plant reproduction
- to explore how students' ideas are influenced by experiences of everyday life
- to study students' ideas about their own learning

Ausubel's theory of meaningful learning was used as a framework for the analysis of the interview data and guided the description of the students' conceptual development. According to the theory of meaningful learning, new ideas are integrated into the learner's thinking through a process that Ausubel calls progressive differentiation. This process starts in childhood and continues throughout life. When new ideas are integrated into the learner's thinking, already existing conceptions can change and new meanings can be added to these conceptions. The theory explains the ways learners use current meanings to develop and construct new meanings (Ausubel et al., 1978).

#### A LONGITUDINAL INTERVIEW STUDY

As a result of a pilot study, and several projects undertaken by student teachers investigating students' conceptions, it was obvious that clinical interviews can give in-depth information on students' thinking about natural phenomena (Duit, Treagust, & Mansfield, 1996).

In order to learn more about the development of students' understanding of ecological processes that concern transformations of matter, an interview study was started focusing on the development of students' understanding of conditions for life, growth and decomposition, and the role of the flower in plant reproduction. The interviews were carried out at a small primary school, and later at a larger lower secondary school with more subject-oriented teaching. Over the course of the study, the same 24 students were interviewed concerning ecological processes from grade 2 (age 9), with a few students added in grade 4 to form a stable population of 29 students thereafter. The timing of the interviews was complex, but generally occurred in cycles of 1–2 years for each phenomenon. All the students belonged to the same class for all that time, an unusual feature that reflects the stability of the population in this area in Sweden. Usually, longitudinal studies suffer from attrition over time (Arzi & White, 2005).

Prior to the beginning of the interview with the students, the class of 8-year-old students was regularly visited during a six-month period. During these visits the researcher talked about what the children had experienced in nature, and listened to their stories about plants, insects and birds. The purpose of these preliminary visits was to become familiar with the students and to show them interest in their thoughts about phenomena in nature. During the interviews the researcher made it clear to them that he was interested in their thoughts per se, not whether the answer was right or wrong. To show the children that the researcher was primarily interested in their thinking, the first question of the interview started with the words: "What do you think...?

To challenge the students' ideas about the conditions needed for life, the students grew plants in sealed transparent plastic boxes sealed with a glass cover. The first question of the interview started with the question: "What do you think the plant needs to be able to grow in the box with the glass lid pasted on?" Another question was: "What do you think will happen to the plant in the box if we plant it there and glue the lid on?" For the interviews about decomposition, there were soil, brown leaves and litter on a table in front of the students. The opening question was in this case: "What do you think will happen to the leaves on the ground in the autumn?" Later during the interview about decomposition, the students were also asked: "What makes the leaves fall from the trees in the autumn?" When the students were 11, 13 and 15 years of age, the interview about the role of the flower started with the following question: "What is the importance for a plant to have a flower with colour?" During these interviews the students had a jar with common wild flowers on a table in front of them. The researcher did not teach the class but visited regularly. Since the main focus of the study was on broad developmental

#### G. HELLDÉN

patterns in understanding, there was no endeavour to seek specific links between the school programme and the ideas expressed in interviews.

Already, at an early stage of the research project, there were features in the students' descriptions that reappeared year after year. These features seemed to result from personal experiences that were hidden from the researcher but had become a part of the students' episodic memory. Such features could be of importance for the description and interpretation of the students' conceptual development. Why not ask the students themselves about such features? Therefore, the students were, as 15-year-olds, asked to make comments of what they said in the interviews at 11 years of age, after they had listened to audiotapes and as 19-year-olds what they said at 11 and 15 years of age (Helldén, 2001).

All interviews were tape-recorded and transcribed verbatim before the analysis started. Ausubel's theory of meaningful learning was of great help. In order to support the analysis of the interviews, concept maps were constructed from the transcribed interviews. The development of the students' understanding could be usefully described as a progressive differentiation through which new concepts are subsumed under concepts that already are integrated in the learner's thinking (Novak, 1998).

#### THE STUDENTS' IDEAS ABOUT CONDITIONS FOR LIFE

Initially the students expressed doubts as to whether the plants would survive in the sealed transparent boxes. Two students were quite upset when the interviewer told them that they should put plants in sealed boxes. One of them took a deep breath herself and said: "Then they don't get any air. The plant can't get any oxygen and it can't grow. You can't, the plants can't breath. And we can't water them." The children compared their own breathing with the plant's breathing and had developed a feeling for the plants' survival. The interviewee promised the children to take away the glass cover if the plants could not grow inside the sealed box.

Many students expected the plants to die in the sealed boxes. The students thought that the plants must take in matter of different kinds from the environment but did not describe the passing of matter from the organism to the environment as a part of a cycle. They had constructed an 'end station model' in their minds to explain how air, oxygen, water and other resources were consumed. A week later, the teacher told me that she had heard the students discussing the water film on the walls and the cover inside the plastic boxes. She had responded to the students' ideas about the mist inside the box and introduced the concept of the water cycle. Many students picked up the cycle and started to discuss the plants' survival from a new perspective. As a result of that intervention most of the students constructed their own ideas about the water cycle. Many students then used their 'cycle models' as prototypes to explain how organisms could survive in the sealed boxes and maintain life-supporting resources such as air, oxygen, carbon dioxide, water and nourishment. That does not mean that their explanations were scientifically correct.

An analysis of the development of 25 students' ideas about conditions for life and growth from age 10 to 15 can be grouped into the following three categories depending on their description how the plants got oxygen, carbon dioxide or air: a. Alternative ideas about the role of oxygen and air; b. Towards a limited understanding of the role of oxygen and carbon dioxide; c. Towards a more complete understanding of the cycles in the box.

#### A. Alternative Ideas About the Role of Air and Oxygen.

Students in this category did not talk about the role of carbon dioxide as an important resource for the plants but argued that the presence of oxygen or air were an important prerequisite for life in the sealed boxes together with soil and water.

In order to be able to explain from where the plants got oxygen and air, four students said that all the resources that the plants needed came from the soil. They argued that oxygen and air also came from the soil. Two students mentioned it a couple of times during the interviews, while Stina and Emil mentioned that oxygen came from soil in every interview from 10 to 15 years of age. The idea appears to be strongly consolidated in their thinking. Already at age 10, Emil said that the plants got oxygen from the soil and at age 11 that the plants could grow better in soil than on wet filter paper because they got oxygen from the soil. At age 15 he said: 'Doesn't the soil take up the air and then the soil gives it to the plant and the grass?' This statement indicates that he meant that the plant absorbed the air through its roots.

Ten students also argued that the plant could survive in the box because they required so little oxygen that it never would be used up or that air or oxygen could be available through the water cycle. Hanna stated, at 10 years of age, that the plant could get air or oxygen through the water cycle: 'We planted those before when there was air and then we poured water on them and then when the steam made some air, so they could breathe and grow.' At 13 years of age she mentioned that the plants in the box needed oxygen available from the beginning of the cultivation. Hanna stated that the plant needed light in order to become green, which she claimed was a sign of health. She also made the teleological statement that soil was necessary because otherwise, the plants did not have a place where their roots could grow. Two years later Hanna spontaneously mentioned the need for light, water and oxygen. For her the concept of water got a more diverse meaning: - for the plant to grow in the box - for the absorption of nourishment - for the 'production of oxygen'. She described the role of the water in a way that made evaporation a prerequisite for water to be obtained by the plants.

Even if the students' descriptions, in most cases, became more developed through the years, it is possible to recognize personal features or core ideas in the students' conceptions such as in the following segments from interviews with Eric. After the teacher's introduction of a cycle model, Eric used a 'cycle model' to explain why the plants could survive in the sealed box. His 'up and

#### G. HELLDÉN

down' description was replaced by a description in fewer words at 13 and 15 years of age, but he did not differentiate between air and water until he was 15 years-old.

Eric at age 10: 'It is sort of a vacuum in there. The air evaporates but then it goes down again. And there will be air again. Up and down, up and down. The air rises, evaporates and becomes water. Then it falls down again and there is water there on the ground. Then the air comes up again.'

Eric at age 11: 'The air disappears down into the soil and there is more nourishment. Then it goes up again. Then it goes up and down, up and down'

Eric at age 13: 'It is shut up sort of... The air in there has become ... It is warm so there was steam of it.'

Eric at age 15: 'It circulates all the time. Before you put the lid on, you water before. Then it evaporates and settles on the lid.'

Already by age 10 Eric used the cycle idea and continued to do so in every interview to explain how the plants could survive in the sealed box. But he integrated 'an air cycle' with the water cycle only at 10 and 11 years of age. Eric said, at age 11 years, that the air got nourishment from the soil. Like several other students in the class he looked upon the soil as a container of different life supporting resources. Six students in this category of ideas argued at 15 years of age that the plants in the sealed box got oxygen through their own production.

# B. Towards a Limited Understanding of the Role of Oxygen and Carbon Dioxide

The four students that belong to this category had a vague idea of the role of oxygen and carbon dioxide in the sealed box. They could not, even at 15 years of age, explain from where the carbon dioxide came. Already, at 10 years of age, Betty talked about the need for carbon dioxide. She also said that plants could transform carbon dioxide to oxygen at age 12 and added that oxygen could be transformed to water. When Betty was asked where the water inside the lid came from, she said: *Well, it's made of oxygen moving towards the glass lid. Well, there will be water condensation because oxygen is transformed.* At 15 years of age, Betty declared that the plants got what they needed as result of cycles in the box. Barbara did not talk about cycles but argued through the years that the plants got what they needed because so little was used up. At 15 years of age she included carbon dioxide. Louise talked on the other hand about cycles but mentioned the role of carbon dioxide only at age 13.

At the age of 15, Sofia said that the green plants transformed carbon dioxide to oxygen but she could not explain where the carbon dioxide might come from: '*They give off oxygen. And then perhaps it is transformed to carbon dioxide again. It goes round.*' Before age 15, she did not say anything about that process but described at 12 and 13 years of age how the plant got its oxygen from the soil and through the water cycle. When Sofia explained why the plants could survive in the box, she always described in an illustrative way how the water cycle could provide

resources for many plants' needs. Her ideas always included mention of dew as a part of the cycle.

Sofia at age 10 ("I" refers to the interviewer)

- S: 'The water rises up through the stem.'
- I: 'And where does it go then?'
- S: 'It becomes dew.'
- I: 'Well, what happens with it then?'
- S: 'It rises up and rains down.'

Sofia at age 11: 'Well, first you poured in water. Then in the morning, there sort of will be dew on the leaves and the, when it is a little warmer in the box, it rises up towards the floor. And then it is raining down when there is too much.'

Sofia at age 12: 'Well, first there will be dew on the leaves. Then it rises up here and then it falls down on something down there.'

Sofia at age 15: 'You had watered the soil before you planted them and had sealed the box. The plants absorb the water. Then there is dew on the plants that evaporates. It rises. Therefore, it is condensation there. And then it runs down back into the soil.'

# C. Towards a More Complete Understanding of the Cycles in the Box.

The seven students in this category could, at 15 years of age, explain where carbon dioxide came from but their conceptual development towards that idea over the years appeared to be different. Sven, Morgan and Thomas developed their understanding step by step from 10 to 15 years of age. Already by the age of 10 and 11, they talked about the need for carbon dioxide and where it came from. Thomas, for example, suggested at 11 that the carbon dioxide came from the worms in the soil. All the students in this category argued that oxygen was transformed to carbon dioxide. They did not talk about a chemical reaction in which oxygen and carbon dioxide were involved. Morgan said: 'The plants use carbon dioxide and then transform it to oxygen. But then when they die and rot, there is combustion when creepy crawlies and sort of eat them. Then all the oxygen is used up and transformed to carbon dioxide. And it goes like a cycle.' The students used an everyday expression that carbon dioxide is transformed to oxygen which is scientifically incorrect and can be characterized as a transmutation (Andersson, 1991). The other four students in this category did not talk about carbon dioxide at all before the age of 15. Lisa said that there were enough resources in the box because the plants used very little: 'Have you had them at a window? Well, then they got light. They have air that is in there, 'cos it remains there. Then they have a little water and nourishment. A little disappears piece by piece.'

#### G. HELLDÉN



Figure 1. Concept map drawn from Oscar about conditions for life at 10 years of age.

Already at the very first interview with Oscar about conditions for life, he argued that the plants needed creepy crawlies in the soil. He expressed the same argument in the interviews at 11, 13 and 15 years of age (see figures 1–2). In fact this idea helped him to understand how the plants in the sealed box could get carbon dioxide, because Oscar found it difficult to explain from where the plants got the carbon dioxide. He had assimilated that concept to human expiration, probably as a result of teaching. But this could not be the full explanation in this case, as the plants were growing in a sealed box. Later in the interview, he offered the suggestion that carbon dioxide could come from the breathing of small animals in the soil. *'Perhaps somewhere from the soil. There are small animals that perhaps breathe so there will be carbon dioxide.'* An integrative reconciliation had occurred (see figure 2).

Tove, like the other six students in this category, preferred to use cycle explanations when she was asked about plants' possibilities to survive in the boxes as we can see in the following interview segments.

Tove at age 10: 'Water vapour comes from the moisture in the soil. The soil is wet and then it circulates.'

Tove at age 11: 'They need light. Then they don't need more than the moisture that is in there. If it is sealed there will be a cycle and it goes round.'

Tove at age 13: 'Well, we breathe out carbon dioxide. We breathe in oxygen and the plant breathes out oxygen to us. I don't understand but there must be a little cycle in there.'

Tove at age 15: 'The water evaporates and then falls down. It is somehow a cycle. It is like the earth but in miniature.'

#### STUDIES OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF STUDENTS'



Figure 2. Concept map drawn from Oscar about conditions for life at 15 years of age.

# THE STUDENTS' IDEAS ABOUT DECOMPOSITION

All the interviews about decomposition started with the question: "What do you think will happen to the leaves on the ground in the autumn?" Twenty-three students were interviewed about decomposition at age 9. Only one of them mentioned that an organism was involved in the decomposition. An analysis of the interviews at 11, 13 and 15 years of age showed that the 29 students' ideas about decomposition could be grouped into the following three categories: 1) Ideas that do not contain a description of organism eating the leaves expressed during all three interviews; 2) Ideas about no organism eating at the age of 11 and with organisms involved in ideas at the age of 13 and 15; 3) Ideas about organisms being involved in the process that were expressed in all three interviews.

# No Organisms Eating the Leaf

Six students described a process with no organisms involved in all the interviews. Instead, the students mentioned physical factors and age as causing the decomposition of the leaves. Stina described different ways of fragmentation at 11, 13 and 15 years of age. At 11 she described how the leaves were trampled into

#### G. HELLDÉN

pieces, at 13 how creepy crawlies could bite them in pieces and at 15 how leaves withered into pieces. In other cases it is possible to identify a personal theme in the students' descriptions through the years. Emil described how the leaves crumbled into pieces and went into the soil during all the three interviews about the leaves on the ground. His idea seems to be very stable and resistant to change.

One boy that only participated in the interviews as a 9-year-old had an interesting answer to the interview question about the leaves on the ground. He explained that the leaves on the ground would become soil. After some seconds he added: *"Well the more there will be the bigger the planet will be."* He then described the consequence of his own statement that the leaves would be soil. He thought that the biomass was conserved as soil and not as a part of a cycle. The repeated defoliation year after year would result in more soil being formed. He could not see the gaseous state of decomposition where carbon dioxide and water leave the ground. The student explained what he could observe and thought that soil was the end point for the decomposition, and drew the conclusion that the planet Earth would grow bigger.

Anders also described the decomposition of the leaves on the ground as fragmentation without mentioning anything about organisms involved in the process. At 9 years of age he said: 'Quite a lot of soil comes from leaves. Eggshells ... Soil comes also from coffee grounds and sort of thing, rots and becomes soil.' Anders always referred in some way to composting and described this process in a rather detailed way. Here are several segments of the interviews with Anders at 11, 13 and 15 years of age. There seem to be a powerful experience of composting that has influenced Anders' thinking about decomposition. But this experience does not help him to develop a deeper understanding of the decomposition process.

Anders at age 11:' Well, they have dried. Then they haven't had enough water and then ... You put many other things there. You can also put eggshells and so on the compost heap. And they stay there and rot in some way. It takes a long time it takes just about four years to get real and very nice soil. I think there's water and then it rots and then it becomes soil 'cos there is soil underneath that's been there for a long time. And I think it is mixed with that so there will be even more.'

Anders at age 13: 'Soil's made of mainly sticks and gravel and that sort of thing. Something else that can dry and become soil can be eggshells and the sort of things you put on the compost. That becomes soil.'

Anders at age 15: 'It is like composting. You have some soil on the bottom and then it stays there becoming smaller and smaller bits. It's the same with the leaves, that they are mixed up and then there'll be more and more of it. I don't think that there'll be soil but I think there will be small, small bits that is mixed up with the soil, then you say that it has become soil.'

# Towards a Process with Organisms Involved

As they approached ages 13 and 15, the nine students in this category began to explain how the leaves become soil after being eaten by organisms. At 11 years of age Linda and Ruth described how the leaves rot and become soil by sinking down

into the soil. As 13 and 15-year-olds both described how the worm excrements became soil. They also described how the leaves could be soil by crumbling, without any influence from worms. Ralf and Gunnar described in the first interview how the leaves became soil by being torn to rags. At the age of 13 and 15 both of them adopted the idea that animals like worms and snails decomposed the leaves to soil.

While Gunnar and Ralf represent students that as 13- and 15-year-olds have broken with their earlier ideas, Hanna represents a completely different development. Instead of breaking with her earlier ideas she modified them and added new characteristics to the old ideas. At 9 years of age she said: 'Some of them sink down into the mud when it's raining. They dry out in some way and shrivel up. Then when they are completely dry, it is enough for it to rain just once more for them to become just small bit.' If we compare this answer with the following interview segments, we can identify a theme through the years that concerns raining and drying. At 13 and 15 years of age Hanna included organism activity in her descriptions about decomposition of the leaves but still we can recognize the core idea from earlier years.

Hanna at age 11: 'I think they mould away. The will dry out ... then an animal is coming, trampling them and they become broken. It will become small, small pieces and then the real soil is pressing them down and they will be a lump and then it is raining and the sun is shining and it becomes soil.'

Hanna at age 13: 'They dry out and perhaps it rains so that they become soft. Then they dry out again. Then in the end they become and animals start eating them. Then you get soil of it.'

Hanna at age 15: 'It must be when it dries up. Then when it rains, it is mixed up with some mud. Then it dries and becomes soil. Or also some animals come and eat it. Their excrements will become soil'

Four students described, as 11-year-olds, how animals participated in the processes by making holes, eating the leaves or pulling them down into the soil. It was however not clear that the biomass passed through the animals. As 13-year-olds they declared that the leaves became soil by animals eating the leaves and producing excrements.

# Organisms Involved in the Decomposition

In this category, we find students' conceptions of organisms using the leaves as food described in all the three interviews. There was a tendency at the age of 11 and 13 for the students to start their descriptions by saying that the leaves rotted before they went on to describe the process. As 15-year-olds, the students were more willing to talk directly about the animals' activity.

Several students could describe an alternative to decomposition by organisms when they were asked. Mary mentioned every time that the leaves also could rot to soil by being dissolved. She belonged to a group of students that described nearly the same process on the different occasions. Their ideas could be built up round a special factor that caused the decomposition such as insects, water and aging. Such

#### G. HELLDÉN

a factor seemed to be so strongly established that it controlled the students' explanations.

Four students at 15 years of age developed their ideas towards the conception of microorganisms causing the decomposition. Let us look at Oscar's development towards a more complete understanding. As a nine-year-old he said that the soil ate the leaves. At 11 he described how the leaves were fragmented by the animals to small pieces, which disappeared down into soil. He seemed to consider that matter of the leaves was conserved as soil: "Small animals bite and eat the small pieces of *it. Then it just disappears. Then the animals do a number two and it becomes soil.*" At 13 years of age he also described the alternative that the leaf can be soil by lying and rot. At age 15 he understood that microorganisms took an active part in decomposition: *Well they are lying there and sort of small animals come, microscopic creepy crawlies. And it will become soil 'cos it is organic material here.*.' Later in the interview he explained how the organisms ate the leaves and how the leaves became soil.

In contrast to Oscar, Morgan had the same idea at 11 and 13 years of age that decomposition could take place if the leaf was just lying on the ground. At 11 he completed the basic idea with new knowledge about microscopic activity and with an anthropomorphic view of the process: 'Some of them can just lie and lie. They will be broken down by the nature, 'cos it is the nature itself that built it up. It is bacteria that have broken it down.' At 15 he explained it by Protozoa, bacteria and worms eating it.

At age 15, Sven and Thomas described the process as a result of an activity of soil invertebrates, fungi and bacteria. Sven said that both a rich soil and a gas were the result of decomposition. He was the only one that described a gas concept when he explained the result of decomposition. At ages 11 and 13 Sven said that the leaves turned to soil by worms eating them or by moisture and rotting. The other students did not present the idea that matter is conserved in the context involving chemical change from solid (soil) to gaseous state (water and carbon dioxide). This was also found during a cross-cultural study about students' interpretation of the phenomenon of decay (Leach, Konicek & Shapiro, 1992).

### THE STUDENTS' IDEAS ABOUT DEFOLIATION

The students often talked about different reasons for defoliation when they explained what happened to the leaves on the ground. Explanations of defoliation as a result of physical causation were more common during the earlier interviews. Many students mentioned the wind at the age of 11 and 13 but only two at age 15, when ideas about physical causation were replaced by ideas about lack of resources coming from inside, with nourishment as the most common resource mentioned. All the ten students that mentioned lack of resources at 11 had the same idea at 15 years of age while only seven of the nineteen that explained defoliation as a result of physical factors at 11 years of age had the same opinion at age 15.

There was a tendency during the earlier interviews to describe the leaves as individuals. This could possibly be the reason why many students used human
characteristics to describe the defoliation. Several students changed from "leafcentered" ideas at 11 and 13 to more 'tree-centered' ideas at 15 years of age. Morgan, Sofia and Sven presented explanations at the age of 15 that a biologist would accept. They also expressed 'tree-centered ideas' at age 11 and used anthropomorphic ideas as they developed their understanding. It seemed to be helpful for many students to use anthropomorphic reasoning in order to be able to describe the cause of defoliation. Seven students did not use such reasoning at any time during the interviews. Let us examine some segments from interviews with Oscar which can illustrate changes over time from 'leaf-centered' to 'tree-centered ideas. There is also a change from physical efforts to physiological needs that the students mentioned spontaneously.

Oscar at age 9: 'It doesn't get any water. Or it has no muscles left to be able to stay on the branch'

Oscar at age 11: 'They don't have the strength remain sitting there. They must jump off.'

Oscar at age 13: 'They fall at autumn and they want much sun. Well, perhaps the tree has not the strength to carry them any longer. It has enough to do getting nourishment themselves, and it drops the leaves.'

Oscar at age 15: 'Well, it is ..... during winter the tree cannot give nourishment to the leaves and itself, so it drops the leaves. It closes the supply of nourishment to the tree, doesn't it? Then they die and drop.'

Shortage of nourishment was mentioned as a cause of the defoliation by eight students at all the three interviews. Otherwise very different features in the interviews survived from the first interview to the other two. Very often there seemed to be a core idea in the first interview that can be recognized in the following interviews. It could be explanations about shortage of water, cold weather, blowing, aging or strength to hold on.

# THE STUDENTS' IDEAS ABOUT THE ROLE OF THE FLOWER

27 students' were interviewed about the role of colour on flowers at 11, 13 and 15 years of age. The students' ideas can be described in terms of the following four categories: A. Anthropomorphic and human centred ideas; B. Ideas about plants getting protection and resources; C. Towards different ways of mixing pollination and seed dispersal; D. Towards a more or less complete description of pollination.

# A. Anthropomorphic and Human Centred Ideas

Three students continued to use anthropomorphic and human-centred ideas during all the interviews compared with six students at the age of 11. Even at the age of 15, Ruth and Stina said that the purpose of the flowers' colours was to make them more discernible and beautiful. Anders had a more detailed description of his ideas which appears in the following segments from the interviews with him at 11, 13 and 15 years of age as an answer to the question why flowers are coloured:

#### G. HELLDÉN

Anders at age 11: 'I think the flowers have ... cos they have colours to make you think they are nice and want to have them indoors. It gives you something to embroider the table with when you have guests. Then the food on the table and then you embroider the table with some brightly coloured flowers.'

Anders at age 13: 'I think there is a thought behind it just like we as human beings, that I want to look nice and that I don't want ... So if you know to put on something, just as human beings put on things. We comb our hair and so on. So I think they have nice colours so that people and others think they are nice. Just like we want other people to think that we..., that I look nice. That's what I think.'

Anders at age 15: 'Well, actually I've wondered about that too, but I think it's like a human being, they need all this growing around them and the leaves. Life's a bit nicer and not so boring. It is like human beings. We live in our houses. We plant plants and have other things 'cos it makes it nicer. I think that ... what plays a big part for them to have a flower is that the leaves are not alone. The flower is company for them which makes it nicer for them to grow up. Perhaps it makes them stay on longer 'they're having a nice time.'

## B. Ideas about Plants Getting Protection and Resources

Ellen is one of the three students that are represented in this category. She launched the idea that the flower makes it possible for the plant to get nourishment from the wasp. But by age 13 she also had thoughts that the wasp could do something more. As a 15-year-old she did not say anything about insects.

## C. Different Ways of Mixing up the Description of Pollination and Seed Dispersal

All the 12 students represented in this category described, at 15 years of age, how pollen or seeds were transported by insects and dropped down to the ground where a new plant would then grow. Only one of the students in this category talked, at 10 years of age, about insects having something to do with the colour of the flower. Six students expressed, as 11-year-olds, the idea that insects were attracted to flowers and could disperse pollen or seeds. One student said: *'There is something that fastens on them. Then they fly and drop a little of it and then it'll grow.'* Another student said at 13 years of age: *'Such insects come. And perhaps it is so ... , then it perhaps disperses such pollen. It disperses it so new will come.'* These quotations are typical for this category of ideas. The two processes, pollination and seed dispersal, appear to have similar features, that cause confusion for the students. Both the pollen and the seeds develop in a flower. The two concepts are also both involved in plant reproduction.

# D. Towards a More or Less Complete Description of Pollination at the Age of 15

Already by the age of 10, six of the eleven students in this category expressed a description of how insects were attracted to flowers because of the colours and how

the insects transported pollen from one flower to another. Four students described, at 11 and 13 years of age, how the plants attracted insects but mixed the two processes, pollination and dispersal of seeds. At 11 years of age, Oscar described human-centred and anthropomorphic ideas: 'In order to attract animals that can then suck nectar from inside there so that they can reproduce. Or perhaps they can boast to the other flowers and make themselves beautiful and so on in the same way as women powder themselves and so on. If you have them in a garden, perhaps you water them very much more cos they are so pretty.' Some anthropomorphic features can also be identified in the interviews with him as a 13year-old. There were no such features in his description at 15 years of age: 'It's in order to attract the wasps. And then they suck the nectar or something and so the stuff gets stuck, pollinin..... No, I don't know what it is called. Perhaps that is what it is called and then they take it with them and so it goes on to the next flower. The flower can't be fertilized from the same stamen there down in the seed, it must sort of change flowers. These stick to the wasp and are carried on and go down into the seed. And a new embryo is formed in there that falls out or when it withers, it stays there.'

## THE STUDENTS' VIEWS OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF THEIR UNDERSTANDING

# About their Ideas

When the students as 15- and 19-year olds had listened to audiotapes of their earlier interviews which laid out for them the history of their thinking, they were asked to make comments on what they said in the interviews and why they said as they did especially concerning the personal themes. The students could in many cases identify personal contexts that continued to persist as themes in their thinking through the years. Nearly all the students appreciated what they had learnt at school about the ecological processes but still they referred to personal out-of-school experiences. They said that such experiences had been of great importance for the development of their understanding. It was possible to identify particular episodes in many of these students' early lives that had an ongoing influence on their explanations of ecological phenomena (Helldén & Solomon, 2004). Here follow some examples of the comments the students expressed after they had listened to the interviews with them.

When Sofia, as a 19-year-old, had listened to her earlier interviews and heard how she referred to the concept of dew in her explanations of conditions for life in the sealed transparent boxes, she claimed: 'It's from childhood. The dew has always fascinated me. It is unbelievable beautiful. There is nothing more beautiful than cobwebs with dew'. She then described wonderful experiences of dew when she spent a couple of weeks every summer at a relative's summerhouse.

At age 19, Anders could trace back his explanations of decomposition to episodes in childhood. When Anders heard his descriptions on the tape recorder, he smiled and said: 'We had a neighbour who carried out composting in a special

## G. HELLDÉN

way. I liked to be there together with him. The man even put eggshells and coffee grounds on the compost. I remember the first time I was there. And he asked me to empty a bucket with coffee grounds and some eggshells on the compost heap. I was confused. I think I was 7 years old.' The students often related their way of describing the ecological processes to concrete personal experiences that occurred between the ages of 5 and 10. A majority of the students claimed that early experiences have been of great importance for the development of their understanding.

Some students who had used anthropomorphic formulations at any earlier age found this to be a bit strange. Others expressed an appreciation of the way they explained the phenomena. When, aged 19, Anders had listened to the interviews with him at 11 and 15 years of age, he still preferred to describe the role of the flower in an anthropomorphic way when I asked him to make a comment on the earlier interviews with him: 'I think I have the same idea to day. A plant has a soul like us. The plant wants to have the feeling to look nice.'

Oscar clearly expressed anthropomorphic and human-centred ideas to explain the role of the flower and the defoliation in his first interviews. There is continuity in Oscar's accounts from anthropomorphic ideas towards more 'scientific' explanations at 15 years of age. At 19 years of age, after he had listened to earlier interviews with him, he claimed that the anthropomorphic features in his descriptions about defoliation and the role of the flower could be a result of his mother's way of explaining the phenomena to him. She often used anthropomorphic descriptions when explaining different phenomena. He said that he of course knew as a boy that the leaves did not have muscles. It was a way of explaining why the leaves fall down from the trees in autumn, and this resulted in anthropomorphic formulations which are possible to follow as a consistent theme year after year. Oscar used the anthropomorphic ideas as analogies rather than as explanations.

# About their Learning

The students were also asked how they thought they had developed their understanding and what had been of greatest importance for this development. At 19 years of age, 12 of the 28 students only recognized a minor change in their understanding of ecological processes between 11 and 15 years of age after they had listened to the interviews with them. They did not correct the answers they gave four years earlier, rather they extended their explanations. Some of them were more aware of the way they talked about things than their understanding of the processes. Even if they did not recognize any change they often expressed positive feelings about learning like Hanna in the following sentence: 'Cos when you were a child you didn't understand that much but learnt still more. You didn't understand anything and were happy to learn.'

Eleven students in the group expressed recognition of an obvious change in their understandings of the phenomena. Six students in this group had more of a descriptive than a reflective view of learning. They talked more about the addition of new facts than analyzing their thinking. Anders belongs to this group of students. He was fascinated by the recognition of how he described some details about decomposition in the same way as four years earlier: 'I said the same today. It is still several years later. You don't remember what you said and although it is somewhere in the back of your head.' Although he found himself use the same expressions as four years earlier, he described a change in his thinking about the decomposition of leaves on the ground.

Five students were able to analyze and reflect on their earlier ideas. These students also articulated, as 15-year-olds, a more complete description of the ecological processes. They willingly discussed the reasons why they said as they did in earlier interviews and how they formulated their explanations. More or less, these students made comments on their earlier use of analogies between a plant's need and a human being's needs. Sofia made the following comment on her explanation as an 11-year-old: 'You can often compare them even if the seed hasn't any human thoughts. You can see yourself how you develop. The seed grows too. It's like ... the seed grows and I grow.'

The students in this group emphasized more than the other students the importance of building upon earlier experiences and knowledge. They described an active and constructivist view of the learning process. For them, learning could start with reading a book, listening to others and catching some words. A couple of them described how they caught ideas piece by piece and then put them together.

When the reflective students were asked to say something about the development of their ideas, they easily described thoughts about their personal development with both cognitive and emotional elements as in the following interview segment with Hanna at age 19. Learning has not only to do with thinking. Feeling also plays an important role in conceptual development. Hanna made the following comment when I asked her about the importance of learning in childhood: 'Of course, when you are a child, you are ready to make mistakes. You don't need any knowledge as reason for what you think and claim. The older you are the more weight you want to give in your arguments. All the time, the level of knowledge at is escalated and directs our thinking. When you are a child you dare to speculate. You also have fantasies today ... but don't express the out loudly because you can be accused of being ignorant and careless. Children should be researchers because they are willing to come up with new ideas.'

#### DISCUSSION

This long-term study describes the ways students developed their understanding of some ecological processes through the years. The interviews with the students showed that the development of the students' understanding depends on prior ideas and concepts. Therefore, the concept development is somewhat idiosyncratic in nature. There are, however, some features that are common to several students' explanations.

G. HELLDÉN

# About the Ecological Processes

In order to explain what was going on with the plants in the sealed boxes, most students initially presented a 'use-up-model' which meant that the plant was the 'end-point' for the different resources present. This idea was strongly established and retained in some cases up to 15 years of age. It worked well as a way for the students to explain their observations, and was supported by everyday experiences. They had experienced how we water plants without being able to see how water leaves the plants. Some students thought that the plants would eventually die in the closed box environment, because of lack of water, air or oxygen.

When the 'water cycle' was introduced or brought up again, many students used the 'cycle model' to explain the movement of different resources. The 'cycle model' made the processes in the closed box meaningful to the students throughout the years up to the age of 15. They used the idea though the explanations they provided sometimes were incorrect.

An important change of the understanding of the decomposition process occurred when organism activity was assimilated to the students' thinking but for many students, soil was still an 'end-point' for decomposition. When the students assimilated the idea that activity of microorganisms was a part of the decomposition, the process assumed a completely new meaning. It was possible to understand that soil is not the end point of decomposition, but that water, carbon dioxide and minerals are the major end products of the decomposition process.

# Reflecting on their Own Learning

When the students, as 15- and 19-year-olds, listened to earlier interviews with themselves, they showed a great interest in their earlier statements, a great ability to interpret what they said – why they said what they said, and to identify key life experiences that shaped their understandings. Most of the students were rather critical of what they said in the interviews and sometimes expressed astonishment over the poor development of their understanding. However, five of the 28 students demonstrated a more reflective, meta-cognitive view on the nature and development of their learning. When they heard what they said in the earlier interviews, they realised that, at that time, they had not possessed all of the language needed for a complete understanding. The students in this group often described their conceptual development as putting together something they had heard, read in a book, or experienced in another way. These reflective students felt that they owned their learning and viewed learning as a process involving active construction on the part of the learner. Johanna, Sven and Oscar belong to this group of students with a more reflective view about learning.

Johanna argued that she used words without knowing what they really meant. She described the development of her understanding in the following way: *'Initially, there are small pieces of puzzle that you put together. And you get a general picture that becomes more and more complete.''* Sven characterised himself as an observer and listener when he was younger: "I collected and absorbed facts uncritically. And that means that understanding came later.'

At 19 years of age, Oscar claimed that the anthropomorphic features in his earlier descriptions of defoliation and the role of the flower could be attributed to the influence of adults' attempts to explain the phenomena to them. Some of the reflective students said, like Oscar, that they knew as children that plants did not have feelings or that leaves have muscles. The anthropomorphic features were a way of explaining why plants had colourful flowers and why the leaves fell down from the trees in autumn. These comments are in accordance with what Zohar and Ginossar (1998) argue, that anthropomorphic formulations enhance students' empathy toward scientific topics and help students to organise information along familiar lines. They seem to be just formulations, rather than beliefs; language resources students draw on to make sense of the phenomena. The 'reflective' students also showed a greater ability to use language as a tool to support their efforts to understand the phenomena and express their thoughts.

Other students demonstrated a limited ability to reflect on their learning. They recognized that their learning was influenced by their prior experiences but they described the change in their explanations through the years as a process of addition of information. Some students said that they knew more, simply as a result of being older. Others described a learning process by which new facts were fastened to their minds, but not in any way that it changed their thinking. Even if they recognized a change in explanations they gave at age 11 and 15, some students seemed to be unable to trace the change in their understanding to any identifiable experiences. They did not know why their understanding had changed, and they often gave the same explanation to the phenomena as they did four years earlier.

Through the long-term study of students' conceptualizations it was possible to identify personal contexts and continuity as recurrent themes in the students' explanations of the different phenomena. Even if the explanations changed through the years towards more or less complete explanations, it is possible in several cases to identify core ideas that can be followed by an analysis of the interviews with the same child from 9/10 to 15 years of age. These core ideas can be of structural nature, a way of explaining a phenomenon such as Tove's use of a cycle model to explain how the plants could get necessary resources or Oscar's use of anthropomorphic formulations to explain defoliation and the role of the flower. It has also been possible to identify individual themes that concern the content of the students' statements. Sofia always used the concept of dew as a part of her explanations. Anders talked, year after year, about eggshells when he explained composting. The students could, in many cases, trace back such features to experiences that they had made together with teachers, neighbours, playmates or family members. These features became parts of the students' personal biographies through which they saw the world. Even if the students appreciated what they had learnt, they often described concrete experiences outside school, often in the early years, that had contributed to their understanding.

#### G. HELLDÉN

Learning was situated in the sense that the student's learning was related to the context where she/he had made the experience, but what was learnt then became an integrated part of the learner's thinking. As in Hanna's and Sofia's case concerning their ideas about decomposition and the water cycle, many students did not replace one understanding with another one. Instead, they widened their ranges of ideas or increased their repertoires of ideas (Marton, 1998). However, a core idea that developed at an early age seems to have been an important unit in many students' repertoires of ideas. Even if there was a substantial conceptual development, there was also a very strong element of personal context and continuity in the students' thinking about the ecological processes.

# CONCLUSIONS

This long-term study shows that early episodes in childhood in many cases seem to have an important influence on students' future learning about scientific phenomena. Therefore it might be successful to create episodes at school where important scientific concepts such as transpiration, evaporation and the role of oxygen and carbon dioxide might be introduced in the early ages at school through interesting experiences, facilitating the development of a deeper understanding later at school. In this study, the early introduction of a cycle concept as an advance organizer supported the students' later understanding of cycles in nature. In developing curriculum for the early ages I think we should trust more in the capacity of young children's ability to learn science concepts (Tytler, 2000).

There was a strong element of personal context and continuity in the development of the students' understanding through the years of the ecology study. When the students listened to what they said about the ecological phenomena in earlier interviews, they could often reveal particular events that they had experienced together with parents, playmates or other persons. These experiences were traced back to social situations, but had become a part of the students' personal context. The students had elements from their personal biographies through which they saw the world.

The students did not simply replace one understanding with another but widened their ranges of possible understandings. Long-term studies of science learning make an important contribution to the discussions about the nature of conceptual change and to the development of a more complete understanding of students' learning in science (Helldén & Tytler, 2008).

Learning science is a long and complex process. A study with a longitudinal design makes it possible to gain insights into students' individual learning. By following the same student over time, we can obtain a series of student's explanations of a phenomenon and characterize individual learning trajectories. If we know a student's conception at one point in time, it might be helpful to know more about the possible roots of such a conception, in order to improve teaching about the phenomenon. On the other hand, it would also be valuable to know where the same conception might lead in the future. Teachers at different levels and teacher students have expressed a great interest in discussing the roots and

future development of their students' conceptions, after they have been involved in investigations of students' ideas about a scientific phenomenon. Studies of students' learning trajectories can result in suggestions from teachers about teaching strategies that could support students' learning.

One criticism of this type of study is that revisiting the same phenomenon regularly will tend to encourage similar responses from the students, and that themes may therefore be an artefact of the methodology. Students were usually surprised when they heard their responses from previous years, even going so far as to deny that they had ever said such things. This encourages me to conclude that students construct fresh responses and are not aware of previous explanations.

Experiences from this long-term study have shown that the unique opportunity to listen to previous interviews allowed the students to identify important precursors to their own understanding. Even though the students appreciated what they had learnt at school, they described experiences outside school, often in the early ages that had been of great importance for their future understanding. It is obvious that there is a great potential in utilizing students' reflections as they compare their own previous explanations with their current explanations. Such reflections would also support the students' abilities to learn how to learn science. It is also important to create an atmosphere in the classroom that allows students to communicate their conceptions and reflect over different ways of explaining a phenomenon.

In this six year longitudinal study about students' understanding about ecological processes students were interviewed indoors in a school sitting in front of a table with a closed terrarium, or with brown leaves and soil, or with a bunch of wild flowers. But now a new research project has been started with students studying conditions for life, growth and decomposition outdoors in a forest and in a stream ecosystem as part of biology teaching unit. This research project was started in order to study the development of students' ability to read nature. Reading nature has to do with the ability to recognise organisms and relate them to other organisms and to material cycling and energy flow in a habitat (Magntorn & Helldén, 2007a; 2997b).

In many Swedish families it has been a part of a cultural tradition to spend some time together in nature. And it is obvious that the students in the present study often referred to experiences in nature together with parents or other family members when they talked about ecological phenomena. These experiences were active observations of the natural world with a sense of curiosity and wonder that children naturally have (Carson, 1969). Several students said that such episodes were of great importance both for the development of their images of the processes in nature and for the development of their content knowledge.

In Sweden there is also a deeply-rooted tradition, especially in early childhood and primary education, to introduce children to studies in nature during recurring visits to different biotopes more or less in the neighbourhood of the school. During such excursions the children can follow the development of the environment through the seasons of the year, and there is room for observations including sensitivity, alertness and an awareness of different qualities of the world. In a study

#### G. HELLDÉN

of students' early experiences of biodiversity several students referred to such experiences as important the development of their understanding (Helldén & Helldén, 2008). Because of an awareness of the importance of giving children as well as adults possibilities learn outdoor, a network of ninety more or less independent Nature Schools has grown up all over Sweden. They are mostly mobile units of a couple of persons that visit schools and support teachers in their efforts teach outdoor in nature.

In Sweden the purpose of excursions in nature also have to do with the notion that it is healthy for the children to spend some time outdoors. According to the syllabuses for compulsory school (7 - 16 years of age) in Sweden the subject of physical education and health is linked to well-established cultural traditions existing in Sweden concerning the enjoyment of nature. Through outdoor activities and experiencing nature, students gain awareness, knowledge and experiences which can stimulate a continuing interest both in outdoor life and in nature and environmental issues (Swedish National Agency for Education, 2009).

## REFERENCES

- Andersson, B. (1991) Students' conceptions of matter and its transformations (age 12–16). Studies in Science Education, 18, 53–85.
- Arzi H.& White R. T. (2005). Longitudinal studies: Designs, Validity, Practicality, and Value. Research in Science Education, 137–149.
- Ausubel, D. P., J. D. Novak, and H. Hanesian. (1978) Educational psychology: A cognitive view, 2nd ed. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Carson, R., (1965) The sense of wonder. New York: Harper & Row.
- Driver, R., Squires, A., Rushworth, P., and Wood-Robinson, V. (1994) Making sense of secondary science, research into children's ideas, London: Routledge.
- Duit, R., Treagust, D. and Mansfield, H. (1996) Investigating student understanding as prerequisite to improving teaching and learning in science and mathematics. In R. Duit & B. Fraser (Eds.), Improving teaching and learning in science and mathematics. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Helldén, G. (1995) Environmental Education and Students' Conceptions of Matter. Environmental Education Research. 3, 267–277.
- Helldén, G. (2001) Personal context and continuity of human thought; recurrent themes in a longitudinal study of students' understanding of scientific phenomena. In H. Behrendt, H. Dahncke, R. Duit, W. Graeber, W., M. Komorek, A. Kross and P. Reiska (Eds.), *Research in Science Education Past, Present, and Future* Vol.2 (pp. 411–413). Kiel: IPN Kiel.
- Helldén, G. (2004) A study of recurring core developmental features in students' conceptions of some key ecological processes. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education* 4(1) 59–76.
- Helldén, G. (2005) Exploring understandings and responses to science: A program of longitudinal studies. *Research in Science Education 34*(3).
- Helldén, G.F. & Solomon, J. (2004) The persistence of personal and social themes in context: Long and short term studies of students' scientific ideas. *Science Education* 88, 885–900.
- Helldén, G. & Helldén, S. (2008) Students' early experiences of biodiversity and education for a sustainable future. *Nordic Studies in Science Education* 4(2), 123–131
- Helldén, G. & Tytler, R. (2008) Insights into Student Learning in Science: The Contribution of Longitudinal Studies. In B. Ralle & I. Eilks (eds.): *Promoting successful science education – The* worth of science education research (pp. 19–30). Aachen: Shaker Verlag.

#### STUDIES OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF STUDENTS'

- Leach, J., Shapiro, B. & Konicek, R. (1992) The Ideas Used by British and north American School Children To Interpret the Phenomenon of Decay: A Cross-Cultural Study. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association in San Fransisco, April 1992.
- Leach, J., Driver, R., Scott, P.& Wood-Robinson, C. (1996) Children's ideas about ecology 2. Ideas found in children age 5 – 16 about cycling of matter. *International Journal of Science Education* 18(1) 19–34.
- Magntorn, O. & Helldén, G. (2007a) Reading New Environments: Students ability to generalise their understanding between different ecosystems. *International Journal of Science Education* 29(1) 67–100.
- Magntorn, O. & Helldén, G. (2007b) Reading nature from a 'bottom up' perspective. Journal of Biological Education 41(2) 68–75.
- Marton, F. (1998) Towards a theory of quality in higher education. In Dart, B. & Boulton-Lewis, G. (Eds) *Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*. Melbourne: Acer.
- Novak, J. D. (1998) Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Swedish National Agency for Education, (2009). Syllabuses for the compulsory school. Second edition. Stockholm: Skolverket and Fritzes.
- Tytler, R. (2000) A comparison of Year1 and Year 6 students' conceptions of evaporation and condensation: Dimensions of conceptual progression. *International Journal of Science Education.*, 22(5), 447–467.
- White, R. T. (2001) The revolution in research on science teaching. In V. Richardsson (Ed.) *Handbook* of *Research on Teaching*. New York: Macmillan.

Gustav Helldén School of Education and Environment Kristianstad University Sweden

# HANS E. FISCHER AND KNUT NEUMANN

# 6. VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

# ABSTRACT

Research on science instruction has revealed complex and nontrivial relations between instructional variables - including school system characteristics, teacher cognition and beliefs, teachers' and students' activities during instruction and last but not least, learning outcomes. To further investigate these relations, the development of respective models as well as appropriate research designs and methodologies are required. This will allow for tracing effects to the instructional level, shedding light on the well-known gap between teachers' demands and students' efforts as well as for the creation of interventions to overcome this gap. To this end, variables of teaching and learning have to be investigated using low- and high-inferent video analyses. Students' and teachers' behaviour holds valuable information for identifying cause-effect relations between what happens in the classroom and targeted outcomes. This provides the basis for describing what characterizes high quality instruction, which in turn can guide pre-service and in-service teacher training. A variety of instruments, including tests, questionnaires and interviews, is required to investigate variables of teaching and learning. Video analysis is a particularly essential tool within this undertaking as it captures students' and teachers' behaviours in the classroom in one package. This will allow complex models of relations between instructional variables to be tested, instructional quality to be enhanced and pre-service and in-service teacher education to be improved.

## INTRODUCTION

One important goal of research on instruction is to identify characteristics that affect students' learning outcomes. As an example, socio-economic status (SES) was found to be an excellent predictor for students' mathematics achievement (Prenzel, 2004, p. 251). On average 16.8% of variance in students' mathematics achievement was found to be explained by SES across participating countries in the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). In Germany's case, SES accounted for an above-average variance in students' mathematics achievement at 21.1% (Prenzel, 2004, p. 275). However, as instruction itself was not investigated within PISA, little is known if and how different types of

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 115–139. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

instruction influences learning in the classroom. To assess and to improve quality of instruction, instruction itself as a process must be the focus of research. Additionally, it still is necessary to consider other factors, such as SES, political, organizational or institutional conditions, as these may also influence instruction.

This is especially relevant when analysing effects of interventions. The effect of a new teaching method may, for example, be limited by a policymaker's decision to reduce the weekly number of science lessons given at school.

Investigation of instructional quality – that is, searching for a particular pattern of instructional variables and conditions influencing instruction that positively influences students' achievement – requires a model: A model of instructional quality that takes into account variables of teaching and learning in classrooms as well as normative standards and competences and the modalities of their development and assessment. E.g. Fischer et al. (2005) identified four levels of instruction as the basis for a systematic investigation of instruction in general and quality of instruction in particular:

- School system and school organization (e.g., school environment, funding)
- Individual conditions of the learner (e.g., pre-knowledge, motivation and interest, social background)
- Individual conditions of the teacher (e.g., professional knowledge, beliefs, motivation and interest)
- Surface- and deep structures of instruction (e.g., lesson phase, cognitive activation, student-teacher interactions)

This chapter will describe how video analysis of instruction together with investigations of conditions on the other three levels of instruction can guide research on instructional quality and help develop a multilevel model of instruction. Following a brief overview of research on instructional quality, this chapter will detail the research fundamentals as well as provide examples for applications of video analysis as a central investigative tool for instructional quality. The chapter will conclude with a discussion of how video analysis can be used in the development of multilevel models of instructional quality.

# Quality of Instruction

Empirical educational research is driven by the aim to reveal what constitutes high quality instruction. Three major paradigms in instructional research can be distinguished: the personality paradigm, the process-product paradigm and the expert-novice paradigm. The personality paradigm focuses on the influence of the teacher's personality (e.g. friendliness) on students' learning (Getzels & Jackson, 1970). However, this approach turned out to not be very successful (Bromme, 1997). In contrast, the process-product paradigm yielded a vast number of studies that identified aspects of instruction such as the clarity of learning goals which correlate positively with output variables like students' achievement, interest and beliefs. These findings were consolidated in a series of meta-analyses that led to extensive lists of instructional characteristics with low to medium effects on

instructional outcomes (e.g. Anderson, 1981; Anderson, 1983; Brophy & Good, 1986; Wang, Haertel, & Walberg, 1993). Although these lists shared common characteristics, they did not provide a consistent picture of what would characterize high quality instruction. Accordingly, several researchers have made attempts to synthesize the findings into a model of educational productivity (e.g. Fraser, Walberg, Welch, & Hattie, 1987; Walberg, 1981). Still, further research could not provide a clear picture of high quality instruction. It was instead demonstrated that the effect of particular characteristics such as teachers' behaviours was strongly dependent on the situation in the individual classroom (e.g. students' characteristics). These findings led researchers to more closely consider teachers' cognition in further work (Clark & Peterson, 1986; cf. Bromme, 2008).

Subsequent research integrated the process-product approach with the expertnovice paradigm. Some research focused in particular on teachers' professional knowledge (Shulman, 1987; Shulman, 1986) and its relation to individual beliefs (e.g. Peterson, Fennema, Carpenter, & Loef, 1989; Staub & Stern, 2002). Other research included the instructional process. For example, de Jong and van Driel (2004) investigated the relation of pedagogical content knowledge and teachers' activities in chemistry lessons and identified a positive effect of teachers' pedagogical content knowledge on teachers' activity. The relation between teachers' professional knowledge, instructional characteristics and learning outcomes was also investigated by Baumert et al. (2010) for mathematics instruction. The stronger consideration of teachers' cognition led to a refinement of earlier models of instructional quality, which now include individual characteristics of the protagonists of instruction (i.e. teachers and students), characteristics of the instructional process as well as characteristics of the school environment and system (e.g. Helmke, 2006; Lipowsky et al., 2005). A rather extensive model with respect to the amount of variables considered is the one suggested by Helmke (Helmke, 2006) shown in Figure 1. However, research has not been able to identify consistent patterns of high quality instruction based on these models.

In summary, extensive research exists on the determinants of instructional outcomes such as students' achievement. Numerous attempts have been made to systematize results of this research in order to obtain a theory or model of instructional quality. Such a theory or model has to integrate the various effects of instructional- and other related variables on learning outcomes and consider the complex interdepencies of these effects. It is important to note that learning outcomes in this context does not only include students' achievement, as critized by some researchers (e.g. Einsiedler, 1997; Oser, Dick, & Patry, 1992). Learning outcomes should also cover affective or behavioural aspects (cf. Walberg, 1981) like students' self-concepts, for example (cf. Peterson, Kauchak, & Yaakobi, 1980). It may also include societal aims such as less divergence within a class (cf. Duschl, 2008). However, despite the fact that models which include a variety of instructional and related variables and which incorporate a broader conception of learning outcomes have been developed, little is known about the complex interdepencies of the different effects of the included instructional and non-

instructional variables on learning outcomes. This is where further research is needed.

Clausen (2000) stressed three critical points regarding the development of a theory or model for assessing instructional quality: selection of representative constructs (variables of theoretical models), formulation of hypothetical correlations (structure models), and the development of adequate indicators for operationalization (measuring models). Based on this framework, a suitable methodology is needed. This methodology would allow researchers to map the quality of instruction using the measuring models by applying indicators to describe the actual instruction and thus to assess the quality of lessons.



Figure 1: Offer-mediation-use paradigm (Helmke, 2006, translated by the authors).

# VIDEO ANALYSIS

One promising method in the range of different methods to assess instructional quality is the method of video analysis. It has been used as a method to investigate instruction since the early 1980s (e.g. Erickson, 1982; Grimshaw, 1982). Since then, video technology has rapidly developed. At the same time, researchers have to this day continued to enhance procedures of recording and analysing classroom videos.

# Recording Video Data

The starting point of all related research is the recording of classroom videos. This includes making decisions on the position of the camera in the classroom and training the camera people. Naturally these decisions have to be made based on

## VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

the underlying theory or model. Even the location of the video camera in the classroom is a matter of the respective research question. Investigation of group work requires different camera locations than the investigation of teacher-student interactions. In addition, the quality of audio recordings is an important issue because verbalizations of teachers and students are mandatory for analysing video data with respect to the majority of research questions regarding science instruction. For the investigation of instruction, a recording arrangement based on the one developed for the TIMSS video study (Jacobs et al., 2003) has proven itself to be suitable. This arrangement includes two cameras and five wireless microphones (see Figure 2). One camera is the so-called action camera. Its role is to follow the action in the classroom. This might be the teacher writing on the blackboard or a student asking a question. The action camera has to be movable, which is best achieved by mounting it on a (stable) tripod. It is convenient although not mandatory to have the tripod be equipped with a remote control to allow the camera person to turn the camera and zoom in or out at the same time. The second camera is the so-called total camera. It provides a wide-shot recording of the whole classroom at all times, so for example, if the action camera is focused on the teacher writing on the blackboard, it is still possible to judge whether students are taking notes themselves. Regarding the audio recording, it is in principle possible to work with the microphones that are integrated into the video cameras. However, given the noise level in a typical classroom these microphones often fail to provide understandable recordings. Therefore, it is highly recommended to use at least directional microphones that can be bought as auxiliary equipment for most video cameras. An even more sophisticated arrangement includes a wireless microphone attached to the teacher as the main protagonist during instruction, three wireless microphones attached to the left and right as well as the rear wall of the classroom, and a fifth wireless microphone attached to one table so that audio can be recorded for at least one group in case the lesson includes a group work phase.

Once the actual arrangement of the recording equipment is decided upon, recording guidelines have to be specified to ensure that the video recordings of different classrooms are comparable to each other. In principal these guidelines aid the camera person operating the action camera in what to record during the lesson. However, these guidelines also have to include rules for a variety of situations that may or may not occur during instruction. This could include what the action camera will focus on during group work, for example. Will the camera follow the teacher while he or she is circling the classroom or will the camera focus on a group of students? What is to be recorded when the teacher addresses the whole class during a group work phase? After finalization of the recording guidelines, camera people have to be trained accordingly. This again is to ensure standardized and therefore comparable video recordings of different classrooms. Training of the camera people is mandatory to ensure familiarity with the recording guidelines but also with the recording equipment itself in order to avoid technical difficulties during the video recordings.

Once the training of the camera people is completed, data collection can start. Depending on conventions in the respective country or region the video recording takes place in, teachers and students may be informed or even instructed about how to behave during the video recording. Also, applicable laws such as the protection of data privacy have to be obeyed. In some cases this includes the collection of consent forms signed by parents or legal guardians or students themselves if they are of age.

Once the data collection is completed it needs to be ensured that the collected data are stored in a reliable and lasting way. This is especially important as most of the cameras use magnetic tapes or flash memory, the storage time of which is somewhat limited.



Figure 2: Sample arrangement of a classroom (M denotes the microphones, A the action camera, F the total or fixed camera, S the students and T the teacher).

# Analysing Video Data

Video data can be considered as raw data, which once recorded, can be analysed based on different theoretical approaches and research questions. This option is limited only by the requirement that the collected data have to be suitable for an analysis with respect to the research question. It is, for example, not possible to reuse video data that were originally recorded with the aim of analysing the whole classroom to analyse small group processes because both approaches require different camera work. Still, video recordings are flexible data that are rich in detail. So the first step when analysing video data is to decide on the detail level of analysis, which is closely connected to the question of a qualitative or quantitative approach. In the second step, a coding procedure has to be developed and applied to the data. Finally, in the third step quality measures have to be determined.

## VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

Deciding on the principle approach Video analysis as such is a qualitative process, as a recorded situation has to be interpreted. However, the investigation of effects of instructional variables on instructional outcomes with the purpose of identifying high quality instruction will require quantification at some point. A common critique is that quantitative analysis alone can hardly grasp the reality of such complex situations as they occur in the classroom (cf. Turner & Meyer, 2000). As a consequence, some researchers exclusively rely on a qualitative approach to analyse video data. But what exactly is the difference between quantitative and qualitative research? Qualitative research approaches emerged in the social sciences to study complex and sometimes not very well known social and cultural phenomena. Examples of qualitative approaches would include action research, case studies or text interpretations. Qualitative data sources include observation and participant observation (fieldwork), interviews and (open) questionnaires, documents and texts, and researchers' impressions and reactions (Norman K. Denzin & Yvonna S. Lincoln, 2005). The quantitative research approach originally emerged in the natural sciences to study natural phenomena. Today, it has been further developed for use within the social sciences (including education). Examples of quantitative approaches would include experimental laboratory or quasi-experimental studies. Ouantitative data sources include questionnaires and tests, but also interviews or text documents. Most importantly, however, quantitative research embraces a statistical approach to data analysis (cf. Kaplan, 2004).

In research on instructional quality both approaches can be helpful. The qualitative approach classifies elements of a situation using categories based on hypothetically assumed qualities and relations between categories to order the data systematically using certain theoretically based and empirically plausible criteria (Mayring, 2007). Quantitative analysis seeks to provide evidence on hypothesized numerical functions to describe the relations between variables, which represent the elements of a situation. The main features of the qualitative and the quantitative approaches as characterized by Treumann (1998) as well as Hardy and Bryman (2004) are presented in Table 1.

Dimensions	Qualitative	Quantitative
Perception	Dynamic	Static
(ontological assumption)		
Gaining knowledge	Reconstructive	Rule based
(epistemological assumption)		
Perspective	From inside	From outside
Focus	Holistic	Partial
Theory	Discovery	Confirmation
Conditions of inquiry	Field	Controlled, xperimental
Generating data	Subjective	Objective
Main type of data	Verbal	Numeric
Units of analysis	Cases	Statistical aggregates
Results	Valid, reliable	Reliable, valid

Table 1. Features of the Qualitative and the Quantitative Approaches

This comparison suggests that there is no sharp distinction between qualitative and quantitative approaches. Often sample size is taken as a criterion, but there are qualitative case studies as well as quantitative ones with large samples (e.g. Tashakkori & Teddlie, 1998). And as both research approaches can be used with video studies, combining the two approaches for added value in these studies seems promising.

The combination of different data in one study is called triangulation. According to Treumann (1998) triangulation is a strategy used to obtain a gain in knowledge by making use of different perspectives. Treumann (1998) differentiated five types of triangulation which are not necessarily independent from each other: data triangulation, design triangulation, interdisciplinary triangulation, theoretical triangulation and triangulation of methods. A specific version of triangulation of methods, which is also called triangulation between methods, refers to the combination of qualitative and quantitative data (Berg, 2004). Triangulation of methods demands for a common theoretical model for both types of data. Triangulation is difficult to apply for open procedures like the objective hermeneutics described by Oevermann, Allert, Konau, and Krambeck (1979) or the implementation of grounded theory like that of Glaser (1992) or Strauss and Corbin (1998). Thus, qualitative and quantitative data can complement each other by using quantitative results to anchor qualitative ones. However, as video analysis as such is a qualitative process, a procedure is needed to allow for quantifying the interpretations.

Obtaining quantitative data from video analysis requires exact rules on how to observe, secure and categorize the observable features – based on the respective theory or model. This set of rules must be applied to the observation material to obtain quantitative data. This process is called coding. The development of a so-called coding procedure is detailed in the next section.

# Developing a Coding Procedure

As discussed above, video analysis is a qualitative process. Even if a quantitative approach is taken, there is an initial qualitative step: the development of a category system. Mayring (1995) emphasizes the importance of this initial step. If the category system is not developed with the greatest care, it renders the obtained quantitative data meaningless. Based on the theory of content analysis, Mayring (2007) differentiates between two approaches to obtain a category system: an inductive and a deductive approach. Whereas the inductive approach is of particular importance for qualitative content analysis, a deductive, theory-guided process is more appropriate for video analysis of instruction. This is because an inductive approach will allow for only a strictly qualitative analysis. A deductive approach on the other hand will allow for either a qualitative or a quantitative analysis as well as a combination of the two. A deductive approach always starts from theory. Based on theoretical considerations and the exact research questions and hypotheses, principal decisions have to be made. Following these decisions a category system is developed and refined until sufficient quality can be established. The amalgam of fundamental decisions combined with the category system is considered the coding procedure.





Figure 3. Overview of the video coding procedure.

Based on Jacobs, Kawanaka and Stigler (1999) the process of developing a coding procedure may be described as follows (Figure 3):

- 1. A theory or theoretical models needs to be identified or developed in the field of interest.
- 2. Based on the theory or model, research questions and hypotheses should be formulated. Depending on the research questions and respective hypotheses, principle decisions have to be made. This would include, for example, principle decisions about the segmentation of data or further processing of data such as transcriptions of the video recordings. In the case of an analysis of teacherstudent dialogs, the raw recorded data would, for example, be segmented into turns (e.g. teacher speaking or student speaking). And as for analyzing time on tasks, segmenting the recording into intervals (e.g. deciding every thirty seconds whether students are on or off task) would be reasonable. A transcript can also be helpful especially when a decision in favour segmenting data into turns is made. In the case of the investigation of teachers-student dialogs, for example, it is easier to identify individual turns. Transcription also requires clear and precise rules as activities of interest, such as gestures and facial expressions, as well as affective expressions, everyday language or dialect would have to be carefully considered during transcription. Examples of rules for transcription are given by Mayring (Mayring, 2007, p. 49). Once the material is prepared accordingly, the development of the category system itself can begin.
- 3. Development of the category system begins by identifying the theoretical constructs of relevance and operationalizing the constructs into categories. A

construct may be represented by one or more categories. The construct 'teacher use of media' for example may be represented by the categories 'blackboard', 'daylight projector' or 'textbook'. Each of the categories comes with a series of indicators that provide guidance as to whether the respective category should be coded. An example of an indicator could be 'the teacher writes or draws on the blackboard' or 'the teacher asks students to open their textbooks'. The key here is that the indicators have to characterize the related category as precisely and completely as possible – using a potentially extensive collection of examples. Once categories and indicators are found, a coding manual should be written, thoroughly describing categories and indicators. Figure 4 shows an excerpt from such a coding manual.

- 4. With the coding manual at hand, this initial version of the category system is applied to real data in order to test its practicability and determine quality measures. As this step is still part of the development of the coding procedure and with the quality of the procedure not yet determined, the data used should not be the same data used to test the hypotheses and provide evidence regarding the research questions. However, this so-called test data should be as similar as possible to the original data. The use of an adequate computer program is indispensable in this step (for an example of a suitable program see Seidel, Prenzel, & Kobarg, 2005).
- 5. In the next step, the data obtained from the coding is analysed. In this step, investigation of the reliability of the coding is of central importance.
- 6. In addition to analysing the data and determining validity, the data need to be interpreted and the validity of the interpretation needs to be ensured.
- 7. In the final step, the findings, and in particular, the quality measures need to be carefully examined with respect to the formulated research questions and hypotheses and particularly to the expectations regarding quality measures. If the quality measures do not meet the requirements, that is, reliability remains unsatisfactorily low and validity cannot be established, the coding procedure needs to be refined in a new iteration of the described sequence of steps. A detailed desciption of quality measures is discussed in the next section. It should be emphasized that developing a coding procedure is an intense and demanding process, but for a sound video analysis, it is a mandatory step.

Category/Value	Definition	Description/Indicators	Examples	Differentiation
No Instruction/ Interruption	Refers to sequences in which no instruction takes place. Instruction already took place before and continued later.	The Interruption usually is marked by non- teaching and non- learning activity. Typically such Interruptions take longer than a coding interval.	External event or disruption like an- nouncements or door krocking. Teacher leaves class-room, students remain with-out instructions. Clarification of formal or organizational matter.	Noise or disciplinary problems do not generally count as interruption; the action must be different from what usually happens during instruction.
Pre-Instruction	All intervals are coded in which instruction does not yet take place. The amount of pre-instruction intervals is an indicator for how much time was actually used for instruction.	Teacher did not yet start with instruction. At the most teacher and students prepare for instruction.	Students arrive at the classroom after the bell, unpack their books, wait for the teacher.	Separation from Instruction, Pre- Instruction is coded, until the teacher starts instruction.
Instruction	All intervals are coded in which instruction takes place. The amount of coded intervals is an indicator for how much time was actually used for instruction (time on task).	No specific description: Instruction takes place. Important: All other coding refers only to intervals coded as instruction.	Teacher indicating the beginning of instruction: "Lets start now". Students stand up at the beginning of the lesson.	Mind connection with pre-Instruction and post-Instruction. Instruction only takes place one time and is embraced by pre- instruction and post- instruction phases.

VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

Figure 4. Examples of a category system describing instruction phases on the surface level.

Assessing quality measures To assess the quality of the coding procedure, respective quality criteria have to be assessed. Such criteria have, for example, been suggested by the American Educational Research Association, the American Psychological Association and the National Council on Measurement in Education (2004). These criteria relate to reliability and validity of measurement. That is, in measurement it needs to be ensured that the measurement is consistent across different situations and over time. In addition, it needs to be ensured that what is actually measured is what was, in fact, intended to be measured. These criteria must also be applied to video analysis - the coding of video data has to be evaluated regarding reliability and validity. How these criteria can be applied to the coding of data has already been discussed by Krippendorf (1980) in the context of content analysis (see Figure 5).

Although reliability, in the context of video analysis, is more often the focus, validity is just as important a quality criterion. There exist different theories of validity (cf. American Psychological Association, 51 or Messick, 1989). Krippendorf (1980) differentiates material, results and process-oriented validity. Material-oriented validity includes the adequateness of categories and indicators (semantic validity) and correct sampling of the units of investigation, such as correct data segmentation (sample validity). Results-oriented validity includes the correlation with another measurement of the same constructs or the prediction of classroom observation or field notes (correlative validity) or the ability of the data to predict another measure, such as students' achievement (prognostic validity). Process-oriented validity relates to previous success with similar constructs, models or theories and respective interpretations (Titscher & Jenner, 2000). In

qualitative research, validity is often tied to the following demands: (a) enough evidence, (b) an adequate variety in kinds of evidence, (c) constant interpretive status of evidence, (d) empirical measure of evidence and (e) selection of cases adequate to theory (Erickson, 1986).



Figure 5. Quality criteria of content analysis (Krippendorf, 1980).

Reliability incorporates the stability of the results when the measurement is repeated (stability), replicability of the results when the coding procedure is applied by a different coder (replicability) and the extent to which the analysis meets a particular functional standard (Mayring, 1995, p. 109). Reliability of the coding procedure depends not only on the size of the sample and its quality but also on the actual coders. They may be considered as the measuring device of the analysis. In the context of video analysis, reliability is usually determined by means of intercoder reliability. To determine intercoder reliability, selected video material has to be coded independently by different coders following the (same) coding procedure. The different codings are compared on a per-unit-of-analysis basis. Different measures may be used to determine reliability. The simplest measure to determine is the percentage of agreement p. However, whereas the percentage of agreement p is quick to calculate, it unfortunately does not consider random agreements. More sophisticated measures, which are corrected for random agreement, include Cohen's K which is suitable in the case of nominal data or Goodman-Kruskal's  $\gamma$  in the case of ordinal data (Goodman & Kruskal, 1979).

However, there are no agreed upon cut-off values that have to be met by the above measures in order to consider intercoder reliability sufficient. Instead, the criterion for sufficient reliability depends on how much interpretation is involved in the coding, that is the level of inference inherent to a particular category. According to Gage (1969) low and high inferent categories may be differentiated. Low-inferent categories relate to directly observable characteristics whereas high-inferent categories relate to categories that require a particular amount of interpretation (see Table 3).

## VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

Surface Structure (Low-inferent coding)	Deep Structure (High-inferent coding)
Teacher's behaviour, actions, media	Teacher's aims and intentions
Students' behaviour, actions, media	Teacher's instructional design
Teacher-student interactions	and methods
	Students' mental operations and content
	operations
	Students' learning path
	Student-teacher and
	student-student Interactions
	Use of language

Table 3. Examples of Low- and High-inferent Categories

High inference entails a higher influence of a coder's knowledge, expectations and beliefs on the coding. High inference is therefore tied to lower intercoder reliability. For example, when coding the addressee(s) of a teacher's communication, three mutually exclusive categories of addressees may be differentiated: 'individual', 'group' or 'class'. These categories are high-inferent, as asking one student in front of the class does not necessarily indicate communication is directed to one individual only. The appeal, 'Listen please,' which is said in front of the whole class, may be directed towards a smaller group of students. It is important that as many indicators for a given category are formulated as precisely as possible to increase reliability of the coding. Still, compared to low inferent codings, high inference does lead to a lower reliability. Therefore, different cut-off values are needed to determine whether the coding is sufficiently reliable. Table 4 provides an overview of cut-off values depending on the inference of the coding (cf. Reyer, 2005).

Table 4.	Reliability	Classification
	/	

Types	Value range of Cohen's kappa				
Fine low-inferent coding:	0.750	$\leq$	κ	$\leq$	1.000
Fine high-inferent coding:	0.600	$\leq$	κ	$\leq$	0.749
Poor high-inferent coding:	0.400	$\leq$	κ	$\leq$	0.599
Non-acceptable coding:	0.000	$\leq$	κ	$\leq$	0.399

Repeated measurement of intercoder reliability during longer periods of the video analysis may help in identifying changes to improve the stability of the coding or rating process. As a rule of thumb, 10% of all data should be coded independently by at least two different coders. Intercoder reliability provides information of the quality of the coding procedure, including quality of video and audio recordings, categories and indicators as well as training of the coders. As a consequence, these sources have to be considered when the coding turns out to be insufficiently reliable.

# APPLICATIONS OF VIDEO ANALYSIS

Video analysis can be utilized in many areas of research to obtain empirical evidence: in case studies to investigate learning processes, in experimental studies to check implementation of the treatment, in field studies to describe characteristics of interest. However video analysis may not only be used as a research method but also as a tool in teacher education or even for teachers to critically reflect upon their own behaviour. In the following sections, two applications of video analysis will be discussed in greater detail in order to point out its power.

# Critical Reflection

It is an on-going challenge for teachers and teacher educators to improve their teaching. According to Lederman and Latz (1995), a thoughtful planning of instruction, constant monitoring during instruction and a thorough reflection afterwards are a core requirement for constant improvement. Schön (1987) also emphasizes the importance of critical reflection for the change of teachers' behaviour. To engage teachers in reflection – that is, the development of alternative views of the classroom – a framework of their professional growth (e.g. Clarke & Hollingsworth, 2002) and a respective stimulus is needed. This stimulus should not only initiate reflection about teachers' behaviour, but also challenge their beliefs. Video analysis can create and offer the cognitive and emotional conflict required to change teachers' beliefs. According to McCurry (2000), video recordings can also be used as a tool for behavioural training in micro-teaching. Video recordings of classroom teaching allow for a gradual, rich and targeted reflection and opportunities to discuss teaching practices (e.g. Ennis, 1993). Moreover, video recordings of lessons can also provide a rich view of classroom interaction, providing a further opportunity for self-reflection. Wackermann, Fischer and Trendel (2010) utilized video analysis as a tool in a theory-oriented teacher education program. Based on a video analysis of teachers' lessons, teachers were coached in order to better plan students' learning processes. Evaluation of the program suggested that teachers' planning of the learning processes could be improved considerably, which also led to better student outcomes (cf. Wackermann et al., 2010).

In summary, video analysis can be a valuable tool for teachers to critically selfreflect on their teaching practices. However, it cannot be expected that teachers develop their own coding procedures, as this would be the business of science education researchers. Teachers then may use these coding procedures to reflect on their own lessons and to obtain insight on how to improve their teaching. Based on the findings of research on instructional quality, such a reflection could focus on the following questions:

- Do the learning goals become clear?
- Does the structure of the lesson follow the lesson plan?
- Are students cognitively activated?

- Is the sequence of tasks used to structure the lesson adequate with respect to the development of students' learning processes?
- Does the learning climate in the classroom foster learning?

The main issue, however, is that utilizing video analysis for self-reflection is related to reliability and validity. It is important to note that even if reliability and validity have been established during the development of the coding procedure, these criteria would have to be carefully considered for the interaction of the coder (i.e. the teacher) and the coding procedure again. And even if the interpretation of one's own lessons is something very personal, a valid and reliable self-reflection can best be achieved in a team with other teachers. This way, teachers can critically reflect whether their teaching meets the quality criteria identified by research and then improve their teaching where necessary.

#### Science and Mathematics Instruction

Large-scale assessments such as the Third International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) or the PISA study revealed particular differences in students' achievement - learning outcomes in particular (e.g. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2007). However, these studies do not provide evidence of what instructional processes might be held responsible for the differences in students' achievement. For this reason, several field studies have been carried out within the scope of or accompanying large-scale assessments in order to identify high quality classroom practice. In the scope of the so-called TIMSS Video Study, a total of 231 mathematics lessons from Germany, Japan and the United States were videotaped and analysed (Stigler & Hiebert, 1997). To allow for a comparison of the videotapes from different countries, the same procedure was followed in each country: schools and then classes were randomly selected to be representative of eighth-grade mathematics instruction in the respective country. Videos were recorded at different points within the course of the school year to capture the whole range of topics and activities that may take place (Stigler, Gonzales, Kawanaka, Knoll, & Serrano, 1999). Analysis covered the lessons' content and the teachers' aims as well as teachers' and students' manual and verbal activities and the material used. The comparisons provided evidence that there are particular differences between lessons from different teachers. However, the differences between teachers in one country were small compared to the differences between teachers from other countries. That is, in each country a particular pattern of instruction, or a cultural script, exists (Stigler et al., 1999). These results could in general be confirmed by the 1999 iteration of TIMSS Video Study (Hiebert, 2003). The countries in which instruction was videotaped were extended to seven countries and regions: Australia, the Czech Republic, Hong Kong, Japan, the Netherlands, Switzerland and the United States. Altogether data from 638 eighth-grade lessons were collected. Japanese lessons, however, were not videotaped but reanalysed from videotapes of the lessons recorded in part of an earlier study. Hiebert et al. (2003) identified the similarities and differences across the countries with respect to mathematics instruction. But these

particular differences could not be related to the differences in student performance across the countries. Within the 1999 iteration of TIMSS, science instruction was videotaped and analysed as well. In five countries – Australia, the Czech Republic, Japan, the Netherlands and the United States – altogether 439 eighth-grade science lessons were videotaped (Roth et al., 2006). Based on a framework developed from research on instructional characteristics, Roth et al. (2006) found that all participating countries besides the United States shared two common characteristics: high content standards and a content-focused instructional approach. High content standards embody different characteristics, such as the density and challenge of content ideas or students being held responsible for their own independent learning. However, these particular differences could not explain the differences among the high achieving countries.

In an effort to further illuminate the complex matter of science instruction, a video study was undertaken by the Institut für die Pädagogik der Naturwissenschaften (IPN) in Kiel, Germany. The scope of this video study of physics instruction was to investigate teaching and learning processes (Seidel et al., 2007). This study investigated teaching and learning processes by taking into account the "complex mediating process from instructional activities to student learning" (Seidel, Rimmele, & Prenzel, 2005, p. 552). Fifty classes from four German states were videotaped and analysed based on a complex theoretical framework with a multi-trait-multi-method approach. The guidelines and procedures developed in scope of the TIMSS Video Study were further developed and elaborated in greater detail for that purpose (Seidel & Prenzel, 2005). In general, the findings were in line with those from the TIMSS Video Study. A more in-depth analysis, however, provided empirical evidence for several cause-effect relations. First, goal clarity and coherence have a positive influence on students' perceptions of supportive learning conditions. Second, interactions in class work were found to be related to motivational affective development (Seidel et al., 2005). Third, students perceived themselves as being more self-determined and motivated in classrooms with high quality classroom discourse (Seidel, Rimmele, & Prenzel, 2003), that is, high cognitive activation.

Another bi-national video study was carried out in the scope of a Swiss German cooperation project "Instructional quality and mathematical understanding in different cultures" (Rakoczy et al., 2007). On the basis of a so-called opportunity-to-learn model of instruction (see Figure 6), mathematics instruction of a total of 40 classes in Germany and Switzerland were video analysed. This time, three lessons (not just one lesson) were videotaped and analysed per teacher or class respectively. Again results confirmed the existence of instructional patterns. A more detailed and systematic analysis identified three patterns (Hugener et al., 2009) of how problems are solved in mathematics classrooms. However, Hugener et al. (2009) concluded that superficial analyses of instruction are not enough to explain the differences in student performance and that a more in-depth view of instruction might provide evidence of cause-effect relations. This was achieved by analyses of the same data set. These analyses revealed that classroom management

and cognitive activation in classrooms positively influence students' performance (cf. Lipowsky et al., 2009).

In addition to large-scale or cross-national video studies, a variety of smaller video studies investigated specific details of instruction – using qualitative and quantitative approaches. For example, Mortimer and Scott (Mortimer & Scott, 2003) investigated communication patterns of teachers and students in classroom. Others investigated how students' argumentation relates to their scientific knowledge (von Aufschnaiter, Erduran, Osborne, & Simon, 2008).

In summary, it can be concluded that video analysis has proven to be a valuable tool to investigate instruction in the large scale as well as on the level of individual teachers. Video analysis allows for identification of country-specific patterns of instruction, so-called cultural scripts. It also enables identifying cause-effect relations in different teaching-learning scenarios and allows for in-depth analyses of instructional processes. Given the aforementioned large-scale video studies, building on increasingly refined models of instructional quality, on the one hand, and the sheer number of smaller video studies on the other, it seems promising to establish a connection between these two kinds of research within the same field of video analysis. Theory-based video analysis integrating quantitative and qualitative approaches may achieve this.



Figure 6. An opportunity-to-learn model of instruction (Lipowsky et al., 2005).

#### TOWARDS A MULTILEVEL MODEL OF INSTRUCTION

In the analysis of teaching and learning activities in the science classroom, video analysis is an indispensable tool (see also von Aufschnaiter & Welzel, 2001). Nevertheless, the quality of the findings are limited to the quality of the inference processes that take place when analysing video data, as discussed earlier. Video analysis is restricted to a particular perspective, that of the observers. To overcome this limitation, other perspectives need to be included into the analysis. For one,

this means taking a multi-method approach to investigate the variables of interest. Data obtained from different instruments can mutually support one another. Also, it is important to consider as many variables that may be potentially relevant in case of the cause-effect-relation at the centre of interest. It is important to note, however, that it is never possible to consider all relevant variables. Science instruction is a complex system that requires a respective framework when seeking to describe what characterizes high quality instruction. However, the variables that find their way into the model are not necessarily on the same level. Some of these variables relate to individual characteristics of the learners, like their knowledge or motivation, while other characteristics are specific to a class of learners – the teacher, for example. And still other variables are specific to schools or whole countries, creating even more complex interactions. While some teachers might be better in teaching high achievers, for example, others might make all their students learn something in the same way. To create sound patterns of cause-effectrelations, statistical models that take the multi-level, hierarchical structure of the data into account are required when investigating instructional quality.

Until the late 1980s, a major problem of research on instruction was the lack of adequate theoretical and statistical descriptions of the different levels of analysis. No methodology was available to combine the different levels of instruction: the system level, the classroom level and the individual level. Simple correlations missed out mediating or moderating influences of other variables, and linear models disregarded the particular influence of variables on different levels.

Nowadays, relations between variables on different levels can be analysed by using Hierarchical Linear Models (HLM) or Structural Equation Models (SEM). It is important to note, however, that these methods require a sound theoretical model describing the relevant relations between the variables included in the model. This number is constrained by sample size. The more variables considered on different levels of instruction, the larger the sample required to test the underlying model. Although required sample sizes is a topic of argument, N = 50 is suggested as the minimum sample size on the aggregation level (Maas & Hox, 2004). That is, at least 50 classes would be needed when investigating models of instructional quality, for example. Backhaus et al. (2006) and Hair et al. (2006) demanded sample sizes of N > 100 or N = 1.5 p·(p+1) (p = number of manifest variables) for SEM. A general overview on methods and theory is provided by Hox (2002) as well as Snijders and Bosker (1999).

Multilevel methods of analysis have been used in (science) education research for some time. Wong, Young, and Fraser (1997) for example used HLM to identify positive associations between the nature of the chemistry laboratory classroom environment and the students' attitudinal outcomes in Singapore. Based on data from a National Assessment of Educational Progress, Lubienski and Lubienski (2006) found using HLM that the advantage of private school students regarding performance vanished in favour of students' demographics. De Wever, Van Keer, Schellens, and Valcke (2007) focused on asynchronous discussion group transcripts and the impact of role assignments on the level of knowledge construction as reflected in students' contributions to computer-supported

## VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

collaborative learning. Using multilevel modelling to handle interdependencies between the levels and hierarchical nesting problems, De Wever et al. (2007) found that students' summarizing and focusing on theory leads to significantly higher levels of knowledge construction. In an analysis of 6,150 mathematics and science teachers in 681 junior high schools, Chao and Jen (2007) examined the effect of policy on in-service teacher training on technology-integrated instruction. Multilevel logistic regression was performed and the results were related to the individual and the institutional level. At the individual level, the use of technologyintegrated instruction was clearly related to in-service teacher training; and also at the school level, success of schools participating in the training program could be demonstrated. Also using multilevel analysis, Yip, Tsang, and Cheung (2003) compared students of 100 schools in Hong Kong at four different age levels to find relations between academic aptitude and science achievement. They were able to show a synchronic development of academic aptitude and science achievement and negative correlations between science achievement and the use of English to teach science. By differentiating the effects of different variables on science achievement, they found a baseline model for comparing the degree of improvement of students' science achievement in schools adopting either Chinese or English as the language of instruction. Investigating the effects of the academic self-concept and the learning environment on science and mathematics achievement in Australia, Young (1997) found differences between rural and urban high schools. It is remarkable that background effects explained a large amount of variance in the classroom, but little was found to explain student achievement at the school or classroom level of analysis. Most variation in science and mathematics achievement was found at the individual level and not at the instruction level due to missing instruments for describing classroom activities. The development of gender differences in mathematics achievement was analyzed in a longitudinal study by Xiaoxia (2002) correlating achievement with many personal variables like attitude towards mathematics, self-esteem, parents' academic encouragement, mathematics learning, teachers' expectations, peer influence and so forth. The effects did not follow the same direction. Whereas the effect mathematics attitudes had on achievement was stronger for boys than for girls, the mathematics teachers' encouragement varied across schools for boys, but no such effects were found for girls. Krauss et al. (2008) investigated effects of teacher's professional knowledge and its effect on students' achievement in mathematics. Referring to Shulman (1986) the study differentiated pedagogical content knowledge (PCK) and content knowledge (CK). About 200 German mathematics teachers teaching grade 10 students were tested by means of a PCK and a CK test, and the effect of teachers' PCK and CK on students' mathematics achievement was analysed using structural equation models. Krauss et al.'s model could be confirmed, thus showing that it was possible to clearly distinguish between PCK and CK but with a high correlation between both types of professional knowledge. The connectedness of both types of professional knowledge increased with teachers' expertise and ended up merging into one body of knowledge. However, in all the studies described, no direct relation to teaching

and learning processes can be established because instruction itself was not analysed. Here, video analyses of instruction could have added additional significance to the findings.

## CONCLUSION

Large-scale assessments like PISA and TIMSS carry a particular problem. These studies provide evidence that the average science achievement of students is higher in some countries than in others. However, the studies do not provide information in which regard science instruction in those countries is better than in the other countries. Instructional research, however, has provided evidence about a particular amount of instructional characteristics correlated with students' achievement. Over time, several models of instructional quality were suggested in order to systematize existing findings. These models include characteristics of the protagonists (i.e. the teachers and students) as well as the classroom, the school and the school system. Up to now, however, no coherent picture of what characterizes high quality instruction has been described. This is most likely because the tools to capture the complex reality of instruction had been missing.

With advancements in consumer electronics, video analysis became available as a method in instructional research. Observation of classroom situations by one or several observers using questionnaires or field notes soon became obsolete. Instead video analysis could be used to investigate instructional processes, though certain rules have to be obeyed. For one, video recordings have to be carried out in a standardized way in order to ensure compatibility. For analysis, a valid and reliable coding procedure has to be developed, which is a complex and time-consuming process. However, recent video studies have demonstrated that it is possible to go beyond a mere description of instruction and that it is, in fact, possible to capture the complex reality of a classroom. This requires going beyond video analysis as the single method of investigation and making use of a multi-method approach.

The data obtained by such an approach will be hierarchical in nature. A class of individual students will interact with the same teacher, and these interactions will again lead to individual learning outcomes. Analysis of such data requires the application of specific statistical methods because simple correlations cannot take into account the complex nature of the data. With recent developments in the field of statistics, respective tools have become available to handle this issue, amongst them HLM and SEM. With the help of these statistical tools, more complex designs become possible. More variables can be related to each other and consequently the complexity of the interplay of factors on the individual, classroom, school and system levels can be accounted for in the analysis. This again allows researchers to test more complex theories or models of instructional quality.

Altogether it seems that the ingredients to take science instruction research one step further are at hand: Combining models of instructional quality, video analyses, questionnaires and tests, as well as statistical methods such as HLM or SEM, can help describe what characterizes high quality instruction and, so might be hoped, improve science instruction in the long run.

#### REFERENCES

- American Educational Research Association, American Psychological Association, & National Council on Measurement in Education. (2004). Standards for educational and psychological testing. Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association.
- American Psychological Association. (51). Technical recommendations for psychological tests and diagnostic techniques. *Psychological Bulletin*, (2).
- Anderson, L. (1981). Instruction and Time-on- Task: a Review. Journal of Curriculum Studies, 13(4), 289–303. doi:10.1080/0022027810130402
- Anderson, R. D. (1983). A Consolidation and Appraisal of Science Meta-Analyses. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 20(5), 497–509.
- Aufschnaiter, C. von, Erduran, S., Osborne, J., & Simon, S. (2008). Arguing to learn and learning to argue: Case studies of how students' argumentation relates to their scientific knowledge. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45(1), 101–131. doi:10.1002/tea.20213
- Backhaus, K., Erichson, B., Plinke, W., & Weiber, R. (2006). *Multivariate Analysemethoden: Eine anwendungsorientierte Einführung* (Vol. 11). [Multivariate analysis: an applied oriented introduction] Berlin: Springer.
- Baumert, J., Kunter, M., Blum, W., Brunner, M., Voss, T., Jordan, A. (2010). Teachers' Mathematical Knowledge, Cognitive Activation in the Classroom, and Student Progress. *American Educational Research Journal*, 47(1), 133–180. doi:10.3102/0002831209345157
- Berg, B. L. (2004). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences* (5th ed.). Boston: Pearson. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/51223512
- Bromme, R. (2008). Lehrerexpertise. In W. Schneider & M. Hasselhorn (Eds.), Handbuch der pädagogischen Psychologie (pp. 159–167). [Handbook of pedagogical psychology] Göttingen ;, Bern, Wien, Paris, Oxford, Prag, Toronto, Cambridge, MA, Amsterdam, Kopenhagen: Hogrefe.
- Bromme, R. (1997). Kompetenzen, Funktionen und unterrichtliches Handeln der Lehrer. In F. E. Weinert (Ed.), *Enzyklopädie der Psychologie: Vol. 3. Psychologie des Unterrichts und der Schule* (pp. 177–212). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Brophy, J. E., & Good, T. L. (1986). Teacher behaviour and student achievement. In M. C. Wittrock (Ed.), Handbook of research on teaching (pp. 328–375). New York: Macmillan.
- Chao, I., & Jen, T. (2007). Policy Evaluation on Technology Integrated Instructions of Junior High Math and Science Teaching in Taiwan. In G. Richards (Ed.), *Proceedings of World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education 2007* (pp. 2204–2211). Chesapeake, VA: AACE.
- Clark, C. M., & Peterson, P. L. M. (1986). Teachers' Tought Processes. In M. C. Wittrock (Ed.), Handbook of Research on Teaching (pp. 255–296). New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Clarke, D. J., & Hollingsworth, H. (2002). Elaborating a model of teacher professional growth. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18(8), 947–967.
- Clausen, M. (2000). Wahrnehmung von Unterricht, Übereinstimmung, Konstruktvalidität und Kriteriumsvalidität in der Forschung zur Unterrichtsqualität (Dissertation). [Perceiving lessons, accordance, construct validity and criterion validity in research on quality of instruction] Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin.
- Duschl, R. (2008). Science Education in Three-Part Harmony: Balancing Conceptual, Epistemic, and Social Learning Goals. *Review of Research in Education*, 32(1), 268–291. doi:10.3102/ 0091732X07309371
- Einsiedler, W. (1997). Unterrichtsqualität und Leistungsentwicklung: Literaturüberblick. In F. E. Weinert & A. Helmke (Eds.), *Entwicklung im Grundschulalter* (pp. 225–240). Weinheim: PVU.
- Ennis, R. H. (1993). Critical thinking assessment. Theory into Practice, 32(3), 179-186.

- Erickson, F. (1982). Audiovisual Records as a Primary Data Source. Sociological Methods & Research, 11(2), 213–232. doi:10.1177/0049124182011002008
- Erickson, F. (1986). Qualitative methods research on teaching. In M. C. Wittrock (Ed.), Handbook of research on teaching (pp. 119–161). New York: Macmillan.
- Fraser, B. J., Walberg, H. J., Welch, W. W., & Hattie, J. A. (1987). Syntheses of Educational Productivity Research. International Journal of Educational Research, 11, 145–252.
- Gage, N. L. (1969). Teaching methods. In R. L. Ebel, V. H. Noll, & R. M. Bauer (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of educational research* (4th ed., pp. 1446–1458). New York: Macmillan.
- Getzels, J. W., & Jackson, P. W. (1970). Merkmale der Lehrerpersönlichkeit. In K. Ingenkamp (Ed.), Handbuch der Unterrichtsforschung (pp. 1353–1526). Weinheim: Beltz.
- Glaser, B. G. (1992). Basics of grounded theory analysis. [S.I.]: Sociology Press. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/72762268
- Goodman, L. A., & Kruskal, W. (1979). Measures of association for cross classification. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/503191003
- Grimshaw, A. D. (1982). Sound-Image Data Records for Research on Social Interaction: Some Questions and Answers. Sociological Methods & Research, 11(2), 121–144. doi:10.1177/ 0049124182011002002
- Hair, J, F., Black, W. C. Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2006), Multivariate data analysis (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Hardy, M., & Bryman, A. (2004). Handbook of data analysis: Sage. Retrieved from http://books.google.de/books?id=kV0aK9DcuukC
- Helmke, A. (2006). Unterrichtsqualität: Erfassen, Bewerten, Verbessern (4th ed.). Seelze: Kallmeyersche Verlagsbuchhandlung GmbH.
- Hiebert, J. (2003). Teaching mathematics in seven countries: Results from the TIMSS 1999 video study. Washington, DC: U.S. Gov. Print. Off. Retrieved from http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS31989
- Hox, J. J. (2002). Multilevel analysis: techniques and applications: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Retrieved from http://books.google.de/books?id=LEfj0Nu2D8UC
- Hugener, I., Pauli, C., Reusser, K., Lipowsky, F., Rakoczy, K., & Klieme, E. (2009). Teaching patterns and learning quality in Swiss and German mathematics lessons. *Learning and Instruction*, 19(1), 66–78. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2008.02.001
- Jacobs, J., Garnier, H., Gallimore, R., Hollingsworth, H., Givvin, K. B., Rust, K., ... (2003). TIMSS 1999 Video Study Technical Report: Volume 1: Mathematics Study. Waschington, DC: National Center of Education Statistics.
- Jacobs, J. K., Kawanaka, T., & Stigler, J. W. (1999). Integrating qualitative and quantitative approaches to the analysis of video data on classroom teaching. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 31, 717–724.
- Jong, O. de, & van Driel, J. (2004). Exploring the development of student teachers' PCK of the multiple meanings of chemistry topics. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 2(4), 477–491.
- Kaplan, D. (2004). The Sage handbook of quantitative methodology for the social sciences. Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/53970601
- Krauss, S., Brunner, M., Kunter, M., Baumert, J., Blum, W., Neubrand, M., & Jordan, A. (2008). Pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge of secondary mathematics teachers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 100, 716–725.
- Krippendorf, K. (1980). Content analysis. An Introduction to its Methodology. Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Lederman, N. G., & Latz, M. S. (1995). Knowledge structures in the preservice teacher: Sources, development, interactions, and relationships to teaching. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 6(1), 1–19.
- Lipowsky, F., Rakoczy, K., Vetter, B., Klieme, E., Reusser, K., & Pauli, C. (2005). Quality of geometry instruction and its impact on the achievement of students with different characteristics. *American Educational Research Association*,

- Lipowsky, F., Rakoczy, K., Pauli, C., Drollinger-Vetter, B., Klieme, E., & Reusser, K. (2009). Quality of geometry instruction and its short-term impact on students' understanding of the Pythagorean Theorem. *Learning and Instruction*, 19(6), 527–537. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/B6VFW-4V5GCR7-1/2/8e40bb2c0c91432167cec213c5b9a8c7
- Lubienski, S. T., & Lubienski, C. (2006). School Sector and Academic Achievement: A Multilevel Analysis of NAEP Mathematics Data: American Educational Research Journal. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43(4), 651–698.
- Maas, C. J. M., & Hox, J. J. (2004). Robustness issues in multilevel regression analysis. *Statistica Neerlandica*, 58, 127–137.
- Mayring, P. (1995). Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Grundlagen und Techniken (5th ed.). Weinheim: Dt. Studien-Verl.
- Mayring, P. (2007). Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse. Grundlagen und Techniken (Vol. 9). Basel: Beltz.
- McCurry, D. (2000). Technology for Critical Pedagogy: Beyond Self-Reflection with Video. In D. A. Willis, J. D. Price, & J. Willis (Eds.), *Proceedings of SITE 2000. Abstracts* (pp. 6–11). Charlottesville, VA: Association for the Advancement of Computer in Education (AACE).
- Messick, S. (1989). Meaning and Values in Test Validation: The Science and Ethics of Assessment. Educational Researcher, 18(2), 5–11. doi:10.3102/0013189X018002005
- Mortimer, E. F., & Scott, P. (2003). Meaning making in secondary science classrooms. Buckingham: Open University Press. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/182530398
- Norman K. Denzin, & Yvonna S. Lincoln. (2005). The SAGE handbook of qualitative research: Sage Publications. Retrieved from http://books.google.de/books?id=X85J8ipMpZEC
- Oevermann, U., Allert, T., Konau, E., & Krambeck, T. (1979). Die Methodologie einer "objektiven Hermeneutik" und ihre allgemeine forschungslogische Bedeutung in den Sozialwissenschaften. In H.-G. Soeffner (Ed.), Interpretative Verfahren in den Sozial- und Textwissenschaften (pp. 353–434). Stuttgart: Metzler.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2007). Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) 2006: Science Competencies for Tomorrow's World. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from http://public.eblib.com/EBLPublic/ PublicView.do?ptiID=359823
- Oser, F., Dick, A., & Patry, J. (1992). *Effective and responsible teaching: The new synthesis*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Peterson, K., Kauchak, D., & Yaakobi, D. (1980). Science students' role-specific self-concept: Course, success, and gender. *Science Education*, 64(2), 169–174. doi:10.1002/sce.3730640206
- Peterson, P. L., Fennema, E., Carpenter, T. P., & Loef, M. (1989). Teachers' pedagogical content beliefs in mathematics. *Cognition and Instruction*, 6(1), 1–40.
- Prenzel, M. (Ed.). (2004). PISA 2003: Der Bildungsstand der Jugendlichen in Deutschland Ergebnisse des zweiten internationalen Vergleichs. Münster, München, Berlin: Waxmann. Retrieved from http://swbplus.bsz-bw.de/bsz114861056kla.htm
- Rakoczy, K., Klieme, E., Drollinger-Vetter, B., Lipowsky, F., Pauli, C., & Reusser, K. (2007). Structure as a quality feature of instruction. In M. Prenzel (Ed.), *Studies in the educational quality of schools. The final report on the DFG Priority Programme* (pp. 101–120). Münster: Waxmann.
- Reyer, T. (2005). Qualitative Video-Analysis Applied to Classroom Studies A First-Steps Workshop. In H. E. Fischer (Ed.), Developing Standards in Research on Science Education. The ESERA Summer School 2004. Proceedings of the Conference on Developing Standards in Research on Science Education - the 7th ESERA Summer School, Mülheim, Germany, 28 August - 4 September 2004 (pp. 39–45). London: Taylor&Francis.
- Roth, K. J., Druker, S. L., Garnier, H. E., Lemmens, M., Chen, C., Kawanaka, T., ... (2006). *Teaching science in five countries: Results from the TIMSS 1999 video study statistical analysis report.* (NCES 2006-011). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Retrieved from <a href="http://nces.ed.gov">http://nces.ed.gov</a>.
- Schön, D. A. (1987). Educating the reflective practitioner (1st). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/22142478

Seidel, T., Prenzel, M., & Kobarg, M. (Eds.). (2005). How to run a video study. Münster: Waxmann.

- Seidel, T., Rimmele, R., & Prenzel, M. (2005). Clarity and coherence of lesson goals as a scaffold for student learning. *Learning and Instruction*. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2005.08.004
- Seidel, T., Rimmele, R., & Prenzel, M. (2003). Gelegenheitsstrukturen beim Klassengespräch und ihre Bedeutung für die Lernmotivation. Unterrichtswissenschaft, 31(2), 142–165.
- Seidel, T., Prenzel, M., Rimmele, R., Herweg, C., Kobarg, M., & Schwindt, K. (2007). Science teaching and learning in German physics classrooms. In M. Prenzel (Ed.), *Studies in the educational quality* of schools. The final report on the DFG Priority Programme (pp. 79–99). Münster: Waxmann.
- Seidel, T., & Prenzel, M. (2005). How to run a video study. Technical report of the IPN Video Study. (Kobarg, M., Ed.). Münster: Waxmann.
- Shulman, L. S. (1987). Knowledge and teaching of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, 57, 1–22.
- Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15(2), 4–14.
- Snijders, T. A. B., & Bosker, R. J. (1999). Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling. London: Sage Publications Ltd. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat. org/oclc/474779852
- Staub, F., & Stern, E. (2002). The nature of teachers' pedagogical content beliefs matters for students' achievement gains: quasi-experimental evidence from elementary mathematics. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 94(2), 344–355.
- Stigler, J. W., & Hiebert, J. (1997). Understanding and Improving Mathematics Instruction: An Overview of the TIMSS Video Study. *Phi Delta Kappa*, 79(1), 7–21.
- Stigler, J., Gonzales, P., Kawanaka, T., Knoll, S., & Serrano, A. (1999). The TIMSS videotape classroom study. Methods and findings from an exploratory research project on eighth-grade mathematics instruction in Germany, Japan and the United States. Washington D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). Basics of qualitative research: techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory: Sage Publications. Retrieved from http://books.google.de/ books?id=wTwYUnHYsmMC
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (1998). Mixed methodology: Combining qualitative and quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/38732106
- Titscher, S., & Jenner, B. (2000). *Methods of text and discourse analysis*: Sage. Retrieved from http://books.google.de/books?id=qpaVYyn5Jj8C
- Treumann, K. P. (1998). Triangulation als Kombination qualitativer und quantitativer Forschung. [Triangulation as combination of qualitative and quantitative research] In J. Abel, R. Möller, & K. P. Treumann (Eds.), *Grundriβ der Pädagogik: Vol. 2. Einführung in die Empirische Pädagogik.* Stuttgart: W. Kohlhammer.
- Turner, J., & Meyer, D. (2000). Studying and Understanding the Instructional Contexts of Classrooms: Using our Past to Forge our Future. *Educational Psychologist*, 35(2), 69–85. doi:10.1207/S15326985EP3502 2
- von Aufschnaiter, S., & Welzel, M. (Eds.). (2001). Nutzung von Videodaten zur Untersuchung von Lehr-Lern-Prozessen: aktuelle Methoden empirischer p\u00e4dagogischer Forschung. [Using video data for analysing teaching and learning: recent methods of empirical pedagogical research] M\u00fcnster: Waxmann.
- Wackermann, R., Trendel, G., & Fischer, H. E. (2010). Evaluation of a Theory of Instructional Sequences for Physics Instruction. *International Journal of Science Education*, 32(7), 963–985. doi:10.1080/09500690902984792
- Walberg, H. J. (1981). A psychological theory of educational productivity. In F. H. Farley & N. Gordon (Eds.), Psychology and education: The state of the union ((pp. 81–108). Berkeley: McCutchan.
- Wang, M. C., Haertel, G. D., & Walberg, H. J. (1993). Toward a knowledge base for school learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 63, 249–294.

#### VIDEO ANALYSIS AS A TOOL FOR UNDERSTANDING SCIENCE INSTRUCTION

- Wever, B. de, Vankeer, H., Schellens, T., & Valcke, M. (2007). Applying multilevel modelling to content analysis data: Methodological issues in the study of role assignment in asynchronous discussion groups. *Learning and Instruction*, 17(4), 436–447. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc .2007.04.001
- Wong, A., Young, D., & Fraser, B. (1997). A Multilevel Analysis of Learning Environments and Student Attitudes. *Educational Psychology*, 17(4), 449–468. doi:10.1080/0144341970170406
- Xiaoxia, A. (2002). Gender Differences in Growth in Mathematics Achievement: Three- Level Longitudinal and Multilevel Analyses of Individual, Home, and School Influences. *Mathematical Thinking & Learning*, 4(1), 1–22.
- Yip, D. Y., Tsang, W. K., & Cheung, S. P. (2003). Evaluation of the Effects of Medium of Instruction on the Science Learning of Hong Kong Secondary Students: Performance on the Science Achievement Test. *Bilingual Research Journal*, 27(2), 295–331. doi:10.1080/15235882.2003 .10162808
- Young, D. J. (1997). A Multilevel Analysis of Science and Mathematics Achievement. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association (Chicago, IL, March 24–26).

#### Hans Ernst Fischer

University Duisburg-Essen, nwu-essen, Essen, Germany Hans.fischer@uni-due.de

# Knut Neumann

*IPN – Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education, Kiel, Germany neumann@ipn.uni-kiel.de*
## ANDRÉE TIBERGHIEN AND GÉRARD SENSEVY

# 7. THE NATURE OF VIDEO STUDIES IN SCIENCE EDUCATION:

Analysis of Teaching & Learning Processes

## INTRODUCTION

The use of video recordings as data in research studies in science education began in the 1970s. After almost thirty years, this use is widespread among researchers; video is included in regular research practice. However as any "new instrument", video has modified researchers' practice to the extent that the nature of information given to researchers is different from that of written data, direct observation and even audio recordings. In this chapter, our aim is mainly to give insight into the characteristics of video data and the complex nature of video. In part one we present specific characteristics, mainly the physical ones, then in part two we discuss to what extent one main characteristic of the video is its analogy with the recorded part of the situation in terms of events kept or transformed in the analyses, and in part three we present an actual research study.

### PART 1: CHARACTERISTICS OF VIDEO DATA

Science education publications show that the video's specific roles as data is not analysed frequently even if video data are commonly used. When looking at the papers published in three of the main journals in science education, it appears that in the Journal of Research in Science Teaching, and in Science Education, between 2000 and 2010 respectively eleven and nine papers mention video data in their abstracts, and that in the International Journal of Science Education nine papers mentioned video data in their abstracts in 2009 and 2010; a reduction from those found in 2007–2008. In all these papers, video data are used to study interactive situations, mainly classrooms but also discussion groups, interviews, etc. These numbers under evaluate the use of video data, since we limited the search to abstracts; video use as data has become commonplace and is no longer systematically mentioned in abstracts. The research studies cover various theoretical frameworks involving individual or collective aspects. The specific roles of video are not the focus of these papers; videos seem to be used as other data. Analysis of the role of video may be found from a small number of researchers in the United States (Powel, Francisco & Maher, 2003; Goldman, Pea,

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 141–179. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

Barron & Derry, 2007, Derry & al., 2010) and in France, where the creation of a video database of teaching/learning situations (ViSA) has favoured methodological analysis using video (Veillard & Tiberghien, 2012).

### The Main Characteristics of Video Data: Making Communication Visible

In almost all research studies with video data, the recorded situations involve communication between students and/or teachers and/or researchers. In this chapter we do not take into account studies where videos are used as documentation for the student work. Thus more or less explicitly, videos are used for their main characteristics, making communication visible, as Goldman and McDermott (2007) state:

Analysts should use video *because it makes communication visible* and potentially reveals behavior nested across levels in precarious and contested interactions. (p. 112).

It is not surprising that researchers studying interaction situations, particularly in classrooms, where communication is necessarily implied, favour video as relevant data. To analyse what the characteristics of the video related to the possibility of "viewing the communication" are, we first introduce three main physical characteristics: "density", "permanence", and "length" of the video (Powel, Francisco, & Maher, 2003). Then we discuss two others concerning the relations between the video recording and the situation: "selectivity" and "contingency".

### Density

Video captures two simultaneous data streams of audio and video in real time, recording non verbal behaviour and material elements of the situation. This density makes for the richness of the video which, owing to its two streams, can account for the global recorded situation in a multimodal way. Obviously, this multimodality is crucial to understanding communication.

## Permanence

As Powel et al. (2003) noted:

Unlike the ephemeral nature of live observations, with videotapes, researchers can view recorded events as frequently as necessary and in flexible ways such as "real time, slow motion, frame by frame, forward, backward," and attend to their different features (p. 409–410).

This characteristic feature plays an important role in data analyses. The possibility of viewing and reviewing the video files makes possible analyses by different people and their comparison (Goldman-Segall, 1998). This feature is underlined by researchers coming from different theoretical approaches.

For example TIMSS video studies 1999 in mathematics and science (Hiebert & al., 2003; Roth & al., 2006) emphasize the advantage of the permanence of videos:

Videos allow investigators to view and review *teaching events many times* in order to develop a *shared set of referents for terms and definitions that are linked to images*. This is especially crucial in a study involving multiple languages and countries, especially during the code development phase. In addition, video *facilitates the study of complex processes*, by permitting investigators to parse data analysis into more manageable portions (p. 5) (Hiebert et al. 2003; our emphasis).

This viewing and reviewing enables researchers, particularly in case studies, to modify their theoretical and methodological point of view in the data analysis when the data are already recorded. For example the approach taken by Engle, Conant and Greeno (2007) involved the refinement of hypotheses:

Specifically, in the process of progressive refinement of hypotheses, an investigator begins with a general question and then decides to collect empirical records in a relevant setting with an initial plan for how to use them to learn more. *Initial analysis of these records informs more specific hypotheses that then may be addressed in other aspects of the data*. [...]

[...] However, with the advent of records like video that both are relatively comprehensive and support multiple re-viewings, it is now often possible to take several steps in the progression using the same set of records. Thus, video records can allow a single study to progress through multiple iterations of hypothesis generation and evaluation, making the resulting findings more robust than they might have been otherwise." (p. 240, italics ours)

It appears that video reduces the dependence of the observer on *premature interpretation*. The nature of video data is thus deeply different from direct observation. It is easier for a researcher with video recordings to become more flexible in changing ones theoretical point of view than with field notes. A different aspect of permanence, the long-term preservation of video recordings should also be addressed. It implies keeping information available, that is a permanence of storage, of video file readability, and thus rises the question of computer file formats. We do not develop this aspect here, however we would like to make our community aware of this problem, which cannot be solved at the scale of a research team and necessitates collaborative work between teams.

## Length

By length we not only mean the length of a single recording but also the total length of video corpus for a research project. Today the length of recording is limited only by the size of the digital memory; it can be from a couple of hours to hundreds. Let us note that this situation is completely different from that less than one century ago where 2 or 3 minutes of film was considered a long recording<sup>1</sup>!

The possibility of a large video corpus is used in educational s research practice. In a given project, researchers can collect dozens and even hundreds of hours of video recordings. For example, these recordings can account for a large sample of classrooms or for the life of the same group (a class) or an individual during a long period of time. It is possible to have "continuous" data over a long period of time comparing to other possible data. Thus the evolution or the emergence of diverse phenomena can be investigated.

These enormous corpora of video data, with the possibility of permanency constitute a richness for research and opens for additional research possibilities. Sharing video corpora among a community of researchers provides the development of new research opportunities as exemplified by Talk Bank (MacWhinney, 2007) in the US and in France with ViSA (Veillard et Tiberghien, 2012). However, such databases necessitate new practices in the research community, in particular that of sharing data between groups which do not necessarily have the same theoretical orientations; we are currently in this evolution of practices.

## Selectivity and Contingency

Selectivity and contingency are two main restrictive characteristics of video. Video data are incomplete; they will not be able to portray a complete picture, revealing everything there is to know about an event. The data are constrained by techniques; the space in the place available to put the camera and the camera itself with a limited field of vision. Thus, due to the partial picture, the video recordings can give a false idea of the situation.

Selecting the situation and the ways of managing contingency depends on the researcher's choices:

Choices of perspectives and spots from which to record action, choices of the beginning and the end of a recorded segment – which depend often on technical constraints (such as the length of the cassettes, the possibility of placing the cameras in difficult angles and locations, etc.) – and other technical choices – concerning the equipment, its miniaturization, angles and lenses, microphones, etc. – *results from a reflexive analysis of the situation* even before the action takes place. (Mondada, 2006, p. 57)

At the same time, video can capture events in a situation that the observer does not notice or see. As we introduced before, density of the video associated to permanence makes it possible to modify a theoretical perspective. In other terms, the choice of the camera angle depends on the theoretical framework and at the same time should enable the researcher to modify this framework. This point was raised in a famous discussion<sup>2</sup> between Margaret Mead and Gregory Bateson (1976) moderated by Stewart Brand (see also http://www.oikos.org/forgod.htm). The part of the discussion that is focused on films started by a controversy about the use of a tripod for the camera. Margaret Mead (M) defended the advantage

of the tripod and Gregory Bateson (B) considered that moving the camera is a better choice, they disagreed (our emphasis):

- B: [camera should be off the tripod] to get what's happening
- M: What you think is happening.
- B: If Stewart reached behind his back to scratch himself, *I would like to be over there at that moment*.
- M: If you were over there at that moment *you wouldn't see him kicking the cat under the table*. So that just doesn't hold as an argument.
- B: Of the things that happen the camera is only going to record one percent anyway.
- M: That's right.

Then the discussion is about the Balinese films that Mead and Bateson took when they were working together as anthropologists in Bali. Again Mead reminded Bateson of his use of the tripod and Bateson did not agree on what he did in that case. Mead went on in her argumentation and said:

M: ... [To Stewart:] With the films that Gregory's now repudiating that he took, *we have had twenty-five years* of re-examination of the material.

And later on Mead again said:

M: Well, there are other people who don't, do you know? Take the films that Betty Thompson studied<sup>3</sup> That Karbo sequence – it's beautiful – she was willing to work on it for six months. You've never been willing to work on things that length of time, but *you shouldn't object to other people who can do it, and giving them the material to do it.* 

There were times in the field when I worked with people without filming, and therefore have not been able to subject the material *to changing theory*, as we were able to do with the Balinese stuff. ...

This discussion also illustrates how an apparent technical component of the data collection, here the choice of a tripod, the camera angle, and the length of the film are related to the theory and even epistemology on the role of theory in research. Mead makes explicit that working for a long time on the same films led her to modify her theory. Currently, video technique opens more possibilities; for example in many studies in classrooms, the researchers use two or even more cameras. In these cases, one is devoted to filming the whole classroom and the field of vision of the other(s) camera(s) is usually strongly dependent on the focus of the study. For example a choice can be to focus the camera on two students or on the teacher. The videos from the camera filming the whole classroom could be less theory dependent than the others. It is important to note that this kind of observation is consistent with the viewpoint of neo-realist filmmakers, as Rossellini, or contemporary ones, as Kiarostami. The long shot is a way of

enabling the spectators to choose their perspective, without trying to impose a particular way of gazing at the pictures, by trusting his/her intelligence. A long shot of the whole classroom is less theory-dependant for it may give the researcher the freedom to elaborate a specific way of dealing with what is going on in the classroom.

Concerning *contingency*, video recording imposes rather few constraints on the method of analysis in terms of quantitative, qualitative or high or low inferences (Powel, et al., 2003). However, let us note that video data are often insufficient; additional data on the filmed actors, on the situation, the institutions, etc. are necessary. Research studies like TIMSS video (Hiebert et al., 2003; Roth et al., 2006) have a statistical approach whereas many other studies are case studies including a certain number of classrooms or students in classrooms. Moreover, as we analyse below, the treatment can be carried out with coding and counting whereas others can construct patterns of behaviour or characterize specific events. In these different possibilities of analysis, the treatments of video can keep its character of showing behaviour or can become a code or numbers or statistics. In other words either the analogical character of video to the situation is kept or there is a digital transformation. Let us note that the same research can use both treatments. We develop this point below.

### Analogical and Specific to the Recorded Situation

When a teacher is speaking with students, the video can capture these exchanges and record them. Most of the elements of the recorded situation, in a classroom for example, are material objects, human beings evolving with time and moving in space. When we look at a video recording we are looking at images and sounds that are *analogical* to the effective situation. The situation is recorded with the same physical time. The events like a teacher's question and a student's answer have the same duration as in the effective situation, the time interval between these two events is also the same and the video recording gives an image of a part of the situation. Thus video makes communication visible.

In the perspective taken here, video is analogical. What do we mean by that? In physics and technology, it is stated that:

As humans, we perceive the world in analog. Everything we see and hear is a *continuous transmission of information to our senses*. This continuous stream is what defines analog data. Digital information, on the other hand, estimates analog data using only ones and zeros, the difference between analogical and digital signals is the respect of the continuity of the signal in the way of capturing and recording it. (http://www.techterms.com/definition/analog; our emphasis).

Whereas at the physical level, nowadays the video and audio recordings are digital, when we look at and hear the video recordings, we perceive them as a continuous flux of information; thus we consider that, *at our level of perception, video is analogical.* 

Thus, video not only is analogical to the real situations in time and partly in space, but also has the characteristics of images and not those of texts and words. We just give some important aspects of these differences without discussing them deeply (Sensevy, 2011a).

As we have already presented, video images are dense, in this sense they include infinity of information, and thus would necessitate infinity of sentences to account of them. As soon as we describe an image with sentences, we select some aspects of images; this is a fundamental difference between the videos and all their analyses in texts, graphs and other representations.

The density of images goes together with the *specificity* of images. Video of classroom is specific of the observed classroom and of the actors, their behaviour. *Interpreting images with words allows the researcher to go from specific to generic*. Telling that the teacher says hello to the students arriving in the classroom at the beginning of the session is more generic and can recovers a diversity of situations, some friendly whereas other more aggressively, etc. Again we emphasize that text necessarily selects information.

### CONCLUSION

This short presentation shows technical components; we have distinguished the physical characteristics of the video: data density, permanence, and length, those directly depending on the researcher's choices, selectivity and contingency, and lastly - a crucial characteristic - the analogical character of video to people's behaviour in the material world. This latter embodies the physical properties of video recordings and concerns the relationships between video and the recorded situation. The passage from video or more general analogical situation to texts is crucial to human and social sciences to keep the meaning of behaviour; *video recordings enable the researchers to suspend this passage* that is to keep the analogical character of the situations with its specificity and its infinity of information, and to go back and forth between the analysis in text or other treatments and the video recordings. Finally, we argue that this type of analysis is a way to address the complexity of the communicative situations like classrooms.

These characteristics deeply influence the theoretical and methodological choices; our making video properties explicit aims to help researchers to be better aware of their choices and to clarify the debates between different orientations. With this respect, it is important to emphasize that video data are well suited for the kind of research which focuses on the ongoing concrete actions of people. If theoretical frameworks rest on a conception of action as a communicative action, as we will see below, thus video data enable the researcher to find relevant materials in order to achieve this conception.

## PART 2: ANALYSES OF VIDEO DATA: SOME BASIC CHOICES

In this section we focus on the main methodological choices of which the researcher should be aware when studying classroom situations vis-à-vis the

specific characters of video presented in the first part. Four main choices are discussed: sampling, two main types of data treatment in terms of narratives and/or coding, and scales. We chose these points to the extent that video data need a specific discussion.

### Sampling: What Choices of Space and Temporality?

We take the cases where the studies concern the characterization of classroom practices whatever the approach. Of course the sampling depends on the research questions, thus we focus our discussion on some consequences of two main choices: selecting either one or two lessons by a teacher or a series of lessons over several weeks or months.

TIMSS video 1999 studies is an example of the first choice, one lesson by a teacher is videotaped. The chosen sample aims to be representative of a country; in this process, for each country a sample of schools was selected then a science teacher from each school was randomly selected and each teacher was videotaped once, teaching a single lesson. The authors of this study were aware of the limitation, for example in the case of mathematics, Hiebert & al. (2003) wrote:

[...] taping only one lesson per teacher shapes the kinds of conclusions that can be drawn about instruction. Teaching involves more than constructing and implementing lessons. It also involves weaving together multiple lessons into units that stretch out over days and weeks." (p. 2)

A single lesson is a short period of time with regard to the duration of a class life; it possibly eliminates many events occurring at a time scale of more than one hour, which however can play a role in students' learning even if some events relevant for a longer period of time can be acknowledged. Two main positions can be taken.

A position based on the result that most of the teaching patterns are stable ones justified the choice of taking a single lesson by the teacher (Seidel & Prenzel, 2006). The stable teaching patterns highlight the perennial components of teaching practices, like teacher-student interactions and students' perception of learning conditions (Seidel & Prenzel, ibid). Moreover, the results obtained by TIMSS video 1999 in mathematics for the lesson signature of a country shows that certain patterns are similar among the teachers of one country; for example classroom organization (whole class, group work, individual), the way homework is processed in the lesson, the time taken at the beginning of the lesson to review, the type of mathematics problems, the way and the time to introduce new content in a lesson. Let us note that the last category supposes that the way of introducing new content is a perennial characteristic, which eliminates the role of the nature of the new content from this category; it makes it independent of time for a time scale at the level of an academic year for example. It is very likely that these common patterns among teachers of the same country are perennial patterns over an academic year of a class; in other words, this choice supposes that a single session is considered as generic of the teaching practice in a given classroom.

### THE NATURE OF VIDEO STUDIES IN SCIENCE EDUCATION

Another position considers that conceptual learning needs a long period of time and that teaching and learning time are not identical. Conceptual understanding of science is constructed through acquisition of elements of knowledge but not necessarily in the rational order of the teaching sequence; complex imbrications of association of elements can happen (Petri & Niedderer 1998; Tiberghien, 1997). In that perspective, the evolution of knowledge in the classroom over an academic year should be analysed since this is a necessary condition for students' acquisition in particular for studies that aim to relate classroom practices and students' acquisition. This evolution corresponds to a crucial modification of class life; the teacher's expectations vis-à-vis students are different, they are supposed to know more after each session and to be able to carry out more elaborate tasks. This position does not deny the stable teaching patterns of a teacher but it highlights the evolutionary component of a class during an academic year related to the evolution of the teaching content and students' learning. Clarke, Keitel & Shimizu (2006) take a similar position when they focus their study on "examining the interdependence of teaching and learning as related activities within an integrated body of classroom practice" (p. 12).

The first type of sampling, which consists of units of one or two lessons by a teacher, gives possibility to access to a large number of classrooms; the second type consists of a sampling of a rather long series of lessons by a small number of teachers. These two types of sampling cannot lead the researcher to take into account the same sets of events even if some events are the same. The meaning of the teacher and students' acts cannot be constructed in the same way. For example, class organization (whole class, small groups or individual work) can be considered in all studies whatever their position; however only in studies taking the first position, due to the large sample of classrooms, can the generic aspect be investigated whereas only in the second position can the relationships between the types of classroom organization and the introduction of new elements of knowledge be studied. Thus we should be careful about the conclusions that can be drawn according to the time span of the class life the sampling represents.

In addition to sampling, let us recall a point already made in the first part concerning selectivity and more particularly the dependency of video from theory according to the camera angle. According to the space of the classroom or other situations that are taped, the different temporalities and spaces can or cannot be studied. For example, if the camera is focused on two students without having the rest of the class, the events will be mainly those associated with these students and not with the class, similarly if the camera is focused on the teacher, the students' actions that are missing to study the classroom practices.

### Video Analyses in Terms of Narratives

The question of analysing video in terms of narratives or of coding are not exclusive; however these two types of analysis lead to interpreting the video differently; a main difference is about the selection of events and of their context. Goldman & McDermott (2007) state:

Video records capture what individuals seemingly attend to, talk about, and do with what is at hand, and they allow, more crucially, an analysis of how all this is arranged with the most locally demanding and collectively constructed constraints of time and space. In video analysis, *time is transformed for a simple matter of then and now to a more reticular and reflexive* then in anticipation of a now and now in respect to a then, both occurring simultaneously. *Every moment is a retrospective and prospective advance into the future*; as George Herbert Mead ([1938] 1972:65) confided, "*The unit of existence is the act, not the moment.*" *Space is similarly transformed* analytically from a simple matter of here and there to a more embodied place for the negotiation of person and social relations. This is conceptually difficult. (pp 112–113, our emphasis)

*Choosing the act as the focus of analysis* leads the researchers to make a particular case for the sequence of acts. It means that the researchers keep the video's aspect of being analogical to people's behaviour. The importance of keeping this aspect is emphasized by Bruner (1996) that shows that narratives allow keeping together the acts and their context. The first example of narrative is a story of what happens during a specific session. It corresponds to what Bruner (1991) calls *Narrative diachronicity* in his seminal paper; for him:

A narrative is an account of events occurring over time. It is irreducibly durative. It may be characterizable in seemingly nontemporal terms (as a tragedy or a farce), but such terms only summarize what are quintessentially patterns of events occurring over time (Bruner, 1991, p 6).

In the following we present examples illustrating two different methodological roles of narrative in a research study related to the specificity of a practice or the typicality of a practice.

In this first example, the aim of the narratives is to construct *intermediary data* to reduce the original ones; these narratives give the plot of what is going on in the classroom during a session and more specifically what is at stake from the teaching perspective; in this narrative:

[the researcher] acknowledges the space of the classroom as the place where a "story" unfolds, which proceeds from its actors linked together through a plot (Veyne, 1971). It is built over time, and is related to knowledge at stake. This knowledge is developed jointly, and expressed in the interactions between actors (Marlot, 2008, p. 132).

This example comes from a research study at a primary school aiming to characterize the science classroom from the point of view of the communicative interactions involving a transaction of knowledge in the classroom (Marlot, 2008). In this research study, one session by the teacher was collected. Each session is divided into phases:

PHASE 1: During the first phase which lasts 16 minutes, the teacher, as a first step, asks the class to collectively recall hygiene rules when observing

living things, the "golden rules". Then he asks students to remember the last session where they had chosen among several questions the two questions to be studied, the associated hypotheses, and the observation device. The two questions relating to how worms go into the soil are: "how do earthworms go into the soil?" and "do worms have strength?" They are written on the blackboard and the three hypotheses, followed by a question mark: do they eat? Pointed head? Do they grow?

PHASE 2 [...] At time 48 minutes, the teacher returns to collective work [...]) and gives what is at stake "see if you find the same thing or not." Each student who makes the report reads a sentence to the class giving the observation of the group. Apart from group 1, all groups have adopted the initial assumption "the worms enter the soil by pushing", but apparently without relevant observation. The teacher validates the "result of observation". At this time a double event on the initiative of group 1 happens. The teacher proposes to hold a debate on group 1's proposal: "they eat and they spit it back out [...]". The teacher tries to define an observation which could be relevant and confirm group 1's result or at least to prove what they observe corresponds to what they propose: to do that the teacher proposes to look at "if soil is missing". This is the first selected event. On the other hand, the teacher asks the question to know if it is possible to accept several answers to a question. When at last he puts in question the reliability of group 1's observation (worms eat and spit soil out) by asking the question "did you see it?", one student of group 1 answers that he disagrees with his group. It is the second event (Marlot, 2008, p. 175).

This narrative accounts for the temporality of selected events at the classroom level in which the teacher or the students are the actors; it does not give the temporality of students' activity when they work in small groups for example. It also gives some information on space like the teacher writing at the blackboard or the students reading their report to the whole class. This extract shows how a narrative is a useful tool for identifying events in the ongoing didactic process. By telling the story of knowledge in this lesson, one becomes aware that the teacher validates some answers without evidence, and asks for evidence for other answers. Acknowledging this kind of managing classroom dialogue enables the researcher to understand the intentional state of the teacher.

The example, phase 2, shows that the intentional state attributed to the teacher by the narrative process (validating "the worms enter the soil by pushing" and challenging "they eat and they spit it back out") may shed some light on the significance of events the researcher identifies. By comparing this narrative to the interviews of the teacher, one may be able to understand that the teacher is dealing with what he thinks to be the misconception of "worms eating the land in order to enter the soil". This narrative accounts for this course of events.

This example raises the question of the interpretive or explanatory roles of narrative discussed by Bruner:

Narratives are about people acting in a setting, and the happenings that befall them must be relevant to their intentional states while so engaged—to their beliefs, desires, theories, values, and so on. [...] But *intentional states in narrative never fully determine the course of events*, since a character with a particular intentional state might end up doing practically anything. [...] The loose link between intentional states and subsequent action is the reason why narrative accounts cannot provide causal explanations. What they supply instead is the basis for interpreting why a character acted as he or she did. Interpretation is concerned with "reasons" for things happening, rather than strictly with their "causes," a matter to which we turn next. (Bruner, 1991, p. 7).

More generally these narratives together with other analyses, in particular the synopsis that we discuss below in the part on scale of analysis, are the bases for selecting relevant parts to be analyzed in more depth. *These narratives are methodological tools aimed at giving a global view in a sequential order and selecting a relevant sequence of events.* They may be progressively refined by integrating different kinds of information the researcher gathered in the inquiry process.

This use of narratives as intermediary data first supposes a structuring of the video, like in the example where the didactic phases are the basis of this structuring. At the same time they are themselves one of the bases for selecting video extracts to analyze more deeply. For some orientation of research studies they play a crucial role in the processes of decomposing / recomposing video. In this use, the narratives show the specificity of a practice by focusing on specific events which can provide clues to the researcher's inquiry process.

The following example gives a different status to narratives, they are results of a study. They come from TIMSS Video Studies 1999, one in mathematics and the other in science for the Netherlands showing a typical lesson in these disciplines for this country:

[...] a majority of eighth-grade Dutch mathematics lessons began with a review of previously learned content (64 percent), though a noticeable percentage of lessons began directly with the introduction of new content (29 percent [..]). By the midpoint of the lesson, the percentage of lessons that were focused on review, introducing new content, or practicing new content, were relatively evenly divided (30, 34, and 29 percent, respectively,[...]). [...]The midpoint of the lesson is also the time when a majority of Dutch lessons moved into private interaction, wherein students worked individually or in small groups, and focused on sets of problems (concurrent problems) completed as seatwork. (Hiebert et al., 2003, p. 138).

This extract gives a story dealing with the possible sequencing of a lesson and the type of content (previously taught or new) in the Netherlands.

This narrative is an example of account of events, and is based on digital analysis consisting of coding events.

This narrative has a general status; it is not related to what actually happened but to what has the chance of happening in a particular country for a particular taught discipline on the basis of previous coding. They show that one can use narratives to identify what is *typical*. In that case, narratives help in designating didactic patterns.

This corresponds to the difficult question of relation between *particularity and genericness* which characterizes narrative as raised by Bruner:

Narratives take as their ostensive reference particular happenings. But this is, as it were, their vehicle rather than their destination. For stories plainly fall into more general types... *Particularity achieves its emblematic status by its embeddedness in a story that is in some sense generic*. And, indeed, it is by virtue of this embeddedness in genre, to look ahead, that narrative particulars can be "filled in" when they are missing from an account (Bruner, 1991, p. 7, our emphasis).

Thus narratives can be situated in a kind of gradient between very strong concrete specificity and very abstract patterns, which is a real advantage from the methodological viewpoint. In the first part we emphasized the character of specificity of videos, they allow the researcher to identify specific facts and events. Narratives are a way to go from this specificity of facts, events to their genericness.

With this respect, narratives can be easily linked to video clips; each part of a narrative can be associated with a series of clips illustrating "the generic case". The narrative plays a distinctive and fundamental role of associating the particular (each clip presents a kind of specificity) and the generic (each clip can be viewed as a "sample" of a generic category).

## Video Analysis in Terms of Coding

Coding is a practice that is not specific to video data, thus we shall focus our discussion on the similarities and differences between coding video data and coding another type of data like written data. We shall also briefly compare coding video and coding classroom events by an observer in situation.

## Similarities between Coding Video, Written Data, and Observing in Situation

In both cases, the researcher transforms the people's acts, written sentences, oral utterances and/or gestures, into a formal code in comparison to a reference. Each code gives the total or partial presence or absence of the event to which it corresponding to a given coding is considered as equivalent whatever the context, in particular whatever is going on before, simultaneously, or after either in the text or in the video. The coding supposes that events coded in the same way are viewed as the same. In some cases, coding can be automatically done from texts (written text production or transcription of videos). These procedures of coding, that is

associating an event to a code is similar for the three cases, video, written data and observing video.

A similarity between only written production and the video is their permanence; the researcher has the possibility to come back to them if necessary; this is a strong difference with observing in situation.

Let us take the cases of coding video at the duration scale of minutes or dozen of minutes like the classroom organization (when the students are working as a whole class, in small groups, individually or when the situation is mixed like when the teacher is speaking to the whole class whereas the students are working in small groups or individually), a code such as a letter or a number is associated with each category. Another element of information can also be associated: the duration of each classroom organization during a teaching session. This coding can be done from video data or from direct observation. In both cases, counting and applying statistics is made possible. For example comparisons can be established in a classroom between the types of session, the taught disciplines, etc. or between classrooms in terms of the number of times a given organization takes place or in terms of the total (or partial according to certain criteria) duration. TIMSS video projects are good examples of video data use showing the differences of class organization between countries (Hiebert et al., 2003, Roth et al., 2006).

### Differences between Coding Video, Written Data, and Observing in Situation

A main difference between coding videos and observing in situation in one hand and written data on the other hand is that students' production process takes place in the information from which the coding is done in the first case only.

When coding students' written answers, the researcher deals only with the production of students' written acts; on the other hand when coding student's utterances from video, the researcher has access *to the acts from which the utterances are produced* and not only to the written production. Thus the specificity of video - recording communication - is involved like of course in the situation itself. On the other hand the permanence of video allowing the researcher having access to these acts as often as necessary plays a role in the interpretation and the construction of coding. For example, TIMSS video projects involve people of different cultures devoting time and effort to designing coding of classroom video; in this process the researchers constructed a series of video extracts playing the role of referents or "cases". These references not only involve the events or production to be coded but also their processes. Thus the interpretation involved in the coding process is based on *acts and production*; this can change from an interpretation based only on the production.

This kind of difference is not involved when comparing coding from observing the situation or viewing the video. In both cases, the interpretation is made from acts and production, however two main differences remain. The first one is obvious, the observer in situation can only code what s/he sees and the viewer of the video can only view the part of the situation which has been recorded. The second one is that it is possible to view and review the video and to discuss the interpretations with other people. These video characteristics influence the way of validating coding: the criteria of coding should include some specification of the conditions of the observable to be coded. Sharing coding supposes that researchers share a series of video extracts serving as reference cases (e.g. the Panel-of-Judges method).

### Comments on the Risk of Creating Genericness Illustrated with Video Clips

The question of genericness is always present in research studies whatever the methodology. Genericness is based on facts/event observed in the video. The narratives whatever their roles and the coding processes are associated with video clips showing specific cases as relevant events and allowing the researchers to understand and characterize the studied classroom, and/or teaching or learning phenomena. This is a richness of video data but also a risk.

Miller and Zhou (2007) recommend being careful of these uses because of the possible persuasiveness of video clips:

[...] we will argue that video cases can be unusually persuasive because they can function as a form of anecdote, processed differently than are other kinds of data-based reports." (p. 321–322)

For them it is necessary "... collecting cases in a comprehensive and systematic way, presenting them as well-described samples from a larger domain of instructional experience, establishing their representativeness, and presenting them in a manner that enables viewers to comprehend them. (Miller and Zhou, 2007, p. 329)

In other words these authors raise the question of the theoretical criteria behind the selection of the video extracts. In order to be able to acknowledge that a case is a "sample from a large domain of instructional experience", one needs to use a theoretical viewpoint that establishes their "representativeness". Thus, a major theoretical and methodological issue consists of the dialectic relationship a researcher is able to build up between a narrative stance and the rules constructed on the basis of the theoretical and methodological choices (grammar in Bruner sense). For example, in the case of TIMSS video studies, their set of video coding is the structure or the grammar in Bruner terms and the narrative represents the coding results of the videos by featuring a classroom life; thus their genericness is based on these theoretical and methodological choices

## Scales of Analysis

Concerning the scales of analysis we differentiate the researcher's levels of observation from the scale of the events involved in the situation itself. The level of observation of videos is related to human capacities and technical capacities of the instrument of viewing videos. As human beings, the observations of a video extract that lasts for a minute or some seconds or for an hour cannot lead to the same way

of understanding and interpretation. It seems that there is an agreement to consider that events and their succession at a short physical time scale (seconds or minutes) are directly observable on videos, they can be viewed and reviewed either at the normal speed or frame-by-frame in the limit imposed by the camera (usually 25 frames per second) even if the transcription helps. On the other hand, the course of events at the scale of an hour can hardly be observed directly globally and in detail. Most of the time, events and the course of events are re-composed from transcriptions and observations at a smaller scale or globally approached with complementary data and/or by analysing the video in a new step. For the course of events at a larger scale than an hour, we consider that the observers are not able to embrace the video directly and need to work on parts and possibly to use complementary data to make sense of the course of events.

## Three Scales, the Most Usual Choice

The *question of scales* is central to the study of complex situations like communicative ones even if it is difficult. For example, Ash (2007) studied how families visiting a museum "can take advantages of a number of resources as scaffolds, discontinuously over time." (p. 211). For that she considered:

To understand scientific sense making over time, we need tools that can track meaning over disconnected dialogic events. *It has taken me years to design methods to frame units of analysis that can capture these discontinuous events.* I have discovered that I need to *focus on three different levels of analysis*, and to move back and forth among them in order to fully follow meaning making in action. (Ash, 2007; p. 212, our italics).

The three levels chosen are (1) a large grained and holistic one as we present it below, (2) an intermediate one called significant event, which is a specific choice in this research and (3) a microgenetic one that comprises a detailed dialogic analysis. More generally, the macro and micro levels are more easily defined than the meso scale.

The micro scale often corresponds to events the duration of which lasts about a few seconds (or even less) to a minute. More generally, at this scale, the units of analysis chosen by the researchers in science education often are a word, a single utterance or a short exchange, leading to coding or other interpretations (Hiebert et al., 2003; Roth et al., 2005; Fisher et al., [this volume]; Roth et al., 2008).

The macro scale depends on the type of study, that is the duration of the observed teaching for a classroom or more generally of the observed system, a student, a family (Ash, 2007), a group, etc. This duration can be about one hour (one session), dozens of hours (typically the duration of a teaching sequence), or hundreds of hours ranging over one or several academic years. In other words it is convenient for the researcher to take as a macro scale the maximum period of time which the study deals with.

The choice of the meso scale is more open; it is not strongly influenced by the duration of the study like the macro scale nor by the smallest units of analysis like

the micro scale. However, an intermediate scale is necessary to take into account one or several relevant units which indicate a level of organization. As we illustrate below, in the case of our studies, this scale corresponds to about ten minutes (from a couple of minutes to about 40 minutes depending on the chosen unit). This time scale is particularly relevant for classroom studies because it corresponds to events characterizing the life of a class as a group like the classroom organization in a whole class, small groups or individuals, or like the didactic phases that are the duration of an activity, an exercise, a debate, a teacher's lecture, etc.

Whatever the choice of scales, most of the time the researcher needs to construct a global view of the set of situations that are filmed in relation to other data: we call it a *synopsis* that often has not only the functions of giving a global view but also those of selecting and giving landmarks.

## The Global View: Synopsis

A synopsis gives an overview of the set of situations; this view can be constructed with different goals, in particular *giving landmarks* in order to go to a specific part of videos (or other data) when needed, and/or enabling the researcher to *select significant parts of videos and other data* to be analysed in depth. The synopsis can be a narrative of the story of the studied system like that of a classroom or a student's school life during a period of time. It is a way of organizing the data which makes sense easily, as Bruner (1991) proposed:

[...] we organize our experience and our memory of human happenings mainly in the form of narrative—stories, excuses, myths, reasons for doing and not doing, and so on. Narrative is a conventional form, transmitted culturally and constrained by each individual's level of mastery and by his conglomerate of prosthetic devices, colleagues, and mentors. (Bruner, 1991, p. 4)

Depending on the researcher and the type of study, the global view can consist of making a single construction or a series of constructions with the same model for a given unit of analysis. For example if a researcher studies a series of teaching sessions or any similar unit, each session gives rise to a synopsis and the global synopsis consists of this series.

As introduced before, Ash (2007) constructed a macro level view that she called flow charts for each visit (about one hour) of a family in a museum (table 1). For her, the flow chart is:

large grained and holistic [...] This flow chart provides an overview of one entire visit (typically 40–60 mins), as well as the pre and post interviews (15–20 mins each).

[...]

The purpose of the flow chart is to provide a flexible overview of a single museum visit, from which particular segments can be identified and analyzed in more detail ... (Ash, 2007, p. 212).

For Ash (2007) the purpose is clearly double: selecting relevant segments and giving landmarks. Table 1 shows the focus of this study: the content themes are involved in the global view. Moreover in other tables they give the structure of the whole research.

 Table 1. Example of synopsis [source: Ash (2007, p. 213 legend: Flow chart MBA (Monterey Bay Aquarium' Splash Zone).

Family X, Mother, father, daughter (A, 10), son (8), son (5)						
Interpreter X & Researcher (Y)						
June 14, 2001						
Time	Exhibit	Overwiew	Content themes			
0-30:00	Pre interview	Lon, rich interview. Mom	Frequent museum goers,			
	with Splash	tells most. She uses the	Museums are fun, better than			
	Zone cards	Splash Zone animal cards to	flea market, all members			
		start the conversation. []	have favorite animals.			
[]						
34:50	Whole family	Some talk about otter	At the otter tank briefly –Is			
	is looking at	behavior Dad/kids lead,	otter asleep? -How would			
	otters	MBA is crowded	you know?			
37:00	Looking at	Family separates; Mom	Whale is Eva's favorite			
	video of	listens attentively &	animal, because they			
	whales in the	questions Eva	communicate,			
	hallways	_	Blue whale has smaller			
			flippers			

Another method consists of producing a single synopsis for the whole study for a classroom. Ligozat (2008) studied mathematics teaching on measuring during an academic year by four primary school teachers in Switzerland and in France. She constructed a synopsis of the whole year for each teacher (table 2).

 Table 2. Other type of synopsis [source Ligozat (2008), p. 241 Legend: "reduced" synoptic plan of observed sessions in the Teacher X's teaching project]

Date of session	Duration of the session				
Nov 4	Comparing masses [Textbook- measuring quantities] (Grade 4) Working in groups of 4/ plenary sessions where solutions are pooled				
			Geometry		
Nov 21	Graduations [Textbook- proportionalities] (Grade 4) Individual work/ plenary/individual work	Graduations [Textbook- proportionalities] (Grade 4) plenary where solutions are pooled			

The rectangles of the second column give the teaching parts corresponding to the studied topic: measurement, the didactic resources (like textbook) the classroom social organization and the rectangles of the last column give the date and the theme of the mathematics teaching which do not deal with the studied topic in the study (measurement).

Such synopses play a major role in this study to the extent that comparisons on the whole academic year can be done on the topics involved in each classroom, on their extent in time, and together on the didactic resources and the class organization. These synopses relate the macro scale (here the whole academic year) and the mesoscopic scale (here the session with the topics and the class organizations). They constitute the reference for the analyses at micro scale. For example, it appears that to analyse the class of a teacher, it was necessary to go to a much finer granularity analysis than for the other class. Ligozat's interpretation is the difference between the social organizations of the class in relation to the use of didactic resources; more globally, the teacher who practises a more individual teaching needs a finer analysis. Such an interpretation is possible because of the synopsis giving the whole academic year at level sufficiently developed that is at a meso scale.

### CONCLUSION

In this part we have discussed some methodological aspects of studies based on video data. All of them involve the question of going from the specificity of video data to a necessary genericness of research results. They also involve the way the context of the selected facts/events are taken into account.

In particular we have emphasized that narratives are particularly important for video studies to the extent that, at least partly, they keep the analogical character to the recorded situation, that is some temporalities and spaces of the students' and teacher's acts involved in the situation or in other words, the context. We have also noted that coding is different in the case of video from the cases of many other data to the extent that video gives access to the process of production (oral or written) and not only the production; also for example the clips which serve as referent in video coding processes involve the process of what is coded (for example reviewing, assessing students' learning, developing new content).

Another aspect deals with the selection of video clips that, due to the power of image, can highlight some events which are not representative of the analyses, then we emphasize the necessity of making explicit the relationships between the selected clips and the structuring of the corpus. More generally, the importance of making explicit the theoretical and the methodological choices has been emphasized, even if the video clips could seem giving evidence enough without necessity of proving it. Lastly we have discussed the importance of analyzing a video corpus in terms of scales to the extent that it is a methodological approach relevant to the complex systems that classrooms are. In this case, the level of analysis giving a global view is particularly important because it gives the structure of the analyses.

## PART 3: A STUDY BASED ON JOINT ACTION THEORY IN DIDACTICS AND ITS RELATION WITH OTHER STUDIES

In this part we present a specific research study that, in particular, is an example of work at several scales focusing on the act as a significant unit of analysis. In particular, this example shows the role of theory in the video data analysis.

## The Theoretical Framework of Joint Action Theory in Didactics and its Compatibility with Video Data

We shall consider the learning-teaching process within the perspective of the Joint Action Theory in Didactics (JATD) where the didactic action includes the two joint actions of teaching and learning (Sensevy, 2007, Sensevy, 2011b). This approach aims to understand classroom practices in order to characterize them. Thus our intention is to be comprehensive first rather than explanatory.

### The Joint Action Theory in Didactics (JATD)

In this theory, the main object of study is the classroom viewed as a community of practice where the didactic action involves two joint actions: teaching and learning (Mercier, Schubauer-Leoni & Sensevy 2002). For Sensevy (2007) this statement is taken as a fact:

Let us take any didactic act, in each teacher's action, the student has a space, even tiny, and there is the same thing for each student's action (Sensevy, 2007, p. 15)

Sensevy includes a note to explain this choice in reference to Quéré (2006) and Descombes (1996):<sup>4</sup>

For Quéré (2006) a "social act" is "social to the extent that it is distributed among several individuals and demands cooperation; each individual accomplishes his/her part of the whole act and *one individual cannot act without the other*" (ibid, p. 15). [...]. Then Quéré following Descombes (1996) shows that, in essence, a social act is linked by a social relation to another complementary social act, and again, he finds the paradigm of teaching: "the teacher cannot teach if s/he does not have a student to carry out the complementary activity of learning" (p. 15). (Sensevy, 2007, p. 15)

The two joint actions, teaching and learning are produced along their duration within the triple didactic relationship between knowledge, teacher and students. These joint actions are based on communication oriented by the instructional goal given by society to the school. In most countries, this goal is made explicit through official texts including standards or an official curriculum. Thus knowledge is at stake in classroom communication. This view of communication as knowledge-oriented is developed with the idea of transactions. This idea is very coherent with that of didactic joint action. In the JATD the finality of classroom transactions is knowledge. These considerations lead us to investigate the didactic action and its evolution within the teaching time by focusing on knowledge<sup>5</sup> in the classroom and its progression, or in other terms by focusing on the evolution of knowledge involved in the transactions. Three aspects are involved: (1) who (teacher, students) introduce(s) and/or deal(s) with knowledge, (2) what is the knowledge involved, (3) in what situations (material and communicative) the transactions take place. Another important component of the classroom, which accounts for the whole classroom practice (or the whole didactic action), is about the reciprocal expectations that the teacher and the students may have. This component has been introduced by Brousseau (1998) who called it didactic contract. This contract forms a system of norms that one can see as a system of habits, some of which are generic and will be lasting, and others are specific to elements of knowledge and need to be redefined with the introduction of new elements. For example, after the teacher has introduced the concept of force, his/her expectations of the students' interpretations of material situations will be different from before.

Thus the classroom is investigated in terms of the didactic contract and of three notions relative to knowledge considered as the object of transactions. More specifically, three concepts are proposed: chronogenesis, topogenesis, mesogenesis. *Chronogenesis* accounts for the development of knowledge during teaching and involves a relationship between knowledge and time. *Topogenesis* means the places of actors (teacher and students) who take responsibility for introducing/using elements of knowledge, and to what extent their responsibility is recognized by the class. *Mesogenesis* is related to the "milieu," that is the social and material components with which actors construct knowledge and meaning (Sensevy, Schubauer-Leoni, Mercier, Ligozat, & Perrot, 2005; Sensevy, Tiberghien, Santini, Laubé, & Griggs, 2008).

*Possible links between JATD and other theoretical approaches* Let us note that the concept of didactic contract is close to what Cobb et al. (2009) call normative identity:

In the case both of classrooms where some students are resisting and of classrooms in which there is no oppositional discourse, an analysis of general and specifically mathematical obligations specifies the role of an effective mathematics student. We call this role the *normative identity* established in a particular classroom because students would have to identify with this role in order to develop a sense of affiliation with mathematical activity as it is realized in that classroom (Cobb et al., 2009, p. 229).

In the same way as the concept of didactic contract, normative identity refers to class phenomena. The notion of a didactic contract emphasizes the specific knowledge at stake, which aims to define precisely the normative identity.

The concepts of chrono-, topo-, mesogenesis and didactic contract characterize class-level phenomena and not the level of the learner or the teacher as individuals. These concepts can be related to other concepts allowing the researchers to differentiate *collective and individual processes*. For example, Engle (2006) proposed:

[to] determine whether the generalizations or multiple examples became part of the *common ground for the collective*, and then consider this as content available to be potentially appropriated by individuals, with the recognition that content is often transformed during that process (our emphasis, p. 455).

These relationships established with other researchers' work make explicit that our approach includes the view of a classroom as a group and also enables us to analyse individual student contribution to the classroom life. Let us note that this theoretical choice influences the chosen field of the cameras in the classroom.

The importance of knowledge in our studies leads us now to briefly discuss our position on it.

*Position on knowledge* Our didactic point of view on knowledge is different from epistemological and sociological ones. For example Latour (2005) has studied how actions within social organizations allow the construction of knowledge; its focus is not knowledge in itself but actions involved in its construction. Hacking (1983/2005) has studied what new knowledge is constructed, its evolution but not the social processes that lead to its construction, even if the social context is taken into account.

In our case, we study what and how knowledge, of which some of the main lines have already been decided (official curriculum), is shaped and shared in a classroom considered as a group under the teacher's responsibility. Thus knowledge constructed by this group is partly specific to it. We study the "life of this knowledge" in the classroom, which is "what and how" knowledge is constructed and evolves in its duration within the life of the class group. Even though the official curricula as well as the 'definitions' of science literacy are always elaborated in reference to knowledge and practices belonging to spheres of activity outside the educative system, we study the proper life of knowledge inside the classroom in order to understand the teaching/learning process.

To take into account the relations between knowledge outside and inside school, we call upon the concept of transposition. Following Chevallard (1991), there is a transposition process from knowledge taken as reference and knowledge at stake in the curriculum and another transposition process from the curriculum to the classroom knowledge. The reference knowledge is often that of the discipline of the taught knowledge but can also be that involved in other society practices. The basic idea of this theory is that *the meaning of knowledge depends on the transaction process in which knowledge unfolds*. Consequently the knowledge involved in two classrooms at the same level and with the same teacher is different because the transactions processes are different. We call the knowledge involved in a classroom the taught knowledge.

### THE NATURE OF VIDEO STUDIES IN SCIENCE EDUCATION

JATD theory and temporalities and spaces of communication The JATD aims to describe and understand human communicative actions. Thus, video recording that makes communication visible gives powerful data to this theory. More specifically, the three concepts of chronogenesis, topogenesis, mesogenesis account for temporalities and spaces of classroom communicative acts involving knowledge. For example one set of elements of knowledge can be involved in a series of teaching sessions and in a single session several new elements of knowledge are introduced. Then the flow of introducing new elements of knowledge is not linear to the physical time, this chronogenesis has specific temporalities. Topogenesis and mesogenesis account for communicative spaces; for example if in a classroom the teacher always has the responsibility of introducing knowledge and that there is no debate about knowledge whereas in another classroom the students can debate and question elements of knowledge the respective places of the teacher and the students in the communication about knowledge are clearly different; the spaces of knowledge communication for which topogenesis account are different. Even in one class, a moment of a session can be devoted to the teacher's synthesis of a debate whereas at another moment the students can debate a solution to a task proposed by one of them, and thus take the responsibility of the elements of knowledge involved in their utterances. These differences in the responsibility lead us to consider that there are different topogeneses according to the moment of the session but this concept also accounts for the evolution of the teacher's and the students' places vis-à-vis knowledge. Thus the spaces of communication are not limited to the situation of the utterances' production. Moreover, knowledge production by the actors and the way the actors do it depends strongly on their environment. For example an inquiry task where students have to design experiments to test a conjecture, seems very open whereas it could be closed if, to carry it out, the students had to use an imposed set of objects and measurement apparatus. In that case instead of focusing on the question, dealing with the students' environment called milieu, our theory enables us to better characterize the spaces of students' actions and compare to other classrooms where the task statement is the same but the milieus are different.

The didactic contract includes the three concepts to the extent that the teacher's and the students' reciprocal expectations depend on the knowledge content, its evolution, the way the teacher and students process their actions on their environment with it.

This concept accounts for the way the communicative processes are regulated in the classroom for the whole life of the class and thus accounts for the evolution of this life during an academic year. Some components of the contract are norms established for the whole academic year whereas other components like teacher's and students' expectations during a task strongly depend on the task and the precise knowledge at stake.

These concepts allow us to approach the complexity of classrooms and thus to use different scales of analysis. For example, when a student intervenes during a debate, this intervention cannot be only interpreted on the basis of what happens

during this moment. Indeed the didactic contract established during the whole year can help understand this intervention. Moreover, the argument involved in this intervention should be interpreted with regard to the elements of knowledge introduced before, including a rather long time ago. This example shows the necessary linkage of scales, the scale of the intervention (micro scale) and a larger scale at the level of weeks or of the whole academic year. This notion of scales is developed below.

### Analyses According to the Three Scales of Analysis: Macro, Meso, Micro

As we argue below, the learning/teaching process needs to be understood at different scale-levels. To understand the reality as a process at a given scale level, one has to relate the facts and events selected at a scale to those at another scale. Thus researchers have to identify different techniques in order to describe the reality at different scales, then to network these different descriptions.

*Macro scale* In our research studies, the macro scale analysis was done for the two observed classrooms during a teaching sequence on a specific topic in physics, mechanics (grade 10). As we have already discussed, the macro view cannot be directly constructed from video data; in our case it means that the effective taught knowledge in a classroom has to be reconstructed from lower scale analyses and from teacher's documents in relation to the official curriculum. Figure 1 presents this reconstruction, the conceptual structure of the teaching sequence in the two observed classes; it appears that the order of presentation of the concepts are different in parts I: in class 1 the concept of force is introduced by the effects whereas in class 2, the notion of action is introduced first and then the concept of force. Let us note that class 1 followed a teaching sequence designed in a group where teachers and researchers work together (Tiberghien, Vince, and Giadioz, 2009; Tiberghien et al., 2011)



Figure 1. Structure of the taught sequences by two teachers for the introduction of dynamics.

### THE NATURE OF VIDEO STUDIES IN SCIENCE EDUCATION

As discussed in part 2, this macro-level corresponds to the total duration during which classrooms are studied. This is a kind of description that allows us to situate lower level events. More generally, the scale at a level N serves as reference to situate events at lower levels. Metaphorically, it is like in language: the level of word, of sentence, of text. Some aspects of the word can be and have to be understood at the word level, but in order to adequately understand the meaning of a word, one has to situate the word in a sentence, etc.

### Mesoscale: the Case of Themes

*Our study* As presented in the theoretical framework, the focus is on what and how knowledge is involved in the transactions; consequently we aimed to account for knowledge involved in the classroom communication during a teaching sequence. This is why we chose a thematic analysis that accounts for the meaning of knowledge that is really staged in the classroom and its temporal evolution (Ash, 2008; Tiberghien & Malkoun, 2009).

A session includes several themes; each theme can be dealt with by the class with different shaped patterns of communication; however going from one theme to another involves an introduction and a conclusion whatever the shape it takes (Cross & al., 2009). The shape is varied, the teacher moves from place to place, erases the blackboard, or gives a summary at the end and explicitly introduces a new theme. We consider that this change should involve observable clues in the classroom communication. Changing themes corresponds to a modification of the object of the transactions between the teacher and the students. Its duration ranges from a few minutes to more than half an hour; the granularity of knowledge is lower than that of knowledge included in the whole sequence and bigger than an element of knowledge given in a single utterance.

A theme can constitute *a unit of analysis*; thus the video recording of the sessions is broken down into different units. Structuring by theme is not coding in the sense of a number associated with the presence or absence (or intermediary scale) of an event according to definite criteria; this is an example of structuring video (figure 2).

At the same time each video extract of a theme is still analogical to the classroom situation to the extent that the relative times of events that take place within the extract are kept. However, this is true only if *the duration of the event is smaller or equal to the duration of the extract*. For example if a whole session is devoted to laboratory work or to the correction of an important exam, these events that give meaning to the whole session are not given by the extract. More generally, the intentionality of human practices means that the behaviour of the teacher or a student cannot be explained by what is going on in the situation. This emphasizes the importance of being aware that going to a smaller scale of analysis cannot give the structuring of the situation at a higher scale (Lemke, 2001).

One may say that there is a kind of over determination of higher levels on lower levels. For instance, it is very difficult to understand how a theme changes without appealing to a higher level structure within which it is possible to understand this change. In a similar way, if one wants to understand some conversational shift at a

micro-level, one needs to identify what may explain this shift in the actual theme. We can propose a general rule: at some moments, one necessarily needs a n+1 level structure or higher to understand events situated at level n.

Sess	Time	Themes in class 1	Themes in class 2	Time	Ses
ion	(min)			(min)	sion
S 2	6:13	1. Graph representation	(other topic)		
	13:35	2. Interactions for various	1. Effects of force on the	18	SI
		situations	motion of a object		
		3. Situations for chosen	2. Interactions		
	4.05	systems in interactions	Oo latarastiana - A asta	14.00	<u> </u>
	1:25	4. Introduction of the general	2a. Interactions = A acts	14:33	
	18.44	5 Determination of phases of	2h Interactions at	4.39	<u> </u>
		motion of an object, direction	distance and contact		
		of action on this object,	interactions		
		variation of velocity			
	10:41	6. Analysis of interactions for	1 Revision of	1: 31	SII
		different phases of motion of	interactions		
		an object (case of a medicine-			
		ball)			
	4:41	7. Introduction of the force	2. Modelling actions by	34:	
		and its vector representation	the forces (representation	00	
		and of the principle of	and measurement of		
	0.23	8 Using (exercising) force	3 Force and mass	10.26	<u> </u>
	9.25	and its vector representation		10.20	
		from interactions (use of the			
		full model of interactions)			
S 3	5:14	1. Interactions: relations	4. Lists of forces which	44:48	
		between a symbolic	compensate or not		
		representation and one or	according to the motion		
		several material situations			
	10:10	2. Representation of force			SIV
		modelling an interaction (not			
		length of vectors)			
	30:31	3. Representation of force			
		modelling a moving object			

Figure 2. Comparison of the development of themes in two classes (grade 10) for the introduction of the notion of force (in class 1 the notion of action has been introduced in session 1 not in this table). The bold line between the cells means a new session, a theme in italic includes several sub-themes. (extract from Malkoun, 2007, p. 80).

With this respect, analyses by themes structure the development in time of the taught knowledge of a whole sequence (figure 2). Figure 2 gives an example of this analysis

in two classes (grade 10) for a part of mechanics teaching. It shows that force is introduced differently according to the classroom, and that some parts of knowledge like the vector representation of forces is developed more in class 1 than in class 2. More generally, such a figure gives a representation of the evolution of knowledge in a given classroom. Let us note that the theme title plays an important role in accounting for this knowledge evolution. This title should account for what is effectively involved in the classroom, in particular, all the words of the title should be in the classroom discourse; the title should not come from the titles of the official curriculum. The title plays the role of a short summary, in a synoptic perspective.

This unit at the meso scale is particularly relevant to investigating the students' and teacher's responsibility in knowledge development and in its display (topogenesis). The didactic contract, taking into account the situation, can also be analysed in depth in each unit (Tiberghien & Malkoun, 2007; Malkoun, 2007). We have chosen to use narrative to account for *what* knowledge the teacher and the students introduce and *how* they deal with it during the theme. The narrative is about the "slice of life" story of the class from the knowledge perspective, *it does not dissociate what and how* knowledge lives in classrooms.

We give a short example of this type of analysis. It comes from theme 2 of session 2 in class 1 (figure 2). During this theme, the class is doing homework correction.

With the help of the model of interactions, draw the system-interactions diagram describing the following situations. The underlined word indicates the object corresponding to the system considered.

- 1. a) An object put down on a table.
- b) A table on which an object is put down.
- 2. The Earth, planet of the Sun and which has a natural satellite, the Moon (the

interactions involving the other bodies are neglected).

### Figure 3. Extract of the statement of the exercises.

The exercise is given in figure 3 and the student's correction drawn on the blackboard by a student is given in figure 4 part 1, and the right solution figure 4 part 2. Malkoun (2007) analysed this theme as the following:

The students, who are at the blackboard, make the correction of the exercises and when the diagrams are drawn, in a first step the teacher reformulates with words the diagram and the students discuss the proposals, in a second step the teacher asks the student to correct their errors on their notebook. [These two steps overlap....]

The use of the diagrams brings out students' difficulties on the difference between the Earth and the ground and on the role of the air. The first difficulty leads the teacher to introduce a new element of knowledge, the direction of the action of one object on another, which, in fact, is planned later on in the teaching sequence. For that element of knowledge, the teacher takes the responsibility of its introduction. On the reverse, the students [at the blackboard] who make the correction take the responsibility of introducing

knowledge in drawing their diagram. The students seated in the classroom take also the responsibility of putting some drawings in question with arguments. Then in this theme, the teacher and the students share the responsibility of dealing with knowledge. (Malkoun, 2007, p. 150)



Figure 4. part 1: student's solution, part 2: correct solution (systems are represented by ellipses, and the studied system is underlined, contact interaction between two systems is represented by full lines and distance contact is represented by dotted lines).

Such an analysis is possible because the unit at meso-scale corresponds to a time scale that is relevant to describing and interpreting classroom phenomena. This analysis is supplemented with those at a smaller scale presented below.

*General comments* This analysis by themes illustrates an important difference between theme analysis and coding. Coding involves categories, like classroom organization or didactic phases, which are formally coded with fixed categories. On the other hand, theme consists of dividing a discourse. It is not a categorisation in which a part of the video is associated with a category chosen among a set. A theme is a narrative unit, giving a part of the story of knowledge as it unfolds in the didactic process. Thus in both cases, videos are divided into parts, but only the coding can lead to statistical analyses.

*Micro scale* Two different micro scale analyses are presented and discussed.

*Coding at micro scale: facets* We present one of the types of coding at micro scale used in our studies which combines content analysis and systematic coding called facet coding. Analyses in terms of facet account for the meaning of knowledge at a fine granularity level. The idea of facets comes from Minstrell (1992) and Gallili & Hazan (2000). A facet is a simple sentence which can be an element of a theory or a concept, of a procedure, of an epistemological statement, of a skill, or more generally any component of knowledge whatever it is, scientific, everyday, abstract, concrete, etc. The set of facets constitutes the reference to analysing the classroom discourse.

The set of facets that we have created for this reconstruction is based on an analysis of the 'knowledge to be taught' (curriculum, textbooks) and on the class's production in an iterative approach.

Here is an example of the analysis of the classroom discourse in terms of facets. This example comes from a situation in class 1 during part I of the sequence on dynamics, theme 2 of session 2 (figure 2). The transcription extract corresponds to the part of the exercise given figure 3. The correct solution is given in figure 4 part 2. Let us note that, before this correction in the previous session, the students were introduced to a "model" involving a semiotic system (graphic representation) where an object (the notion of system is introduced later on) is represented by an ellipse and the action of contact between two objects by a full arrow, the action at distance by a dotted arrow.

A student writes his solution on the blackboard (see figure 4, part 1) (In this extract E and M stand for students and T stands for Teacher, inaud. stands for inaudible). Note that, in French, soil and Earth correspond to the same word, "terre".

- 18 T [...] the ground and the Earth is it the same thing?
- 19 St no
- 20 T the action of the Earth on the table how do you imagine it? What does the table tend to do?
- 21 St1 (inaud.) a force
- 22 T it is an action that attracts the table towards where?
- 23 St1 mm downwards
  - ..... [Turns 24, 25, 26]
- 27 T what does it tend to, what does it do?
- 28 St it does not move
- 29 T yes it prevents the object from falling that is it prevents the object from sinking into, on the contrary mm how does the ground act on your feet? Does it attract my feet? No on the contrary the ground acts upward, [...]
- 30 St the ground
- 31 T the ground, thus it can be garden soil (terre) but even if it is garden soil (terre) it is not the Earth (Terre) as an object. The action of the ground prevents the table from sinking whereas the Earth attracts towards its centre on the contrary

From our analysis, speech turns 20 to 23 (Teacher and students) correspond to the facet: "The action of the Earth is always downwards"; turns 20 and 22 also involve the facet: "The Earth always acts on (attracts) the object", and turns 29 and 31 involve the facet: "The action exerted by the Earth and the action exerted by the ground are not the same".

When coding an extract with a facet, this facet is associated with the theme in which this extract is situated and is noted as "new" or "re-used". A "new facet" corresponds to an element of knowledge introduced for the first time in the whole class, and a 're-used facet' corresponds to an element of knowledge already introduced at the whole class level. We also group the facets according to the notions or skills, epistemological statements, etc (table 3).

In this study our way of grouping the facets is mainly oriented by the conceptual analysis of the taught knowledge. Here a comment is necessary, this coding could be improved in associating who (a single contributor (teacher, student), several contributors, etc.) says the utterance coded as a facet; and thus contribute more clearly to the analysis in terms of topogenesis at a micro level.

The facets being systematically situated in a theme, their coding is done in relation to the analysis in themes; thus a relation between scales of analysis is introduced (Tiberghien and Malkoun, 2010).

### Transaction at microscale: roles of interactions and of knowledge

This analysis does not involve coding, it aims to construct classroom phenomena of transactions where the roles of knowledge and interactions are differentiated and related. It is a further step of our studies on classroom practices (Malkoun & Tiberghien, 2008) which is based on the hypothesis involved in the theory of joint actions in didactics stating that, according to the moments of a classroom life, some types of knowledge will give a particular pattern to interactions, or on the other hand that some patterns of interactions will allow the emergence and the construction for new elements of knowledge. We suppose that specific types of relations between knowledge and interactions can be found; they are called "nodes". Let us give just two examples. The first one illustrates the node where *knowledge which involves rules guides the interactions*. This example comes from theme 2 in class 1 presented above. In this classroom, the rules of the diagram given figure 4 part 2 are shared among the class. The following takes place just after a student drew the diagram given in figure 4 part 1 on the blackboard. (St X and St Y are two different students):

- 1 T: [...] what is missing in the diagram at the blackboard?
- 2 St X: he has forgotten to underline
- 3 St Y: underline
- 4 P: here it is the studied system, that is the object, must be underlined

The teacher asks students to evaluate a representation, the students propose that which she is waiting for and evaluate it on the basis of rules. This is a node where the didactic contract clearly appears. When this type of interaction is involved, *the fact that most of the students know the rules of the semiotic system shapes the interactions*.

The second example shows the reverse in the sense that *knowledge emerges from interaction*. This example comes from the same theme in a discussion just following the previous extract; a student (St 1) proposed another solution:

5 St 1: between the table and the earth there is a contact arrow [full line]

- 6 T: ah like this
- 7 St 1: because the earth heu the table is put on it
- 8 T: (*T goes from the back of the classroom to the blackboard*) do you understand what St1 did? She [St 1] drew a full line [between table and

earth, figure 4 part 1] instead of drawing a dotted line what do you think about it?

- [...] [other students intervene]
- 13 St1: no because if we look at the object it is put on the table and it is the table which is on the soil/earth (terre) therefore it is not direct while the table will inevitably touch something
- 14 T: ah so St1 says the table will inevitably touch something it touches the earth (terre)
- 15 St 1: if it is in the garden
- 16 T: if it is in the garden and if it is here
- 17 St1 + St2: it touches the ground
- 18 T: it touches the ground and the ground and the earth is it the same thing?

In this example, a student (St1) takes the initiative to propose another solution with arguments; she opens the focus of the debate, this *focus was not predefined before the interactions*.

This type of analysis at micro level is close to narrative and does not involve coding. However it aims to construct classroom phenomena about the relations between elements of knowledge and shape of interactions. Knowledge can shape the interactions, and the interactions can make elements of knowledge appear where it was not expected. This last case can happen only in classrooms where interactions during which the participants' points of view can be debated and thus the shape of interactions is not predetermined. When in a classroom, some knowledge rules are largely shared, like forms of expression (we should say force of X on Y) or rules of representation of a diagram, and that transactions involved these rules, very likely the interaction will be strongly shaped in such a way that it will involve a call to these rules.

## General comments

These two examples, coding in terms of facets and analyses of nodes between interaction and knowledge show several main differences on:

- their relations to meso and macro scales. Facet coding covers the whole sequence and has strong relationships with both meso and macro scales whereas nodes introduce didactic phenomena with typical patterns.
- Their genericness. Each facet is specific of an element of knowledge, a node is straightaway characterized at a more generic level, the emergence of knowledge and its type.
- Their treatment. Numerical treatments are done with facets leading to graph representations, and the proposals of the concepts of density and continuity; these treatments lead to a large distance between each video clips corresponding to a facet and these concepts and consequently classroom analyses. On the reverse, nodes can be easily connected to the video clips themselves.

## Relations Between the Different Ways of Analyses

Our way of coding in terms of facets retains the temporality or in other words it keeps the time when the idea given by the facet was involved in the classroom transactions. This coding is carried out in the meso structure of themes. Thus we can introduce the two notions of density and continuity of taught knowledge which incorporates the temporality of taught knowledge, what we call chronogenesis.

The notion of "density" of knowledge informs the dynamics of 'taught knowledge'. The density by theme is the number of facets of one or several types in relation to the duration of a theme; the global density is the number of facets divided by the total duration of teaching (given in minutes) (Tiberghien & Malkoun 2007). Figure 5 gives the density of new and reused knowledge by themes; it shows that *reused knowledge* is denser at the end of the sequence and that almost no new knowledge is introduced during the last sessions in the two classes. It also shows the non regularity in the introduction of new knowledge; in this theme the teacher presents the model of force (force which models action and force as a vector) during a short period of time.



Figure 5. Density of new and re-used knowledge by theme (Th) and session (S) for the two classes.

Another way of representing taught knowledge is to select the facets which are the most reused. It allows us to know which aspects of knowledge are given emphasis in a class. Table 3 confirms the difference between the two classes, in that action (relative action of a system on another – interaction between two systems) plays an important role in class 1, whereas in class 2, only force (relative force – interaction) is involved.

 Table 3. Number of times that some of the most frequent facets are reused in the two classes
 (Malkoun, 2007) (WC= whole class)

Groups of conceptual	Facets	Class 1	Class 2
facets and representation	on	(WC)	(WC)
Action - Interaction	When object A is in contact with object B it acts on it	20	2
Force - Interaction	When object A is in contact with other objects, it exerts a force on these objects	1	12
Motion	The motion of a point is rectilinear when its trajectory is a straight line.	8	14
Representing	Force	11	6

It also shows the importance of representations in class 1, in particular for vector force. It is useful to have a graphic representation of the most frequent elements of knowledge involved during the teaching sequence (figure 6).



Figure 6. Distribution of the most frequent facets over the duration of the teaching sequence, presented in themes and sessions.

Figures 5 and 6 illustrate relations between macro, meso and micro scales. The whole teaching sequence is represented, and structured by themes, the facets are situated in the theme.

It appears that the theme, which is at meso level, plays a central role for the following reasons:

- A theme is the framework for the microscopic analysis: the facets are situated by theme and at the same time feed the narrative of the theme.
- A theme is used as a unit for the density of knowledge.
- Each theme is analysed in terms of narrative of what happens in the classroom; it *accounts for the life of the classroom in relation to knowledge*; it is a slice of classroom life from the knowledge point of view. It retains *an analogical component to the classroom life*.
- A theme, as an analogical component to the classroom life, enables situating the analyses in terms of facets in the life of the class. These analyses have their autonomy, but they are interpreted owing to the themes that serve as reference in the chronogenesis.
- The set of the themes accounts for the development in time of the conceptual organization of the teaching sequence and this set is in coherence with the macro scale analysis of the conceptual structure of the sequence (example figures 1 and 2).

This importance of themes come from our theoretical choices to include a mesoscopic scale; in particular it allows contextualising the facet with the same perspective focused on knowledge involved in the classroom transactions.

In our studies presented here, the articulation between the meso and micro are made *with a collective perspective*; articulate collective - individual and the different scales would be necessary to better understand the respective roles of the teacher and the students. These roles could be characterized for each extract in which a facet is involved. This perspective goes in the same direction as what Sensevy and his collaborators call "learning games" in reference to language games of Wittgenstein. A "learning game" corresponds to transactions between the teacher and the students where diverse types of knowledge are at stake, involving a change in the contract and in the milieu of the situation (Sensevy, Mercier, Schubauer-Leoni, Ligozat, & Perrot, 2005; Marlot, 2008).

*General comments* We have attempted to represent the complexity of classroom life which videos account for with diverse representations (figures 1, 2, 5, 6 Table 3) and the narratives. A similar approach is shared by Barron (2007) who makes explicit the importance of these diverse treatments due to the complexity of the studied situations:

In my case, I chose to combine what Bruner (1986) described as a paradigmatic approach (coding and statistical analysis) with narrative approach (that preserved the sequence of interactions). Within the narrative approach, I used three types of representation to convey the complexity of the interaction. First I used *transcripts to illustrate key aspects of dialogue*; second, I provided *behavioural descriptions* that conveyed aspects of the interaction such as facial expression, tone, gesture as they occurred across short periods of time; and third, I used still *frames to further illustrate* the body positioning of the interactions students at key points." [...] *The problems of re-representing the complexity in video are not trivial and we* 

are in the beginning stages of figuring out field creative ways to do this. We can learn a great deal form one another's attempts to do this well within and across disciplines. (Barron, 2007, p. 175).

The complexity in our approach has been grasped with multiple scale analyses and with a combination of treatments like coding and narratives. The multiple scales can allow to contextualise an event of a smaller scale into a unit at larger scale. This contextualisation reduces the distance between the analysis and the video data. However, all analyses imply a gap with the video data, which can be more or less large and can appear at different steps of the analysis.

In short, coding video makes a "transformation" or creates a gap since it transform video data which is analogical to the situation into codes or even digits; human acts are transformed into numbers, and acts that can happen in different contexts are considered as equivalent. The approach with narratives that *most of the time involve selection of relevant parts* are close to the video data which are selected first; however gaps are created, they happen at two steps, the selection step and when the analysis goes from the specific to the generic. Thus gaps occur in both types of treatment but not in the same way; in a narrative the passage from specificity to genericness could be less apparent than in coding but it occurs. To be aware of these gaps should help the researchers in their conclusions not to forget that they have selected and transformed components of human actions.

### CONCLUSION

In this chapter we intended to propose elements of reflection about the types of analyses that video data of classrooms or other similar situations make possible. In the first part we introduced the main characteristics of video. All these characteristics make that video keeps the analogical character of the recorded situation. Thus video contains an enormous quantity of information and in the same time is very specific to the recorded situation.

These characteristics make that there are strong relationships between techniques of filming and theory. These relations were underlined very early on, in the first uses of film by researchers like Margaret Mead and Gregory Bateson in the thirties. This use of films by anthropologists emphasizes the richness of this type of data; films or videos make communication visible to the extent that they keep an analogical relation to the situation itself in particular with regard to space and time. The succession of events is similar and the relative time of events is kept; the respective places of the actors can also be conserved. This analogical aspect means that video can account for a part of the classroom complexity of the situations. Nevertheless, video cannot account for the whole situation and for its links with school organization, homework, parents, etc.; thus video data should be completed by others.

In the second part, analyses of videos are discussed on three methodological components, (1) sampling, (2) analysis in terms of narrative and coding and (3) the use of multiple scale analysis to approach the complexity of classroom situations.

Concerning sampling, we commented the duration over which video data are taken, for example one or two teaching sessions or a series of sessions over months

or years. This raises the question of what the researcher considers a priori as invariant or generic in order to generalize its results. The discussion focused on the treatment type of video data, that is to say on the type of transformations carried out by the researcher. Three main types were discussed. One type of treatment consists of using narratives to account for the events and their succession that happen in the situation shown in the video. To the extent that some events, their context and their evolution with time are taken into account, the narratives have an analogical relation to the effective situation. Coding is another type of treatment that implies selecting an event or a series of events, and associating this selection with a code. The information given by the video being transformed into a succession of codes becomes discrete. Between these two types of treatment there are intermediaries, which consist of sharing the whole video into "clips" depending on criteria that can be diverse. In this case each clip can be treated with narratives; for example if a discussion at the classroom level or between students involves interactions or topics which are particularly relevant for the study, the researcher can create an extract and then analyse it with narratives. Narratives and coding are not exclusive treatments, in many research studies they are used together. They can be two different complementary ways of tackling the complexity of situations like those of classrooms. Another way of approaching this complexity is to analyse videos at different scales with the main idea that the organization at a level n cannot be given by the sum of organizations at a level n-1 (Lemke & Sabelli, 2008).

In the third part we give an example of a research study that involves both narratives and coding and analyses at different scales. It aims at developing the reflection on how to manage different time scales in relation to narratives and coding and the associated representations. This study focused on what and how knowledge is involved in a classroom and evolves during a teaching sequence on the basis of the teacher's and students' actions at three scales of time (weeks, hours, minutes and seconds), and scales of knowledge elements (conceptual organization, theme, facet). It proposes several representations of knowledge evolution with time.

In conclusion, the video of classrooms or similar situations, due to their analogical character with the situations and thus their specificity, accounts for the teacher's and students' practice and can then produce a series of evidence that has no equivalent among the other data in human and social sciences like observation notes, interviews and questionnaires. The challenge is to exploit this richness.

### NOTES

<sup>1</sup> See Margaret Mead and Gregory Bateson with Stewart Brand (1976, CoEvolutionary Quarterly, June 1976, Issue no. 10, pp. 32–44 (web site: http://www.oikos.org/forgod.htm)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CoEvolutionary Quarterly, June 1976, Issue no. 10, pp. 32-44

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Betty Thompson. 'Development and Trial Applications of Method for Identifying Non-Vocal Parent-Child Communications in Research Film,' (Teachers College, New York, 1970, Ph.D. thesis)
 <sup>4</sup> Development and V(1000) *Levin Virtual Parent Parent Virtual Parent Parent Virtual Paren* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Descombes, V. (1996). *Les institutions du sens*. Paris: Minuit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Here the meaning of the term "knowledge" includes the act of knowing, and also covers non scientific knowledge and any knowledge including skills.
#### REFERENCES

- Ash, D. (2007). Using video data to capture discontinuous science meaning making in non school settings. In R. Goldman & R. Pea & B. Barron & S. Derry (Eds.), *Video research in the learning sciences* (pp. 207–226). Mahwah New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Ash, D. (2008). Thematic continuities: talking and thinking about adaptation in a socially complex classroom. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 45(1), 1–30.
- Barron, B. (2007). Video as a tool to advance understanding of learning and development in peer, family and other informal learning contexts. In R. Goldman & R. Pea & B. Barron & S. Derry (Eds.), Video research in the learning sciences (pp. 159–187). Mahwah New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Brousseau, G. (1998). Théorie des situations didactiques. Grenoble: La pensée sauvage.
- Bruner, J. S. (1991). The Narrative Construction of Reality. Critical Inquiry, 18(1), 1-21.
- Bruner, J. S. (1996). The culture of education. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Chevallard, Y. (1991). La transposition didactique (2nd ed.). Grenoble: La Pensée Sauvage.
- Clarke, D., Keitel, C., & Shimizu, Y. (Eds.). (2006). Mathematics classrooms in twelve countries: the insider's perspective. Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Cobb, P., Gresalfi, M., & Hodge, L. L. (2009). A design research perspective on the identities that students are developing in mathematics classrooms. In B. Schwarz & T. Dreyfus & R. Hershkovitz (Eds.), *Transformation of knowledge through classroom interaction* (pp. 223–243). New York: Routledge.
- Cross, D., Khanfour-Armalé, R., Badreddine, Z., Malkoun, L., & Seck, M. (2009). Méthodologie de mise au point d'un consensus entre chercheurs: le cas du thème, *ler colloque international de l'ARCD Où va la didactique comparée*. Université de Genève.
- Derry, S. J., Pea, R. D., Barron, B., Engle, R. A., Erickson, F., Goldman, R., et al. (2010). Conducting Video Research in the Learning Sciences: Guidance on Selection, Analysis, Technology, and Ethics. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 19(1), 3–53.
- Descombes, V. (1996). Les institutions du sens. Paris: Minuit.
- Engle, R. A. (2006). Framing interactions to foster generative learning: a situative explanation of transfer in a community of learners classroom. *The journal of the learning sciences*, 15(4), 451–498.
- Engle, R. A., Conant, F. R., & Greeno, J. G. (2007). Progressive refinement of hypotheses in videosupported research. In R. Goldman & R. Pea & B. Barron & S. J. Derry (Eds.), *Video research in the learning sciences* (pp. 239–254). Mawah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Galili, I., & Hazan, A. (2000). The influence of an historically oriented course on students' content knowledge in optics evaluated by means of facets-schemes analysis. *American Journal of Physics*, 68 (Supplement)(7), S3–S15.
- Goldman-Segall, R. (1998). Points of viewing children's thinking. Mahaw, New jersey: LEA.
- Goldman, R., Pea, R., Barron, B., & Derry, S. (2007). Video research in the learning sciences. Mahwah New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Goldman, S., & McDermott, R. (2007). Staying the course with video analysis. In R. Goldman & R. Pea & B. Barron & S. Derry (Eds.), *Video research in the learning sciences* (pp. 101–113). Mahwah New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Hacking, I. (1983/2005). Representing an Intervening. Cambridge: University Press Cambridge.
- Hiebert, J., Gallimore, J. H. R., Garnier, H., Bogard, K., Hollingsworth, G. H., Jacobs, J., Chui, A. M.-Y., Wearne, D., Smith, M., Kersting, N., Manaster, A., Tseng, E., Etterbeek, W., Manaster, C., Gonzales, P., & Stigler, J. (2003). *Teaching Mathematics in Seven Countries. Results from the TIMSS 1999 Video Study*: National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) U.S. Department of Education.
- Latour, B. (2005). Reassembling the Social- An Introduction to Actor-Network-Theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lemke, J. L. (2001). The long and the short of it: comments on multiple timescale studies of human activities. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 10(1&2), 17–26.
- Lemke, J. L., & Sabelli, N. H. (2008). Complex Systems and Educational Change: Towards a new research agenda. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 40(1), 118–129.

### A. TIBERGHIEN AND G. SENSEVY

- Ligozat, F. (2008). Un point de vue de didactique comparée sur la classe de mathématiques. Unpublished doctorate, Université de Genève et université de Provence.
- MacWhinney, B. (2007). A transcript-video database for collaborative commentary in the learning sciences. In R. Goldman & R. Pea & B. Barron & S. Derry (Eds.), *Video research in the learning sciences* (pp. 537–546). Mahwah New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Malkoun, L. (2007). De la caractérisation des pratiques de classes de physique à leur relation aux performances des élèves: étude de cas en France et au Liban. Unpublished Doctorate, Université Lyon 2 / Université libanaise, Lyon/Beyrouth.
- Malkoun, L., & Tiberghien, A. (2008). Objets de savoir et processus scientifiques en jeu dans les productions discursives en classe de physique de lycée. In L. Filliettaz & M.-L. Schubauer-Leoni (Eds.), Processus interactionnels et situations éducatives, coll. Raisons éducatives (pp. 67–88). Bruxelles: De Boeck.
- Marlot, C. (2008). Caractérisation des transactions didactiques : Deux études de cas en découverte du monde vivant au cycle II de l'école élémentaire. Doctorat en sciences de l'éducation, Université Rennes 2, Rennes.
- Mead, M., & Bateson, G. (1976) For God's Sake, Margaret: A Conversation with Gregory Bateson and Margaret Mead, edited by Stewart Brand. *CoEvolution Quarterly* (Summer), pp. 32–44. Reprinted in part as Margaret Mead and Gregory Bateson on the Use of the Camera in Anthropology. Studies in the Anthropology of Visual Communication, Vol. 4, no. 2, (Winter 1977), pp. 78–80.
- Mercier, A., Schauber-Leoni, M. L., & Sensevy, G. (2002). Vers une didactique comparée. Revue Française de Pédagogie, 141, 5–16.
- Miller, K., & Zhou, X. (2007). Learning from classroom video: what makes it compelling and what makes it hard. In R. Goldman & R. Pea & B. Barron & S. Derry (Eds.), *Video research in the learning sciences* (pp. 321–334). Mahwah New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Minstrell, J. (1992). Facets of students' knowledge and relevant instruction. In R. Duit & F. Goldberg & H. Niedderer (Eds.), *Research in physics learning: Theoretical issues and empirical studies* (pp. 110–128). Kiel: IPN.
- Mondada, L. (2006). Video Recording as the Reflexive Preservation and Configuration of Phenomenal Features for Analysis. In H. Knoblauch & J. Raab & H.-G. Soeffner & B. Schnettler (Eds.), Video Analysis (pp. 51–68). Bern: Lang
- Petri, J., Niedderer, H. (1998). A Learning pathway in high-school level quantum atomic physics. International Journal of Science Education, 20(8), 1075–1088.
- Powel, A. B., Francisco, J. M., & Maher, C. A. (2003). An analytical model for studying the development of learners' mathematical ideas and reasoning using videotape data. *The journal of mathematical behavior*, 22, 405–435.
- Quéré, L. (2006). L'environnement comme partenaire. In J.-M. Barbier & M. Durand (Eds.), Sujets, activités, environnements (pp. 6–29). Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Roth, K. J., Druker, S. L., Garnier, H. E., Lemmens, M., Chen, C., Kawanaka, T., Rasmussen, D., Trubacova, S., Warvi, D., Okamoto, Y., Gonzales, P., Stigler, J., & Gallimore, R. (2006). *Teaching Science in Five Countries: Results From the TIMSS 1999 Video Study Statistical Analysis Report* (NCES 2006-011). Washington: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Roth, W.-M., Tobin, K. G., & Ritchie, S. M. (2008). Time and temporality as mediators of science learning. *Science Education*, 92(1), 115–140.
- Seidel, T., & Prenzel, M. (2006). Stability of teaching patterns in physics instruction: findings from a video study. *Learning and Instruction*, 228–240.
- Sensevy, G., Mercier, A., Schubauer-Leoni, M-L., Ligozat, F. Perrot, G (2005). An attempt to model the teacher's action in mathematics, *Educational Studies in mathematics*, 59(1), 153–181.
- Sensevy, G. (2007). Des catégories pour décrire et comprendre l'action didactique. In G. Sensevy & A. Mercier (Eds.), Agir ensemble : Eléments de théorisation de l'action conjointe du professeur et des élèves (pp. 13–49). Rennes: Presses Universitaires de Rennes (PUR).

- Sensevy, G., Tiberghien, A., Santini, J., Laubé, S. & Griggs, P. (2008). Modelling, an epistemological approach : cases studies and implications for science teaching. *Science Education*, 92(3), 424–446.
- Sensevy, G. (2011a). Le sens du savoir. Éléments pour une théorie de l'action conjointe en didactique. Bruxelles: de Boeck.
- Sensevy, G. (2011b) Overcoming fragmentation: towards a joint action theory in didactics. In Hudson, B. & Meyer, M. A. (Eds.) *Beyond Fragmentation: Didactics, Learning, and Teaching* (pp. 60–76). Leverkusen, Germany, Barbara Budrich Publishers.
- Tiberghien, A. (1997). Learning and teaching: differentiation and relation. *Research in Science Education*, 27(3), 359–382.
- Tiberghien, A., & Malkoun, L. (2007). Différenciation des pratiques d'enseignement et acquisitions des élèves du point de vue du savoir. *Education et Didactique*, 1, 29–54.
- Tiberghien, A., & Malkoun, L. (2009). Construction of physics knowledge in a classroom community: analysies from teacher's, students' and the community perspectives . In B. Schwarz & T. Dreyfus & R. Hershkovitz (Eds.), *Transformation of knowledge in classroom interaction*: (pp. 42–55). New York: Routledge.
- Tiberghien, A., Vince, J., & Gaidioz, P. (2009). Design-based Research: Case of a teaching sequence on mechanics. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(17), 2275–2314.
- Tiberghien, A., & Malkoun, L. (2010). Analysis of classroom practices from the knowledge point of view: how to characterize them and relate them to students' performances. *Revista Brasileira de Pesquisa em Educação em Ciências*, 10(1).
- Tiberghien, A., Vince, J., Gaidioz, P., & Coince, D. (2011). Professional development of teachers and researchers in a collaborative development of teaching resources. In C. Linder, L. Ostman, D. A. Roberts, P.-O. Wickman, G. Erickson & A. MacKinnon (Eds.), *Exploring the landscape of scientific literacy* (pp. 255–271). New York: Routledge.
- Veillard, L., & Tiberghien, A. (2012). Instrumentation de la recherche en Education. Le cas du développement d'une base de vidéos de situation d'enseignement et d'apprentissage ViSA. Paris: Maison des Sciences de l'Homme.

Veyne, P. (1971). Comment on écrit l'histoire. Paris: Seuil.

Wilder, C. (1998). Being analog. In A. A. Berger (Ed.), The postmodern presence: Readings on postmodernism in American culture and Society (pp. 239–253). Walnut Creek, California: Rowman AltaMira.

Andrée TIberghien UMR ICAR, University of Lyon, France

*Gérard Sensevy*,

*CREAD*, Université Rennes 2 – IUFM de Bretagne-Université de Bretagne Occidentale, France

## MARIANNE ØDEGAARD AND KIRSTI KLETTE

# 8. TEACHING ACTIVITIES AND LANGUAGE USE IN SCIENCE CLASSROOMS

Categories and Levels of Analysis as Tools for Interpretation

## INTRODUCTION

The aim of this chapter is to discuss video studies and new ways of coding, and how coding categories and levels of analyses perform as analytical tools when analysing teaching and learning in science classrooms. Through in-depth analyses of video data from lower secondary science classrooms, we show how different categories and levels of analyses support diversified interpretations and conclusions. By moving between different categories with different levels of functioning, we show how conclusions arrived on the basis of one level of coding might be scrutinized, and challenged, if you use another level of coding as the basis for making interpretations of the data. Within studies of teaching and learning, we argue that scholars often tend to give preference to some authoritative levels or analytic categories in favour of others (often macro level analysis), without any explicit criteria and rationale for these preferences (Nespor, 2004; 2000). In the following analyses, we will elaborate on conceptual categories and functioning levels as lenses through which we explore and analyze teaching and learning opportunities in science classrooms.

Prevalent conceptual categories for analysing classroom activities such as teacher led instruction, individual work and group work document how teaching and learning activities in science classrooms paraphrase a very well known and stable pattern of classroom interaction based upon principles of teacher-centred instruction (Cuban, 1993; Driver, 1983; Goodlad, 1984; Jorde, 1986; Lemke, 1990; Mortimer & Scott, 2003). Despite massive reform efforts encouraging new and student active ways of working like inquiry based learning, teaching for understanding, an enhanced pressure on hands on activities and laboratory work, researchers continue to portray how science teachers reproduce a very stable pattern of interaction and learning in their classrooms based on teacher led instruction, seat work, and (some) practical assignments. In this article, we challenge this picture by critically examining and discussing coding categories and levels. At a first glance, and based on one level of analysis, our findings reaffirm existing portraits from science classrooms. However, substantial in-depth analyses and critical examinations of categories reveal a more complex and nuanced picture of the teaching and learning

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 181–202. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

activities that take place. Contrary to what is portrayed in earlier studies, our analyses suggest for example, that teacher led instruction in the observed classrooms is more dialogic and less authoritarian and rigid than indicated in earlier studies. Although our analyses from Norwegian lower secondary classrooms show that teacher-centred instruction still dominates Norwegian science classrooms, these teacher led, whole-class instruction sessions also include opportunities for studentinitiated actions (Bergem, 2009; Ødegaard & Arnesen, 2010). Recent studies of communicative patterns and whole-class interactions from Scandinavian classrooms support these developments of classroom discourses (Aukrust, 2003; Klette, 2003; Sahlström, 1999). Furthermore, dependent on the targeted level and unit for analyses, we see that our science teachers offer ambiguous learning situations. Indepth analyses of classroom discourse reveal how students on the one hand are offered increased opportunities to talk in science lessons. On the other hand, these conversations are often played out in an everyday social language (Mortimer & Scott, 2003) with weak links to scientific concepts and frameworks essential for understanding science as a field of scientific and thematic practice. To design for student engagement and student initiatives is itself no guarantee for extended opportunities for science learning. By moving between different levels and units of analysis, we describe processes, activities and possible changes that are evident in science classrooms, and so give life to a more many-faceted and nuanced picture of the classroom processes that take place.

Video records provide extended opportunities for critically examining and reexamining classroom interactions and classroom events. The production of data within video design allows for nuanced and multifaceted layers of analyses focusing on different levels (macro, meso or micro) with different conceptual coding categories (Klette, 2010; Popkewitz, 2000).

The data highlighted in this chapter is drawn from a video-based classroom study (PISA+) from six science classrooms at lower secondary level in Norway. The video study PISA+ (Pluss: Project on Learning and Teaching Strategies in School, see www.uv.uio.no/ils/english/research/projects/pisa-pluss/index.html ) is a project on learning and teaching in schools, including data from mathematics, science and reading classrooms (Klette et al., 2008). The research project was established to pursue and enlighten problematic PISA findings in the Norwegian context in mathematics, science and reading. The main aims of the PISA + project have been to describe and scrutinize the pedagogical processes that underlie the Norwegian PISA results and to attempt to transform some of the PISA findings into concrete suggestions for improving Norwegian education in the perspective of life-long learning.

## THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES

## Analytical Framework

Teaching and learning in classrooms take place in complex settings involving layers of actors and meanings. As framework for interpretations, Nespor (2004)

uses what he calls scales and analytical categories, serving as contexts and hosts for analytical endeavours. Nespor (2004), leaning on Massey, underscores scales as envelopes for disclosing time-spatial activities and ordering mechanisms in schools and classrooms. Scales demarcate and place limits on interpretations available, and for that reason scholars should be explicit about preferred scales for analyses. Lemke (2000) distinguishes, for example, between time, space, actors, matter, and objects as scales for interpretations and shows how different scales can serve as possible candidates for interpretative ambitions. Within studies of teaching and learning, scholars tend to privilege one preferred scale (often time scales in the favour of others) even though there is often no rationale provided for these analytical preferences. In order to account for these complexities when we are studying classrooms, we suggest making explicit the preferred scales for investigation, whatever they are.

In the following analyses we will use actors, conceptual categories and levels as the analytical framework for interpretation. We specifically focus on three approaches; instructional format, classroom discourse and features of language used in science classrooms for examining classroom processes, and thereby show how these approaches and the analytical framework *together* might enrich our understanding of what is going on in science classrooms. We lean on Lemke's (2000) distinction between micro, meso and macro levels as three levels of time. Macro level analyses often involve teaching sequences covering a longer time scale (thematic unit, a course, an academic year) while meso level often use sequences, sessions and units for analyses. Micro level analyses focus on smaller segments of interaction in the class (i.e. student - student interaction, teacher -student interaction). The distinction between micro, meso and macro as three levels of analyses is however not restricted to time periods. Instructional formats (macro level), classroom discourse (meso level) and scientific features of language used (micro level) could in addition be seen as three hierarchical levels of analyzing classroom talk. Lemke (2000) suggests that it is useful to analyze hierarchies in groups of three levels at once. Call one level of any such group the focal point (N) that all other levels (above and below) would shed light on. The level N is however never the top level, Lemke underscores:

"...interactions on the focal level are not free to range over all the possibilities afforded them: they are also constrained by being themselves part of longer timescale processes at level N + 1.." (p 277)

In our analyses we have used teachers' instructional formats, features of classroom discourse and language used in science classrooms as three interdependent hierarchical levels of analyzing patterns of interaction and classroom talk in the science classroom. Each layer could be analyzed within its own theoretical framework and preferred unit of analyses. Analyzed together they may however expand and enrich our capacity for interpreting meaning from complex social settings such as classroom learning.

Based on existing studies we are introduced to science classrooms as sites of learning centered around whole class instruction and plenary teaching where the

teachers dominate, regulate and monitor most of the classroom talk and classroom interaction. The students are subsequently given little opportunity for talking science and raising their voices. In the next section we expand on this general portrait of science lessons by paying attention to what research tells about instructional format and classroom discourse and language features from science classrooms.

#### Instructional Format in Science Classrooms

Several studies (Cuban, 1993; Jorde, 1986; Lemke, 1990; Mortimer & Scott, 2003; Nystrand, 1997) document the pervasiveness of plenary teaching; where whole class instruction combined with individual seat work and group work/ laboratory work as the most predominate in science classrooms. Whole class instruction as plenary teaching is not however a very clear cut and definite concept and might imply quite different things. Nystrand and colleagues (1997) distinguish for example between recitation, dialogic instruction and discussion as three features of teacher led whole class instruction. Klette and colleagues (2005) elaborate between lecturing (monologues), dialogic instruction, question/answer sequences and whole class discussion as four different features of teacher led whole class instruction. By calibrating the concept of teacher led whole class instruction into more specified and distinct subcategories, such as the distinction between monologic instruction (i.e. lecturing, recitation) and dialogic instruction, we are able to explore the iterative dynamics and developments of interaction between teachers and students within the rather broad category labeled "teacher led whole class instruction". Many studies continue to use rather broad conceptual categories for describing instructional format in science classrooms and consequently end up with paraphrasing existing 'common sense' in the field of studying classroom learning (Klette, 2009; Popkewitz, 2000). The dichotomized conceptual language available furthermore tends to push the analysts into labeling the activity as either teacher centered instruction or student centered instruction and with little latitude for transcending these blurred descriptions. If we calibrate whole class instruction into subcategories such as lecturing, thematic dialogic instruction, going over the do now, classroom dialogue and question answer sequences as possible categories for teachers' instructional format we get a more elaborated and updated picture of what constitutes teachers' repertoire of whole class instruction. Barnes and his colleagues showed already in 1969 (Barnes, Britton, & Rosen, 1969) that science lessons gave more space and place for student initiated questions than recognized in other lessons and subjects. Emanuelsson and Sahlström (2008) and Klette and colleagues (Klette, 2003; Klette, et al., 2008) show how whole class instruction still dominates science and math classrooms in Sweden and Norway. These studies also underscore how whole class instruction involves extended possibilities for student initiatives and student responses compared to those described in earlier studies. Prevalent and established categories as scales and devices of interpretation might undermine more sensitive and updated versions of teachers' instructional format in today's science classrooms. In the analysis that follows we therefore

calibrated whole class instruction into distinct subcategories (i.e. see figure 2 below for illustration) when aiming to disclose characteristics of instructional format in science classrooms. We distinguish between monologic instruction, dialogic instruction, question/answer sequences, whole class discussion, student presentations, tasks management, comments on misbehavior, and comments as different features of activities at play during teacher led whole class instruction.

## Classroom Discourse

Learning is often portrayed as a meaning-making process, where ideas are shaped as they are expressed in language in a social context (Alexander, 2000, 2006; Mortimer & Scott, 2003; Vygotsky, 1978). Meaning is made by gaining an understanding of the substantial knowledge in a conceptual framing mediated throughout language and other artefacts. Understanding dialogues and classroom discourse is subsequently of uttermost importance when we want to understand and improve learning in science classrooms.

Wellington and Osborne (2001) classified research on classroom dialogue and show how the general dilemma of teaching science as an accepted body of knowledge and at the same time as a process of genuine enquiry where students should generate their own understanding of events and phenomenon, may influence and produce conflicts in different areas of science teaching. For instance, in the art of questioning this dilemma is apparent. It is not unusual to experience teachers asking what seems like an open-ended question, but only acknowledging one answer as correct, a so-called 'pseudo-question' (Barnes, et al., 1969) or 'guess-what's-in-myhead' game. Several studies document the pervasiveness of these 'pseudo questions' (Edwards & Mercer, 1987; Mortimer & Scott, 2003; Wells, 1985). Another well documented feature of classroom discourse is the predominance of teachers' talk within the repeated IRE and IRF pattern. Teachers dominate, regulate, define and evaluate all communication and activities in the classroom. The dominant pattern of interaction follows auxiliary a predefined IRF (E) pattern of communication (Dysthe, 1995; Edwards & Mercer, 1987; Lemke, 1990; Mortimer & Scott, 2003) where the teacher poses a questions or initiative (I) followed by a student's response (R) for then being followed up (F) or evaluated (E) by the teacher. The pupils are left with small possibilities for participation and influence within these patterns of communication, following the cited researchers. In a recent study Juzwik, Nystrand and colleagues (2008) underscore however the dynamic exchange mechanisms between monologic and dialogic instructional formats. They show how monlogic instruction formats might change to dialogic formats as the teacher opens the floor to student initiatives and competing ideas and voices.

As indicated above Barnes and colleagues recognised a certain space for student initiated questions in science classrooms already in the 1960's. Interestingly Barnes et al. (1969) show how approximately 1/3 of the questions in science are openended, and that compared to other subjects, science is the subject with most reasoning questions and least factual questions (Barnes, et al., 1969). While investigating the question of why students do not actively ask many questions to

their teacher, Barnes found that in 'pupil-initiated sequences', the most frequent kind of question was about the method of carrying out a task: "What kind of pencil should we use?". The very few other examples were requests for information for its own sake, for information to confirm an insight and for a theoretical explanation, in addition to statements made by the pupils (Barnes, et al., 1969). Questioning is often part of a general process of guiding or focusing a lesson so that it follows a path, and sticks to limits, which are part of a grand lesson plan. This involves restricting pupil participation to relevant, objective statements and using them to converge on predetermined ideas Barnes et al. argue. Thirty years later Galton studying primary classrooms in UK - came up with rather similar conclusions. In trying to monitor changes in instructional activities at primary level in UK, Galton and his colleagues document extended possibilities for student initiatives and student questions (Galton, Hargreaves, Comber, Pell, & Wall, 1999). Most of these questions are however what they describe as ritual and practical ("how to carry out a task"). The teachers give minimal and/or restricted response to the substantial issues raised within these questions. From Norwegian classrooms Klette (2003) and Aukrust (2003) report of procedures and social climate favourable for student initiated questions while student initiated questions where the student uses questions to thematically explore a field of knowledge are rare. Examining the relation between procedural and substantial features of student initiated questions provides a strategy for studying how student initiated questions can contribute to students' learning in science classrooms.

## Language in Science Classrooms

As emphasised above the use of language in a social context is of crucial importance for science education. Learning science is learning to talk science, not only understanding science concepts but also learning to use structures and features of the scientific language. Mortimer and Scott (2003) emphasise language as a fundamental tool for learning, and, as Bakthin (1953/1980), Wertsch (1991) and others, they recognize different discipline-based social languages which can be seen as toolkits for talking and knowing. Mortimer and Scott (ibid.) use the distinction between an everyday social language and a scientific social language based on Vygotsky's everyday and scientific concepts (Vygotsky, 1978) when they study language practices in science classrooms. They also focus on three fundamental features of the scientific social language: description (an account of a system, object or phenomenon), explanation (importing some form of a model or mechanism to account for a specific phenomenon) and generalization (a description or explanation that is independent of any specific context).

Explanation in science has been defined as importing some form of a model or mechanism to account for a specific phenomenon (Mortimer & Scott, 2003). Ogborn, Kress, Martins, and McGillicuddy (1996) point at some of the dilemmas of explanations in science classrooms. They focus on the importance of understanding the entities that models consist of before you come to the actual

explanation, and that explanations provided in school science are often answers to questions posed by the teachers or the curriculum and not by the students themselves. This is quite different from the genuine enquiry you find in science. "If in science itself, phenomena can be envisaged as in need of explanation, in teaching science it is almost the other way around. The existence of an answer is the reason for posing the question." (Ogborn, et al., 1996, p. 131) Further, this leads to that one of the crucial responsibilities of science teachers is to motivate students to 'want what they need'. Subsequently, "... much explanation in science classrooms is not the explanation of phenomena, but is the explanation of resources the student needs in order to explain phenomena. [...] For these reasons, much of the work of explaining in science classrooms looks like describing, labelling or defining. [...] The entities which are to be used in explanations therefore have to be 'talked into existence' for students." (Ogborn, et al., 1996). What is the role of explanations versus descriptions in our classrooms? Are the students given possibilities to engage in everyday language practices and scientific language practices?

## DESIGN AND DATA SOURCES

The PISA+ study is an in-depth classroom video study. Six grade 9 classes (students aged 14-15 years) at six different schools were followed for 2-3 weeks in three subjects; science, mathematics and language arts. In sum 45 science lessons, 37 mathematics lessons and 44 language arts lessons were videotaped. Video-recordings from 10 cross disciplinary lessons plus video documentation of science excursions and experiments outside the classrooms were also made. The lessons were filmed using three surveillance cameras; one remote controlled following the teacher, one capturing the whole class and one focusing on a small group of students, usually two. The small student groups in science and mathematics lessons were interviewed immediately after the lesson. Teachers were interviewed twice during the 2-3 weeks. The use of surveillance cameras made the technology less intimidating. The use of the remote control camera further made it possible to back up the video documentation with participant observers to be present in the lessons; one following the group of students in order to prepare the interview and one observing the whole class. Both students and teachers had stimulated recall interviews, where video observations from the lessons were used. For more details about the methodological design and set up for the whole study, see Klette (2009).

Schools were chosen with the purpose of providing as wide a span as possible across cases regarding student background and school organization. PISA has shown that scores vary more within schools than between schools in Norway (Lie, Kjærnsli, Roe, & Turmo, 2001). This means that students from one school may represent a broad range of knowledge and literacy levels. The schools in this study represent urban and rural areas, differences in socio economic and ethnic backgrounds and, in addition, traditionally organized schools and schools with a modern organization.

The technology used in the project allowed us to conduct video initiated interviews with students immediately after the lesson. Students watched sequences from the lesson and were asked to comment on their interpretation of the events. In this way classroom observation data is compared to how the students' interpret events. Most of the students in a class were interviewed either in science, mathematics or both.

To make profiles of the instructional patterns across classrooms, each lesson has been coded on different levels with conceptual categories using the software programme Videograph<sup>®</sup>.<sup>1</sup> The analyses have been conducted in two stages. In stage one the lessons in all subjects were coded regarding instruction format in order to characterize typical lessons in mathematics, science and reading, and to expose similarities and differences between subjects and schools (Klette et al., 2005).

The second stage of coding was performed on the science lessons to give a more exact characterization regarding teachers' instructional activities (develop new content or skills, review existing knowledge, motivational activities, summary etc), student activities (seat work, laboratory/practical work, taking notes etc), and language and dialogue characteristics (scientific and everyday language, point of descriptions, reference (empirical and theoretical), explanations and generalizations, teacher expositions, teacher and students initiatives) (Arnesen & Ødegaard, 2006). The complete coding schemes are presented in Appendix I and II. In the analyses that follow we concentrate our discussion on teachers' instructional format, features of dialogues and language used in the observed science classrooms.

The video analyses of discourse and language features draw on the work of Mortimer and Scott (2003) and Lemke (1990). Taken together Mortimer, Scott and Lemke shed light on how conceptual language, coding categories and timescales are significant in analyzing meaning-making in science classrooms. However, further analyses on even smaller timescales need to be done in order to enrich the data according to the influence of student initiatives (Barnes, et al., 1969); and the significance of explanations and teacher questioning (Ogborn, et al., 1996; Wellington & Osborne, 2001).

### PRESENTATION OF DATA ANALYSES

In order to gain a fuller understanding of offered learning possibilities within the video taped science classrooms, efforts were made to bring together different levels of analyses to illuminate organizational patterns, communicative patterns and thematic patterns in the observed classrooms. This study looks at three levels of analysis. The highest level being instructional format that distinguishes between teacher led instruction in whole class; group work; and individual work. The next level is aspects of the classroom dialogue; especially who initiates and influences the dialogue. The last and most fine grained level is features of language; whether scientific words are used, and characteristics of scientific statements. However, as Lemke (2000) asserts, each level in it self may have other

sub-levels. For instance, instructional format has features of whole class instruction as an additional meso level, and classroom dialogue has content of student initiatives as another micro level. Even though, language is the lowest, and thus micro level in this study, it is possible to scrutinize and do even finergrained analysis of the language aspect, making language the meso-level in that approach.

The following analyses draw on the significance of relating patterns from different levels in larger units of analyses. Lower levels can often explain patterns from higher levels, and this understanding is crucial if the goal is to alter undesirable patterns and improve teaching and learning in school science. However, by comparing videos from different classrooms and different schools we are also able to see how these moments or classroom actions are in some respect typical of their kind. The many classroom actions are seen as part of a larger-scaled and longer-termed activity system of teaching science (Lemke, 2000). By moving between different scales with different levels of functioning we hope to shed light on how they interact. We start out by discussing instructional formats in the observed science classrooms. We then turn to features of classrooms discourse such as who initiated the discussions and substantial elements in these dialogues. As a third approach of analysing we discuss features of language used in the observed science classrooms. We conclude the examination by discussing the many meanings of practices in science classrooms.

## Instructional Format in Science Classrooms

Teachers' instructional format in science classrooms is analyzed using different sets of codes and categories, connected to teacher led instruction, group work and individual work. (See appendix I.) The analysis is performed on all three school subjects involved in the PISA+ study and thus, an interdisciplinary comparison is possible (see figure 1 below). Since we compare teaching sequences covering several weeks, this can be considered a macro level. The comparison indicates that in science education, teacher led instruction is the single most frequent activity. Language art education demonstrates a broader repertoire of practices; a recurrent mixture of teacher led instruction, individual seat work and group work (Klette, et al., 2008). Due to constraints in our research design (e.g. whole day excursions that could not be filmed) the amount of group work, which includes exercises and laboratory work, can be a bit adjusted, but still science has a special profile of teacher led instruction. At this stage one might conclude that science teaching is done in a quite traditional way with the teacher lecturing and the students mainly taking notes and listening.



Figure 1. Instructional format in percent in the three school subjects (macro level).

However, if we distinguish the category of teacher led instruction into subcategories, and thus look at the meso level with codes such as monologic instruction, dialogic instruction etc. (see figure 2 below), we see that for instance teacher monologues (defined as teacher lecturing for at least three minutes) are almost non-existing in the observed classrooms. On the contrary, what characterises the teaching in these classrooms is dialogic instruction where students play an active part in terms of posing questions and statements. (For definition of the coding categories see appendix I.) Whether this represents extended opportunities for meaning-making and talking science as outlined by Wellington and Osborne (2001), Lemke (1990) and Mortimer and Scott (2003), is however an open question. This will be further investigated in the next section where we use features of dialogues and language as categories of analyses. Another dominating feature of teacher led teaching in the observed science classrooms, is the role of task management. Task management in our coding manual was defined as teacher giving instructions about required student activities, assignments etc. In science this might mean giving instructions about practical work, seat work, or organising group work and excursions etc.

So far, we might conclude that teacher led *dialogic* instruction predominates the observed science classrooms, indicating ample opportunities for student initiatives and possible student involvement.



Figure 2. Features of whole class instruction in percent of filmed time in our science classrooms (meso level).

## Classroom Discourse and Actors in Science Classrooms

At the second level of exploring educational processes in science classrooms, we focused on classroom discourse. While the first analyses showed an emphasis on teacher driven classroom dialogues, the second stage of analyses focused on dialogue features and initiation patterns. In our coding categories of classroom dialogue (for definition of the codes, see appendix II) we have coded for teacher and student initiative, defined as a sequence of questions, answers or comments initiated by either the teacher *or* the student. A third code is labelled teacher lecturing, indicating teacher talk without interruption. Unlike teacher monologue, this is not limited to three minutes. Although the teacher orchestrates most of the classroom dialogue, she or he is attentive to student initiatives, and often the flow of classroom talk is heavily influenced by student engagement.

From figure 3 we see that student initiatives are almost as frequent as teacher initiatives. Thus, our second approach of analysis, focusing on *who* initiates the conversations in class, enriches the general impression of the flow in our science classrooms. This shows that on a procedural level (e.g. who initiated the dialogue) the classroom discourse is student inclusive and provides ample room for student initiatives.

M. ØDEGAARD AND K. KLETTE



Figure 3. Classroom dialogue during teacher led instruction in percent of videotaped science lessons (meso level).

However, by narrowing down our material to substantial in-depth analyses (micro level) of the student initiations, we find that like Barnes et al. (1969), the student initiated sequences are mainly questions about ways of carrying out a task. Table 2 below illustrates an analysis of one such in-depth lesson. The lesson analysed was a quite structured science lesson about photosynthesis with both theory and practical work. As indicated from the table, of 26 student initiatives, only 7 were directly related to science issues. Although this is only one example of a lesson, the ratio of science related talk (less than 1/3 science related talk) is confirmed by cross-table analyses between student initiative and features of scientific talk. (See Ødegaard & Arnesen, 2010)

Tabel 1. Student initiative with examples from one lesson (micro level).

Student initiatives from one lesson $\Sigma = 26$	Occurrences:	
About blackboard / taking notes:	9	
"Should we write it in our book?"	-	
About practical / organization:	7	
"Who is in that group?"	/	
About practical work:	3	
"What are we supposed to do?"	3	
Comments to science issues:	5	
"Shouldn't it be hydrogen, not nitrogen?"	5	
Own meaning making:	2	
"Is this about photosynthesis?"	2	

More in-depth research on these situations will give us information on the significance of these patterns of initiative. For instance, how does the teacher respond to the different student initiatives? How much science is brought in to task management issues? Taken together, the overall picture places emphasis on task related enquiries regarding student initiated questions.

## Features of Language Used in Science Classrooms

At the third analytical level for describing the complexity of science classrooms we have examined features of language. One of the categories we used for analyses is social language, which captures whether the social language used in the classroom discourse is of everyday or scientific nature. Scientific language is defined as the use of scientific concepts (Mortimer & Scott, 2003), and is coded by following the teachers' conversation with the students and includes both teacher and student talk. Our analyses show that scientific language is used in only a small part of a whole lesson. Less than 20% of coded time in our science lessons is labelled scientific language. See Ødegaard & Arnesen (2010) for more detail.



Figure 4. Social language in classroom dialogue following the teacher, in percent of videotaped science lessons (micro level).

However, we have experienced that categorising the language as "everyday" and "scientific" is problematic. We see that merely the use of scientific concepts is not a meaningful and precise definition for scientific language. In-depth analysis (micro level) of sequences labelled as everyday language in our coding might illustrate this important point. It is not enough to look at the amount of time the students are exposed to scientific concepts; the content of the talk has to be scrutinized. This is illustrated by the following example of a teacher-student dialog from a photosynthesis lesson from school 3 (a full transcript of the dialogue is available in appendix III):

*T*: *Have you seen what comes up from the ground, the first that comes up from the ground?* 

- S: One of those little green things.
- T: Yes. Have you noticed how many leaves there is on it?

S: Two

T: Yes, good. Excellent.

Both the teacher and the student use everyday language in describing a scientific phenomena, which is labelled "little green thing" by the student. This label is not

changed to a more scientific concept by the teacher throughout this sequence, and thus the label "little green thing" can continue to live on amongst the students. However, according to Lemke, this small dialogue is part of a scientific thematic pattern; "the little green thing" is given a descriptive characteristic: *green* and it is classified as having two leaves. And further into the dialogue, the teacher classifies the "the little green thing" as a dicot. In his semiotic analyses, Lemke (1990) refers to this as a nominal and a taxonomic relation. When thematic patterns are repeated they give an implicit message to the students of how science is organised. Thus, after many examples of describing and classifying organisms, in science lessons and in science text books, students will recognise this as one of the patterns of talking science. What is lacking is however a more explicit and teacher driven vocabulary that is able to link concepts like "the little green thing" to relevant scientific concepts such as sprout or seedling.

Another way of interpreting how much the students are exposed to science talk, is to code the classroom talk according to features of science brought up in the discourse. Like Mortimer and Scott (2003), we have seen that different features of scientific knowledge are focused upon in the classroom dialogue between teacher and student. In science the teacher may emphasize describing systems or phenomena, he can try to explain systems or phenomena, or he may generalize by giving a description or an explanation without specific context. In our material, only a small portion (less than 20%) of the dialogue between teacher and student contains science talk within such a framework (figure 5). In our analysis the dialogue is coded both when the dialogue occurs in whole class situations, and when the teacher moves around and has conversations with students, e.g. during practical work and seatwork.



Figure 5. Use of scientific features following the teacher during the whole lesson in percent of videotaped science lessons (micro level).

As indicated from figure 5, the most frequent occurring feature is descriptions of systems or phenomena. During teacher-student conversations in class, there are minimal explanations or generalizations. Even during supervising one-to-one dialogues between teacher and student, focus is on descriptions only. The above presented excerpt from the teacher-student dialogue about the little green seedling is coded as a typical description. However, if we follow the dialogue further (for a

full transcript of the dialogue, see appendix), we see that the teacher uses this description in order to build up a generalisation:

*T*: The plant kingdom is divided in two groups. One is monocots, these are the seedlings that come up from a seed with one leaf. Grass is an example of this.. [...] And then there are dicots. They come up with two leaves first. [..like sunflowers..].

So by expanding the timescale of the classroom dialogue analysis, the description becomes part of a generalisation. This is in agreement with the assumptions of Ogborn et al. (1996) described earlier. Still, there is reason to point out that in our data from science classrooms, there are so few explanations and generalisations that this can not explain the excess of descriptions. With such a strong emphasis on descriptions, we fear that the students might get an image of science as a variety of descriptive, objective facts about nature. Thus, science is portrayed as a "collection of knowledge", and the students will not have insight into understanding about the nature of science.

## CONCLUSIVE DISCUSSION: THE MANY MEANINGS OF CLASSROOM PRACTICES?

Teaching and learning are complex, layered processes in which actions, themes and events are simultaneously produced and made meaningful at multiple scales and levels. These actions, events and processes are not neatly and uniquely situated, but are entangled in multiple and alternative scale constructions. Subsequently in the light of different levels of analyses, different interpretations can be drawn. Video technologies have made it possible to scrutinize and freeze in detail situations of teaching and learning processes and support multiple analytical endeavours regarding analysing classroom entities. As indicated in the introduction, scholars seldom make explicit their own favoured scales of analyses and subsequently tend to contribute to the unquestioned reproduction of established and authoritative scales and levels in studies of teaching and learning in classrooms (Klette, 2009). We accentuate therefore the importance of making explicit the preferred scales for investigations – whatever they are.

In our analyses we have used conceptual categories, actors, and levels as possible lenses for interpreting meaning in science classrooms. We have argued that when depending on preferred level for analyses, different and emergent conclusions can be drawn. Based on established conceptual categories at a macro level, regarding instructional patterns such as teacher led instruction, group work and individual work, our data paraphrase a very well documented pattern of science education; of basically teacher led teaching. However, looking at a different level; in-depth analyses of teacher led instruction as features of teaching activity, disclose attuned teaching approaches; sensitive and responsive to students' initiatives and utterances. Dialogic instruction is the single most frequent activity in our science lessons. In dialogic instruction the teachers still initiate, conduct and control the classroom discourse but with extended possibilities for student utterances and student initiatives.

By using actors (i.e. initiatives and participation structures) as the preferred scale of analyses these findings are further scrutinized. Based on the initiator of the utterances, students and teachers have joint opportunities for *initiating* classroom talk. Teachers still dominate classroom talk in terms of time spent and thematic patterns discussed but with a more mixed communicative pattern which includes more student initiatives than documented in earlier studies.

By again changing the level and doing in depth analyses of student initiated utterances in terms of language used, an enriched picture is revealed. It is not enough to only offer the students possibilities to talk science. Our students used mostly an everyday language with weak connections and bonds to features of science. The possible interconnections and relations between communicative patterns, scientific vocabulary and thematic patterns need however further investigations.

Taken together these aspects of classroom talk – instructional format, classroom discourse and features of language used in science classrooms – establish a mixture of well known and new ingredients. Depending on preferred level of analyses, stable or emerging patterns of teacher-student interaction can be exposed. Although instructional format tells us that there is an excess of teacher led instruction, this does not mean that the teacher talks and the students listen. The next level of analysis; classroom discourse, informs us that students have relatively strong influence on the classroom dialogue. How categories interact and how for example student initiatives as communicative patterns have impact on the scientific language patterns, need however further investigation.

#### NOTE

Videograph ® is a computer software programme developed at IPN, Kiel, http://www.ipn.uni-kiel.de/aktuell/videograph/htmStart.htm (*Last visited 31.07.06*)

#### REFERENCES

Alexander, R. (2000). Culture & Pedagogy. Malden: Blackwell Publishing.

- Alexander, R. (2006). Education as Dialogue: moral and pedagogical choices for a runaway world. Hong Kong: Hong Kong Institute of Education in conjunction with Dialogos.
- Arnesen, N. E., & Ødegaard, M. (2006). Categories for video analysis of science classroom activities. Oslo: University of Oslo.
- Aukrust, V. G. (2003). Samtaledeltakelse i norske klasserom en studie av deltakerstrukturer og samtalebevegelser. In K. Klette (Ed.), *Klasserommets praksisformer etter Reform 97*. *Synteserapport*. Oslo: Pedagogisk forskningsinstitutt.

Bakhtin, M. (1953/1980). The Dialogic Imagination. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press.

- Barnes, D., Britton, J., & Rosen, H. (1969). Language, the Learner and the School. Harmondsworth: Penguin.
- Bergem, O. K. (2009). Individuelle versus kollektive arbeidsformer. En drøfting av aktuelle utfordringer i matematikkundervisningen i grunnskolen. [Individual versus collective work. A discussion of current challenges in mathematics teaching in lower secondary classrooms]. Ph.D. thesis, University of Oslo, Oslo.
- Cuban, L. (1993). How teachers taught: Constancy and change in American classrooms 1880–1990. New York: Teachers College Press.

Driver, R. (1983). The Pupil as Scientist? New York: Taylor and Francis, Inc.

- Dysthe, O. (1995). Det flerstemmige klasserommet.[The multivoiced classroom] Oslo: Ad Notam/Gyldendal.
- Edwards, D., & Mercer, N. (1987). Common knowledge: The development of understanding in the classroom. London: Methuen.
- Emanuelsson, J., & Sahlström, F. (2008). The price of participation: Teacher control versus student participation in classroom interaction. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 52(2), 205–223.
- Galton, M., Hargreaves, L., Comber, C., Pell, T., & Wall, D. (1999). *Inside the Primary Classroom: 20 Years On*. London: Routledge.
- Goodlad, J. (1984). A place called school. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Jorde, P. (1986). Early Childhood Education: Issues and Trends. The Educational Forum, 50(2), 171-181.
- Juzwik, M. M., Nystrand, M., Kelly, S., & Sherry, M. B. (2008). Oral narrative genres as dialogic resources for classroom literature study: A contextualized case study. *American Educational Research Journal*, 45(4), 1111–1155.
- Klette, K. (2009). Challenges in Strategies for Complexity Reduction in Video Studies. Experiences from the PISA+ Study: A Video Study of Teaching and Learning in Norway. In T. J. T. Seidel (Ed.), *The power of* videostudies. Berlin: Waxmann Publishing.
- Klette, K. (2010). Blindness to change during processes of change: What do educational researchers learn from classroom studies? . In A. L. A. Hargreaves, and M. Fullan (Ed.), Second International Handbook of Educational Change: Springer.
- Klette, K. (Ed.). (2003). Klasserommets praksisformer etter Reform 97. Synteserapport. Oslo: Pedagogisk forskningsinstitutt.
- Klette, K., Lie, S., Anmarkrud, Ø., Arnesen, N., Bergem, O. K., Ødegaard, M., et al. (2005). Categories for video analysis of classroom activities with a focus on the teacher. Oslo: University of Oslo.
- Klette, K., Lie, S., Ødegaard, M., Anmarkrud, Ø., Arnesen, N., Bergem, O. K., et al. (2008). Rapport om forskningsprosjektet PISA+ (Pluss: Prosjekt om Lærings- og Undervisnings-Strategier i Skole). Oslo.
- Lemke, J. (1990). Talking Science. Language, learning and values. Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing.
- Lemke, J. (2000). Across the Scales of Time: Artifacts, Activities, and Meanings in Ecosocial Systems. Mind, Culture, and Activity 7(4), 273–290.
- Lie, S., Kjærnsli, M., Roe, A., & Turmo, A. (2001). Godt rustet for framtida? Norske 15-åringers kompetanse i lesing og realfag i et internasjonalt perspektiv. Oslo: Institutt for lærerutdanning og skoleutvikling, Universitetet i Oslo.
- Mortimer, E., & Scott, P. (2003). *Meaning Making in Secondary Science Classrooms*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Nespor, J. (2004). Educational scale-making. Pedagogy, Culture and Society, 12(3), 309-326.
- Nystrand, M. (1997). Opening dialogue : understanding the dynamics of language and learning in the English classroom New York: Teachers College Press.
- Ogborn, J., Kress, G., Martins, I., & McGillicuddy, K. (1996). Explaining Science in the Classroom. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Popkewitz, T. (2000). Educational knowledge: Changing relationships between the state, civil society, and the educational community. Albany, N.Y.: State University of New York Press.
- Sahlström, F. (1999). Up the hill backwards: On interactional constraints and affordances for equity-constitution in the classrooms of the Swedish comprehensive school. Uppsala universitet, Humanistisk-samhällsvetenskapliga vetenskapsområdet, Samhällsvetenskapliga fakulteten, Pedagogiska institutionen, Uppsala.
- Vygotsky. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Wellington, J., & Osborne, J. (2001). Language and Literacy in Science Education. Buckingham Open University Press.
- Wells, G. (1985). Language, Learning and Education. Windsor, UK: NFER-Nelson.
- Wertsch, J. (1991). Voices of the mind. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Ødegaard, M., & Arnesen, N. E. (2010). Hva skjer i naturfagklasserommet? ~ resultater fra en videobasert klasseromsstudie; PISA+. NorDiNa, 6(1).

## APPENDIX I

Categories for video analysis of classroom activites with a focus on the teacher (Klette, K., Lie, S., Anmarkrud, Ø., Arnesen, N., Bergem, O.K., Ødegaard, M., Zachariassen, J.R., 2005)

Whole class instruction		
Monologue	lecturing/story telling/teacher reading aloud etc.(min.	
	duration 3 min.)	
Dialogue	use/mobilise students' knowledge for instructional purpose	
	in new subject matter	
Question/answer sequences	systematic use of questions to check out students'	
	knowledge and insight	
Whole class discussion	dialogue pattern in which students speak directly to one another about the subject matter/ teacher acts as moderator	
Reading aloud	students read aloud from textbooks or other textual	
	material	
Student presentation	students present assignments/ dramatizations i.e.	
Task management	teacher gives verbal/non-verbal instructions regarding	
	assignments and class projects (grouping, material	
	resources i.e.)	
Comments on	teacher admonishes students unwanted behavior	
misbehaviour		
Messages and comments	general messages and comments of classroom business	
Teachers activities during individual seatwork		
Individual guidance	teachers give individualised guidance and supervision	
Involving the whole class in individual students' questions		
Group guidance	teachers give group guidance and supervision	
Out of the classroom	teacher leaves the classroom area	
Non-interaction	no direct interaction between teacher and students; reads,	
	clears the classroom i.e.	
Teachers activities during group work		
Individual guidance	teachers give individualised guidance and supervision	
Group guidance	teachers give group guidance and supervision	
Involving the whole class in individual students' questions		
Not interaction	no direct interaction between teacher and students reads,	
	clears the classroom i.e.	
Out of the classroom	teacher leaves the classroom area	

## APPENDIX II

Categories for video analysis of science classroom activities (Arnesen, N., & Ødegaard, M., 2006)

Student activities	
Copying notes	The teacher periodically writes on the board
	material students are expected to copy into their
	notebooks
Silent reading	Students read silent in the textbook or other
_	material
Practical work/lab work	Work involving use of apparatus or specimens,
	usually done in the laboratory or outdoor
Seatwork	Students work independently or in groups at their
	seats on tasks specified by the teacher or tasks
	from the work plan
Listening/Engaging	Students paying attention to what is going on in
	the classroom
Use of ICT	Students use ICT in their work
Teaching activities	
Review	Teacher summarizes in monologue or as students
	questions about previous lessons' themes
Motivation	Teacher use an artefact, anecdote or similar to
	motivate interest in a topic
Teacher summary	Teacher summarizes the theme of the lesson so
	far
Going over the do now	Teacher asks for results of student seatwork or
	other work done in the lesson
Going over the homework	Teacher asks for answers to students' homework
Developing new content –	New knowledge is developed through classroom
cannonical knowledge	dialogue, seatwork or in another way
Developing new skills –	Practical skills are developed through practical
procedural/ experimental	and experimental work
knowledge	
Dialogue	
Student initiatives	A student makes a comment or asks a question
	that brings up a new theme or issue
Teacher exposition	Teacher presents or explains something
	monologic (<3 minutes)
Teacher initiatives	Teacher asks questions in order to use or
	mobilize students' knowledge when developing
	new knowledge
Social language	
Everyday	<i>I eacher and students use everyday concepts</i>
	ana language

Scientific	Teacher and students use scientific concepts	
	and language	
Feature		
Description	A scientific phenomenon, concept or event	
	is described	
Explanation	A scientific phenomenon, concept or event	
	is explained	
Generalization	Making a description or explanation that	
	is independent of any specific context	
Referent		
Empirical	The object or phenomenon that is described or	
	explained is present and observable in the	
	classroom	
Theoretical	The object or phenomenon that is described or	
	explained is not present or observable in the	
	classroom	

#### APPENDIX III:

*Transcription for S3* 080905 0821neanat (1.09.13) S – Student, T – Teacher

S: Are we supposed to write anything under the line?

T: No, do not write under.

S: Hey, what's that picture there?

T: It's a seed. I've drawn a seed. Have you seen what comes up from the ground,

the first that comes up from the ground?

S: Sprout.

T: ...Vera?

S: One of those little green things.

T: Yes. Have you noticed how many leaves there are on it?

S: Two

T: Yes, good. Excellent.

(draws a seedling with two leaves on the blackboard)

T: The plant kingdom is divided in two groups. One is the monocots, and that are those leaves that come from the seed with one leaf. And that is for instance grass. All are grass species. Tulips. Lilies. If you look at the veins of the plants, those are the ones that have veins that only go straight up. (draws veins in the air with her hand) And down again. Not like those that ramify. (gesticulates and illustrates with both hands) While sunflower has lots... if we look at a leaf here (picks a leaf) they have veins that branch outwards, right? (Shows the leaf) And then there are the dicots. Then it comes up with two leaves first. (points to the drawing on the blackboard) Inside the little seed here (draws a line from the seed) there is stored nutrition. (starts to write but wipes it out) I said that I would not write anything there, so I have to hold it. (writes "stored nutrition" further up on the blackboard without saying anything) And it uses that stored nutrition to make that little plant there. (points to the seedling drawing) With some roots. (draws roots) (pausing 13 seconds)

What color do the leaves here have?

S: Green.

T: Yeah! (colors the leaves with green chalk)

T: And when a leaf has green color... Everything that is green in nature. What do they do? Or not everything that is green. There are green animals too, and they don't do that. Yes, May?

S: They produce oxygen.

T: Yes, and what do we call that process?

S: Photosynthesis?

T: Photosynthesis, yes. Great. Do you know... What do we know about algae then...? Brown algae in the sea. Are they plants that do photosynthesis?

S: Yes.

S: Yes.

T: But they are not green?

(several students talk at the same time)

S: No.

S: Yes, they become green if you put them in hot water.

T: Yes! Have you done it before, Nils?

S: No, you said so last week.

T: *(smiles)* I said so last time?! That's right. I did that once, you are the ones I did that leaf with. (points to the blackboard) Yes. Then I do not have to do it now. I get... get a bit confused, you know, because I have four groups where I do the same things.

But OK, it is green. The green is chlorophyll. (writes "chlorophyll" on the seedling drawing)

Marianne Ødegaard Norwegian Centre for Science Education University of Oslo, Norway

Kirsti Klette Department of Teacher Education and School Research University of Oslo, Norway

## SVEIN SJØBERG AND CAMILLA SCHREINER

# 9. RESULTS AND PERSPECTIVES FROM THE ROSE PROJECT

Attitudinal aspects of young people and science in a comparative perspective

## ABSTRACT

This article presents the comparative project ROSE (The Relevance of Science Education) on how 15-year old learners relate to science (and technology). The focus of ROSE is on the learners' science and technology (S&T) related prior experiences, their interests, their future plans, their attitudes to and perceptions of school science and science in society, their views on the environmental challenges and questions about priorities for their future job.

ROSE is a cooperative, low-cost, grassroot undertaking with researchers from about 40 countries from all continents. These researchers share some basic beliefs and perspectives on the role and purpose of science as a compulsory school subject for the whole age cohort, i.e. "science for all". This rationale of ROSE as well as some details of the development of the project is described, followed by some examples of results. These results reveal interesting similarities and differences between learners in different countries as well as between girls and boys.

An important aim of the ROSE study was to stimulate informed debates over important issues relating to school science. We end the article by describing the dissemination of results and by indicating possible implications of the ROSE findings.

## INTRODUCTION: THE PURPOSE OF SCHOOL SCIENCE<sup>1</sup>

In most industrialized countries, compulsory school lasts some 9–10 years. Science is a central school subject, taught more or less throughout the compulsory school. This fact opens great possibilities for those concerned with science education, but it also entails dangers and pitfalls.

The great majority of young people will not become scientists. This simple fact is nevertheless often forgotten when subject specialists are concerned about their own subject, and scientists are no exception. Too often, many scientists consider that the prime purpose of school science is to recruit more scientists. School science is seen as the first step on a ladder to become

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 203–236. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

### S. SJØBERG AND C. SCHREINER

scientists. When young people make other choices than towards S&T careers, this is often conceived as a "leaky pipe-line". (For a critique of this view, see also the report *Science Education in Europe: Critical Reflections* (Osborne and Dillon, 2009).

In a compulsory school, the main purpose of all subjects is to prepare the young learner for an active, informed and meaningful life in work and leisure in the decades that will follow. The school as a whole should broaden the minds, provide insights into our common values and cultural heritage and prepare the young to become active participants who can make a contribution as autonomous and critical citizens in the world of tomorrow. We, as science educators, should remind ourselves about such basic facts, and we should place our own subject within such a frame of reference. We should remember that the majority of learners are not going to become scientists or engineers. We may hope, however, that they leave school with knowledge and skills that will remain meaningful for them as citizens, and we may also hope that they will look back at their experience with school science with positive feelings, and that they will continue to have an interest in science-related issues and challenges.

This brief reminder about the obvious may serve as an introduction to a description of basic features of the project ROSE.

#### THE ROSE PROJECT

## Rose in Brief

ROSE is an acronym for the Relevance of Science Education, and is an international, comparative project. The key feature of ROSE is to gather and analyze information from the learners about several factors that have a bearing on their attitudes to S&T and their motivation to learn S&T. Examples are: A variety of S&T-related out-of-school experiences, their interests in learning different S&T topics in different contexts, their views on their own school science, their views and attitudes to science and scientists in society, their future hopes, priorities and aspirations, their feeling of empowerment with regards to environmental challenges, etc.

Through international deliberations, workshops and piloting among many research partners, we developed an instrument that aims to map such attitudinal or affective perspectives on S&T in education and in society as seen by 15 year old learners. We tried to make an instrument that could be used in widely different cultures. In addition to the research as such, the aim of ROSE was also to stimulate cooperation and networking across cultural barriers and to promote an informed discussion on how to make science education more relevant and meaningful for learners in ways that respect gender differences and cultural diversity. We also wanted to shed light on how we can stimulate the students' interest in choosing S&T-related studies and careers – and to stimulate their life-long interest in and respect for S&T as part of our common culture.

Since the beginning of the project, in 2002, we have been in contact with researchers from about 70 countries. More than 40 of these have collected data, and many have used the instrument for their own, national or local purposes.

ROSE partners have met at conferences like ESERA and IOSTE, and several ROSE workshops have been hosted in Europe and in Malaysia, as a follow-up of IOSTE XII. In the comparisons that are presented in this article, we have included data that we consider to meet the quality requirements as described in the ROSE handbook (Sjøberg and Schreiner 2004) in terms of definition of population, sampling, data collection and coding etc. for such comparisons. The data from the following countries were found to meet these criteria: Austria, Bangladesh, Botswana, Czech Republic, Denmark, England, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Ghana, Greece, India (Gujarat), India (Mumbai), Iceland, Ireland, Japan, Latvia, Lesotho, Malaysia, N. Ireland, Norway, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Scotland, Slovenia, Spain, Swaziland, Sweden, Trinidad, Turkey, Uganda, Zimbabwe. In some countries the ROSE target population is defined as the students in one *region* of the country (e.g. Karelia in Russia, Gujarat in India and the Central region in Ghana).

ROSE is a "low-budget" and "grassroots" project with some basic Norwegian support as well as national funding in the participating countries.<sup>2</sup>

The ROSE material may illuminate a range of important and topical discussions in the science education community, for example issues such as curricular content vs. students' interests, cultural diversity, students' disenchantment with their science classes, students' perceptions of science in society and gender differences. Discussions on such issues have been taking place in many papers and conference presentations based on the ROSE material (see e.g. Jenkins, 2005; Jidesjö & Oscarsson, 2004; Lavonen, Juuti, Uitto, Meisalo & Byman, 2005; Ogawa & Shimode, 2004; Trumper, 2004). Many Ph.D. students are basing their thesis on ROSE data, and the first Ph.D.-thesis was presented in Norway in March 2006 (Schreiner, 2006), the second in Ghana (Anderson, 2007). Several Master degree dissertations have been based on ROSE, e.g. Jensen, 2008 and Ullah, 2008.

#### ROSE: Aims and Common Commitments

The introduction to this article stresses that science education in a compulsory school has a mandate to prepare for citizenship for all students. Such concerns provide the ideals and commitments of the project. In more concrete terms, a quote from the research contract for the grant from the Research Council of Norway may serve as an introduction to the ROSE project:

We believe that the lack of perceived relevance of the S&T curriculum is one of the greatest barriers for good learning as well as for interest in the subject. The ambition of the ROSE project is to provide insight into factors that relate to the relevance of the contents as well as the contexts of S&T curricula. We hope that the outcomes of the project are perspectives and empirical findings that provide a

## S. SJØBERG AND C. SCHREINER

base for informed discussions on how to improve curricula and enhance the interest in S&T in a way that

- respects cultural diversity and gender equity
- promotes personal and social relevance
- empowers the learner for democratic participation and citizenship

The ROSE research partners share a set of common commitments. These can be seen as an elaboration of the contract:

- 1. Basic literacy in S&T is crucial for the individual's autonomy and quality of life, for national development as well as for meaningful democratic participation citizenship in all societies.
- 2. The teaching and learning of S&T takes place in particular social contexts. This context (cultural, political, religious, linguistic context, dominating world-view, etc.) will rightfully influence what the society values as important knowledge and skills. This wider context has to be taken into account when curricula are made.
- 3. Children come to school with different life experiences, they have different interests and plans for their life and they have different values and priorities. These different backgrounds are important determinants for their learning. Besides, they have to be respected in their own right. Only by doing so, can S&T education become meaningful and relevant to them as individuals.
- 4. Children also have more or less well-founded images about the nature and purpose of S&T; and they have different perceptions of how people in these areas are as persons. Such perceptions about the 'body language' of S&T are likely to colour their attitudes to the subjects and their willingness to enter S&T areas of study and work.

## ROSE Development, Method and Limitations

Details of the project development, the resulting ROSE instrument definition of population and sampling, data collection and coding etc. are given in detail in Schreiner and Sjøberg (2004), also available from the ROSE web site (http://roseproject.no ).

A ROSE advisory group, consisting of key science educators,<sup>3</sup> covering all continents, was established when the project funding was secured. In cooperation with this project group, we used a year and half to draft, pilot and revise the ROSE instrument (a questionnaire), and to develop the details of data collection. The original instrument is in English (and Norwegian) and was later translated to the language in each participating country. The ROSE instrument is therefore available in several languages, many are to be found on the ROSE site. The questionnaire has a core of some 200+ items. In some countries, they also collected additional background data, like type of school, locality of the school (i.e. urban/rural or

district) as well as data of socio-economic status of parents. Such data are used in some national reports, but are not used in the international comparisons.

The many **ROSE international partners** are also listed on the ROSE site. This group of partners was established partly before the project started (and received funding), but it grew considerably during the project development, when colleagues in other countries got to know about the project. The initial project invitation was sent to science education researchers through mail lists for IOSTE, NARST, ESERA and similar. Many of the interested partners had also taken part in a previous study, called SAS (Science And Scientists) also organized from Oslo University and funded by the Research Council of Norway. Many items from SAS found their way to ROSE, and SAS may be regarded as a large pilot study for ROSE, also for the data collection, coding, logistics etc. Details and results for SAS are reported in Sjøberg (2002).

Many ROSE items were taken from the Eurobarometer studies on perceptions of science and technology. The ROSE organizer was later invited to be on the scientific committee for the Eurobarometer studies on *Europeans*, *science and technology* (see e.g. EU 2005). In this way, more ROSE questions were introduced in the Eurobarometer data collection in 2005.<sup>4</sup> Data from ROSE and Eurobarometer therefore open for interesting comparisons between the young learners and the adult population. (Examples are presented later in this article.)

The **target population** for ROSE are the young learners around the age of 15, i.e. towards the end of what in most countries is the final year of the compulsory school. The ROSE handbook (main points are reproduced in Schreiner and Sjøberg (2004)) provides detailed instructions on the definition of population, sampling procedures, coding etc. In principle, we aimed at the whole age cohort, but in some countries, like most African, school attendance is far from 100% at this age. Therefore, our population is, more precisely, the school attenders in the class level where the 15–year olds are most likely to be in majority. Whole classes were sampled, one class per school, and with a probability for the school proportional to the number of pupils at that class level. For most countries, the number of respondents are around 1000, in some countries, considerably higher. For each country, a report was made to describe the details of population, sampling, number of respondents, practical challenges and other details. The country reports are posted at the ROSE web site.

The ROSE data were not collected simultaneously in each country. Timing was decided in each country, dictated by practical concerns. The data in the file used for common analysis was collected over a time span from late 2002 to early 2006. Although there are no particular reasons to expect radical changes in attitudes over these years, this fact calls for some care in data interpretation. After the main data collected data according to the same procedures. Because of the time span, we have not included these data in the file that we use for our comparisons presented here. Some of these "new countries" have, however, made national reports, and these are made available on the ROSE web site.

## S. SJØBERG AND C. SCHREINER

The above details underscore that the data should be interpreted with some care. Our data do, of course, not meet the rigour that is demanded by the "official" large scale comparative studies like TIMSS and (in particular) PISA. The aim of ROSE is, however, not to rank countries against certain measures of achievement. There are no "correct" answers to ROSE items, and no responses are "better" than other.

As can be seen form our rationale and basic commitments, we think of the ROSE data as an input for critical and informed discussion of questions of value and priorities. High precision in any measurement is therefore not a key point.

The ROSE project, as such, cannot be said to have one particular *theoretical framework* with clearly defined theoretical constructs that underlie the development of scales of items. We had, of course, a series of hypotheses and questions that we wanted to probe, and these guided the development of the project and the instrument. The countries that take part are widely different in terms of culture, level of economic development etc. and one cannot use one (say) sociological or psychological theory that applies in all these countries. In her Ph.D., based mainly on the Norwegian data, Schreiner (2006) uses recent sociological theory on youth culture in late modern societies as a frame for understanding the Norwegian data. In other countries, other theories might be used to explore and understand findings. The data can be used with explorative statistical analysis to probe a series of different hypotheses.

## The ROSE Instrument

The ROSE instrument has in total 250 items under the 7 following headings (details, theoretical background, previous research etc. are given in Sjøberg and Schreiner, 2004).

- My out-of-school experiences (61 items)
- What I want to learn about (108 items)
- My future job (26 items)
- Me and the environment (18 items)
- My science classes (16 items)
- My opinions about science and technology (16 items)
- Myself as a scientist (Open written response)

All ROSE questions have very simple wording, with closed responses to be given on a 4-point Likert scale. The estimated time was one school lesson, but there was no constraint on the available time. The responders could use the time that they needed, and the teacher could also help clarify if there was something that was not fully understood. The important point was to get a genuine and honest answer. On the front page of the ROSE instrument, the purpose and instructions read like this. There are no correct or incorrect answers, only answers that are right for you. Please think carefully and give answers that reflect your own thinking. This questionnaire is being given to students in many different countries. That is why some questions may seem strange to you. If there is a question you do not understand, just leave it blank. If you are in doubt, you may ask the teacher, since this is not a test! The purpose of this questionnaire is to find out what students in different parts of the world think about science at school as well as in their everyday life. This information may help us to make schools better.

All ROSE items use a **Likert scale** with response 4 categories, in principle from "small" to "large" (*never* to *often*, *disagree* to *agree* etc) A thorough discussion of our use of Likert scale, the chosen number of 4 response categories, and the use of statistical methods for Likert-type data are thoroughly discussed in Schreiner (2006).

## ROSE: KEY FINDINGS

In the following, we will report some results from analysis of the ROSE material. All diagrams show mean scores (in percentage) for 14–16 years old girls and boys from a number of countries in the ROSE sample. The countries are sorted partly geographically, with neighbouring countries together; and partly by level of development, using the Human Development Index<sup>5</sup> as a proxy.

In the diagrams in the following, we have simplified the results by collapsing the first two categories (1 and 2) and labeled those *Disagree* and the two upper categories (3 and 4) and labeled those *Agree*. By this, we present results in terms of percentage of respondents who agree. This simplification is done for ease of interpretation by an audience, but we use the whole 4-point scale for correlations and other forms of statistical analysis.

The presentation below gives the details of the principles for the following presentation of data.

## S. SJØBERG AND C. SCHREINER



Positive Attitudes to Science – but also (Growing?) Doubt and Skepticism

As mentioned, some of the questions in ROSE are identical to those asked in the Eurobarometer<sup>6</sup> studies, where the target population is the adult population in 32 European countries (EU 2005). The results open for interesting comparisons between the young generation and adults.

The overall picture is that of optimism in most countries. Young people, in great majority, tend to agree with statements like these:

- Science and technology will find cures to diseases such as HIV/AIDS, cancer, etc,
- Science and technology are important for society,
- Thanks to science and technology, there will be greater opportunities for future generations,
- · New technologies will make work more interesting,
- The benefits of science are greater than the harmful effects it could have, and
- Science and technology make our lives healthier, easier and more comfortable.

There are signs, however, that young people in the in the richest countries (Northern Europe, Japan) are more ambivalent and sceptical than the adult population. A remarkable general pattern is also that, on nearly every item, there is a growing gender difference, with girls, in particular in the richest countries, being more negative (or sceptical, ambivalent) than boys.

## RESULTS AND PERSPECTIVES FROM THE ROSE PROJECT



## S. SJØBERG AND C. SCHREINER





212

## RESULTS AND PERSPECTIVES FROM THE ROSE PROJECT


These results emerge not just from single items shown here, but are consistent through a series of questions, and should be taken seriously by educators and policymakers.

The following examples give data to support the points above. Note that the Eurobarometer countries only include European countries, and that these are sorted in the graphs by the same principle as the ROSE countries (i.e. mainly by HDI). Since the Eurobarometer study uses a 5-point Likert scale, these data are not converted to percent, but give the mean on this 5-point scale.

#### Science in Schools: Not a Success Story?

The ROSE project asks 16 questions about how the learners consider their experiences with school science. The heading is "My science classes. To what extent do you agree with the following statements about the science that you may have had at school?"

These students have had science for most of their years at school. Hence, the answers provide a kind of summative evaluation of those experiences. The results vary strongly between countries, but for European countries (and Japan), the answers indicate that school science fails in many ways. Some data and the exact wording of the questions are given in the following graphs, and the overall picture is the following:

# "School Science ...

- *is less interesting than other subjects.* " There is a strong gender difference here, with girls less positive than boys, especially in the wealthier countries.
- *has not opened my eyes for new and exciting jobs.*" The gender pattern is the same here, and the positive response is lowest in the richest countries.
- *has not increased my career chances.*" There are interesting differences between countries here, with the young people in the 4 English-speaking countries being more positive than in other parts of Europe.
- has not increased my appreciation for nature"
- has not taught me how to take care of my health"
- has not increased my curiosity"
- *has not shown me the importance of S&T for our way of living.*" In most European countries, less than 50% of the respondents agree with this statement. Gender differences are small.

Examples follow, as annotated graphical representations.

#### RESULTS AND PERSPECTIVES FROM THE ROSE PROJECT





# The More Developed, the Less Overall Interest in Science?

The ROSE instrument contains 108 items asking for "What I want to learn about: How interested are you for learning about the following?"

The items cover a wide variety of possible topics for science learning. The underlying structure in this pool of items is based on a kind of two-dimensional grid. The idea behind the selection of these topics is that different science **contents** (like electricity, heat, mechanics, botany, chemistry etc.) are placed in different **contexts** (social, technical, ethical, practical, theoretical etc.).

The underlying rationale is, of course, to explore to what degree the context determines the expressed interest in a particular content area. (For details of the instrument and the underlying assumptions, see Schreiner and Sjøberg, 2004.) Some of the striking results are summarized in the following sections.

An overall pattern is that young people in the less developed countries express an interest to learn about nearly all the topics that are listed. One can notice a strong negative correlation between the average interest score (horizontal axis) and the level of development. If HDI (Human development Index) is used as the indicator for development, the correlation is **-0.85** between overall interest and HDI.



Care should be taken when interpreting this overall result. One should *not* assert that young people are less interested in science the more developed the country is. A better explanation for these data is rather to suggest that for young people in (mainly) developing country, going to school at the age of 15 is a "luxury" or a

"privilege". Hence, they are, in principle, happy to learn about nearly everything the school may offer. Young people in rich countries (in particular countries with low rates of unemployment) can "afford" to see school more as a duty and an obligation more than as a privilege. Many students also think that school should be fun and entertaining. Therefore, they are more likely to express what they like and what they dislike. One might say that they are more "selective" in their choices.

# Interests – Similarities and Differences Between Countries

It is interesting to explore differences and similarities in how students in different countries respond to the questions about their interests in learning different science topics. For this purpose, hierarchal cluster analysis is a useful explorative statistical tool. Results from the hierarchical cluster analysis can be presented in *dendrograms*. The dendrogram in Figure 1 below shows how similar or close the countries and country clusters are to each other: The branches illustrate how clusters are formed at different stages in the analysis and the distances between the clusters.



Figure 1. Hierarchical cluster analysis of residual ACE mean scores for all countries. Proximity measure: squared Euclidean distance. Clustering method: between-groups linkage. To the left, we have inserted a column showing the national HDI values (UNDP, 2004). (Source: Schreiner, 2006). The distance along the horizontal axis from the point at which the clusters come into existence to the point at which they aggregate into a larger cluster represents the distinctness of the clusters. The distinctness tells us how different one cluster is from its closest neighbour. The more compact a cluster is, i.e. the further to the left the branches merge, the more similar to each other the countries are.

In this analysis, the HDI-value (based on data from 2004) is used as an indicator for the level of development in a country. To the left in Figure 1, we have inserted a column showing the national HDI values.

By reading the dendrogram from the right towards the left, we see that the meta-cluster contains three main clusters: (A) High HDI countries including all the European countries plus Japan and Trinidad and Tobago, (B) Medium HDI Oriental countries and (C) Low HDI African countries. As the length of the branch for all these three clusters are relatively long, they can be perceived as three distinctive clusters of countries. Cluster B is more similar to cluster A than cluster C.

One noticeable result from the analysis above is that similarities between countries in this part of the questionnaire seem to be determined by two properties: geographical closeness and level of development. The general pattern is that first, the countries merge with geographically neighbouring countries, and next, the group of neighbouring countries merge with groups of countries having a comparable level of development.<sup>7</sup> But the unifying effect of geographical closeness only works within a certain limit of diversity in development. For example, Japan is geographically closer to the Philippines and Malaysia than to Europe, but the Japanese students seem to have more interests in common with European students. This may possibly be explained by the relatively high level of development and industrialization in Japan. The response profiles of students in the Oriental countries (like Malaysia, Philippines, India and Bangladesh) appear as relatively similar to each other. We should note that the Russian students' orientation towards science and science education appear as comparable to the profiles of the students in the Baltic countries (Latvia and Estonia). Keep in mind that the Russian students in ROSE come from Karelia, a region quite close to the Baltic countries and Finland.

# The More Developed, the Less Interest for "School Science" – also Practical, "Relevant" and Everyday Science and Technology

A clear pattern is that topics that are close to what is often found in science curricula and textbooks have low scores on the rating of interest among young learners from Europe and other well developed countries.

Examples follow.







*Girls' and Boys' Interest are Context-Dependent – and Growing with Level of Development* 

The annotated graphs on the following pages illustrate that the *Context* is a key to understand the expressed interest.

In sum:

**Boys**' interests (and **NOT** the girls'): The technical, mechanical, electrical, spectacular, violent, explosive... **Girls'** interests (and NOT the boys') Health and medicine, beauty and the human body, ethics, aesthetics, wonder, speculation (and the paranormal.)







224

In spite of the strong gendering of interest, there are some items that seem to be interesting for both girls and boys. One example is given below.



Concern for the Environment – Mainly a Concern for Girls?

The ROSE instruments contain 18 items that probe how young people relate to environmental challenges. The overall impression is the following: Environmental issues are important for all, but mainly for **girls**.

- **Girls**, more than boys, agree with statements like: People should care more about protection of the environment, I can personally influence what happens with the environment
- **Boys**, more than girls think problems are exaggerated and trust experts to sort out the problems
- **Boys**, more than girls think that science and technology can solve all environmental problems, (a considerable number of boys also agree with statements like, Science and technology can solve nearly all problems)
- · Girls believe that each individual makes a difference
- Girls are willing to 'pay the price'
- Boys are more reluctant

Examples follow.



#### RESULTS AND PERSPECTIVES FROM THE ROSE PROJECT





What is Important for Future Work?

The ROSE instrument contains 26 questions that probe the plans and priorities for future work.

The wording is: **My future job:** How important are the following issues for your potential future occupation or job? This is followed by a list of 26 different options.

The results confirm our initial assumption about the prime importance of **values**, **attitudes and meaning**! However, on all items probing this, we find that **girls**, in all cultures, seem to value these aspects even more than boys do. In addition, we observe the following pattern:

- Girls' priority: Working with, and helping people
- Boys' priority: Working with their hands, with things, machines and tools
- Boys, more than the girls favour:

Earning lots of money, becoming the boss at the job, becoming famous.... and *having an easy job*...)







#### Recruitment to Science and Technology?

Since recruitment to S&T is a prime concern for the EU (as well as for most OECD countries), we have some questions that directly address this issue. The results are not very encouraging.

Very few young people agree with the statement "*I would like to become a scientist*". In particular, there are extremely few **girls** who want to become scientists, and even for the boys the percentage is very low. We also observe that the more developed the country is, the lower the desire to become a scientist.

Similar responses are given to the question. "I would like to get a job in technology". In Europe, around 50% of the boys give a positive response, but very few girls indicate that they want such a job. This gender difference is, indeed, dramatic, and there seems to be something about the perception of "technology" that puts off girls in all well developed countries.





# DISSEMINATION AND POSSIBLE IMPLICATIONS

An important aim of ROSE has been dissemination of results to stimulate informed discussions about important issues regarding S&T in education and society. To a large extent, this aim has been fulfilled far above our expectations. In many countries, national debates, reports and action plans make reference to ROSE results. At the international level, ROSE results and has been presented and discussed at several large EU conferences (on Science in society, on Science communication, Gender and science etc.) as well as for more professional S&T organizations like ESERA (European Science Education Research Association), NARST (National Association for Research in Science Teaching), IOSTE (International Organization for science and technology Education) and PCST (Public Communication of Science and Technology).

Organizations for science centres (like Ecsite, the European network of science centres and museums) also use results, and ROSE data are also used in several international reports, such as the EU (2004) report *Europe needs more scientists*, the OECD (2008) report *Encouraging Student Interest in Science and Technology Studies* and The Nuffield Report *Science education in Europe: Critical reflections* (Osborne and Dillon 2007).

ROSE results have also been used by the *Wellcome Trust* in their preparation for their Wellcome Monitor<sup>8</sup> and by the *European Roundtable of Industrialists*<sup>9</sup> in their multi stake initiative "Inspiring the next generation" to stimulate recruitment to industry and technology.

While dissemination and the discussion about priorities is an important aim in itself, it is more problematic to state clear-cut implications of the ROSE results. This is, of course, not unique to this project. It is always problematic to move from the descriptive to the normative, to draw educational implications from empirical findings. Recommendations for possible actions necessarily involve (open or implicit) choice of values. One might, however, based on the value commitments of the project, say something about possible consequences.

From our perspective, criteria for success in SMT teaching at the compulsory level will be closely linked to lasting, possibly life-long attitudinal aspects, and, for instance, not just higher scores in tests like PISA. These attitudinal aims are for instance higher interest in SMT, positive (as well as critical!) attitudes to SMT, willingness to engage in SMT related issues, understanding the significance of SMT for our well-being, for democracy and culture. For some, but not for all, this may lead to a motivation to choose SMT as subjects in schools, even to go into SMT studies and occupations.

With such "criteria for success", we may suggest some implications of the research findings.

Students' experiences as well as their interest should be attended to in the construction of curricula, in the production of textbooks and other teaching material as well as in the classroom activities. In doing this, one should keep the documented gender differences in interests and values in mind. However, "listening to the students" does, of course, not imply that they should be taught

"what they want to have". Teaching has to be motivating (in particular in the more wealthy countries), meaningful and engaging. It has, in some way, to link up to the values and interests that the learner brings to the classroom. If not, no other "learning" than rote memory based on duty is likely to occur. If the learners' encounter with school science is negative, they are likely to develop negative attitudes, and will turn their backs to SMT when they make their decisions in the future lives, be it as students or as citizens.

There is today an international recognition that SMT (and other subjects) should be "contextualized", should have meaning in the *context of the learners*. (Some countries use the term "localizing the curriculum".) Current theoretical concepts like "constructivism", "situated learning" and "socio-cultural theory" point in the same direction. The implication of these current perspectives is also that students' own attitudes, values and interests should be given high priority in the selection and presentation of the science curriculum content. Teaching material and teaching practices that do not engage students in meaningful learning are not likely to give lasting positive results. An implication of this is also that since the contexts of the learners vary widely from one country to another, science curricula (at this age, and as an obligatory subject) cannot and should not strive to be the same in different countries and cultures. Academic science may be seen as universal, but obligatory school science should, in our opinion, be context-based, and in some sense "local". This view also implies that we have a critical view on the implications of testing like TIMSS and PISA. In such tests, the items are by definition identical for learners in all countries. Moreover, in order to be "fair", no country should be favoured by the context of the items. In the PISA test construction there are procedures to exclude items which seem to be favour particular countries. In practice this means that the assumed "real life context" in PISA in practice is no context. The vision of having context-based, "authentic" and "real life challenges" items in an written, common, international "fair test" is impossible. This critique, shared by many science educators, is elaborated in Sjøberg, 2007.

As mentioned earlier, current science curricula, also in the early ages, are to a large extent based on the assumption that school science is the first step in the process to educate the future scientist. Curricula follow the logic and the structure of well established academic science. Although "logical" from a scientific point of view, this is not likely to be engaging for the great majority of children. This critique is well developed in the recent Nuffield report (Osborne and Dillon, 2007) and is not further explored here.

The ROSE data on pupils' interest profiles, show that a lot of "text-book science" is at the bottom of the students' interest. Rather surprisingly, also everyday science and technology seems to not be very attractive. While many science educators stress the need to connect school science to everyday situations, our results indicate that this might not be very appealing to many learners. This is particularly the case in more wealthy European countries. This poses some intriguing questions to what young learners see as "relevant" science.

On the other hand, we see an interest and a curiosity with phenomena that are unknown or exotic. Some of these questions are close to the research front, where

clear answers do not yet exist (like "life in the universe"), other questions may open for philosophical speculation, where there is not necessarily one correct answer. It seems obvious that school science has an image of just providing a series of correct answers, with no room for debate and doubt. Although school science has an obligation to provide a basic understanding of established science knowledge, one should also be more open for exploring and discussing "frontier science" or things we still do not understand. Such discussions, in our opinion, may also open up for the creativity and openness that should be seen as parts of the image of science.

In particular, there seems to be a need to "humanize" school science, to show that science is part of human history and culture, and that it is a corner-stone in our present, modern world-view. The learners should also see that S&T form the basis of our current way of life as well as a basic element of many jobs and occupations, also for those who do not choose to work in what is perceived to be the S&T sector.

The purpose of ROSE is to provide empirical data of the views, interests and attitudes of young people for an informed discussion on such issues. As one can see, there are remarkable differences between countries, but the most striking are the differences between girls and boys.

The low proportion of girls who choose studies and occupations in SMT is an important concern in most countries. The ROSE data may provide insights into how to increase girls' interest and motivation for SMT studies and careers. Girls are, more than boys, orientated towards values. They are, on the average, and across nations, more idealistic, more people-oriented as well as more oriented to care for the environment. If SMT school curricula, teaching (and testing!) open up for such aspects of the subjects, one may hope for a better gender balance in the future. It is important to stress that such a turn in priorities does not imply a "watered- down" version of real science. On the contrary, one may well argue that the needs of our future society will be better served if potential scientists, engineers as well as science teachers see the relevance of SMT to meet the pressing demands of our societies.

But most important is, of course, that students who will not pursue SMT as studies and careers, leave school with an understanding that science is crucial for addressing the many challenges that we are facing, at a local as well as on a global level. In this way, they may be better prepared to act as informed citizens.

#### NOTES

- <sup>1</sup> This article draws on material from the following publications: Schreiner, 2006; Schreiner & Sjøberg, 2004, 2005; 2007 and Sjøberg & Schreiner 2012.
- <sup>2</sup> ROSE received basic funding from The Research Council of Norway, The Ministry of Education in Norway, The University of Oslo and the newly established Norwegian Centre for Science Education. Industrialized countries have covered their own expenses, while some funding for data collection was provided for developing countries and countries with less available resources. Joint international workshops have been covered by the Norwegian funding. Participation in the project has, in many countries, led to the release of local funding for the national ROSE project.

#### RESULTS AND PERSPECTIVES FROM THE ROSE PROJECT

- <sup>3</sup> The group had, in addition to the Norwegian team, the following members: Dir. Vivien M. Talisayon (The Philippines), Dr. Jane Mulemwa (Uganda), Dr. Debbie Corrigan (Australia), Dir. Jayshree Mehta (India), Professor Edgar Jenkins (England), Dir. Vasilis Koulaidis (Greece), Dr. Ved Goel (The Commonwealth, now India), professor Glen Aikenhead (Canada) and professor Masakata Ogawa (Japan).
- <sup>4</sup> A new "special Eurobarometer study on Science and technology" collected data in 32 countries in the beginning of 2010. Also here, the overlap with ROSE was considerable.
- <sup>5</sup> The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) publishes an annual Human Development Report (HDR) with indexes for human development for each country (Human Development Index, HDI). HDI-values range from 0 to 1, where a higher value means higher level of development. HDI takes into account three indicators of development; health measured through life expectancy; education seen through educational attainment in terms of adult literacy and ratio of enrolment in primary, secondary and tertiary schooling; and economy, in terms of adjusted real income (for technical details, see UNDP, 2005).
- <sup>6</sup> For details on Eurobarometer. http://ec.europa.eu/public\_opinion/index\_en.htm
- <sup>7</sup> In spite of non-random sampling procedures, countries that are commonly considered as similar to each other (for example African, Baltic or Asian countries) do in most instances show similar or related response patterns. This can be seen as some validation of the data.
- <sup>8</sup> The Wellcome Trust Monitor is a survey of UK adults' and young people's views of medical research and seeks to develop a more systematic approach to describing and understanding trends in public interest in, knowledge of and attitudes towards medical research and its associated advances and applications. http://www.wellcome.ac.uk/About-us/Publications/Reports/Public-engagement/ WTX058859.htm
- The European Roundtable of Industrialists (ERT) is an informal forum for around 45 chief executives and chairmen of major multinational companies of Europe, covering a wide range of industrial and technological sectors. http://www.ert.be/

#### REFERENCES

- Anderson, I.K. (2007). The Relevance of Science Education -- As seen by Pupils in Ghanaian Junior Secondary Schools. Ph.D. Thesis Cape Town: University of Western Cape.
- EU (2004). Europe needs more scientists! Brussel: European Commission, Directorate-General for Research, High Level Group on Human Resources for Science and Technology in Europe. http://europa.eu.int/comm/research/conferences/2004/sciprof/pdf/final en.pdf.
- EU (2005). *Europeans, science and technology*. Special Eurobarometer224, Brussels: European Commision (Available from http://europa.eu.int/comm/public opinion/index en.htm)
- Jenkins, Edgar W. (2005). Important but not for me: students' attitudes towards secondary school science in England. Research in Science & Technological Education, 23(1), 41–57.
- Jensen, Fredrik (2008). Velstand øker avstanden mellom jenter og gutter? En sammenlikning av ungdoms interesser i naturfag på tvers av fire vestlige land, basert på undersøkelsen ROSE (The Relevance of Science Education) Master thesis, Institutt for lærerutdanning, Universitetet i Oslo.
- Jidesjö, Anders & Oscarsson, Magnus. (2004). Students' attitudes to science and technology. First results from The ROSE-project in Sweden. Paper presented at the XI IOSTE (International Organization for Science and Technology Education) symposium: Science and Technology Education for a Diverse World, Lublin, Poland.
- Lavonen, Jari; Juuti, Kalle; Uitto, Anna; Meisalo, Veijo & Byman, Reijo (2005). Attractiveness of Science Education in the Finnish Comprehensive School. In A. Manninen, Miettinen, K. & Kiviniemi, K. (Eds.), Research Findings on Young People's Perceptions of Technology and Science Education. Mirror results and good practice. Helsinki: Technology Industries of Finland.
- OECD (2008) Encouraging Student Interest in Science and Technology Studies Paris: OECD Global Science Forum.

- Ogawa, Masakata & Shimode, Shoko (2004). Three distinctive groups among Japanese students in terms of their school science. Preference: from preliminary analysis of Japanese data of an international survey "The Relevance of Science Education" (ROSE). Journal of Science Education in Japan, 28(4).
- Osborne, Jonathan & Dillon, Justin (2007). Science education in Europe: Critical reflections London. Report to the Nuffield Foundation Available from http://www.nuffieldfoundation.org/fileLibrary/ pdf/Sci\_Ed\_in\_Europe\_Report\_Final.pdf
- Schreiner, Camilla & Sjøberg, Svein (2004). Sowing the seeds of ROSE. Background, Rationale, Questionnaire Development and Data Collection for ROSE (The Relevance of Science Education) a comparative study of students' views of science and science education (Acta Didactica 4/2004). Oslo: Dept. of Teacher Education and School Development, University of Oslo. Available from: www.ils.uio.no/forskning/publikasjoner/actadidactica/index.html (accessed 2005-08-06).
- Schreiner, Camilla & Sjøberg, Svein (2012). Results and perspectives from ROSE (The Relevance of Science Education) – a comparative study of students' perceptions of science. Springer Science (in preparation).
- Schreiner, Camilla & Sjøberg, Svein (2007). Science education and youth's identity construction two incompatible projects? In D. Corrigan, Dillon, J. & Gunstone, R. (Eds.), The Re-emergence of Values in the Science Curriculum: Sense Publications.
- Schreiner, Camilla (2006). Exploring a ROSE-garden. Norwegian youth's orientations towards science - seen as signs of late modern identities. Based on ROSE (The Relevance of Science Education), a comparative study of 15 year old students' perceptions of science and science education. Doctoral thesis, University of Oslo, Faculty of Education, Department of Teacher Education and School Development, Oslo.
- Sjøberg, Svein (2002). Science for the children? Report from the Science and Scientists-project -- Acta Didactica. -(1/2002) Dept. of Teacher Education and School Development, University of Oslo (available at http://folk.uio.no/sveinsj/sas report new%20.pdf)
- Sjøberg, Svein (2007). PISA and "real life challenges": mission impossible? in Hopmann, S.T., Brinek,G. & Retzl, M. (Eds.) (2007) PISA zufolge PISA – PISA According to PISA, Berlin : LIT VERLAG (available at)
- Sjøberg, Svein and Schreiner, Camilla (2011). The next generation of citizens: attitudes to science among youngsters. In Bauer, M; Allum &. Shukla R. (Eds) (2011, in print) The Culture of Science -How does the Public relate to Science across the Globe? New York: Routledge.
- Trumper, Ricardo. (2004). Israeli Students' Interests in Physics and its Relation to their Attitude towards Science and Technology and to their own Science Classes. Paper presented at the XI IOSTE (International Organization for Science and Technology Education) symposium: Science and Technology Education for a Diverse World, Lublin, Poland, 25–30 July.
- Ullah, Fazilat Siddiq (2008). *Små kjønnsforskjeller blant ungdom i mindre moderniserte land*? 15åringers interesser i naturfag på tvers av fire ikke-vestlige land, basert på prosjektet ROSE (The Relevance of Science Education) Master Thesis Institutt for lærerutdanning, Universitetet i Oslo.
- UNDP (1990–2010). Human Development Report New York: United Nations Development Programme. Available from: http://hdr.undp.org/

Svein Sjøberg, University of Oslo, Norway

Camilla Schreiner, The Research Council of Norway

# CATHRINE HASSE AND ANNE B. SINDING

# 10. THE CULTURAL CONTEXT OF SCIENCE EDUCATION

#### INTRODUCTION

In this chapter we argue that national cultural historic developments influence science education and gendered teaching and scientific career paths from primary school to higher education. The argument is based on a number of field studies spanning over recent studies in physics practiced at university institutes in Denmark, Italy, Poland, Finland and Estonia to a study of physics education in primary schools in Denmark and a comparison between physics students' possibilities for embarking on a physicist education in Demark and Italy. The influence of national culture on the relation between gender and physics education is complex and profound. Results are not testable in any simple way; yet, we contend that the cultural diversity found affects male and female emotions and motivation to study science as well as their possibilities to become outstanding scientists. The empirical data are discussed within the framework of culturalhistorical activity theory. In the Russian psychologist Lev Vygotsky's theory of a zone of proximal development he discussed how human capacity for development can be aided by other human beings. He does not explicitly discuss how the developmental zone is related to cultural influence. We shall argue that the zone of proximal development in science education from a cultural perspective becomes a relational zone of proximal development.

We shall first briefly introduce the problems of gender and science education. Then we present the zone of proximal development as it is often explained and develop the notion of a culturally *relational* zone of proximal development. Culture is used as a heuristic device for understanding gender diversity in science education and we discuss the relational zones of proximal development in the culture of the classroom in relation to learning and not-learning in activity. Next we move on to discuss the culture of the classroom as embedded potentiality for development in national cultures and finally we discuss how relational zones of proximal development for girls in physics differ in Denmark and Italy.

# THE GENDER PROBLEM IN SCIENCE EDUCATION

Physics has often been depicted as 'outside of culture' and an objective scientific endeavor whose practitioners regard their scientific career paths as determined by

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 237–252. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

#### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

hard work and natural skills and where 'temperament, gender, nationalism or other sources of disorder' are of secondary importance (Traweek 1988,162). It has however, especially since the 1980's become more and more apparent that physics as a discipline is in crisis in the Western world, when it comes to attracting new practitioners to the field. In the second half of the 20th century two major connected movements have changed the face of higher education in the Western world, which can be said to have deepened the crisis. In the wake of the women's liberation movement more and more women have embarked on a higher education. This movement has led to the appearance of a 'mass university', but physics and other disciplines within science education such as engineering has not benefited from the move towards education for the masses experienced in all areas of higher education such as universities and other institutions which award academic degrees. This fact has been explained as 'science anxiety' (Mallow & McDermott 1988, Mallow 1986) and is related to students lack of technological and scientific literacy (Garmire & Pearson 2006). The very idea of science education seems to repel many young students. This repulsion is apparent already in secondary school and it is most salient among girls (Sjøberg & Schreiner 2005). It has been speculated that the apparent dislike for studying physics and other 'hard sciences' (as it is termed in many western countries) rests on profound differences between boys and girls (Stadler, Duit & Benke 2000), which could also be explained as a "natural" female tendency toward science anxiety (Mallow 2006,5). These differences in secondary school could explain why we find a gender diversity in the motivation for studying physics at the higher levels of education. The problem, however is more complex. Even though science education and the possibilities to chose a career as scientists seem to be equally open to male and female scientists in the industrialised world we find a huge diversity in how many female physicists are employed in countries like USA, Japan, Denmark, and in Italy, Portugal, Turkey and in former Eastern European countries in general. This diversity seem to point to the need for deeper explanations than a simple ascertainment of gender diversity or differences in gendered identities, which places physics as a masculine activity (e.g. Merchant 1990, Keller 1984). We shall address this complexity by introducing Vygotsky's concept of a zone of proximal development. This concept will help us understand how cultural learning processes (Hasse 2008) in a profound way shape cultural motivations for men as well as women as they develop in historically formed societies, which affect individual lifehistories as well as the learning of scientific disciplines.

# THE ZONE OF PROXIMAL DEVELOPMENT

A deeper understanding of cultural diversity in the development of an interest in science education and scientific and technological literacy can be obtained with help of the concept of the zone of proximal development. With this concept Vygotsky introduced learning as a key prerequisite for development in cultural historic processes.

One of the examples given by Vygotsky to exemplify the concept of the zone of proximal development describes two students in a school, who have the same

actual level of development. This puts them on par when asked to solve a test – but with the aid of the teacher it turns out that they have different zones of proximal development. One student moves much further ahead than the other when helped by the teacher (Vygotsky, 1978, 74). This process is defined as:

The distance between the actual developmental level as determined through independent problem solving and the level of potential development as determined through problem solving under adult guidance or in collaboration with more capable peers. (ibid., 86).

By analyzing the educational process in this manner Vygotsky shows that when properly organized (exceeding the actual developmental level - and not exceeding it beyond the zone of proximal development) – learning results in development. Thus learning is a necessary and universal aspect of the developing culturally organized, specifically human psychological functions, (ibid., 90).

It is difficult to render justice to Vygotsky's original idea even when studying primary sources, because the concept was developed and redeveloped over time. This concept is not only one of the most well known contributions of Vygotsky, but also one of the most misunderstood and contested (Chaiklin 2003). According to Chaiklin many of the contemporary applications of Vygotsky's concept of the zone of proximal development goes way beyond the theoretical issues Vygotsky was trying to address. When researchers like Yrjö Engeström (1987) connect zones of proximal development with activity systems, communities of practices and when connected with culture (Hasse 2001) we take the concept out of its original discussion related to the development of children and use it for our own purposes.

In extracting and expanding the theory we are not trying to replicate the theory of zone of proximal development precisely as it was discussed by Vygotsky himself. We follow the argument of Sylvia Scribner (1985) who expounds the theories of Vygotsky to include a general perspective on adults' learning and development. Scribner's interpretation of Vygotsky's theoretical framework includes:

- 1. The general history of humankind
- 2. The history of individual societies
- 3. The individual life-history in society
- 4. History of a particular psychological system

As higher mental processes do not originate in biological evolution and cannot be explained with reference to natural laws, but with reference to 'laws of history', socially organised activities change in history but the changes have directionality. This movement is expressed as mental development (the zone of proximal development). Questions of how motivation and emotions are created cannot be separated from the history of how human mental life becomes what it is.

Vygotsky himself named the symbolic-communicative spheres of activity in which humans collectively produce regularity for 'cultural' and new forms of behaviour 'specifically cultural forms'. And Scribner concludes that it follows that

#### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

a methodology appropriate to study these cultural means and forms in the everyday practice must be employed.

The theory underlines the social character of development as learning, which:

[a]wakens a variety of internal developmental processes that are only able to operate when the child is interacting with people in his environment and in cooperation with his peers (Vygotsky, 1978, 90).

The most important aspect of the theory for our purpose in our argument is the definition of the relation between learning and development. Learning is not reduced to a simple process of 'faxing' cultural messages into children's minds. What is learned is a potential for development – the direction of development and new learning. Developmental process in other words lags behind learning processes – and they are directed. We shall, with reference to Scribner, add that the process does not end in adolescence, but can also be used to describe the continuous lifelong learning processes of adults. Though children to a larger extent than grownups might be assimilators and adults the inventors of cultural artefacts (Scribner 1985, 130), children can also be inventors and adults also have zone of proximal developments affecting the development of creative processes (Moran & John-Steiner 2003).

In the line of argument presented here adults have to continuously learn what cultural-historical activity is about. Culture is what gives the direction of development and can be defined on many levels (classroom, institute and nation). Culture is:

# [o] ften transparent to those who use it. Once learned, it becomes what one sees with, but seldom what one sees (Hutchins 1980, 12).

Development is defined by us as the changes in our ever-moving perspectives of the world, on which we build new learning. It is neither used to refer to child development in the general understanding of the word, nor in the rather evolutionary sense used by most scholars in the 1920's.

Vygotsky himself refers to a number of anthropological studies on what was then considered 'primitive' people in his wider discussion of learning theories, but this dimension is not quite unfolded, just as his concept of culture remains unspecified (Veer 1996).

We have sought a method to study processes – not the products – of contemporary adults and in everyday life and to look for arguments for the *motivation behind the words (and actions)*. This is not child development of rudimentary to higher psychological forms, but the motivational changes which take place as national cultural-historical developments affect male and female life-histories.

# THE RELATIONAL ZONE OF PROXIMAL DEVELOPMENT

We have all gone through cultural historical developments which might be unknown to (adult) newcomers. This process becomes clear for a researcher meeting with a group of people, who have already developed in each other's company over time – but it is not only researchers who occasionally are newcomers. This is also the situation for example for new students embarking in higher education.

In 1996 one of the authors of the present chapter enrolled as a physics student in a department of physics in a higher education institution in order to study the inclusion and exclusion processes of male and female physicists students at closehand (Hasse 2008). Through participant observation, with an underlining of 'participant' she, as the other newcomers had to learn a new understanding of the meaning of well-known words and physical artefacts. Some students also learned to develop a new identity as 'physicists-to-be'. They were encouraged as their learning turned into development in the meeting with the established staff of teachers at the institute. Other students quickly learned that they did not belong in the discipline of physics. As has been argued this process of inclusion and exclusion had much less to do with good grades in physics as with the teachers' recognition of potentials in some of the students, which clearly had a motivating effect (Hasse 2002, 2001). Theoretically we can argue that particular cultural patterns are reinforced or weakened as we continue to learn; not only official curricula but also the informal 'code-curricular' taught to all newcomers through complex processes in everyday life. This is generally not taught in words, but through reactions (e.g. to actions, spoken words, how we dress and what we read) (Hasse 2008). Communications are not just verbal in science education. "Body, gesture, and context have become recognized as important resources in human communication" (Roth, 2004, p. 1040). However, whether communication is conducted verbally or through gestures or material artefacts, we do not have the same prerequisites for learning. No two newcomers are alike in their zones of proximal developments but as a relational zone of proximal development some will soon learn that they sooner than their peer obtain a deeper understanding of the local institutional 'code-curricula' which is to be learned along with the deeper understanding of scientific concepts. The code-curricula is not taught or learned in the same way for everybody. Thus, there might *not* be a correspondence between an actual phenomena of cultural development in the child/student and in the development of cultural history in a national scale.

The relational zone of proximal development of a child's ability to develop into a scientist is, in our line of argument, determined by the history of the development of the scientific discipline, the way it is interpreted and contextualised by individual teachers who have developed their understanding of the discipline in the cultural histories of societies. With 'individual' we do not mean essential entities with closed boundaries, but rather persons with experiences which are supporting certain cultural patterns roughly (but not necessarily solely) equivalent with language areas. The child going to a school in the language area in question might already have developed a zone of proximal development, which can develop into an understanding of scientific concepts. Whether this takes place or not, depends on the teacher's actual ability to discern potentials in the student and this in turn depends on the teachers former experiences. These can be formed in a cultural

#### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

historical development which *prevents* the teacher from recognizing perfectly able students as having potentials for learning natural sciences (Sinding 2007b). The distance between a student's actual developmental level as determined by independent problem solving and the level of potential development as determined through problem solving under adult guidance must therefore be seen in relation to the actual developmental zone of the adult (or peers) helping the student. The zone of proximal development is relational, when the teacher's actual development is included in the potential developmental zone of the students (Hasse 2001).

# CULTURE AND MOTIVATION

Culture is not so much about a shared uniform homogeneity in a group of people as a force which includes and excludes the culturally suitable. These 'chosen ones' shares an understanding, which reaches beyond any lexical meaning of words and deeds. They share thoughts, emotion and motivation.

Thoughts do not immediately coincide with verbal expression. Thoughts do not consist of individual words like speech (Vygotsky 1987, 281). What does this imply? It implies there is a line, albeit not direct, from what we call culture to the cultural understandings of individuals living the culture.

Even our thoughts, motivation and emotions are cultural-historical products in the sense described by Jerome Bruner in the foreword to the collected works of Vygotsky (1987), where he connects the zone of proximal development with Vygotsky's extensive discussion of what he calls the 'moving inward of speech" (Bruner 1987, 4) and he refers to the passage in Thinking and Speech where Vygotsky claims:

Understanding the words of others also requires understanding their thoughts. And even this is incomplete without understanding their motives or why they expressed their thoughts. In precisely this sense we complete the psychological analysis of any expression only when we reveal the most secret internal plane of verbal thinking – its motivation. (Vygotsky, 1987, 283).

To be products of cultural-historical processes we have to understand the thoughts of others, because we understand their culturally created motivation. There were many examples of particular students sharing thoughts with their teachers at the Niels Bohr Institute, which went way beyond the learning of the formal curricula. Some students quickly learned to discuss the potential developments for physics connected to the rules learned in the classroom. These students and teachers could be seen discussing in the hallway after class. They shared an interest in questions like 'is there life in outer space?' 'Can physics allow for the construction of time machines?' etc. and in their discussions students developed a wider understanding of physics. They became motivated, not only to become physicists, but to become physicists with a sense of direction. Emotions were also tied to these directions. When one of the teachers, who often spoke to students about finding life in space, informed the students about a cancelled mission to Mars (where it was expected to find traces of water – a prerequisite for life) some of the students expressed almost

as deep a disappointment as he did, while others did not seem to care. The students, who were disappointed, had connected their own emotions and interests to the expected outcome of the search for life on Mars, which helped to engage the students in the physics teaching of the teacher. They used physics to discuss why the mission failed. The students who did not invest the same kind of the emotions in the information of the cancelled mission to Mars did not engage themselves to the same extent in the physics discussions in the classroom (Hasse 2002, 290 ff). Where Vygotsky's example dealt with two students on exactly the same level, in these examples the situation is more complex, because we do not know if the students actually were at the same level to begin with. When learning from teachers reactions it was clear that students who connected physics with the science fiction-like idea of going to Mars were often praised for their skills as 'physiciststo-be'. Physics students who asked about the general purpose of exercises or who simply solved the tasks put before them were not praised. The students, in other words, also learned who among them were developing into real physicists and who did not belong.

The teachers in general seemed unwilling to answer what was considered 'stupid' questions and these were often asked by women (Hasse 1998). Students who asked questions relating to 'the limit of God in physics' and how to develop the rules of physics into games and plays, where appreciated. If development is triggered by adult guidance, only some students would get this guidance.

#### GENDERED ZONES OF DEVELOPMENT

Exactly the same pattern has been discovered in secondary schools, where girls would ask questions, which were regarded as uninteresting by the teacher. A typical example is taken from a 9th grade class in physics working with patterns of inference:

Sanne looks at the diagram, and then Mia does the same. Thomas [the teacher] approaches the girls and asks: "Can you see a pattern"? Sanne: "What kind of pattern?" Thomas: "You should be able to see a pattern". Sanne: "What are we going to use it for?" Thomas: "You have to count the spots." Sanne raises her eyebrows and looks puzzled. Thomas walks away. (Sinding 2007b, 27)

In this case Sanne's zone of proximal development remains proximal. She does not receive any usable help from the teacher and remains puzzled. She might be disappointed like the students longing for results of 'life in space', but for entirely different reasons. She is not disappointed along with the teacher's motivation and emotions, but because of the teacher. She is 'de-motivated'. This is not a question of science anxiety, but of feeling rejected. This is in strong contrast with several examples from the same school (and the Niels Bohr Institute) where teachers kept

#### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

encouraging young males and clearly followed their line of thought, motivation and emotions better than the females.

At the Niels Bohr Institute a teacher approaches two students; a young man, Alexander, and a young woman, Anni, solving a task given earlier by the teacher. Alexander is playing around with the task given and tries to create a completely different task than he has been given – but this time the teachers approach is approving. He gives the young man good advice on how to precede. Anni, who has expressed worry about their possibility to solve the task originally proposed by the teacher, is overlooked and expresses disappointment (Hasse 2001).

Everyday life in education is filled with examples like these. Teachers have preferences and prefer some students and their questions to others. But when the teachers, in research analysis, appear to react in much the same way, cultural patterns begin to appear. There are similarities in the pattern in so far girls/young women get disappointed with teachers, whereas boys/young men get encouraged and recognized as scientists-to-be. Such patterns have be found in Denmark in relation to teachers' lack of interests in helping girls and young women with tasks to be solved even when they verbally express a wish to do so (Hasse, Trentemøller, Sinding 2008). Although most of the teachers discussed in the research would deny that they deliberately promoted gender differences, the net result of their actions and reactions are a reinforcement of exclusion patterns of women from physics. In everyday life in school situations we hear the remark again and again that physics is an activity for boys. Taken together these reactions to girls in the classroom should reinforce exclusion mechanisms for girls interested in physics (Sinding 2007a; 2007b); a pattern we find repeated in higher education. The lack of women in physics in Denmark is not a matter of science anxiety, gender-bias or outright discrimination - it is rather an expression of relational zones of proximal developments.

When the teacher himself is interested in science fiction or God in physics, questions relating to the 'reality' of Star Trek or life in space are not seen as stupid. When the student does not understand the use of looking for spots in a diagram and these spots are obvious to the teacher, questions appear as stupid. Sanne and Alexander are allowed to develop in very different ways and they can both be argued to form new potential developmental zones. What does Alexander learn? That he shares the teachers' motivation for praising him, because now he understands that play is the road to become a creative physicist (Hasse 2001). Alexander develops his general understanding of the context of the activity, but Anni remains puzzled and might begin to wonder if she belongs in physics at all. If she, like Sanne, has already in school experienced being brushed off as a pattern that is reinforced, she might decide to leave physics all together.<sup>1</sup> The zone of proximal development is relational as it depends on what activity the teacher you encounter regards as the leading activity of the institute (exam or play) (Hasse 2001, 209–210).

# THE CONTEXT WHICH EXCLUDES

Activity theory can be a helpful tool in enhancing our understanding of what makes the actions of the teacher and Alexander meaningful. In the activity of education we find numerous relational zones of proximal developments, which include and exclude (and thus enforce particular cultural patterns). The germ-cell holding this process together can be seen as an activity. Activity can be seen as a specification of what is meant by context (Engeström, 1993, p. 67). The zone of proximal development is relational as it depends on what activity the teacher you encounter regards as the leading activity of the institute. But when activities across a country reinforce the same cultural patterns, we can begin to speak of national cultural historical activities. If these activities form a consistent pattern of diversity across national borders, we can argue that national cultural historical processes may form profound differences in people's emotions and motivations. Even in a global world with continuous traffic across borders (to an extent which might make us question the concept of national cultures at all) we can find such differences in patterns of inclusion and exclusion. This is not a question of culture being defined as different languages or of claims that every micro-location is typical of the national (McSweeney 2002, Hofstede 2002). Culture is in our use of the concept a pattern of inclusion and exclusion from activities, which are linking thoughts, motivation and emotion.

In activity theory activity is first and foremost defined as being collectively driven by an object-related motive, as summarized by Yrjö Engeström, Reijo Miettinen, and Raija-Leena Punamäki from the works of Lev Vygotsky, Alexander Luria and Aleksei Leont'ev (Engeström, Miettinen & Punamäki, 1999).

Following Vygotsky the cultural connections define the meaning of the words spoken. We would add that cultural connections also define the meaning of actions. If you do not understand connections tied to the activity (the cultural context) you do not understand the meaning of the words. Zones of proximal development might also be about learning these connections tied to the meaning of words and actions in particular social activities - a point *not* originally specifically developed by Vygotsky.

The culture of the classroom formed in everyday activity in schools creates a particular potential for development which to some extent might be informed by national cultures in so far national cultures induce culturally specific connections e.g. about science in relation to the wider society.

If we look at the proportion of male and female students in higher education in different parts of the world, it become apparent, that science anxiety is far more a culture than a gender issue. Italy, Portugal Spain and many Eastern European countries have many female physicists, whereas Denmark is among the ten countries with the smallest proportion of female physicists (together with Japan, Canada other Northern European countries and USA) and women seem to do much better in the "hard science" of physics in Eastern and Southern Europe (Barinaga 1994). In countries influenced by Islam like Turkey and Kuwait we find many female physicists (Ebeid 1998). In a country like Thailand girls are doing much

#### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

better at physics and chemistry than boys (Fensham, Klainin & West 1989). In the most industrialised countries, such as USA, Denmark and Japan and the 'difference in interests between girls and boys vary from topic to topic, but are generally largest in the Nordic countries and Japan' (Sjøberg 2002). In higher education we find more female physics students in countries like Turkey and Italy than in Denmark (Hasse 2008a) and when it comes to permanent staff we have in a comparison between Denmark, Italy, Finland, Poland and Estonia found the highest proportion of female physicists is Italy (Hasse & Trentemøller 2008). In a wider perspective of women in science we find an even greater diversity between top and bottom scores (Barinaga, 1994, Thörngren et al., 2002).<sup>2</sup> As the stereotypes of practitioner in science are often males, also in countries like Turkey and India (Narayan, Park & Peker 2009), these differences cannot be explained with differences of connections between science and gendered stereotypes alone. That we find such marked gender differences between who is engaging in science severely counter scientific epistemologies, which rest on the central assumption that the success of science is insured by its internal features and that cultural influence on science is a superficial factor to be weeded out.

#### CULTURE AND SCIENCE EDUCATION

We can now ask: do cultural historical activities create different contexts for learning - even in a discipline as 'neutral' as physics? What kind of differences in thoughts, motivations and emotions appear and how is that tied to specific cultural connections? In Italy we find more female physics students than in Denmark. In Denmark the proportion of female physicist students is 18-20%, in Italy 40-45% (Hasse 2008a). We also find different connections (cultural models) which, through detours, appear to link science with gender in different ways. The Danish Ministry of Education refer to "hard" science and "soft" science in many homepages. "Hard" science is physics and math – biology is considered "softer" and studying languages and classical languages is considered very very "soft" (http://www.uvm.dk retrieved 30.06.2005). In 2000/01 23080 students were matriculated as physics studies at Italian universities. Of these 43.9% were women and of these more than a third enrolled with a humanistic often classical background, whereas there were less than a tenth of the men. Out of 25 Italian tenured physicists interviewed having a classical background, 14% were male physicists and 64% were female physicists (Hasse 2008a).<sup>2</sup>

In a Danish context humanities and natural sciences have most often been seen as mutually exclusive i.e. there are not many connections made between between 'hard' physics and 'soft' languages. This was made clear by the physics students Hasse followed at the Niels Bohr Institute: about the worse fate for a physicist was to be degraded to a person connected with the soft subjects from the humanities.<sup>4</sup> This was clearly de-motivating to be regarded as a 'soft' humanist in physics – and it called forth strong emotions to be regarded as such (Hasse 2002). However, many of the very successful Italian professors in physics Hasse later interviewed turned out to have entered their study with a high school background as classical students versed in philosophy and cultural history, studying Aristotle in Greek, reading Cicero in Latin and the like.<sup>5</sup> Italian male professor:

I myself have a background equivalent to a mathematical-physicist high school student in Denmark. But here in Italy it is rather an advantage to have a classical linguistic background, when you start physics studies at university level. The "classical" students are simply better at analyzing. What we learned in science high school was to think much more "mechanically" – to think in the correct answers. I have always believed students with a classical background are the most advantageous.

An Italian teacher of philosophy expresses the same opinion in a slightly different manner. The "classical" students become especially apt physics students because they, through their knowledge of philosophical and classical subjects, learn to think in the abstract lines of thought of importance to both the natural sciences and the humanities. She underlines that until 15 years ago is was not uncommon that most of the matriculated at the physics institutes in Italy originated from the classical language area in high school – and thus did not have a scientific background.

The high school in classical languages simply was the best at training students in reasoning, because such a systematic and profound study of classical subjects had a formative influence on the students' intelligence – especially their ability to think in abstractions and make inferences.

She furthermore underlines that a non-specialised education system like the Italian does not make to hard a division line between humanistic and natural sciences. And we do not find the same kind of gender divisions that we find in countries like Denmark, where girls and boys have had to choose between a humanistic or scientific line – and where we find that the girls in much greater numbers have chosen the humanistic line just as the boys in much greater numbers chose the scientific line.

This also conflates somewhat with a more relaxed attitude towards science in Italy. $^{6}$ 

Learning this kind of connections through everyday life, organize our thought and motivation behind our words in cultural specific patterns in self-evident ways, which we take so much for granted, that they become our naturalized way of thinking about for example physics studies. We may become aware of the cultural aspects we meet persons from other cultural background who have other (likewise naturalized) ways of organizing their understanding of for example good physics education.

In one cultural context the female student is met with a relational zone which allows her to develop as a female physicist student being interested in classical studies – in another not.

# CONCLUSION

We take seriously the idea that culture connects thought, motivation and emotions formed in everyday activities, as it has been argued in cultural historical activity theory (building on Vygotsky's claim that cultural-historical processes form the higher psychic processes) As also argued in the cultural-models theory. We also contend that when the relational zones of proximal development are formed in broad national cultural historical processes we are rarely aware of how profound thought, motivations and emotions are culturally connected. We speak and act as though our motivations spring from a free will and our emotions from inner psychological states. This line of thought conflates with a general understanding in science education, which assumes anyone who studies hard enough can learn to become a scientist.

In a discussion of the relational zone of proximal development we have made a new argument for the relation between science, culture and gender – which in fact makes the question of why girls perform badly and do not seem interested in physics in Denmark a kind of epiphenomena to other cultural-historical processes. Gender is not in itself an obstacle to become a scientist and there is no 'natural' tendency for women to develop science anxiety. What appears a 'natural fact' becomes questionable when confronted with what is natural for girls in other national cultures developed through other activities (not necessarily better, but different and equally 'naturalized').

When we find that in Denmark the coming elite of physics is considered playful rather than diligent and that physics is connected with 'being a hard subject' which is connected with masculinity, and that in general boy are connected with being playful while girls are seen as more diligent we find it natural that women in physics run into problems, develop negative feelings and science anxiety and have a difficult time identifying themselves with the physicist elite. We also have evidence that women to a larger degree than males lose confidence when they begin science studies in higher education. A survey showed that 100% of the female students embarking on a university study of physics express confidence in their own ability (excellent/pretty good) in physics, whereas after three months of university studies there was a drop in confidence among 53% of the females. For the males the numbers looked quite different. Only 92% of the males physics express confidence in own ability (excellent/pretty good) in physics when they begin their university studies but after three months of study only 16% of the males had become less confident (Hasse 1998). Young female physicist students thus seem to lose confidence to a larger extent than male students when they met the university requirements. When we learn that in Denmark, women seek language studies rather than science studies (Henningsen 1998), this dichotomy in a Danish context almost appears as a natural distinction: male = science = hard versus women = languages = soft. It becomes natural that women, who might also be interested in languages or other 'soft' subjects, lose confidence and are demotivated in the world of natural science.

It is only when we contrast with Italy that these naturalised connections between 'soft' and 'hard' is questioned. In Italy classical studies are seen as a perfect legitimate road to study physics rather than an opposite to it. Physics is not connected to masculinity and 'hardness' and there is no playful elite consisting only of young males. Physics can be connected with languages and philosophy. In Denmark the relational zone of proximal development enforces connections between a playful elite in physics and a hard masculine science. These connections lead to less motivation especially for girls (but also some boys) and instead enforce a 'bad circle' of connections between physics and science anxiety = negative feelings = less motivation = more science anxiety. In Italy the relational zone of proximal development enforce connections between physics and classical and philosophical studies - and in general connections between physics and everyday life (Hasse 2008a). Fewer connections than in Denmark are made between being a hard, playful, elite which is also connected to being male. On the contrary connections are made between being expert on classical languages, being an elitisk scholar, which gives more directional force and more motivation to study physics for the many girls who are interested in classical languages.

Do we go too far here? Are we in our analysis connecting elements, which have in fact nothing to do with one another? Our research is not quantitative and it is difficult to research how people organize thoughts, motivation and emotion in everyday life activities. It is made even more difficult because connections are characterized by being fleeting rather than stable. We do not have much empirical evidence to build our analysis on. Yet, several of our studies have supplemented each other. According to Vygotsky, perhaps one of the most important aspects of education is historical expressions – which are changeable. In fact, his educational theory is a theory of cultural transformation as well as a theory of development. Education implies for Vygotsky:

[N]ot only the improvement of the individual's potential, but the historical expression and growth of the human culture from which Man springs (Bruner 1987,1–2).

Connections may change over time, but can have real effects on the development of emotion, motivation as well as thoughts. Cultural models and the Vygotskyan framework may be an important contribution to our deeper understandings of why it is so hard to motive girls and women to become physicists in some national cultures and easier in other national cultures.

#### NOTES

- <sup>1</sup> These patterns of reinforcement can be named 'cultural models' (Strauss & Quinn 1997, Hasse & Trentemøller 2008).
- <sup>2</sup> A number of other reports also illustrate this diversity (see for instance the homepage of the International Union of Pure and Applied Physics: http://www.iupap.org and the Working Group on Women in Physics: http://www.if.ufrgs.br/~barbosa/women.html). A consistent pattern seems to be that eastern and southern European countries have a higher score in percentage of women working as professionals in physics.
#### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

- <sup>3</sup> This tendency that especially Italian women study physics with a background in classical language studies were confirmed in a later study and thus a profound cultural connection between classical languages and physics is formed in a natural cultural setting (Hasse & Trentemøller 2008, 53 *ff*).
- <sup>4</sup> New reforms have since blurred this distinction, but the political pressure is more directed at underlining that physics has a humanistic value, than the opposite found in Italy, that languages and philosophy has something to offer physics.
- <sup>5</sup> It was these surprising findings that led Cathrine Hasse to start searching for information on criteria for the intake of students and the group interviews with students with and without "classical" backgrounds (see e.g. 2008a).
- <sup>6</sup> Some might get the idea that the Danes learn "better" physics because it's considered a "hard" subject in Denmark, but in the PISA survey, Italy and Denmark are almost equal (Mejding 2004).

#### REFERENCES

Barinaga, M. (1994, March 11). Surprises across the cultural divide. Science, 263, 1468-1472.

Bruner, J. (1987). Prologue to the English edition. In R. Rieber & A. Carton, Eds.; N. Minick, Trans. L.S. Vygotsky, Collected works. New York:Plenum. Vol. 1, pp. 1–16.

Cole, M. & Scribner, S. (1974). Culture and thought. New York: John Wiley & Co.

- Chaiklin, S., (2003) The Zone of Proximal Development in Vygotsky's Analysis of Learning and Instruction. In A. Kozulin, B. Gindis, V.S. Ageyev, S.M. Miller, (Eds.) Vygotsky's Educational Theory in Cultural Context, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 39–64.
- Ebeid, W. (1998): Enrolment in Mathematics: Problems and Aspirations in the Kuwait Universit Faculty of Education. In: Jensen, J.H., Niss, M. og Wedege, T. (eds.): Justification and Enrolment Problems in Education Involving Mathematics or Physics, Roskilde: Roskilde University Press.
- Engeström, Y. (1987) Learning by Expanding. An Activity-theoretical approach to developmental research, Painettu Gummerus Oy:n kirjapainossa, Jyväskylässä.
- Engeström, Y. (1993) 'Work as a testbench of activity theory', in S. Chaiklin og J. Lave (eds.) Understanding practice. Perspectives on activity and context, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.

Engeström, Y., Miettinen, R., & Punamäki, R. (eds) (1999) Perspectives on Activity Theory,

- Cambridge: Cambridge University PressFensham P.J., Klainin S., & West L.H.T (1989): The Superior Achievement of Girls in Chemistry and Physics in Upper Secondary Schools in Thailand. In: *Research in Science and Technological Education*, 7(1).
- Garmire, E., & Pearson, G. (Eds.). (2006) Tech tally: Approaches to assessing technological literacy, Washington: National Academy Press.
- Hasse, C. & S. Trentemøller (2008) Break the Pattern. A critical enquiry into three scientific workplace cultures: Hercules, Caretakers and Worker Bees. Hasse, C. & Trentemøller, S. (eds.) Tartu: Tartu University Press. www.upgem.dk.
- Hasse, C. & S. Trentemøller, A.B. Sinding (eds.) (2008). Draw the Line! Universities as workplaces for male and female researchers in Europe. Tartu: Tartu University Press. www.upgem.dk.
- Hasse, C. (2008). Cultural Body Learning The social designation of institutional code-curricula. In Schilhab, T. M. Juelskjær and T. Moser (Eds.) *Learning Bodies*. Emdrup: The Danish School of Education Press, pp. 193–215.
- Hasse, C. (2008a). Cultural Models of Physics. An Analysis of Historical Connections Between Hard Sciences, Humanities and Gender in Physics. In University Science and Mathematics Education in Transition, O. Skovsmose and P. Valero eds. Hamburg: Springer Verlag, pp. 109–122.
- Hasse, C. (2002). Gender diversity in play with Physics. The Problem of Premises for Participation in Activities. *Mind, Culture and Activity: An International Journal.* University of California, San Diego 9(4), 250–270.
- Hasse, C. (2001). Institutional Creativity The relational zone of proximal development. *Culture & Psychology*, SAGE Publication. Vol. 7(2), 199–221.

- Hasse, C. (1998) Kulturelle forestillinger og køn i videnskabens samfund. Portræt af en gruppe fysikstuderende - med antropolog. Arbejdspapir nr. 4. Køn i den Akademiske Organisation. Inge Henningen (ed). Københavns Universitet, København.
- Hasse, C. 1998a. Learning to pattern physicist virtues: male and female dissimilarities. In: Justification and Enrolment Problems in Education Involving Mathematics or Physics (Jensen, Niss & Wedege eds.). Roskilde. Roskilde University Press.p. 106–123.
- Henningsen, I. (1998). Kønsdifferentierede adgangskrav på overgangen til de lange videregående uddannelser. (Arbejdspapir nr. 3 i skiftserien I. Henningensen (ed.) Køn i den akademiske organisation) København: Institut for Statskundskab.
- Hofstede, G. (2002), Dimensions do not exist: a reply to Brendan McSweeney, *Human Relations*, 55(11), 1355.
- Hutchins, E (1980) Culture and Inference. Cambridge Mass.: Harvard University Press. P. 12).
- Keller, E. F. (1984) Reflections on Gender and Science, New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Mallow, J. V. (2006). Science anxiety: research and action. In: Handbook of College Science Teaching, eds. J. J. Mintzes and W. H. Leonard, Arlington, VA: NSTApress, pp. 3–14.
- Mallow, J. V., McDermott, L. C. (1988) Science Anxiety: Fear of Science and How to Overcome It, American Journal of Physics, 56(7), 670–671.
- Mallow, J. V (1986) Science anxiety. Clearwater, FL: H&H.
- Mallow, J. V (1993). The science learning climate: Danish female and male students' descriptions. In Contributions to the Seventh Gender and Science and Technology (GASAT) Conference, Vol. I, 75–87. Waterloo, ON, Canada: Ontario Women's Directorate.
- McSweeney, B. (2002) Hofstede's 'Model of National Cultural Differences and Consequences: A Triumph of Faith - A Failure of Analysis, *Human Relations*, 55(1), 89–118.
- Mejding, J. (2004): PISA 2003 Danske unge i en international sammenligning. København: Danmarks Pædagogiske Universitets Forlag.
- Merchant, C. (1990) The Death of Nature: Women, Ecology and the Scientific Revolution. San Francisco: Harper.
- Moran, S. and V. John-Steiner. 2003. Creativity in the making: Vygotsky's contemporary contribution to the dialectic of creativity and development. In *Creativity and development*, R. K. Sawyer, V.John-Steiner, S. Moran, R. J. Sternberg, D. H. Feldman, J. Nakamura and M.Csikszentmihalyi (eds). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Narayan, R. S. Park & D. Peker (2009) Sculpted by Culture: Students' Embodied Images of Scientists. Proceedings paper. Episteme 3, 3rd International conference to review research on Science, Technology and Mathematics Education, January 5–9, 2009, Mumbai: Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR. http://web.gnowledge.org/episteme3/pro\_pdfs/07-ratna-park-peker.pdf
- Roth, W.-M. (2002). Being and Becoming in the Classroom, Westport, CT: Ablex Publishing.
- Roth, W.-M. (2004). Perceptual gestalts in workplace communication, *Journal of Pragmatics* 36, 1037–1069.
- Scribner, Sylvia (1985). Vygotsky's uses of history. In In J.V. Wertsch (Ed.) Culture, communication and cognition: Vygotskian perspectives. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 119–145.
- Sinding, A. B. (2007a). Når kulturen ekskluderer piger i fysikfaget. MONA- tidsskrift for Matematikog Naturfagsdidaktik, 2007, 1, 18–31.
- Sinding, A. B. (2007b). Fysik og frustration en empirisk undersøgelse af lærer/elevrelationen i fysikundervisningen og dens betydning for elevens motivation. Specialeafhandling, kandidatuddannelsen i pædagogisk psykologi, Danmarks Pædagogiske Universitet (upubliceret).
- Sjøberg, S. & Schreiner, C. (2005). How do learners in different countries relate to science and technology? Results and perspectives from the project ROSE. Asia Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching, 6(2), 1–17. http://www.ied.edu.hk/apfslt/
- Sjøberg, S. (2002). Science for the children? Report from the Science and Scientists project, *Acta Didactica* (1), Oslo: Dept. of Teacher Education and School Development, University of Oslo, pp. 4–42.

### C. HASSE AND A. B. SINDING

- Stadler, H., Duit, R. & Benke, G. (2000). Do boys and girls understand physics differently? *Physics Education* 35, 417–422.
- Strauss, C & Quinn, N. (1997) A Cognitive theory of cultural meaning, Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Thörngren, P.E., Tengblad, U., Wiesner, K., Janssens, K., Marks, A., McGrath, S., Molinari, E. and Stephenson, S. (2002). Learning from regional differences. In B.K. Hartline and D. Li. (Eds.). Women in Physics. The IUPAP International Conference on Women in Physics. New York: American Institute of Physics, pp. 25–28.
- Traweek, S. (1988) *Beamtimes and lifetimes. The world of high energyphysicists.*, London : Harvard University Press.
- Veer, R. van der (1996) The Concept of Culture in Vygotsky's Thinking, *Culture & Psychology*, 2(3), 247–263.
- Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. In M. Cole, V. John-Steiner, S. Scribner, & E. Souberman (Eds.). Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Vygotsky, L. S. (1987). Thinking and Speech. In R. W. Rieber, & A. S. Carton (Eds.), The collected works of L.S. Vygotsky. Vol. 1: Problems of general psychology. New York: Plenum, pp. 39–285.

Catherine Hasse The Danish School of Education University of Aarhus

Anne B. Sinding The Danish School of Education University of Aarhus

## SIBEL ERDURAN AND MARIA PILAR JIMENEZ-ALEIXANDRE

## 11. ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH: PERSPECTIVES FROM EUROPE

## INTRODUCTION

Argumentation studies in science education are relatively young. It can be said that classroom-based research in scientific argumentation began in the 1990s. The first batch of studies focused on exploring whether science classroom environments favoured argumentation, an exploration with negative outcomes (e.g., Driver, Newton & Osborne, 2000), as well as on investigating students' argumentation (e.g., Duschl, Ellenbogen, & Erduran, 1999; Jiménez-Aleixandre, Bugallo & Duschl, 2000; Kolstø, 2006; Kortland, 1996). As the field continued to develop, the focus shifted towards an interest in the quality of arguments, or how to analyze the development of students' argumentation competences (e.g., Erduran, 2008; Erduran, Simon & Osborne, 2004). In the last few years there is an emerging interest about how to support students' engagement in argumentation, through the design of learning environments (e.g., Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2008; Mork, 2005) and professional development of science teachers (e.g., Erduran, Ardac & Yakmaci-Guzel, 2006; Erduran, 2006; Simon, Erduran & Osborne, 2006).

In this chapter, we present an overview of how argumentation studies in science education have developed over the past two decades, with a particular focus on the work of European scholars. An extended discussion of the argumentation literature throughout the world is available in the edited volume by Erduran and Jimenez-Aleixandre (2008). We situate the policy context in Europe that has created the precedence for the inclusion of argumentation in the science curriculum. Here we elaborate on the notion of 'competences' that has been developed as part of the European Union (EU, 2006) and the Program for Indicators of Student Assessment (PISA) framework (OECD, 2006). We then turn our attention to the role of language sciences in the development of perspectives about argumentation and linguistics, particularly in France. Next we highlight the models of 'argument' that European researchers have used in their work as well as the framework of 'socioscientific issues' that have underlined an extensive body of literature related to argumentation. We trace some of the developments in the strategies that support students' argumentation including the use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT), as well as the approaches to the professional development of science teachers. The chapter ends with an outline of some future perspectives for a European agenda for research, curriculum design and teacher education in argumentation.

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 253–289. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

## ARGUMENTATION IN THE FRAME OF DEVELOPMENT OF COMPETENCES

Argumentation studies about science education contexts in Europe share most theoretical frames and methodological approaches with argumentation research worldwide, including a definition of argumentation as the evaluation of knowledge claims in the light of available evidence. Researchers from different continents interact in joint symposia in conferences, co-author papers and contribute to books. As an instance, from the 22 authors in a book we recently co-edited (Erduran & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2008), half are based in European countries, half in the United States. However, there are four particular features of the European studies worth examining. First, European scholars have been situated within the policy context of 'competences' advanced by the European Union policies. Furthermore, the rationales of some European researchers draw on the field of language sciences to a greater extent than in other regions in the world. Third, a considerable proportion of work conducted in Europe belong to a strand focusing on socioscientific issues (SSI), which may shed light on similar areas of research in other parts of the world. Finally, there may be particular ways in which European science education researchers' work has had an impact on policy and practice of argumentation. In this section we examine these features and how they shape the research in argumentation across European institutions.

A distinctive feature of argumentation studies in Europe, and in general of the attention given to argumentation throughout Europe in the last decade, is its connection to the development of competences (Jiménez-Aleixandre et al., 2009). In particular, argumentation is framed in the development of scientific competence. Jiménez-Aleixandre et al. support this claim on the characterization of scientific competence, both in the European Union recommendation of eight key competences (EU, 2006), and in the Program for Indicators of Student Assessment (PISA) framework (OECD, 2006). This connection to competences may distinguish argumentation studies carried out in Europe from those undertaken in the United States, for example, where argumentation is framed in scientific practices (e.g. Berland & Reiser, 2009). However, both approaches are convergent, as European argumentation studies set as an explicit goal for students the engagement in scientific practices (e.g., Puig & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2011).

The PISA framework addressed the notion of scientific competence since 1999, several years before than the EU recommendation. PISA emphasizes three dimensions of the scientific competence (OECD, 2006, p. 29) characterized as the abilities to:

- Identify scientific issues and questions that could lend themselves to answers based on scientific evidence;
- Explain or predict phenomena by applying appropriate knowledge of science;
- Use scientific evidence to draw and communicate conclusions, and to identify the assumptions, evidence and reasoning behind conclusions.

From these points, it is the third one that can be identified as targeting the same practices as argumentation, namely the use of evidence to evaluate scientific claims, be it to draw conclusions from evidence or to identify the evidence behind conclusions. Although, certainly, the three dimensions are connected and support one another.

We can examine now how scientific competence is defined in the European reference framework. "Competence in science refers to the ability and willingness to use the body of knowledge and methodology employed to explain the natural world, in order to identify questions and *to draw evidence-based conclusions*." (EU, 2006, page L 394/15, our emphasis). This definition collapses the three dimensions of the PISA notion of scientific competence, including the use of evidence and, implicitly, argumentation.

In the half-decade since this reference framework was issued, its recommendations have been translated into the steering documents of many European countries. We will discuss argumentation in policy documents at the end of this section. However, it is worth noting that, in a recent report about 15 European countries participating in the EU-funded S-TEAM project, Jiménez-Aleixandre, Puig and Gallástegui (2010) found that, in nine of them, argumentation was used with the meaning of evaluation of claims, hypothesis and conclusions. That meaning is cohesive with the characterization of scientific competence in the EU framework. Framing argumentation in scientific competences as well as in general competences means that the emphasis is on the ability to apply knowledge and skills in diverse contexts and settings. In other words, learning to participate in argumentation, learning to use evidence to support claims, to back up explanations, in summary, is to participate in scientific practices.

## ARGUMENTATION AND THE LANGUAGE SCIENCES

There are at least four theoretical bodies framing argumentation studies: developmental psychology, including the distributed cognition perspective; philosophy, as for instance the theory of communicative action; language sciences; and science studies, that is history, philosophy and sociology of science. As we have discussed elsewhere (Jiménez-Aleixandre & Erduran, 2008), rather than being a one-way relationship, argumentation studies and science education have the potential to inform these perspectives, leading to fruitful interactions. However, one thing is the existence of these potential interactions and another the relationships among different fields, which are currently nonexistent in most cases. As Buty and Plantin (2008a) point out, in their introduction to a volume reporting work on argumentation from seven French science education research groups, the established community in argumentation studies does not take into account the substantial work on argumentation in science education in the last two decades. Evidence for this lack of attention can be found in reference books, in the scarce presence of science education related papers in journals as Argumentation and in the proceedings of the ISSA (International Society for the Study of Argumentation) conferences, or in the conspicuous absence of a strand about argumentation in science education contexts in the list of the 18 themes for the ISSA 2010 conference.

An example of cooperation among different fields, constituting an exception to this compartmentalisation, is found in the French research groups, where science educators work alongside with philosophers, psychologists or researchers from language sciences. We will focus our discussion on this case. In the book edited by Buty and Plantin (2008b), four chapters are co-authored by scholars from outside science education, and one of the book editors, Christian Plantin, belongs to the field of language sciences and even to the argumentation studies community. This collaboration is related to a robust tradition of argumentation studies by French language scientists, providing theoretical frames from which science educators draw in their work. Two influential authors are Oswald Ducrot (1972-1998), focusing on the role of language in argumentation, and on semantics and polyphonic utterances, and the Swiss Piagetian scholar Jean-Blaise Grize (1996), whose work is more concerned with natural logic, and the cognitive processes in argumentation. Grize proposed some notions for argumentation analysis that include schematization and a dialogic production assuming an audience, both of which have been extensively used by French science educators in argumentation studies. Unfortunately, none of Grize's books and only one of Ducrot's (Ducrot & Todorov, 1987) are translated into English, and only a few of the French researchers on argumentation in science education, besides Plantin, publish in English, such as Simonneaux, (2008) and Albe (2008), whose work is discussed in the section about SSL

The interactions between linguistics and science education are not unproblematic. Buty and Plantin (2008a) caution against the temptation to consider all linguistic interactions as argumentative, proposing a restricted characterisation of argumentation as the process of contrasting two views or two incompatible meanings and of negotiating a solution. It follows that not all tasks or activities involving discursive interactions can be regarded as argumentative, but only those involving, for instance, formulating claims, supporting them (we would add supporting them with evidence), or evaluating arguments. On the other hand, argumentation in science education is not just a linguistic activity, but requires drawing from the relevant knowledge, selecting appropriate documentation and information sources, analyzing it by means of particular skills.

An interesting point raised by Plantin (2005) is the relationship between argumentation and rhetoric, criticizing a biased view of rhetoric, which identifies it with manipulative moves. But, as he points out, persuasion (and therefore, rhetoric) is a part of the argumentation process. The relevance of persuasion as one of the goals of argumentative practice is also highlighted by Berland and Reiser (2009), who found that students did not subscribe to it. Plantin (2004) has argued for giving consideration to the place of emotions in argumentation, acknowledging that they may be positive or negative, a point that has relevance for the analysis of argumentation in SSI. In summary, argumentation studies in science education contexts by French researchers offer an example of productive interactions with language sciences. We are not implying that these interactions do not occur outside of France or indeed Europe, as they are exemplified for instance in the work of Kelly and colleagues (Kelly & Bazerman, 2003), but that the development of this

work in France has occurred independently and this cooperation is a useful example of how to extend work in science education contexts to other fields.

## MODELS OF ARGUMENT

The work of science educators in Europe has drawn on a range of perspectives on argument and argumentation (e.g. van Eemeren et al., 1996; Perelman & Olbrechts-Tyteca, 1958; Toulmin, 1958; Walton, 1996), as well as linguistic perspectives on discourse and communication (e.g., Bronckart, 1996; Grize, 1996), particularly from French researchers, as discussed above. The research emphasis in science education has typically concentrated on a definition of argument based on the work by Stephen Toulmin (e.g. Erduran & Villamanan, 2009; Erduran, 2007; Erduran, Simon, & Osborne, 2004; Jiménez-Aleixandre, Bugallo, & Duschl, 2000; Jiménez-Aleixandre & Pereiro, 2002; von Aufschnaiter, Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2008) whilst the use of Douglas Walton's model has been relatively minimal in science education across the world at large (e.g. Duschl, 2008) and in Europe in particular (e.g. Jiménez-Aleixandre, Agraso & Eirexas, 2004; Ozdem, Ertepinar, Cakiroglu, & Erduran, in press). Although these two models (Figure 1 and Table 1) have often been presented as a contrast to each other, it is worthwhile to highlight that they actually address different aspects of argument and argumentation (Erduran, 2008). Toulmin's framework concentrates on the components of an argument whereas Walton's schemes detail different types of arguments.

Toulmin's model of argument has been used as a methodological tool in the characterisation of teaching and learning processes in the science classroom (e.g. Erduran et al., 2004; Jiménez-Aleixandre et al., 2000) as well as a pedagogical and learning tool (Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2004). For example, in the IDEAS Project, writing frames for supporting learners have been generated with statements such as "My idea is...", "My reasons for my idea are...", "I believe in my reasoning because..." which were derived from the features of Toulmin's model in terms of claims, data, warrants and so on (Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2004). In the Mind the Gap Project, Toulmin's frame has been used to support teachers in introducing argumentation in the classroom (Jiménez-Aleixandre et al., 2009). Also in this project, to be detailed later in this chapter, we have developed our understanding of how science teachers engage in the use of such writing frames (Erduran & Yan, 2009; Erduran & Yan, 2010).

Claims: Assertions about what exists or values that people hold. Data: Statements that are used as evidence to support the claim. Warrants: Statements that explain the relationship of the data to the claim. Qualifiers: Special conditions under which the claim holds true. Backings: Underlying assumptions that are often not made explicit. Rebuttals: Statements that contradict either the data, warrant, backing or qualifier of an argument.



Figure 1. Toulmin's argument model (from Toulmin, 1958).

Argument Form:	Definition
Sign	Reference to spoken or written claims are used to infer the existence of a property or occurrence of an event.
Commitment	A claims that B is, or should be committed to some particular position on an issue, and then claims that B should also be committed to an action.
Position to Know	A has reason to presume B has knowledge of or access to information that A does not have, thus when B gives an opinion, A treats it as true/false.
Expert Opinion	Reference to an expert source external to the given information.
Evidence to Hypothesis	Reference to premises followed by a conclusion.
Correlation to Cause	Infers a causal connection between two events from a premise describing a positive correlation between them.
Cause to Effect	Reference to premises that are causally linked to a non-controversial effect.
Consequences	Practical reasoning in which a policy or course of action is supported/rejected because the consequences will be good/bad.
Analogy	Used to argue from one case that is said to be similar to another.

Table 1.	Selected	schemes	from	Walton	's Pr	esumptive	Reasoning	(Duschl,	2008
						1	0		

Some examples of uptake of Walton's model in science education research have been used among doctoral candidates and researchers across Europe. For instance,

## ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

in Spain, Cristina Pereiro and Marta F, Agraso at the University of Santiago de Compostela, and Aikaterina Konstantinidou at University of Barcelona; Stein Dankert Kolstø in Norway and Yasemin Ozdem at Middle East Technical University in Turkey have incorporated the Walton framework as part of their methodological approaches in their research. Some of the preliminary research from Ozdem's dissertation is a particular illustration of how Walton's framework can be used to differentiate affordances for types of tasks and arguments generated as a result of engagement in these tasks. Results of her study (ie. Ozdem et al., in press) illustrated that some kinds of argumentation schemes were more frequently used in all tasks, whereas others were specific for tasks. For example, argument from sign, argument from example, argument from evidence to hypothesis, argument from correlation to cause, argument from cause to effect, and argument from consequences were generated in all tasks. Therefore, these argumentation schemes can be interpreted as task-independent. It is quite possible that these argumentation schemes would appear in scientific contexts where participants have some background knowledge on the issue. On the other hand, there were other argumentation schemes that appeared specifically on one or more tasks, but could not be located in others. For example, argument from verbal classification and argument from expert opinion could only be located in certain tasks and not others.

In Cristina Pereiro's doctoral dissertation about students' argumentation in the context of environmental management, Walton's categories about argument from expert opinion have been used to examine the issues of scientific authority and expertise in students' discourse (Jiménez-Aleixandre & Pereiro-Muñoz, 2002). For instance, students' positions about their own status as experts evolved during the 17 sessions of the teaching sequence, from expressing doubts about their capacity to critizice the engineers' technical proposal, to confidence in their own competence. Students also made appeals to consistency with evidence, one of Walton's categories of arguments from expert opinion.

In her research, Agraso (e.g., Jiménez-Aleixandre, Agraso & Eirexas, 2004), draws on Walton's distinction among explicit and implicit commitments of participants in a dialogue. Walton distinguishes two sides in the commitment-set of each participant: *light side*, propositions known or in view to all the participants, and *dark side*, propositions not known or visible. Jiménez-Aleixandre et al. use this distinction in their analysis of students' argument about an oil spill. This study also explored students' evaluation of the expertise of the scientists whose positions were discussed.

Kolstø (e.g., Kolstø & Ratcliffe, 2008) has also made use of these two Walton schemes, arguments from expert opinion and the potential bias or dark side in experts' claims. Bronckart's (1996) frame about argumentation markers or modalizations has been used by Simonneaux (2008) as a tool to teach argumentation to a group of 12th grade participants. These argumentation markers represent different degrees and types of agreement with the content of a given piece of discourse and, according to Bronckart can be: logical (certainty or probability), deontic (social values), appreciative (subjective) and pragmatic (personal responsibility). Simonneaux found that the frame helped students of the intervention

group to develop more sophisticated written arguments than the control group. Simonneaux (2001) has also made use of Grize's (1996) frame for comparing the effects of role-play and debate teaching strategies on the quality of argumentation.

A relatively recent interest in the work of some doctoral researchers has been the extension of the argument models in science education to be more inclusive of activity systems in which argumentation takes place. For example, the ongoing dissertation work of Xiaomei Yan and Demetris Lazarou (Lazarou, in press) both working with Erduran at University of Bristol, has been using Engeström's notion of 'activity theory' (Engeström, 2005). Yan has been focusing on chemistry undergraduate students' learning of argumentation in the broader context of their lectures, laboratory instruction as well as independent research in a community of researchers. Lazarou himself was a primary school teacher in Cyprus and has been working with primary school teachers to study the ways in which a group of primary school teachers engage with argumentation across various contexts including workshops and classroom teaching with an emphasis on framing the activities in a longitudinal fashion using the key concepts of activity theory, such as division of labour, objects and subjects.

A further aspect of the notion of 'argument' in the work of science educators in Europe has been the emphasis on socio-scientific issues. As one of the early contributors to argumentation research in Europe, Rosalind Driver had paved the way for the socio-scientific framing of argumentation by highlighting the significance of children's images of science and adequate representation of the socially constructed nature of science (Driver, Newton, & Osborne, 2000). A line of research focusing on argumentation in the context of socio-scientific issues has emerged across Europe in the work of researchers in Norway (e.g. Kolsto, 2001; Mork, 2005), France (e.g. Simmonneaux, 2001; Albe, 2005), England (e.g. Grace & Ratcliffe, 2002), Greece (e.g. Patronis, Potari, & Spiliotopoulou, 1999), Israel (e.g. Zohar & Nemet, 2002) and Spain (e.g. Jiménez-Aleixandre & Pereiro-Muñoz, 2002). Among other things, the work on argumentation in the context of socio-scientific issues has highlighted the need to characterize science from an interdisciplinary perspective (Simonneaux, 2008).

## ARGUMENTATION IN THE CONTEXT OF SOCIO-SCIENTIFIC ISSUES

Argumentation studies focusing on socio-scientific issues (SSI) are carried out in many regions of the world, as reviewed for instance by Simonneaux (2008) and Sadler (2009). In Europe, this strand of studies has been particularly fruitful, constituting a substantial proportion of the work on argumentation. Socio-scientific issues are characterized as social dilemmas or controversies rooted in scientific domains (Simonneaux, 2008), or as issues and problems with two elements: a) conceptual and/or procedural connections to science and b) social significance (Sadler, 2009). According to Kolstø and Ratcliffe (2008), science is involved in a social debate over these issues, typically concerning personal or political decision-making related to health or environmental controversies. The notion of SSI is grounded on previous approaches such as as Science – Technology – Society or

Science-based social issues. In the French-speaking community, SSI overlaps with a field called "questions socialement vives" (QSV), translated by Simonneaux (2008) into "socially acute questions". QSV have a broader scope than SSI, comprising both issues from science education and from history and social sciences education, such as issues about immigration, European identity or unemployment. All these issues are widely discussed in society and in the classrooms, as illustrated in the volume edited by Legardez and Simonneaux (2006) about QSV-based teaching, a work emphasizing the interactions among science education and other fields in the French community as discussed earlier. They can be viewed in the perspective of citizenship education and, in the case of science education, as a contribution towards the goal of science for citizenship.

It needs to be noted that the social relevance of SSI cannot obscure the science dimension embodied in them. Typically, reaching decisions on SSI issues requires students to master scientific models, concepts and skills, as well as knowledge about science. The science dimension of SSI is examined by Kolstø (2001a) who proposes an analysis framework composed of eight content-transcendent topics. Kolstø defines content-transcendent knowledge as knowledge *about* science rather than knowledge in science. The content-transcendent topics are grouped under four headings: a) science as a social process; b) limitations of science; c) values in science; and d) critical attitude. He sees this notion as related to the widely used term "nature of science", but broader. The goal of this framework is to address three problems faced by science educators when teaching controversial SSI in secondary school, first, which specific content-transcendent topics should be taught, second, the relevance of the knowledge for the students' lives, and third, the need to adjust the amount of content-transcendent knowledge to be within the intellectual reach of most students. Kolstø argues that each of these eight topics can serve as a tool for students when examining the science dimensions of SSI. The framework holds potential for SSIbased teaching and some of its topics including the demands for underpinning evidence, the criteria about what counts as evidence and a critical attitude related to the scrutiny of scientific evidence, are highly relevant for learning argumentation.

While all socio-scientific issues are scientific, it needs also to be acknowledged that the controversies, either in the classroom or in society, have sometimes a strong ethical component, while in other cases students need to appeal primarily to scientific explanations (Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2010). In other words, values and ethics might at times pose dilemmas in scientific argumentation. To take some instances grounded in genetics, decisions about cloning (Jiménez-Aleixandre & Federico-Agraso, 2009) or genetic screening (Zohar & Nemet, 2002) require students to know about genes and inheritance, but a great weight in their options would relate to values. On the other hand, to argue about the relative weight of genes and environment on human performances as athletics, or on intellectual achievements (Puig & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2011), demands from students to apply causal explanations about gene expression, although social representations may influence their claims. Another example of a strong science component is the work about marine resources management by Bravo-Torija & Jiménez-Aleixandre (2012). Students need to understand and apply the complex model of energy flow

in ecosystems, in order to reach a decision about whether to eat carnivorous or herbivorous fish, two options with different impact on sustainability.

Kortland (1996; 2001) published one of the first European studies exploring argumentation about SSI, in the frame of developmental studies undertaken at the University of Utrecht. He examined the effect of consecutive versions of a teaching sequence in secondary school (students aged 13–14) about decision-making on waste management. The tasks required students to criticise different arguments about the choice of a milk container and then to derive the requirements of a well-argued position. This task proved to be extremely difficult, and the effect of the intervention on the quality of the student's argumentation was limited. This limited effect was attributed by Kortland (1996) to the lack of attention paid to supporting students' reflection on their own arguments.

Another early work about SSI and decision-making was Ratcliffe's (1997), with secondary school students, all male (14–15 year old) in the UK. Students were asked to decide what materials –aluminium, PVC, softwood, hardwood– would they use for window frames. They discussed the advantages and disadvantages of each option, but in some cases they were persuaded by one of the members of the group. Ratcliffe discussed the effect of using values shared among the students (sometimes egocentric), rather than scientific evidence, to back their options. She pointed out the interrelationship between affective and cognitive criteria in reaching a decision. This research program was continued in the work of Grace (2009) about the quality of 15–16-year-old students' reasoning on the conservation of biodiversity. The study examined the effect of using a structured framework for decision-making debates on the improvement of the quality of students' arguments. Grace found an increase in the arguments' quality, and suggested the relevance of students' reflection on their own ideas.

Patronis, Potari and Spiliotopoulou (1999) examined the arguments of 14-yearold students, while choosing among several courses of action about the plans for a road, a teaching sequence based on an actual controversy in their local setting in Greece. The students progressed from individual work, to group reports and finally had to agree on a class decision. The authors attributed the coherence of the students' arguments to the relevance of the problem, close to their daily lives, and to the personal commitment of students in the search for solutions.

In France, focusing on work published in English, Laurence Simonneaux has conducted a research program on SSI, about issues as biotechnology (Simonneaux, 2001). She compared the impact of two teaching strategies, role-play and debate, on students' argumentation. The study showed that arguments were more complex in the debate, while in the role-play students used more rhetorical schemes. Other dimensions of her studies are reviewed in Simonneaux (2008). Virginie Albe began her work in Simonneaux's research group. She has focused on teaching controversies (Albe, 2009), analyzing argumentation about the potential health risks of cell-phones with 11th grade students, (Albe, 2008a) and about climate change (Albe, 2008b). In the study about cell-phones she identified processes of group argumentation, as well as the influence of students' epistemological representations and of social interactions in the argumentation patterns.

## ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

The work of Stein Dankert Kolstø, in the University of Bergen, Norway, combines theoretical reflections and empirical studies, in a perspective of science education for citizenship (Kolstø, 2001a). An instance of his theoretical work is the framework, discussed at the beginning of this section (Kolstø, 2001a), about the complex interplay between science and social context. His empirical research focuses on students' ways of examining and evaluating the science dimension of controversies and in how they use science in their own argumentation. An instance of the examination about students' judgements of information in a socio-scientific issue is his study about 16 year old students' views on the risk of power transmission lines (Kolstø, 2001b). For instance, he found how some of them accepted information from scientists without evaluating its reliability. Patterns in students' arguments and their use of science in them are explored in a paper about the same SSI of risk of power transmission lines (Kolstø, 2006). Overall, Kolstø's work has as a goal to support students in reflective decision-making and in performing evidence-based argumentation.

At the University of Oslo, also in Norway, Sonja Mork's doctoral dissertation focused on the teacher's (and researcher's) role in the management of argumentative role-play debates (Mork, 2005a), as well as on the contribution of ICT to the introduction of argumentation and SSI in science classrooms (Jorde & Mork, 2007). (This second issue discussed below in the section about ICT and argumentation.) The problem of wolves was used to involve students in dealing with contradictory evidence and in providing justifications for their claims. Mork identified several types of teacher's interventions, for instance: to model how to behave in a debate, to challenge the accuracy of the information provided by the students, to extend the range of topics introduced by the students, to get the debate back on track, to rephrase students' statements, and to promote participation. It needs to be noted that learning about ecology was one of the goals of the teaching sequence, alongside with practising argumentation.

A recent doctoral dissertation that, as Mork's, combines the SSI context with a focus on the contribution of ICT towards supporting argumentation is Maria Evagorou's work (Evagorou, 2009). Her study explores the argumentation processes of 12–13 year old students in the UK. They were asked to engage in arguments about a UK government's mass culling programme for the grey squirrel, which involved poisoning or shooting part of them. Red squirrels are native to the UK, while the grey squirrel was introduced in the 19th century. The population of the red has been declining while the grey is now found in more regions of the country. Scaffolding was provided for students' construction of argument by means of the Argue-WISE online learning environment (Evagorou and Osborne, 2007). The nature of students' decisions and how they changed during instruction is addressed in Evagorou, Jiménez-Aleixandre and Osborne (2012).

The work about SSI in project RODA in Spain is discussed in the next section in the context of the argumentation research programme lead by Jiménez-Aleixandre at the University of Santiago de Compostela. Introducing SSI in science classrooms is challenging, as these are complex issues and working with them puts high demands on teachers. Researching them is equally demanding. However, as Kolstø (2001a) points out, these are the kind of issues students are likely to be confronted with in their lives.

## SUPPORTING STUDENTS' ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE

Numerous science educators across Europe have been involved in the development of resources to support the teaching and learning of argumentation, as evidenced in the previous account about argumentation in SSI contexts. In this section, we will discuss our own work conducted in England (Erduran) and in Spain (Jiménez-Aleixandre).

In England, Osborne, Erduran and Simon have developed a video-based training resource (in the IDEAS Project) that promotes a set of frameworks intended to support the learning of argument (Osborne, Erduran, & Simon, 2004a,b). The Nuffield Foundation supported the development of the IDEAS Project, included a teacher training resource DVD as well as lesson materials for teachers. The argumentation frameworks are generic in nature and can be adapted to different subjects and topics. Erduran has applied the "Constructing an argument" framework in chemistry in the context of laws (Erduran, 2007). In this framework, the students can be presented with an observation about the Periodic Law and they are given a number of statements that would either support or refute this observation. They can then be asked to select the piece of evidence from the statements that best supports the observation. For example, the group of calcogens are neither metals nor nonmetals. The group of calcogens (oxygen, sulphur, Selenium, Tellurium, Polonium, Ununhexium) share a spectrum of properties of metals, semi-metals and metals. The physical properties of Selenium (grey metallic) do not match its non-metal chemical properties. Tellurium is silvery grey and semi-metallic. The extent to which students can use the rest of the Periodic Table and knowledge of the Periodic Law to support which calcogens are more likely to be metallic and which non-metallic can create a forum for the selection, evaluation and justification of evidence. The IDEAS Project resources have been adapted and used with pre-service science teachers in Turkey (Erduran, Ardac, & Yakmaci-Guzel, 2006).

A network of projects was also carried out in England with the financial support of the Gatsby Foundation. The project aimed to produce resources for student-teachers and pupils so as to facilitate the teaching and learning of ideas and evidence in science at Key Stage 3 (Braund, Erduran, Simon, Taber, & Tweats, 2004). This 'Ideas and Evidence' project was carried out at several British universities: Cambridge, Keele, Institute of Education, King's College London and York. For example, the King's College materials consisted of five sets: one focusing on assessment for learning, one focusing on supporting writing and three focusing on teaching ideas and evidence in particular science contexts such as explaining combustion and the rotation of the Earth (Erduran, 2006). In producing the resources, a particular emphasis was placed on the role of evidence in scientific ideas – that is, how we know what we know in science and how we justify scientific knowledge. There were two meetings when the mentors and the tutors had the opportunity to discuss and refine the materials. The purpose of the first meeting was to introduce the

mentors to some resources and generate a plan of action for the project. The mentors then went back to their schools and worked with trainee teachers who implemented the lessons. Nine mentors and eleven trainee teachers were recruited for the King's project. Five university-based tutors produced the materials and conducted the workshops. At the second meeting, the mentors and trainees shared their experiences and provided feedback on the effectiveness of the materials. The university-based tutors subsequently revised some of the materials in light of the suggestions from the mentors towards publication.

The activities produced as part of the King's project included many science topics including chemistry. The 10 sets of materials are consistent with the curricular goals set by the Key Stage Three Strategy. The materials are organised as activities that included some guidelines for teachers and materials for pupils. The activities are titled as follows: (1) Acids & Alkalis; (2) Changes in Matter; (3) Sliding on Surfaces; (4) Cells; (5) Constructing a Written Argument; (6) Chemical Reactions and Measurement; (7) Compounds & Mixtures; (8) Environment & Health; (9) Examining a Scientific Argument; and (10) Ideas & Evidence & Use of Formative Assessment. The example activity sheet for the "Changes in Matter" lesson is shown in Figure 2.

## Changes in Matter!

## Theory 1: Burning a piece of paper is like boiling water. Both paper and water change in their compositions in the same way.

# Theory 2: Burning a piece of paper is very different from boiling water. Paper changes its composition, but water does not.

**Evidence Statements:** 

Heat is needed to burn paper and	Gas is released when water boils
boil water.	and paper burns.
When paper burns ash is left, but	A chemical reaction occurs when
when pure water boils away	reactants change into new
nothing is left behind.	products.
As a liquid is heated, its	Eventually, the bonds between
molecules gain energy and move	molecules are no longer strong
more and more quickly.	enough to keep the molecules
	close together.
It is possible to get the liquid	Burning happens when an
water back by condensing the	element or a compound reacts
water vapour, but it is not	very vigorously with oxygen.
possible to get the paper back	
after it has been burned.	
When matter undergoes phase	When matter undergoes phase transitions, it
transitions, it changes its state	changes its state from solid to liquid to gas.
from solid to liquid to gas.	

Figure 2. Student activity sheet on "Changes in Matter" using the competing theories framework to promote ideas, evidence and argument (from Erduran, 2006).

More recently, the production of teaching and learning sequences in argumentation has been a key objective of the Mind the Gap and S-TEAM projects described in more detail in the professional development section of this chapter. Teams of researchers in Santiago de Compostela, Spain and Bristol, England have been collaborating with secondary science teachers to generate resources, some of which have already been published (e.g. Erduran & Yan, 2009; Jimenez-Aleixandre, 2009).

Framework	Description
1. Table of Statements	Students are given a table of statements on a particular science topic. They are asked to say if they agree or disagree with the statement and argue for their choices. This idea has been developed from the work on discussing instances of physical phenomena (Gilbert & Watts, 1983)
2. Concept Map of Student Ideas	Students are given a concept map of statements derived from student conceptions of a science topic derived from the research literature. They are then asked to discuss the concepts and links individually and as a group to decide whether they are scientifically correct or false, providing reasons and arguments for their choice. This was an adaptation of the common use of concept mapping (Osborne, 1997)
3. A Report of a Science	Students are given a record of another student's
Experiment Undertaken by	experiment and their conclusions. The experiment is
Students	written in a way to intentionally include information that is lacking or in a manner could be improved, so as to stimulate disagreement. Students are asked to provide answers to what they think the experiment and its conclusions could be improved, and why. This idea was drawn from the work of Goldsworthy, Watson and Wood-Robinson (2000)
4. Competing Theories – Cartoons	Students are presented with two or more competing theories in the form of a cartoon. They are asked to state which they believe in and argue why they think they are correct. The work of Keogh and Naylor (Keogh & Naylor, 1999) has been valuable in developing a resource which is an excellent stimulus to
5 Occurrenting Theorem Of	engaging children with scientific thinking.
5. Competing Theories – Story	Students are presented competing theories in the form of an engaging story reported in a newspaper. They are then asked to provide evidence for which theory they believe in and why.
6. Competing Theories – Ideas	In this approach, students are introduced to a physical
and Evidence	phenomenon and then offered two or more, but generally two, competing explanations. In addition, a

Table 2. Frameworks for Supporting Argumentation in the Science Classroom(from Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2004a)

## ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

	range of statements of evidence that may support one theory, the other, both or neither are provided. In small groups, students are then asked to consider each piece of evidence and evaluate its role and significance. Finally, they must use the evidence to argue for one idea or another. This idea has been adapted from the work of Solomon and colleagues (Solomon, Duveen &
7 Constructing an Argument	Scott, 1992). Students are given an explanation of a physical phenomenon i.e. day and night are caused by a spinning Earth, and a number of data statements (typically 4). They then have to discuss which data statements provides the strongest explanation for the phenomenon and provide an argument why. This is an idea that has been adapted from the innovative work of Garratt and colleagues (Garratt, Overton & Threlfall, 1999) in undergraduate chemistry.
8. Predicting, Observing and Explaining	This activity, drawn from the work of White and Gunstone (1992), involves introducing a phenomenon to children without demonstrating it and asking students to discuss in small groups what they think will happen when the phenomenon is initiated, and justify their reasoning. The phenomenon is then demonstrated and, if what happens is the antithesis of that expected, students are then asked to reconsider and re-evaluate their initial arguments. Discussion focuses on the theory that they advance for their prediction and the evidence to support it.
9. Designing an Experiment	Students are asked to work in pairs to design an experiment to test a hypothesis i.e. that a silver kettle cools faster. Their design needs to specify not only what variable should be measured but how often and what steps should be taken to ensure that the data obtained are reliable. Pairs then meet to discuss their design, to propose alternative procedures and to argue for their relative merits.

In Spain, the RODA Project ("roda" means wheel in Galician, and it is the acronym for "RazonamientO, Debate, Argumentación", or ReasOning, Debate, Argumentation) is a research programme carried out in the University of Santiago de Compostela, supported by consecutive grants from the Spanish Ministry of Science (which under some governments is collapsed with the Ministry of Education) since 1995. It is constituted by a set of classroom-based studies, and its focus has evolved from documenting the conditions for argumentation and the use of evidence, to supporting it through particular learning environments, to outlining learning progressions for argumentation in different disciplinary contexts. The target group are secondary school students, in both compulsory (12–16 year old) and upper secondary school (16–18 year old). However, given the difficulties for

longitudinal studies in secondary schools in Spain (where optional subjects cause a rearrangement of groups every year), a three-year longitudinal study with primary school pupils (Jiménez-Aleixandre & López-Rodríguez, 2001; López-Rodríguez & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2002) was also included. A substantial part of the publications from this project are in Spanish, including a recent book about argumentation and the use of evidence, directed to science teachers (Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2010), but here we will refer to the work published in English.

The RODA Project profiled three main features: first the collaboration among university-based researchers and secondary school teachers. Some of the studies can be framed in action-research or teachers' reflection on action, with a focus on teachers' performed action as the teacher-researcher was studying her or his own classroom (Mena, Sánchez & Tillema, 2009). A second feature is that argumentation is placed on a broader Inquiry Based Science Teaching (IBST) frame, and argumentation learning environments are considered a type of constructivist and IBST environments, with a specific focus on the development of epistemic practices and in particular on the evaluation of knowledge claims (Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2008). A third feature is that argumentation is promoted through engaging students in its practice, rather than by teaching it explicitly.

From a theoretical perspective, the RODA project frames argumentation in scientific practices or epistemic practices. Kelly (2008) defines epistemic practices as:

"the specific ways members of a community propose, justify, evaluate and legitimize knowledge claims within a disciplinary framework. My argument is that an important aspect of participating in science is learning the epistemic practices associated with producing, communicating and evaluating knowledge." (Kelly, 2008, pp 99–100).

The three types of epistemic practices mentioned by Kelly are intertwined, and argumentation, as characterized in the RODA project, corresponds to the evaluation of knowledge. For these epistemic practices to occur, particular learning environments are needed (Duschl & Grandy, 2008; Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2008). Therefore part of the project's efforts went into designing teaching sequences and learning environments, in close collaboration with the teachers. These teaching sequences are organized around *authentic tasks*, dilemmas drawn from real life, that constitute problems which may have more than a potential solution, which are perceived as being relevant for students' lives and that require students to use inquiry procedures. Five instances of authentic tasks designed and implemented in the project are summarized in Table 3. A relevant constraint in the implementation of the teaching sequence was time, as teachers are concerned with covering all the topics in the Spanish curriculum. So the teaching sequences ranged from 17 sessions during several weeks, to four or five sessions.

## ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

Task, topic, grade	Problem (summary)	References
Why are farm	To explain why farm chickens are	Jiménez-Aleixandre,
chickens yellow?	born with yellow feathers, instead	Bugallo & Duschl (2000).
Topic: Genetics	of the spotted brown of chickens	
9th Grade (14–15	living in the wild. The fictional	
year old)	context is a request from the farm.	
Evaluating	The Environmental department of	Jiménez-Aleixandre &
environmental	the Galician government solicits a	Pereiro-Muñoz (2002). (In
management in a	report about the construction of a	Spanish, Aznar & Pereiro,
wetland	sewage network of underground	1999, Alambique, 20)
Topic: Environmental	drain pipes, as part of the project	
balance in	to clean the wetland from	
ecosystems	pollution. The project combines	
11th Grade, night	cleaning benefits and negative	
shift (16-21 year old)	impacts on fragile habitats.	
Rescuing the U201-	The Vigo city council is opening	Bernal, Álvarez & Jiménez
Wolf submarine	a competition to get a submarine	(1997) Ao rescate do U-201
Topic: Flotation	afloat. The U201-Wolf submarine	Wolf: unha experiencia no
10th Grade (15–16	sunk duringthe 2nd World War.	proxecto RODA. Boletín
year old)	The students need to build a	<i>das Ciencias</i> 32: 61–66.
	model submarine, to sink it and to	(Galician)
	get it afloat.	
Choosing a heating	The University of Santiago de	Jiménez-Aleixandre,
system	Compostela solicits a report about	Eirexas & Agraso (2006).
Topic: Energy and its	a heating system and energy	NARST meeting, San
uses 12th Grade	sources for the new Medical	Francisco.
(17–18 year old)	School. Criteria include having	Jiménez-Aleixandre et al.
	low environmental impact and	(2009) in www.rodausc.eu
	low cost.	(In Spanish Federico et al.,
		2007, Educatio, 25)
Is it ecologically	Students are a NGO helping in a	Bravo-Torija & Jiménez-
more sustainable to	small seaside village after a	Aleixandre, (2012).
eat salmon or to eat	tornado that destroyed harvests.	Modeling marine resources
sardines?	For some time they should feed	management.
Topic: Energy flow	on fishing resources. They should	(In Spanish, Bravo &
and trophic pyramids	design a plan for feeding more	Jiménez, 2010, Alambique,
in ecosystems	people for as long as possible,	63)
10th Grade (15–16	choosing among fishing mainly	
year old)	sardines and herring or mainly	
	salmon.	

## Table 3. Instances of authentic problems from the RODA project (from Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2010, translated). Teaching sequences detailed in the Spanish references.

The publications of the project combine research papers in English or Spanish, focusing on the findings about argumentation practices, with papers in Spanish and Galician journals with the goal of offering resources for teachers. Some of the teaching sequences are also uploaded to the project website, www.rodausc.eu.

In terms of research focus, the RODA project began by addressing the complexity of classroom discourse by means of a holistic approach, acknowledging the different dimensions that need to be taken into account. Jiménez-Aleixandre et al. (2000) examine the intertwined dimensions of argumentation, epistemic operations (such as definition, appeal to analogy, appeal to consistency) and the 'doing the lesson' / 'doing science' distinction. 'Doing the lesson' is characterized as fulfilling the expectations about what is enacted in school, and 'doing science', as engaging in the production, communication or evaluation of knowledge claims. A goal of argumentation learning environments would be to move classroom discourse away from 'doing the lesson' and towards 'doing science', knowledge evaluation and argumentation.

Students' argumentation is explored in this project in connection with science learning, for instance, the process of data construction by secondary school students, engaged in identifying an unknown sample through the microscope, is examined by Jiménez-Aleixandre, Díaz and Duschl (1999). In order to match their observations with the four options for a suspect of stealing laboratory equipment, students interpreted and reinterpreted their observations in the process of appealing to empirical data to back their claims. The authors understand these shifting interpretations as a process through which data are constructed: 'data' are not equivalent to observation, but to the way these observations are interpreted. Figure 3 summarizes these steps in a students' dyad.

Data construction and argumentation are intertwined, the existence in the sample of one or two cell types is what counts for the students as evidence for their choice of the suspects.

The quality of 4th grade students' arguments along 10 sessions is analyzed in Jiménez-Aleixandre, López and Erduran (2005), as a part of a three-year longitudinal study about argumentation and environmental education from 4th to 6th grades (9 to 12 years). Pupils were required to decide upon the issues to study, the methods and in particular about the behaviour code in a field trip (Jiménez-Aleixandre & López Rodríguez, 2001). The quality and sophistication of students' arguments including rebuttals, rises the question of what features in the classroom environment supported the development of argumentative skills. It is suggested that the sustained enculturation in this particular school and classroom culture provided the environment adequate for argumentative competencies to develop.

Some of the studies in the RODA project examined argumentation in the context of socio-scientific issues. Jiménez-Aleixandre and Pereiro (2002) report about students' collaborative construction of arguments on environmental management in a wetland close to their school. In order to produce their reports about the pros and cons of a sewage network in a polluted area, the students worked with real data sets, maps, and technical projects. An interesting finding is how part of them changed their positions during the 17 sessions, as well as the justifications they gave for the changes (Jiménez-Aleixandre & Pereiro, 2005). In this study students were engaged with a real issue that was causing a social controversy and was significant for their engagement as citizens with scientific issues of social relevance.



## ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

Figure 3 Process of data construction (from Jiménez-Aleixandre, Díaz & Duschl, 1999, modified).

The work of Fins Eirexas (Jiménez-Aleixandre, Eirexas & Agraso, 2006) focuses on a SSI related to energy use and sustainability. Working in groups, students were asked to select a heating system and appropriate energy sources for the buildings of the new Medical School in the University of Santiago de Compostela. Their options needed to meet the criteria of the USC's Environmental Efficiency Plan: low environmental impact and low economic costs. As with the problem about environmental management, there was not a single 'right' solution, a feature that promoted argumentation. The students' reports and their oral debates were analyzed for the epistemic levels in arguments, as well as for the meanings given to concepts as environmental impact and sustainability. The process of decision-making about this same problem of heating systems, by undergraduate students, has been examined in Gurutze Maguregi's doctoral dissertation (Uskola, Maguregi & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2010). In this study the focus is on the criteria that students utilised to make their choices, and whether or not they considered evidence that was contradictory with their selected option.

Currently the project research focus is on the influence of the different argumentation contexts in the discursive processes and epistemic practices involved

in argumentation. Two doctoral studies framed in this issue are those of Blanca Puig and Beatriz Bravo, and the SSI in both of them share a feature: causal explanations are relevant for engaging with the problems, besides ethical or environmental values. Puig and Jiménez-Aleixandre (2010, 2011) examine students understanding about the influence of environment in gene expression, and their positions in relation to biological determinism. In this context, a relevant argumentative process is the identification of evidence or justifications supporting a given claim (for instance a determinist claim about differences in intelligence between races). The authors use the didactical transposition perspective to explore how two teachers taught the model of gene expression and how they dealt with determinism. Bravo and Jiménez-Aleixandre (2012) examine students' participation in the epistemic practices related to modeling and argumentation, while working in a teaching sequence about marine resources management. The study explores how students connected the theoretical model of energy flow, on the one hand to the expressed model, and on the other to the physical world of living beings and actual data from the problem, and how they addressed the issue of sustainability.

As illustrated by these studies, the RODA project goals seek to combine the design of learning environments to promote IBST and argumentation, with the achievement of scientific literacy, that is with an interest in examining both students' engagement in argumentation and in meaning-making. We agree with Wickman and Östman (2002) in conceiving learning as discourse change, achieved as students become participants in new epistemic practices.

## INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES (ICT) AND ARGUMENTATION

There have been numerous research and development initiatives across Europe to integrate information and communication technologies (ICT) in science education (Kyza, Erduran & Tiberghien, 2009). Some of these initiatives have aimed to support the teaching and learning of argumentation in science classrooms at secondary school level (Monteserin, Schiaffino & Amandi, 2010). A key rationale for the choice of argument and argumentation as a genre in ICT has been based on the notion that learning activities should confront cognition and its foundations (Andriessen, Baker & Suthers, 2003). In this sense, substantial amount of research has been dedicated to how best to scaffold argumentative processes ranging from generating to justification of claims. An aspect that has often been neglected is the minimal attention given to the linearization process and linguistic aspects which are partly due to difficulty in incorporating ideas into the structure demanded and rhetorical goals (Brassart, 1996, Akiguet & Piolat, 1996). In an overview of the scaffolding tools in science teaching and learning, Kyza, Erduran and Tiberghien have summarized the following key aspects of tools that range from scientific visualization tools, databases, data collection and analysis tools, computer-based simulations, and modeling tools (Kyza et al., 2009, pp. 126-128).

Several trends can be detected in the use of ICT in argumentation in schooling across Europe. First, the incorporation of argumentation principles into ICT has been a multi-disciplinary effort across Europe at times involving cognitive psychologists, artificial intelligence experts as well as educators. Some of the key contributors to this interdisciplinary approaches have been funded by the European Union, including projects such as Kaleidoscope (Balacheff, Ludvigsen, de Jong, Lazonder, Barnes, & Montandon, 2009) and ESCALATE (Schwartz & Perret-Clermont, 2008). Second, some of the key research and development projects focused exclusively on science education have used US-based systems and models in their adaptations and development of tools to support argumentation. For example, the Viten (Jorde et al., 2003) and Argue-Wise (Evagorou & Osborne, 2007) projects relied on the principles of the WISE project developed at University of Berkeley in the USA (Linn & Hsi, 2000). Yan and Erduran (2008) have investigated the student-teachers' perceptions of the Belvedere Program developed in the United States by Brian Reiser and colleagues at Northwestern University.

Another trend in the use of ICT in argumentation research has been the contextualization of argumentation in scientific enquiry processes. The ESCALATE project capitalizes on two environments that mediate argumentation and inquiry-based practices (Schwartz & Perret-Clermont, 2008). Argumentation is enabled by the Digalo tool that has been developed in the earlier DUNES project also funded by the European Union. The Digalo tool provides a graphical platform in which participants may collaboratively construct an argument (on one computer or on different computers in a-synchronous mode) or participate in synchronous discussions. The argumentative map produced during the construction or during the discussion is an artifact that participants can exploit in further activities, as opposed to face-to-face discussions from which students cannot "physically" extract previous outcomes.

A further aspect of the argumentation work related to the incorporation of ICT tools has been the adaptation and/or extension of American-based systems. The COSAR (Computer Support for Collaborative and Argumentative Writing), for instance, has used features similar to the Belvedere program. COSAR is an all encompassing tool that supports idea-generation, planning and structuring, text composition and linearization in a collaborative environment (Erkens, Kanselaar, Prangsma, & Jaspers, 2002). It has an individual note area, a chat, a shared text editor for collaborative writing, a diagram tool for "for generating, organizing and relating information units in a graphical knowledge structure comparable to Belvedere" (Erkens et al., 2002, p. 16) using the 'box and link' approach to generate, relate and visually distinguish the simplified components of the argumentation produced (information, position, argument pro, support, argument contra, refutation, and conclusion). One of the important findings of this line of work has been that the planning tools "stimulate a more structured dialogue" (Erkens et al., 2002b, p. 125). The research team also found that argumentation on content, coordination, and metacognitive strategies is related positively to text quality, whereas argumentation on technical aspects of the task and on non-task related topics is related negatively to text quality(Erkens et al., 2002, p. 125).

Argue-WISE is another example of the adaptation of an American software design in application to the European context (Evagorou & Osborne, 2007). It is an online learning environment, which is geared towards key stage 3 and 4 students

(12–16 year-olds), designed within the WISE platform, which makes use of both knowledge representation and discussion-based tools. WISE (Web-based Inquiry Science Environment) is a knowledge integration platform designed by Marcia Linn and her group at the University of California, Berkeley. Evagorou and Osborne argue that the design of such a technology-enhanced environment provides scaffolds for argument construction by making thinking visible, making the structure of argument construction explicit, and structuring both peer-to-peer and group discussion. One of the main goals of Argue-WISE was to design and implement a learning environment to enhance young students' argumentation skills within the context of a controversial science topic and to evaluate the way in which their arguments develop. The design of Argue-WISE is based on the principles of project-based learning: a guided-discovery approach that invites students to work in groups and search for information in order to address a question, usually associated with an authentic everyday problem.

Similar to Argue-WISE, the Viten Project (http://www.viten.no) is a Norwegian research and development project (Jorde, Strømme, Sørborg, Erlien, & Mork, 2003) based on the WISE platform, providing a web-based platform with digital learning resources in science for secondary school. Students in grade 8-12 can work collaboratively on various science topics and each topic range s in duration from 2-8 science lessons. Three types of programs are available, that engage students in: a) designing solution to problems, e.g. design a greenhouse for growing plants in a spaceship on its way to Mars, b) debating controversial issues, e.g. whether or not there should be wolves in the Norwegian wilderness, c) investigating scientific phenomena, e.g. radioactivity, gene technology. Mork's contribution to the field of science education from this study is a dual approach to analysing argumentation that takes both structure and content into account (Mork, 2005b). The dual approach functioned well as a tool for analysing student utterances and shows that student arguments varied from simple claims, to more elaborated arguments where reasons for claims were backed up by evidence and comparisons or examples. The most elaborated arguments also seem to be associated with correct content however, correct content is also found in less complex arguments. The majority of the utterances in this study contain correct or partly correct content, and students draw on biological, personal/social, political and economic information in their arguments.

## ARGUMENTATION IN PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF SCIENCE TEACHERS

There is vast amount of research literature in science education in Europe that has extended the work of some American educators. A significant line of work relies on models of professional development based on Lee Shulman' notion of teachers' "pedagogical content knowledge" (e.g. van Driel, Jong, & Verloop, 2002). Other approaches to teacher education have extended the work of educational psychologists such as Diane Kuhn in application to science education (e.g. Zohar, 2004). In the context of argumentation, advocates for effective professional development have argued that the teaching of argumentation requires a model of

pedagogy that is based on knowledge construction as opposed to knowledge transmission (Simon & Maloney, 2006; Zohar, 2008). Teachers' enculturation into new models of pedagogy to support argumentation requires systematic and long-term professional development (Simon, Erduran, & Osborne, 2006).

Few studies have been conducted in Europe that traced the development of science teachers in argumentation in a longitudinal fashion. Erduran & Dagher (2007) studied the development of two middle-school science teachers who participated, over 5 years, in various school-based research projects on argumentation ranging from basic research in teaching and learning to the development of professional development programs for training teachers in argumentation. The projects took place between 1999–2004 in the United Kingdom funded by the Economic and Social Research Council (Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2004a), Nuffield Foundation (Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2004a), Nuffield Foundation (Osborne, Erduran & Simon, 2004b) and the Gatsby Foundation (http://www.cpdthroughpoe.com/index.html). The teachers were asked to reflect as a pair on various aspects of teaching and learning of argumentation. The results address the teachers' views and knowledge of argumentation, their perceptions of the goals, constraints and successes in their teaching of argumentation, their perceptions of themselves as learners and teachers, and their reflections on the professional development that they received.

Both teachers displayed sophisticated understanding of argument as well as its teaching and learning. Their recommendations centred around effective professional development to take into account a holistic presentation of teaching scenarios and a range of student abilities. Both teachers indicated that their own success with the project was due to their persistence in learning something new and the nature of the workshops conducted with them and other teachers - which have been summarized, trialled and published subsequently (Osborne et al., 2004a; 2004b). They also indicated that among many teaching strategies, they are now more conscious of doing group work and they view the ability to conduct and coordinate group discussions as a significant skill that can be transferred to other aspect of teaching. When asked to reflect on what kinds of developmental and cognitive skills they would expect students to undergo in the learning of argumentation, both teachers referred to a scheme used in the research project to analyze the quality of student argumentation in group discussions. The scheme derived from a theoretical account of argument based on Toulmin's work (1958) focussed on the use of rebuttals and the use of data and warrants to support one's claim while another person is in opposition to an original claim. Both teachers, whose classroom practices included meta-level language with students about the nature of rebuttals (Simon et al., 2006), indicated that a development in argumentation skills would necessitate the presence of improved skills with rebutting an argument. Teaching of and professional development in argumentation can pose numerous challenges. Curricular goals can hinder the effective implementation of teaching and teacher training if they are not in line with the learning outcomes intended by innovative pedagogical approaches such as argumentation (Erduran, 2006). A further component of complexity in the implementation of effective professional development programmes can be the

diversity of interpretations of the national curricula. For example in England and Wales context, the exam boards such as EdExcel and OCR interpret the National Curriculum policy level statements for the design and implementation of teaching. Different exam boards tend to have different interpretations of the "How Science Works" (HSW) agenda, hence the use of argumentation in teaching. There is a review of some of the key exam board specifications on HSW component of the National Science Curriculum in England and Wales in Lavelle & Erduran (2007).

An important distinction to be made in teachers' professional development in argumentation concerns the contrast of pre-service teacher education (TE) and inservice teacher' professional development (PD). In numerous part of Europe, the models of TE rely on the inclusion of mentor teachers in the training of pre-service trainee teachers (e.g. Simon & Maloney, 2006; Erduran, 2006) typically involving both higher education-based training and school-based practical experience. The provision for PD of in-service teachers tends to be more sporadic with few comprehensive trends. In England and Wales, the Science Learning Centres have been instrumental in the delivery of professional development on the HSW component of the curriculum in a systematic way.

In England and Wales, there has been a renewed interest in the incorporation of themes that focus on knowledge construction as opposed to knowledge transmission. The recent revisions in the national science curriculum highlight a recognition that the teaching of science aims not only at conceptual outcomes of science but also the processes of scientific inquiry and communications. The "How Science Works" (HSW) component of the Science National Curriculum (DfES/QCA, 2006) suggests the incorporation of evidence-based reasoning and argumentation in various aspects of science teaching and learning. For instance, not only should pupils learn about coordination of evidence and explanation but also they should be communicating arguments (Table 4).

2006 National Curriculum: How Science Works		
Curriculum descriptor	Argument skills	
Data, evidence, theories, explanations	Understanding the nature of evidence and justifications in scientific knowledge	
Practical and inquiry skills	Justifying procedures, choices for experimental design; generating and applying criteria for evaluation of evidence	
Communication skills	Constructing and presenting a case to an audience either verbally or in writing	
Applications and implications of science	Applying argument to everyday situations including active social, economic and political debates	

Table 4. How Science Works in the Science National Curriculum and potential target skills in argument (from LaVelle & Erduran, 2007).

## ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

Whilst policy and research recommendations unite in promoting argumentation in science classrooms, significant gaps remain between educational policy, research and practice in the context of inquiry teaching and in argumentation in particular. Provision for professional development in argumentation is still quite rare (Cetin, Erduran & Kaya, 2010; Zohar, 2008). One approach that has aimed to transform research and policy findings for professional development purposes is the project called "Mind the Gap: Learning, Teaching and Research in Inquiry-Based Science Teaching" funded by the European Union (Erduran & Yan, 2010). The project supported 6 in-service teachers from four schools in England to explore the policy and research aspects of argumentation in their classrooms. The programme was implemented in 2008–2009 with six secondary science teachers from four schools near Bristol, England in collaboration with researchers from University of Bristol. In infusing ideas about argumentation into professional development of science teachers, the Bristol team used an evidence-based approach applying some of the key outcomes of research on teacher education. For example, the work of Supovitz and Turner (2000) guided the model of professional development where it was deemed important to engage participants in inquiry, questioning and experimentation in a collaborative manner. Furthermore, the Project relied on the principles of teachers' collaborative exchanges with peers and reflective inquiries into their own teaching. The teachers were recruited by writing to schools about potential involvement in the project and the participating teachers volunteered to join. They were primarily mid-career teachers who specialised in chemistry and physics. Each workshop had input (a) by researchers, in terms of evidence from research evidence on the teaching of argument, and (b) by teachers, in terms of classroom learning and teaching practices. Variety of activities and formats were employed including group discussions and presentations. The professional development aspects of the project are summarised in a DVD (Erduran & Yan, 2009). The clips range in how the teachers addressed the curriculum policy context to the strategies used to support professional development such as evaluating and reflecting on peer teaching. The project teachers indicated a range of ways in which the project has facilitated their professional development. A set of themes suggested by the project data (Erduran & Yan, 2010, Erduran, 2012) are as follows:

## Exchange and Communication

*"Teaching to some extent, is quite a lonely journey,"* said by one of the teachers. The teachers appreciated the opportunity to exchange experiences and communicate with the teachers across different schools with different experiences and backgrounds. Furthermore, the friendly environment in the workshops encouraged the participants to critically and reflectively comment on each other's work.

## Ownership and Engagement

The participants enjoyed this teacher-oriented programme that focused on their interests or issues. They felt supported to explore their interests in their own teaching situations. The sense of "ownership" motivated them to take on the initiatives. As one of the teacher said, "*it is like to [what we need to] do with the students, this open project allows us to do what we are interested in.*"

## Clarification and Justification of Curricular Policy

The teachers appreciated this programme for clarifying the justification of the policy initiative from the trainer's introduction and guided peer discussions. As one teacher said that, "*if teachers only see HSW as one of the policy changes in the curriculum, they won't bother to think seriously about it, never mentioned to take on initiative to teach differently in the class.*" During the workshops, the teachers had a better idea about the reason why HSW was introduced to the curriculum and what would be the benefits of teaching and learning of science via argumentation. Through the exploration of the gaps between the policy and teaching practice, the teachers' awareness of the issues was raised. They indicated that their understanding of the HSW and argumentation has also been improved through the dynamic discussions in the workshops. Furthermore, the teachers' discussion and sharing has made the idea of HSW clear, explicit and practical in practice.

## Awareness of the Role of Argument in Teaching Science

Teachers were appreciative of the infusion of research outcomes in the workshops. They indicated that the teacher's perception of the importance of argumentation might affect their motivation to teach argumentation and their lack of experience might be the obstacle as well. The resources shared by other teachers in the workshops extended their personal experiences and opened up reflective discussions. As one teacher explained, she *"realized that teachers need to model argumentation structure that pupils would understand."* 

The work of argumentation in professional development in the Mind the Gap Project has been extended in the S-TEAM Project (Science Teaching Advanced Methods) funded by the European Union. One of the strands of this project has been led by Universidade de Santiago de Compostela (USC), in association with the University of Bristol and the CNRS, Lyon, France. The project will provide resources and strategies to help teachers to create learning environments for argumentation and the learning of discursive practices in science. A key priority of the S-TEAM Project is to disseminate training resources and classroom materials to support the teaching and learning of argumentation in science classrooms and the development of teachers' reasoning about the nature of scientific knowledge. A professional development programme has been designed and implemented to promote coherence and growth in teachers' skills in these aspects. Outcomes in terms of students' argumentation skills will provide proof of the effectiveness of professional development interventions.

One of the outcomes of the S-TEAM project is a report on argumentation and teacher education in Europe (Jiménez-Aleixandre et al., 2010). Intended for policymakers and other stakeholders in education, it seeks to share information about the development of argumentation in Europe. The report's purpose is to review the state of the art about argumentation in Europe, particularly in the 15 countries involved in the project and to draw on published research to suggest lines of improvement. It explores argumentation through three dimensions: policy documents, initial teacher education and teacher's continuous professional development (CPD). We will briefly summarize some results about CPD, although it needs to be noted that responsibility for CPD is attributed to different instances in different countries, from the Ministries of Education, to teacher centres or local authorities, making difficult to draw common pictures of such a complex situation.

Jiménez-Aleixandre et al. report that argumentation is currently part of CPD programs in 13 countries; that is all but two, although with a great diversity in weight and format. The differences range from explicit presence in goals and content, to being embedded in broader topics, such as competences, IBST or reasoning. Even in the case of half of these countries, where argumentation is integrated in CPD in the frame of national programs, the course contents exhibit a great deal of variation, from explicit modules about argument construction and examples of activities to introduce it in the classrooms, to a presence embedded in reasoning, communication or debate.

The report also explores the availability of resources for teachers who may be interested in introducing argumentation in their science classrooms. About this issue there are also great differences, but the data point to an increasing availability of resources. For instance, in Denmark there is a wealth of available resources for teaching argumentation, which suggests a continued interest in the topic in CPD initiatives.

The report points out to some data showing the impact of European projects on the uptake of argumentation in teacher education. One instance may be the introduction of argumentation and IBST in CPD programs, as an effect of S-TEAM, in all the Ministry of Education summer courses in Spain targeted for science teachers. Another is making accessible resources for teaching argumentation, as illustrated by the use of the Mind the Gap resources in England and Wales, Spain and Denmark.

In the University of Santiago de Compostela, the researchers involved in the RODA project viewed the participation in EU projects as an opportunity for directing their attention to making their research accessible for teachers. This is the key idea behind the Mind the Gap project, to bridge existing gaps between research and schools. One of the main resources used both in initial teacher education and in CPD courses in Spain is an argumentation booklet (Jiménez-Aleixandre et al., 2009) produced within Mind the Gap, as well as other resources available in the USC web (www.rodausc.eu). Teaching sequences for

argumentation in teacher education, and teachers' guidelines produced in the USC in cooperation with teachers in the S-TEAM project, have also been used in CPD courses. This approach seeks to combine in-depth work with a small focus group with dissemination to the wider community of science teachers. At the University of Bristol, researchers (Erduran, Ingram & Yee, in press) have been producing the professional development approaches and teaching resources on argumentation and its relation to practical work, to be published for wider dissemination in England.

## FUTURE DIRECTIONS FOR RESEARCH ON ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION IN EUROPE

Our review indicates that cross-national collaborations on argumentation work in science education have already been established across Europe, particularly through projects (e.g. Mind the Gap and S-TEAM) funded by the European Union. There have also been personal collaborations that have led to some insightful syntheses of work across national boundaries, for instance through research visits between academics (e.g. Evagorou et.al., 2012, von Aufschnaiter et al., 2008). However the emphasis of work has been mainly national, not crossnational. Further research and development would be fruitful particularly in comparative analysis of argumentation in different national contexts, an area of work that is scarce. In one study, Castells and colleagues compared the argumentative schemes of primary science trainee teachers' arguments as well as their ideas, conceptions and beliefs on which they base their arguments (Castells, Konstantinidou, & Erduran, 2010). The study was the result of a project funded by the Anglo-Catalan Society and conducted in Barcelona and Bristol. The project included analyses carried at three levels. At the first level, the researchers compared the number of arguments by tasks and by country. At the second level, they analysed arguments and made a comparison between types of argumentative schemes by tasks and by countries. More in depth, qualitative descriptions were carried out in order to illustrate the similarities and differences between the Catalan and English primary student-teachers' arguments and scientific conceptions. Results illustrate that the arguments generated by students are quite similar in both samples in terms of number of arguments and frequencies of types of arguments, but with some differences in the order of these frequencies related to specific tasks. More relevant is the qualitative difference in the way that appeals are made to give evidence and theories, given the identification of premises and argumentative schemes; this favours good understanding of scientific knowledge. Future studies could build on these efforts to gain a deeper appreciation of the cultural and national factors that impact teachers' and learners' argumentation in science classrooms.

Related to the domain of cross-national work, it should be noted that language and language politics are key elements to consider in science education research efforts in Europe. Considering Europe is diverse in languages and cultures, the language variation and its influence on the way that argumentation is taught and learned in the classroom cannot be underestimated. This is particularly relevant for work related to the linguistic aspects of argumentation and the way in which arguments are constructed. There is currently no research dedicated to the learning of argumentation in bilingual and trilingual settings and the way in which arguments interact within and across different languages. Parts of Europe such as Luxembourg and the Netherlands where there is bounty of trilingual schooling (Baker, 2006), there is much potential to investigate the ways in which language variation has an impact on the nature and quality of argumentation.

An aspect of argumentation research that has not been addressed sufficiently in the literature is the relationship between disciplinary content or conceptual knowledge and argument structures and processes. Detailed studies of the relationship between argumentation and the development of scientific knowledge are rare. Jimenez-Aleixandre and Pereiro-Muñoz (2002) found that the involvement of 17- to 21-year-old students in argumentation and decision making about environmental management resulted in them becoming knowledge producers, not because they created new knowledge, but because they applied knowledge to practical contexts, combined ecological concepts, and integrated conceptual knowledge with values. Aufschnaiter and colleagues (2008) have used video and audio documents of small group and classroom discussions to analyse the quality and frequency of students' argumentation using a schema based on the work of Toulmin (1958). In parallel, students' development and use of scientific knowledge was also investigated, drawing on a schema for determining the content and level of abstraction of students' meaning-making. These two complementary analyses enabled an exploration of their impact on each other. The microanalysis of student discourse showed that: (a) when engaging in argumentation students draw on their prior experiences and knowledge; (b) such activity enables students to consolidate their existing knowledge and elaborate their science understanding at relatively high levels of abstraction. The results also suggested that students can acquire a higher quality of argumentation that consists of well-grounded knowledge with a relatively low level of abstraction. The findings further suggest that the main indicator of whether or not a high quality of argument is likely to be attained is students' familiarity and understanding of the content of the task.

A related problem in the argumentation literature is the question of whether or not students engage in meaningful argumentation not just about science concepts but also about socio-scientific issues and whether this process improves their conceptual understanding of science. In a recent study, the Australian researchers Venville and Dawson (2010) investigated the impact of classroom-based argumentation on high school students' argumentation skills, informal reasoning, and conceptual understanding of genetics. Their findings showed that following an invervention study, the argumentation group, but not the comparison group, improved significantly in the complexity and quality of their arguments and gave more explanations showing rational informal reasoning. Both groups improved significantly in their genetics understanding, but the improvement of the argumentation group was significantly better than the comparison group.

Considering the often culture-specific orientation to socio-scientific issues, it would be worthwhile to extend such studies on the interaction between socio-scientific issues, argumentation and scientific knowledge to European countries where language, culture, society, history among other factors are diverse in national contexts.

The study of disciplinary nuances in the subject knowledge itself holds the potential for novel approaches to understanding science education in general and argumentation in particular. The case for domain-specificity and scientific knowledge has been made by cognitive psychologists (e.g. Shunn & Andersson, 1999) and philosophers of science (e.g. Scerri, 1994) for some time. Yet the uptake of this work in science education has been minimal even though disciplinary knowledge can propose particular suggestions for how argumentation can be contextualised in science, as illustrated with a chemistry example briefly revisited here but reported more extensively elsewhere (Erduran, 2007). In school science it is typical practice to emphasize the nature of the Periodic Law within groups of elements in the sense that the elements are assigned similar chemical properties. For example, the properties of alkali metals in water are used to illustrate the increase in reactivity as one goes down the Group 1 Alkali Metals. However students are rarely given the opportunity to argue the case for the approximate nature of trends Thorium, whose valence electron configuration is d2s2 is not placed in IUPAC group 4 with the only other three elements that share this configuration (Ti, Zr and Hf) but rather a group of actinide elements where its only vertical relationship is with Ce, configuration fd2. Meanwhile, IUPAC group 10 contains just three elements with three different valence electron configurations: Ni d8s2, Pd d10 and Pt d9s1. The lack of a universal system of placement of elements in the Periodic Table creates an opportunity for argumentation when the predicted elements do not fit into the observed placements, raising key issues about how knowledge gets constructed and represented in chemistry. Other sciences will pose their own disciplinary orientation to how concepts are problematised and situated in the broader body of knowledge including developmental aspects of learning (e.g. Keil. 2007).

Erduran and Pabuccu (2012) have taken such a disciplinary orientation in situating argumentation in teaching and learning in the context of stories. The resources for teachers and students aim not only to promote argumentation in the discipline of chemistry but also to aid motivation in science in general through engagement by embedding the chemical concepts in interesting contexts.

Despite wealth of research in classroom-based research on argumentation since the mid-1990s, our review suggests that the territory remains ripe for numerous lines of work in the future. Among these, there is surprisingly little dedicated to the exploration of students' and teachers' perceptions of argumentation (e.g. Kaya, Erduran & Cetin, 2010). Likewise, developmental trajectories of teachers in learning argumentation in a longitudinal fashion are virtually nonexistent (e.g. Erduran & Dagher, 2007). A fruitful new territory for argumentation research could draw from 'science studies' – the interdisciplinary

studies on science with implications for science education (Duschl, Erduran, Grandy, & Rudolph, 2006).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Sibel Erduran and María Pilar Jiménez-Aleixandre's work on the Mind the Gap and S-TEAM projects were supported by the European Union FP7 Programme. María Pilar Jiménez-Aleixandre's work is part of a project supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation, code EDU2009-13890-C02-01.

#### REFERENCES

- Akiguet S., & Piolat A. (1996) Insertion of Connectives by 9- to 11-Year-Old Children in an Argumentative Text, *Argumentation*, Volume 10, No. 2, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Albe, V. (2005). Un jeu de role sur une controverse socio-scientifique actuelle: une strategie pour favoriser la problematisation? *Aster*, 40, 67–94.
- Albe, V. (2008a). When scientific knowledge, daily life experience, epistemological and social considerations intervene: students' argumentation in group discussions on a socio-scientific issue. *Research in Science Education*, 38, 67–90.
- Albe, V. (2008b). Students' positions and considerations of scientific evidence about a controversial socio-scientific issue. Science & Education, 17(8–9), 805–827.
- Albe, V. (2009). Enseigner des controverses. Rennes: Presses Universitaires de Rennes.
- Andriessen, J., Baker, M., and Suthers, D. (2003) Argumentation, Computer Support, and the Educational Context of Confronting Cognitions, *Arguing to Learn: Confronting Cognitions* in *Computer-supported Collaborative Learning Environments*. Vol.1. Andriessen, J., Baker, M., and Suthers, D. (Eds.) Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp. 1–26.
- Balacheff, N., Ludvigsen, S., de Jong, T., Lazonder, A., Barnes, S., Montandon, L. (Eds.). (2009). Technology-Enhanced Learning. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Baker, M.J., Quignard, M., Lund, K. & Séjourné, A. (2003) Computer-supported collaborative learning in the space of debate. In B. Wasson, S. Ludvigsen & U. Hoppe (Eds.) Designing for Change in Networked Learning Environments: Proceedings of the International Conference on Computer Support for Collaborative Learning 2003, pp. 11–20. Dordrecht : Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Baker, C. (2006). Foundations of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 4th edition. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.
- Baruch, S., & Perret-Clermont, A-N. (Ed.). (2008). ESCALATE's White Book on Argumentation and Enquiry-Based Science Learning. Project Report, Co-Funded by the European Commission within the Sixth Framework Programme. Project Number 020790(SAS6).
- Berland, L. K. & Reiser, B. (2009). Making sense of argumentation and explanation. Science Education, 93(1), 26–55.
- Brassart D. G. (1996) Didactique de l'argumentation écrite: Approches psycho cognitives, *Argumentation*, Volume 10, No. 1, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Braund, M., Erduran, S., Simon, S., Taber, J., & Tweats, R. (2004). Teaching ideas and evidence in science at key stage 3. *Science Teacher Education*, 41, pp. 12–13.
- Bravo-Torija, B & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M.P. (2012). Progression in compelxity: Contextualizing sustainable marine resources management in a 10 grade classroom. *Research in Science Education*, 42(1), 5–23.
- Bronckart, J.-P. (1996). Activité langagière, textes et discours: pour un interactionnisme socio-discursif. Paris: Delachaux & Niestlé.
- Buty, C. & Plantin, C. (Eds.) (2008a). Introduction. L'argumentation à l'épreuve de l'enseignement des sciences et vice-versa [Introduction. Argumentation put to the test of science education and vice-versa].

In C. Buty, & C. Plantin (Eds.) Argumenter en classe de sciences [Engaging in argumentation in science classrooms] (pp 17–41). Lyon: Institut National de Recherche Pédagogique.

- Buty, C. & Plantin, C. (Eds.) (2008b). Argumenter en classe de sciences [Engaging in argumentation in science classrooms]. Lyon: Institut National de Recherche Pédagogique.
- Castells, M., Konstantinidou, A., & Erduran, S. (2010). Argumentation and scientific conceptions: a comparison between Catalan and English students. M. F. Tasar & G. Cakmakci (Eds.), *Contemporary* science education research: international perspectives, (pp. 87–97). Ankara, Turkey: Pegem Akademi.
- Cetin, P. S., Erduran, S., & Kaya, E. (2010). Understanding the nature of chemistry and argumentation: the case of pre-service chemistry teachers. Ahi Evran Universitesi Kirsehir Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi, Special Issue on Nature of Science in Science Education, 11(4), pp. 41–59.
- Department of Education, South Africa. (2003). National curriculum statement grades 10–12 (General). Physical sciences. Pretoria: Author.

DfES/QCA (2006). Science: The National Curriculum for England and Wales. London: HMSO.

- Driver, R., Newton, P., & Osborne, J. (2000). Establishing the norms of scientific argumentation in classrooms. *Science Education*, 84(3), 287–312.
- Ducrot, O. (1972). Dire et ne pas dire. Principes de sémantique linguistique [To say and not to say. Principles of linguistic semantics]. Paris: Hermann [3rd edition, revised, 1998].
- Ducrot, O. & Todorov, T. (1987). Encyclopaedic dictionary of the sciences of language. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Duschl, R. A. (2008). Quality argumentation and epistemic criteria. In S. Erduran & M. P. Jiménez Aleixandre (Eds.) Argumentation in science education: Perspectives from classroom-based research (pp. 159–175). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Duschl, R. A. & Grandy, R. E. (Eds.) (2008). Teaching scientific inquiry. Recommendations for research and implementation. Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Duschl, R., Erduran, S., Grandy, R., & Rudolph, J. (2006). Guest editorial: science studies and science education. Science Education, 90(6), 961–964.
- Duschl, R., Ellenbogen, K., & Erduran, S. (1999, April). Understanding dialógica argumentation. Paper presented at the annual meeting of American Educational ResearchAssociation, Montreal.
- Engeström, Y. (2005). Developmental work research: Expanding activity theory in practice. Berlin: Lehmanns Media.
- Erduran, S. (2012). The role of dialogue and argumentation. In, John Oversby (Ed.), Guide to Research in Science Education, pp. 106–116, Hatfield: Association for Science Education.
- Erduran, S., Ingram, N., & Yee, W. (2012). Argumentation and Practical Work in Science Teachers? Professional Development. STEAM Project Resources. Bristol: University of Bristol. www.apisa.co.uk
- Erduran, S., & Pabuccu, A. (2012). Bonding chemistry and argument: promoting teaching and learning of argumentation through chemistry stories. Bristol: University of Bristol.
- Erduran, S., & Yan, X. (2010). Salvar las brechas en la argumentacion: el desarrollo profesional en la ensenanza de la indagacion cientifica. *Alambique*, 63, pp. 76–87.
- Erduran, S., & Villamanan, R. (2009). Cool argument: engineering students' arguments about thermodynamics in the context of Peltier effect in refrigeration. *Educación Química*, 20(2), pp. 119–125. (Special Issue on Argumentation in Science Education)
- Erduran, S., & Yan, X. (2009). Mind gaps in argument: continuing professional development to support the teaching of scientific inquiry. Booklet and DVD. Bristol: University of Bristol.
- Erduran, S. (2008). Methodological foundations in the study of argumentation in science classrooms. In S. Erduran & M. P. Jiménez Aleixandre (Eds.) Argumentation in science education: Perspectives from classroom-based research (pp. 47–69). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Erduran, S. & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (Eds.) (2008). Argumentation in science education. Perspectives from classroom-based research. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Erduran, S. (Ed.) (2007). Editorial: Special Issue on Argument, Discourse and Interactivity. School Science Review, 88(324), 31–40.

- Erduran, S., & Dagher, Z. (2007). Exemplary teaching of argumentation: a case study of two science teachers. In R. Pinto & D. Couso (Eds.), *Contributions from science education research* (pp. 403–415), Dordrecht: Springer.
- Erduran, S. (2007). Breaking the law: promoting domain-specificity in science education in the context of arguing about the Periodic Law in chemistry. *Foundations of Chemistry*, 9(3), 247–263.
- Erduran, S. (2006). Promoting ideas, evidence and argument in initial science teacher training. School Science Review, 87(321), 45–50.
- Erduran, S., Ardac, D. & Yakmaci-Guzel, B.(2006). Learning to teach argumentation: case studies of pre-service secondary science teachers. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics Science and Technology Education*, 2(2).
- Erduran, S., Simon, S., & Osborne, J. (2004). TAPping into argumentation: developments in the use of Toulmin's Argument Pattern for studying science discourse. *Science Education*, 88(6), 915–933.
- European Union (2006). Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 on key competences for lifelong learning. Official Journal of the European Union, 30–12–2006, L 394/10–L 394/18. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ: L:2006:394:0010:0018:en:PDF)
- Evagorou, M. (2009). Argue-WISE: Exploring young students' features of collaborative argumentation. Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis. King's College London.
- Evagorou, M., & Osborne, J. (2007). Argue-WISE: using technology to support argumentation in science. School Science Review, 89(327), 103–109.
- Evagorou, M. Jiménez-Aleixandre, M.P., & Osborne, J. (2012). 'Should we kill the grey squirrels?' study expliring students' justifications and decision-making *International Journal of Science Education*, 34(3), 401–428.
- Garratt, J., Overton, T., & Threlfall, T. (1999). A Question of Chemistry: Creative Problems for Critical Thinkers. Harlow: Pearson.
- Gilbert, J. K., & Watts, D. M. (1983). Concepts, Misconceptions and alternative conceptions: Changing perspective in Science Education. *Studies in Science Education*, 10, 61–98.
- Goldsworthy, A., Watson, R., & Wood-Robinson, V. (2000). Developing understanding in scientific enquiry. Hatfield: Association for Science Education.
- Grace, M. (2009). Developing high quality decision-making discussions about biological conservation in a normal classroom setting. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(4), 551–570.
- Grace, M., & Ratcliffe, M. (2002). The science and values that young people draw upon to make decisions about biological conservation issues. *International Journal of Science Education*, 24(11), 1157–1169.
- Grize, J-B. (1996). *Logique naturelle et communication* [Natural logic and communication]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Jiménez Aleixandre, M. P. (2008). Designing argumentation learning environments. In S. Erduran & M. P. Jiménez Aleixandre (Eds.) Argumentation in science education: Perspectives from classroombased research (pp. 91–115). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (2010). 10 Ideas Clave. Competencias en argumentación y uso de pruebas (10 key ideas. Competences on argumentation and use of evidence). Barcelona: Graó.
- Jiménez Aleixandre, M. P. & Erduran, S. (2008). Argumentation in science education: An overview. In S. Erduran & M. P. Jiménez Aleixandre (Eds.) Argumentation in science education: Perspectives from classroom-based research (pp. 91–115). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. & López Rodríguez, R. (2001). Designing a field code: environmental values in primary school. *Environmental Education Research*, 7(1), 5–22.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P., Agraso, M. F., & Eirexas, F. (2004, April). Scientific authority and empirical data in argument warrants about the Prestige oil spill. Paper presented at the National Association for Research in Science Teaching (NARST) Annual Meeting. Vancouver.
- Jiménez Aleixandre, M. P., Bugallo, A., & Duschl, R. A. (2000). "Doing the lesson" or "doing science": Argument in high school genetics. *Science Education*, 84(6), 757–792.
#### S. ERDURAN AND M. P. JIMENEZ-ALEIXANDRE

- Jiménez Aleixandre, M.P., Díaz, J., & Duschl, R. A. (1999). Plant, animal or thief? Solving problems under the microscope. In M. Bandiera, S. Caravita, E. Torracca & M. Vicentini (Eds.) *Research in Science Education in Europe*, (pp 31–39). Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P., Puig, B. & Gallástegui, J. R. (2010). Report on Argumentation and Teacher Education in Europe. Trondheim: S-TEAM (Science Teacher Education Advanced Methods) /NTNU.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P., Gallástegui-Otero, J. R., Eirexas-Santamaría, F. & Puig-Mauriz, B. (2009) Resources for introducing argumentation and the use of evidence in science classrooms. Santiago de Compostela: Danú. Project Mind the Gap [Available in Galician and Spanish]. Downloadable in www.rodausc.eu
- Jiménez-Aleixandre M.P., López Rodríguez R. & Erduran, S. (2005, April). Argumentative quality and intellectual ecology: A case study in primary school. Paper presented at the National Association for Research in Science Teaching (NARST) Annual Meeting. Dallas, TX.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. & Federico-Agraso, M. (2009). Justification and persuasion about cloning: Arguments in Hwang's paper and journalistic reported versions. *Research in Science Education*, 39(3) 331–347. DOI 10.1007/s11165-008-9113-x.
- Jiménez-Aleixandre, M.P., & Pereiro-Muñoz, C. (2002). Knowledge producers or knowledge consumers? Argumentation and decision making about environmental management. *International Journal of Science Education*, 24(11), 1171–1190.
- Jorde, D., & Mork, S. (2007). The contribution of information technology for inclusion of socioscientific issues in science: the case of wolves in Norway. In, D. Corrigan, J. Dillon, & R. Gunstone (Eds)., *The Re-Emergance of Values in Science*. Sense Publishers: Rotterdam.
- Jorde, D., Strømme, A., Sørborg, Ø., Erlien, W., & Mork, S. M. (2003). Virtual Environments in Science. Viten.no (No. 17). Oslo: ITU.
- Kaya, E., Erduran, S., & Cetin, P. (2010). High school students' perceptions of argumentation. Elsevier: Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2, 3971–3975.
- La Velle, B. L., & Erduran, S. (2007). Argument and developments in the science curriculum. School Science Review, 88(324), 31–40.
- Keil, F. C. (2007). Biology and beyond: domain specificity in a broader developmental context. *Human Development*, 50, 31–38.
- Keogh, B., & Naylor, S. (1999). Concept Cartoons, teaching and learning in science: an evaluation. International Journal of Science Education, 21(4), 431–446.
- Kelly, G. (2008). Inquiry, activity and epistemic practice. In R. Duschl, & R. Grandy (eds.) *Teaching Scientific Inquiry: Recommendations for research and implementation* (pp. 99–117). Rotterdam, Netherlands: Sense Publishers.
- Kelly, G. J. & Bazerman, C. (2003). How students argue scientific claims: A rhetorical-semantic analysis. *Applied Linguistics*, 24(1), 28–55.
- Kolsto, D. D. (2001a). To trust or not to trust: pupils' ways of judging information encountered in a socio-scientific issue. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23(9), 877–901.
- Kolstø, S. D. (2001b). "To trust or not to trust, ..." pupils' ways of judging information encountered in a socio-scientific issue. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23(9), 877–901.
- Kolstø, S. D. (2006). Patterns in students' argumentation confronted with a risk-focused socio-scientific issue. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(14), 1689–1716.
- Kolstø, S. D. & Ratcliffe, M. (2008) Social aspects of argumentation. En S. Erduran & M. P. Jiménez-Aleixandre (Eds.), Argumentation in science education: perspectives from classroom-based research (pp. 117–136). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Kortland, J. (2001). A problem posing approach to teaching decision making about the waste issue. Doctoral dissertation. Utrecht: Centre for Science and Mathematic Education (CdB), Utrecht University.
- Kortland, K. (1996). An STS case study about students' decision making on the waste issue. Science Education 80, 673–689.
- Kyza, E, Erduran, S & Tiberghien, A. (2009). Technology-enhanced learning in science. In, N. Balacheff, S. Ludvigsen, T. de Jong, A. Lazonder, S. Barnes, L. Montandon (Eds.), *Technology-Enhanced Learning*, (pp. 121–134), Dordrecht: Springer.

- Lazarou, D. (in press). The utilisation of cultural-historical activity theory for designing, developing and evaluating an educational game in primary science education. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning.
- Legardez, A. & Simonneaux, L. (2006) L'école à l'épreuve de l'actualité. Enseigner les questions vives. Paris: ESF.
- Linn, M. C., & Hsi, S. (2000). *Computers, Teachers, Peers: Science Learning Partners*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- López Rodríguez, R., & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (2002). Sharing the authority to evaluate environmental attitudes: a case study in primary school. In J. Lewis, A. Magro, L. Simonneaux (Eds.) *Biology education for the real world, Proceedings of the IV ERIDOB Conference*, (pp. 319– 333). Toulouse: École Nationale de Formation Agronomique (ENFA) Université de Toulouse.
- La Velle, B. L., & Erduran, S. (2007). Argument and developments in the science curriculum. School Science Review, 88(324), 31–40.
- Mena Marcos, J. J., Sánchez Miguel, E. & Tillema, H. (2009). Teacher reflection on action: What is said (in research) and what is done (in teaching). *Reflective Practice*, 10(2), 191–204.
- Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia, Republic of Chile (MEC). (2004). Estudio y comprensión de la naturaleza. Santiago de Chile: Author.
- Monteserin, A., Schiaffino, S., & Amandi, A. (2010). Assisting students with argumentation plans when solving problems in CSCL. *Computers and Education*, 54, 416–426.
- Mork, S. M. (2005a). Argumentation in science lessons: focusing on the teacher's role. Nordic Studies in Science Education, 1(1), 17–30.
- Mork, S. (2005b). ICT in science education: exploring the digital learning materials at viten.no. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Oslo: University of Oslo.
- OECD (2006). PISA 2006. Assessing scientific, reading and mathematical literacy: A framework for PISA 2006. Paris: Author.
- Osborne, J., Erduran, S., & Simon, S. (2004a). Enhancing the quality of argumentation in school science. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 41(10), 994–1020.
- Osborne, J., Erduran, S., & Simon, S. (2004b). *Ideas, evidence and argument in science education*. DVD and Resource Pack, London: King's College London.
- Osborne, J. F. (1997). Practical Alternatives. School Science Review, 78(285), 61-66.
- Ozdem, Y., Ertepinar, H., Cakiroglu, J., & Erduran, S. (in press). The nature of pre-service science teachers' argumentation in inquiry-oriented laboratory context. International Journal of Science Education.
- Patronis, T., Potari, D., & Spiliotopoulou, V. (1999). Students' argumentation in decision-making on a socio-scientific issue: implications for teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 21, 745–754.
- Plantin, C. (2004). On the inseparability of emotion and reason in argumentation In E. Weigand (Ed.) *Emotions in Dialogic Interactions* (pp 265–276). Amsterdam: Benjamin.
- Plantin, C. (2005). L'Argumentation. Histoire, théories et perspectives [Argumentation. History, theories and perspectives]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Puig, B. & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (2010). What do 9th grade students consider as evidence for or against claims about genetic differences in intelligence between black and white "races"? In Hammann, M., Waarlo, A. J. and Boersma, K. Th. (Eds.), *The Nature of Research in Biological Education* (pp. 137–151). Utrecht: University of Utrecht.
- Puig, B. & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (2011). Different music to the same score: Teaching about genes, environment and human performances. In T. Sadler (Ed.) Socio-scientific issues in the classroom: Teaching, learning and research (pp. 201–238). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Ratcliffe, M. (1997). Pupil decision-making about socio-scientific issues, within the science curriculum. International Journal of Science Education, 19(2), 167–182.
- Sadler, T. D. (2009). Situated learning in science education: socio-scientific issues as contexts for practice. *Studies in Science Education*, 45(1), 1–42.

#### S. ERDURAN AND M. P. JIMENEZ-ALEIXANDRE

- Scerri, E. (1994). Has chemistry been at least approximately reduced to quantum mechanics? In, Hull, D., Forbes, M., Burian, R. (Eds.) *Philosophy of Science Association* Vol. 1. (pp. 160–170). East Lansing, MI: Philosophy of science association.
- Schunn, C.D., Anderson, J.R. (1999). The generality/specificity of expertise in scientific reasoning. Cognitive Science, 23, 337–370.
- Simon, S., & Maloney, J. (2006). Learning to teach 'ideas and evidence' in science: a study of school mentors and trainee teachers. *School Science Review*, 87(321), 75–82.
- Simon, S., Erduran, S., & Osborne, J. (2006). Learning to teach argumentation: Research and development in the science classroom. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(2–3), 235–260.
- Simmonneaux, L. (2001). Role-play or debate to promote students' argumentation and justification on an issue in animal transgénesis. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23(9), 903–928.
- Simonneaux, L. (2008). Argumentation in socio-scientific contexts. In S. Erduran & M. P. Jiménez Aleixandre (Eds.) Argumentation in science education: Perspectives from classroom-based research (pp 179–199). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Solomon, J., Duveen, J., & Scott, L. (1992). Exploring the Nature of Science: Key Stage 4. Hatfield: Association for Science Education.
- Suppovitz, J. A., & Turner, H. M. (2000). The effects of professional development on science teaching practices and classroom cultures. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(9), 963–980.
- Toulmin, S. (1958). The Uses of Argument. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Uskola, A., Maguregi, G. & Jiménez-Aleixandre, M. P. (2010). The use of criteria in argumentation and the construction of environmental concepts: A university case study. *International Journal of Science Education*, 32(17), 2311–2333.
- van Driel, J.H., Jong, O. de, Verloop, N. (2002). The development of pre-service chemistry teachers' PCK. Science Education, 86(4), 572–590.
- van Eemeren, F.H., Grootendorst, R., Henkemans, F.S., Blair, J.A., Johnson, R.H., Krabbe, E.C.W., Plantin, C., Walton, D.N., Willard, C.A., Woods, J., Zarefsky, D. (1996). Fundamentals of argumentation theory; A handbook of historical backgrounds and contemporary developments. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Venville, G. J., & Dawson, V. M. (2010). The impacto f a classroom intervention on Grade 10 students' argumentation skills, informal reasoning and conceptual understanding of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(8), 952–977.
- von Aufschnaiter, C., Erduran, S., Osborne, J. & Simon, S. (2008). Arguing to learn and learning to argue: Case studies of how students' argumentation relates to their scientific knowledge. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 45(1), 101–131.
- Walton, D. N. (1996). Argumentation schemes for presumptive reasoning. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum.
- White, R., & Gunstone, R. (1992). Probing Understanding. London: Falmer Press.
- Wickman, P.-O. & Östman, L. (2002). Learning as discourse change: A sociocultural mechanism. Science Education, 86, 601–623.
- Yan, X., & Erduran, S. (2008). Arguing Online: Case Studies of Pre-Service Science Teachers' Perceptions of Online Tools in Supporting the Learning of Arguments. Turkish Journal of Science Education, 5(3), 2–31.
- Zohar, A. (2008). Science teacher education and professional development in argumentation. In, S. Erduran & M. P. Jimenez-Aleixandre (Eds.), Argumentation in science education: perspectives from classroom-based research, pp. 245–268, Dordrecht: Springer Academic Publishers.
- Zohar, A. (2004). Higher order thinking in science classrooms: students' learning and teachers' professional development. Dordrect: Kluwer.
- Zohar, A. & Nemet, F. (2002). Fostering students' argumentation skills through bioethical dilemmas in genetics. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 30, 35–72.

# ARGUMENTATION IN SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH

Sibel Erduran University of Bristol United Kingdom Visiting Professor, Kristianstad University, Sweden

Maria Pilar Jiménez Aleixandre Universidade de Santiago de Compostela Spain

# ASMA ALMAHROUQI AND PHIL SCOTT

# 12. CLASSROOM DISCOURSE AND SCIENCE LEARNING: ISSUES OF ENGAGEMENT, QUALITY AND OUTCOME

## INTRODUCTION

Research into teaching and learning scientific conceptual knowledge has been a prominent line of work in the Centre for Studies in Science and Mathematics Education (CSSME), at the School of Education, University of Leeds, UK for over 25 years. This work was initiated by Rosalind Driver when she set up the Children's Learning in Science Project (CLISP) in 1982.

The first phase of the CLISP programme involved meta-analyses of UK national data sets on science learning collected originally by the Assessment of Performance Unit (APU), with the CLISP team focussing on students' understandings of scientific concepts at age 15. The findings from this research clearly showed the gaps between student understandings and an accepted scientific point of view in relation to key scientific concepts such as energy, the particulate theory of matter and photosynthesis (see, for example, Brook and Driver, 1984). In the context of the particulate theory of matter, for example, it was found that about one-in-five students, after completion of their secondary education in science (aged 15/16 years) were able correctly to apply particle ideas to account for simple physical phenomena. The second phase of the CLISP programme aimed to address these problems in learning scientific conceptual knowledge through the development of teaching approaches based on a constructivist view of learning (see Driver and Oldham, 1985). In essence this involved designing teaching activities to expose and to address directly the student 'alternative conceptions'. For example, the idea that plants get their food, ready-made, from the soil was confronted by students testing soil for the presence of carbohydrate and reaching a null finding. This activity thereby raised the question of where do the plants actually get their food from? (see Oldham et al., 1991). Further constructivist teaching schemes were developed for the particulate theory of matter and energy. The third and final phase of the CLISP programme saw the development of teacher professional development materials to support science teachers in adopting constructivist approaches to teaching in the specific concept areas referred to above (see, for example, Johnston and Scott 1990).

The CLISP teaching schemes were designed with conceptual change theory in mind (Posner et al., 1984). Thus researchers working with practising teachers

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 291–307. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

developed teaching activities to confront existing student ideas, via conceptual conflict, or to extend existing ideas often through the use of analogies. Scott, Asoko, Driver (1992) provide a review of such conceptual change teaching strategies. A further feature of the CLISP teaching schemes was the opportunity for students to engage in small group discussion activities aimed at bringing to the surface their ideas and understandings. Rather *less* prominent in this programme of work was any analysis of the role played by the teacher, with the focus being very much on the learners and their learning.

This imbalance was addressed with a new post-CLISP programme of research focussing on the role of the teacher in mediating teaching activities. The point here is that teaching activities don't 'work by themselves'. The teacher is needed to mediate each activity and a line of research was developed to address questions about the nature of such mediation. This work was founded on a Vygotskian sociocultural perspective of learning (see Wertsch, 1985) and focussed in particular on characterising the nature and patterns of teacher talk during the teaching and learning of scientific conceptual knowledge (see, for example: Scott, 1996; Scott, 1998). This research was developed through close collaboration with colleagues from the Federal University of Minas Gerais (see: Mortimer and Scott, 2000) leading to the publication of the book, *Meaning Making in Secondary Science Classrooms* (Mortimer and Scott, 2003). This book has been very widely cited and has led to further studies involving the analysis of classroom talk both in the UK and in Brazil (see: Scott et al., 2006; Aguiar et al., 2010; Scott et al., 2010).

In *Meaning Making in Secondary Science Classrooms* the concept of 'communicative approach' is introduced. This involves categorizing the talk between teacher and students along two dimensions. The first dimension represents two forms of interaction, dialogic and authoritative, whilst the second dimension involves the distinction between interactive and non-interactive talk. For the first dimension, dialogic communication involves the teacher and student talk being open to more than one point of view and there is exploration or 'interanimation' (Bakhtin, 1981) of ideas. In general terms, dialogic discourse is open to different perspectives. On the other hand, authoritative communication is focused on just one point of view and there is no exploration of different ideas. For the second dimension, the talk can be interactive in the sense of involving the participation of more than one person, or non-interactive in the sense of involving the participation of only one person, which is usually the teacher. These two dimensions combine to generate four classes of communicative approach: Interactive/dialogic, Non-interactive/dialogic, Interactive/authoritative and Non-interactive/authoritative.

Classroom talk from around the world has been characterised through different categories, including the authoritative and dialogic approaches outlined above. Certain types of talk (e.g. authoritative, presentation, recitation talk) have been observed to dominate more than others (e.g. argument, dialogic, exploratory talk). Furthermore, claims have been made (Alexander, 2008; Lemke, 1990; Mortimer & Scott, 2003; Newton, Driver, & Osborne, 1999; Wells, 1999) that the presence of the latter, more dialogic types, in the ongoing classroom talk is critical to the development of meaningful understandings by students. However, such claims

about learning have tended to be more theoretically argued with rather less support from empirical evidence:

'a missing crucial component of this body of research is any significant evidence demonstrating that engaging in discursive problem-solving activities leads to enhanced cognition – one of the major goals of any type of education' (Osborne et al., 2004, p. 1016).

It is interesting, however, to note that in the 1960's, research *was* carried out to explore the link between the nature of classroom interactions and teaching effectiveness. These studies found that students of teachers with a teaching style that is both integrative and flexible have more positive attitudes towards school and their teacher, and achieve more, than students who have been exposed to a more dominative teaching style (see: Amidon & Flanders, 1961; Flanders, 1967; Soar, 1965).

Also, in the context of English education in North America, Nystrand (1997) has provided empirical evidence relating the nature of oral classroom interactions to student learning. Nystrand makes the distinction between dialogically-organised versus monologically-organised instruction, where monologically-organised instruction centres on the voice of the teacher, whilst dialogically-organised is open to the students' points of view. He found that the results of written examinations specifically, and surveys, interviews, and class observations generally, indicated the superiority of dialogically-organised over monologically-organised instruction in promoting student learning, even though the findings of the study showed that the classroom discourse was "overwhelmingly monologic" (p. 41).

In the rest of this chapter we present findings from one part of a recent empirical study (Almahrouqi, 2010) from CSSME which is based on the evolving programme of research into classroom talk outlined above, and designed to investigate in detail the relationship between the nature of teacher-student classroom talk and the quality of student learning. This work further extends the geographical compass of the CSSME research programme with the data being collected in the Gulf State of Oman.

# OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY

This study was planned with the broad aims of characterising the talk in high school science classes and exploring the nature of any links between the quality of this talk and student learning. In outline, the project involved the first named author working with four science teachers and their grade 9 classes in a girls' high school in Oman. The project was developed in two stages with the first stage focussed on exploring the teachers' *existing practices* in relation to classroom talk. After completion of Stage 1 the participating teachers followed a short training intervention, led by the first author and designed to promote the practice of more dialogic talk in teaching. In Stage 2 the classroom practices of the teachers were once more scrutinised. The Stage 1 lessons involved a short teaching sequence (about 3.5 hours) on 'Physical and Chemical Changes' whilst the Stage 2 lessons focussed on 'Electric Circuits'. All of the lessons were video-taped and the spoken interactions transcribed.

In the first stage of analysis, the different kinds of classroom talk were related to the four classes of communicative approach developed by Mortimer and Scott (2003), as outlined above. In the second part of analysis, the student learning during the lessons was probed both as a *process* and a *product*. In other words, methods were developed both to explore the ongoing learning of the students as they progressed through the lessons and to determine their *learning outcomes* at the end of the lessons. The process approach involved collecting evidence not only of the students' developing conceptual understandings (what are the key ideas being represented by the students at this point in the lessons?) but also the nature and quality of the students' intellectual engagement in the learning process during the on-going lessons. Further information about the approaches used to collect this evidence of the various features of learning is provided in the following sections. Suffice it to say for the moment, the exploration of learning carried out in this study involved addressing three aspects. These aspects concern how the nature of the teacher-student interactions (in relation to the authoritative and dialogic communicative approaches) impacted upon:

- 1. the nature of the students' engagement in the teaching and learning processes;
- 2. the intellectual quality of those interactions;
- 3. the student learning outcomes at the end of the lessons.

We now turn to examining one case from the overall study in relation to these three aspects.

## FINDINGS FROM A CASE OF ONE TEACHER WORKING WITH HER CLASS

Here we report the findings from just one case consisting of one teacher working with one class across both Stage 1 ('normal practice' prior to the intervention) and Stage 2 ('refined practice' after the intervention). As outlined above, each of the five lessons in both stages was video recorded and the interactions then analysed in terms of the communicative approaches developed by the teacher. The outcomes of this analysis are as follows:

Class of talk	Interactive / Authoritative		Non-interactive / Authoritative		Interactive / Dialogic		Non-interactive / Dialogic	
Cluss of lulk	lst Stage	2nd Stage	lst Stage	2nd Stage	1st Stage	2nd Stage	1st Stage	2nd Stage
Lesson 1	69%	68%	31%	32%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Lesson 2	66%	35%	27%	25%	7%	33%	0%	7%
Lesson 3	68%	8%	32%	2%	0%	74%	0%	16%
Lesson 4	76%	28%	24%	29%	0%	40%	0%	3%
Lesson 5	62%	53%	38%	47%	0%	0%	0%	0%

Table 1. Percentage of communicative approach in stages 1 & 2

The data presented here show a big change between the two stages, with an overall shift from the teaching being dominated by authoritative talk in Stage 1 to there being a much greater representation of dialogic talk (alongside the authoritative) in Stage 2. For example, in the second lesson of Stage 2 about one third (33%) of the talk was coded as interactive/dialogic whilst dialogic talk was virtually missing altogether from Stage 1. As such, this case offers an interesting opportunity to investigate the learning outcomes which follow from two strikingly different teaching approaches, whilst maintaining the same combination of teacher plus students (both in relation to conceptually demanding subject matter).

The question which we now pose, therefore, is what can we say about the impact of this broadening of teaching repertoire (Cazden, 1988) on the learning of the students and this question is addressed through the three lines of inquiry identified above. We consider the first aspect relating to the learning in process, by exploring the nature of the students' engagement in Stages 1 and 2.

# Learning in Process: the Nature of Student Engagement

The analysis of the classroom interactions from the first stage (focussing on physical and chemical changes), summarised above as taking an almost exclusively authoritative communicative approach, overall gave rise to poor student engagement. The chances for the students to articulate their ideas and to exercise any control over the talk and their learning were limited. Throughout the lessons, the teacher: made frequent, decisive and immediate evaluations to student responses; rarely used a neutral voice in responding to students; offered few invitations for students to elaborate upon and to explain their views; often seemed to neglect the students. Additionally in a few incidents, the authoritative talk, because of the closed nature of the questions, prompted responses from the whole class thereby short-circuiting individual participation. The following transcript illustrates this point with all of the responses being made by groups of students calling out together (S<sub>g</sub>):

1.T	Did the substance in the filter paper dissolve in water?
$2.S_g$	No
3.T	Look girls, when any substance dissolves, notice that the resulting colour is transparent like the colour of salt when you dissolve it in water. Have you noticed that there is a white colour?
$4.S_{g}$	No
5.T	So, this substance didn't dissolve in water whereas the substance in the second
	test tube- how was it before?
6.Sg	Dissolved
7.T	Dissolved in water <sup>^</sup> (affirmation tone) - how was it before?
8.Sg	Dissolved
9.T	See how it feels, rough or soft?
10.S <sub>g</sub>	Rough
11.T	It feels what? Rough

Here the teacher works with the girls following an interactive/authoritative approach based on I-R-E triads. The teacher does most of the talking and this is punctuated by single words, 'No', 'Dissolved', 'Rough', from the group of students.

In striking contrast, the teaching of Stage 2 (focussing on electric circuits), summarised in Table 1 as incorporating more dialogic talk, showed much higher student engagement. Here, the teacher: welcomed points of view from the students; asked students to elaborate on their points of view; highlighted opposing views; explored students' ideas without evaluating them. As part of these dialogic approaches, the students were given the opportunity to predict, and/or vote for particular ideas before they were tested empirically. On occasion, students argued persuasively for their points of view even though most of the class seemed not to agree with them and the teacher showed some doubt. Consequently, the students gained confidence and expertise in expressing their agreement or disagreement with specific ideas as is exemplified in the following transcript:

9.T	So these charges that are moving in the wire might run out one day
$10.S_5$	Yeah, they run out
11.T	They run out. So, if I took this wire, Could it run out of charges one day?
12.S <sub>5</sub>	Miss. The wire doesn't have charges. It's a conductor for the movement.
13.T	It doesn't have charges. It's just a conductor for charges. So, where do the
	charges come from?
$14.S_5$	Aren't they coming from the battery !!

21.T	$\dots$ S <sub>7</sub> , I heard you saying something and then you stopped, what do you think?
$22.S_7$	The wire has neutral charges.
23.T	$S_7$ is saying that the wire has chargesThis means you're raising a new
	opinion completely against what $S_5$ has said. Is this right?
24.S <sub>7</sub>	The wire is matter, and all matter has neutral charges.
25.T	So, this wire has charges?
26.S <sub>7</sub>	Yes.
27.T	Who believes her?
$28.S_8$	Yeah right, cos the wire is matter and the battery also has charges

In these interactions two fundamental models of the electric circuit are proposed. Firstly one of the girls ( $S_5$ ) argues that the electrical charges originate in the battery and that this store of charges might, at some time, 'run out'. An alternative point of view is offered by another of the girls ( $S_7$ ) who suggests that the 'wire has charges'. In this way two competing ideas are brought together to create a dialogic space (Wegerif, 2007) and the teacher uses this difference in points of view as a starting point to move towards the accepted scientific view (which is in agreement with  $S_7$ ). In fact, this difference in point of view lies at the very heart of understanding simple electrical circuits and the dialogic approach taken by the teacher has enabled it to be made explicit and explored.

This analysis, as summarised above, demonstrates a big contrast between authoritative and dialogic communicative approaches in supporting learning as a process, reflected in the nature of the student engagement in the ongoing talk. We now examine, in more detail, a range of specific learning opportunities and how they might be supported particularly through dialogic talk.

Opportunity to talk, listen and express personal understandings In short, authoritative communicative approaches offer fewer opportunities for students to talk than dialogic approaches. Thus, for the non-interactive/authoritative lecturing style of teaching, the teacher is the talker and the students are the listeners. In the interactive/authoritative 'recitation' (I-R-E) mode of teaching, the students become talkers but in essence they are talking the talk of the teacher as they are given the job of ventriloguating what the teacher is trying to present. In contrast, through interactive/dialogic practices the students are given the chance to talk, to express their ideas to others, and also to listen to the points of view of others. This chance to talk about their conceptions, Dawes (2004, p. 678) suggests, is to 'provide stimulus to question what is said', describing the students' speaking and listening skills as the basis for working with them to develop their understanding. The analysis of the Stage 2 lessons shows many dialogic episodes in which the teacher and students were exchanging ideas and sharing control in guiding the talk through their contributions. Being able to express your point of view and to reflect on the ideas of others, has been described by Brooks (1999, p. 108) as an 'empowering experience' that 'facilitates the meaning-making process'.

Opportunity to work on understanding Establishing the basic requirements of allowing students to talk and listen, and to express personal understandings is vital in supporting students' learning. It has been argued, however, that it is not enough simply to identify the students' views, as teachers need to work with those ideas in helping students to develop their understanding (Keeley et al., 2007). In defining 'working on understanding', Barnes (2008) wrote: 'Working on understanding is, in essence, the reshaping of old knowledge in the light of new ways of seeing things' (p. 4). The openness of dialogic talk to students' personal views in the analysed examples contributed to revealing their existing understanding, but it is in the course of asking questions of higher cognitive levels through initiation and elaborative follow-up moves that students were encouraged to: think and re-think aloud; predict, put forward assumptions and/or vote for them before they could be tested by experiment; deconstruct their thoughts, analyse them for logic and consistency and organise and develop them towards a more scientific view. In engaging in these activities, the students were working on their understanding, reinforced by the teacher's support, as exemplified by the following transcript in which the teacher and student work together in coming to an understanding of where the energy originates in a circuit and how it is transferred:

47.T	Yes S <sub>10</sub> , what do you think?
$48.S_{10}$	The battery gives electrical energy and it passes through the wires.
49.T	How does it pass it through the wires?
$50.S_{10}$	Cos the wires are connected to the battery, the electrons will move through.
51.T	You said that the battery gives the circuit electrical energy, how?
$52.S_{10}$	Cos it has chemical substances that help produce electrical energy. So the
	electrons will move through the wires till they reach the bulb.
53.T	Ok, I agree that the battery gives the circuit electrical energy-then you said
	the electrons will move through the wires. Where is the link between them?
$54S_{10}$	Cos everything in life has energy, so the energy from the battery will move
	through the wires.
55.T	So the energy has the ability to move through the wires?
$56.S_{10}$	Yeah, it moves yeah.
57.T	Ok, why did you say the charges here?
$58.S_{10}$	Cos the energy is made up of charges.
59.T	Energy is made up of charges. Let's write your answer-and then the energy
	·

The task of working on understanding is not straightforward. Indeed, it has been claimed that finding out what students think about taught concepts, stimulating them to question their own ideas as well as those of others, and building on these ideas to get to views more consistent with the scientific explanations, is a challenging task for both the teacher and students (Dawes, 2004; Newton, 2002). This is evident from the above transcript where progress is made in identifying the source of the energy in the circuit (the battery) but confusions then arise over the difference between energy and charge.

*Opportunity to develop key intellectual skills* As well as addressing matters relating to learning scientific conceptual knowledge, the literature also draws attention to how important it is for students to develop the habits of questioning, thinking, debating, and similar intellectual skills:

'Students need to learn to listen carefully to other's ideas, and weigh the evidence before changing their own ideas. They need to learn not to accept a new idea simply because their peers think it is correct. They need to learn how to examine all the ideas, including evidence from investigation and other relevant information sources, before accepting an idea or changing a previously held one' (Keeley et al., 2007, p. 8)

Dawes (2004) argues that being able to identify and articulate their thoughts through dialogic interaction, not only directly benefits the students in their learning, but also has indirect benefits in terms of developing skills of reflection in learning how to question their own thoughts and those of others. Similarly, Scott (1998) argues that dialogic discourse encourages the practice of generative thinking and good habits of mind in questioning and reflecting on the social plane, which might support active, analytic individual thought. While considering the opportunity to work on understanding in the previous section, we

referred to the practices of revealing the students' personal views and developing them towards a more scientific one by stimulating thinking. Questioning is the central way of doing so. Dialogic talk appeared to support the emergence of questions and responses of high quality (see section 3.2). These are high level open questions asking for the students' thoughts, followed by elaborative questions requiring high cognitive processes in analysing and justifying these thoughts, and students' responses that often manifested the required high cognitive processes. Questions of high cognitive level have been highlighted for their role in challenging students 'to look beyond the apparent, to delve into issues deeply and broadly, and to form their own understandings of events and phenomena' (Brooks, 1999, p. 110).

Opportunity to value individual differences In the environment of dialogic practice every opinion is welcomed and opposing views are questioned and negotiated without immediate evaluation. Valuing individual differences does not come only from listening to different opinions and accepting them as 'possible' views, but comes also from negotiating and challenging each other's ideas. Dialogic talk appeared to offer both the teacher and the students the chance to question the presented knowledge, analyse what is said, follow the inconsistency or the logic of others' views and evaluate them. Such intellectual processes, which involve the bringing together of ideas lie right at the heart of meaning making. We come to understand ideas fully by recognising what they are not as well as what they are. For example, returning to the example of the work on electric circuits, a full understanding of the working of the circuit involves appreciating that the charges originate in the wires of the circuit and not in the battery. As shown in the earlier transcript, both of these ideas were show-cased in the dialogic exchanges about the circuits. In general terms, meaningful learning is more often than not driven by differences in ideas and from a pedagogic point of view such differences are therefore to be valued.

Finally, it is worth pointing out that the opportunities discussed above should not be viewed solely as providing the students with help in their learning. Equally they offer opportunities for the teacher to support their students' learning. In the end, students' learning is a shared responsibility between teachers and students, and supporting learning involves attending to both sides (teaching and learning) of the pedagogic coin.

## Learning in Relation to the Intellectual Quality of Interactions

Here we turn to examining the second aspect of learning in process, which relates to the intellectual quality or cognitive level of the teacher questions and student responses. The central question here concerns whether or not there are any differences in cognitive level of questions and responses when comparing the authoritative episodes of talk from Stage 1 with the dialogic episodes from Stage 2.

To address this question, the cognitive level of the teacher's questions and students' responses were judged in terms of the cognitive process dimension of Bloom's taxonomy (Bloom, 1956). According to the taxonomy, both questions and responses can be classified in relation to six levels: remember, understand, apply, analyse, create and evaluate. Each of these six categories has a number of subcategories, providing a more detailed description that can help in inferring the cognitive processes employed by the speaker. For the purposes of this study, the categorisation was reduced to a simple hierarchy of two elements: 'Low' and 'High' cognitive processing. The literature shows that a low cognitive level is usually assigned to the process of remembering only (Andre, 1979; Cotton, 1998; Gall, 1970). However, in developing the analysis in this study, some of the data showed questions and responses which could not be classified into the 'remember' category, yet did not indicate high cognitive processes (for example, a statement like 'a simple electric circuit contains one device only' is of low cognitive level and yet cannot be said to reflect the process of remembering, rather it is an example of 'understand: interpret'). Analysing further examples of this kind (see Almahrougi, 2010) led to identifying the lowest three sub-categories of the cognitive process of 'understand' (interpreting, exemplifying and classifying) as belonging to a low rather than a high cognitive level.

Generally speaking, educators consider that the type of questions which teachers ask has an influence on students' learning. Some research on questioning points to students achieving good learning if the teacher's questions are not limited to factual closed ones (Alexander, 2000; Rojas-Drummond & Mercer, 2003). Earlier research argues, however, that the effects of teachers' questions on students' learning is not really well known (Andre, 1979; Cotton, 1998; Dillon, 1982), and that the claims of 'the goodness of higher-level questions remain wish-fulfilling myths' (Andre, 1979, p. 280). The analysis presented here was not designed to follow the effect of the cognitive complexity of questions (low or high) on students' learning directly. Rather the cognitive complexity of the teacher's questions was related to the complexity of the responses they invited and both of these were linked to the prevailing communicative approach developed by the teacher.

The overall findings show a striking difference in the cognitive levels of the questions and responses in Stages 1 and 2. The following short exchange is typical of the interactions of Stage 1:

7.T	Another observation you noticed that indicated a chemical change?	L (Remember; identify)
8.S <sub>2</sub>	The rising of bubbles	L (Remember; recognise)
9.T	Bubbles rose?! (Wonder tone)	L (Remember; recognise)
10.S <sub>2</sub>	The change of colour	L (Remember; recognise)
11.T	The colour changed ^ (affirmation tone)	L (Remember; identify)

Here the teacher follows an interactive/authoritative communicative approach in which both questions and responses are of low cognitive level, as the teacher asks the student to identify the signs of chemical change that she is looking for.

#### CLASSROOM DISCOURSE AND SCIENCE LEARNING

11.T	What do you think S <sub>2</sub> ?	H (Create; hypothesize)	
$12.S_2$	Maybe the charges are basically moving on	H (Create; hypothesize')	
	their own right from the beginning.		
13.T	Do you agree or disagree with $S_1$ ?	H (Evaluate; judge)	
14.S <sub>2</sub>	A little-Basically it has the charges are	H (Create; hypothesize)	
	moving there from the beginning.		
15.T	Where do they move?	H (Understand; explain)	
16.S <sub>2</sub>	They move in the wire and go to the bulb.	H (Understand; explain)	

By way of contrast, the following exchange is from Stage 2:

Here the teacher takes a dialogic approach and both questions and responses are of high cognitive level, as the teacher probes the students' ideas and the students respond accordingly.

The following table provides a summary of the overall numbers of questions and responses in relation to their cognitive level for all the analysed authoritative examples from Stage 1 and the dialogic episodes from Stage 2 in the reported case.

Table 2. Summary of the cognitive level of questions and responses in authoritative
and dialogic episodes

	Number of Questions		Number of Responses	
	Low	High	Low	High
Stage 1 (authoritative episodes)	49	6	71	6
Stage 2 (dialogic episodes)	7	53	31	37

These results show that the dialogic talk in Stage 2 supports the emergence of questions and responses of high cognitive level, whereas the authoritative talk in Stage 1 does not. The authoritative talk resulted in a ratio of 49 low to 6 high level questions, while the dialogic led to a ratio of 7 low to 53 high level questions. Such numbers indicate quite clearly the superiority of the dialogic oriented talk in supporting the emergence of questions of high cognitive level and also stimulating responses of relatively high cognitive level (71 low/6 high responses in authoritative – 31 low/37 high responses in dialogic).

Focusing on the quality of the responses generated by authoritative and dialogic talk, however, raises an interesting point of difference. For the authoritative talk of Stage 1, dominated by questions of low cognitive level, the findings point to a constant cognitive correspondence between the levels of the teacher's questions and students' responses. That is, more questions of low cognitive level (49/6) have invited more responses of low cognitive level (71/6). However, for the dialogic talk of Stage 2, dominated by questions of high cognitive level, the findings do not show a similar cognitive correspondence. Here more questions of high cognitive level (7/53) have not necessarily invited responses of solely high cognitive level (31/37), although they have encouraged more of them.

The findings from this case thus indicate the potential of teaching approaches with more dialogic talk to invite questions and responses of high cognitive level and the lower potential of authoritative teaching approaches to do so. It is widely reported that the persistent practice of traditional authoritative teaching is dominated by closed, factual, low level questioning that invites responses of the same level (e.g. Carlsen, 1991; Dillon, 1982; Hardman, 2008). Alternatively, the questioning in dialogic teaching approaches is used to explore students' thinking and to support them in working on their ideas, and so is more likely to generate high levels of thinking (Chin, 2006, 2007).

From the cognitive correspondence standpoint, as outlined earlier, research from elsewhere has reported a non-correspondence between high level questions and responses (Andre, 1979; Cotton, 1998; Dillon, 1982). In Dillon's words: 'Ask a higher-level question, get any-level answer' (p. 549). However, the finding that dialogic talk does not solely lead to responses of high cognitive level, neither undermines the positive influences of dialogic talk on learning, nor undermines the significance of high cognitive questions as suggested by some studies (see Andre, 1979).

The results of this study, for teaching approaches with more dialogic talk, support the finding of the non-cognitive correspondence between questions and responses of high level, but also demonstrate a *tendency* for high level questions to generate high level responses, supporting the assumption that the types of questions the teachers ask 'can, to some extent, influence the cognitive processes that students engage in as they grapple with the process of constructing scientific knowledge' (Chin, 2006, p. 816).

# *Learning as a Product*

In the last of the three approaches to probing learning across the two stages of this case, we turn to consider the *products* of learning at the end of the teaching sequence. The key question here is whether or not there are any discernible differences in learning outcomes after the largely authoritative teaching of Stage 1 as compared with the more dialogic teaching of Stage 2. The students' conceptual understanding was probed at the end of Stage 1 and 2 through two approaches. Firstly by analysing the students' individual responses to bubble dialogue exercises, which involve 'concept cartoon' like drawings of relevant scientific problems to which the students write down their thoughts individually, and secondly by talking with focus groups of students from the class (see Almahrouqi, 2010). By these means some idea of the knowledge shared by the students was identified for each of the topics.

What, then, was the shared knowledge outcome (as identified through the bubble dialogue and focus group activities) for each of the teaching sequences? Following the authoritative teaching approaches for the 'Physical and Chemical Changes' topic, the students shared some factual knowledge relating to the general definitions of physical and chemical changes and indicators of chemical change. In addition they displayed other scientific conceptions that go beyond factual

knowledge such as recognising change of colour as not necessarily being an indicator of chemical change. On the less positive side, there was lack of understanding of several important insights such as recognising that changes in colour/temperature and formation of gas/precipitate provide evidence of chemical change only if they involve the formation of a new substance. In fact, the absence of such insights was reflected in the many conceptual difficulties that virtually all of the participating students displayed, and which led eventually to the students giving incorrect judgments on whether some changes were physical or chemical, as well as offering mistaken justifications that revealed a 'fragile' understanding of the topic overall. Even those students, who presented views more compatible with scientific ones, appeared not very convincing in their understanding at times and were not able to defend their views robustly. The following short excerpt from the focus group discussion reflects the 'fragile' understanding of students as they still cannot recognise the tearing of paper as a physical change after 5 taught lessons on substance changes:

 $S_1$ : ...physical (tearing paper) -- but it might be chemical cos we can't get it back, cos if you glue it, it will mix with new substances.

- S<sub>3</sub>: ...it can be. We might add water with starch...
- $S_1$ : ... but this will change its features.
- S<sub>3</sub>: ... we might put it in some kind of machine...
- $S_1$ : ... but for now, we don't have this machine.

Here the girls are incorrectly using the criterion of 'irreversibility' to categorise paper tearing as a chemical change.

On the other hand, the students demonstrated an overall very good understanding following the more dialogic approach to teaching the conceptually difficult topic 'Electric Circuits' in Stage 2. Here there was no reference to typical alternative conceptions such as the charges originating in the battery and not in the wires, and the bulb consuming the charges (Brna, 1988; Engelhardt & Beichner, 2004; Tsai, Chen, Chou, & Lain, 2009). Quite the opposite, scientific conceptions such as the source of charges, the battery as the source of energy, and the bulb as transferring energy to light and heat, were frequently used by the students during their discussions, as demonstrated by the following extracts from the focus group talk, and bubble dialogue writings, respectively:

 $S_3$ : ... the battery just organises the charges and supplies them with energy...

 $S_4$ : ... but we've said that the charges in the wires move...but basically, the charges are there in the wire.

 $S_2$ : ...it (bulb) consumes the energy and transforms it from electrical energy to heat and light.

The following is the writing of S4, while taking the roles of Muna and Salma in one bubble dialogue scene:

Muna: ...what do you think Salma if we changed the position of the green bulb so it will be closer to the battery and it will light more?

Salma: No...cos it will be the same, the red bulb will light...cos the role of the battery is to provide the charges with energy and organise their movement and the charges are there basically in the wire...maybe there is something wrong with the bulb itself, so it's least bright.

Such responses give the impression of these scientific ideas being regarded by the students as taken-for-granted and unquestioned in understanding the working of electric circuits. The analysis also showed the students having a firm understanding of more difficult scientific explanations such as the simultaneous movement and conservation of charges, the instant lighting of bulbs on the completion of a circuit, and the constant size of current around the circuit. The students largely agreed upon this range of scientific conceptions and explanations. Nevertheless, some conceptual difficulties in understanding the working of electric circuits were shared by some students, and could be traced back to difficulties in understanding the basic entity of energy, and how it is transferred in the circuit.

Overall, the findings point to the tendency of the teaching with more dialogic talk to result in a deeper scientific understanding as compared with the learning outcome from the teaching with more authoritative talk. In other words, from these data it seems that teaching approaches with explicit dialogic episodes (alongside authoritative episodes) is more likely to lead to student understandings with more scientific conceptions and explanations and fewer misconceptions and conceptual difficulties.

# FINAL COMMENTS

In this chapter we have reported on part of an empirical study (Almahrougi, 2010) to characterize the talk in high school science lessons and explore the nature of any links between different kinds of talk and student learning. The findings reported here show that the nature of classroom talk does have an influence on student learning, and further suggest that widening the nature, and improving the quality, of talk are of crucial importance if teaching practice is to have a significant impact on learning. The analyses of the three aspects of learning which have been addressed in this chapter all point to the importance of dialogic talk in this regard. The first level of analysis highlights the nature of the student engagement in a variety of learning processes which are made available through dialogic talk. These have been summarized as opportunities for the students to: talk, listen and express personal understandings; work on understanding; develop key intellectual skills; value individual differences. The second level of analysis offers persuasive evidence to indicate that the intellectual quality of the teacher's questions and many of the students' responses is raised through dialogic interactions, as compared with authoritative interactions. Finally, the findings in relation to learning outcomes at the end of the teaching indicate a deeper, and more consistent, level of student understanding following the more dialogic talk of Stage 2.

On reflection, it is not too difficult to see the connections between these three findings. Dialogic talk offers students a wider and deeper engagement in classroom interactions, it leads to talk which is pitched at a higher cognitive level, and such enhancement of the learning process leads to stronger learning outcomes. It is with these findings in mind that we see this study as a further contribution to the gathering body of data which addresses Osborne et al's (2004) concern about lack of evidence linking discursive problem-solving activities to enhanced cognition.

One important point to bear in mind with the analysis presented here is that the electric circuit lessons of Stage 2 did not solely involve dialogic communicative approaches (see Table 1). In fact there was a mix of approaches with most of the 5 lessons containing both authoritative and dialogic interactions and it was this mix of approaches which led to the impressive learning outcomes documented here. We, along with Alexander (2000), are not arguing for teaching which is based entirely on dialogic talk, but for dialogic teaching which contains both authoritative and dialogic talk allows students to engage in learning in the ways described here, authoritative talk also has a role to play in 'getting the scientific message across'.

#### REFERENCES

- Aguiar, O. G., Mortimer, E. F., & Scott, P. (2010). Learning From and Responding to Students' Questions: The Authoritative and Dialogic Tension. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(2), 174–193.
- Alexander, R. (2000). Culture and pedagogy : international comparisons in primary education. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Alexander, R. (2008). *Towards dialogic teaching : rethinking classroom talk* (4th ed.). [Thirsk]: Dialogos.
- Almahrouqi, A. (2010). Characterising the Dialogicity of Classroom Talk: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives. Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of Leeds, Leeds.
- Amidon, E., & Flanders, N. (1961). The effects of direct and indirect teacher influence on dependentprone students learning geometry. In E. J. Amidon, & Hough, J. B. (Ed.), *Interaction analysis:* theory, research, and application (1967). Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley Pub. Co.
- Andre, T. (1979). Does Answering Higher-Level Questions while Reading Facilitate Productive Learning? *Review of Educational Research*, 49(2), 280–318.
- Bakhtin, M.M. (1981) The dialogic imagination, Ed. by Michael Holquist, trans. by Caryl Emerson and Michael Holquist. (Austin: University of Texas Press).

Barnes, D. (2008). Exploratory talk for learning. In N. Mercer & S. Hodgkinson (Eds.), *Exploring Talk in School* (pp. 1–15). London: SAGE.

Bloom, B. S. E. (1956). Taxonomy of Educational Objectives 1 & 2: LONGMANS.

- Brook, A. and Driver, R. (1984) Aspects of secondary students' understanding of energy: Full report. CSSME, University of Leeds.
- Brooks, J. G., & Brooks, M. G. (1999). In search of understanding: The case for constructivist classrooms: Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development.

Brna, P. (1988). Confronting misconceptions in the domain of simple electrical circuits. *Instructional Science*, 17(1), 29–55.

Carlsen, W. S. (1991). Questioning in Classrooms: A Sociolinguistic Perspective. Review of Educational Research, 61(2), 157–178.

Cazden, C. B. (1988). Classroom Discourse: The Language of Teaching and Learning.

- Chin, C. (2006). Classroom interaction in science: Teacher questioning and feedback to students' responses. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(11), 1315–1346.
- Chin, C. (2007). Teacher questioning in science classrooms: Approaches that stimulate productive thinking. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 44(6), 815–843.
- Cotton, K. (1998). Classroom Questioning. US: North West Regional Educational Laboratory.
- Dawes, L. (2004). Talk and learning in classroom science. International Journal of Science Education, 26(6), 677–695.
- Dillon, J. T. (1982). Cognitive Correspondence between Question/Statement and Response. American Educational Research Journal 19(4), 540–551.
- Driver, R. and Oldham, V. (1985) A constructivist approach to curriculum development in science. *Studies in Science Education 13*, 105–122.
- Engelhardt, P. V., & Beichner, R. J. (2004). Students' understanding of direct current resistive electrical circuits. American Journal of Physics 72(1), 98–115.
- Flanders, N. A. (1967). Some relationships among teahcer influence, pupil attitudes, and achievment. In E. J. Amidon, & Hough, J. B. (Ed.), *Interaction analysis : theory, research, and application (1967)*. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley Pub. Co.
- Gall, M. D. (1970). The Use of Questions in Teaching. Review of Educational Research, 40(5), 707-721.
- Hardman, F. (2008). Teachers' Use of Feedback in Whole-class and Group-based Talk. In E. T. i. S. p.-L. S. N. Mercer & S. Hodgkinson (Eds.) (Ed.), *Exploring Talk in School* (pp. 131–150). London: SAGE.
- Johnston, K. and Scott, P.H. (1990) Teaching and learning about the particulate theory of matter. In: Interactive Teaching in Science: Workshops for Training Courses (CLIS). Hatfield: Association for Science Education.
- Keeley, P., Eberle, F., & Tugel, J. (2007). Uncovering student ideas in science: 25 More Formative Assessment Probes. Arlington, VA: National Science Teachers Association.
- Lemke, J. L. (1990). Talking science : language, learning, and values. Norwood, N.J: Ablex Pub. Corp.
- Mortimer, E.F. & Scott, P.H. (2000) Analysing discourse in the science classroom. In, R. Millar, J. Leach and J. Osborne (Eds.), *Improving science education: The contribution of research*, pp. 126–142. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Mortimer, E., & Scott, P. (2003). *Meaning making in secondary science classrooms*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Newton, D. (2002). *Talking sense in science: helping children understand through talk*. London: Routledge Falmer.
- Newton, P., Driver, R., & Osborne, J. (1999). The Place of Argumentation in the Pedagogy of School Science. International Journal of Science Education, 21(5), 553–576.
- Nystrand, M. (1997). Opening dialogue : understanding the dynamics of language and learning in the English classroom. New York ; London: Teachers College Press.
- Oldham, V., Driver, R. and Holding, B. (1991) A case study of teaching and learning about plant nutrition: A constructivist teaching scheme in action. CSSME: University of Leeds.
- Osborne, J., Erduran, S., & Simon, S. (2004). Enhancing the quality of argument in school science. Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 41(10), 994–1020.
- Posner, G.J., Strike, K.A., Hewson, P.W. and Gertzog, W.A. (1982) Accommodation of a scientific conception: Towards a theory of conceptual change. *Science Education*, 66, 211–227.
- Rojas-Drummond, S., & Mercer, N. (2003). Scaffolding the development of effective collaboration and learning. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 39(1–2), 99–111.
- Scott, P.H., Asoko, H.M. and Driver, R.H. (1992) Teaching for conceptual change: a review of strategies. In: Duit, R., Goldberg, F. and Niedderer, H. (Eds.) *Research in Physics Learning: Theoretical issues and empirical studies*, 310–329. I.P.N. University of Kiel, 1992.
- Scott, P.H. (1996) Social interactions and personal meaning making in secondary science classrooms. In: G. Welford, J. Osborne, P. Scott (Eds), *Research in Science Education in Europe*, pp. 325–336. London: Falmer Press.

- Scott, P.H. (1998) Teacher talk and meaning making in science classrooms: A Vygotskian analysis and review. *Studies in Science Education*, 32, 45–80.
- Scott, P., Mortimer, E. & Aguiar, O. (2006) The tension between authoritative and dialogic discourse: a fundamental characteristic of meaning making interactions in high school science lessons. *Science Education*, 90, 605–631.
- Scott, P. (2008). Talking a Way to Understanding in Science Classrooms. In N. Mercer & S. Hodgkinson (Eds.), *Exploring Talk in School* (pp. 17–36). London: SAGE.
- Scott, P.H., Ametller, J., Mortimer, E. and Emberton, J. (2010) Teaching and Learning Disciplinary Knowledge: Developing the dialogic space for an answer when there isn't even a question. In: Karen Littleton and Christine Howe (Eds.). Understanding and promoting productive interactions, Chapter 14. Routledge.
- Soar, R. S. (1965). Pupil needs and teacher-pupil relationships: Experiences needed for comrehending reading. In E. J. Amidon, & Hough, J. B. (Ed.), *Interaction analysis : theory, research, and application (1967)*. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley Pub. Co.
- Tsai, C.-H., Chen, H.-Y., Chou, C.-Y., & Lain, K.-D. (2009). Current as the Key Concept of Taiwanese Students' Understandings of Electric Circuits. *International Journal of Science Education*, 29(4), 483–496.
- Wegerif, R. (2007). *Dialogic education and technology : expanding the space of learning* (1st ed.). New York: Springer.
- Wells, G. (1999). *Dialogic inquiry : towards a sociocultural practice and theory of education*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wertsch, J.V. (1985) Vygotsky and the social formation of mind. Harvard University Press.

Dr. Asma Almahrouqi and Prof. Phil Scott CSSME, School of Education University of Leeds

# GRAÇA S. CARVALHO AND DOMINIQUE BERGER

# 13. SCHOOL HEALTH EDUCATION NOWADAYS: CHALLENGES AND TRENDS

School health education has been viewed in a large variety of perspectives. In this chapter we present, in a historic approach, the biomedical model, the holistic view as well as the health promotion, autonomy and citizenship perspectives of health education. The aims of the health promoting school and the relevance of partnerships with the health sector, the pupils, their families and the community in health education are emphasised. Social representations, ethics and values in health education are referred. Special attention is given to models of school health education, the nature of knowledge in health education, prevention of health risks, effectiveness of health education.

# HISTORIC APPROACH TO HEALTH EDUCATION

# The Origin of Health Education - the Hygienic Approach

Health has always been regarded as a major individual and social concern. By the end of the 18th century the public authorities of European countries initiated social health measures in a large social policy. Although not called yet "Public health", these measures associated the medical knowledge at that time with the social wellbeing, so that doctors, in addition to treating the ill, became interested in looking at the physical and social environment, housing and health working conditions.

Association of pathologies with work was earlier reported by Bernardini Ramazzini, already in 1701, when studying Italian artisans (Faure, 2002). At that time diseases could often be identified but there were no efficient means for treatment. It was at the end of the 18th century that the first vaccine appeared with the work of the English scientist, Edward Jenner in 1798 (Scott, 1996) on the smallpox or *Variolae vaccinae*. The anti-variole vaccination was a matter of great importance in Western European countries as it was the way to set up an efficient and modern health service (Darmon, 1986). In the second part of the 19th century Louis Pasteur, in France, provided evidence for the existence of microorganisms responsible for infectious diseases (in particular, rabies and diphtheria) and Robert Koch, in Germany, discovered the Koch bacillus responsible for tuberculosis (Faure, 2002). In this period medicine was guided towards prevention.

It was in this context of fighting against infectious diseases that the hygienist approach of health education emerged. This approach focused on individual

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 309–340.

<sup>© 2012</sup> Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

behaviour, following the social elite's discourses regarding the deprived lay people (Faure, 2002: 22): *The people must be educated like a child by telling them what they must do and not do*. Instructions concentrated on individual behaviour (absence of hygiene, deficient/unhealthy feeding) whereas social factors (poverty and social context) were not taken into account.

Health education in schools appears by the end of the 19th century, by introducing in some countries (for example in France, Spain and Portugal) the "lessons of morale" and "lessons of the things" (Csergo, 2002), concerning three main themes: hygiene, tuberculosis and alcoholism. The health messages were presented in the form of injunctive/authoritative prescriptions, *i.e.* rules to be obeyed.

## The Biomedical Model of Health

The biomedical model of health has grown with the development of the rationalism where science determines the knowledge and understanding of the world, in particular the perception about health and disease (Naidoo & Wills 1994). According to Foucault (referred by Revel, 2002) the rationalism period was characterised by a despotic use of science and technology, which gained more and more influence on the productive sector and on policy makers, leading to a type of State rationalism. It created forms of governance and processes of control as well as a kind of behaviour rationalism, determining social normative measures and deviations to them. In this way the notion of "normal" (*versus* "abnormal") was established and the moral value that "normal corresponds to good" (*versus* "abnormal corresponds to evil") was assigned.

In this model of health education, the body is assumed as working like a machine (Doyal & Doyal, 1984):

- All parts of the body are connected but they can be isolated and treated separately;
- Being healthy is to have all parts of the body in good working conditions;
- Being ill is to have parts of the body working deficiently;
- Illness is caused by internal processes (age degeneration or deficient selfregulation) or external processes (body invasion by pathogenic microorganisms);
- Medical treatment aims to restore the normal body work, or health.

The biomedical model is centred in the disease, focusing on the causes of diseases their treatment and their prevention. Health professionals – having the knowledge for disease identification, cause and respective treatment – play a dominant role, often using persuasive and paternalistic methods (Ewles & Simnett, 1999). In this model, it is the health professionals' responsibility to ensure patients comply with the medical prescriptions and preventive procedures are encouraged as they can contribute to reducing disease.

Within this biomedical model, health education is seen as a preventive procedure aiming at persons' behaviour change to healthier lifestyles in order to avoid becoming sick. There are two main trends in the biomedical model of health education: the informative and the preventive approaches:

- Having the curative perspective, health education is reduced to instruction consisting of information focused on scientific knowledge. Messages in informative/inciting style are used.
- Having the preventive perspective, health education aims at a specific risk, by using fear in order to impose the rules (of living, of hygiene, of behaviour) to be followed. Messages in injunctive/authoritative style are often used.

Based in this biomedical model, school health education aims at teaching children and young people how to keep their body in good working condition and how to avoid diseases. Health messages are informative, injunctive/authoritative and explicative (Sandrin-Berthon, 2000). The implicit idea is that informing about an unhealthy behaviour and understanding it, is enough for the behaviour change or for avoiding unhealthy behaviours.

# From the Biomedical Model to the Holistic View of Health Education

In an opposite perspective to the dominant biomedical model, Antonovsky (1987) was interested not really in the causes of disease but, on the contrary, on what keeps people healthy, in a so called "salutogenic" (health seeking) approach. In this framework, attention is focused (Katz & Peberdy, 1998: 31):

on why some people remained healthy and emphasised that stressors and disruption were unavoidable aspects of life rather than the demons they are portrayed to be in the pathogenic account.

In this salutogenic paradigm, the dynamic relationship between the persons and their environment is essential and emphasis is given to the personal resources to cope with the challenges they face. To acquire competences to deal with stressors, one needs to create "a sense of coherence" by integrating the three components (1) comprehensibility, (2) manageability and (3) meaningfulness, Antonovsky (1987: 19):

(1) the stimuli deriving from one's internal and external environments in the course of living are structured, predictable and explicable;

(2) the resources are available to one to meet the demands passed by the stimuli; and

(3) these demands are challenges worthy of investment and engagement".

Managing the relationship with the environment depends not only on personal resources but also on human relationships, social support and supportive environments (Carvalho, 2006).

The salutogenic paradigm makes an interesting bridge between the biomedical model and the social model of health, which assumes a holistic perspective of health and gives emphasis to persons and environment interaction and adopts the logic of multi-causal theories of health and assumes health as being influenced not only by biological factors but also by political, economic, social, psychological,

cultural and environmental factors (Naidoo & Wills, 1994; Katz & Peberdy, 1998; Ewles & Simnett, 1999; Carvalho, 2006; Berger *et al.*, 2011; Carvalho *et al.*, 2011; Caussidier *et al.*, 2011).

The social model of health does not dispense with medicine; it rather assumes that the medical model is just a part of the answer. To improve persons' health, it recognises the need for refocus upstream on the causes of ill-health in persons and communities, such as socio-economic, housing, nutrition, social and individual hygiene factors (Katz & Peberdy, 1998).

Within the holistic view of health, the aim of health education is to develop positive attitudes and behaviours towards health and wellbeing. The purpose may also be a behaviour change towards a healthier lifestyle to improve health but not focused in the prevention of diseases, as it is in the biomedical model of health education. The educational approach not only aims at giving information, ensuring knowledge and understanding of health issues, and enabling well-informed decisions to be made but also helps people to explore their values and attitudes (Carvalho *et al.*, 2008). More than acquiring scientific information, school health education should put the emphasis on helping children and young people to develop competences of healthy living (Ewles & Simnett, 1999; Carvalho 2002; Carvalho & Carvalho, 2006).

Taking the example of smoking, in this holistic perspective of health education the aim is to help people understand the effects of smoking on health, thus helping them to make a decision to smoking or not. Emphasis is on the activity to give them information about the whole effects of smoking, helping people to explore their own values and attitudes and come to a decision. If they want to stop smoking then they should learn how to do it.

School health education, in this holistic view, has a much broader view than the traditional biomedical health education that focuses only on formal classroom activities. The holistic school health education addresses also the development of healthy lifestyles, including the required changes in the school to make the social and physical environment more health enhancing. This is a matter of further discussion below.

# Health Promotion, Autonomy and Citizenship

The traditional view of health as the "*absence of disease*" derives from a medical concept of disease as a pathologic condition – or deviation from measurable variables which represent "*normal*" parameters in the "*healthy*" body – that can be diagnosed and categorised (Katz & Peberdy, 1998). By contrast, the early definition by the World Health Organization (WHO, 1948) assumes health as a *state of complete physical, mental and social well-being*, in a wider perspective of welfare.

Within this view of health, the health education aim is no more to simply transmit knowledge about the human body but it also touches other fields like physical education, arts education and activities promoting interpersonal relationship skills (Carvalho, 2002; Carvalho 2006; Carvalho & Carvalho, 2006).

In early 1970s most western countries experienced a crisis in the health sector due to the escalation of treatment costs, so that the therapeutic era was being challenged and a New Public Health Movement emerged (Ashton & Seymour 1988). This international movement called for social change and political action by presenting a view *which brings together environmental change and personal preventive measures with appropriate therapeutic interventions* (Ashton & Seymour, 1988: 21).

One decade later the *First International Conference on Health Promotion* held in Ottawa (Canada) in 1986, made progress on the earlier Declaration of Alma-Ata (former USSR, in 1978) and produced the well known Ottawa Charter, which projects the view that health is a personal struggle and a goal to be worked towards by a community, by assuming health as (WHO, 1986: 1):

a resource for everyday life, not the objective of living: it is a positive concept emphasizing social and personal resources as well as physical capabilities.

The concept of health promotion was then stated as being:

the process of enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, their health. To reach a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing, an individual or group must be able to identify and to realise aspirations, to satisfy needs, and to change or cope with the environment.

The model of *autonomy and citizenship* referred by Eymard (2005) focuses on the self-consciousness within a psycho-social approach, where self-esteem and self-confidence are important features to help the person to feel self-assured in conducting his/her own life, being the guide of his/her own project of healthy life and quality of life. This person's ability to act upon his/her environment leads to the notion of empowerment (Naidoo & Wills, 1994; Tones & Tilford, 1994; Katz & Peberdy, 1998; Ewles & Simnett, 1999).

The New Public Health Movement together with the WHO's progressive view of health promotion have been changing the emphasis of health promotion practice from the traditional "problem-based approach" to a "setting-based approach" (Ashton & Seymour, 1988; Barić, 1994). In fact, conventional health education and health promotion practice endeavours to reduce or solve problems that are identified by etiological and epidemiological studies (*e.g.* distribution of lung cancer in smokers).

Thus health educators and health promoters, following the members of the medical and paramedical professions, have been engaged in providing health care and preventing diseases within the "medical model" framework (Barić, 1994). In contrast, in the "setting-based approach" health promoters are seen as partners of the management team in the setting, which is the main decision-maker. In this way, the new concept of "health promoting institution" is seen as the setting in which people live, work or play. In short Barić (1994: 203) declares:

"[it] means that we look at a population within a particular setting and find out what kind of health problems they are exposed to and what kind of health

needs they experience and deal with them by means of health promotion and health education".

The concept of a Health Promoting School is based on the WHO view of health education and health promotion within a setting-based approach. Therefore, it has a much broader view than the traditional school health education that focuses only on formal classroom activities.

#### SCHOOL HEALTH PROMOTION

Children and young people spend a large part of their lives in school during their formative years. In this environment they eat, drink, smoke, fall in love, speak about AIDS and about drugs, face stress, experience emotions, etc. To tackle these issues and to prevent physical and mental health problems, actions of health education must be undertaken in the school setting. The school influences the daily life of children and young people, by means of the learning conditions which contribute for their personal and social identity (Mérini *et al.*, 2000).

Health education is one of the main school missions but it must take into account its specificity. The school is, first of all, a place of cognitive and social learning, not really a place for healing. Therefore it should not be focused on health risks and diseases but rather on developing skills and experiences, which enable children and young people to build competencies in taking action to improve their own health and well-being and that of others in their community, which also enhances their learning outcomes (IUHPE, 2008a).

An earlier well-known definition of health education by Tones e Tilford (1994: 11) refers to the learning gains not only in knowledge and ways of thinking but also in values clarification and attitudes and behaviour change, as follows:

"Health education is any intentional activity which is designed to achieve health or illness related learning, i.e. some relatively permanent change in an individuals' capability or disposition. Effective health education may, thus, produce changes in knowledge and understanding or ways of thinking; it may influence or clarify values; it may bring about some shift in belief or attitude; it may even effect changes in behaviour or lifestyle".

Changing to healthier behaviours is a rather complex process which depends, among other factors, on one's personal attitude towards general health, health risks and health topics (nutrition, sexuality, etc.). Attitudes are, in this context, judgments more or less favourable to health issues. These judgements depend on one's knowledge (health subject matters), beliefs and social representations, as well as the generated emotional reactions and intended reactions (Laure *et al.*, 2000).

The International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE) has clarified the concepts of "health education" and "health promotion" in school. The former, health education, is (IUHPE, 2008b:3):

a communication activity and involves learning and teaching pertaining to knowledge, beliefs, attitudes, values, skills and competencies.

the latter, health promotion, is (IUHPE, 2008b:3):

any activity undertaken to protect or improve the health of all school users.

Although both concepts of health education and of health promotion emphasise the participative approach to learning, the latter is a broader concept that goes beyond the classroom activities or curriculum implementation.

## Aims of the Health Promoting School

The concept of a Health Promoting School is based on the WHO view of health education and health promotion within a setting-based approach. Therefore it has a much broader view than the traditional school health education that focuses only on formal classroom activities. Although there are many models of a health promoting school, they are all based on the five strategies of the Ottawa Charter (WHO, 1986) albeit adapted to the school setting (WHO, 1991 – referred by Colquhoun, 1997):

- Health Promoting Policy by developing coherent curricula in education for health which brings biological ecological and social dimensions to a process of environmental health;
- Creating Supportive Environments by utilising the setting of the school to encourage reciprocal support between teachers, pupils and parents;
- Strengthening Community Action by drawing on existing human and material resources in the community in which the school is set and involving that community in practical aspects of the decisions, plan actions pertaining to the project;
- Developing Personal Skills by providing information, education for health and opportunities to enhance life skills in the setting of the school community;
- Reorienting Health Services by involving the school health service in project activities aimed at the promotion of health by utilising the skills of school health professionals on a broader basis than the traditional roles.

The European Network of Health Promoting Schools (ENHPS) was launched in 1991 as a joint and collaborative effort between the WHO Regional Office for Europe, the Commission of European Communities (CEC) and the Council of Europe (CE). According to the WHO Regional Office for Europe (WHO, 1995, quoted by Parsons *et al.*, 1996):

The health promoting school aims at achieving healthy lifestyles for the total school population by developing supportive environments conductive to the

promotion of health. It offers opportunities for, and requires commitments to, the provision of a safe and health-enhancing environment.

# The aim of the ENHPS (1997a:1) initiative is:

To influence and have impact of policy and decision making in the development, implementation and sustainability of health promoting schools in European countries. This aim is achieved through capacity building, resource development, research and evaluation, advocacy and dissemination.

Despite the diversity in culture and educational settings throughout Europe, there is a general agreement on the aims of health promoting schools which can be synthesised in 10 items (Barnekow et al., 2002:13):

- To establish a broad view of health;
- To give students tools to enable them to make healthy choices;
- To provide a healthier environment engaging students, teachers and parents, using interactive learning methods, building better communication and seeking partners and allies in the community;
- To be understood clearly by all members of the school community (students, their parents, teachers and all other people working in the environment), the "real value of health" (physical, psychosocial and environmental) in the present and in the future and how to promote it for the well-being of all;
- To be an effective (perhaps the most effective) long-term workshop for practising and learning humanity and democracy;
- To increase students' action competence within health, meaning to empower them to take action – individually and collectively – for a healthier life and healthier living conditions locally as well as globally;
- To make healthier choices easier choices for all members of the school community;
- To promote the health and well-being of students and school staff;
- To enable people to deal with themselves and the external environment in a positive way and to facilitate healthy behaviour through policies; and
- To increase the quality of life.

The Schools for Health in Europe (SHE) network is the continuation of ENHPS, having started in January 2007. Currently, SHE network is present in 43 European countries aiming at supporting organisations and professionals in Europe who work in the field of school health promotion, intending to share good practice, expertise and skills (SHE, 2008).

The health promoting schools involved in SHE network are intended to value and develop (SHE, 2008):

- Equity equal access for all to the full range of educational opportunities;
- Participation a sense of ownership is encourage by pupils' participation;
- *Empowerment* foster pupils in developing their own ideas about healthy lifestyles and making active and healthy choices;

#### SCHOOL HEALTH EDUCATION NOWADAYS

- A healthy environment including the physical environment, the quality of the relationships among pupils, among staff, with parents and the community;
- Effective policies developed locally and reflecting local interests, problems and priorities.

There is growing evidence that the health promoting school approach has a positive impact on the primary teaching and learning processes of the school, including higher academic achievement, reducing early school leaving, as well as higher job satisfaction (Mérini *et al.*, 2000; Barnekow *et al.*, 2002; Leger *et al.*, 2007; SHE, 2008).

# Partnership in School Health Promotion

Depending on individual countries, health is not taken into account in educational policies in the same way because of general political organisation, priorities, organisation and goals of education systems (Pommier & Jourdan, 2007). In some countries, health education is a national matter with national guidelines, standards and curricula. In other countries, the regional or local authorities have the responsibility of developing health education policies.

Although there are country differences regarding the organisation of both health and education sectors resources, the fact is that both are inextricably linked. This also means that improving effectiveness in one sector can potentially benefit the other. This makes the school an important and rather complex setting to implement health promotion and health education. Figure 1 is an adaptation of the eco-holistic model of the health promoting school adapted from Parsons et al. (1996). This model locates the health promoting school in the context of international influences (1 - see Figure 1) as well as national (2), regional (3) and local (4) health and education legislation and initiatives, which interact with each other. In an inner circle there is the management, planning and allocation of roles (5) and links with outside agencies, the family and community (6). They both are in close association with the core of this organisational model composed of the formal curriculum (7), the model of the health promotion adopted by the school (8) and the social and physical environment – contextual curriculum (9). All these items are put in place in order to address pupils' feelings, attitudes, values, competencies and health promoting behaviour (10), which is the main goal of the school health promotion.

As shown in this model, putting into practice a health promoting project in a school contributes, at this level, to the implementation of Public Health policies and Educational policies, in a close articulation between them (see 1 to 4, in Figure 1). A critical issue for effectively promoting health in schools is that all stakeholders have a sense of ownership and involvement in the process. The main partners are the following:

- The education sector, with special reference to teachers;
- The health sector, in particular the school health promoters;
- Children and young people;
- Families and communities;
- Health promotion researchers.



Figure 1. An eco-holistic model of the health promoting school. (Adapted from Parsons et al., 1996).

Therefore the setting up of the management, planning and allocation of roles (5) as well as the links with outside agencies, the family and community (6) are crucial for implementing effectively health promoting schools.

*Education sector and health sector partnership.* In all countries the school curriculum has always been influenced by the policy makers to introduce priority topics in relation to the education of children and young people and the needs for society. This "external didactic transposition" (Clément, 2006) is therefore a vehicle to respond to national needs and to tackle "crisis" such as the AIDS epidemic or the escalation of substance abuse.

Nowadays, in most European countries, the education in schools is regarded in a broad perspective, and the curriculum (7, in Figure 1) is taken in a holistic view, defining it in terms of the totality of learning experiences that the school offers to its students, i.e. the formal and the informal curriculum. In this context, the effective school is perceived as a learning community that sees learning as a shared responsibility, enabling pupils to be disposed to have a commitment to learning, respect and care for self and for others, and a sense of social responsibility (Barnekow *et al.*, 2002). This current wide vision of the school ethos and social climate has been assumed by the education sector as increasing the learning outcomes in the classroom.

This holistic view of the curriculum by the education sector fits well with the health promotion approach set down by the health sector. However tensions can arise in the limited time made available for the various formal curriculum areas and health issues may be pushed to a peripheral position. It is encouraging to find that the current broader view of the informal curriculum supports the health promotion approach as point out by the health sector (Barnekow *et al.*, 2002).

The health services are the local or regional school-linked or school-based health services which have a responsibility for child and young people health care and promotion, through the provision of direct services to students or schools or in partnership with schools (IUHPE, 2008a). In addition to screening and assessment by licensed and qualified practitioners, the health services in some countries include the provision and monitoring of healthy food for students and staff, as well as mental health services to promote students' social and emotional development and improve social interactions for all students.

Different language from specialists of education and the health sectors may be a cause of sensitive situations when working in partnership (Kemm, 2006). Taking the example of the curriculum: for the education sector the term curriculum can mean the totality of the learning experiences the school offers to children and young people (the formal and informal curriculum as referred before); for the health sector the term curriculum is usually taken as the syllabus guidelines or the classroom teaching and learning activities, and the wider influence of the school is encompassed within the whole-school effect or health promoting school.

Moreover, naturally the education sector gives priority to education, as schools are in the education sector, whereas the health sector gives priority to health which is their working purpose. These are different starting points, generating different priorities and possibly different perspective for the model of the health promotion to be adopted by the school (8, in Figure 1). The partnership between both education and health sectors requires their respective professionals be aware of these difficulties and work in an open and positive attitude towards their slightly different aims. More recently this tension between both sectors has been diminishing with the evidence that health promotion initiatives cause positive impact on the learning outcomes (Mérini et al., 2000; Barnekow et al., 2002; Leger et al., 2007; SHE, 2008).

*Children / Young people partnership.* The health promoting school concept puts great emphasis on empowering pupils and building their capacities in health behaviours, policies and knowledge (Leger et al., 2007). Therefore children and young people can have an important role in healthy school initiatives – such as in the canteen and other food services, in physical environmental actions, in policies concerning bullying – addressed collectively in order to have a general health impact. Taking into account the children's and young people's biological, cognitive, cultural and social developmental stages, the great challenge is to build "action competencies" as proposed by Jensen & Simovska (2005) for the following four reasons:

- Being active in health promotion activities, contributes to develop children's and young people' reflection about the process and improve their sense of ownership of learning. In this way it is more likely the activities lead to changes in children's and young people's practice, behaviour or action;
- Participatory educational approaches promote democracy-upbringing, i.e. children's and young people's participation and awareness about joint responsibility, rights and duties in society contribute to intellectual freedom, equality and democracy;
- There is the ethical obligation to involve participants (children and young people) in decisions on health issues directly related to their own lives;
- There is the need for individuals (children and young people) to clarify the understanding about terminology, aims and general framework of improving health, which often is not coincident between health and education professionals. The former often emphasize the efficiency justification whereas the latter ones focus on the democracy-upbringing justification. These reasons are not necessarily in conflict but they are imbedded in different rationales, priorities and values.

According to the guidelines of the International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE, 2008a:1), individual health skills and competencies:

refers to both the formal and informal curriculum and associated activities where students gain age-related knowledge, understandings, skills and experiences, which enable them to build competencies in taking action to improve the health and well-being of themselves and others in their community, and which enhances their learning outcomes.

Well-being in the school context addresses both cognitive and affective outcomes in school, being the affective one referring to attitudes the students have towards the school and learning. Children's and young people's evaluation of the school well-being has been carried out by Konu and Lintonen (2006) by looking at the four categories that define the school well-being model (Konu & Rimpelä, 2002): 'school conditions', 'social relationships in school', 'means for self-fulfilment in school' and 'health status'.

*Parents, families and community partnership.* School partnership with the pupils' families as well as with key local groups of individuals are important links for appropriate consultation and participation with these stakeholders, providing children and young people with a context and support for their actions (IUHPE, 2008a).

When parents are actively involved in promoting the health of their children, positive outcomes are more likely (Barnekow *et al.*, 2006). Studies have shown, for example, that parents actively involved in healthy-eating initiatives in schools produce more impact on the behaviour of young people in relation to food preparation (Perry *et al.*, 1988; Young, 2004).

The concept of health promoting school embraces the idea of the school and its wider community and environment. There is evidence suggesting that multiple health

#### SCHOOL HEALTH EDUCATION NOWADAYS

initiatives involving the community, local groups, relevant agencies, professionals have stronger effects in pupils' health behaviour change than a classroom-only approach (Leger, 2007). The school surrounding environment must reflect the values being developed in the school, so that several examples of supportive community initiatives have been introduced (Barnekow *et al.*, 2006: 22):

- Facilitating safe and active routes to schools;
- Restricting the sale and advertising of unhealthy products near the school entrance;
- Providing drop-in social centres for young people where they can raise issues confidentially; and
- Providing attractive play and sports facilities in the school catchment area.

## SOCIAL REPRESENTATIONS AND VALUES IN HEALTH EDUCATION

# Social Representations

Social representations are a kind of current knowledge, also called common sense, which is characterised by the following three features (Jodelet, 1991):

- They are created and shared socially they are constructed from the persons' experience as well as the acquired knowledge, thinking models transmitted by tradition, education and the media;
- They target practices of organisation intending to control the environment as well as behaviours and communications;
- They participate in the construction of a common reality a specific social community or a specific culture.

Social representations allow people to understand their environment, to facilitate their integration and to guide people's behaviours. The social representations are often embedded in social practices and are a kind of practical knowledge (Fischer, 1987) which is constructed throughout the daily experience, with the interaction with the object and, within this process, it is constructed and defined. Therefore they are interpretations of the reality and of the complex phenomena which have a sense in the social interaction. The social representations, which are in the interface of the psychology and the sociology, are constructed individually but they are rooted in the overall community which support them. Such representations are called social (Flament *et al.*, 1998) because they are created from the social codes and the values recognised by the society. Thus, they reflect the society and persons are determined by the social dominant representations where they grow up.

The social representations have a *cognitive purpose* as they facilitate people to integrate new data in their thinking frameworks. They are, therefore, a way of thinking and of interpreting the world and the daily life. The context and the values where the representations are constructed have influence on the mental construction of the reality. For the construction of the social representations there is always a part of individual creation and a part of the collective creation. This is

why the social representations are not fixed in the time; they tend to evolve albeit gradually.

Another purpose of the social representations is *guiding people's behaviours*, as they carry the notion of sense and create rules of conducting in society to aid people to communicate, to guide themselves within the environment and to act (Abric, 1997). Therefore they guide the attitudes, the opinions and the behaviours. The social representations have also a prescriptive function by defining what is licit, tolerable or inacceptable in a given context.

The social representations have also an *identity purpose*, by allowing the elaboration of one's gratifying personal and social identification, which is attuned with the systems of values and of rules socially determined (Mugny *et al.*, 1985, referred by Abric, 1997).

They also serve to *justify the practices* as being linked to the above purposes. The social representations concern mainly the relations between different groups and the representations of each group towards the other ones, justifying *a posteriori* their attitudes and behaviour (Abric, 1997).

In the field of health education, the social representations are important determinants in the sense that they influence the choices of health education and their approaches in possible confront of the scientific knowledge with the long-established personal and social practices that are determined by the social representations which can be in contrary to the scientific knowledge.

# Individual and Social Competences

Improving personal and psychosocial competencies results in developing resources *"enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, their health"* (WHO, 1986: 1) and facilitates the adoption of healthy attitudes and behaviours. Broussouloux & Houzelle-Marchal, (2006) have split personal competences in two groups:

- Self-esteem, one's self-confidence, one's feeling of his/her personal efficacy, one's feeling that the others have confidence on him/herself, psychological security;
- Body regard, understanding the body sensations (pain, pleasure, etc.), understanding physical expression of feelings (anger, fear, etc.), understanding physiological needs (feeding, sleep, etc.).
- The same authors have separated the psychosocial competences in three groups:
- Towards the others, respect for the others, accepting the differences of living rules in society, etc.
- Conflict management, to privilege the dialogue in the case of disagreement, etc.
- Confidence in one's judgement, resistance to pairs' negative influence and the media.

Psychosocial competences have an important role in health promotion not only assumed in its large sense of *"physical mental and social wellbeing"* (WHO, 1986: 1) but also when health problems are associated to behaviours and when the

behaviour is linked to an incapacity to answer efficiently to the stress and to important elements of the daily life. The ten psychosocial competencies can be grouped in pairs as follows:

- to be able to solve problems; to be able to make decisions;
- to have creative thinking; to have critical thinking;
- to be able to communicate efficiently; to be clever in interpersonal relationships;
- to have consciousness of oneself; to have empathy towards the others;
- To be able to manage his/her own stress; to be able to manage his/her emotions.

The concept of empowerment – which is not specific of health education – is often used in the sense of a process by which people, organizations and communities gain mastery over their affairs (Restrepo, 2000). Adjusting this concept of empowerment to children and young people, Tones & Tilford (1994) and Green *et al.* (1996) have assumed that empowerment aims at giving pupils' the tools enabling them to make their own informed choices and allowing them to practise them in order to realise their aspirations. Therefore health education is seen as an education towards autonomy and decision making in order to facilitate children and young people to become actors of their own life.

## Ethics in Health Education

Working on improving personal and psycho-social competencies, on educating for decision-making, on developing personal empowerment requires the previous reflection about associated ethical issues (Tones, 1986). First of all, because health education implies the interaction with one's personal sphere (the person intimacy, his/her family) and the public one (the school, the public health). It is not to contrast a scientific truth with the family practices neither it is to interfere in the private life by reproaching any behaviour; it is rather to create favourable conditions for the emergence of attitudes leading to healthier behaviours.

It is generally accepted that families are responsible for their children and young people's health education, however in the case of deprived families it is usually assumed that school should take responsibility for these children and young people's health education (San Marco *et al.*, 2000). In other words, school health education does not replace the families' intervention, but it helps them, reassures them, guides them and complements them in their health actions (Tubiana, 2004).

The borders between informing and persuading, between convincing and constraining, are rather delicate. Educators must determine their acceptable limits for carrying out actions to convince children and young people to adopt healthier behaviours, *i.e.* they must understand what the criteria are beyond which one might declare: *"it is bad to wish the good"* (Massé, 2003: 2). This is a fundamental ethical issue which establishes the acceptable limits for the implementation of healthy practices, having in mind the tensions between promoting the superior interest of the people' health and the person's right for his/her autonomy to decide what is pertinent for him/her.
Four ethical principles, currently well accepted, have been originally expressed by Beauchamps & Childress (1995):

- Respect for autonomy, respect for the rights of people and their right to determine their own lives.
- Non-maleficence, not doing harm.
- Beneficence, doing good.
- Justice, being fair and equitable; how to respect everyone and the way the harm and good are distributed.

Often, Public Health appears like a "*new profane morality*" replacing the religion and the law of the modern world, working like a culture with a *set of rules, of values and of knowledge concerning the body management* (Fassin, 1996: 270). Health education – and more widely Health Promotion which is founded on Public Health and epidemiology – keeps trying to define the normative criteria that are associated to behavioural risk factors and unhealthy lifestyles. Persons being away from these rules get exposed to evitable risks and they are submitting themselves consciously to health risks, resulting in the so-called "*victim-blaming*" (Naidoo & Wills, 1994; Katz & Peberdy, 1998; Ewles & Simnett, 1999). Blaming people for their own ill-health is an ethical issue that educators need to face, since often people are the victims of their circumstances (Ewles & Simnett, 1999). The rules, the normative criteria, are social constructions shared within a community carrying subjacent values, often implicit ones, which one must question about in order to place them as ethical issues to be work with.

# Values in Health Education

Values are a main issue in the health education global approach. There is no single agreed definition for the term *"value"* (Rennie, 2007), but in a large sense values can be expressed as *"principles taken by the society or the persons to make their choices"* (Raynal & Rieunier, 1997: 375). They are linked to beliefs and attitudes which guide person's behaviour as it has been adequately stated by Halstead (1996: 5):

principles, fundamental convictions, ideals, standards, or life stances which act as general guides or as points of reference in decision-making or the evaluation of beliefs or actions and which are closely connected to personal integrity and personal identity.

Education carries inexorably the notion of values to be transmitted, often expressed in an implicit way (Reiss, 2007). When associated to health education, values have been stated as (Massé, 2003: 47):

the prescriptive or proscriptive beliefs helping to determine the acceptability or the desirable features of the aims and of the means of social interventions. There is no education without the idea of selecting some issues that are preferable to other ones, and the learning process requires the appropriate knowledge and methods to produce an effective conceptual change towards a higher level of knowledge and better skills acquisition. To educate is to guide someone to go to a better state (at least, one estimates it is a better one), to achieve better skills, to understand better, to be better. This word "better" includes the notion of values.

Values are relative, they depend on the person development, his/her sociocultural environment and learning context. Therefore, rules and values are strongly linked, in permanent interaction and registered in a continuous process associated to education. In this context, health education carries values that often are in conformity with those conveyed by families and some social and cultural organisations.

Previous studies have identified six axes of values, characterised by several pairs of poles (Carvalho & Carvalho, 2008):

- Social/individual: Global–Individual; Social change–Individual change; Social pressure–Individual free option; Social responsibility–Individual responsibility; Solidarity–Non-solidarity;
- Salutogenic/Pathogenic: Attitude–Technicism; Citizenship–Medicalisation; Dynamics–Statics; Positive–Negative; Resource–Finality; Subjective–Objective;
- Holistic/Reductionist: Cyclic–Linear; Coherence–Disarticulation; Multisectorial– Unisectorial; Process–Activities; Systemic–Monocausal;
- *Equity/Inequity*: Inclusion–Exclusion; Social justice–Social injustice; Tolerance–Discrimination; Universality–Partiality;
- Autonomy/Dependence: Active/Passive; Self-control-Hetero-control; Self-care-Hetero-care; Empowerment-Prescription; Literacy-Inculcation; Participation-Indifference;
- Democratic/Autocratic: Cooperation–Agreement; Bottom-up–Top-down; Lay person–Specialist; Informed option–Paternalism; Free option–Cohersive; Sharing–Absolute power.

Often tensions arise between social values (such as solidarity, respect for others) and individual values (such as autonomy, privacy) and in most societies, the social common values transcend the individual ones on the bases of democratic values, which are liberty, equality, justice, solidarity (Larue *et al.*, 2000). Being health a matter of social and individual challenges, health education is also a process involving the education for the values.

In the view of Meirieu (1993: 146) *it is in the heart of each educational activity that values can be appraised – maybe – transmitted.* He insists in the fact that it is not a mechanic transmission; it is a continuous practice, which depends on the organisation of the learning situation and which as not the goal of imposing any values but rather giving opportunity to pupils and young people to be aware of the values involved in particular situations, by interacting with the others, and to facilitate them to adhere to more appropriate values.

Nowadays, the construction of one's personal identity cannot be done by inculcation of a set of values and knowledge, it is rather to train for the "*conflict of ideas*", allowing children and young people to express their contradictory worries about current and personal issues (sexuality, drugs addition, risk behaviours, etc.) in order to allow everyone to define his/her values and norms of behaviour (Galichet & Manderscheid, 1996).

Having all this in mind, health education cannot be carried out without an education for debate and learning how to manage conflicts. Often the conflicts are more than just differences of opinion or interests; they may be conflicts about legitimacy and norms. This education by debate requires, first of all, that children and young people acknowledge Health as a relevant issue for their lives. Health must be viewed as a permanent life issue, presenting a variety of aspects that can be a cause of health problems, which must be prevented or solved as early as possible. Therefore, every child and young people should become aware of this and construct his/her own values and behavioural norms by interaction with the others. It is in this context that health education contributes effectively in citizenship education, by allowing everyone to respect the other's values and, in this way, to understand them better.

## HEALTH EDUCATION IN SCHOOL

# Models of School Health Education

School education has been viewed in a large variety of perspectives. Recently, Eymard (2004) has described three models of education that can be associated with three models of health. *Instruction* is the traditional education model, where the learner is submitted to the current social norms, and the instruction aims at transmitting current knowledge (Nourisson, 2002; Eymard, 2004). The *personal development* model of health is based upon the constructivist perspective of learning (Eymard, 2004), where the learner assumes the role of promoting his/her own development, not only by using the acquired knowledge but also by having in mind both social needs and his/her own needs (Maslow, 1989). The third model of health education, *social interactions*, refers to socio-constructivism and aims at developing the learner's awareness of his/her autonomy and his/her social competences to make informed choices (Eymard, 2004).

The association of these three models of education (instruction, personal development and social interactions) with the three models of health referred above (see item 1 of this chapter) is helpful to identify the aims (or intentions for the activities) and the activities (or mobilisation of the educational and health resources) as presented in Table 1 (Pizon, 2008).

# SCHOOL HEALTH EDUCATION NOWADAYS

Table 1. Relation between educational models (Instruction, personal development and socio-interactions) and health models (biomedical, global and positive, and autonomy and citizenship).

		Health models			
		Biomedical	Global and positive	Autonomy and citizenship	
Educational models	lel)	Transmission of health knowledge to individuals and the group			
	Instruction (transmission moo	Aim: <u>To prevent</u> disease	Aim: <u>To promote</u> a global health	Aim: <u>To help organising</u> one's life style	
		Activity: <u>To inform</u> about diseases	Activity: <u>To develop</u> one's positive attitudes based on the knowledge	Activity: <u>To allow</u> one's decision based on the knowledge	
	ient Iel)	Establish a pedagogical relationship on health with individuals and the group			
	Personal developm (constructivist mod	Aim: <u>To guide</u> against the diseases	Aim: <u>To guide</u> behaviours to adjust to the social rules	Aim: <u>To facilitate</u> one's decision making having in mind the social environment	
		Activity: To develop <u>one's</u> <u>knowledge</u>	Activity: To develop <u>one's knowledge</u> and <u>society knowledge</u>	Activity: To help one <u>to know oneself</u> <u>and the world</u>	
		Make the health issue a personal and collective project			
	nteractions tructivist model)	Aim: To make people query in order to <u>control the</u> <u>absence of disease</u> and the wellbeing	Aim: To lead to <u>conform the attitudes</u> <u>and behaviours with the social</u> <u>rules</u>	Aim: To let one's to make <u>individual</u> <u>and collective choices</u> , having in mind an ecological approach to health problems	
	<b>Social</b> i (socio-cons	Activity: To develop the individual and collective awareness of the <u>problems of the</u> fight against diseases	Activity: To develop the individual awareness to make one to be <u>adapt to the environment</u>	Activity: To develop one's autonomy <u>to</u> <u>facilitate the individual and</u> <u>collective decision making</u> regarding the individual and social health	

\*Adapted from Pizon, 2008.

In this view health education contributes to promoting the feeling of responsibility of one's own and the others' health, enabling each one to perceive critically each actual situation in order to adopt the most appropriate and efficient behaviour. In this view, health education is an education for the life of persons and communities, contributing for the learning of how to improve not only one's own physical health but also the interpersonal relationships, leading to a general improvement of the collective well-being (Laure *et al.*, 2000). Health education is addressed to the person as a whole, mobilises knowledge, beliefs, social representations,

behaviours, interactions with the physical and social environment. It is not to say what one must do, but rather to inform and to create the conditions for the person to acquire the competences for making (as much as possible) free choices for what he/she estimates it is healthier for him/her as well as for the others.

Several axes have been identified for the design and implementation of a school health education project (Jourdan & Victor, 1998). On one hand, to put into practice a health education project at the school global level implies to reflect about the whole school community, staff and pupils all together, and on the other hand to design classroom pedagogic activities appropriate to each school grade. For each health education activity one should have in mind the children's and young people's conceptions and their references of social practices, since health education touches the intimacy and the relationship of the body with him/herself as well as with his/her fears, anxieties, etc. In addition to all these personal issues, there are also aspects like the culture, the religion, the socio-economic conditions that have to be taken into account. The individual conceptions and beliefs may work as obstacles to the adoption of healthy behaviours. Therefore, asking questions or organising debates may allow children and young people to confront their points of view and what sustain them, i.e. their knowledge, their beliefs and their attitudes towards health risks or health problems.

Jourdan and Victor (1998) advocate the need for an ethical reflection within the school before the implementation of any school health project. It is not to impose behaviours that seem to be healthy to the educator nor to blame unhealthy behaviours. In the school it is important to respect the differences and the families' and pupils' free choices.

School health education is developed towards a global project, taking into account the children's and young people's physical, psychological and social dimensions and having the aim of promoting the well-being which is an important underneath condition for enhancing children's and young people's learning outcomes: building specific and generic competencies in knowledge and understanding, analysing and synthesising information and in creating solutions for local and global issues (IUHPE, 2008a).

# The Nature of Knowledge in Health Education

The nature of knowledge in health education is rather particular for several reasons. Firstly, health issues are usually acquired by traditional means, mainly following family practices, and empirical knowledge, having little scientific bases. Often this traditional knowledge is an epistemological obstacle (Bachelard, 1938; Astolfi *et al.*, 1997) to the acquisition of new scientific knowledge.

Secondly, the source of the scientific knowledge to be transmitted in the field of health education is the biomedical knowledge, which, traditionally, is not devoted to the education perspective. Moreover, biomedical advices are usually formulated by reference to the current health problems, which often show up to be controversial with time (Sandrin-Berthon, 1997; Ewles & Simnett, 1999).

Thirdly, scientific knowledge concerning health issues is often manipulated by commercial lobbies, mainly from the agriculture, food and pharmacological sectors, addressing health misinformation in products advertising and propaganda (Souccar & Robard, 2004).

Finally, health scientific knowledge is usually statistically validated at the population level – Epidemiology, Public Health – identifying determining factors (age, sex, lifestyle, environment) for each disease, aiming at establishing a causal link between these factors and the disease growth (Vetter & Matthews, 1999; Helman, 2000). What is true in terms of the probability of a disease growth in a population cannot be applied be for a person individually.

Health education tends to be based on a topic approach, which means to work separately on issues like eating, safety, sexuality and relationships, substance use (smoking, tobacco, other drugs) bullying, etc. This topic approach has been criticised for several reasons: it can be *problematic or ineffective as such approaches are sometimes based on assumptions relating to human behaviour, which are difficult to justify and not supported by evidence* (IUHPE, 2008b: 4); adding up the teaching sequences of such diversity of topics represents a huge amount of time, which imposes limits to the teacher's action who tend to transmit information only (Pizon, 2008). Therefore, instead of an exhaustive approach, topic by topic, a more effective approach is to develop children and young people's life skills and competencies, enabling them to consider the different health topics in the reality of social and environmental contexts of their lives (IUHPE, 2008b).

Uniting themes, such as "learning how to take care of oneself and of the others" and "Preventing health risk behaviours", can cut across topics at a theoretical and pedagogical level (Table 2).

An educative action that promotes pupils' abilities			
<ul> <li>to make informed and responsible free choices</li> </ul>			
• to develop their autonomy in health issues			
Learning how to take care of oneself	Preventing health risk behaviours		
and of the others			
"Take care" do not lead to a standardised	The health risk behaviours may be		
lifestyle. The educative action must not be	defined as "the person's exposition to a non		
normative since the weight of the social	negligenciable probability of being hurt or		
determinants and de diversity of the human	death, of damage his/her personal future or		
situations is great.	of put in danger is/her health".		
The person must not be taken as the	They can be just isolated acts or long		
only responsible for his/her choices nor, in	term installed habits. This definition has		
contrast, be considered as the victim of the	nothing to do with the legal or ilegal		
social determinants that areabove his/her	characteristics of the behaviours		
control. This idea of "take care" does not	This approach to the health risk		
carry any moralist feature, it is rather	behaviours has not a normative character		
centred on the ability of making choices	and does not refer to a life "with no risk". It		
and the responsibilities that are citizen's	does not carry any moralist feature, it is		

Table 2. Educative action aiming at "Learning how to take care of oneself and of the others" and at "Preventing health risk behaviours".

competencies. Health is not the objective of living, it is a resource for everyday life. In contrast to the health risk beahviours, the concerned health themes are not necessarily linked with the acute social problems.	rather centred on the ability of making choices and the responsibilities that are citizen's competencies. The concerned health themes are usually linked with the acute social problems.		
<ul> <li>Eating</li> <li>Hygiene</li> <li>Life rhythm</li> <li>Sexuality</li> <li>Physical activity</li> <li>Safety (at home, in road, at work)</li> <li>First aid</li> <li>Use of the health services</li> <li></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Use of psychoactive substances, legal or iligal (substance abuse, risk consumption)</li> <li>Violence addressed against oneself or the others</li> <li>Dangerous behaviour on the roads and in the sportif activities</li> <li>Sex risk behaviours</li> <li></li> </ul>		
In both cases it is not possible to refer an univoque csuality. There are always interactions between the behaviours and the persons' specificities, their life history and the environmental determinants.			
In both cases, the school action refers to the citizenship and to learn how to live together. It is inscribed in the double goal of creating conditions for pupils to learn and to develop their personal competencies.			

\*Adapted from Pizon, 2008.

# Prevention of Health Risks

Being the health education aim not centred on the disease neither on the risk behaviours but rather on the people's empowerment, it means that just transmitting knowledge about the different risk behaviours in the classroom is not enough. The basis to undergo a sustainable and effective prevention to health risks is mostly centred in how a person is able to keep his/her freedom towards an unhealthy product or behaviour, by developing this or that responsible attitude in relation to him/her and to the others (Pizon, 2008).

Some theories (Bantuelle & Demeulemeester, 2008) have helped to clarify about the interacting factors that may facilitate the development of risky behaviours, and three factors have been recognised (Marcelli & Braconnier 2000):

- *i)* Associated to the person, it refers to a historic moment of the person with week self-esteem, self-depreciation, timidity, excessive emotionality, difficulties to face daily events, difficulties to establish stable and satisfying relationships, difficulties to solve interpersonal problems.
- *ii)* Associated to the type of risk behaviour, it refers to the three types of substance consumption: occasional or festive, for new sensations and getting the feeling of group belonging; self-therapeutic, usually consumed in privacy, to reduce anxiety or sleeping trouble; drug-addiction, looking for an anaesthetic effect, either in privacy or in group, often leading to the marginalisation or exclusion from the social system.

*iii)* Associated to the environment, it refers to the family and pairs close influence as well as the wider socio-cultural and media influences.

For the prevention of risk behaviours the above factors must be considered. Educators must have in mind all the above factors when implementing pedagogic activities on the prevention of risk behaviours in the classroom, which are associated to knowledge, attitudes and awareness. These three approaches are shown in Figure 2 and can be described as follows:

- To approach the problems caused by substance misuse scientific knowledge: implement pedagogical approaches on physical, psychological and social dimensions of the risk behaviours effects, based in scientific knowledge. Attention must be paid to ethical issues concerning potential effects of the approach regarding the stigmatisation of the smoker, the drunken or the drugabuser.
- ii) *To develop personal and social competencies Attitudes*: developing selfesteem, stress management, risk management, conflict management. These competencies empower children and young people to make informed decisions, to make choices, to take actions and to develop positive attitudes facing health risks.
- *iii) To approach the environmental context awareness:* making children and young people aware of their specific familiar and close social environment to identify critical situations facilitating the risky behaviour. It implies developing critical thinking.



Figure 2. Dimensions to have into account in school activities for the prevention of health risk behaviours.

# Effectiveness of Health Education Practices

Assessment of the effectiveness of health education practices has been a matter of some evolution. In the decade of the 80s it was strongly connected to *evidence-based practices*, which is based on the experimental methodology currently used in epidemiology and uses prominently quantitative methods such as randomized clinical trials (RCT) (Vetter & Matthews, 1999; Helman, 2000; McQueen, 2007). It assumes, for example, that effective programmes in a given classroom situation can be directly transferable to another one.

More recently, *good practices* is a matter of great attention, being mainly a qualitative approach in study cases (Barnekow et al., 2006), assuming that health education (as well as prevention of risk behaviours) is determined by the sociocultural context, considering that it is not correct to generalise data emerged from a given situation.

Between these two poles there are several evaluation methodologies that have been implemented attempting to get relevant information concerning the efficacy of health education programmes. In the past decades there has been a tendency to apply multiple approaches to assess effectiveness of health education/health promotion initiatives, so that in addition to RCT, other methodological approaches have been put into practice such as quasi-experimental designs, observational studies and story-telling (Naidoo & Wills, 1994; Katz & Peberdy, 1998; Ewles & Simnett, 1999; Barnekow *et al.*, 2006; Campostrini, 2007; Dooris *et al.*, 2007; Leger *et al.*, 2007; McQueen, 2007; Mittelmark, *et al.*, 2007; Potvin *et al.*, 2007; Ridde *et al.*, 2007; Salazar *et al.*, 2007).

Behavioural change evaluation has been a common way to establish the relevance of health education programmes. However, this is a rather reductionist approach and other elements of evaluation must be added (INSERM, 2001):

- Knowledge acquisition;
- Attitude changes with a gradation of responses;
- An assumed/expressed behaviour change;
- The acquisition of competencies to react towards challenging situations;
- Change of several personal features such as the intention to acquire a given behaviour, the feeling of efficiency to react face a challenging situation, the self-esteem – which can be quantified by using validated psychometric scales.

A vast amount of efforts has been employed intending to classify the types of interventions or programmes in the prevention of health risks (reviewed by Pizon, 2008). Battjes (1985) has proposed four approaches: rational approach, developing approach, social rules approach, and the social reinforcement approach. Hansen (1992) has enumerated a list of 12 items concerning information, decision, engagement, values clarification, definition of objectives, stress management, self-esteem, resilience, general competencies, rules awareness, coaching and alternative activities. Tolber (1997) has distinguished interactive programmes from non-interactive ones.

## SCHOOL HEALTH EDUCATION NOWADAYS

In general, studies on the effectiveness of the prevention of health risk behaviours have shown contrasting results (St Léger, 1998; Lister-Sharp *et al.* 1999; INSERM, 2001; WHO 2006): certain pedagogical activities have some positive effect, others have no effect at all and yet other ones have a negative effect. Therefore the great challenge is to identify better not only the nature of the teaching practices impact but also the school social context, especially health promotion, which represents an important scientific issue.

# Paradigms Underlying Teachers' Health Education Practices

Several works (Joudan & Vitor, 1998; Mérini et al., 2000; Berger & Jourdan, 2008) have shown that in teachers' view, to work in health education is a question of state of spirit, which is reflected in the school practices by endorsing the dialogue, the positive attitudes, the respect for the rules of living together, the increase of pupils' learning and development, all this in a friendly atmosphere within a framework of health promotion.

Recent research has identified four paradigms underlying the teachers' interventions in health education (Fortin, 2004): the rational, the humanist, the social-dialectic and the ecological paradigms.

The *rational paradigm* is based on the transmission of information from the teacher to the pupils, in a vertical perspective. It is an approach of health education where it is assumed that the acquisition of knowledge is the important issue to develop appropriate attitudes and behaviours towards health risks. This paradigm is inspired on the biomedical model of health, using the discourse of advising about diseases and prevention of diseases. It comes from a scientific model of thinking which postulates the rationalisation of the attitudes as being taken outside the context and the affective dimensions. Being within the biomedical model (see item 1.2 of this chapter), where the power is given to the professionals, there is no space for people to decide for themselves. People are supposed to submit to the norms and the victims of disease are often blamed for having not complied with the norms, the well-known expression: "victim-blaming" (see also item 3.3 of this chapter). This paradigm has inspirited health education interventions envisaging the information concerning the health risks and the adoption of appropriate behaviours to prevent them. This is a linear view of cause – effect (Fortin, 2004).

In contrast, in the *humanist paradigm*, in which persons participate in their knowledge construction to which they add their life experience. A person's wishes, emotions and perceptions are taken into account. This paradigm envisages the development of one's personal and social competences, having in mind one's values. Thus the goal is the development of a person's self-esteem and social skills. The aim is one's autonomy, associated to a freedom for self development. In this model, persons are responsible for their health and they assume their conduct and behaviour, even those at risk. It is intended to develop motivating and deciding factors so that persons are able to adopt recommended healthy lifestyles. A health risk challenge is assumed as a motivational factor by increasing fear to the unhealthy situation. In extreme situations this model may rise freedom issues since

some persons' responses may go up to "refusing the treatment, refusing to live" (Fortin, 2004: 60).

The social-dialectic paradigm concerns the person's relationship with his/her social environment regarding the degree of freedom within a social group. This model is interested in the person's ability to manage his/her life and to change or cope with the environment. The weight of the socio-cultural context is taken as an important factor in the learning process, leading to a contextualization of the educative practices which are imbedded in the individual and collective living experience. This paradigm, inspired in the socio-cognitive models, gives priority to the person's affective dimension and its role in interpersonal relationships. The teacher has a central role in facilitating pupils' cognitive, emotional and social development (Favre, 2007; Lenoir & Vanhulle, 2008). The concept of empowerment (Naidoo & Wills, 1994; Tones & Tilford, 1994; Katz & Peberdy, 1998; Ewles & Simnett, 1999; see item 1.4 of this chapter) is included in this paradigm of health education and health promotion, which is based on the:

process of enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, their health. To reach a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing, an individual or group must be able to identify and to realize aspirations, to satisfy needs, and to change or cope with the environment (WHO, 1986: 1).

Finally, the *ecological paradigm* is interested in the person, seen as a whole, and in the person's relation with the overall environment (ecosystem). This paradigm is based in the Edgar Morin (1994)'s reflections about the systemic process and its complexity. It retakes the previous paradigms features but it adds up a dynamic and contextual dimension, as earlier described for the health promoting schools (see item 2.1 of this chapter). This holistic model of health education underlines the difficulties and limits of the rationalisation for the human behaviours. It emphasises emotions and desire, which are usually ignored by health education teachers, due to their difficulties in managing these issues. This model gives particular attention to the persons' attitudes in relation to the health issues. Teachers are not centred in the pupils' changes to healthier behaviours; they are rather working with the pupils towards their awareness of the health issues (including health risks) and help them to develop conscious healthy attitudes and to become empowered for making informed decisions for adopting or not healthy behaviours, having in mind the whole pupils' life context, either individually or in group (ecosystem).

Each one of these health education paradigms implies a set of pedagogical practices tightly linked to the conception of health, of health education and of the school role in health education. As schools are not primarily concerned with the improvement of children's health, health education is rather dependent of the way teachers perceive their mission, as well as the whole school setting.

## Teachers' Role and Teachers' Training in Health Education

Several factors influence the way in which health education and health promotion programmes are developed and implemented in school, being the teachers' beliefs and their motivation for health education a decisive factor for effective implementation of such health education programmes. Therefore technical support (training and assistance) given to teachers is critical for a sustainable school health education. This is why teachers' training is often considered to be a central factor linked to the quality of health projects implementation. Several studies have shown that teachers who have received health promotion training tend to be involved more frequently in health promotion projects and have a more comprehensive approach to health education (Anastácio et al., 2005; 2008; Jourdan et al., 2008).

For a teacher, who has many priorities in school affairs, including building literacy and numeracy skills; scientific and artistic competencies; societal, historical and cultural dimensions, and who have in fact to provide the means for all to succeed, it is not easy to have a clear view of his/her own contribution to health promotion (Jourdan et al., 2008). School systems are essentially based in subject matters (or disciplinary approaches) in contrast to the holistic feature of health education which requires an interdisciplinary approach, putting together the knowledge from different disciplines and the development of personal and social competencies. The hard issue for the teachers is not so much to teach the knowledge but to develop pupils' attitudes, to discuss values and choices in order to promote healthy habits. It is to put into place pedagogical situations where pupils can elaborate "rational opinions" based in scientific knowledge and to allow pupils to become aware of this or that burning health issue and to promote appropriate conditions for pupils to develop skills to face these health issues. In this process of health education, each pupil mobilises, for each health issue, his/her acquired knowledge, system of values and representations. Therefore this pedagogical approach represents a rupture with the traditional subject matter teaching and learning process.

In this perspective of health education, defining the teacher's role is rather delicate for several reasons. Firstly, health and health education lies at the intersection between the private (pupils' family) and public domains (public health policies), related to behavioural issues which are determined culturally and to the most intimate of personal decisions. Furthermore, in health domains, recommendations change over the years given the extraordinary progress in knowledge and the construction of new scientific models as well as fashions governing what is considered to be moral and what is considered to be immoral. In addition, in the contemporary world, where the importance of appearance is becoming more pronounced, where many consider a perfect body and perfect health to be the ultimate aim, can it be hoped that schools will contribute to the promotion of a single healthy mode of living or a body cult?

In the field it is not easy to identify the school's mission in an environment marked by the power of the models transmitted by Medias. The position of teaching staff is, therefore, difficult to maintain. The first aim of teacher training in

health promotion is then to help them to have a clear view of their mission and its ethical limits. Before giving them methodological tools, teacher training aims at helping them build their professional identity (Jourdan et al., 2008).

The way in which health promotion is organised and implemented in each country differs depending on the history, objectives and structures of that country's school system (Pommier & Jourdan, 2007). Developing research, affirming and reinforcing the work done in teachers' training in health education are major issues to promote teachers' competencies for providing opportunities to children and young people to be more empowered about health and health risks as they grow up.

## REFERENCES

- Anastácio. Z., Carvalho, G.S. & Clément, P. (2005) Teachers' conceptions of, and obstacles to, sex education in Portuguese primary schools. *In: Developing Standards on Science Education* (H. Fischer Ed.). London: Taylor & Francis Group, pp. 47–54.
- Anastácio, Z., Carvalho, G.S. & Clément, P. (2008) Portuguese primary school teachers' conceptions and obstacles to teach sex education. *In: Biology in Context – Learning and teaching for the twentyfirst century* (M. Hammann, M. Reiss, C. Boulter & S.D. Tunnicliffe Eds.). London: Institute of education, University of London, pp. 283–299.
- Antonovsky, A. (1987) Unravelling the mystery of health: How people manage others and stay well. New York: Wiley.
- Ashton, J. and Seymour, H. (1988) The New Public Health. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Astolfi, J.P., Darot, E., Ginsburger-Vogel, Y., & Toussaint, J. (1997), *Pratiques de formation en didactique des sciences*, De Boeck Université, Bruxelles.
- Bachelard G. (1938) La formation de l'esprit scientifique, Vrin, Bruxelles.
- Bantuelle, M., Demeulemeester, R. (2008) : Référentiel de bonnes pratiques : Comportements à risque et santé : agir en milieu scolaire. INPES éditions.
- Barić, L. (1994) Health Promotion and Health Education in Practice: The organisational Model (Module 2). Altrincham: Barns Publications.
- Barnekow, V., Buijs, G., Clift, S., Jensen, B.B., Paulus, P., Rivett, D. & Young, I. (2006) *Health-promoting schools: a resource for developing indicators*. Council of Europe, World Health Organization, European Commission.
- Battjes, R.J. (1985) Prevention of adolescent drug abuse. International Journal Addiction, 20: 1113–1134.
- Beauchamp, T.L. & Childress, J.F. (1995) Principles of biomedical ethics. London: Oxford University Press.
- Berger, D., Bernard, S., Wafo, F., Hrairi, S., Balcou, M. & Carvalho, G.S. (2011) Éducation à la Santé et à la Sexualité : Représentations sociales, conceptions et pratiques d'enseignants de 15 pays. *Carrefours de l'éducation*, 32, 75–97.
- Berger D. & Jourdan, D. (2008) Education à la santé et prévention des conduites addictives. Quelles formations en IUFM ? Toulouse: Presses universitaires du Sud.
- Broussouloux S. & Houzelle-Marchal N. (2006) L'éducation a la santé en milieu scolaire: Elaborer et développer un projet. Paris: Ed Inpes.
- Campostrini, S. (2007) Measurement and effectiveness: Methodological considerations, issues and possible solutions. *In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness* (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 305–325.

Castillo, F. (1984) Le chemin des écoliers. Louvain la neuve : Cabay.

Carvalho, G.S. (2002) Literacia para a Saúde: Um contributo para a redução das desigualdades em saúde. In: Saúde: As teias da discriminação social - Actas do Colóquio Internacional: Saúde e Discriminação Social (Org.: M.E. Leandro, M.M.L. Araújo, M.S. Costa). Braga: Universidade do Minho, pp. 119–135.

- Carvalho, A. & Carvalho, G.S. (2006) Educação para a Saúde: Conceitos, práticas e necessidades de formação. Loures: Lusociência.
- Carvalho, A. & Carvalho, G.S. (2008) Eixos de valores em promoção da saúde e educação para a saúde. In B. Pereira & G.S. Carvalho (Eds) Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer: Modelos de Análise e Intervenção. Lisboa: Lidel, pp. 195–205 (ISBN: 978-972-757-502-2).
- Carvalho, G.S. (2006) Criação de ambientes favoráveis para a promoção de estilos de vida saudáveis. In
   B. Pereira & G.S. Carvalho (Eds) Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer: A Infância e Estilos de Vida Saudáveis. Lisboa: Lidel, pp. 19–37
- Carvalho, G.S., Dantas, C., Rauma, A.-L., Luzi, D., Ruggier, R., Geier, C., Caussidier, C., Berger, & Clément, P. (2008) Comparing health education approaches in textbooks of sixteen countries. *Science Education International.* 19, 133–146.
- Carvalho, G.S., Tracana, R.B., Skujiene, G. & Turcinaviciene, J. (2011) Trends in Environmental Education Images of Textbooks from Western and Eastern European countries and Non-European Countries. *International Journal of Science Education*, 3, 2587–2610.
- Caussidier, C., El-Hage, F., Munoz, F., Remki, L., Larribi, R., Khzami, S.-E., Berger, D. & Carvalho, G.S. (2011) In search of a health education model: teachers' conceptions in four Mediterranean countries. *Global Health Promotion*, 18, 3–13.
- Clément, P. (2006). Didactic Transposition and KVP Model: Conceptions as Interactions Between Scientific knowledge, Values and Social Practices. *In: ESERA Summer School*, IEC, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal, pp. 9–18.
- Colquhoun, D. (1997) The health promoting school in Australia: A review. International Journal of Health Education. 35, 117–125.
- Darmon, P. (1986) La longue traque de la variole. Paris : Perrin.
- Dooris, M., Poland, B., Kolbe, L., Leeuw, E., McCall, D.S. and Wharf-Higgins (2007) Healthy settings: Building evidence for the effectiveness of whole system health promotion – challenges and future directions. *In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness* (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 327–352.
- Doyal, L & Doyal, L. (1984) in L. Birk e J. Silvertown (Eds.) More than the parts: Biology and Politics. London: Pluto Press.
- Ewles, L. & Simnett, I. (1999). Promoting health A practical guide. London: Baillière Tindall.
- Eymard, C. (2004) Essai de modélisation des liens entre éducation et santé. Education et santé, quels enjeux pour la formation et la recherche ? *In : Education à la santé ou éducation pour la santé ? Quels enjeux pour la formation et pour la recherche ?* Université Provence : Questions vives, *2*(5), 13–34.
- Fassin D. (1996) L'espace politique de la santé. Essai de généalogie. Paris: Presses universitaires de France.
- IUHPE International Union for Health Promotion and Education (2008a). Achieving Health Promoting Schools: Guidelines for Promoting Health in Schools. Saint-Denis: IUHPE.
- Faure O. (2002). Hygiène, hygiénisme et santé publique en France, XIXe-XXe siècle in Éducation à la santé XIX<sup>e</sup> – XX<sup>e</sup> siècle. In: Éducation à la Santé XIX<sup>e</sup> – XX<sup>e</sup> siècle. (Ed. D. Nourrisson). Paris: Editions ENSP.
- Favre, D. (2007) Transformer la violence des élèves : cerveau, motivations et apprentissage. Paris : Dunod.
- Fischer G.N. (1987) Les concepts fondamentaux de la psychologie sociale. Montréal : Presses de l'université de Montréal.
- Flament, C., Abric, J-C & Doise, W. (1998) L'approche expérimentale dans l'étude des représentations sociales. In: 20 ans de psychologie sociale expérimentale francophone (J.L. Beauvois, R.-V. Joule & J.M. Monteil Eds) Grenoble : PUG.
- Galichet, F. & Manderscheid, J.-C. (1996) L'éducation à la santé et la construction de l'identité dans le contexte des sociétés occidentales contemporaines. *Revue Française de Pédagogie, n°114, 7–*17.
- Halstead, J.H. (1996) Values and values education in schools. In: Values in Education and Education in Values (J.M. Halstead & M.J. Taylor, Eds.). London: The Falmer Press. pp. 3–211.

- Hansen, W.B. (1992) School-based substance abuse prevention: a review of the state of the art in curriculum, 1980–1990. *Health Education Research*, 7, 403–430.
- Helman, C.G. (2000) *Culture, Health and Illness.* New York: Reed Educational and Professional Publishing.
- INSERM Institut National de la Santé et de la recherche Médicale (2001) Expertise collective Cannabis : quels effets sur le comportement et la santé ? Paris: éditions INSERM.
- IUHPE International Union for Health Promotion and Education (2008b). Promoting Health in Schools: From evidence to action – Draft September 2008. Saint-Denis: IUHPE.
- Jodelet D. (1991), Les représentations sociales, Paris, PUF.
- Fortin, J. (2004) Du profane au professionnel en éducation à la santé : modèles et valeurs dans la formation en éducation à la santé. In : La formation des acteurs de l'éducation à la santé en milieu scolaire (D. Jourdan). Toulouse: Editions Universitaires du Sud. pp. 51–67.
- Jourdan, D., Samdal, O., Diagne, F. & Carvalho, G.S. (2008) The Future of Health Promotion in Schools goes through the strengthening of Teacher Training at a global level. *Promotion & Education*, 15(3) 36–38.
- Jourdan D. & Victor P., (1998), La formation des enseignants du primaire en éducation à la santé dans les IUFM : enjeux et obstacles. *Revue recherche et formation n°28*, INRP.
- Katz, J. & Peberdy, A. (1998) Promoting Health: Knowledge and Practice. London: MacMillan.
- Kemm, L. (2006) The limitations of evidenced public health. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, 12, 319.
- Konu, A.I. & Lintonen, T.P. (2006) School well-being in grades 4–12. Health Education Research. 21, 633–642.
- Konu A.I., Rimpelä, M.K. (2002) Well-being in schools: a conceptual model. *Health Promotion International*, 17, 79–87.
- Marcelli, D. & Braconnier, A. (2000). Adolescence et psychopathologie. Paris. Masson.
- Naidoo, J. & Wills, J. (1994) Health Promotion Foundations for Practice. London: Baillière Tindall.
- Larue R., Fortin J., Michard J-L. (2000) Ecole et santé : le pari de l'éducation, collection enjeux du système éducatif. Paris : Hachette éducation.
- Leger, L.St., Kolbe, L., Lee, A., McCall, D.S. & Young, I.M. (2007) School health promotion: Achievements, challenges and priorities. In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 107–124.
- Lenoir, Y. & Vanhulle, S. (2008) Les finalités en éducation : des discours socio-idéologiques aux positionnements épistémologiques et axiologiques. *In: Les valeurs explicites et implicites dans la formation des enseignants* (D. Favre, A. Hasni & C. Reynaud). Bruxelles : De Boeck.
- Lister-Sharp D., Chapman S., Steward-Brown S., Sowden A. (1999). Health promoting schools and health promotion in schools : two systematic reviews. *Health Technol Assess.* 3, 1–207.
- Maslow, A. (1989) Vers une psychologie de l'être. Paris : Fayard.
- Massé R. (2003) Ethique et santé publique. Paris : Les presses de l'université Laval.
- McQueen, D.V. (2007) Evidence and theory: Continuing debates on evidence and effectiveness. *In*: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 281–303.
- Meirieu P. (1993) Le choix d'éduquer. Paris : ESF éditeur.
- Mérini C., Jourdan, D., Victor, P., Berger, D. & De Peretti, C. (2000) *Guide ressource pour une éducation à la santé à l'école primaire.* Rennes : Editions ENSP.
- Mittelmark, M.B., Jones, C.M., Lamarre, M.C., Perry, M.W., Van der Wel, M. & Wise, M. (2007) Enhancing effectiveness and quality of health promotion: Perspectives of the international union for health promotion and education. *In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness* (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 401–412.
- Nourisson, D. (2002) Education à la santé: XIX<sup>e</sup> XX<sup>e</sup> siècle. Rennes: Editions ENSP.
- Parsons, C., Stears, D. and Thomas, C. (1996) The health promoting school in Europe: Conceptualising and evaluating the change. *Health Education Journal*, 55, 311–321.

Pizon, F. (2008) Education et santé au lycée : quelle contribution à la prévention du tabagisme pour les professionnels ? Clermont Ferrand : Université Blaise Pascal. Thèse de doctorat.

Pommier, J. & Jourdan, D. (2007) La santé à l'école dans les pays européens. Paris: Sudel.

- Potvin, L., Mantoura, P. & Ridde, V. (2007) Evaluating equity in health promotion. In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 367–384.
- Raynal, F. & Rieunier, A. (1997) Pédagogie : dictionnaire des concepts clés. Paris : ESF éditeur.
- Rennie, L. (2007) Values of science portrayed in out-of-school contexts. *In: The re-emergence of values in science education* (D. Corrigan, J. Dillon nd R. Gunstone, Eds.). Roterdam: Sense Publishers, pp. 197–212.
- Restrepo, H.E. (2000) Increasing community capacity and empowering communities for promoting health. Technical report 4. Fifth Global Conference On Health Promotion. Mexico City, Ministry of Health of Mexico.
- Reiss, M. (2007) What should be the aim(s) of school science education ? *In*: The re-emergence of values in science education (D. Corrigan, J. Dillon nd R. Gunstone, Eds.). Roterdam: Sense Publishers, pp. 13–28.
- Ridde, V., Delormier, T. & Goudreau, G. (2007) Evaluation of empowerment and effectiveness: Universal concepts? In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. 385–399.
- Rootman, I. (2007) Foreword. In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer. pp. ix-x.
- Salazar, L. (2007) Feasibility for health promotion under various decision-making contexts. *In: Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness* (D.V. McQueen & C.M. Jones). New York: Springer.
- San Marco J-L., Siméoni M-C., Thirion X., Auquier P., Garnier J-M., Magnan M. (2000) De la prévention des maladies à la promotion de la santé : manifeste pour l'éducation à la santé. Paris : Académie d'Aix-Marseille
- Sandrin-Berthon, B. (1997), Apprendre la santé à l'école. Paris ESF éditeur.
- Sandrin-Berthon B. (2000), Approche historique de l'éducation pour la santé à l'école, in La santé de l'homme, Paris, n° 346.
- SHE School for Health in Europe (2008) Who is SHE? She Newsletter, September 2008.
- Scott, P. (1996). Edward Jenner and the Discovery of Vaccination. University of South Carolina: Thomas Cooper Library. http://www.sc.edu/library/spcoll/nathist/jenner.html (24/08/2008).
- Souccar, T. & Robard, I. (2004), Santé, mensonges et propagande. Arrêtons d'avaler n'importe quoi! Paris: Editions du Seuil.
- Tobler, N.S. (1997) Meta-analysis of Adolescent Drug Prevention Programs: Results of the 1993 metaanalysis. In: Meta-Analysis of Drug Abuse Prevention Programs. NIDA Research Monograph 170 (Bukoski WJ, ed.). Rockville: National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse, pp. 97–4146.
- Tones, K., (1986) Health education and the ideology of health promotion: a review of alternative strategies in Health Education Research: Theory and Practice. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Tones, K. & Tilford, S. (1994) *Health Education Effectiveness, efficiency and equity*. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Tubiana, M. (2004) La formation des acteurs de l'éducation à la santé en milieu scolaire. Toulouse: Presses universitaires du Sud.
- Young, I. (2004) Eating at school making healthier choices. Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- Vetter, N. & Matthews, I. (1999) *Epidemiology and Public health Medicine*. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone.
- WHO World Health Organization (1948) Preamble to the Constitution of the World Health Organization. New york: WHO. http://www.who.int/about/definition/en/print.html (03/09/2008).

- WHO World Health Organisation (1986) Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. First International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, Canada. http://www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/ottawa\_ charter\_hp.pdf (26/12/2008).
- WHO World Health Organisation (2006) What is the evidence on school health promotion in improving health or preventing disease and, specifically, what is the effectiveness of the health promoting schools approach? Geneva:WHO.

Graça S. Carvalho

CIEC, Institute of Education, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Dominique Berger ACTé - EA 4281, Université Claude Bernard, Lyon1-IUFM, France

# MUSTAFA SOZBILIR, HULYA KUTU AND M. DIYADDIN YASAR

# 14. SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH IN TURKEY: A CONTENT ANALYSIS OF SELECTED FEATURES OF PUBLISHED PAPERS

# INTRODUCTION

Science is taught as a core subject through schools around the world. While the content and subject sequences are more or less similar, every country has developed along different paths as a result of unique cultural and political influences. It is important to study not only the present international science education content and pedagogy curriculum, but to understand the developmental path that has led each country to this point. Like many countries, Turkey has given special attention and importance to the teaching of science (Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007). In this sense, this chapter focuses on the development of science education research in Turkey. The chapter starts with a brief introduction to the Turkish educational system and attention al system in Turkish history and the development of science education research in Turkey. In the latter part, a content analysis of science education research papers published at national and international level by Turkish science educators is provided and the results are discussed.

Turkey, with a population of over 70 million, is a bridge between Europe and Asia. The Republic of Turkey was established in 1923, after the Ottoman Empire collapsed at the end of the First World War. Since the foundation of the new state in 1923, educational development has been regarded as the most important factor in reaching the level of the civilized countries (Grossman, Onkol, & Sands, 2007). The Turkish Educational System was centralized by the act of 'Law of Unification of Instruction' in 1924. The madrasas (formal education schools) were abolished and all schools, except military schools, were taken over by the Ministry of National Education (MONE), while military schools were taken over by the Ministry of Defence. The Turkish Education System was built in accordance with the Ataturk Reforms after the Turkish War of Independence. Ataturk was the founder of the Republic of Turkey. Turkey has a state supervised system designed to produce a skilful professional class for the social and economic welfare of the nation (Özelli, 1974). Since 1924, there have been several reforms in the education system including the acceptance of Latin characters as the official script in 1928 instead of Arabic characters, expansion of secularism in the social, educational,

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 341–374. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

and legal areas (Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007), implementation of new curriculums (Ayas, Çepni, & Akdeniz, 1993; Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007) and reforms in teacher training (Turkmen, 2007). The results of these reforms have been impressive (Grossman et al., 2007). Schooling consists of four main components: elementary education (age 6–9), middle (age 10-13), secondary education (lycees or senior high schools including vocational and technical schools, age 14–18, 4 years); and higher education (universities). The first 12 years are compulsory from 2012.

# SCIENCE AND SCIENCE EDUCATION IN TURKISH HISTORY

Events during two thousand years of Turkish history have influenced education, such as; the dispersion of Turks from Central Asia to the Indian peninsula, around the Caspian Sea, and the west, and converting to the Islamic religion in the 9th century (Turkmen, 2007). It is known that the first Turkish alphabet was created and used in the Turkish state of Gokturks. The Gokturks left written texts on tombstones located in the Orhon River region (presently northern Mongolia), dating to around 700 AC. This finding marks the beginning of formal education for Turks (Akyüz, 1993). There is very little information about the place of science in Turkish education history until Turks convert to Islam. When Turks converted to Islam, this new religion impacted every aspect of life including education (Lewis, 1961; cited in Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007). An extended account of the history of Turkish education and science education during the power of Great Seljuk Empire, Anatolian Seljuk State, Ottoman Empire can be found elsewhere (e.g. Akyüz, 1993; Binbaşıoğlu, 2005; Çaksu, 2001; Ergin, 1977; Nuhoğlu, 2001) and Turkmen and Bonnstetter (2007) provides a summary.

Although there were various educational institutions in the Ottoman Empire, formal education was commonly given in two types of schools. Primary education in the classical Ottoman educational system was predominantly religious, provided by Sıbyan Mekteps (primary schools) which were either in or near mosques. Sıbyan Mekteps, also called local or district schools, accepted boys and girls at the ages of 5–6 and taught them for 3–4 years (Demirel, 2009). Secondary and higher education at university level was given in madrasas. Although the madrasas provided mainly religious education, there were also courses such as science, mathematics, medical sciences and astronomy especially during 15th and 16th centuries (Bahadır, 1996). On the other hand, *mosques* and *tekkes* were among the important informal education institutions in the Ottoman Empire (Kazıcı, 2004).

From the 17th century, the quality of education provided by the madrasas began to degenerate as they neglected scientific developments around the world and dropped science and mathematics courses. Therefore, the madrasas started to fail the needs of society, causing a decline in the Ottoman Empire (Demirel, 2009). When the Empire began to see its decline compared to Europe, the search began to find the reasons. It was determined that one of the major factors was the military superiority of Western Europe. In order to meet the Ottoman Empire's military needs the first modern military schools providing education at a higher, university, level, Mühendishane-i Bahr-i Hümayün (Imperial Naval Engineering School) (1775) (Ihsanoglu, 2004) and Mühendishane-i Berr-i Hümayün (Imperial Engineering School of Land Forces) (1793), were founded in the eighteenth century (Demirel, 2009) which marked the first time that education was not directly affiliated with religion and the beginning of a new phase of schooling in the Ottoman Empire (Lewis, 1961; cited in Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007). The decree in 1839 is a turning point in Turkish history and it heralded increasing Westernization (the Noble Rescript, tanzimat fermani in Turkish), marked the beginning of Rushdivahs (middle schools) which accepted students aged 10 to 18. Although the focus was on religious education, the curriculum went beyond religion to include subjects such as mathematics, geometry and geography (Demirel, 2002). It was also recommended that French should be taught as mathematics, geometry and geography books were only available in French. Rushdiyahs were followed by the opening of Idâdis, an upper level middle school or high school, in 1874 (Demirel, 2010, p. 15; Yücel, 1994). Natural sciences were taught as a separate subject in these schools. The Îdâdi's curriculum in 1892 shows that the total percentage of science courses such as basic science, physics and chemistry was 5 percent in the whole curricula (Demirel, 2010, p. 109).

The first teacher training school (Dârülmuallimîn-i Rüşdî) in the history of Turkish education was founded in 1848 (Oztürk, 1998). The school curriculum did not include science courses initially, however it was revised in the following years to provide middle and elementary school teacher training and science courses were included in the curriculum (Öztürk, 1996). On the other hand, as reported by Akyüz (1993) and Ergun (1996; cited in Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007), a modern style higher education institution was established with branches that included the natural sciences in 1863 although it was burned down by religious activists and had to be re-opened in 1869. These times also saw the founding of the Association of Ottoman Science which published the first scientific journal called the Journal of Science. Foreign instructors and specialists, especially from France, were employed in this new institution. The establishment of this new institution and the 1839 decree led to the establishment of closer relationships with several western countries, in particular France and Great Britain. These relationships included sending students to those countries to study and also the translation of many foreign books into Turkish; in particular medicine, and the sciences, found their way into the classrooms. For example, Hoca Ishak Efendi, as an instructor in the school of mathematics, translated four volumes covering the European knowledge of mathematical and physical sciences (Lewis, 1961 cited in Turkmen & Bonnstetter, 2007).

The collapse of the Ottoman Empire and the emergence of the Republic of Turkey in 1923 led to society-wide reforms, especially in education. One of the important aims of the young Turkish republic was to disseminate basic education to all citizens since the majority of people living in rural areas were still illiterate. Therefore, it was decided that elementary education should be provided nationwide, including more science and health education. On the other hand, the new republic was inviting foreign experts to Turkey, such as John Dewey in 1924,

to get their advice to overcome education problems. In Dewey's report, it was mentioned that in rural areas it was necessary to open another type of village teacher school to meet the needs of local people (Türkmen, 2007). This recommendation led to the establishment of village teacher training schools in 1927. These schools aimed to train teachers to educate villagers and their curricula included more agricultural courses than science courses. John Dewey's visit to Turkey in the 1930's created another science education curricular shift as elements of experimentalism and pragmatism were added to the Turkish science curriculum. The next major science education development occurred after the Second World War, when Turkey became a full member of NATO and expanded its connections with western countries, especially the USA. This influence helped to create what was called the modern science curriculum. During the 1960's, many countries followed the lead of the USA, Australia and the UK in adopting big-budget, discipline-knowledge based curriculum movement such as Chemical Education Material Study (CHEM Study), Physical Sciences Study Committee (PSSC), Biological Sciences Curriculum Study (BSCS), Chemical Bond Approach (CBA) (all in the US), Nuffield Science (UK), and the Australian Science Education Project (ASEP). Turkey was among those countries that translated some US curricula into Turkish, but this curriculum implementation was not successful throughout the country (Ayas et al., 1993). In fact, MONE and the Turkish Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK) made a great effort to adapt the new science curricula, such as opening a science lab classroom in every secondary school (Türkmen, 1997). A discussion about the reasons why this curriculum implementation was unsuccessful can be found in Ayas et al. (1993) and Türkmen (1997) and the history of Turkish teacher training at the late republican era are summarized in a the Higher Education Council (HEC) report written by Kavak, Aydın and Akbaba-Altun (2007).

Although numerous improvements were made during the Republican Era and applied with a great deal of excitement, unfortunately, science education problems were not completely solved (Özden, 2007). The most recent major effort to improve the educational system was made through a multi-phased comprehensive reform of the sector introduced during the 1990s. The National Education Development Project (NEDP) was developed as another step toward improving the quality of teacher education in Turkey. It was implemented under the loan agreement concluded between the Turkish Government and the World Bank. The NEDP was funded by the World Bank and administered by HEC (Grossman et al., 2007; Güven, 2007; Kavak et al., 2007; Tercanligglu, 2004). The objective was to contribute to the improvement of pre-service teacher education. The focus of the project was curriculum development and materials production, the development of student-teacher experience in schools, the establishment of a system of facultyschool partnerships, and the development of a set of standards in teacher education. It also assisted with the provision of long-term and short-term fellowships and in upgrading the facilities of all schools of teacher education. The development of this project in Turkey has built on considerable change and development in teacher education in recent years. As a result of NEDP, schools of teacher education (the name of courses and academic structures of teacher training colleges) and curricula (the content of courses) were set up across the nation in 1998 (Türkmen, 2007). In 2003–2004, four years after the end of the project and the restructuring, a major study of their effects was conducted (Grossman et al., 2007). This study suggested that the "participation [which] occurred in the project implementation was insufficient by itself to offset concerns about the top-down nature of the reform effort in the teacher education community. Nonetheless, participation had a positive effect on a person's view of reform, reducing the power-coercive aspect especially with regard to the specific reform in question" (p. 149). Some restructuring has been carried out in the programs following the 2006 review.

The second most important part of this new educational reform initiative is the gradual implementation of a new primary curriculum starting in 2004 (MONE, 2004) and a secondary curriculum starting in 2008 (MONE, 2007). The reforms were fully in operation by 2011. The new primary and secondary curricula were based on the philosophy of constructivism and student-centred active learning.

Reconstitutions of teaching curricula have been made in the education system several times since the foundation of the Turkish Republic. After the foundation of the Republic in 1923, basic reconstitution of the primary school curriculum were carried out in 1924, 1926, 1936, 1948, 1962 and 1968. However, none of them lived up to the expectancy of society for various reasons (see Ayas et al., 1993). On the other hand, the five years of compulsory primary education were increased to eight years in 1997 as part of this new educational reform movement. Later, in 2005, secondary education was also extended from three to four years. More recently, compulsary education has been lengthened to 12 years starting from 2012-2013. There is, no comprehensive evaluation of the long-term effects of the new curriculum implementation. However there are some studies about teachers' views of the new curriculum reform movement which suggest that, although the new curriculums are more student-centred and aimed to help to improve scientific literacy, there are problems that there is no synchronization between the new curriculum and the centralised exam system used in the country. While new curricula are encouraging student-centred active learning approaches, the centralised exam systems enforce memorisation. In addition, teachers felt less prepared for the new curricula which suggest an inadequacy in the in-service training (İzci, Özden, & Tekin, 2008).

# DEVELOPMENT OF SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH IN TURKEY

Science education has little history (Keeves, 1998) compared to the history of science, which, as a human endeavour and enterprise to explain the physical universe, could be traced back to the beginning of human kind. However, research in science education is a relatively new enterprise. While some studies were undertaken during the beginning of the twentieth century, they commonly failed to acknowledge the universality of science education. As Jenkins (2001) argues, there are many examples of research undertaken in the first half of the twentieth century that can be categorized as science education, but much of it has been the work of

individuals or quasi-governmental committees. The development of research in science education is strongly affected by curriculum developments. Therefore, research studies carried out during the 1960s were often linked to curriculum development work which sought to explore the advantages of a new curriculum, or parts thereof, over an existing or previous one (Kempa, 1991). Many other studies were focused on difficulties in teaching new curriculum issues and the use of new teaching strategies. However, in the 1980s reform, new perspectives on teaching and learning caused a shift in the interest of many researchers towards studies of students' alternative conceptions and ways of reasoning (De Jong, 2007). The science education literature has been dominated by research findings concerned with children's understanding and learning of scientific phenomena in the last couple of decades (Jenkins, 2001). In line with this interest, more and more studies focused on students' learning process in terms of conceptual change. There was also a growth in studies of the social and cultural dimensions of knowledge acquirement, for instance, by investigating the discourses between teachers and students in the classroom. Other trends were the growth in interest in studies of laboratory work, especially (open) inquiry, the implementation and use of problem solving strategies, and the use of the internet, computer software, and interactive multimedia (De Jong, 2007).

Contrary to the international developments mentioned above, research in science education was lacking before 1990 in Turkey. The bibliography compiled by Bag, Kara and Uşak (2002) and the review carried out by Sozbilir and Canpolat (2006) suggest that there were few publications in the form of books focused on teaching science or papers focused on science education research. The recent educational reform movement started in 1990's, reported above, increased interest in science education research in Turkey. At the same time, the first research papers focusing on science education started to appear in national journals and then increased dramatically on the national (see i.e. Sozbilir & Canpolat, 2006; Sozbilir & Kutu, 2008) and international stages (see i.e. Chang, Chang, & Tseng, 2010; Lee, Wu, & Tsai, 2009). The first and second National Symposium on Science Education [UFBES] had been organized in 1994 and 1995 respectively in Turkey (UFBES, 1994; 1995). These symposia received little attention. There were only 64 presentations in the first UFBES and 69 presentations in the second UFBES compared with the 2012 (the tenth) National Science and Mathematics Education Conference (UFBMEK) (UFBMEK, 2012) at which over 700 presentations, posters, discussions and workshops were selected from over 1000 submitted abstracts. In addition, Turkey hosted several international conferences, such as the 18th ICCE (International Conference on Chemical Education) in 2004, the 9th ECRICE (European Conference on Research in Chemical Education) and the 13th IOSTE (International Organization for Science and Technology Education) in 2008 and the ESERA (European Science Education Research Association) Conference in 2009. All these conferences involved significant input from the Turkish science education research community together with foreign researchers indicating the establishment of research in science education as a discipline. Several journals (mainly education faculties' journals) publish science education research papers at national level (see Sozbilir & Kutu, 2008) together with some international online journals such as the *Journal of Turkish Science Education* (TUSED), the *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research* (EJER), the *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education* (EURASIA) and the *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education* (IJESE). Although science education is quite a new research area, it is difficult not to be impressed by the wide range of topics that Turkish researchers have chosen to investigate in the last decade and the number of publication starting to appear.

As the volume of published educational research increases, so the number of reviews increases in order to help researchers following the developments in different fields of educational research. Content analyses were carried out in terms of the subject matters studied, the research methods employed, and the data analyses processes commonly used (e.g., Elmore & Woehlke, 1988, 1998; Hsu, 2005; Keselman et al., 1998). Identification of data-analytic practices may provide researchers with a basis for recommending improvements in research and also a guide for the types of inferential procedures that should be taught in methodological courses so that students have adequate skills to interpret the published literature of a discipline and carry out their own projects (Keselman et al., 1998).

Some research reviews (e.g., Chang et al., 2010; Eybe & Schmidt, 2001; Lee et al., 2009; Rennie, 1998; Tsai & Wen, 2005; White, 1997) which systematically examine the research papers published in science education internationally have appeared in recent years. Perhaps the first content analysis of journal articles was conducted to examine changes and trends in science education by White (1997). He used science education research articles in the Education Resources Information Center (ERIC) database and the journal Research in Science Education (RISE) from 1965 to 1995 as sources of data. The investigation of research style trends was across three decennial reference points of 1975, 1985, and 1995. White's analysis concluded that science education research has shifted from laboratory-style experiments to observation and description of classroom practice while interviewing as a research tool has become common. Rennie (1998) surveyed research articles in five English-language science education journals the Journal of Research in Science Teaching (JRST), the International Journal of Science Education (IJSE), Research in Science Education, Research in Science and Technological Education (RSTE), and Science Education (SE) published in 1996 to illustrate the quality of quantitative research articles. Rennie discussed problems associated with the use of statistically significant testing and made several recommendations such as how to improve the research quality of related papers, including the use of correct terminology, the provision of sufficient information about the data to enable replications to be made, and the reporting and interpretation of effect magnitudes.

Eybe and Schmidt (2001) examined research papers in chemistry education specifically, based upon the quality criteria of publication from academic journals, reports, and documents. Eighty-one chemical education studies from 1991 to 1997 published in IJSE and JRST were selected. The review was performed in terms of

six quality categories and corresponding criteria: theory relatedness, quality of the research question, methods, presentation and interpretation of results, implications for practice, and competence in chemistry. These reports have given specific guidance for science education researchers on how to conduct research and to publish quality articles.

Tsai and Wen (2005) conducted a content analysis in terms of the authors' nationality, research types and topics of total of 802 articles published by IJSE, SE, and JRST from 1998 to 2002. Given that the majority of the articles are published by the authors from the English-speaking countries, there were a significant number of papers published by authors from non-English speaking countries indicating that science education research may have progressively become an important field recognized by the international academic community. The findings of the content analyses also showed that most of the published articles were categorized as empirical studies, while position, theoretical and review papers were rarely presented. The authors argued that although students' conceptions and conceptual change were the most frequently investigated topic in these five years, a declining trend was observed when analysed by year. Moreover, in 1998–2002, the research topics related to student learning contexts, and social, cultural and gender issues also received relatively more attention among science educators.

In a follow-up study, a total of 869 papers published in the three journals (IJSE, SE and JRST) from 2003 to 2007 were analysed by Lee et al. (2009). The results were compared with those of Tsai and Wen (2005). The results showed that authors from other than English-speaking countries (i.e. the USA, the UK, Australia and Canada) published an increasing number of papers. Although science educators displayed more interest in studies involving context of student learning, the trend is shifting from students' ideas and conceptual change to student learning contexts. The follow-up study also included the information that studies focused on argumentation had gained quite high citations during 1998–2002 and 2003–2007 periods. This study also revealed an important aspect in terms of development of science education in non-English speaking countries. The total contribution of the four major English speaking countries were 71.7% during 1998–2002 period (Tsai & Wen, 2005) which decreased to 62.5% in the following five year period (Lee et al., 2009).

Most recently Chang et al. (2010) conducted a more comprehensive study into trends in science education research through published articles in four main journals (IJSE, JRST, RISE and SE) from 1990 to 2007 using automatic content analysis. This study used multi-stage clustering techniques to investigate the topics, the development trends, and the authorship of journal publications that constructed a science education research field. The results of this study are in good agreement with Lee et al.'s study that conceptual change is still among the widely studied topics although it started to decline in the 2000's. On the other hand, the nature of science, socio-scientific issues and professional development are among those topics that show an increase in researcher interest.

Lee et al. (2009) and Chang et al. (2010) indicated an important improvement in terms of the development of science education research in Turkey. The figures

show that Turkey is among the top ten countries in terms of the science education research papers published in IJSE, JRST, RISE and SE. This finding marks an important improvement in science education research in Turkey. This result is also supported by the finding that Turkish academics' performance in the international league has been increasing over the last decade (Glänzel, 2008; Gokceoglu, Okay, & Sezer, 2008; Karasözen, Bayram, & Zan, 2009) although this sharp increase in international publications by Turkish researchers was not accompanied by increasing impact as measured by citation frequency (Gokceoğlu et al., 2008).

Regarding the development of science education research in Turkey, there are two reviews carried out by Sozbilir and Canpolat (2006), and Sozbilir and Kutu (2008). Sozbilir and Canpolat (2006) summarized the developments in science education research in the world after the Second World War and the paradigmatic changes in educational research methods, and emphasized their effects on science teaching. They also performed a content analysis on the limited number of science education research studies published in Turkey and compared it with the international science education research compiled by Duit (2006). The study showed that the history of science education research in Turkey does not really start until the beginning of the1990s. However, the number of research papers shows a sharp increase following the 1997 re-structuring of the teacher training system. The authors also argued that the Turkish science education community is facing challenging issues such as methodological deficiencies and the tendency to follow world trends rather than develop independent lines of research.

In a subsequent study, Sozbilir and Kutu (2008) attempted to determine the status and the trends of subject matter investigated, research methods/design and data analysis procedures used in science education research papers published in Turkey. For this purpose, a content analysis of 413 papers covering science education from 28 different journals publishing educational research in Turkey, was carried out. The results of this content analysis indicated that, although science education research is a new research enterprise for Turkey, starting in 1990s, it received great attention from educational researchers. Although there are great similarities with the international trends, there are differences in terms of the frequently studied subjects and research methods. Studying the identification of misconceptions is declining while teaching studies are increasing. On the other hand, quantitative research methods still dominate Turkish science education research while qualitative and mixed method research is increasing in attention worldwide. The major deficiency of this study was that it covered papers in journals published only in Turkey and contributions of Turkish educators to the international journals were excluded. This omission perhaps misleads the correct identification of the trends in science education research in Turkey. Therefore, a more comprehensive content analysis of publications may be helpful in revealing the contributions of Turkish educators to science education at national and international levels and identifying the trends of science education research in Turkey.

In addition to the two studies mentioned above, a recent content analysis study investigated environmental education research in Turkey conducted in Grades K-8

and published during the period 1997–2007 (Erdogan, Marcinkowski, & Ok, 2009). A total of 53 papers were subjected to content analysis in terms of features of the research method, the socio-demographic characteristics of the subjects and components of environmental literacy. The results showed that mostly quantitative surveys were employed and greater attention was paid to the age, grade level, gender and residence of participating students. Regarding the analysis, attention was focused on knowledge of ecology and natural history, and knowledge of environmental problems and issues with less attention paid to components of affect, and very little attention was paid to socio-political-economic knowledge, cognitive skills and environmentally responsible behaviour.

It is important not only to conduct relevant science education research to help science teachers improve their classroom practice and play better roles in enhancing scientific literacy, but also to understand what has been studied in the past in order to know what could be explored further in the future (Chang et al., 2010). Osborne (2007) suggested that researchers might conduct more syntheses to better understand what happened in the past to guide future research. It is recognized that systematic reviews of qualitative research, secondary analyses, and metasyntheses are useful for increasing interest among policy makers and others in deciding critical issues, policy coverage, and intervention effectiveness in science education (Rossman & Yore, 2009). This study is intended to illuminate what science education research has been done in Turkey so far and compare the result with international trends and help Turkish science educators, policy makers and others in science education.

# PURPOSE AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The above reviews indicate a need for an extended and in-depth study to cover science education research carried out by Turkish scientists to understand the content covered, emerging trends, and the methods employed in science education. Such a content analysis could help develop an understanding of the nature and status of science education research in Turkey, and also provide opportunities to compare results with international trends to identify to what extent their research products are in line with international researchers or to meet the country's needs and set sustainable policies. Therefore, this study is aimed at determining the status of science education research and the content covered, trends in subject matters investigated, research methods/design and data analyses procedures used in science education research papers published by Turkish science educators at national and international level. Specifically, this study was designed to address the following research questions:

- What subject matters in science education research are frequently investigated by Turkish science educators?
- What research methods/designs in science education research are frequently used by Turkish science educators?

- What data collection tools in science education research are frequently used by Turkish science educators?
- What samples and sample sizes in science education research are frequently used by Turkish science educators?
- What data analyses methods in science education research are frequently used by Turkish science educators?

The results of this study should be of concern not just to journal editors publishing science education research in Turkey and practitioners of educational research, but also to the instructors of research methodology and policy-makers. In particular, new researchers, who are both consumers of research publications and/or the potential conductors of quality research, may benefit in selecting the subject matter to study and also designing their research methods and data analyses procedures.

# METHOD

This is a content analysis study. Content analysis is commonly used in qualitative studies and described by Bauer (2003) as follows:

While most classical content analyses culminate in numerical descriptions of some features of the text corpus, considerably thought is given to the 'kinds', 'qualities' and 'distinctions' in the text before any quantification takes place. In this way, content analysis bridges statistical formalism and the qualitative analysis of the materials. In the quantity/quality divide in social research, content analysis is a hybrid technique that can mediate in this unproductive dispute over virtues and methods (p. 132).

Content analysis is used to develop objective inferences about a subject of interest in any type of communication (Kondracki, Wellman, Fada, & Amundson, 2002). In this study, content analysis is meant to be a process for systematically analysing papers. Science education papers published by Turkish science educators were subjected to a content analysis in terms of the main discipline to which papers belonged, the frequently-studied subjects, research methods/designs employed and data analysis procedures applied.

# DATA SOURCE

Data for the present study were obtained from 1249 papers focussing on various areas of science education published by Turkish science educators in 67 different journals (30 national and 37 international). A list of the journals and the number of papers selected from each journal are given in Appendix 1. Papers selected for analysis were accessed either through hard copies of the journals in various university libraries or electronically, through electronic databases and the worldwide web in the case of open access journals. In addition, authors were requested to provide a copy of the paper if it was not possible to access it in a particular journal. Traditionally, in Turkey, educational research papers were

mostly published in education faculty journals such as Hacettepe University Journal of Education and Gazi University Journal of Gazi Education Faculty and other independent journals such as Education and Science, Contemporary Education and National Education Journal. In the last decade, together with the increasing interest in educational research, several new faculty journals such as Abant Izzet Baysal University Journal of Education Faculty and some independent journals such as the Turkish Journal of Science Education and Elementary Education Online were established. Although it is almost impossible to reach all of the papers published so far, the sample selected is representive of the majority of the papers published in science education as all major journals were reviewed. There are some well-established journals such as Ankara University Journal of Faculty of Educational Sciences, established in 1968, but these journals traditionally prefer publishing more papers on other areas of educational sciences rather than science education. As research in science education is a respectively new research area in Turkey, the majority of the national journals reviewed were established after 2000. This phenomenon is not limited to Turkey.

# DATA COLLECTION INSTRUMENT

Each paper selected was subjected to a content analysis using the '*Paper Classification Form* (PCF)' developed by the first author. PCF is given in Appendix 2. The form composed of seven components.

Part A of the form captures some descriptive information about the identification of the paper. Part B requires classification of the paper according to the main discipline it belonged to such as biology, physics, chemistry, science and technology, environmental sciences, mixes of those disciplines or any other discipline that is associated with science education. Part C of the PCF concerned the subject matter studied. Each paper is categorized into only one (best fit) of the following 14 categories: (1) learning; (2) teaching; (3) teacher-training; (4) development of teaching materials; (5) computer-aided teaching; (6) general educational problems and issues; (7) concept analysis; (8) attitude and perception of science; (9) environmental education; (10) curriculum studies; (11) tests/scales development or translation from another language to Turkish; (12) studies focussed on the development of new research methods; (13) the nature of science; and (14) other subjects covering science education. This classification was developed by the first author in the light of experiences gained in previous studies (Sozbilir & Canpolat, 2006; Sozbilir & Kutu, 2008). In some cases, a particular paper contained more than one of the subject matters. For instance, it was common to investigate both the effect of a particular teaching intervention on any science topic and also its effect on students' attitudes towards science. Such papers were classified as (2) teaching paper as the main emphasis was teaching.

Regarding the research design/methods, in *Part D*, each paper was categorized as quantitative, qualitative or mixed in nature. The papers were then categorized according to one of 24 research methods given in the PCF. The development of this categorization is mainly based on the classification of research methods described

by McMillan & Schumacher (2006). However, some modification had to be made such as the inclusion of reviews and metasynthesis in the light of experiences gained in the previous content analysis studies carried out by the first author.

*Part E* deals with the data-collection tools used. They were divided into eight main groups: (1) questionnaires; (2) achievement tests; (3) aptitude, attitude, perception, personality, etc. tests; (4) interviews; (5) observations; (6) alternative assessment tools (diagnostic tests, concept maps, portfolio, etc.); (7) documents; and (8) other data collection tools.

The samples from which data were collected were also divided into ten groups in *Part F*. These are: (1) pre-school (2) primary (grades 1–5); (3) primary (grades 6–8); (4) secondary (grades 9–12); (5) undergraduate; (6) postgraduate; (7) teachers; (8) administrators, (9) parents; and (10) other samples that data were collected. The samples sizes were also classified into six groups as seen in PCF.

Finally, *Part G* covered the data analyses methods and techniques employed in the study. The data analysis is performed under three methods as descriptive, inferential and qualitative. Each of them had different techniques as listed in the PCF.

# DATA ANALYSIS

In order to achieve a reliable classification of the papers, the authors initially worked together. Sets of papers selected from national and international journals and also from different subject matters were classified together. The disagreements were discussed and resolved, and then the rest of the papers were classified by collaborative work of the second and third author. Again, any disagreement was resolved by the leadership of the first author. Following content analysis, all data were recorded in a database. Recorded data were transferred to Microsoft Excel and controlled against errors such as spelling, duplications and missing data. Once the mistakes were recognised and fixed, the data were transferred to SPPS 16.0 and the results were analysed. The results are presented in a descriptive manner as frequencies, percentages tables and charts.

# RESULTS

Results for each research question will be presented respectively. The majority of papers (70%) were published in Turkish, the remainder in English. A few science education research papers are published in French and German by Turkish scientists, however those papers were not included in the content analysis as the authors had no access to those languages or to the papers. Regarding the nationality of the authors, a small number of researchers have international collaborations which resulted in co-publication.

Table 1 shows that a significant proportion of papers (41%) are published in science and technology education, which covers general science. Papers focused on chemistry education make up 23% of the total, followed by physics education

(14%) and biology education (12%). Papers belonging to more than one discipline are classified as mixed. Environmental education represents about 4%. Five papers classified as other were in astronomy and technical education.

Language of the papers	f	%
Turkish	868	69,5
English	381	30,5
Total	1249	100
Nationality of the authors		
Turkish	1188	95,1
Mixed	61	4,9
Total	1249	100
Discipline that paper belonged		
Science & Technology Education	516	41,3
Chemistry Education	286	22,9
Physics Education	173	13,9
Biology Education	149	11,9
Mixed	66	5,3
Environmental Education	54	4,3
Other	5	0,4
Total	1249	100

Table 1. Descriptive statistics for the papers subjected to content analysis (N = 1249)

The development of science education in Turkey is demonstrated in Figure 1. The first paper was published in 1973 and the second not until 1987. These two papers were published by the same author. The first paper (Özinönü, 1973) was about the status of science education in USA and published in an international journal. The second paper (Özinönü, 1987) discussed science education policies in Turkey and was published in a national journal.



Figure 1. Number of national and international papers published across years (1973–2009).

As can be seen from Figure 1, science education research shows a rapid increase in 1999 and the number of papers published reaches a peak in 2005. This increasing interest in science education research follows the structural reform that took place in 1990s in the structure of educational faculties as part of the NEDP reported above. Publications in international journals started a few years later with a steady increase until 2009. This finding is in good agreement with Sozbilir and Kutu (2008) who reported that the number of papers reached a peak in 2005 and supports the Lee et al. (2009), Chang et al. (2010) and White et al. (2009) studies that Turkey is among the top ten contributors of publications in science education research internationally. It is also reported by Treagust (2006) that, in general, there is an increasing tendency by non-English speaking academics to write in English. Increasing interest in publication of papers in international journals by Turkish science educators is also reported by Glänzel (2008), Gokceoglu, et al. (2008) and Karasözen et al. (2009). This interest originates from the policy enforced by HEC that academics working in universities and research institutions have to publish in internationally recognised journals in order to be promoted. In addition, TUBITAK provides financial support to authors of each paper published in internationally-recognised journals which is indexed by SCI, SCI-Expanded, AHCI and SSCI and listed in the Journal Citation Reports provided by Thompson Scientific.

# FREQUENTLY INVESTIGATED SUBJECT MATTERS

Concerning the first research question which relates to the most frequently investigated subject matter in science education in Turkey, Table 2 shows that there are three main areas that dominate 60% of all studies. These are studies focusing on teaching (22.5%) and learning (21.2%) various science topics and identification of students' attitudes toward science and their perceptions of science (15,7%).

	f	%
Teaching	281	22.5
Learning	265	21.2
Attitude/perception studies	196	15.7
Concept analysis	76	6.1
Studies on teaching materials	72	5.8
Nature of science	61	4.9
Computer-aided instruction	52	4.2
General educational problems	48	3.8
Curriculum studies	48	3.8
Tests/scales development or translation	37	3.0
Teacher training	26	2.1
Environmental education	22	1.8
Other subjects	65	5.2
Total	1249	100

Table 2. Frequently investigated subject matter by science education researches in Turkey

When teaching studies are investigated in detail, almost two thirds investigated the effect of a particular teaching intervention on students' academic achievement (61%), improving students' attitudes toward science (26%), improving students' scientific process skills (8%), and the other 5% compared the effectiveness of different teaching interventions. Regarding the learning studies, identification of misconceptions in various science topics dominated this field with 70%. The rest of the studies in this domain are focused on determining students' academic achievements (10%) and identification of their learning styles (7%) together with some other areas such as problem solving, cognitive structures, mental models, etc.

Table 2 also shows that there are other subject matters such as concept analysis, studies on development and tests of effectiveness of teaching materials, nature of science studies, computer-aided instruction, curriculum studies, test/scales development or translation of tests/scales from other languages to Turkish, teacher training and environmental education studies ranging from two to six percent. There are studies such as informal science education, special education, measurement and assessment and policy studies classified as other subjects (5%).



Figure 2. Percentages of most frequently studied subject matters at national and international level across years (1999–2009).

Figure 2 indicates a shift between studies focused on teaching and learning. As shown by the chart, initially science educators in Turkey focussed on studying students' learning of science concepts and ideas. Learning studies started to significantly increase until 2005 and then a decrease was observed. Although studies that focused on teaching science dominated learning studies since 2005–2006, there are still a significant proportion of learning studies published in both national and international journals. However, it should be noticed that there is a general decrease in the total number of papers published after a peak in 2005 shown in Figure 1. On the other hand, an interesting result appears in terms of the number of papers published at national and international level on the determination of students' attitudes and perceptions of science. When Figure 2 is carefully investigated it could easily be identified that the majority of the papers concerning attitudes and perception studies are published in national journals rather than international journals

indicating a mismatch between the trends at national and international level. Chang et al.'s (2010) study found that only about 5% of the studies in science education are focussed on attitude and gender issues. This result may provide guidance to both researchers and journal editors in terms of keeping up with the international trends

# FREQUENTLY USED RESEARCH DESIGNS/METHODS

The research designs used in the science education research papers published by Turkish science educators are summarised in Table 3. As Table 3 shows, more than two thirds of the papers (67%) employed quantitative and another 30% qualitative research traditions. Only a small amount of papers (~3%) followed newly emerging mixed method research approaches.

Table 3. Frequently used research design/methods by science education	ion researchers
---	-----------------

	Research Design	Research Methods	f	%
		True-experimental	0	0
	Experimental	Quasi-experimental	255	20.4
Щ		Pre-experimental	43	3.4
ΔIJ		Single subject	0	0.0
LA		Sub-total	298	23.9
E	Non-Experimental	Descriptive	173	13.9
Z		Comparative	62	5.0
UA		Correlational	43	3.4
Ö		Survey	255	20.4
		Ex-post facto	0	0.0
		Secondary data analysis	3	0.2
		Sub-total	536	42.9
		Ethnographic study	2	0.2
		Phenomenographic study	9	0.7
	Interactive	Case study	136	10.9
[1]		Grounded theory	2	0.2
M		Critical studies	0	0.0
T		Others	1	0.1
TT/		Sub-total	150	12.0
AL	Non-Interactive	Historical analysis	22	1.8
ΣŪ,		Concept analysis	68	5.4
$\cup$		Review	83	6.6
		Metasynthesis	8	0.6
		Others	44	3.5
		Sub-total	225	18.0
	Mixed	Explanatory (Quan to Qual)	22	1.8
D		Exploratory (Qual to Quan)	3	0.2
XE		Triangulation (Quan + Qual)	15	1.2
W		Sub-total	40	3.2
		Total	1249	100

Regarding the research design preferred by Turkish science educators, Table 3 indicates that non-experimental design (43%) dominantes followed by experimental research. The most common type of experimental research method is quasi-experimental (20.4%) with few pre-experimental research methods, but there is no true experimental and single subject research done in science education in Turkey. This result may be expected as science education research is mainly carried out by either teachers or in schools with already determined groups, i.e. the classes, so the commonality of quasi-experimental research method is understandable. The lack of true-experimental research is also an expected result as random allocation of subjects into control and experiment groups is possible and necessary in psychological researches rather than general science education research. In addition, the majority of the non-experimental research consisted of surveys (20,4%) and descriptive methods (13,9%) together with a small amount of comparative and correlational research.

On the other hand, qualitative studies are mostly carried out by non-interactive design and only 12% of the studies employed interactive qualitative research. The most commonly used qualitative research methods are case studes (10.9%), reviews (6.6%) and concept analysis (5.4%). Concept analyses studies are those describing and discussing the different meanings and appropriate use of the educational and scientific concepts. These studies do not require the collection of experimental data and are mostly written on the basis of the researchers' knowledge and experience. It is also common to use documents as data collection tools in this method.

Qualitative research methods such as ethnography, phenomenography, critical studies, grounded theory, historical analysis and metasynthesis, and mixed methods are rarely used. This result indicates a lack of qualitative and mixed method research knowledge and skills among Turkish science educators.

Trends in research designs across years are illustrated in Figure 3 to identify whether there is any significant shift in use of different research designs. As seen from Figure 3, experimental, non-experimental and non-interactive research designs which were highly common initially started to lose their commonality although they are still dominant, while interactive and mixed designs are slightly increasing in recent years.



Figure 3. Trends in research desings across years (1999–2009).

# FREQUENTLY USED DATA COLLECTION TOOLS

Data collection tools frequently used in science education research papers are presented in Table 4. The total numbers of data collection tools are not calculated as more than one data collection tool could be used in a single study. The percentages calculated are arranged according to the total number of papers (N=1249) subjected to content analysis.

Type of data collection tools	f	%
Achievement tests		36.2
Multiple choice	262	21.0
Open-ended	152	12.2
Others	38	3.0
Questionnaires	313	25.0
Likert type	159	12,7
Open-ended	85	6.8
Others	69	5.5
Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests	308	24.7
Interviews	220	17.6
Structured	14	1.1
Semi-structured	114	9.1
Unstructured	2	0.2
Focus group	8	0.6
Not-reported	82	6.6
Alternative assessment tools	126	10.1
Documents	108	8.6
Observations	64	5.1
Other data collection tools	28	2.2

Table 4. Frequently used data collection tools in science education researches

Table 4 indicates that the most common data collection tools used by Turkish science educators are achievement tests (36.2%), questionnaires (25.1%) and tests used to measure aptitude, attitude, perceptions, personality, etc. (24.7%). Interviews (17.6%) are among the most commonly-used qualitative data collection tools together with documents (10.1%). Alternative assessment tools such as concept maps, POE (predict-observe-explain, portfolios, diagnostic tests (10.1%) are also widely used. The least used data collection tool is observation (5.1%).

When table 4 is investigated, it appears that the open-ended and multiple choice type achievement tests are widely used. These tests are rather easy to prepare, administer and mark compared to the alternative tests such as two/three tier diagnostic tests, concept maps, POE (Predict-observe-explain) and portfolios, and also require less experience. Therefore, their uses are fairly common. The use of Likert-type questionnaires are the most common amongst the data collection tools used throughout the world and Turkey is not an exception in this respect.


Figure 4. Number of different data collection tools used across years (1999–2009).

Figure 4 illustrates the number of different data collection tools used in each study subjected to content analysis across years. The numbers of data collection tools partly provides information about the reliability and validity of a study. One way of achieving high reliability and validity in a study is triangulation of data collection tools. This notion is mostly ignored in the science education research published. It is quite interesting to see that more than half of the studies relied on a single data collection tool and this trend continues. About a quarter of the studies used two data collection tools and this pattern is relatively steady since 2003. Three or more data collection tools are quite rare, although there is a slight increase in recent years. In terms of increasing reliability it could be suggested that researchers need to avoid 'single shot research' with only one data collection tool applied once to a particular sample. It is also important to recognise that there was a significant proportion of studies in the early years of science education research in Turkey that used no data collection tools. These studies are classified as concept analysis studies that do not require data collection, instead they are only written on the basis of the authors' knowledge and experience. However, this trend is in decline. This finding is also consistent with the result presented in Figure 3, that there is a decline in the proportion of non-interactive qualitative studies which include historical analysis, concept analysis, reviews and metasynthesis.

# FREQUENTLY USED SAMPLES AND SAMPLE SIZES

The following two figures (Figures 5 and 6) show the frequently studied samples and sample sizes. Figure 5 indicates that most of data for the science education research are collected from undergraduate (34%) and secondary students (20%). There are also studies focusing on the second level of elementary education (16%). Significant proportions (13%) of the studies collected data from teachers. Figure 5 also shows that science education research is rare at the first level of primary education as science is only taught as a separate subject at grades 4 and 5 in Turkey.



SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH IN TURKEY

Figure 5. Frequently studied samples.

Regarding how sample sizes have changed, Figure 6 indicates a parallel with the research methods. As the proportion of non-experimental quantitative and noninteractive qualitative research designs were similar, the sample sizes match this finding that the most commonly selected sample sizes were 31-100 participants (34%). Studies with these sample sizes are expected as quasi-experimental studies are performed with mainly control and experimental groups and the class sizes in general vary from 25 to 40 at secondary level and 30-100 in undergraduate level in Turkey. In addition, as other non-experimental studies are generally carried out in researchers' own classes or adjacent classes, these sample sizes are understandable. On the other hand, as surveys and descriptive studies generally use relatively large sample sizes compared to experimental studies, sample sizes over 100 can be expected. However, the minority of very large sample sizes, such as over 1000 participants, indicates a lack of nationwide and long-term extended research. Moreover, studyies involving small sample sizes, such as less than 30 subjects, indicates the existence of interactive qualitative studies although the proportion of them is about 10%.



Figure 6. Frequently studied sample sizes.

# FREQUENTLY USED DATA ANALYSIS METHODS

The range of data analysis methods and techniques used by Turkish science education researchers are shown in Figure 7. As can be seen from the figure, descriptive data analysis methods are frequently used and the results are presented as tables of frequencies, percentages (52%), central tendency measures such as mean, mode, median, standard deviation are used in 45% of the studies. Among the descriptive studies, 13% used charts to present the results. Use of inferential data analysis methods are of the second order. Among them, correlation tests, ANOVA/ANCOVA and t-test are the most common. There were few samples of MANOVA/MANCOVA, regression, factor analysis, regression and non-parametric tests indicating simplicity of data analysis methods employed. Regarding the qualitative data analysis, descriptive data analysis (12%) together with content analysis (7%) is widely used. As science education is in its development stages in Turkey, a significant number of the researchers publishing papers lack basic knowledge and skills required to perform research in science education, therefore simple data analysis methods are frequently preferred. However, as can be seen from Figure 8, descriptive data analysi approaches are in decline while qualitative data analyses are increasing. Doing high quality research is much more demanding in terms of having knowledge and skills in research methods in a particular area.



Figure 7. Frequently used data analysis methods and techniques.





Figure 8. Trends in frequently used data analysis methods.

Regarding the use of combinations of different data analysis methods of descriptive, inferential statistics and qualitative analysis, Figure 9 shows that the combined use of two data analysis approaches is most frequently preferred. As only mixed methods studies require use of a combination of all three data analysis approaches, its proportion is quite low as mixed method research is rarely employed by Turkish science educators.



Figure 9. Number of different data analysis methods combined in a study.

#### DISCUSSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE

Interest in science education research in Turkey started over 20 years ago as can be seen from Figure 1. During this time, the number of people who have devoted their careers to research on teaching and learning of science has increased significantly. There have also been significant developments in the subject matters studied and methodology for doing research in science education area and in the sophistication of the questions being investigated in the world (Sozbilir & Kutu, 2008). This chapter focused on the development of science education research in Turkey. In order to determine the status of research in science education in Turkey, papers

concerning science education published by Turkish authors in national and international journals were subjected to a content analysis in terms of subject matters investigated and research methods/designs and data analyses procedures used in science education research papers.

This content analysis showed that science education research showed increasing interest since 1999 although there were few studies (49 out of 1249) published irregularly before 1999. Since then, a significant increase has been observed in the number of science education research papers published in Turkey, peaking in 2005. This interest in research in science education is in line with with the re-structuring of schools of teacher education in terms of their functions and departmental structures by the HEC (Güven, 2007; Tercanlioglu, 2004; Türkmen 2007). Before 1997, most of the academics employed by schools of teacher education were performing research in disciplines such as chemistry, physics, biology or history instead of focusing on research in teaching and learning of their main disciplines. After the reform in the teacher training programs, academic staff in schools of teacher education directed their attention towards carrying out more educational research than discipline-based research. In addition, HEC follows a policy of providing an international postgraduate scholarship program for students to study abroad particularly for areas that are weak in Turkey. This policy also had a significant effect on the increase of number of papers in science education as it did in other areas.

As well as an increase in the number of research papers in science education there has been an increase in the number of journals publishing science education research. This re-structuring initially caused some inconvenience but in a couple of years many people chose to do educational research starting with the establishment of science education as a new research area in Turkey. This shift also raised concerns about the quality of research published. Many people had experienced difficulties in conducting and publishing research in science education as they moved from discipline-based research to science education. This transition is evident in Figure 3 in that initially the proportion of non-experimental quantitative and non-interactive qualitative research was quite high. This is because most of the non-experimental quantitative research was descriptive and involved survey studies that are relatively easy to conduct, analyse and report. Moreover, the majority of the non-interactive qualitative studies were concept analysis studies that are also relatively easy compared to interactive qualitative studies such as phenomenology, ethnography and grounded theory. As can be seen from Figure 3, although there is an increasing trend in mixed method and interactive qualitative research their total proportion compared to other research designs are quite low (less then one in third). Therefore it could be suggested that there continues to be a need to improve research methods courses at graduate level to help new researchers learn qualitative research methods and also improve their knowledge and skills in quantitative researches.

Science education research is not conducted within one paradigm because there are too many fundamental differences concerning the nature of science education itself (Treagust, 2006). General areas of interest to science educators around

the world are learning, teaching, educational technology, curriculum, learning environments, teacher education, environmental education, assessment and evaluation, equity, history and philosophy of science, scientific literacy, nature of science, and socio-cultural issues in science. However, the areas of interest to Turkish science educators are teaching, learning and studies on attitudes in general. Teaching (as an intervention), concept analysis, determining students' attitudes and interest towards science and identifying students' misconceptions about various scientific concepts make up two-thirds of the total studies carried out by the Turkish science education research community. This result is more or less similar throughout the world although there are shifts in the trends (Chang et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2009). In this sense, science education in Turkey could be seen as keeping up with the international trends. However, the shortage of the number of studies focusing on nature of science, research methods, teacher-training, curriculum studies, integration of ICT into teaching, environmental education, socio-cultural issues in science, assessment in science education, etc., indicates that there are problems with following the current trends in science education in the world.

In recent years, research on the impact of technology on teaching has been of key importance as the use of computers in schools increases. There is still a need to investigate how students learn science with computers. In addition, there is an increase in on-line resources but there is a question as to how beneficial they are to learning science, as Treagust (2006) suggests. On the other hand, interest is increasing in studies focussing on scientific literacy, as many international studies such as TIMSS and PISA suggest that students' level of scientific literacy is alarming in many countries including Turkey. As seen from Table 2 there is a shortage of research in this area in Turkey.

As Figure 2 illustrates, there has been a shift in the number of studies focussed on the identification of students' learning in science and studies examining teaching science. While there were initially more learning studies this trend changed in favour of teaching studies. On the other hand, when the content of teaching studies was investigated in detail, it appears that they are dominated by quantitative analyses of quasi-experimental intervention studies. As Fensham (2009) reported, there was a similar trend in science education research in the US, England and Australia. It is interesting to see similar moves in science education research in Turkey, too. This is perhaps due to the ease of transferring the experimental skills of researchers with a science background to the context of science education research. Focussing widely on a few areas in science education results in missing the research in other areas such as scientific literacy, nature of science, socio-scientific issues, cultural studies of science education, sciencetechnology-society studies, the professional development of teachers, and policy and evaluation research, all of which are gaining attention in other parts of the world. Although some of those research areas are evident in Turkey, they are not significant enough in number to have an impact on practice. For instance, there is almost no study on evaluation of new curricula which have been in practice since 2005 with only a few studies reflecting practitioners' views. In this sense, it could be suggested that the Turkish science education research community should closely

follow international trends. One way of doing this includes developing existing international collaborations. Another possibility would be carrying out regularl review studies, such as this one, to follow closely what kind of research is carried out inside and outside the country and sharing the knowledge gained with novice and young researchers. Perhaps the most important initiative would be to set up national research priorities in science education following the trends in the rest of the world to create Turkey's own research interests reflecting the country's characteristics, virtues and needs as a society.

Regarding frequently-used methods, quasi-experimental, survey, descriptive studies and case studies make up two thirds of all research. Qualitative research methods (i.e. ethnography, phenomenology, grounded theory, critical studies) and some quantitative methods (i.e. ex-post facto and secondary data analysis) are either rarely observed or not used at all by Turkish science education researchers. However, as seen in Figure 3, there has been a slow change in trends in terms of research methods in favour of mixed method and interactive qualitative research such as ethnography, phenomenology. Although it is slow, this shift is paralleled by the international trend shifting from quantitative to qualitative methodologies in the last two decades (Kelly & Lesh, 2000) and more recently to mixed methods by combining qualitative and quantitative approaches (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004; Kelle, 2006). However, the quality of the qualitative studies in the world is mixed because most students in education do not have enough knowledge and training in these methods (Hsu, 2005). In fact, good qualitative studies are not easy to produce because, unlike quantitative studies, with its established steps to follow, the unique situations of qualitative studies require judgment decisions that inexperienced researchers may not be able to make properly (Harry, Sturges, & Klinger, 2005). Moreover, interpretation of qualitative results is especially challenging to new researchers. Therefore, in order to keep up with this methodological shift there is undoubtedly a need to strengthen the instruction of gualitative-related methods at graduate level method course in Turkey.

In supporting the findings above, most of the science education research papers were based on the data collected through achievement tests and questionnaires (see Table 4) and also a majority of the studies, as seen from Figure 4, are based on data collected through *only* one or *at best* two different data collection tools. These results suggest possible methodological weaknesses and lack of knowledge and skills in combining and using different research methods and integrating different data collection tools in order to strengthen the validity and reliability of the studies.

As expected with the trends in educational research in the world (Hsu, 2005) science education research papers in Turkey included mainly descriptive and inferential statistics methods (see Figure 7). Among those methods use of frequencies, percentages, central tendency measure, charts, together with correlation, ANOVA/ANCOVA, were most common. There are some other data analysis procedures such as t-test, factor analysis, regression and non-parametric tests. Much of the qualitative data analysis methods were descriptive together with a small number of content analysis. From the methodological perspective, it could be suggested that using multiple methods and multiple data analysis procedures

may help to increase the validity and reliability of studies resulting in more high quality research papers. This shift would also help to increase the acceptance rate of papers in international journals with high impact factors.

As a result, to be good consumers of research, students should be able to understand and interpret concepts related to research methods/analyses frequently used in science education research. Thus it is highly recommended that method courses should constitute the basic cores of knowledge needed for all graduate students in science education together with the subject knowledge itself.

It is hoped that this content analysis will provide some guidance for science educators, particularly new researchers, in making appropriate decisions and broadening their scope when conducting research and writing academic publications in the future. It is also recommended that a similar study be repeated in future years; science education researchers can then monitor and review the research trends, and possibly make more international contributions to the field and encourage some shifts in research trends. It is also recommended that there is a shortage of review studies which identify the quality of the research papers published and also more reviews are needed in every area of subject matter that is studied in order to help new researchers to see what has been achieved and what needs to be done.

It is also important to recognize that, as asserted by White (1997), revolutions do not necessarily follow a linear course, nor do they go on for ever. The trends picked out here and reported in other papers might not continue. New ones could emerge suddenly, or there could be a period of consolidation, or worse, stagnation or regression.

### REFERENCES

- Akyüz, Y. (1993). *Türk eğitim tarihi* [The history of Turkish education]. Istanbul, Turkey: Kültur Koleji, Yayınları.
- Ayas, A., Çepni, S., & Akdeniz, A.R. (1993). Development of the Turkish secondary science curriculum, *Science Education*, 77(4), 433–440.
- Bağ, H., Kara, İ., & Uşak, M. (2002). Kimya ve fizik eğitimiyle ilgili makaleler bibliyografyası [A bibliography of chemistry and physics education papers]. *Pamukkale University Education Faculty Journal*, 2(12), 48–59. [Online] http://egitimdergi.pamukkale.edu.tr, retrieved on January 11, 2010.
- Bahadır, O. (1996). Osmanlılarda bilim [Science in Ottomans]. Istanbul: Sarmal Yayınevi.
- Bauer, M. W. (2003). Classical content analysis: A review. In M.W. Bauer & G. Gaskell (Eds). *Qualitative researching with text, image and sound* (pp. 131–151). London: Sage Publication.
- Bauer, M. W. (2003). Classical content analysis: A review. In M.W. Bauer & G. Gaskell (Eds). Qualitative researching with text, image and sound (pp. 131–151). London: Sage Publication.
- Binbaşıoğlu, C. (2005). Türk eğitim düşüncesi tarihi [Turkish education idea history]. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık.
- Chang, Y. H., Chang, C. Y., & Tseng, Y. H. (2010). Trends of science education research: An automatic content analysis. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*. 19(4), 315–331.
- Çaksu, A. (Ed.) (2001). Proceedings of the international congress on learning and education in the Ottoman world (12–15 April 1999). Istanbul: IRCICA (Research Centre for Islamic History, Art and Culture)

- De Jong, O. (2007). Trends in western science curricula and science education research: a bird's eye view, *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 6(1), 15–22.
- Demirel, F. (2010). Mekteb-i Îdâdi [Îdâdi High Schools]. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Atatürk University, Erzurum, Turkey.
- Demirel, M. (2002). Türk eğitiminin modernleşmesinde Rüşdiye mektepleri [Rushdiyahs in the modernization of Turkish education]. *Türkler* [Turks], 15, 44–60.
- Demirel, M. (2009). Bezmiâlem Valide Sultan School: Darülmaârif. Middle Eastern Studies, 45(3), 507–516.
- Duit, R. (2006). Bibliography–STCSE (Students' and teachers' conceptions and science education). Retrieved on June 3, 2006 from http://www.ipn.uni-kiel.de/aktuell/stcse/stcse.html.
- Elmore, P. B., & Woehlke, P. L. (1988). Statistical methods employed in American Educational Research Journal, Educational Researcher, and Review of Educational Research from 1978 to 1987, *Educational Researcher*, 17(9), 19–20.
- Elmore, P. B., & Woehlke, P. L. (1998). Twenty years of research methods employed in "American Educational Research Journal", "Educational Researcher", and "Review of Educational Research". *Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of American Educational Research Association*, San Diego, CA, 13–17 April. ERIC# ED420701.
- Erdoğan, M., Marcinkowski, T., & Ok, A. (2009). Content analysis of selected features of K-8 environmental education research studies in Turkey, 1997–2007. *Environmental Education Research*, 15 (5), 525–548.
- Ergin, O. (1977). Türk maârif tarihi [Turkish education history]. Istanbul: Eser Matbaası.
- Eybe, J. & Schmidt, H.-J. (2001). Quality criteria and exemplary papers in chemistry education research. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23(2), 209–225.
- Fensham, P. (2009). The genesis of science education research in Australasia. In S.M. Ritchie. (Ed.). The world of science education: Handbook of research in Australasia (volume 2) (9–15). Rotterdam: Sense Publishers.
- Glänzel, W. (2008). Turkey on the way to the European Union? On a scientific power rising next door. International Society for Scientometrics and Informetrics (ISSI) Newsletter, 4, 10–17.
- Gokceoglu, C., Okay, A. I., Sezer, E. (2008). International earth science literature from Turkey 1970–2005: trends and possible causes. *Scientometrics*, 74(3), 409–423.
- Grossman, G. M., Onkol, P. E., & Sands, M. (2007). Curriculum reform in Turkish teacher education: Attitudes of teacher educators towards change in an EU candidate nation, *International Journal of Educational Development*, 27, 138–150.
- Güven, I. (2007). Recent initiatives in school effectiveness and improvement: the case of Turkey. In T. Townsend (Ed.), *International handbook of school effectiveness and improvement* (363–378). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Harry, B., Sturges, K.M., & Klinger, J.K. (2005). Mapping the process: An exemplar of process and challenge in grounded theory analysis, *Educational Researcher*, 34(2), 3–13.
- Hsu, T. (2005). Research methods and data analyses procedures used by educational researchers, International Journal of Research & Method in Education, 28(2), 109–133.
- Ihsanoglu, E. (2004). Ottoman educational institutions during the reform period. Manchester: Foundation for Science Technology and Civilization. Retrieved January 9, 2010 from http://www.muslimheritage.com/uploads/reformottomans.pdf.
- İzci, E., Özden, M., & Tekin, A. (2008). Evaluation of new primary science and technology curriculum: Sample of Adıyaman. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 5(2), 70–81. [Online] http://www.tused.org.
- Jenkins, E. W. (2001). Friendship and debate: a century of promoting secondary school science, School Science Review, 82(300), 19–30.
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: a research paradigm whose time has come, *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14–26.

- Karasözen, B., Bayram, Ö., & Zan, B. U. (2009). 1997–2006 Türkiye bilim göstergeleri analizi [Science indicators of Turkey: 1997–2006]. *Türk Kütüphaneciliği* [Turkish Librarianship], 23(1), 4–21. [Online] http://www.kutuphaneci.org.tr/web/node.php?id=293, retrieved on January 5, 2010.
- Kavak, Y., Aydın, A., & Akbaba Altun, S. (2007). Öğretmen yetiştirme ve eğitim fakülteleri (1982–2007) [Teacher training and educational faculties (1982–2007)]. Ankara: Higher Education Council Publication (2007-5). Retrieved January 5, 2010 from http://www.yok.gov.tr/index .php?option=com docman&task=doc download&gid=70.
- Kazıcı, Z. (2004). Osmanlı'da eğitim öğretim [Teaching and learning in the Ottomans]. Istanbul: Bilge Yayıncılık.
- Keeves, J. P. (1998). Methods and processes in research in science education. In B.J. Fraser, & K.G. Tobin (Eds) *International Handbook of Science Education* (1127–1153). London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Kelle, U. (2006). Combining qualitative and quantitative methods in research practice: Purposes and advantages. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3, 293–311.
- Kelly, A. E., & Lesh, R. A. (2000). Trends and shifts in research methods. In A.E. Kelly & R.A. Lesh (Eds) Handbook of research design in mathematics and science education (35–44). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Kempa, R. F. (1991). Research in chemical education: Past-present and future. In R. Maskill (Ed.) *Research in assessment* (pp. 6–31). London: Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Keselman, H. J., Huberty, C. J., Lix, L. M., Olejnik, S., Cribbie, L. A., Donauhe, B., Kowalchuk, R. A., Lowman, L. L., Petoskey, M. D., Keselman, J. C., & Lewin, J. R. (1998). Statistical practices of educational researchers: An analysis of their ANOVA, MANOVA, and ANCOVA analyses, *Review* of Educational Research, 68(3), 350–386.
- Kondracki, N. L., Wellman, N. S., Fada, R. D., & Amundson, D. R. (2002). Content analysis: Review of methods and their applications in nutrition education. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 34(4), 224–230.
- Lee, M. H., Wu, Y. T., & Tsai, C. C. (2009). Research trends in science education from 2003 to 2007: A content analysis of publications in selected journals. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(15), 1999–2020.
- McMillan, J. H. & Schumacher, S. (2006). Research in education: Evidence-based inquiry (6th Ed.). London: Pearson.
- MONE (2004). *İlköğretim Fen ve Teknoloji dersi (4 ve 5. sınıflar) öğretim programı* [The curriculum of 4th and 5th grade Science and Technology course]. Ankara, Turkey. Retrieved March 17, 2012 from.http://ttkb.meb.gov.tr/program.aspx?islem=1&kno=24.
- MONE (2007). Ortaöğretim 9. sınıf kimya dersi öğretim program [The curriculum of 9th grade Chemistry course]. Ankara, Turkey. Retrieved March 17, 2012 from http://ttkb.meb.gov.tr/program. aspx?islem=1&kno=172.
- Nuhoğlu, H. Y. (Ed.) (2001). Osmanlı dünyasında bilim ve eğitim: Milletlerarası kongresi tebliğleri [Proceedings of international congress on science and education in the Ottoman world] (12–15 April 1999). Istanbul: IRCICA (Research Centre for Islamic History, Art and Culture).
- Osborne, J. (2007). In praise of armchair science education. E-NARST News, 50(2). 8–11. Retrieved January 16, 2010 from http://www.narst.org/news/e-narstnews\_july2007.pdf.
- Özden, M. (2007). Problems with science and technology education in Turkey, *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 3(2), 157–161. [Online] http://www.ejmste.com, retrieved January 12, 2010.
- Özelli, M. T. (1974). The evolution of the formal educational system and its relation to economic growth policies in the first Turkish Republic. *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, 5(1), 77–92.
- Özinönü, A. K. (1973). Is American science education at the cross roads. *Science Education*, 57(2), 219–225.
- Özinönü, A. K. (1987). YÖK öncesi ve sonrası fen eğitimi politikaları ve fen eğitiminde yapı ve verimlilik yönlerinden Türkiye'nin çağdaşlaşma düzeyi [Science education policy before and after

HEC and level of modernization of structure and effectiveness of science education in Turkey]. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*, 2, 138–153.

- Öztürk, C. (1996). *Atatürk devri öğretmen yetiştirme politikası* [Teacher training politics during Atatürk's Era]. Ankara: Publication of Institute of Turkish History.
- Öztürk, C. (1998). *Türkiye'de dünden bügüne öğretmen yetiştiren kurumlar* [From past to present teacher training institutions in Turkey]. Istanbul: Publication of Marmara University Ataturk Education Faculty.
- Rennie, L. J. (1998). Guest editorial: Inproving the interpretation and reporting of quantitative research. Jornal of research in Science Teaching, 35(3), 237–248.
- Rossman, G. B., & Yore, L. D. (2009). Stitching the pieces together to reveal the generalized patterns: systematic research reviews, secondary reanalyses, case-to-case comparisons, and metasyntheses of qualitative research studies (575–601). In M.C. Shelly II, L.D. Yore, & B. Hand (Eds). *Quality* research in literacy and science education: International perspectives and gold standards. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Sozbilir, M., & Canpolat, N. (2006). Fen eğitiminde son otuz yıldaki uluslar arası değişmeler: Dünyada çalışmalar nereye gidiyor? Türkiye bu çalışmaların neresinde? [Developments in science education in the last thirty years: Where the researches go in the world? Where Turkey is about in these researches?] (417–432). In M. Bahar. (Ed) *Fen ve teknoloji öğretimi* [Teaching science and technology]. Ankara, Turkey: PegemA Publishers.
- Sozbilir, M., & Kutu, H. (2008). Development and current status of science education research in Turkey. *Essays in Education*, Special Issue, 1–22. [Online] http://www.usca.edu/essays, retrieved on January 2, 2010.
- Tercanlioglu, L. (2004). Perceptions on school-based English teacher education: A qualitative study. *The Qualitative Report*, 9(4), 673–705. [Online] http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR, retrieved January, 11, 2010.
- Treagust, D. F. (2006). International trends in science education research. In J. Ramadas & S. Chunawala (Eds) Research trends in science, technology and mathematics education (125–146). Mumbai, India: Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research. Retrieved January 2, 2010 from http://www.hbcse.tifr.res.in/jrmcont/all-proceedings.pdf.
- Tsai, C. C., & Wen, L. M. C. (2005). Research and trends in science education from 1998 to 2002: A content analysis of publication in selected journals. *International Journal of Science Education*, 27(1), 3–14.
- Türkmen, L. (1997). Science education developments in Turkey. Science Education around the World, 8(4), 12–16.
- Türkmen, L. (2007). The history of development of Turkish elementary teacher education and the place of science courses in the curriculum, *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education, 3*(4), 327–341. [Online] http://www.tused.org, retrieved on January 11, 2010.
- Turkmen, L., & Bonnstetter, R.J. (2007). Influences of some philosophical approaches in the historical development of Turkish science education. *Science Education International*, 18(1), 139–151.
- UFBES (1994). *I. Ulusal fen bilimleri eğitimi sempozyumu bildirileri özeti* [Procedings of first national symposium on science education]. 15–17 September 1995. Dokuz Eylül University, Buca-İzmir/Turkey.
- UFBES (1995). *II. Ulusal fen bilimleri eğitimi sempozyumu bildirileri özeti* [Procedings of second national symposium on science education]. 11–13 September 1995. Middle East Technical University, Ankara/Turkey.
- UFBMEK (2012). X. Ulusal fen bilimleri ve matematik eğitimi kongresi [Proceedings of tenth national congress of science and mathematics education]. 27-30 September, 2012. Niğde University, Niğde/Turkey. [Online] http://kongre.nigde.edu.tr/xufbmek, retrieved July, 02, 2012.
- White, R. (1997). Trends in research in science education, *Research in Science Education*, 27(2), 215–221.

# SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH IN TURKEY

- White, R., Gardner, P., Carr, M., Jones, A., Appleton, K., Fleer, M., Redman, C., Dawson, V., Chang, W.H., & Ritchie, S.M. (2009). ASERA: brief histor(y/ies). *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 4, 263–301.
- Yücel, H. A. (1994). *Türkiye'de orta öğretim* [Secondary education in Turkey]. Ankara: Ministry of Culture Publication.

#### Title of Journal Journal Type % 3.4 Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching 42 International Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology 41 3.3 International International Journal of Science Education International 29 23 Journal of Science Education and Technology International 28 2.2 International Journal of Environmental and Science Education International 27 2.2 Journal of Baltic Science Education International 26 2.1 Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice International 25 2.0 Eurasia Journal of Math., Science & Tech. Education International 18 1.4 Chemistry Education Research and Practice 1.3 International 16 Journal of Chemical Education International 16 1.3 Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education International 14 11 Eurasia Journal of Educational Research International 13 1.0 Journal of Research in Science Teaching International 11 0.9 Research in Science & Technological Education International 11 09 International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education International 10 0.8 Essays in Education International 9 0.7 9 Research in Science Education International 0.7 9 Science Education International 0.7 Journal of Science Teacher Education International 6 0.5 Physics Education International 6 0.5 Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education International 5 0.4 5 The Physics Teacher International 0.4 Other International Journals (less than 5 papers from each) International 24 1.9 128 Hacettepe University Journal of Education 10.2 National Education and Science National 68 5.4 National Education Journal National 65 52 Journal of Turkish Science Education National 62 5.0 Kastamonu University Journal of Education Faculty National 60 4.8 Gazi University Journal of Gazi Education Faculty National 59 4.7 Dokuz Eylül University Journal of Buca Education Faculty 54 43 National Elementary Education Online National 50 4.0 Pamukkale University Journal of Education Faculty National 50 4.0 Marmara Univ. Ataturk Educ. Fac. Journal of Educ. Sci. National 31 2.5 Erzincan University Journal of Education Faculty National 25 2.0 Ondokuz Mayıs University Journal of Education Faculty National 25 2.0 Ahi Evran University Journal of Kırşehir Education Faculty 23 National 1.8 Turkish Educational Sciences Journal National 18 1.4 Abant İzzet Baysal University Journal of Education Faculty National 15 1.2 Contemporary Education National 15 1.2 Cukurova University Journal of Education Faculty 14 National 1.1 Electronic Social Sciences Journal National 14 1.1 Balikesir Uni, Necatibev Educ, Fac, Elec, J. Sci, & Math, Educ, National 14 1.1 İnönü University Journal of Education Faculty National 12 1.0 Uludağ University Journal of Education Faculty National 11 0.9 Yüzüncü Yıl University Journal of Education Faculty National 8 0.6 Boğaziçi University Journal of Education National 7 0.6 Ankara University Journal of Faculty of Educational Sciences National 6 0.5 Mersin University Journal of Education Faculty National 6 0.5 9 Other National Journals (less than 5 papers from each) National 0.7 Total 1249 100

### APPENDIX 1. LIST OF JOURNALS

# SCIENCE EDUCATION RESEARCH IN TURKEY

# APPENDIX 2. PAPER CLASSIFICATION FORM

A. INFORMATION AF	BOUT PAPER
1.Title:	
2.Author/s:	3.Auth.Nation.a.TR D.Foreign C.Mixed
4.Journal Name:	5.Journal Type: a.International Vational
a.Year: b.Volume: c.Issue: d. Pages:	6.Language a.Eng. b.Turkish c.Other
7. Indexes: a.SCI/SSCI: h.ERIC-BEI-EI-AEI: c. ULAKBİM S	SBVT d.No Index e.Other
B. MAIN DISCIPLINE THAT	PAPER BELONGED
1. Biology 2. Physics 3. Chemistry 4. Sci & Tech.	5. Envt.Educ. 6. Mixed 7. Other
C. SUBJECT OF T	HE PAPER
1. Learning 4. Study on teaching ma	aterials 10. Curriculum studies
O Mis O LS O Ach. O Other S. Computer-aided teac	Thing II. I fest, scale development or translation
2. Teaching 6. General educational p	proof. 12. C Research methods studies
3 Teacher training 8 Attitude percention	research O SPS O SI O ATS O SIEI
O PTE O IT O Other 9. Environmental educa	ation 14. Other
D. RESEARCH METHO	DDS/DESIGNS
QUANTITATIVE Q	UALITATIVE MIXED
1. Experimental 2. Non-Experimental 3. Interactive	4. Non-Interactive 5. Mixed
11. True-experimen. 21. Descriptive 31. Etnograph	hy 41. Historical analy. 51. Explanatory
12. Quasi-experim. O Longitudinal 32. Phenomer	nography 42. 🗌 Kavram an. (QuanèQual)
13. Pre-Experimen. O Cross-age 33. Case study	y 43. Review 52. Exploratory
14. Single subject 22. Comparative 34. Grounded	i theory 44. Metasynthesis (QualèQuan)
23. Correlational 35. Critical st	udies 45. Other 53. Triangulation
24. Survey 36. Other	(Quan+Qual)
25. Ex-post facto	
26. Sec. Data analy.	
The second post of the second se	The second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire  Q. Open-end Q. Likert Q. Other	F. SAMPLE
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire O Open-end. O Likert O Other  2. Achievement test	F. SAMPLE  a. Sample b. Sample Size  1. Pre-school 1 Between 1 to 10
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire O Open-end. O Likert O Other  2. Achievement test O Open-end. O Mulp.choice O Other	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS   Questionnaire  O Open-end. O Likrt O Other  Achievement test  O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other  Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.         Between 1 to 10           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.         Between 11 to 30           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.         Between 31 to 100
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire O Open-end. O Likrt O Other  2. Achievement test O Open-end. O Mulp.choice O Other  3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests Please write the title	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire O Open-end. O Likert O Other  2. Achievement test O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other  3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests Please write the title	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.           7.         Teachers
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.           7.         Teachers         8.
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.           4.         Setween 1 to 10           5.         Undergraduate           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS      Questionnaire     O Open-end. O Likert O Other      Achievement test     O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other      Achievement test     O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other      Achievement est     O Seni-Str O Unstructure. O Focus G     O Structured O Seni-Str O Unstructure. O Focus G     O Deservation     O Participant O Non-participant     Alternative assessment tods     (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)      Documents     O Others (please provide titk)      G DATA ANAL     QUANTITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS     Descriptive Statistics	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire O Open-end. O Likrt O Other  2. Achievement test O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other  3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests Please write the title	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.         Between 1 to 10           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.         Between 1 to 30           3.         Primary (1-5)         2.         Between 1 to 30           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.         Between 31 to 100           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.         Between 301 to 300           5.         Undergraduate         5.         Between 301 to 100           6.         Post-graduate         6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers         8.         Administratives           9.         Parents         10.         Others           10.         Others         3.         QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           31.         Content analysis         31.         Content analysis
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS         1. Questionnaire         O Open-end.       O Likrt       O Other         2. Achievement test         O Open-end.       O Mulp. choice       O Other         3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests         Please write the title         O Structured       O Seni-Str       O Unstructure.       O Focus G         5. Observation       O Non-participant         6. Alternative assessment tods       (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)         7. Documents       B. Others (please provide titk)       G DATA ANAI         QUANTITATIVE DATA ANAINSIS         1. Descriptive Statistics       2. Infrential Statistics         12. I Central tendency measures       22. Correlation	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Dudergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           3.         Qualitative Analysis           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS         1. Questionnaire         O Open-end. O Likrt O Other         2. Achievement test         O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other         3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests         Please write the title         O Structured O Seni-Str O Unstructure. O Focus G         5. Observation         O Participant O Non-participant         6. Alternative assessment tods         (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)         7. Documents         8. Others (please provide titk)         G DATA ANALYSIS         Infrential Statistics         11. Frequency/percentage tables       21. Intention         12. Contral tendency measures       22. Correlation         13. Charts       23. ANOVA/ANCOVA	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (1-5)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           3.         Qualitative Analysis           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis           33.         Other
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS         1. Questionnaire         O Open-end. O Likrt O Other         2. Achievement test         O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other         3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests         Please write the title         O Structured O Seni-Str O Unstructure. O Focus G         5. Observation         O Participant O Non-participant         6. Alternative assessment tods         (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)         7. Documents         8. Others (please provide titk)         G.DATA ANALYSIS         1. Descriptive Statistics         2. Infrential Statistics         11. Frequency/percentage tables       21. I t-test         12. Central tendency measures       22. Orderation         13. Charts       23. ANOVA/ANCOVA	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           3.         Qualitative Analysis           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis           33.         Other
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS         1. Questionnaire         O Open-end.       O Likrt       O Other         2. Achievement test         O Open-end.       O Mulp. choice       O Other         3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests         Please write the title         O Structured       O Seni-Str       O Unstructure.       O Focus G         5. Observation       O Non-participant         6. Alternative assessment tods       (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)         7. Documents       8. Others (please provide titk)       G. DATA ANALYSIS         1. Descriptive Statistics       2. Infrential Statistics       11. [] t-test         12. Central tendency measures       22. Correlation         13. [] Charts       23. [] ANOVA/ANCOVA         14. [] Others       24. [] MANOVA/MANCOVA	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           3.         Qualitative Analysis           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis           33.         Other
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS         1. Questionnaire         O Open-end.       O Likrt       O Other         2. Achievement test         O Open-end.       O Mulp. choice       O Other         3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests         Please write the title         O Structured       O Seni-Str       O Unstructure.       O Focus G         5. Observation       O Non-participant         6. Alternative assessment tods       (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)         7. Documents       8. Others (please provide titk)         G DATA ANALYSIS         Infrential Statistics         11. Orders       2. Infrential Statistics         12. Central tendency measures       22. Correlation         13. Charts       23. ANOVA/ANCOVA         14. Others	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Over 1000           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           LYSIS         QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           3.         Qualitative Analysis           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis           33.         Other
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS         1. □ Questionnaire         ○ Open-end.       ○ Likrt       ○ Other         2. □ Achievement test       ○ Other         3. □ Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests         Please write the title       ····································	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           LYS IS         QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS           3.         Qualitative Analysis           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis           33.         Other
E DATA COLLECTION TOOLS  1. Questionnaire O Open-end. O Likrt O Other  2. Achievement test O Open-end. O Mulp. choice O Other  3. Aptitude, attitude, perception, personality etc. tests Please write the title  4. Interview O Structured O Seni-Str O Unstructure. O Focus G  5. Observation O Participant O Non-participant  6. Alternative assessment tods (Diagnostic tests, concept map., portfolio etc.)  7. Documents  8. Others (please provide title)  G DATA ANALYSIS  1. Descriptive Statistics  1. OFfequency/percentage tables  1. Central tendency measures  2. Infrential Statistics  1. Others  2. Infrential Statistics  1. Others  2. Antova/MANCOVA  14. Others  24. MANOVA/MANCOVA  25. Factor analysis 26. Regression 27. Non-Parametric tests 28. Others	F. SAMPLE           a. Sample         b. Sample Size           1.         Pre-school         1.           2.         Primary (1-5)         2.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           3.         Primary (6-8)         3.           4.         Secondary (9-12)         4.           5.         Undergraduate         5.           6.         Post-graduate         6.           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           10.         Others           11.         Between 10 to 30           12.         Between 301 to 100           7.         Teachers           8.         Administratives           9.         Parents           10.         Others           31.         Content analysis           32.         Descriptive analysis           33.         Other

Mustafa SOZBILIR Kazim Karabekir Education Faculty, Ataturk University

Hulya KUTU Muallim Rıfat Education Faculty, Kilis 7 Aralık University

Mehmet Diyaddin YASAR Kazim Karabekir Education Faculty, Ataturk University

# MATTHIAS STADLER AND DORIS JORDE

# 15. IMPROVING SCIENCE EDUCATION THROUGH EUROPEAN MODELS OF SUSTAINABLE TEACHER PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

# INTRODUCTION

Science education research, especially in Europe, is strongly linked to the improvement of teaching practice. When considering how to improve teaching practice we think about the school system, the curriculum, teachers and students – all of which are intricately woven together in the classroom. In this chapter, we will consider the role of teacher professional development (TPD) in improving science teaching. We look at how capacities for more effective and more sustainable models of TPD may be developed, looking at examples from European countries where cultural diversity is large. Our experiences are based on two European projects: Mind the Gap and Science-Teacher Education Advanced Methods (S-TEAM).

# THE CURRENT SITUATION FOR SCIENCE EDUCATION IN EUROPE

Within the last 15 years, international studies of educational systems have caused concerns about the outcomes of teaching and learning science. TIMSS, PISA and PIRLS are examples of comparative studies that examine the outcomes in reading, mathematics and science. PISA as the most influential study shows that in many countries, pupils' performance in the tests and hence their knowledge and understanding of science is on a much lower level than educational officials would wish for. Even in many developed countries there are large proportions of students whose knowledge of science does not exceed general knowledge.

Interest in science education policy within the EU has been fuelled by decreasing numbers of students in the natural sciences, engineering and mathematics in Europe as evidenced by the report "Europe needs more scientists" (European Commission, 2004).<sup>1</sup> The decreasing uptake of careers in science and technology is seen as a threat for the economic prosperity of the EU countries and to democratic participation, thus placing recruitment to STEM studies as a top priority. At the same time the report concluded that students specializing in STEM areas of study often choose other career pathways than teacher education, making recruiting to science teacher education a particular problem in many countries. Concerning the problems of providing an adequate science education for students in order to motivate their interest in STEM subjects, the report states the following:

Doris Jorde and Justin Dillon (Eds.), Science Education Research and Practice in Europe: Retrospective and Prospective, 375–393. © 2012 Sense Publishers. All rights reserved.

Science education suffers badly in this respect. Not only is it trying to cope with this image of 'becoming a scientist', but it is also fighting to relate to society. And yet it is being bound by an old-fashioned view that it must develop the 'fundamentals' of science which, all too often, are abstract, even microscopic, and far from the science ideas underpinning the technological advances within society which form the focus of debate and divide public opinion. It can be argued that science education in schools lives in a world of its own. It seems unsophisticated because it is unable to compete with advances within the scientific fields. It is abstract because it is trying to put forward fundamental ideas, most of which were developed in the 19th century, without sufficient experimental, observational and interpretational background, without showing sufficient understanding of their implications, and without giving students the opportunity of a cumulative development of understanding and interest. It is heavily in danger of being excessively factual because of the explosion in scientific knowledge and the 'adding-on' of topics to an already excessive content base (EC, 2004).

Conclusions from the report are many and include the need to recruit well qualified teachers, offer continuing professional development for teachers, offer innovative science curricula promoting science as a process of inquiry, and the need for bridging the gap between educational research and classroom practice.

The OECD "Global Science Forum" (2008) studied a wide perspective of countries in which quantitative trends for enrolment in science and technology as well as factors that may affect student choices were followed. Their findings reported that while absolute numbers of science and technology students have been rising in higher education, the relative share of students among the overall population has been falling. Women continue to be underrepresented in science and technology enrolments. And while young people seem to have a positive image of science and technology as a profession is negative (OECD, 2008). The curriculum in science was found to be in need of change to promote concepts rather than facts, and the education of science teachers needs to reflect new ideas in teaching and learning.

A high level group on science education delivered a report "Science Education Now: A Renewed Pedagogy for the Future of Europe" in which a cross section of on-going initiatives were examined to try and understand ideas of good practice in European science education and to identify pre-conditions for successful change of existing practice that could be implemented across European countries (Rocard et al., 2007). Once again, the focus was on the declining interest in science and math in European countries, leading to declines in recruiting to studies and careers in STEM areas. Inquiry based methods of teaching science were recommended as a means of changing the way we teach science in order to increase interest in science. The German SINUS<sup>2</sup> (Improving the Efficiency of Mathematics and Science Instruction) programme was recommended along with the Pollen project<sup>3</sup> as good examples demonstrating potential for scaling up in Europe. Though simple in its structure, this publication placed the need to improve the teaching of science into a policy perspective at the national level as well as within the EU. Funding for projects related to the use of Inquiry Based Science Teaching (IBST) were subsequently promoted within the Science in Society funding agency for EU countries.

In 2007, the Nuffield foundation supported a project in which science educators from nine European countries were gathered to discuss concerns about the motivation of European youth to study STEM subjects. The report "Science Education in Europe: Critical Reflections" is a collection of findings that illustrate the similarities and differences between countries in Europe concerning the curriculum, pedagogy, assessment of science in schools and the preparation of science teachers. The recommendations offered by the report are meant to inspire to a new way of thinking about science education – one that has the potential to meet the needs of all students; those who will work within scientific fields and those who will not (Osborne & Dillon, 2008).

In order to change the unsatisfying state of school science towards a more positive picture, fundamental changes in teaching science need to be implemented. The science educators who worked on the Nuffield report produced seven recommendations concerning curriculum, pedagogy, assessment and teachers. "The primary goal of science education across the EU should be to educate students both about the major explanations of the material world that science offers and about the way science works" (Osborne & Dillon, 2008). Science education in schools should therefore focus on "science for all pupils" enabling pupils to deal with science related problems they may face in their everyday life, for instance climate change or food supply. Courses providing a basis for the education of future scientists should be optional.

Secondly, the report recommends "innovative curricula and ways of organising the teaching of science that address the issue of low student motivation" and a curriculum that focuses on the development of understanding. Science education before the age of 14 should emphasise "engaging students with science and scientific phenomena [...] through opportunities for extended investigative work and 'hands-on' experimentation" (Osborne & Dillon, 2008).

The report recommends that "teachers of science of the highest quality are provided for students in primary and lower secondary school" (Osborne & Dillon, 2008). This recommendation is in contrast with the fact that in many countries teachers for primary schools study science to a lesser extent than secondary school teachers and tend to believe that they are not well prepared to teach science.

What is common to all of the above mentioned reports is that Europe needs to look critically at the way we teach science if we are to engage students in science both as citizens and as professionals working in science careers (science for all vs. science for careers). By changing the way we teach science, we may be able to help all students gain access to the sciences, a field of fascinating phenomena, ideas and discoveries as many scientists perceive it. In order to make this happen, students need to know why science is important in our culture, they need to be engaged in activities that allow them to experience how science works and how scientific

knowledge is produced. Students need to be introduced to science courses that emphasize the "big ideas and concepts" rather than isolated facts, rules and mathematical equations to be memorized. Assessment practices need to be in accordance with good science teaching such that they too promote learning and understanding.

# TEACHER PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (TPD) AS A KEY FACTOR IN IMPLEMENTING CHANGE IN SCIENCE TEACHING

Changing the way we teach science is directly connected to how we educate science teachers and how we approach teacher professional development in science. If we want to change the way science is taught (pedagogy), we must also work closely with teachers in their initial and continuing education. Hence, teachers should be strongly supported so that they are able to adapt inquiry-oriented teaching approaches, to learn about their implementation in classrooms and to experience and reflect about the effects of their own teaching practice.

At every point in a teacher's career path, teachers need to be considered professionals. As with other professions, this implies that they have formal qualifications in their education, that they have practical experience including continuous upgrading of their skills and knowledge, and that they participate in associations where their professional development is addressed through literature, courses and participatory networks.

Throughout the remainder of this chapter, we will discuss ideas of how teacher professional development plays a role in improving the way science is taught. We use the term teacher professional development (TPD) to refer to the entire spectra of a teaching career, starting with pre-service, progressing to the first years of novice teaching and finally becoming an experienced teacher. Whereas all phases of a teaching career basically have the same goals for professionalization (how learning to teach is organized and facilitated), the three phases focus on different situations for teachers regarding prior knowledge and experience in teaching and their role as a professional teacher. The pre-service teacher is experiencing an education that leads to formal qualifications, with courses connecting subject (science) to pedagogy and "didactics" and finally to classroom practice. It is almost impossible for all of these individual components to come together into a coherent understanding of practice before actually becoming a classroom teacher. The novice teacher (a professional in the making) is in need of support for implementing the theories and ideas learned in initial teacher education within the system of the school where theory meets practice. The experienced teacher has needs related to maintaining a connection to recent literature and research by attending courses introducing new research findings and by reflecting on one's own practice in a systematic way, realizing that things can always be done differently and perhaps better.

# ACTIONS WITHIN THE EU TO SUPPORT SCIENCE IN SOCIETY

Science in Society is an official part of the overall funding scheme for the European Union.<sup>4</sup> Following the publishing of the report Science Education Now; A Renewed Pedagogy for the Future of Europe (Rocard et al., 2007) an emphasis was made on the funding of projects related to the improvement of science teaching through the use of inquiry based science teaching (IBST). The text for the funding scheme reads as follows:

Falling interest in key science topics and mathematics has been linked to the way they are taught from the earliest age. Therefore, greater emphasis needs to be placed on the development of more effective forms of pedagogy; on the development of analytical skills; and, on techniques for stimulating intrinsic motivation for learning science, taking into account various pre-conditions and cultural differences.

This topic will support actions to promote the more widespread use of problem and inquiry based science teaching techniques in primary and/or secondary schools as well as actions to bridge the gap between the science education research community, science teachers and local actors in order to facilitate the uptake of inquiry-based science teaching. The actions are intended to complement school science curricula and should particularly focus on teacher training activities and the promotion of European teachers' networks. The actions proposed should be open to the participation of entities seeking to gain experience in the area of problem- and inquiry based science education techniques.

The training of the teachers should include actions that contribute towards the following:

securing basic knowledge, developing a task culture, learning from mistakes, cumulative learning, autonomous learning, experiencing subject boundaries and interdisciplinary approaches, differentiating between girls' and boys' interests and promoting pupils' cooperation. The actions aimed at here shall already have proven their efficiency and efficacy.

The first project funded within this scheme (Science-Teacher Education Advanced Methods (S-TEAM)<sup>5</sup>) is running from May 2009 until April 2012. S-TEAM was preceded by the Mind the Gap project<sup>6</sup> running from April 2008 until March 2010, serving as a pilot project. The Mind the Gap project included Norway, Germany, Spain, UK, France, Hungary and Denmark. The two year project began the discussion about how individual countries view the ideas of IBST in their national curriculum statements as well as in teacher professional development courses. The S-TEAM project comprises 25 institutions from 14 countries (Norway, Finland, Sweden, Denmark, Estonia, Lithuania, UK, France, Germany, Spain, Czech Republic, Turkey, Cyprus and Israel).

Both projects aim at fostering inquiry teaching and build on a definition that promotes what is considered to be a modern view of inquiry in science teaching.

Inquiry is the intentional process of diagnosing problems, critiquing experiments, distinguishing alternatives, planning investigations, researching conjectures, searching for information, constructing models, debating with peers, and forming coherent arguments. (Linn, Davis & Bell, 2004)

There are many different ways to characterize IBST as found in the science education literature. The trends in science education are described by Duschl and Grandy (2008) as a shift:

- From a goal of providing science education for scientists, to providing science education for all.
- From an image of science education as what we know, to science education as teaching science as a way of knowing.
- From an image of science education that emphasizes content and process goals, to science education that stresses goals examining the relation between evidence and explanations.
- From an emphasis on individual science lessons that demonstrate concepts, to science lesson sequences that promote reasoning with and about concepts.
- From the study of science topics that examine current scientific thinking without regard for social context, to the study of science topics in social contexts.
- From a view of science that emphasizes observation and experimentation, to a view that stresses theory and model building and revision.
- From a view of scientific evidence principally derived from sense-perception (either direct or augmented), to a view that evidence is obtained from theory-driven observations.

In the Mind the Gap and the S-TEAM EU projects, four dimensions of inquiry are promoted that seem to characterize inquiry based science teaching in national perspectives in Europe:

- Authentic and problem based learning activities where there may not be a correct answer
- A certain amount of experimental procedures, experiments and "hands-on" activities, including searching for information
- Self regulated learning activities where students' autonomy is emphasized
- Discursive argumentation and communication with peers (talking science)

All of these characteristics have been shown to have a positive influence on the learning and understanding of science and on pupils' attitudes towards science. However, in order to strengthen the role of IBST in classrooms, reforms in preservice and in-service teacher education are crucial since teachers are responsible

for setting up the classroom conditions so that inquiry may take place. As stated by Bybee (2000):

teaching science as inquiry means providing students with diverse opportunities to develop the abilities and understandings of scientific inquiry while also learning the fundamental concepts of science. The teaching strategies that provide students those opportunities are found in varied activities, laboratory investigations, and inquiries initiated by students.

The Mind the Gap and S-TEAM projects both have concentrated on the role of the teacher for the implementation of IBST in science classrooms. As a starting point experiences from the German large scale TPD programme SINUS are used to initiate discussions about the development of a common framework for TPD that can be shared by all EU countries.

# SINUS - A MODEL FOR EFFECTIVE TPD IN GERMANY

The SINUS approach (Increasing the efficiency of mathematics and science instruction) was selected as a model for the Mind the Gap and S-TEAM projects because it is one of only a few initiatives in Europe that was designed for a nonuniform education system (Germany has 16 federal states with their own laws and regulations concerning education, their own curricula and a diversity of different types of schools through its almost unique tracking system). The size of the programme and its duration was the result of a change in the promotion of innovative educational projects by the government (Prenzel & Achtenhagen, 2000). Could the success of the SINUS programme in Germany be exportable to other European countries and contexts?

The SINUS programme was initiated in 1997 as a direct result of the TIMSS findings in Germany. Germany was not pleased with what they called mediocre results compared internationally. The aim of the SINUS programme was to improve instructional quality and to then systematically disseminate this within the school system (Prenzel, Stadler, Friedrich, Knickmeier & Ostermeier, 2009).

A comprehensive approach was developed by drawing on research from education, educational psychology and science education in order to address a broad range of challenges in science instruction and to meet quality criteria for effective TPD (Garet, Porter, Desimone, Birman & Yoon, 2001; Loucks-Horsley, Hewson, Love & Stiles, 1998). The SINUS programme recognizes the professionalism of teachers, allowing them to critically reflect on their own instruction and provides support for them in finding solutions to the challenges they face in teaching. In a period of nine years, the programme has managed to reach nearly 1,800 schools throughout Germany and has allowed for the monitoring of outcomes that can be generalised despite different conditions in the federal states and in individual schools (Ostermeier, Prenzel & Duit, 2010).

There are four principles that constitute the concept of SINUS (Prenzel & Duit, 2000; Prenzel, Stadler, Friedrich, Knickmeier & Ostermeier, 2009):

- A set of eleven 'modules' describing problem areas of science education and translating them into work packages
- The introduction of quality development at the participating schools
- The collaboration of teachers in their own school and with teachers in other schools and researchers to work on teaching problems (school based TPD)
- Support of the teacher networks

SINUS provides a flexible framework of modules for working on pedagogical problems in science teaching. These challenges are derived from various sources of research (Baumert, Bos, & Lehmann, 1998; Baumert et al., 1997; Stigler & Hiebert, 1997). In each module a specific problem area of science instruction is described followed by research-based suggestions of how to overcome the difficulties illustrated by examples. The module approach serves several purposes:

- 1. Modules provide a shared language for challenges that many science teachers experience. This allows teachers to start discussions about their own instruction with their colleagues, to become aware of common shortcomings and to work towards changing unsatisfying teaching practices.
- 2. Each module introduces alternative approaches to teaching with evidenced improvements in student learning. Hence, teachers working with the modules are likely to experience positive changes in their classrooms when they introduce changes in accordance with the suggestions.
- 3. The modules are illustrated with examples to show alternative teaching approaches, thus helping to facilitate the modification of instructional approaches and materials by teachers.
- 4. The modules can be selected independently from each other so that teachers can concentrate on the aspects of instruction they find most important, thus avoiding too many changes happening at once.

The following list gives the titles of the eleven modules and a short description of the particular challenge addressed by each:

# (1) Further development of the task culture

Aims at a larger variety of tasks in mathematics and science instruction (e.g. tasks that allow for different ways of solving them) both in situations where a new concept or phenomenon is introduced and elaborated, as well as when skills are practised or knowledge is applied to new cases or situations.

# (2) Scientific inquiry and experiments

Focuses on more open forms of experiments that allow for active student participation, discourse among students about research questions, the planning and interpreting of experiments, and an understanding of the nature of science.

# (3) Learning from mistakes

Claims that mistakes are essential for learning, but should be avoided in assessment situations; students' conceptions and mistakes are viewed as opportunities for learning.

# (4) Securing basic knowledge – intelligent learning at different levels

Addresses the need for a common knowledge basis that all students are to achieve; takes into account the different pre-requisites for learning offering tasks that allow for solutions on different levels.

# (5) Cumulative learning – making students aware of their increasing competency

Aims at a higher coherence by linking the actual subject matter to prior knowledge; also stresses the need for using and developing basic concepts in order to design cumulative teaching and learning sequences that make learning progress obvious for the students.

# (6) Making subject boundaries visible: working in an interdisciplinary way

Aims at a better understanding of scientific phenomena by differentiating and linking the perspectives provided by the different scientific disciplines, mathematics, and other school subjects; allows for more complex and meaningful applications of science.

# (7) Promoting girls' and boys' achievement and interest

Focuses on gender differences with respect to interest and achievement; addresses possibilities for support, for example, by establishing differential courses or by embedding the content to be learned in contexts that are especially interesting for girls, but also for boys.

# (8) Developing tasks for student cooperation

Encourages students to verbalise what they think, to argue, and to deal with discrepant views and opinions, so that cooperative work will result in social learning as well as in cognitive gains.

# (9) Strengthening students' responsibility for their learning

Supports students' readiness and ability for self-regulated learning within the context of the particular subject; supporting strategies for the self-structuring and self-monitoring of learning are to be explored.

# (10) Assessment: surveying and providing feedback on competency increases

Takes into account that the type of assessment is of utmost significance for the success of instruction; aims at developing supportive feedback and assessment tasks that allow for the evaluation of students' progress beyond routine knowledge. (11) Quality assurance within and across schools

# Aims at developing standards for science and mathematics instruction that are universally valid (and not only in the participating schools).

Although the modules were developed for the German situation of science instruction at the end of the 1990s the problem analyses are still valid because of the slow pace of change processes in the educational system. Furthermore, discussions with science educators and policy makers in the field revealed that the

challenges are shared in many European countries despite the cultural and organisational differences in the respective education systems.

In addition to the modules the design of the SINUS programme comprises a number of features that are regarded as crucial for effectively implementing innovation in education and achieving sustainable improvements. The whole design intends to further develop and strengthen the professionalism of science teachers. A minimum requirement for a school to participate is the commitment of the school to the principles of the programme, expressed by a decision of the department of science teachers and an approval by the school leadership.

In SINUS the central working unit is the group of science teachers of one school who meet on a regular basis working collaboratively on perceived problems of their instruction. In the beginning the teachers analyse challenges in teaching that they would like to work on, choosing one or two of the modules that are most appropriate for this purpose. Ideally, they take their own examples of instructional approaches and try to improve them in line with the modules' recommendations. After trialling the new material they reflect on their experiences and students' reactions, discussing with colleagues as a means of making further improvements in instruction.

Teachers are acknowledged as experts in teaching and learning who see it as their professional responsibility to improve their teaching and hence the learning of their students. They engage in a professional dialogue about teaching and learning with their fellow colleagues and researchers who offer ideas and advice of how to successfully improve instruction. In this dialogue teachers learn to reflect on the quality of their teaching, to diagnose their students' learning processes, to set up suitable instructional goals for all students in one class and to continuously develop, trial and evaluate new teaching approaches. The teacher groups of individual schools are connected to other groups in neighbouring schools and even in larger regions in order to allow for an exchange of material and approaches and hence benefit from work in these extended networks.

In order to make all this happen teachers need support and resources. SINUS developed a system of facilitators who introduced the teacher groups to the approach, helped them to select modules and goals, provided examples of how to start the work and gave advice whenever needed. The programme offered regular meetings at the regional and national levels where renowned researchers introduced new ideas. Additionally, it established connections to other institutions in the field of teacher professional development like universities, state institutes for teacher professional development and school authorities in order to sustain support after the funding period. There was only a small amount of compensation for the participating teachers regarding teaching duties (only at the school level and during the five years of the pilot programme) and a small budget for purchases and training sessions at individual schools.

The SINUS approach gives ownership in the development process to the teachers. They are free to choose appropriate modules, set their own goals, agree on a working scheme and adjust their workload in the programme according to specific conditions in their school. This approach serves for keeping motivation

high and lets the teachers adopt new approaches that fit their personal needs. It is assumed that teachers will only continue to work on the improvement of their teaching after a termination of the programme if they perceive the work in the programme as helpful. Thus, ownership is crucial for sustained quality development.



Fig 1. Organisational structure of the German SINUS programme (1998 – 2007) for the improvement of science and mathematics instruction

Evaluations carried out in the course of the nine-year programme produced evidence demonstrating an impact at different levels. At the end of the nationwide programme more than 10,000 teachers in about 1,800 secondary schools (grades 5–10) participated, representing about 15% of general secondary schools in Germany. At the teacher level results showed that teachers made use of the offered support and invested time and effort into the development of instruction. They established collaboration within their schools, evaluated the work as productive and perceived personal growth (Ostermeier, 2004; Ostermeier, Carstensen, Prenzel, & Geiser, 2004). At the classroom level students perceived changes regarding applied teaching methods and cognitive stimulation increased. At the student level motivation and self concept as well as performance improved compared to students from a representative sample of schools not participating in the programme

(Ostermeier, Prenzel, & Duit, 2010; Prenzel, Carstensen, Senkbeil, Ostermeier, & Seidel, 2005).

All in all the experiences with SINUS in Germany show that it is possible to implement innovation in schools on a broad basis and to have a positive impact on the system. They confirm findings from research on teacher professional development stating that "professional development yields the best results when it is long-term, school-based, collaborative, focused on students' learning, and linked to curricula" (Borko, 2004; Garet, Porter, Desimone, Birman, & Yoon, 2001; Hiebert, Gallimore, & Stigler, 2002; Loucks-Horsley, Hewson, Love, & Stiles, 1998).

# EXPLORING CURRENT MODELS OF TPD IN EUROPE / MODELS FOR ORGANIZING TPD IN DIFFERENT COUNTRIES IN EUROPE

Within the first year of the S-TEAM project a series of national seminars was organized in the participating countries in order to initiate discussions about the state of science education, prevailing problems, needs for reform, and promising approaches to improve science education. Important stakeholders in the educational system (representatives from science and teacher education, from the ministry of education, from teacher education institutions, from teacher's and parent's associations and from industry) were invited to these seminars. Participants were asked to explain their views on strengths and weaknesses of their particular systems and what each group of stakeholders could contribute to the improvement of the educational system. In order to provide views and ideas from outside the particular country, current trends in European science education policy and experiences from the German large scale TPD programme SINUS were introduced by the authors of this chapter.

Despite large differences between the educational systems in the participating countries concerning for instance students' performance, the amount of money spent, the quality of teacher education programmes, the extent of centralisation, and the integration of IBST into curricula, there was one common opinion held by all participants: TPD was not regarded as effective and successful as far as the promotion of changes in science teaching was concerned. In all countries, the need for a sustainable model of TPD was stressed (Lipowski & Seidel, 2009; Jorde et al., 2010).

TPD in Europe is neither systematic nor sustainable. Regardless of its organization most offers do not meet the prerequisites for successful TPD (collaborative, long-term, school-based, linked to curriculum, focusing on student learning) identified by research. All educational systems try to identify the needs of teachers and appropriate forms of TPD. They seem however, to fail in offering TPD that helps teachers to improve their teaching skills. Most TPD activities are short and singular events focusing on content knowledge. Furthermore, there seem to be no effective means for measuring effects of TPD which makes it difficult or even impossible to monitor and develop the quality and impact of the activities.

In order to illustrate the diversity of the different TPD models found, we briefly describe the situation in Turkey and Denmark. Turkey has a rather centralized educational system. The Department of In-Service Training in the Ministry of National Education is responsible for organizing training activities for teachers. Every year an annual in-service training plan is prepared by the Department of Inservice Training in collaboration with other ministry departments. This plan includes priorities for the training, time, place, and date of the training period, training programme, the teaching staff who will give the training and the personnel who will receive the training. The nationwide training plan is mainly put into practice within two weeks during the summer holidays.

In Denmark, choosing professional development activities is the responsibility of the individual school. Danish schools receive funding from the government and are responsible for their own internal budgets, with few restrictions. Concerning TPD, each school decides on which teachers participate and how often. Despite these fundamental differences in the organization of TPD in Turkey and Denmark both countries show similar, i.e. rather low participation rates of teachers according to the TALIS report (OECD, 2009). Whereas in the 23 participating countries on average 89% of teachers in lower secondary education engaged in professional development within the last 18 months, the numbers for Denmark and Turkey were only around 75%.

Teachers, and especially science teachers, do not seem to have a strong perception of themselves as being professionals. For other professions like medical doctors or lawyers it is self-evident that updating ones knowledge to follow developments in the discipline is a requirement for success. In the teaching profession, however, there is a breach between initial teacher education and TPD. In many educational systems there are no constraints for further development for teachers once they have received their teacher qualifications or a permanent post. In many European countries TPD is mandatory mainly for professional advancement, for instance to become a school principal or for obtaining higher salaries. But even in the latter case teachers only have to collect a certain amount of professional development hours (for instance in Spain; 120 hours within 6 years) without any restrictions regarding the content of the courses.

Another problem lies in the lack of sustainability of educational innovations. The examples of SINUS in Germany and the Science Learning Centres in the UK<sup>7</sup> show that even successful approaches with high quality TPD are at risk because of a fixed-term funding. This problem might be due to the fact that there are already systems in place which compete with the new initiatives for resources without appropriate quality regulations. Under such conditions competition does not lead to improvement but apparently to a resistance towards change.

# The Case of Norway

Norway is an interesting country to use as a case, since they have strong traditions of TPD in terms of commitment. At the same time, Norway experiences many of the same problems other countries encounter in that TPD is short term, and in most

cases, not school based; both of which do not allow for long term sustainability. TPD in Norway consisted of two types: short in-service courses without credits and longer, subject related courses providing credits. In both cases, the individual teacher was the participant and not an entire school or group of teachers from a school.

Norway participated in the Mind the Gap and the S-TEAM projects where TPD was developed using the school based SINUS model from Germany. In response to thinking about school based TPD, the government provided funding for a pilot project. The Norwegian project is called "School based development in Science (SUN)", and is running a pilot in three nodes in Norway: Oslo, Bergen and Trondheim, with three slightly different models for implementation. What is common to all nodes is that teachers from the same schools are identifying the challenges they wish to work with, together with science educators from the local universities. In Oslo, high school science teachers are looking at how inquiry based methods may improve their teaching and have chosen to use the 5E model of instruction (Bybee et.al., 2006). Participants include experienced teachers as well as novice teachers, making the dynamics of discussions and wiki exchanges important since experiences are so varied. Older teachers come into the project with lots of experience and need encouragement to think a bit differently about their established teaching practice, whereas novice teachers have more modern ideas yet lack experience in classroom management, for example. Teachers have developed networks using a common wiki for sharing ideas and experiences. Science educators from the University of Oslo meet regularly with the participants to introduce research literature, to listen to discussions promote new ideas for classroom practice. A similar network of teachers is established in Trondheim together with The Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) as well as in Bergen, together with the University of Bergen (UiB).

The project will be evaluated in 2012 with an eye towards scaling up the implementation of school based TPD. What we know already is that this type of TPD is much more appropriate and inspirational for teachers than traditional types of TPD based on courses and short events. Teachers are changing the way they teach based on just a few months of discussing pedagogical aspects of their teaching. The model will require that Norway develop similar nodes throughout the country, based on proximity to universities and colleges where teacher education takes place. In addition, teacher educators will need to become a part of the model for interacting with local schools. Finally, we will need to consider how local schools will have the possibilities for developing their own networks, both physically and through shared wikis. This model is not inexpensive. Yet, when we consider the amount of funding going into less successful models of TPD, we will argue for transferring funding towards a school based model. If we are successful, we see a long term scaling-up of the Norwegian SUN project.

# WHAT CAN BE DONE TO MOVE TOWARDS MORE EFFECTIVE TPD?

The S-TEAM collaboration has provided the opportunity for many European countries to look comparatively at their educational systems and their mechanisms for TPD. We have been able to identify criteria that seem to be necessary for improving TPD and have started to look critically at inclusion into existing systems of teacher support. The sharing of experiences between countries and programmes has been an important way for us to move forward as we criticize our current practice and initiate projects to make improvements. However, there is a weakness in that most of these initiatives are small scale and rarely have a long-term perspective. We lack systemic approaches that take into account the complexity of the educational system. Instead we tend to implement simplistic solutions for isolated problems. Too often politicians believe – and researchers often support them or even share this believe – that quality will prevail in the long-run and good ideas will spread without taking any further actions. This is certainly not the case.

At the European level there is an awareness of the need for concerted actions in order to achieve an impact at the systems level. The development of a few general models incorporating the most important aspects of effective TPD (collaborative, long-term, school-based, linked to curriculum, focusing on student learning) are beginning to serve as our "cases" for implementation. Then these models will need a content framework like the modules in SINUS in order to address prevailing problems in science teaching. These frameworks will need to be flexible in order to allow for adaptations and the integration of specific topics of importance for some cultures and countries. In the individual countries there have to be discussions and negotiation, parents, pupils) in order to achieve a consensus about the aims of the reform initiatives, the contribution of every group, and the prerequisites. It has to be clear that such a reform is designed to change the respective system step by step and not once as a whole in order to allow for the development of adequate activities and routines.

# APPENDIX I

The following example shows a "typical" way of presenting experiments in science classrooms, followed by ideas on how small changes may be important for challenging students' thinking.

# Working with Module 2 (Scientific Work)

In traditional instruction, experiments are often used as a proof for a scientific law or a concept. When students are asked to do practical work, a detailed worksheet is usually provided. The heading of the worksheet gives the topic followed by a detailed description of the procedure to be followed. An illustrating picture of the equipment or the apparatus to be used often helps students to figure out what to do. In many cases, such descriptions of experiments have an additional introduction

giving a short overview of the chemical concept addressed by the experiment (which in our case would have been that carbon dioxide dissolves in water to form carbonic acid, see picture). You can also find examples giving chemical equations and results of calculations at the end. It is evident that such an experiment neither challenges students' thinking nor gives an opportunity to discover anything.

#### Solubility of carbon dioxide in water

#### Conducting the experiment:

Fill the washing bottle (1) with 250 ml of boiled water (2) and replace the air in the bottle with nitrogen. Let the apparatus cool to room temperature and measure the pH-value.



Attach a gas syringe (3) to the outlet of the washing bottle and a gas syringe filled with carbon dioxide (4) to the inlet. Let the gas pass slowly through the washing bottle (about two minutes). Calculate the volume of the carbon dioxide that was dissolved in the water by measuring the volume of the gas in the second gas syringe. Measure the pH-value again.

In order to shift away from a setting where students simply follow cook book recipes without understanding, teachers from one SINUS school designed the following experiment (Stäudel, 2004). They omitted all information that could be discovered by the students themselves and set the problem in a more familiar context. They expected that this would allow for questions to originate that were interesting for the students.

The teacher prepared a water basin with a measuring cylinder upside down filled with water. He put one effervescent tablet under a funnel fitted into the mouth of the cylinder. When the tablet dissolved students observed that small bubbles formed. The bubbles rose through the cylinder and accumulated in the upper part. After discussing the students' observations the teacher asked what would happen if another tablet was dissolved. Concerning the amount of gas formed the class agreed that the same amount would be formed as with the first tablet. After dissolving the tablet, however, students realized that the amount of gas from the second tablet was larger than from that of the first. The teacher let students think and discuss in pairs about possible reasons for their observations. Afterwards, the ideas were shared with the whole class. Eventually, some students came up with the idea that a part of the gas from the first tablet had dissolved in the water. The teacher asked the students (in groups) to design experiments that could give evidence for this idea. The suggestions were again discussed with the whole class and those that were regarded as suitable and helpful were then conducted by the students.

This example also features aspects of some of the other modules. It places a different emphasis on the tasks given to the students (module 1 - task culture) by turning away from simply reproducing what is known in science towards inquiring into what is unknown to the students. In order to be able to provide an appropriate learning environment the teacher tries to reveal students' concepts and ideas about the topic at the beginning of the lesson (module 3 - learning from mistakes and student concepts). Through questioning and group work, the teacher takes these ideas seriously, challenges them and offers opportunities to further develop or reframe them so that they become more useful and flexible. Also modules 8 and 9 (cooperation of students and responsibility for own learning) are addressed.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Work leading to this paper has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7 2007–2013), contract no. 234870.

#### NOTES

- <sup>1</sup> For more information on statistics based on human resources in science and technology in Europe see: http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/statistics\_explained/index.php/Human\_resources\_in\_science\_ and technology
- <sup>2</sup> http://sinus-transfer.uni-bayreuth.de/home.html
- <sup>3</sup> http://www.pollen-europa.net Pollen participants have become a part of the new fibonacci project funded by the Science in Society programme - http://www.fibonacci-project.eu/
- <sup>4</sup> http://cordis.europa.eu/fp7/sis/home\_en.html, http://ec.europa.eu/research/science-society
- <sup>5</sup> https://www.ntnu.no/wiki/display/steam/SCIENCE-TEACHER+EDUCATION+ADVANCED+ METHODS
- <sup>6</sup> http://www.uv.uio.no/english/research/projects/mindingthegap/
- <sup>7</sup> https://www.sciencelearningcentres.org.uk/

#### REFERENCES

- Baumert, J., Bos, W., & Lehmann, R. (1998). TIMSS/III Schülerleistungen in Mathematik und den Naturwissenschaften am Ende der Sekundarstufe II im internationalen Vergleich. [TIMSS/III-Student performance in mathematics and science at the end of secondary level II in international comparison] Berlin: Max-Planck-Institut für Bildungsforschung.
- Baumert, J., Lehmann, R., Lehrke, M., Schmitz, B., Clausen, M., Hosenfeld, I., et al. (1997). TIMSS -Mathematisch-naturwissenschaftlicher Unterricht im internationalen Vergleich. Deskriptive Befunde. [TIMSS—Mathematics and science teaching in an international comparison. Descriptive results] Opladen: Leske + Budrich.

- Borko, H. (2004). Professional development and teacher learning: Mapping the terrain. *Educational* Researcher, 33(8), 3–15.
- Bybee, R., Taylor, J., et al. (2006). *The BSCS 5E instructional model: Origins and effectiveness*. Colorado Springs, CO: BSCS.
- Bybee, R.W. (2000). Teaching science as inquiry. In J. Minstrell and E. Van Zee (eds), *Inquiring into inquiry learning and teaching in science*. American Association for the Advancement of Science, Washington, D. C.
- Duschl, R.A. & Grandy, R.E., (Eds.) (2008). Teaching scientific inquiry. Recommendations for research and implementation. Sense Publishers, The Netherlands.
- European Commission (2004). Report by the High Level Group on increasing human resources for science and technology in Europe.

http://ec.europa.eu/research/conferences/2004/sciprof/publications\_en.html

- Garet, M.S., Porter, A.C., Desimone, L., Birman, B.F., & Yoon, K.S. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4), 915–945.
- Hiebert, J., Gallimore, R., & Stigler, J. W. (2002). A knowledge base for the teaching profession: What would it look like and how can we get one? *Educational Researcher*, 31(5), 3–15.
- Jorde, D., Moberg, A. O., Prenzel, M., Rönnebeck, S., & Stadler, M. (2010). S-TEAM preliminary report on teacher professional development: NTNU. https://www.ntnu.no/wiki/download/attachments/8325736/WP2+report+complete.pdf?version=1& modificationDate=1274257046000
- Linn, M.C., Davis, E.A., & Bell, P. (2004). Inquiry and technology. In M.C. Linn, E.A. Davis & P. Bell (Eds.), *Internet environments for science education* (pp. 3–27). Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Lipowski, K., & Seidel, T. (2009). Existing models of teacher professional development on IBST in seven European countries. Friedrich-Schiller University of Jena. http://www.uv.uio.no/english/research/projects/mindingthegap/Deliverables/index.html

Loucks-Horsley, S., Hewson, P., Love, N., & Stiles, K.E. (1998). Designing professional development

- for teachers of science and mathematics. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press. OECD (2008). Encouraging student interest in science and technology studies: OECD.
- http://www.oecd.org/document/40/0,3343,en\_2649\_34319\_41689640\_1\_1\_1\_1\_00.html
- OECD (2009). Creating effective teaching and learning environments. First results from TALIS: OECD. Osborne, J., & Dillon, J. (2008). Science education in Europe: critical reflections. London: Nuffield Foundation.
- Ostermeier, C. (2004). Kooperative Qualitätsentwicklung in Schulnetzwerken. Eine empirische Studie am Beispiel des BLK-Modellversuchsprogramms 'Steigerung der Effizienz des mathematischnaturwissenschaftlichen Unterrichts' (SINUS) [Cooperative quality development in school networks. An empirical study taking the pilot programme 'Increasing the Efficiency of Mathematics and Science Instruction' (SINUS) as an example]. Münster: Waxmann Verlag.
- Ostermeier, C., Carstensen, C. H., Prenzel, M., & Geiser, H. (2004). Kooperative unterrichtsbezogene Qualitätsentwicklung in Netzwerken: Ausgangsbedingungen für die Implementation im BLK-Modellversuchsprogramm SINUS [Cooperative quality development of classroom instruction in school networks: starting conditions for the implementation in the pilot programme SINUS]. Unterrichtswissenschaft, 32(3), 215–237.
- Ostermeier, C., Prenzel, M., & Duit, R. (2010). Improving science and mathematics instruction: The SINUS-project as an example for reform as teacher professional development. *International Journal* of Science Education, 32(3), 303–327.
- Prenzel, M., & Achtenhagen, F. (2000). Innovation durch Modellversuchsprogramme. [Innovation through model experiment programs]. Unterrichtswissenschaft, 28, 98–102.
- Prenzel, M., & Duit, R. (2000). Increasing the efficiency of science and mathematics instruction: Report of a national quality development program. Paper presented at the National Association for Research in Science Teaching.

- Prenzel, M., Carstensen, C. H., Senkbeil, M., Ostermeier, C., & Seidel, T. (2005). Wie schneiden SINUS-Schulen bei PISA ab? Ergebnisse der Evaluation eines Modellversuchsprogramms [How SINUS-Schools perfom in PISA. Findings from the evaluation of a pilot programme]. Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft, 8(4), 540–562.
- Prenzel, M., Stadler, M., Friedrich, A., Knickmeier, K. & Ostermeier, C. (2009). Increasing the efficiency of mathematics and science instruction (SINUS) - a large scale teacher professional development programme in Germany. https://www.ntnu.no/wiki/download/attachments/8324749/ SINUS en fin.pdf?version=1.
- Rocard, M., Csermely, P., Jorde, D., Lenzen, D., Walberg-Henriksson, H. & Hemmo, V. (2007). Science education now: a renewed pedagogy for the future of Europe: Directorate General for Research, Science, Economy and Society.
- Stäudel, L. (2004). Gasentwicklung von Brausetabletten. Versuchsergebnisse deuten und eine Lösungshypothese entwickeln [Gas formation from effervescent tablets. Interpreting experimental results and developing a solution hypothesis}. In R. Duit, H. Gropengießer & L. Stäudel (Eds.), *Naturwissenschaftliches Arbeiten. Beispiele und Materialien zu Modul 2 des BLK-Programms SINUS-Transfer [Working scientifically. Examples and material for module 2 from the BLK programme SINUS-Transfer*] (pp. 90–96). Seelze: Kallmeyer.
- Stigler, J. W., & Hiebert, J. (1997). Understanding and improving classroom mathematics instruction: An overview of the TIMSS Video Study. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 79(1), 14–21.

# Matthias Stadler

Department of Chemistry, University of Bergen, Norway and, Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education (IPN), Germany

Doris Jorde

Department of Teacher Education and School Research and Norwegian Centre for Science Education University of Oslo, Norway